
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ELECTRONIC PUBLIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR 

COUNCIL MEETING  
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 23, 2023 – 8:30 A.M. 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Cooe or GonDUcr FoR Cunnenr AND
FonrueR CouttcrL MerileERs, Nott-CouNclL
Gomrurrree MeUBERS AND Cour.rcll. ApporNTED
M erileeRs ("GoruMrrrEE MervreeRs" )

@D
Executive Gommittee
Approved by Council: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 2016, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed by Council: November 29,2018
Amended: June 21 ,2023 (came into effect September 8,20'231

Current and former members of Council and committee members must, at all times,
maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty when discharging their College
duties. They must act in the best interest of the College. They shall:

1. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions
Act, l99l (RHPA), its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,
the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the
College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and
committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in ail deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and
professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts
of interestsl;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the
College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and
business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the
Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.



CCO Code of Conduct 2

i
i

10. preserve confidentiality of all information before Council or committee unless

disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

1 1. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which could be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a member of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. refrain from communicating to members and stakeholder3 on behalf of CCO,
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14.be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Code of Gonduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the

Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential consequences.

I, , Council member or committee member of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct for Cunent
and Former Council Members, Non-Council Committee Members and Council
Appointed Members ("Committee Members"), both during and following my term on
CCO Council or a committee

Signature Witness

Date:

2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.
3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation, education

and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not communicating on

behalf of CCO.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Rules of Order of the Council of the
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Approved by Council: September 20,2014
Amended: June17,2020

In this Schedule, "Council Member" means a Member of the Council of the CCO.

Each agenda topic may be introduced briefly by the person or committee
representative raising it. Council Members may ask questions for clarification.
However, a Council Member shall make a motion and another Council Member
shall second the motion before it can be debated.

When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising
their hand. When speaking the Council Member shall address the presiding

officer and confine themselves to the matter under discussion.

Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the
presiding officer to provide information or answer specific questions about the
matter.

Observers at a Council meeting shall not speak to a matter that is under debate

A Council Member shall not speak again on the debate of a matter until every
other Council Member of Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an

opportunity to do so. An exception is that the person introducing the matter or a
staff person or consultant may answer questions about the matter. Council
Members shall not speak to a matter more than twice without the permission of
the presiding officer.

No Council Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except
with the permission of the Council.

When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend
it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee.

A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only
one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.

When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate on a matter has
concluded, that Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or that the
time allocated to the debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer
shall put the motion to a vote.

When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the
Council room, and no further debate is permitted.

I

10

11.



12.

Rules of Order of Council

No Council Member shall be present in the room, participate in a debate or vote
upon any motion in which they have a conflict of interest, and the vote of any
Council Member so interested shall be disallowed.

13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same
session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present.

14 Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the
Council is contrary to these rules or the by-laws, the presiding officer shall rule
the motion out of order and give reasons for doing so.

15 The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide
questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.

16 The above rules may be relaxed by the presiding officer if it appears that greater
informality is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council
requires strict adherence.

17 Council Members shall not discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated.

18. Council Members shall turn off their electronic devices during Council meetings
and, except during a break in the meeting, shall not use their electronic devices.
Computers shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials
related to the matter under debate (e.9., electronic copies of background
documents) and to make personal notes of the debate. The presiding officer may
make reasonable exceptions (e.9., if a Council Member is awaiting an important
message on an urgent matter).

19. Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking

In all cases not provided for in these rules or the by-laws, the current edition of
Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable and
consistent witlr these rules.

20

2



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at November 17, 2022

Acronym Full Name

ACE Accessing Centre for Expertise, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of
Toronto

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
ASNFPO Accountins Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations

BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
ccBc Colleee of Chiropractors of British Columbia

CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

cccr Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative
cco Colleee of Chiropractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association

CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act, 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Collese

CMOH Chief Medical Officer of Health

cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
covtD-19 SARS - CoV- 2
Code Health P r ofess ions P r ocedur al Co de, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo of of Ontario

CPGs Clinical Fractice Guidelines
CPMF Colleee Performance Measurement Framework

CPSO Colleee of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

D'Youville D'Youville Colleee - Chiropractic Program
DAC Desierated Assessment Centre

DEI Diversitv. Eouitv and Inclusion
FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the of
FCCR(C) Fellow of the of
FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational

Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the of Sciences

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FOt Freedom of Information
Grc Guaranteed Invesfrnent Certificate
HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990

HIA Heqlth Insurance Act, 1990

HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Resulatory Advisory Council

HPRO Health Profession Regulators of Ontario

rcRc Inquiries. Complaints and Reports Committee

KPI Key Performance Indicators
LSO Law Socie8 of Ontario
MESPO Model for the Etaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontmio

MOH Ministrv of Health
MTCU Ministrv of Traihine, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

NHSU National Universitv of Health Sciences - Chiropractic Proglam

NWG Nominations Working Group
NYCC New York Chiropractic Collese



2

Acronym FullName

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association
ODP Ottice ljevelopment Proiect
oFc Office of the Faimess Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Insurance Plan
OHPR Ontario Health Professions Regulators
OHR OntarioHealthRe gulators.ca (HPRO's nublic-focused website)
OHRC Ontario Human Riehts Commission
PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act. 2004
PPA Peer and Practice Assessment
PIPEDA Personal Informqtion and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
PSA Professional Standards Authoritv for Health and Social Care (U.K.)
PVO Prosecutorial Viabilitv Opinion
QA Oualitv Assurance
RFP Request for Proposal
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I
SCERP Specified Continuine Education or Remediation Prosram
SOAR Society of Ontario Adiudicators and Resulators
SPPA Statutorv Powers Procedural Act. 1990
SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses" Opporhrnities. Threats
TCL Terms. Conditions and Limitations
UOIT Universi8 of Ontario Institute of Technoloey
UQTR Universitd du Oudbec d Trois-Rividres
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workolace Safetv and Insurance Board



 

 

 
 

AGENDA (Public) 1 
 

COUNCIL MEETING (In Person) 2 
 
 

Thursday, November 23, 2023 (8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.) 3  
 
 

Attendees  
 

Council members  
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar 

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel 
Ms Beth Ann Kenny, Recording Secretary  

 
AGENDA 4  

 
Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

 CALL TO ORDER AND LAND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 6 7 

Welcome Green/ 
Kariunas 

High 

     
 1. Consent Agenda Approve Council  High 
     

10 1.1 Fitness to Practise Committee Report 
 
  

   

 
1 Informa�on which is included for background or context (i.e., not requiring Council ac�on) is shaded in grey.  
2 Guests to advise Ms Rose Bustria, Execu�ve Assistant, if they would like to atend. 
3 Subject to Council’s direc�on.  
4 If you would like the complete background documenta�on rela�ng to any item on the agenda, please speak 
to Dr. Green, President and Ms Willson (informa�on may be subject to confiden�ality provisions). 
5 Subject to Council’s direc�on.  
6 Council members to be familiar with and comply with the rules of order. If required, Dr. Green, President, to 
be parliamentarian.  
 
7 Land acknowledgment 

Let us acknowledge that in our meeting space today, we gather on the Treaty Lands and Territory of the 
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation as well as the traditional territory of the Haudenosaunee and the 
Huron-Wendat peoples. We recognize that we have a responsibility to work towards meaningful reconciliation 
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples and through this land acknowledgement, we are honoring 
the land, Indigenous peoples, and deepening our understanding of truth. 

 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

2 
 

2 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

11 1.2 Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports 
Committee (ICRC) Report  

   

13 1.2.1 HPARB decision dated 
September 19, 2023 re: DC and 
JM, DC  

   

27 1.3 Patient Relations Committee Report    
29 1.4 Registration Committee Report    
31 1.4.1 Memo dated October 16, 2023 re: 

  Update on the OFC’s Risk- 
  Informed compliance Framework 

   

33 1.4.2 OFC Newsletter dated October 
  2023 

   

39 1.4.3  Memo dated November 6, 2023 
  re: Launch of the OFC’s Updated 
  Risk-informed Compliance  
  Framework 

   

69 1.5 Advertising Committee Report    
     
 2. Main Agenda  Adopt Council High 

     
 2.1 Conflict of Interest  Review/ 

Declare 
any real 
or 
perceived 
conflicts 
of 
interest 
as agenda 
item 
reached 8 

Council High 

 3. Adoption of Minutes 9     
     
     

 
8 Standing conflicts of interest do not need to be declared at every mee�ng. Richard Steinecke’s previous 
advice is that a Council member should leave the room if s/he is the subject of or may be affected by the 
discussion or decision by Council. 
9 Only members present at the mee�ng should approve the minutes. Once Council minutes are approved, they 
are posted on the CCO website.  



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

3 
 

3 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

 4. Committee Reports     
97 4.1 Executive Committee Report  

 
 

Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 

Green/ 
Council 
 
 
 

High 

121 4.1.2 Order in Council dated  
  September 7,  2023 re: Robert 
  Chopowick  

Welcome
! 

  

131 4.1.4 Revocation of Mr. de   
  Domenico 

FYI   

     
 Move in Camera 10    
     
 Move Out of Camera and Ratify 

Decisions made In Camera 
   

     
 Review of By-laws and Feedback     
 By-laws    

440 4.1.39 President’s Message dated  
  September 19, 2023 with draft 
  by-laws attached 

Approve Council High 

 Feedback to date 11    
559 4.1.41 Summary feedback charts as of 

  October 25, 2023 
   

574 4.1.42 Further feedback from individual 
  members 

   

579 4.1.43 Other by-law amendments -  
  Discipline Committee 

   

 4.1.44  Comprehensive List of By-laws 
  to be approved 12 

Approve Council High 

583 4.1.45 Extract from RHPA re: by-laws 
  requiring circulation 13 

   

 
10 Council may go in camera to discuss items iden�fied in Ss. 7 (2) of the Code, such as financial maters, 
government rela�ons, and advice from lawyers.  
11 Feedback re: amendments to S-003: Professional Por�olio to be reviewed by the Quality Assurance 
Commitee with recommenda�ons to Council. Further feedback by November 19, 2023 deadline date to be 
considered before final recommenda�ons to Council. A short special mee�ng of Execu�ve is scheduled for 
November 21, 2023 to review any further feedback and to make recommenda�ons to Council. 
12 To be circulated following the Execu�ve Commitee mee�ng scheduled for November 21, 2023. 
13 The RHPA does not require all by-law amendments to be circulated. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

4 
 

4 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

588 4.1.46 E-mail dated September 14, 2023 
  from Doug Ford, Premier re:  
  2022 Annual Report 

   

     
 March 2024 Elections 14     
     
 Ministry of Health    
 College Performance Measurement 

Framework (CPMF) 15  
   

603 4.1.51  CCO’s Updated CPMF Report – 
  2023 

   

723 4.1.52  CPMF Action Plan - 2023    
733 4.1.53  Key Performance Indicators  

  (approved November 25, 2021) 
   

738 4.1.55  DEI Audit and Recommendations 
  (approved April 20, 2022) 

   

     
 Follow Up from Strategic 

Planning/Topic Specific Meetings 
September 9, 10, 2023 

Review/ 
Develop 
action 
plan at 
Novem-
ber 24, 
2023 
Training 
Session 

Council High 

     
 Other Chiropractic/Health Related 

Stakeholders 
Primarily 
FYI and 
back-
ground/ 
Context 
(subject to 
questions)  

Council Medium 

 Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA)    
853 4.1.62  Information dated November 4, 

  2023 re: voting for OCA’s Board 
  of Directors 

   

 
14 Drs. Dennis Mizel, Angelo San�n and Julia Viscomi are up for reelec�on in March 2024. Consider real or 
perceived conflict of interest in par�cipa�ng in decisions rela�ng to March 2024 elec�ons. 
15 CCO’s third CPMF Report was submited on March 31, 2023 and is available on CCO’s website. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

5 
 

5 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

 Canadian Memorial Chiropractic 
College (CMCC) 

   

898 4.1.65 Communication dated September 
  14, 2023 to Ms Willson from Dr. 
  Starmer re: Presentation on  
  August 25, 2023 

   

 Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board    
900 4.1.66 Communication dated October 

  25, 2023 re: CCEB website  
  facelift and exam changes 

   

 Canadian Chiropractic Guideline 
Initiative (CCGI) 

   

908 4.1.67 CCGI Update Report for May to 
  September 2023 

   

 Canadian Chiropractic Association    
914 4.1.68 Information re: CCA National 

  Convention and Tradeshow April 
  19 – 20, 2024 

   

 National Board of Chiropractic 
Examiners 

   

923 4.1.71 Update dated September 19, 2023    
   Health Profession Regulators of 

  Ontario (HPRO) 
Verbal 
Report 

Willson/ 
Kenny 

Medium 

930 4.1.72 “As of Right” Guidance  
  Document dated September 1, 
  2023 

   

946 4.1.73 Announcement re: Discipline 
  Orientation Workshops – Basic 
  (November 3) and Advanced  
  (November 20) 

   

 Animal Chiropractic Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

989 4.1.78 Communication dated October 
  16, 2023 between Ms Willson 
  and Mr. Robert Blenkinsop from 
  the Ontario Ministry of  
  Agriculture, Food and Rural  
  Affairs 

   

993 4.1.79 Correspondence, Survey and  
  Links dated October 19, 2023 
  from CCO to Members who  
  Provide Chiropractic Care of  
  Animals 

   



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

6 
 

6 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

1018 4.1.80 Results of Survey from  
  distribution 

   

1025 4.1.81 Communication exchange with 
  Mr. Blenkinsop dated October 26, 
  2023 re: survey results 

   

     
1031 4.2  Discipline Committee Report 16 Report 

 
Mizel Medium 

1033 4.2.1 Resolution Agreement re: Dr. 
  Gary Schoutsen dated November 
  2, 2023 (decision pending) 

   

1042 4.2.2  CCO v Dr. Samira Ramy decision 
  received November 10, 2023 

   

1053 4.2.3  CCO v Dr. Brian Moore decision 
  received November 9, 2023 

   

1120 4.2.4  Information re: HPRO discipline 
  training 

   

     
1125 4.3  Quality Assurance Committee 

  Report 
Report/ 
Approve 
Recomm-
endations 

Groulx High 

1136 4.3.3  G-014: Delegation, Assignment 
  and Referral of Care (current) 

FYI   

1148 4.3.5  S-006: Ordering, Taking and  
  Interpreting Radiographs  
  (current) 

FYI   

     
 5. New Business   - TBD    
     
 6. FYI   Back-

ground/ 
Context   

  

 Chiropractic Related Information    
1155 6.1 CBC article dated October 1,  

 2023 entitled “Canada stopped  
 checking kids’ spines years ago.  
 Why experts say screening should 

   

 
16 There are no recommenda�ons from the Discipline Commitee. The report ataches the recent discipline 
decisions including the recently released discipline decision with respect to Dr. Brian Moore. The decisions 
“stand on their own” i.e., are not subject to ques�oning or interpreta�on but are included as FYI and will be 
part of CCO’s public register. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

7 
 

7 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

 come back”  
1161 6.2 Secretory Immunoglobulin A and 

 Upper Cervical Chiropractic: A  
 Preliminary Prospective,   
 Multicenter, Observational Study 
 (2021) 

   

 College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario    
1170 6.3 Notification dated September 26, 

 2023 entitled “CDHO Council  
 rescinds Standard of   
 Authorization to Self- Initiate” 

   

 College of Physicians and Surgeons of 
Ontario 

   

1174 6.4 Reasonable and Probable   
 Grounds Test in Appointing 
 Investigators in the Regulatory 
 Context – Kustka v CPSO 

   

 College of Psychologists of Ontario    
1205 6.5 ABA Regulation: Notice of 

 Upcoming  Information Sessions for 
 Stakeholders 

   

1209 6.6 Notice of Motion for Leave to 
 Appeal –  Peterson v College of 
 Psychologist of  Ontario 

   

 College of Nurses of Ontario    
1222 6.7Paul Hirtle and CNO (February 23, 

2022) 17 
   

 College of Registered Nurses of Alberta    
1242 6.8 Social Media and e-Professionalism: 

 Guidelines for Nurses (March 2021) 
   

 
 

1253 

 
 
6.9 Globe and Mail article dated October 
 31, 2023 entitled CPA Ontario 
 imposes $1.59 million in penalties on 
 Deloitte after firm admits audit work 
 was backdated 

   

     
1256 6.10  Communication from Ashley  

  Myers  re: AODA Reporting  
  deadline – December 31, 2023 

   

 
17 Decision addresses special considera�ons for self-represented members. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

8 
 

8 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 5 

1258 6.11 Grey Areas    
  (September/October/November 
  2023)  

   

1267 6.12 Council Members Terms (dated 
  November 9, 2023) 

   

     
     
     
 DATE AND TIME OF MEETINGS 18    
     
 ADJOURNMENT     
     

 
All Executive Committee and Council meetings are in person and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. 
unless otherwise noted.  
 
Executive Committee Meeting Dates to December 2024 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 
2023 Tuesday, November 21 12:00 p.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting  Virtual 

2024 Friday, January 26 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, March 22 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, May 24 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, August16 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, October 25 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Dates to December 2024 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 

2023 Friday, November 24 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Training/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

CCO 

2024 Friday, February 23 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Tuesday, April 16 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 
18 Please mark your calendar and advise Rose Bustria ASAP if you are unable to atend any mee�ngs. 



Co and Strategic Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

9 
 

9 Council Meeting Agenda: November 23, 2023 (in person) at CCO (Public)                                                                                                 

Year Date Time Event Location 
 Wednesday, April 17 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (Elections) CCO 

 Friday, June 14 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, June 14 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. AGM The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, 
Yorkville 19 

 Friday, September 13 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. Meeting Millcroft Inn and Spa 20 

 Saturday, September 14 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

Milcroft Inn and Spa 

 Sunday, September 15 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

Millcroft Inn and Spa 

 Thursday, November 21 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (budget) CCO 

 Friday, November 22 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Training/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

CCO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
19 The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, Yorkville, 220 Bloor Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5S 1T8 
htps://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-
toronto?utm_source=GMB&utm_medium=Organic&utm_campaign=Organic_GMB&utm_id=GMB 
20 Millcro� Inn and Spa, 55 John Street, Alton, Ontario, L7K 0C4 
519-941-8111  
1-800-383-3976 
Millcro� Inn & Spa | Spa Retreat in the Hills of Caledon, ON (vintage-hotels.com) 

 

https://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto?utm_source=GMB&utm_medium=Organic&utm_campaign=Organic_GMB&utm_id=GMB
https://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto?utm_source=GMB&utm_medium=Organic&utm_campaign=Organic_GMB&utm_id=GMB
https://www.vintage-hotels.com/millcroft-inn/


ITEM 1.1
Generated Internally

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Fitness to Practise Gommittee Report to Council 10November 2023

Members: Dr. Kyle Grice, Chair
Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Ajagu
Dr. Angelo Santin

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the

committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

The Fitness to Practise Committee has no recommendations at this time.

Since the last council meeting the committee has not been required to hold a meeting or
hearing.

A meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, November 29,2023 to review relevant standards,

policies and guidelines and to conduct training.

Respectfully submitted,
Dr. Kyle Grice
Chair

a



ITEM 1.2 11
Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report to Council
November 23,2023

Members: Dr. Michael Gauthier, Chair,
Dr. Michelle Campbell, non-Council Member
Mr. Gagandeep Dhand4
Mr. Scott Stewart,
Dr. Julie Viscomi

Staff Support: Ms Kelly Malcolm, Investigator
Ms Christine McKeown, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Officer
Ms Tina Perryman, Manager, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports

Committee Mandate

o To respond to inquiries, complaints and reports in a manner consistent with CCO's
legislative mandate under the RHPA.

o To review investigation reports carried out pursuant to s. 75 of the RHPA, and to make

decisions concerning any further action, including the referral of specified allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee and the imposition
of interim terms, conditions or limitations on a member's certificate of registration.

I
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee completed the following

September 2023:
Reviewed 17 cases

Made decisions on 11 cases

Completed Oral Caution I case

Appointed 75(1Xc) investigators on 1 case

October 20232
Reviewed 9 cases

Made decisions on 5 cases

Appointed 75(1Xa) investigator on 1 case

Appointed 75(1)(c) investigator on I case



l

12

ICRC Report to Council
November 23,2023
Page2

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) upheld 1 Committee decision.
(attached)

The Committee continues to work diligently to meet timelines with a high volume of matters
to consider. Virtual meetings have been effective to date.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Michael Gauthier, Chair
Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee

-
l

:



s? H {Jt&,aVffi$S

NOl/ il {i afra3

cil{,r6€.soFnmBA&ffi$
tr#$mmi

HEALTH PROFESSIONS I, AND REVIEW BOARD

PRESENT: ITEM 1.2.1

Carla Whillier, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding
Lisa Freeman, Board Member
Thomas Kelly, Vice-Chair

Review held on September 19,2023 in Ontario (by teleconference)

IN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SBCTION 29(1) of the Health
Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, Statstes
of Ontario, I991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

Applicant

Respondent
Appearances:

For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario

DECISION AND REASONS

I. DECISION

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board confirms the decision of the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario to take no

fuither action.

13
FtIe # 22-CRV-0204

DC

and

JM, DC

Christine McKeown

1



14
2 This depision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by DC (the Applicant) to review a decision of the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee (the Committee) of the College of Chiropractors of

Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the conduct and

actions of JM, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated the complaint and

decided to take no further action.

The Board issued a publication ban order in this matter. This decision is subject to that

order.

II. BACKGROUND

The Applicant was referred by the Centre for Employee Health, Safety & Wellness (the

Centre) for an Independent Psychiatric Assessment in 201 l. This assessment was

arranged with Dr. Z at Sibley and Associates (Sibley), a Disability Management

Company.

At the time of the assessment, the Respondent was employed as a Technical Advisor for

Sibley.

The Complaint and the Response

The Complaint

6. The Applicant complained as follows

[The Respondent was] employed by "Sibley and Associates, aka CES

examinations, aka Granite Health, etc..."

I understand he is a Chiropractor by profession. I believe he may have

been also involved as a "ghostwriter for lDr. Zf".

3

4

5

a

a

2



15

a

a

He made a comment about my mental state to a Defence Medical

Examiner I filed a complaint against, lDr. Z] and stated "Don't worry [Dr.

Zl.His complaint is part of his disorder." to which lDr. Zl replied

"excellent" (I assume he meant that was an excellent excuse).

I have received a decision from the CPSO and can share the decision with

you if ithelps against lDr.Z).

I understand fthe Respondent] has little to no Psychiatric training and

therefore not entitled to any "privileged opinion" that the specialty legally

affords.

I find his comment hurtful, discriminating and even disgraceful of a

Chiropractor.

I must tell you the entire experience with this man, the "DME" Doctor,

How the CPSO encouraged dialogue with [Dr. Z] and how he continued to

insult me in literary and verbal form caused me a degree of trauma. In

addition I had to deal with lthe Respondent'sl employer Sibley and

Associates, the Director Ian Elliot, the lawyer there Witsun Chang, and

Ithe Respondent] stating that my "complaint is part of my disorder."

I received a decision against lDr. Zl and his lawyer entirely by myself

with Clinical Depression. I think that is testament to my capability. The

investigator Ms Tracy Baruch indicated I was "free to use the report as I

wanted" but I will show lDr. Zl,lthe Respondentl the dignity they didn't

show me and refrain from forwarding it to you out of respect for his

privacy.

I also lost my self esteem, my marriage, my wife whom I held dear, my

family, familial home, distanced from my children, and incurred

significant financial loss. Legal hurdle after legal hurdle. I haven't bought

ciothes in over 8 years. It has caused me a lot of shame. I am still happy to

be alive and reasonably healthy.

It has taken me almost 10 years to begin recovery.

[The Respondent] even failed to explain how I picked originally, Dr Sturla

Bruin Meyer, then he told me he is not available. I then selected Dr

a

a

a

a

a

3



16

a

a

a

a

Voruganti, Zohair Waisman, Richard Herschberg. They all were unable

and only lDr. Zl was available?. Makes one wonder why he even sent me

their names in the first place if they wanted me to see lDr. Z) in the first

place they should of indicated that.

I don't think [the Respondent] was entirely transparent with me regarding

scheduling abherations [sic] related to these doctors. Its unlikely their

schedules would become filled as I was engaged in a 5 min selection for

the appropriate "expert". Hard for me to accept his explanation. I suppose

I must.

When [the Respondent] made an effort to disrupt each and every doctor

selection. It's unlikely that all the aforementioned doctors were

unavailable while I was engaged in appropriate selection.

I assure you someone who is paranoid as fthe Respondent] would infer

from his inappropriate "diagnosis" wouid not be as capable to represent

themselves in a legal forum repeatedly.

I also suspect that lthe Respondent] wrote the entire IME report just as he

filled in the information via my employer's questions for [Dr. Z's]

convenience as [Dr. Z] appeared to be unusually reliant upon fthe

Respondent' s] "advice".

I thought this was very odd and again out of [the Respondent]'s area of

expertise which is Chiropractic.

a

The Response

7 The Respondent provided a written response to the Applicant's complaint in which

summarized his involvement as the Technical Advisor for Sibley while the Applicant was

undergoing an independent medical examination. The Respondent described that

foliowing the Applicant's assessment, the Applicant made a complaint regarding Dr. Z.

The Respondent explained that the complaint was forwarded to Sibley for response. The

Respondent maintained that at all material times he conducted himself in a professional

4

I



17

9

and ethical manner. The Respondent responded to each of the Applicant's specific

concerns, which will be discussed below in the reasonableness section of this decision

The Committee's Decision

8. The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to take no further actron.

uI. REQUEST FOR REVIEW

In a letter dated April 19,2022, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision. In further correspondence he reiterated his complaint and disputed

the mental health diagnosis attributed to him by the Respondent. The Applicant described

his difficulties being denied disability and accommodation at work and maintained that

the people at Sibley, including the Respondent, were altering reports.

IV. POWERS OF THE BOARD

After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar' s investi gation.

11 The Board cannot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member

or require the referral of specified allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not,

if proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

10

5



18

t2

13

l4

V. ANALYSIS AND REASONS

Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code),being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I , the mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

The Applicant and Respondent did not participate in the review. There is no legislative

requirement that parties participate in a review and the Board draws no inference from

their non-attendance.

The Board has examined the Record of Investigation (the Record) and reviewed the

Committee's decision.

15 In this regard, the Committee is to act in relation to the College's objectives under section

3 of the Code, which include, in part, to maintain programs and standards of practice to

assure the quality of the practice of the profession, to maintain standards of knowiedge

and skill and programs to promote continuing improvement among the members, and to

serve and protect the public interest.

16 The Committee's mandate is to screen complaints about its members. The Committee

considers the information it obtains to determine whether, in all of the circumstances, a

referral of specified allegations of professional misconduct to the College's Discipline

Committee is warranted or if some other remedial action should be taken. Dispositions

available to the Committee upon considering a complaint include taking no action with

regard to a member's practice, issuing a caution or directing other remedial measures

intended to improve an aspect of a member's practice, or referring specified allegations

of professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee if the

allegations are related to the complaint.

6

:1

Adequacy of the Investigation



19
t1 An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

18. The Board finds the Committee's investigation to be adequate for the following reasons

t9 The Committee obtained the following documents and information during its

investi gation into the Applicant' s complaint :

the Applicant's letter of complaint, supporting documents, articles and

numerous emails;

the Respondent's response;

the Respondent's registration and conduct history.

20 The Board finds that the Committee's investigation covered the events in question, and

that it obtained the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint. The Applicant had the opportunity to clarify

and confirm his concerns with the Committee investigator and provided additional

documents including the relevant emails. The Respondent provided his response to the

Applicant's complaint. The Committee also had the additional documents submitted by

the Applicant which included case law and news articles. In addition, the Committee had

the Respondent's relevant college history.

2l There is no indication of additional information that, if obtained, might reasonably be

expected to have affected the Committee's decision.

22. Accordingly, the Board finds that the Committee's investigation was adequate

o

a

a

7

Reasonableness of the Decision



20
23

24

In determining the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the

Board is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee. Rather, the

Board considers the outcome of the Committee's decision in light of the underlying

rationale for the decision, to ensure that the decision as a whole is transparent, intelligible

and justified. That is, in considering whether a decision is reasonable, the Board is

concerned with both the outcome of the decision and the reasoning process that led to

that outcome. It considers whether the Committee based its decision on a chain of

analysis that is coherent and rational and isjustified in relation to the relevant facts and

the laws applicable to the decision-making process.

The Board finds that the Committee's decision to take no further action is reasonable for

the following reasons.

25 The Board notes that the circumstances of this complaint required the Committee,

which included professional and public members, to rely on its knowledge and expertise

related to the expected standards of the profession in assessing the Respondent's conduct

and actions with respect to the Applicant's concerns.

26 The Board also notes that the Committee's decision made specific reference to

information from the parties and described the relevance of information in the Record in

support of its conclusions.

Issue 1'. Limited his choice of assessor

The Committee referred to the Applicant's correspondence that he preferred to have his

IME done by one of several other doctors. The Committee noted that the Respondent told

the Applicant that no one but Dr. Z was available to conduct the IME.

The Committee referred to the Respondent's response that assessors provided Sibley and

Associates with available times for Independent Assessments (pre-bookings). The

Respondent described that scheduling was predicted on availability within the timeframe

27

8

l
l

28



29

30

21

requested by the Applicant. The Respondent denied coercion or deliberate attempts made

to affect the selection of the clinician to perform the IME.

The Committee concluded that there was no information in the Record to confirm that

this was anything other than a scheduling issue.

The Board finds the Committee's conclusions regarding this issue to be reasonable as

they are based on information in the Record, as noted above, and by the absence of

information to indicate that this was anything other than a scheduling issue. The Board

notes that the Committee applied its knowledge and expertise related to the expected

standards of the profession in assessing the Respondent's conduct and actions and in

deciding to take no further action concerning this issue.

Isswe 2: Ghost-wrote repo{ts

31 The Committee referred to information provided by the Applicant which discussed the

practice of ghost-writing or over-templating IME reports which went on to describe how

some reports are intentionally unfavourable and the impact this has on claimants.

32 The Committee noted that there is no information that the Respondent ghost-wrote or

"polished" reports for Dr. Z or for anyone else.

JJ The Committee described the role of the Technical Advisor which is to "provide Quality

Assurance throughout the assessment process" which could include ensuring consistent

vocabulary and grammar with respect to IME reports. The Committee noted that even if
portions of the report(s) had standardized vocabulary and/or grammar, this would not

necessarily impact the substance of the report(s). The Committee noted that there was no

information in the Record that the Respondent "polished" the report to make it say

anything bad about the Applicant.

9



34

22

The Board finds the Committee's conclusions regarding this issue to be reasonable as

they are based on information in the Record and by the absence of information to indicate

that the Respondent "polished" the report to say anything bad about the Applicant. The

Board notes that the Committee applied its knowledge and expertise related to the

expected standards of the profession in assessing the Respondent's conduct and actions

and in deciding to take no further action concerning this issue.

Issue 3: Commented on his mental stute

35 The Committee noted that the Applicant filed a complaint about Dr. Z wtlh the Centre

and received information related to that investigation. When Dr. Z found out about the

complaint, he exchanged emails with the Respondent. As part of the investigation into

Dr. Z's conduct, the Applicant received emails between Dr. Z and the Respondent.

36 The Committee referred to the emails which confirm that the diagnosis of paranoid

personality disorder may have been made by Dr. Z or anolher professional. The

Committee commented that it does not appear that the Respondent made this diagnosis

37. The Committee had before it the Respondent's response where he noted:

"Remarks made in correspondence with Dr. Z are not tantamount to a diagnosis or

opinion. Dr, Z made the remark that the fApplicant] has a paranoid personality

disorder. After reading his reporl, my non-clinical comment to Dr. Z simply

confirmed my understanding that this is likely part of the subject's overall disorder.

The remark was an observation parroting the Psychiatrist's opinion expressed in his

email and within the report. The [Applicant's] assertion of acting independently and

outside my of practice is unfounded."

38 The Committee's decision noted the email from Dr. Zto the Respondent dated July 13,

2011 (9:00 PM) which stated:

10



39

40

23
"I will contact the CMPA to have a lawyer represent me. This man has a paranoid

personality disorder who feels bullied at work and has grievances against his co-

workers and manager. Nothing of what he described happened during the

assessment, at the end I asked him whether he had anything to say, he thank (sic) me

and denied any ill feelings. There was no swearing or personal questions. I got a

personal taste of what the company has to deal with. Please contact me if you need

more information."

The Committee determined that there is nothing in the record to suggest the Respondent

made the diagnosis of paranoid personality disorder.

The Board finds the Committee's conclusions regarding this issue to be reasonable as

they are based on information in the Record. The Board notes that the Committee applied

its knowledge and expertise related to the expected standards of the profession in

assessing the Respondent's conduct and actions and in deciding to take no further action

conceming this issue.

Issue 4: Condoned insalts

4l The Committee referred to information provided by the Applicant that confirmed that he

was the victim of several highly inappropriate and hurtful comments.

42 The Committee stated that there is nothing in the Record to suggest that the Respondent

knew about these comments. The Committee noted that the Respondent was not in a

position to take any action about them.

43 The Board finds the Committee's conclusions regarding this issue to be reasonable as

they are based on the lack of information in the Record to indicate that the Respondent

was aware of the comments. The Board notes that the Committde applied its knowledge

and expertise related to the expected standards ofthe profession in assessing the

11



44

24
Respondent's conduct and actions and in deciding to take no further action concerning

this issue.

Isswe 5: Vl/us involved in insurance scum and/or workplace harassment/constructive dismissal

The Committee noted the Applicant's allegation that the Respondent was involved in an

insurance scam and/or workplace harassment/constructive dismissal.

45 The Committee determined that there is no information in the Record that the Respondent

participated in any scam, harassment or constructive dismissal.

46 The Board finds the Committee's decision to take no further action to be reasonable as it

based on the lack of information in the Record to indicate that the Respondent was

involved in an insurance scam. The Applicant submitted an article outlining an

investigation into independent medical evaluations being altered to favour an insurer;

however, the Board notes this is not information which is specific to the Applicant or the

Respondent. The Board further notes that the Committee applied its knowledge and

expertise related to the expected standards ofthe profession in assessing the

Respondent's conduct and actions and in deciding to take no further action concerning

this issue.

Summary

47 The role of the Board in a complaint review is to assess whether the Committee

conducted an adequate investigation, and based on the information in the Record, to

determine if the Committee's decision is reasonable. As indicated above, the Board

considers whether the Committee based its decision on a chain of analysis that is coherent

and rational and is justified in relation to the reievant facts and the laws applicable to the

decision-making process.

T2



48

49

50

25
The Board notes that the Committee applied its knowledge and expeftise in the expected

standards of the profession to its consideration of the Respondent's conduct and actions

in relation to the Applicant's complaint. The Committee relied on the information in the

Record to support its conclusions, and its decision makes it clear that it considered and

addressed each of the Applicant's concems with respect to the Respondent and provided

coherent reasons for its conclusions. While the Board acknowledges that the Applicant is

dissatisfied with the Committee's decision, having considered the information in the

Record and the reasons for the Committee's decision, the Board finds that the

Committee's decision is reasonable. The Committee's decision demonstrates a coherent

and rational connection between the relevant facts, the outcome of the decision and the

reasoning process that led it to that outcome, and its decision as a whole is transparent,

intelligible and j ustifi ed.

The Board notes that the Applicant's complaint and the Committee's disposition in this

matter will remain on the Respondent's permanent (although private) record with the

College and will be considered should another complaint arise in the future.

For the reasons provided above, the Board finds that the Committee conducted an

adequate investigation and its decision is reasonable.

l3



26VI. DECISION

51. Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the Committee's decision to

take no further action.

ISSUED November 7,2023

Cnrln Whillipv

Carla Whillier

Lisa Freeman
Lisa Freeman

Thomas Kellv
Thomas Kelly

Cette d6cision est aussi disponible en frangais. Pour obtenir la version de la d6cision en frangais, veuillez contacter
hparb@ontario.ca

14



ITEM 1.3
Submitted to CCO: November 5, 2023

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Patient Relations Gommittee Report to Council
November 23,2023

27

Members: Ms Zoe Kariunas, Chair
Ms Anuli Ausbeth - Ajagu
Dr. Kyle Grice
Dr. Colleen Pattrick, non-Council member
Dr. Pip Penrose, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To develop and implement a program/guidelines to enhance the doctor-patient
relationship.
To develop and implement measures for preventing and dealing with sexual abuse of
patients.
To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals in exercising their
rights under the RHPA.

The Patient Relations Committee met on October 3I,2023, since the last meeting of
Council.

The Committee reviewed Guideline G-010: Mandatory and Permissive Reporting.
Specifically, the Committee the section on permissive reporting of reasonable risk of bodily
harm to a patient and how other colleges address this in their guidelines and policies. The

Committee was of the opinion that the cuffent section of the guideline is sufficient for
communicating this permissive reporting under the Personal Health Information Protection
Act, 2004 and is not recommending any amendments at this time.

The Committee reviewed updated draft website content on funding for therapy and a draft
flowchart to communicate the processes of funding for therapy to the public. The committee
directed further amendments to this draft content and will be reviewing this further at its
next meeting.

The Committee reviewed the status of current funding for therapy and approved a new
therapist for an ongoing funding matter.

The Committee was disappointed to leam that the proposed first meting of the Citizens
Advisory Group (CAG) for November 4,2023 was cancelled. The Committee looks forward
to participating in any further meetings and will monitor participation in the CAG during
CCO's first year as a member.

a

a

a



Patient Relations Committee Report to Council: November 23,2023 2

28
I would like to thank the members and staff of the Patient Relations Committee for all of
their contributions during this time.

Respectfu lly submitted,

Ms Zoe Kariunas
Chair, Patient Relations Committee



ITEM 1.4 Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Registration Committee Report to Gouncil
November 23,2023

29

Members:

Staff Support:

Dr. Julia Viscomi, Chair
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Angelo Santin
Mr. Robert Chopowick (pending)

Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Madeline Cheng, Registration Coordinator
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

o To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be

issued certificates of registration.
o To review applications for registration referred by the Registrar.
o To determine the terms, conditions or limitations, if any, for granting a certificate

ofregistration to an applicant.

I
The Registration Committee has not met since the last meeting of Council, as there have

not been any referrals of applications to the Registration Committee.

CCO launched the 2024 member and professional corporation renewal on October 30,

2023. Members and professional corporations have been renewing atarapidpace since

that date.

Current Member Status

Chart 1: Statistics as of November 2023
Glasses Total
General 505 I
Inactive 230
Retired 177

5451All classes

TotalDescription
11New members
7Female
4Male

Chart2z ln statistics for A 2023 to November 3 2023



Registration Committee Report to Council: November 23,2023 2

Chart 3: of Graduation for New Members 30

Attached to the report are various updates from the offrce of the Fairness Commissioner.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the committee members and staff support for the Registration
Committee for all of their contributions during this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Julia Viscomi
Chair, Registration Committee

CMCC 9

NCHS (Previouslv NYCC) I
Queensland University I

j
I

-



FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
'! 80 Dundas Street W., Suite 300, Toronto ON M7A 2So

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE
BUREAU DU COMMISSAIRE A L'iOUIT€
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Ontarlo) M7A 256

|TEM 1.4.1
31

MEMORANDUM

Date: October 16,2023

To Registrars
Regulated Professions and Regulated Health Colleges

From Ming-Young Tam,
Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

Subject: Update on the OFC's Risk-lnformed Compliance Framework

Thank you for participating in our recent regulator engagement sessions on proposed
updates to our risk-informed compliance framework (RICF).

During these meetings, we shared with you some of our office's proposed updates to the
framework which we believe will allow us to assess risks to fair registration practices more
accurately. They will also help us understand the impact of recent legislative amendments
and change management initiatives that are occurring throughout the regulatory community

The purpose of this memo is to share a summary of what we heard, and the changes that
we are considering in response to this feedback. ln total, more than 70 representatives from
regulated professions, compulsory trades and regulated health colleges participated in

these sessions. Your insights and feedback were invaluable, and we are working to address
your comments.

We confirmed from the meetings that our risk-based approach is allowing us to focus
attention on key issues and to work with regulators to improve their registration practices,

while minimizing administrative burdens for regulators that are operating effectively.

ln addition, regulators unanimously supported our proposal to turn the page on the historical
dimension of our assessment framework so that our approach would be foruvard-looking.
We also heard that, notwithstanding this shift, our office should have regard to the historical
performance of regulators that had operated in an exemplary fashion. The premise here is
that historical performance can predict future accomplishments.

We also heard some suggestions to ensure our assessment of risk is more objective,
grounded in measurable indicators and better tied to fair access outcomes. A few regulators
expressed concerns that they could receive an elevated risk rating due to factors over which
they had limited influence or control. Finally, several health regulatory colleges emphasized
the need for the OFC to work actively with the Ministry of Health (MOH) to avoid duplication
between the OFC's scheme and MOH's College Performance Measurement Framework
(CPMF), where there could be some areas of overlap.



32
The OFC is taking this input seriously. Where possible, we plan to clarify our risk definitions
and indicators, and focus on outcomes rather than inputs (e.9., referencing application
inventories rather than staffing levels). As we evolve our implementation tools, we will also
explore opportunities to further enhance objectivity by, for example:

. Building metrics into our RICF questionnaire;
r Refining our guidance materials and quality assurance program to improve the

consistency of assessments among our compliance analysts; and
. Meeting with regulators to gather additional information where an elevated risk

rating is contemplated.

Our office also continues to engage with MOH to help ensure alignment and
complementarity of the RICF and CPMF. Where feasible, we will cross reference
information from the CPMF, rather than requiring duplicate reporting.

During our discussions, regulators also addressed the complexities of managing
relationships with their third-party service providers (TPSPs) and in working with system
partners to advance the government's labour market objectives. We appreciate that a focus
on labour-market priorities will represent a change in thinking for some regulators.

Our continuing commitment is to work with you to better understand the challenges
associated with your current, or proposed, duty to consult with ministers on labour market
issues and to share best practices on ways to more effectively hold TPSPs accountable for
implementing fair assessment processes.

Finally, I wish to reiterate that we did not develop the RICF to be a punitive tool. Rather, our
risk ratings are intended to assist our two organizations to focus our collective resources on
improving registration practices. The ultimate goal is to eliminate registration barriers or
legacy processes that prevent skilled professionals from contributing their full potential to
Ontario society at a time when these skills are sorely needed.

We anticipate that a revised RICF policy document will be available by early November
2023 at which time we will provide further details about timing and our implementation
plans.

lf you have any questions in the interim, please feel free to reach out to me or Tanya Chute
Molina (tanva. chute-molina@ontario. ca).

Sincerely,

Ming-Young Tam, Director

Cc Allison Henry, Director, Health Workforce Regulators Oversight Branch

2

l



|TEM 1.4.2

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

ocToBER 2023

33

THE OFC NEWSLETTER

l-l
{
J
I

|F

- -
-

2022 F AaR REG ISTRATTO N P RACTI C ES (F RP) RE PO RTS

Under Ontario's fair access legislation, regulated professions and regulated health colleges (hereinafter "regulators") are required
to prepare Fair Registration Practices (FRP) reports annually or at such other times as the Fairness Commissioner may specify.
These reports provide important statistical data and insights on each regulator's fair registration practices. The information is

provided in a common format that the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) stipulates.

The legislation also prescribes that, to promote transparency, regulators must make their FRP reports available to the public. Links
to lhe 2022 reports are now available on our website under the Professions and Trades section.

The OFC would like to thank the regulators for submitting their 2022 FRP Reports. After some delays with the FRPs, we are happy
to again be on track with annual reporting. The OFC also continues to work towards building a data portal as more permanent
solution for future FRP submissions. We hope to share more on the data portal later in the year.

REGULATORS EMBRACE STRATEGIES TO PROMOTE TRUTH AND RECONCILIATION



34

On September 30, 2O23, we commemorated the National Day for Truth and Reconciliation. ln recent years, there has been a
growing recognition of the importance of Truth and Reconciliation processes in addressing historical injustices involving lndigenous
communities. As we all work towards understanding these issues and building a more respectful and equitable future, many
regulators are taking steps to incorporate lndigenous perspectives in their registration processes.

With this broad context, the OFC has selected two lndigenous-themed programs offered by regulators to provide examples of
innovative approaches that have been cultivated across the sector. We have summarized these programs in the words of the
regulators.

Gollege of Early Childhood Educators

cece
collcge of
€.rly chlldhood
€ducotoc

ln2022, the College of Early Childhood Educators initiated an outreach strategyfocused on bullding and nurturing a collaborative
relationship with the lndigenous Advanced Education Skills Council (IAESC), as well as the seven lndigenous post-secondary
institutions (lPSls) that deliver early childhood education programs in partnership with Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and
Technology (OCAATS).

lnitial discussions have created lines of two-way communication that facilitate information sharing. For example, opportunities have
been identified to better support future applicants by providing information and resources that will facilitate the application process
and reinforce the standards of practice for the profession.

ln the longer term, this collaboration will help to ensure that the necessary policies, processes and regulatory structures are in
place so that program graduates can continue to meet the educational requirement for registration as lPSls achieve full institutional
and program accreditation status and begin to deliver standalone programs.

College of Midwives of Ontario

t
College of
Midwives
of Ontario

Ordre des
sages-femmes
de l'Ontario

The College of Midwives of Ontario (CMO) acknowledges that Canada's legacy of colonization has impacted the practice of
midwifery in lndigenous communities, harming the health and wellbeing of lndigenous parents and their newborns for generations.

ln 2022, CMO shared that they were waiving administrative costs for the name-change process for lndigenous midwives registered
with the College reclaiming their lndigenous names. This is in response to the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada's
Call to Action #1 7, which directs all levels of government to enable residential school survivors and their families to reclaim and use
their lndigenous names on all government documents.

CMO staff are reviewing all the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls to Action to determine which of these can be
implemented in their organization and which calls to action they should add their voices to in a supportive role.



Sohnngt

H[LLO
My name is

MEET THE STAFF AT THE OFC

35

ln August 2023, Johnny Shaw joined the OFC as a Policy Analyst lntern. We are proud to introduce Johnny to our readers.

Please tell us about yourself: Who are you? What do you do at the OFG?

I am an lndigenous professional/student currently attending Carleton University in Ottawa in the Transnational LaW and Human
Rights Program. As a policy analyst intern at the OFC, I have the opportunity to analyze relevant legislation for Ontario regulators
and to contribute to compliance meetings ensuring fair registration practices. I conduct comprehensive research on regulator
websites, global legislative statutes, and professions to inform industry trends. Additionally, I assist in providing support to
regulators in achieving fair registration standards for internationally trained applicants. My responsibilities also extend to proposing
enhancements to regulator processes in alignment with legislative standards while working collaboratively with Compliance
Analysts, Managers, and the Fairness Commissioner (lrwin Glasberg).

Why the OFG?

The OFC correlates to my principles and provides me with an environment where I can tap into my strengths. I believe in helping
people who are trying to better themselves. We are fortunate to be in a country that provides a multitude of opportunities, but
sometimes people struggle to make it on their own. I understand and empathize that not everyone can make it on their own all the
time and that almost everyone needs assistance at some point. At the OFC, we can provide that assistance by supporting
legislative and policy changes while working with regulators to encourage internationally trained professionals to apply in their
destined field.

What knowledge do you want to share with the staff at the OFG?

I want to share my lndigenous expertise and legal knowledge from all my studies while utilizing my own personal and professional
experiences. My studies and research have been primarily focused on lndigenous justice in Canada, racial stances in courtrooms,
and incarceration rates in Canadian prisons while comparing the reoffending rates on different ethnicities, cultures, and races of
repeating offenders and the cause for reoffending.

Where do you see yourself in a few years?

I see myself taking a year or more off before further pursuing my studies of law in New York, to travel the world. I am the founder of
"lnternational Law Room" which I recently created. lnternational Law Room will be talking on the latest international relations,
lnternational Court of Justice cases/decisions and what they mean, wars taking place globally, human rights issues, and more. I will
be connecting with other prominent individuals in specific areas of international law and conduct interviews with them to gain more
insight for those who follow international legal issues.

Version frangaise



I

BULLETIN D'INFORMATION DU BGE

ocToBRE 2023 36

RAppoRTs suR LES pRATteuEs D'ENREGISTREMENT EeutrReles

Conform6ment d la legislation ontarienne sur I'accds 6quitable, les professions r6glement6es et les ordres du secteur de la sant6
r6glement6s (ci-apres d6nomm6s "organismes de r6glementation") sont tenus de pr6parer des rapports sur les pratiques
d'enregistrement 6quitables chaque ann6e ou d d'autres moments pr6cis6s par le commissaire d l'6quit6. Ces rapports fournissent
des donn6es statistiques importantes et des informations sur les pratiques d'enregistrement 6quitables de chaque organisme de
r6glementation. Les informations sont fournies dans un format commun d6fini par le Bureau du commissaire d l'6quit6 (BCE).

La l6gislation pr6voit 6galement que, pour promouvoir la transparence, les organismes de r6glementation doivent mettre leurs
rapports sur les pratiques d'enregistrement equitables d la disposition du public. Vous trouverez des liens vers les rapports publies
en 2022 sur notre site web, dans la section "Professions et m6tiers".

Le BCE souhaite remercier les organismes de r6glementation d'avoir soumis leurs rapports sur les pratiques d'enregistrement
equitables pour 2022. Aprds quelques retards concernant les rapports, nous sommes heureux d'6tre d nouveau sur la bonne voie
en ce qui concerne les rapports annuels. Le BCE continue 6galement de travailler d la mise en place d'un portail de donn6es
comme solution plus permanente pour les soumissions futures des rapports. Nous esp6rons pouvoir en dire plus sur le portail de
donn6es plus tard dans I'ann6e.

LES ORGANISMES DE REGLEMENTATION ADOPTENT DES STRATEGIES
VISANT A PROMOUVOIR LAVERFE ET LA RECONCILIATION

Le 30 septembre 2023, nous avons comm6mor6 la Journ6e nationale de la verit6 et de la r6conciliation. Ces dernidres ann6es,
I'importance des processus de v6rit6 et de r6conciliation pour rem6dier aux injustices historiques touchant les communaut6s
autochtones est de plus en plus reconnue. Alors que nous nous efforgons tous de comprendre ces probldmes et de construire un
avenir plus respectueux et plus 6quitable, de nombreux organismes de r6glementation prennent des mesures pour int6grer les
perspectives autochtones dans leurs processus d'enregistrement.

l-l
-tV-
I 

-

Ja
t 

-
!-



Dans ce contexte g6neral, le BCE a s6lectionn6 deux programmes d thdme autochtone offerts par les organismes de
r6glementation afin de fournir des exemples d'approches innovantes qui ont 6t6 cultiv6es dans I'ensemble du secteur. Nous avons
r6sum6 ces programmes avec les mots des organismes de r6glementation.

Ordre des 6ducatrices et des 6ducateurs de la petite enfance
37

8,.Ea
oepe
ord€ d€s dducrtrhei
et des eductteuru
de l! pcthc enfonce

En 2022, I'Ordre des 6ducatrices et des 6ducateurs de la petite enfance a mis en place une strat6gie de sensibilisation ax6e sur
l'6tablissement et le maintien d'une relation de collaboration avec I'lndigenous Advanced Education Skills Council, ainsi qu'avec les
sept 6tablissements postsecondaires autochtones qui offrent des programmes d'6ducation de la petite enfance en partenariat avec
les colldges d'arts appliqu6s et de technologie de I'Ontario.

Les premidres discussions ont permis de cr6er des lignes de communication bilat6rales qui favorisent le partage des informations.
Par exemple, des possibilit6s ont 6t6 identifi6es pour mieux soutenir les futurs candidats en fournissant des informations et des
ressources qui permettront de simplifier le processus de candidature et de renforcer les normes applicables d l'exercice de la
profession.

A long terme, cette collaboration contribuera d garantir la mise en place des politiques, processus et structures r6glementaires
n6cessaires pour que les dipl6m6s des programmes puissent continuer d satisfaire aux exigences 6ducatives pour 6tre enregistr6s
lorsque les 6tablissements postsecondaires autochtones obtiendront le statut d'accr6ditation compldte des 6tablissements et des
programmes et commenceront d offrir des programmes autonomes.

Ordre des sages-femmes de I'Ontario

L'Ordre des sages-femmes de I'Ontario reconnait que l'h6ritage de la colonisation du Canada a eu un effet sur la pratique de la
profession de sage-femme dans les communaut6s autochtones, nuisant d la sant6 et au bien-6tre des parents autochtones et de
leurs nouveau-n6s depuis des g6n6rations.

En 2022, I'Ordre a annonc6 qu'il renongait aux frais administratifs lies d la proc6dure concernant le changement de nom pour les
sages-femmes autochtones inscrites d I'Ordre qui reprennent leur nom autochtone. Cette mesure fait suite d l'appel d I'action n' '17

de la Commission de verit6 et de r6conciliation du Canada, qui demande d tous les niveaux de gouvernement de permettre aux
survivants des pensionnats et d leurs familles de r6cup6rer et d'utiliser leur nom autochtone sur tous les documents
gouvernementaux.

Le personnel de I'Ordre examine tous les appels d I'action de la Commission de v6rit6 et de r6conciliation afin de d6terminer ceux
qui peuvent 6tre mis en @uvre au sein de leur organisation et ceux auxquels ils devraient apporter leur contribution en jouant un
r6le de soutien.

RENCONTREZ LE PERSONNEL DU BCE

Au mois d'ao0t 2023, Johnny Shaw a commenc6 d travailler au BCE en tant que stagiaire analyste des politiques. Nous sommes fiers
de pr6senter Johnny d nos lecteurs.

(t College of
Midwives
of

Ordre des
sages-femmes
de l'OntarioOntario

8"hory

BONIOUR
JE MAPPELLE



=l

:]

Parlez-nous de vous : Qui 6tes-vous ? Que faites-vous au BCE ?

Je suis un professionnel/6tudiant autochtone qui 6tudie actuellement ii I'Universit6 Carleton d Ottawa dans le Programme de droit
transnational et de droits de I'homme. En tant que stagiaire analyste des politiques au BCE, j'ai I'occasion d'analyser la l6gislation
pertinente pour les organismes de r6glementation de l'Ontario et de contribuer aux r6unions de conformit6 en veillant d ce que les
pratiques d'enregistrement soient 6quitables. Je mdne des recherches approfondies sur les sites Web des organismes de
r6glementation, les lois mondiales et les professions afin d'informer les tendances de I'industrie. En outre, j'aide les organismes de
r6glementation a mettre en place des normes d'enregistrement 6quitables pour les candidats form6s d l'6tranger. Mes responsabilites
s'6tendent 6galement d la proposition d'am6liorations des processus des organismes de r6glementation dans le respect des normes
l6gislatives, tout en travaillant en collaboration avec les analystes de la conformit6, les gestionnaires et le commissaire d l'6quit6
(lrwin Glasberg).

Pourquoile BCE t 38
Le BCE correspond d mes principes et m'offre un milieu oi je peux utiliser mes atouts. Je crois qu'il faut aider les gens qui essaient
de s'am6liorer. Nous avons la bonne chance d'6tre dans un pays qui offre un grand nombre de possibilites, mais parfois les gens ont
du mal d s'en sortir eux-m6mes. Je comprends et je suis sensible au fait que personne ne peut se d6brouiller seul tout le temps et que
presque tout le monde a besoin d'aide d un moment ou d un autre. Au BCE, nous pouvons fournir cette aide en soutenant les
changements l6gislatifs et politiques tout en travaillant avec les organismes de r6glementation afin d'encourager les professionnels
form6s d l'6tranger d postuler dans leurs domaines de comp6tence.

Quelles connaissances souhaitez-vous partager avec le personnel de la BCE ?

Je souhaite partager mes comp6tences autochtones et les connaissances juridiques que j'ai acquises au cours de mes 6tudes, tout
en mettant en valeur mes propres exp6riences personnelles et professionnelles. Mes 6tudes et mes recherches se sont
principalement concentr6es sur la justice autochtone au Canada, les positions racistes dans les salles des tribunaux et les taux
d'incarc6ration dans les prisons canadiennes, tout en comparant les taux de r6cidive pour diff6rentes ethnicit6s, cultures et races de
criminels r6cidivistes, ainsi que les causes de la r6cidive.

Oir vous voyez-vous dans quelques ann6es ?

Avant de poursuivre mes 6tudes de droit d New York, je me vois prendre une ann6e ou plus de repos pour voyager d travers le
monde. Je suis le fondateur de "lnternational Law Room" que j'ai r6cemment cr66. lnternational Law Room parlera des relations
internationales les plus r6centes, des affaires/d6cisions de la Cour internationale de justice et de leur signification, des guerres qui se
d6roulent dans le monde, des questions relatives aux droits de I'homme, et bien plus encore. J'entrerai en contact avec d'autres
personnalit6s 6minentes dans des domaines spdcifiques du droit international et je mdnerai des entretiens avec elles afin d'apporter
un meilleur apergu d ceux qui suivent les probldmes juridiques internationaux.

Veuillez cliquer Unsubscribe si vous souhaitez vous d6sabonner du bulletin de nouvelle.
Veuillez cliquer Subscribe si vous souhaitez vous abonner au bulletin de nouvelle.

Office of the Fairness Commissioner
www.fairnesscommissioner. ca

180 Dundas St. W., Suite 300, Toronto, ON, M7A25
E-mail: ofc@ontario.ca

Please click Unsubscribe to unsubscribe from the newsletter.
Please click Subscribe to subscribe from the newsletter.

Bureau du commissaire d l'6quite
wwwfairnesscommissioner. ca

'180, rue Dundas Ouest, bureau 300, Toronto ON, M7A 2So
Adresse courriel : ofc@ontario.ca



|TEM 1.4.3

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
180 Dundas Street W., Sulte 300, Toronto ON M7A 2So

BUREAU DU COMMISSAIRE A L'gAUIT*
180, rue Dundas O., gureau 300, Toronto (Ontario) M7A 2So

MEMORANDUM

November 6,2023

Registrars and Chief Executive Officers, Regulated Professions,
Regulated Health Colleges and Skilled Trades Ontario

Ming-Young Tam, Director, Otfice of the Fairness Commissioner

Launch of the OFC's Updated Risk-informed Compliance Framework

39
Date

To:

From:

Subject:

This past summer, the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) announced plans to

update its Risk-lnformed Compliance Framework (RICF) for the 2024 risk assessment

cycle. ln September 2023, we consulted with your organizations on some proposed

updates to the RICF. We have incorporated a number of the recommendations that you

made to improve the content and clarity of the document. Thank you, again, for your
participation and feedback.

I am writing to share the finalized framework, and timelines for the upcoming risk

assessment cycle. Enclosed, please find a copy of the updated Risk-informed

Compliance Framework and Policy document, and a list of Frequently Asked Questions.
These materials will also be posted on our website shortly.

ln the coming weeks, your Compliance Analyst will be reaching out to you on the next

steps, as described below. ln the meantime, we ask that you please circulate the

attached materials to your leadership and staff as appropriate.

Next Steps in Assessment Process Timeline

1. Regulator provides information to the OFC

The OFC will first provide each regulator with a
newly formulated RICF questionnaire to complete.
This questionnaire will supplement the information
that the regulator provided to the OFC in its 2O22

Fair Registration Practice (FRP) report and other
periodic reports.

RHPA regulators will receive
the RICF questionnaire by

November 14,2023, with a due

date of December 14,2023.

FARPACTA regulators will
receive the RICF questionnaire

by November 20,2023, with a
due date of December 20,2023



2. OFC assigns the regulator a provisional risk
rating

The OFC will assess a regulator's risk profile and
assign a provisional risk rating.

January - February 2024

3. Regulator is given an opportunity to provide
comments

For regulators that are provisionally assigned a
moderately low or medium to high risk profile, the
OFC will communicate this result to the regulator
and offer an opportunity for the regulator to provide
comments and / or additional information.

Late February - early March
2024

4. OFC finalizes its risk ratings

The OFC will consider any additional information or
comments that the regulator provides, finalize the
risk rating, and communicate the rationale for the
risk rating to each regulator by letter.

By April 1,2024

40

The new risk ratings will be in effect starting April 1 ,2024, through March 31,2026.
During that time, the OFC will work with each regulator to address any concerns
identified through the risk assessment process, consistent with the approach outlined in

the framework.

lf you have any questions, about the process or the framework, please connect with
your Com pliance Analyst.

Kindest regards,

Ming-Young Tam
Director, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

Attachments:
. Risk-informed Compliance Framework and Policy
. Frequently Asked Questions and Answers

I



Office of the Fairness Commissioner

Risk-informed Gompliance Framework
and Policy



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

42

.l
j

I

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
BUREAU DU COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

An agency of the Government of Ontario
Un organisme du gouvernement de I'Ontario

Risk-i nformed Com pl iance Framework
and Policy

Effective Date: November 6,2023

Version 2.0Version Number:

Responsible Area Policy and Program Unit, Office of the Fairness Commissioner

Any questions about this policy or requests for alternate formats can be sent to the Office of
the Fairness Commissioner by email at ofc@ontario.ca.

1

November zozg



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

Table of Contents

;;;;;
The Context for Self-regulation. ...................... 3

The Applicable Legislative Framework............... .............4

The OFC's Modern Regulator Principles ........ 5

The OFC's Risk-informed Compliance Framework .........7

Risk Factors ............. .....................7

1. Organizational Capacity........... ..........7

2. The Overall Control that a Regulator Exerts over its Assessment and Registration

Processes, and its Relations with Third-party Service Providers........................... 8

3. lmpact of Major Changes to Registration Practices and Relations with Third-party

Service Providers ............ 10

4. Ability of the Regulator to Comply with Newly lntroduced Legislative and / or

Regulatory Obligations .... 11

5. Public Policy Considerations......... .................... 12

How the OFC Will Determine a Regulator's Risk Rating ................ 15

The OFC's Compliance Tools ..... 16

Transparency and Future Revisions to the Policy ......... 17

Appendix 1: OFC Compliance Tools ............... 18

43

2
November zozg



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

lntroduction

This document outlines the specific components of the Office of the Fairness Commissioner's
(OFC) Risk-informed Compliance Framework (the framework or RICF) and how this framework
will be implemented. This version has been updated to reflect the current risk climate for fair
registration practices along with lessons learned from the 2021 - 2022 risk assessment cycle.

The objectives of this framework are to

Enable regulators to comply with their legal obligations more effectively, to adopt
associated best practices, and to achieve better registration outcomes for applicants

Promote the identification of targeted risk factors to enable regulators to focus their
attention on appropriate mitigation and remediation efforts.

Reduce unnecessary burdens on high-performing regulators and better allocate OFC
resources, recognizing that all organizations with public interest mandates operate with
constrained resou rces.

This RICF Policy and Framework, along with the companion Leoislated ob ions and Fair
Reqistration Best Practices Guide for Regulated Professions and Compulsory Trades and
Health Regulatory Colleges, form the basis upon which the OFC will work with regulators to
improve registration practices for all applicants, including internationally trained individuals.

The Context for Self-regulation

ln Ontario, individuals must obtain a license or certification from an entity that oversees the
practice of a regulated profession, regulated health college or compulsory trade (henceforth,
"regulators") to practice in the field and / or to use a title.

Regulators exist to protect the public interest by licensing professionals who are qualified, and
by holding their members accountable for meeting practice standards. These organizations are
different from professional associations that exist to provide services to their members and to
advocate for the interests of their professions and members.

To achieve this public protection mandate, various provincial statutes grant authority to these
regulators to:

Set standards for individuals who enter the profession or compulsory trade

44

a

a

O

a

3
November zozs



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

o Licence these individuals

a Oversee how licenced members adhere to standards of practice

a

45

This scheme is commonly referred to as self-regulation

The Applicable Legislative Framework

ln 2006, the Ontario legislature introduced the then Fair Access to Regulated Professlons Acf,

2006 (FARPA). This legislation was designed to help ensure that the registration practices of
regulated professions were transparent, objective, impartial and fair. The legislation also

established the OFC as the government agency responsible for overseeing the registration
practices of these professions.

FARPA, which received Royal Assent in December 2006, also amended the Regulated Health
Professions Act,7997 (RHPA) by incorporating similar, though not identical, provisions into the
Health Professions Procedural Code (Schedule 2 in the RHPA). We refer collectively to these
two statutes as "fair access legislation".

ln 2013, FARPA was amended to provide the OFC with oversight of the compulsory trades.

The name of the statute was also changed to the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and
Compulsory Trades Act, 2006 (FARPACTA).

ln 2021, both statutes were further amended to incorporate substantive provisions to

Eliminate the use of Canadian experience requirements except under prescribed

circumstances.

Set time limits for making decisions on applications for registration

Stream I i ne lan g uage proficien cy req u i rements

Provide for the continuity of registration processes during emergency situations

Both FARPACTA and the RHPA require that regulators meet a number of additional statutory
requirements. These include:

. Meeting the general legislative duty to develop registration practices that are

transparent, objective, impartial and fair. (section 6 of FARPACTA and section 22.2 of
Schedule 2 to the RHPA).

November zozg

a

a

a

4



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

Meeting the specific duties outlined in the statutes relating to, among other things,
providing information, making appeal or review processes available, articulating the
basis for assessing applicant qualifications, providing staff training and identifying the
right of an applicant to obtain access to relevant records. (sections 7-12 of FARPACTA
and sections 22.3-22.4 and other provisions of Schedule 2lo the RHPA).

Providing reports and information to the OFC. (sections 19-25 of FARPACTA and
sections 22.6-22.11 of Schedule 2 to the RHPA).

46
a

a

l

The OFC's Modern Regulator Principles

Over the past decade, the public sector has moved towards modernizing its regulatory
systems. This modernization trend is driven by research showing that traditional enforcement
tools may not always be effective, efficient or agile enough to achieve public interest
objectives. Thus, it is important for oversight agencies, like the OFC, to rely on regulatory
approaches that are proactive and innovative, and that engage a variety of compliance and
educational tools.

Based on the OFC's review of approaches to regulatory compliance across jurisdictions, and

building upon extensive consultation with stakeholders, we have adopted the following six
modern regulator principles to inform our Risk-informed Compliance Framework (the RICF)
and other elements of our mandate:

1. Our approach to regulatory compliance will be based on transparency, professionalism,
and collaboration.

The Office of the Fairness Commissionerwill

Focus on achieving better outcomes through simpler and more straightforward
compliance expectations.

Consult and collaborate with professions and trades when new approaches or
changes to regulatory frameworks are proposed.

a

a

a Be accountable for its decisions and open to public scrutiny

2. Our approach to overseeing compliance will be evidence-based and risk-informed

5
November zozg



47
Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Poticy

We will consider the risk profile of regulators in selecting appropriate compliance tools
to review their performance, and to define our corresponding level of engagement with
them.

To create risk profiles for regulators, we will consider risk factors that could materially
impact their ability to address important fairness-based obligations and public policy

considerations, as well as the achievement of better outcomes for applicants.

ln any given period, the OFC's compliance activities may be geared towards individual
regulators with a higher risk profile, more thematic / systemic issues across classes of
regulators, or both.

We will also consider the distinct mandates of individual regulators and adjust our
responses as needed, based on a regulator's risk profile, current situation, and how well
it is achieving compliance.

(Please note that the set of risk factors that the OFC plans to adopt for the 2024 risk
assessment cycle will differ from those used during the last cycle. These are described
later in the document. These factors may be further adjusted in future risk assessment
cycles to take into account, for example, additional amendments to the legislation).

3. We will apply a proportionate approach to improve and promote compliance

The resources that we will employ to monitor the activities of a regulator will be
proportional to the level of risk associated with that regulator's activities.

The OFC will focus its efforts on those regulators that have achieved less progress in

meeting their compliance requirements than their peers and i or are considered to

demonstrate an elevated risk profile. Conversely, regulators that are meeting their
specific compliance obligations, and/or making substantial progress in providing

registration practices that are transparent, objective, impartial and fair, will typically be

subject to less prescriptive reporting and related requirements.

4. We will communicate, educate, and offer guidance to regulators to promote and
enhance compliance.

The OFC will employ a suite of compliance tools and work with regulators to improve
their registration and assessment processes. These approaches will include education,
outreach, peer discussions, the dissemination of best practices materials and tool kits,

annual or periodic reporting requirements and more formal reviews of registration
practices designed to enhance compliance.

6
November zozg



l
l

I
.l

l

E

i

l

Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

48
5. We will monitor, measure, evaluate and report on our activities and outcomes to adapt

and improve our compliance activities.

To the extent possible, the data and evidence that the OFC collects will inform the
determination of regulator risk profiles and associated compliance activity. The OFC will
also work to employ modern technologies and pathways to simplify its data collection,
reporting and information dissemination functions.

6. We will share information and collaborate to reduce burdens and promote greater
consistency.

The OFC willwork constructively with other regulatory oversight bodies to reduce the
regulatory burden on individual regulators. ln particular, the OFC will collaborate with
the Ontario Ministry of Health to jointly assist health regulatory colleges to achieve their
leg islative obligations.

The OFG's Risk-informed Gompliance Framework

The OFC's compliance strategy, and allocation of associated resources, will be guided by its
RICF. The framework will rely on an individualized assessment of each regulator against five
risk factors that could impact the regulator's ability to achieve better registration outcomes for
applicants.

The identified risk factors will reflect a series of existing and potential risks that are likely to
impede fair registration practices for both domestic and internationally trained individuals, across
the spectrum of professional regulators in the province. They necessarily represent a point in

time analysis. These risk factors are further described below.

Risk Factors

1. Organizational Capacity

1.1 Description of the Risk Factor

A regulator may be subject to this risk if it:

. is newly established or lacks the resources or experience to effectively meet its
compliance obligations; and / or

November zozg
7



a

Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

49
has not developed adequate infrastructure and / or processes (e.9., lT enabled
work flows or accepted legal practices) to efficiently receive, assess and process

licensu re applications.

1.2 Factors to Consider in Determining the Likelihood of the Risk Occurring

a) The extent of the regulator's experience with fair access requirements and

demonstrated understanding of how to meet these requirements.

b) The regulator's level of responsiveness to applicant and stakeholder concerns about
deficiencies in assessment and registration processes.

c) The pattern of appeals that applicants have filed with the courts, the Health
Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), or other arms-length appeals
bodies, as well as the nature of the issues raised and their disposition.

d) The agility of the regulator's information technology systems and related business
processes to promote client service and accurate reporting.

e) Whether there is a substantial inventory of applications waiting to be processed and

how that inventory has changed over time.

1.3 Factors to Consider in Determining the lmpact of the Risk

The overall impact of the risk would be more substantial where:

a) The size of the regulator's annual registration cohort is large

b) The deficiencies in organizational capacity are material.

c) The regulator is also implementing one or more major change management
initiatives.

2. The Overall Control that a Regulator Exerts over its Assessment and Registration
Processes, and its Relations with Third-party Service Providers

2.1 Description of the Risk Factor

A regulator may be subject to this risk if it:

8
November zozg



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

o lacks effective processes to monitor and evaluate the work of its third-party service
providers (TPSPS); and / or

a

50
cannot demonstrate that it holds these service providers accountable to ensure that
the delegated responsibility is undertaken in a way that is transparent, objective,
impartial and fair; and / or

a lacks processes and contractual mechanisms to maintain its registration function
during emergency situations or to otherwise demonstrate organizational resilience

2.2 Factors to Consider in Determining the Likelihood of the Risk Occurring

a) The number and nature of existing third-party arrangements.

b) The extent to which a clear accountability framework has been formalized between
the regulator and its service providers.

c) How effectively the regulator is overseeing the work of its TPSPs upon which it relies
for the assessment of applicant qualifications.

d) Whether an applicant retains the right to appeal or to othenuise challenge TPSP
decisions.

e) Whether the regulator has demonstrated the agility to remedy disruptions to
registration functions quickly and in a transparent fashion.

2.3 Factors to Consider in Determining the lmpact of the Risk

The overall impact of the risk would be more substantial where

a) The size of the regulator's annual registration cohort is large, or where it has
accumulated a substantial case inventory.

b) The materiality of the delegated / outsourced registration activity when compared to
the licensing process is significant.

c) The regulator's responsiveness to complaints about its third party's processes are
slow or otherwise inadequate

9
November zozg



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

d) The regulator's emergency plan (for FARPACTA regulators) or emergency class
regulation (for RHPA regulators) does not take into account the activities of its
TPSP(s).

The OFC's perspective on the legal obligations of regulators with respect to TPSPs is set
out in section 2, obligation 5 of the Legislated Obligations and Fair Registration Best
Practices Guide for requlated professions and section 2, obligation 3 of the corresponding
guide for health req ulatorv colleoes

3. lmpact of Major Changes to Registration Practices and Relations with
Th i rd-party Service Providers

3.l Description of the Risk Factor

A regulator may be subject to this risk if it:

is undertaking major revisions to its registration practices and / or is adjusting its

relationship with its TPSP(s); and

51

a

a

a does not execute these changes in a fair and effective fashion; and / or

fails to proactively communicate these changes to applicants and relevant
stakeholders (e.9., academic institutions, TPSPS, bridging programs).

3.2 Factors to Consider in Determining the Likelihood of the Risk Occurring

a) Whether the regulator has engaged in stakeholder consultations prior to initiating the
proposed changes, and incorporated the feedback received into its process.

b) Whether the regulator has developed a communications strategy which clearly
articulates how it will treat applications received before and after the change.

c) The extent to which the regulator has demonstrated a client-focused transition plan

that helps ensure fairness and avoids adverse impacts for individuals who applied to
become licenced under different rules.

d) Whether the regulator has engaged with its existing or new TPSPs to discuss client-
service implications to help facilitate a smooth transition.

November zozg
10



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

e) The extent to which the regulator has anticipated staffing needs and allocated
resources to address any projected increase in inquiries or applications in a timely
manner.

3.3 Factors to Consider in Determining the lmpact of the Risk

The overall impact of the risk would be more substantial where

a) The size of the regulator's annual registration cohort is large.

b) The identified changes could create material implications for current and future
applicants, including those already engaged in a program of study that has

historically served as a pathway for registration.

c) The need to make concurrent changes to case management systems or other
technology supports to operationalize these initiatives.

d) The regulator has failed to adequately address more than one component of its
change management process.

4. Ability of the Regulator to Comply with Newly lntroduced Legislative and /
or Regulatory Obligations

Nofe.' The OFC willtake into account the differences between FARPACTA and the RHPA

when assessrng this risk factor. For health regulatory Colleges, risk assessment
observations will be shared with the Ministry of Health, which holds the oversight authority
to hold colleges accountable to these provisions.

4.1 Description of the Risk Factor

A regulator may be subject to this risk if it is unable to comply with the newly enacted legal

requirements respecting :

Time limits for taking specified steps in the decision-making process

The elimination of Canadian experience requirements, unless an exemption is

granted (FARPACTA regulators) or the exceptions set out in the RHPA regulation
are met (health colleges).

The removal of barriers to language proficiency testing

52

a

a

November zozg
11



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

4.2 Factors to Consider in Determining the Likelihood of the Risk Occurring

a) The regulator's readiness to achieve compliance with the new obligations and / or
the level of work required to achieve full compliance.

b) Whether the regulator has undertaken the required planning and secured the
resources necessary to comply with these obligations.

c) Whether the regulator has developed the necessary guidelines, processes and

communications materials to etfectively implement changes needed to comply with

these new obligations.

4.3 Factors to Consider in Determining the lmpact of the Risk

The overall impact of the risk would be more substantial where

a) The size of the regulator's annual registration cohort is large.

b) The extent of unpreparedness to achieve compliance is material and / or remedial

actions taken to address the situation are not adequate.

5. Public Policy Gonsiderations

The OFC has identified two public policy considerations with a direct impact on a regulator's
core responsibilities. These involve the regulator's efforts to consult on labour market
shortages in its occupational sphere and the regulator's ability to promote inclusion and

address anti-racism concerns in its assessment and registration processes.

5 (l) Addressing Labour Market Shortages

5.1 Description of the Risk Factor

A regulator may be subject to this risk if:

its registration processes are not helping to address critical labour shortages in its

occupational sphere; and / or

it has not constructively engaged in consultations with its responsible minister to
ensure that Ontarians have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled, and

competent regu lated professionals.

53

a

a

November zozg
12



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

5.2 Factors to Consider in Determining the Likelihood of the Risk Occurring

a) Evidence of material labour shortages within the profession or trade coupled with
inefficient, slow and / or unduly restrictive registration processes.

b) The extent to which the regulator has engaged in discussions with its responsible
minister and other stakeholders on labour market supply issues and ways to increase
the efficiency of its registration process.

c) The degree to which the regulator has taken actions, including discussions with other
system stakeholders, in response to these discussions.

d) Whether the regulator's Canadian experience requirement or supervised practice
programs add unreasonable time and / or expense to the registration process, or
otheruvise compromise the public interest.

5.3 Factors to Consider in Determining the lmpact of the Risk

The overall impact of the risk would be more substantial where

a) The supply and demand imbalance of the profession or trade in the labour market is

significant.

b) The services that the category of professional / skilled tradesperson performs are of
critical importance to members of the public and / or the economy.

c) The size of the regulator's annual registration cohort is large

d) The licensure rate for the profession or trade, particulady for internationally trained
individuals, is low (e.9., less than 50% or when compared to similarly situated
occupations).

To streamline the risk assessment process for RHPA regulators, the OFC will consider any
relevant information or reporting on labour supply or shortages that the regulator has already
shared with MOH. Health regulatory colleges are encouraged to share copies or provide the
relevant documents/resources to the OFC.

5(ll) Ability to Promote lnclusion and Address Anti-racism Concerns in Registration
Processes

5.1 Description of the Risk Factor

54

I

i

November zozg
13



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

A regulator may be subject to this risk if it has not: 55
established policies, processes and implementation mechanisms to promote

inclusion and anti-racism principles in its assessment and registration practices; and

lor

provided adequate training and guidelines for decision-makers to address
unconscious bias.

5.2 Factors to Consider in Determining the Likelihood of the Risk Occurring

a) The extent to which the regulator has taken steps to embed an inclusion / anti-
racism culture in its registration processes and decisions, such as how it treats
applications from racialized and internationally trained professionals, and its position

on the collection of race-based data.

b) The extent to which the regulator has made available inclusion, equity and anti-
racism policies, processes and training modalities for individuals who make
assessment and registration decisions, particularly with respect to addressing
unconscious bias.

c) Whether the regulator requires that its TPSP(s) follow the same or similar protocols

5.3 Factors to Consider in Determining the lmpact of the Risk

The overall impact of the risk would be more substantial where:

a) The size of the regulator's annual registration cohort and / or the internationally
educated applicant pool is large.

b) There are deficiencies in the regulator's ability to successfully register racialized and

internationally trained candidates, along with documented concerns of racism or
discrimination.

c) There is evidence that racialized populations are underserved by the profession, or
documented concerns about the impact of systemic racism in a service system.

d) There is a shortage of skilled individuals in the profession or trade

To streamline the risk assessment process for RHPA regulators, the OFC will consider
relevant information that regulators have already reported to MOH through the College

o

a

November zozg
14



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF). This includes Diversity, Equity and lnclusion
Plans and Equity lmpact Assessments undertaken in fulfillment of CPMF requirements. Health
regulatory colleges are asked to share copies or provide the relevant documents/resources to
the OFC.

56
How the OFG Will Determine a Regulator's Risk Rating

To determine an overall risk category for a regulator, the OFC will first analyze each risk factor
individually. lt will also consider the distinct characteristics of the regulator and the specifics of
the environment in which it operates.

While the OFC will carefully consider each of the enumerated risk factors, it will pay particular
attention to those pertaining to labour market shortages and major revisions to a regulator's
registration processes, as these have the potential to materially jeopardise the career paths of
applicants and to compromise public health and safety.

The risk factors will then be assessed according to a more traditional risk assessment matrix
(i.e., by analyzing the potential impact of the risk and the likelihood of its occurrence). These
factors will then be analyzed to arrive at an aggregate risk rating that will fall into one of three
categories:

1. Low.

2. Moderately low.

3. Moderate to high

It is important to note that this risk rating framework is not designed to be punitive in nature. ln
some cases, regulators may have limited ability to avoid these risks, or to fully mitigate them.
Rather, this framework is designed to identify system-wide risks to applicants and to find ways
to collectively focus on, and address, them.

The risk category will, in turn, determine the degree of attention that the OFC will pay to
individual regulators and the associated compliance tools that it will apply. The OFC will target
its more focused compliance activities on those regulators that it places in the moderately low
or moderate to high categories.

Where the OFC determines that a regulator should be placed in either of the higher-risk
categories, and to support procedural fairness, the OFC will meet with the regulator to explain
the basis for the assessment and provide an opportunity for the regulator to offer input, before
finalizing the rating.

l

l

November zoze
15



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

The OFG's Gompliance Tools 57
The OFC may deploy a suite of tools to help ensure that regulators comply with their legislative
obligations and institute fair and innovative registration practices.

The extent that these tools will be used, and the degree of intervention, will be based on what
may be viewed as a compliance continuum involving progressive escalation to promote

compliance with the legislation. The compliance tools, and the circumstances in which they
may be used, are described below.

Table 1: Risk Categories and Associated OFC Gompliance Tools

Gompliance Tools

Risk Category

Low Moderately Low Moderate to
High

Meetings with regulators Annual Quarterly Bi-Monthly

Provision of education and best
practices

{ ,V {

Completion and submission of
Fair Registration Practices
Reports

{ { {

Completion of compliance
action plan and other reports

{ ./

Letter from Fairness
Commissioner to the CEO /
Registrar, Council and/or
Responsible Minister

./ {

Publicizing non-compliance
issues / opportunities for
improvement in annual report or
other publications

{

OFC initiated review of
registration practices

{

November zozg
16



l

Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

58

Please see Appendix 1 for a description of the compliance tools referred to in this table.

Transparency and Future Revisions to the Policy

As a complement to the transparency provisions contained in the legislation, the OFC plans to
publish the risk ratings of all regulators in ils 2022-23 annual report, along with the steps that
the higher risk regulators have taken to improve their registration practices.

As the OFC transitions into the 2024 risk assessment process, it will continue to work with
regulators to address any residual risks or compliance issues arising out of the last cycle. As
the new risk ratings are issued, some regulators may move from a higher to a lower risk

category, while others may move in the opposite direction. This represents a predictable by-
product of a registration environment that is highly dynamic.

Finally, the OFC plans to review its approach to conducting periodic compliance assessments
of regulators under section 13(3Xa) of FARPACTA and section 22.5(1)(a) of Schedule 2 of the
RHPA to ensure that this process aligns with the objectives of the Risk-informed Compliance
Framework.

Compliance assessment \i

Audit {

Compliance order (for
FARPACTA regulators)

{

November zozg
17



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

Appendix 1: OFC Compliance Tools 59
This section briefly describes each of the OFC's compliance tools and the circumstances in
which they may be used.

1. Education and Sharing of Best Practices

This tool incorporates a range of actions designed to promote compliance through

education, advice, guidance, and promotion of fair registration best practices. The OFC

may take this approach for all regulators, with the focus depending on observed gaps in

each regulator's processes.

2. Completion and Submission of FRP Reports

Pursuant to section 20 of FARPACTA, and section22.7 of Schedule2lo the RHPA,

regulators are required to prepare and submit to the OFC a fair registration practices

report annually, or at such other times as the Fairness Commissioner may specify.

As part of this obligation, the OFC asks that this report contain information pertaining to,

among other things:

The current membership size of the regulated profession, health regulatory

college or compulsory trade.

a

The total number of applicants

The number of internationally trained applicants.

A demographic breakdown of both applicants and members (e.9., by gender

and country of origin).

The OFC may seek additional information from regulators on a case-by-case basis

according to their risk categories or more broadly for compliance purposes.

3. Meetings with Regulators

OFC staff will schedule regular meetings with regulators, the frequency of which will

depend on the regulator's risk category. These meetings will constitute a platform to

exchange information and for regulators in the low and moderately low risk categories to
provide updates and share information, as well as to discuss innovative fair registration

best practices. For regulators in the moderate to high-risk category, the meetings will

o

a

a

November zozg
18



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

serye as compliance forums to address and resolve ongoing and / or persistent fair
access issues.

4. Completion of Compliance Action Plan and other Reports 60

Under sections 22(1) and 24(1) of FARPACTA, and sections 22.7(3) and 22.7(4) of
Schedule 2 of the RHPA, the OFC may require that a regulator prepare reports relating
to the regulated profession's compliance with its legislated obligations. For health
colleges, this may also include reports outside the scope of the legislative provisions
over which the OFC has direct oversight.

The OFC uses this authority to request compliance action plans. This tool is generally
reserved for regulators in the moderately low, and moderate to high-risk category. The
OFC and regulators will use this tool to track how a regulator is addressing, and making
progress on, compliance issues that the OFC has identified for further action.

While the OFC will work with the regulator to develop a mutually agreed upon
compliance plan, it reserves the right to formulate this document on a unilateral basis.

Pursuant to the provisions cited above, the OFC may require other reports or
information related to compliance-related issues.

5. Letter from the Fairness Commissioner to the CEO / Registrar, Council and / or
Responsible Minister

lf the regulator does not institute corrective actions, or show meaningful progress
against stated objectives, the Fairness Commissioner may choose to write to senior
officials within the organization and / or the responsible minister to outline the relevant
concerns. This approach would typically be reserved for regulators in the moderate to
high-risk category.

6. Publicizing non-compliance issues / opportunitiesfor improvement (annual report orother
publications)

lf the compliance tools described above do not produce effective results, and the
compliance issues persist, the OFC may choose to publicize its ongoing concerns
regarding the regulator's registration practices, through a variety of media, such as the
OFC's website, annual report and other publications. The OFC will only use this
compliance tool for regulators in the moderate to high-risk category and provide prior
notice of this action.

November zozg

19



Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

7. OFC lnitiated Review of Registration Practices 61
Under section 19 of FARPACTA, and section 22.6 of Schedule 2 to the RHPA, the OFC
may also require that a regulator undertake a review of its registration practices to
ensure that these practices are transparent, objective, impartial and fair. The OFC may
mandate this review on a case-by-case basis. This report is designed to canvass issues
relating to the relevance or necessity of registration requirements, the timeliness of
decision-making and the reasonableness of fees.

8. ComplianceAssessmenf

Section 13(3Xa) of FARPACTA and section 22.5(1)(a) of Schedule 2 of the RHPA
indicate that it is the function of the Fairness Commissioner to assess the registration
practices of regulators based on their obligations under the statute and regulations.

The compliance assessment is a tool that the OFC may use for newly established
regulators or those in the moderate to high-risk category. Through targeted compliance
initiatives, the OFC would determine the regulator's level of compliance. This approach
would involve a review of relevant information to assess the extent to which the
regulator is complying with its legal obligations and to develop informed conclusions on
the appropriate corrective actions that the regulator should undertake.

9. Audits

The audit process is analogous to an independent investigation that is conducted by a
third party that the OFC approves. lt will typically involve a defined and targeted review
of material and persistent deficiencies in a regulator's registration processes. The audit
is expected to yield a report with findings and recommendations.

Undersection 21(2) of FARPACTAand section 22.8(2) of Schedule2to the RHPA, the
cost of the audit is borne by the regulator and the final report must filed with the Minister
of Labour, lmmigration, Training and Skills Development for regulated professions and
trades, and the Minister of Health for the health regulatory colleges.

Given the significant nature of the audit authority, the OFC will employ this tool sparingly
and only where the circumstances so warrant. This tool is an available option for
regulators in the moderate to high-risk category.

1 0. Compliance Orders (for FARPACTA regulators)

November zozg
20



62
Risk lnformed Compliance Framework and Policy

lf the Fairness Commissioner concludes that a regulated profession has contravened
either the specific duties (Part lll) and/or reporting obligations (Part Vl) enumerated in

FARPACTA, the commissioner may issue a compliance order against the regulator. The
order may contain any actions that the Fairness Commissioner deems appropriate for
the regulator to do, or to refrain from doing, to comply with the legislation. The
provisions in FARPACTA outline a specific process for issuing an order.

Under section 30(1) of FARPACTA, where a regulator fails to comply with an order
made by the Fairness Commissioner, the regulator is guilty of an offence and is subject
to prosecution.

This authority of the Fairness Commissioner to issue compliance orders is not available
under Schedule 2 to the RHPA.

l

November zozg
21



63

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

coMMrssArRE A l'EoutrE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
BUREAU DU coMMrssAIRE l l'EeutrE

180 Dundas Street W., Suite 300, Toronto ON M7A 2So

180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Ontario) M7A 256

ofc@ontario.ca
wrrwv. F a i rn essCom m i ss i o n e r. ca

November zozg
22



FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUlTE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
180 Dundas Street W., Sulte 300, Toronto ON M7A 2Sc

BUREAU OU COMMISSAIRE A L'€OUITE
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Ontario) M7A 2Sc

Risk-i nformed Gompl iance Framework
Frequently Asked Questions and Answers

64

Purpose and Design

1. What is the OFG's Risk-informed Compliance Framework?
The Risk-informed Compliance Framework (RICF) describes the approach that the

Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) applies to oversee regulator compliance

with the legislated obligations set out in the Fair Access to Regulated Professions and

Compulsory Trades Act, 2006 and Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act,

1991 . Under this approach, the OFC undertakes a risk assessment of each regulator,

and adopts additional compliance tools appropriate to the level of risk.

The OFC first introduced the risk-based approach in spring of 2021. The RICF replaced

the OFC's former Strategy for Continuous lmprovement.

2. Why did the OFC adopt the RICF?
Under the OFC's former approach, each regulator was subject to an assessment of
registration practices once every three years. By 2020, the need for regular, repeated

verification of compliance had diminished.

While most regulators have steadily improved their registration practices over time,

progress across the professions has been uneven. ln some cases, long-standing

concerns have not been addressed. At the same time, changes in the regulatory

environment have presented regulators with new challenges.

The OFC has modernized its approach to focus its limited resources on long-standing or

urgent issues. The RICF now better matches risk with regulatory requirements.

3. How does the approach work?
Under the risk-based approach, the OFC assigns one of three risk categories to each

regulator. Risk categories are used to determine the level of attention that the OFC will

pay to each regulator.

More particularly, regulators placed in elevated risk categories are subject to increased

scrutiny by the OFC and are assigned a compliance action plan to guide improvements



65
to their registration practices. A progressive approach to intervention utilizes additional
compliance tools on an as-needed basis.

Methodology

1. How are risk categories assigned?
For each risk assessment cycle, the OFC creates a risk inventory, to identify key factors
that may impede a regulator's ability to assess applications and register applicants in a
fair and efficient manner. Risks may relate to the regulator's capacity or willingness to
meet their legislative obligations, and to external influences such as labour market
conditions.

For each risk, the OFC assesses likelihood and impact. After considering the
aggregated risks, the OFC assigns an overall risk category to each regulator

2. lt appears that some of the risk factors are not under the full
control of regulators. Why are they factored into the analysis?

The OFC recognizes that the risk factors include some components that fall outside the
direct control of regulators.

It is important to note that risk assessment is not the same as performance
measurement. The goal is to identify issues or challenges that may impede an
applicant's registration journey and that, consequently, require a regulator's attention,
innovative solutions, and the identification of risk mitigation strategies.

The OFC also recognizes that regulators may need to work with their oversight ministry,
third party assessment providers and other stakeholders to address external risks such
as labour market shortages.

3. How does risk assessment relate to the assessment of a
regulator's compliance with the legislation?

The OFC treats risk assessment differently from compliance or performance
assessment. Compliance assessments focus on identifying and correcting instances of
non-compliance. Risk assessment is more proactive and seeks to identify vulnerabilities
requiring attention that can be targeted with preventive or remedial measures.

Risk assessment is not intended to be a punitive tool. Rather, the OFC's risk ratings are
designed to assist both regulators and the OFC to focus our collective resources on
identifying and addressing areas that may present barriers to fair registration practices.

2



FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
180 Dundas Street W., Sulte 300, Toronto ON M7A 2So

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

The ultimate goal is to help skilled professionals to contribute their full potential to
Ontario society at a time when these skills are sorely needed.

BUREAU DU coMMrssArRE A L'€ourrE
180, rue Dundas O., Bureau 300, Toronto (Ontarlo) M7A 2So

66

4. What are the risk categories under the updated framework?
There are three risk categories into which a regulator may be placed:

. Low.
r Moderately low.
. Moderate to high.

5. Will the OFG modify or update its risk factors in the future?
The OFC will review the relevance and appropriateness of its risk inventory and factors
on a regular basis. We will only introduce updates following appropriate consultation.

Risk Assessment Process

1. What does the risk assessment process look like?
The risk assessment process involves four discrete steps:

Step Expected Timeline

1. Regulator provides information

The OFC will first provide each regulator with
an RICF questionnaire to complete. This
questionnaire will supplement the information
that the regulator provided to the OFC in its
latest Fair Registration Practice (FRP) report
and other periodic reports.

FARPACTA regulators: Will receive
RICF questionnaire by November 20,
2023, with a due date of December 20.

RHPA regulators: Will receive RICF
questionnaire by November 14, 2023,
with a due date of December 14.

2. OFC assigns a provisional risk rating

The OFC will assess a regulator's risk profile
and assign a provisional risk rating.

January - February 2024

3. Regulator is given an opportunity to
comment

Late February - Early March 2024



For regulators that are provisionally assigned
a moderately low or medium to high risk
profile, the OFC will communicate this result
to the regulator and offer an opportunity for
the regulator to provide comments and / or
add itional information.

4. OFC finalizes risk rating
The OFC will consider any additional
information or comments provided, finalize
the risk rating, and communicate the rationale
for the risk rating to each regulator by letter.

By April 1,2024

67

5. How will the OFC work to ensure an accurate, objective and fair
risk assessment?

The RICF is tightly integrated with the legislative obligations contained in both fair
access statutes and dependent on regulator engagement.

The OFC will base its assessment of risk on information and evidence that regulators
provide. This will include the RICF questionnaire, FRP reports, and responses to any
additional in-year surveys.

The OFC will supplement this data with its general observations about the regulator's
peformance, such as those derived from compliance analyst discussions, applicant
inquiries, key stakeholder feedback and appeal tribunal decisions. Where this
information contributes to the provisional assignment of an elevated risk rating,
regulators will have the opportunity to respond and provide additional information.

The OFC will also employ an internal quality-control process, involving team discussion
and management review, to ensure the consistent application of the framework and the
assessment of risk across different regulators. The OFC's director and the Fairness
Commissioner will review each situation where an elevated risk rating is proposed.

6. What are the implications of an elevated risk rating?
The OFC uses the risk categories to tailor its compliance approach. For instance

Regulators in the low-risk category will experience a "light touch" compliance
approach.

4

a



FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

OFFICE OF THE FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER
1 80 Dundas Slreet W., Sulte 300, Toronlo ON M7A 256

BUREAU OU COMMISSAIRE A L'€OUITg
180, rue Dundas o., Bureau 300, Toronto (ontario) M7A 2So

The OFC will require that regulators in the moderately low risk category meet
with the agency staff on a quarterly basis and complete an action plan.

For moderate to high-risk regulators, the OFC will also require that regulators
complete action plans and participate in bi-monthly meetings to monitor progress

on these plans.

The OFC willemploy additional compliance tools on an as needed basis

7. Will regulators have an opportunity to dispute their risk category?
Based on the OFC's modern regulator principles, its approach will be based on the
principles of transparency, professionalism, and collaboration.

Where the OFC has provisionally assigned the regulator a moderately low or moderate

to high-risk rating, the regulators will have the opportunity to provide additional
information and comments to the OFC before the assignment of a final risk category

and to request a meeting for this purpose.

8. Will the OFG publicly disclose the risk categories of regulators?
As a modern regulator, the OFC strives for transparency and public accountability. As
part of this commitment, the OFC plans to disclose the risk categories of regulators in its
public reporting vehicles (e.9., its annual reports), along with regulator progress and

accomplishments to address the identified risks.

9. How will the OFC and Ministry of Health (MOH) ensure that their
reporting requirements are complementary and not duplicative?

The OFC continues to engage with MOH to help ensure alignment and

complementarity of the RICF and MOH's College Performance Measurement
Framework (CPMF). Where feasible, we will cross reference information from the

CPMF, rather than require duplicate reporting.

a

o

68



ITEM 1.5
Generated Internallv

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Advertising Committee Report to Gouncil
Gonsent Agenda
November 23,2023

69

Members: Dr. Colin Goudreau, Chair
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Janine Taylor, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Committee Mandate

To review proposed advertisements by members to ensure compliance with
CCO's Standard of Practice S-016: Advertising and Guideline G-016:
Advertising.

The Advertising Committee has not met since the last meeting of Council.

The Advertising Committee will be meeting shortly after the November 23,2023 Council
meeting to review any direction coming from that meeting.

The Committee continues to review and provide feedback on any proposed

advertisements submitted to CCO.

I would like to thank the committee members and staff support for the Registratron
Committee for all of their contributions during this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Colin Goudreau
Chair, Advertising Committee

a



1.

ITEM 4.1 97
Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Executive Committee Report to Council
November 23 2023

Members: Dr. Sarah Green, Chair
Dr. Dennis Mizel, Vice Chair
Mr. Shawn Southem, Treasurer (pending)
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Dr. Paul Groulx
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Scott Stewart (pending)

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Jo-Arur Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Mandate

To exercise the powers of Council between meetings of Council with respect to any
matter requiring immediate attention other than the power to make amend or revoke a
regulation or by-law
To provide leadership in exercising CCO's mandate to regulate chiropractic in the public
interest

I
I lntroduction

o I am pleased to provide this report on behalf of the Executive Committee (the "Committee).

Since the last report to Council, the Committee has met on one occasion, namely on October
27,2023. The draft, confidential minutes for October 27,2023 are included in the Council
information package and are subject to approval at the next meeting, scheduled for January
26,2024. A further meeting is scheduled for November 2I,2023 to review any further
feedback relating to the circulation of the by-law amendments and to confirm the interim
appointments to committees arising from the departure of Mr. Markus de Domenico. As
council is aware, all committees are scheduled to be composed at the April 17,2024 Council
meeting. Thank you to all Council members who agreed to assume positions on CCO
committees pending the elections scheduled for April 17,2024, namely Mr. Shawn Southern,
Tteasurer, Mr. Scott Stewart, Executive Committee, and Mr. Robert Chopowick, Discipline
and Registration Committees.

a

o



98Executive Committee Report to Council - November 23,2023 2

o I would like to extend awarm welcome to new public member Mr. Robert Chopowick.
Thank you to Mr. Chopowick for participating on a discipline panel on November 2,2023.
At the meeting you will be given a few moments to introduce yourself and we will go around
the table, so you have a chance to meet all council members.

I
=



Executive Committee Report to Council - November 23,2023 5

101
ilt By-law Review - Dr. Green (ltem 4.1.39 and following, page 440, Main

Agenda)

As Council is aware, we have had ongoing discussions conceming by-law amendments
which will reflect best practices, and be consistent with CCO's guiding documents, including
the College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Report and Action Plan, and the
Core Competencies for Council and Committee members.

A comprehensive set of by-laws was circulated with a President's Message dated September
19,2023. The deadline for feedback is November 19,2023. The feedback received to date is
included in the Council information package.

Council is not required by the RHPA to circulate many of these by-law amendments, but it
did so as part of its commitment to transparency, and to ensure all stakeholders, including
members, have information conceming the by-laws and the proposed amendments being
considered by Council. The Committee has a meeting scheduled for Tuesday, November 21,
2023 to review all feedback for the purpose of preparing a recommendation to Council
including all by-law amendments. In addition to the items circulated, there is an amendment
to By-law 11 to also be approved consistent with legal advice.

Following the November 21,2023 meeting, a comprehensive set of by-laws for approval will
be circulated to all Council members. One aspect that the Committee will be considering is
whether the six-year cooling-offperiod makes sense and has a public interest rationale as it
relates to members who serve in leadership capacities in other chiropractic organizations.

o

a

O

a I anticipate the following recommendation at the November 23,2023 Council meeting:

Recommendation 2: (Item 4.1.44, to be distributed separately)

That Council approve the byJaw amendments as circulated.



Executive Committee Report to Council - November 23,2023 6

102

a

lV Election Documents

In anticipation of the March 2023 elections, the Committee reviewed draft election
documents which are generally distributed in January of every year. Included in the Council
information package are the election documents which will be distributed, subject to
Council's approval. Council's decision relating to the by-law amendments may affect the

election documents, so at this time, the following recommendation is for Council's
consideration:

Recommendation 3: (Items 4.1.47,4.1,48 and 4.1.49, psge * andfollowing, Main Agenda)

That Council approve the election documents for distribution, subject to any by-law
amendment changes approved by Council.

Council members will note that there are some amendments to the Candidate Undertaking to
include various new items including reference to the Core Competencies for Council and

Committee members. In addition, the Committee is directing that the biographical
information no longer be required to include the standard statement about regulating in the
public interest, but rather all candidates will be asked to include reference to their
competencies to serve on CCO council in the biographical information that gets distributed to
members.

Ministry of Health - Dr. Green (ltem 4.1.51and following, page 603, Main
Agenda)

Background information conceming CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework
(CPMF) Report and Action plan is included in the Council information package for
background and review. There are no further action steps required at this time. When the

Ministry has released the commendable practices report that information will be reviewed
and considered for possible amendments to CCO's policies and practices.

V

a



Executive Committee Report to Council - November 23,2023 7

VI

a

193
Follow Up from Strategic Planning/Topic Specific Meetings September 9,
10,2023 - Dr. Green (ltem 4.1.56 and following, page 746, Main Agenda)

The comprehensive information reviewed and discussed at the September 9,70,2023
Strategic Planning/Topic Specific Meetings is included in the Council information package

and will serve as valuable resources for Council's discussion of actions plans particularly
relating to Council evaluation at the November 24,2023 Council meeting. The Committee
was of the view that it made more sense to have some concrete ideas about how to implement
an effective Council evaluation and communications strategies, rather than introducing a new
topic for Council's consideration. Thank you to those who agreed to help all of us

"workshop" the information and develop strategies for moving forward in a way that
encourage growth and a commitment to continuous improvement. I look forward to the

discussions.

Vll Other Chiropractic/Health Related Stakeholders (ltem 4.1.60 and following,
page 843, Main Agenda)

Information concerning CCO's involvement with other chiropracticlhealth related
stakeholders is included in the Council information package primarily as FYI or for
background and context.

a

o Council members will note that:

The OCA has taken several steps relating to advancing the joint submissions of the
OCA, CCO and CMCC to enhance the scope of practice for members; their most
recent communications with government are included in the Council information
package;

CCO is participating in various work being done on a national level by the FCC
which has recently reviewed the competencies for chiropractic specialties, as well as

revised standards for CCEC which accredits chiropractic education institutions in
Canada;

The CCEB has updated its website to reflect the various changes to the national
examinations (previously circulated to Council);

Dr. Tibor and Mr. Friedman were thanked for their presentation at CMCC on August
25,2023;

CCO forwarded condolences to the CCPA on the passing of Dr. Paul Carey who
made significant contributions to the chiropractic profession and was a leading force
at CCPA for many yea6;

o

o

a

o



Executive Committee Report to Council - November 23,2023 8

vilt

104
CCO continues to participate in various initiatives of HPRO. Council members who
have not already done so should register for the Discipline training sessions, as well
as the governance sessions. Generally, the advanced training should be taken once a
council member has completed the basic training and has participated in a few
discipline hearings. Time permitting, I will ask Ms Willson to provide a verbal update
of HPRO's activities including their recent efforts to consider government relations
consultants to assist HPRO with advancing its priorities on behalf of HPRO members.

Animal Chiropractic (ltem 4,1.78 and following, page 989, Main
Agenda)

After the Committee meeting on October 27,2023, Ms Willson had various exchanges
with Mr. Robert Blenkinsop from the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
(OMAFRA), which administers the Veterinarians Act. CCO has communicated with
OMAFRA previously about the long-standing standard of practice relating to the
chiropractic care of animals, and the importance of not amending the status quo as it
relates to chiropractors who meet the standard in practice animal chiropractic. Within a

tight timeframe, CCO circulated a survey to those members who indicated they practice
chiropractic and advised Mr. Blenkinsop of the results of the information as OMAFRA
proceeds with its amendments to the Veterinarians ActIn the interim, the OCA is
involved in various advocacy efforts on behalf of their members who provide chiropractic
care to animals.

a

i



Executive Committee Report to Council - November 23,2023 9

lX Conclusion

In addition to the matters noted above, the Committee is reviewing other matters
including:

o enhancements to the information included on the public portion of the register and
further clarification around members being entitled to practice pending an ICRC
or discipline proceeding;

o what further information should be requested on the annual registration renewals
for all members; and

o a consideration of the role of the Advertising Committee which at this time is
restricted to reviewing advertisements submitted to it.

The Committee is aware that the Quality Assurance Committee is considering how best
to incorporate advertising issues into the peer assessment program, and we look forward
to a review of that information to ensure there is no duplication of effort between
committees, and that CCO complies with the responsibilities of statutory committees like
the ICRC and Quality Assurance.

105

Thank you to all Council members for your ongoing commitment and enthusiasm for our
ongoing work and CCO's important role in regulating chiropractic in the public interest
for Ontarians. I am exciting about the future and the learnings arising from our training
session on November 24,2023. As always, feel free to contact me if you have any
questions or concerns. I would be pleased to answer any questions arising from this
report.

Respectfully submitted by,

Dr. Sarah Green,
President

a

a

a



106.

i

I
!

j

!

II
q

=
l



|TEM 4.1 .2 121

Ontario

Executive Gouncil of Ontario
Order in Council

On the recommendation of the undersigned, the
Lieutenant Governor of Ontario, by and with the
advice and concurrence of the Executive
Council of Ontario, orders that:

Conseil ex6cutif de I'Ontario
D6cret

Sur la recommandation de la personne
soussign6e, le lieutenant-gouverneur de I'Ontario,
sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Conseil
ex6cutif de I'Ontario, d6crdte ce qui suit :

PURSUANT TO clause 6(1)(b) of the Chiropractic Act, 1997, Robert Chopowick of Ajax be

appointed as a part-time member of the Council of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario to serve at

the pleasure of the Lieutenant Governor in Councilfor a period not exceeding one year, effective the

date this Order in Council is made.

EN VERTU DE l'alin6a 6 (1) b) de la Loi de 1991surles chiropraticiens, Robert Chopowick d'Ajax

est nomm6 au poste de membre d temps partiel du Conseil de l'Ordre des chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

pour exercer son mandat d titre amovible d la discretion du lieutenant-gouverReur en conseil, pour

une p6riode maximale d'un an d compter du jour de la prise du pr6sent d6cret.

Recommended: Minister of Health

Recommand6 par : La ministre de la Sant6

Concurred: Chair of C net

Appuy6 par : La pr6sidence du Conseil des ministres

Approved and Ordered:
Approuv6 et d6cr6t6 le :

sEP 0 7 ?023

utenant Governor
La lieutenante-gouverneure

1o.c.lD6cret, 1 5 29 / 2 0 25



134

Ontarlo

Executive Gouncil of Ontario
Order in Council

Conseil ex6cutif de l,Ontario
D6cret

On the recommendation of the undersigned, the
Lieutenant Governor of Ontario, by and with the
advice and concurrence of the Executive
Council of Ontario, orders that:

Sur la recommandation de la personne
soussign6e, le lieutenant-gouverneur de l,Ontario,
sur l'avis et avec le consenternent du Conseil
ex6cutif de l'Ontario, d6crdte ce qui suit :

WHEREAS Mark de Domenico of Etobicoke, ieappointed by o.C. 1 1ZZt2a21as a pad-time member
of the council of the college of chiropractors of oniario, has resigned;

NOW THEREFORE, pursuant tb clause 6(1)(b) of the Chiropractic Act, 1991 , order in Council
numbered O.C, 117712021be revoked efeitive the date this Order in bouncit is made.

ATTENDU QUE Markde.Domenico, d'Etobicoke, reconduit dans ses fonctions de membre dr tempspartiel du Conseilde I'Ordre des chiropraticiens de l'Ontario en vertu du d6cret 117712021, a :

d6missionn6;

EN CONSEQUENCE, en vertu de l'alin6a 6 (1)b)de la loi de 1991surles chiropraticiens, le d6cret
117712021est r6voqu6 d compter du jour de'la piise du pr6sent d6cret.

:M ister of Health
La ministre de la Sante

Concurred: inet
Appuy6 par : La du Conseil des ministres

.Approved and Ordered:
Approuv6 et d6cr6t6 le I

Ocr 2 0 2023

ant Governor
La I ieutenante-gouverneure

1o.c. lD6cret,'! 565 / 2023



10112123,11:52 AM Constant Contact

|TEM 4.1.39

College of thiroprartars nf Ontario
UOrdre des Chircpraticiens de I'Ontario

President's Message,' Septe mber 79t 2023 - Draft
Amendments to Standard of Practice S-OO3:
Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and
Feedback

Update - Council Meeting September 8, 2023 and Strategic Planning
Sessions September 9, LOr 2023

CCO Council and staff have just returned from a successful Council meeting
and strategic planning sessions. Here is an update on some of our initiatives,
and two opportunities for you to have input into items being considered by
Council.

Potential Amendment to Standard of Practice S-OO3: Professional
Portfolio

The Quality Assurance Committee recommended to Council circulation ol

amendments to S-003: Professional Portfolio to include five (5) hours of
hands-on activity relating to spinal adjustment or manipulation to be
completed once every three (3) CE cycles (or six years). Members will be
aware that although there is a continuing education (CE) requirement for five
(5) hours in diagnostic or therapeutic procedures related to controlled acts,
peer assessors have observed that much of this requirement is being
completed through remote learning related to communicating a diagnosis
and/or ordering radiographs. Council approved the circulation of changes to
require hands-on learning specific to members'authority to perform the
controlled act of moving the joints of the spine. The public interest rationale
includes ensuring a basic level of competency in a fundamental skill that
members are authorized to perform by governing legislation.

Please review the draft amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003:
Professional Portfolio, indicated in underline on page five (5), and provide any
feedback through the p:cr!a[ by November 19, 2023'

By-law Amendments Being Considered

For several years now, CCO has been engaged in a process of systematically
reviewing, consulting on, and amending its by-laws, in keeping with the
College's commitment to regulatory excellence in a diverse environment.

As President, helping to guide this work of carefully analyzing and amending
by-laws to strengthen the College's governance, all while building on the
efforts of previous Councils, is a significant priority,

A leading expert on regulatory performance, Harvard Professor Malcolm
Sparrow, observed that a regulatory system is not just supported by formal
rules, but also by norms, best practices and, of equal importance, community
expectations. This is why when examining our by-laws we should not just ask

https://app.constantcontact.com/pages/campaiqns/email-details/details/activitv/9aa2b86e-9308-4838-aa87-a2412a2oef7b 115

440



10112123,11:52 AM

*t
l

Constant Contact

if something is technically permissible within the relevant governing statutes,
but also whether it is the right thing to do.

The CCO's ongoing by-law review has been informed by this spirit,

i

I

441
At the August LI,2023 meeting of the CCO Executive Committee, several by-
law amendments were approved to be brought forward to CCO Council. Most
of these recent amendments make the language used more inclusive and
gender neutral, such as replacing "his/her" with "their", or "memberi as
appropriate (11 by-laws were affected). A significant number of amendments
were undertaken to make minor grammatical changes for sentence clarity, or
to be consistent with related by-laws, or to correct small typographic errors
(10 by-laws were affected).

In the remaining instances, the by-law amendments were designed to enhance
the efficacy of CCO's Council and committees, to ensure that the members
who serve on them are the best equipped to do so. This has been done in
accordance with the College's published Competencies for Council and
Committee members. For example, following a detailed review of best
practices at 11 Ontario health regulatory colleges and three non-health
regulatory bodies concerning the nomination of candidates to committees, an
amendment was made to By-law 7 Elections Within Council. (The best
practices review was undertaken by outside legal counsel engaged by CCO and
governance experts at SML Law.) Specifically, By-law 7.11 was amended to
include the CCO President on the Nomination Committee. The rationale being,
in part, that the President likely has a great deal of experience of Council and
its committees and is well versed in their various roles and mandates in terms
of nominating suitable candidates. The details will be set out in policy.

Additional amendments pertained to eligibility for Council. These included
amendments to by-law 6.9 which, in the interest of consistency, extend the
'cooling off' period from three to six years for any member seeking to be
elected from when they had been last engaged with the leadership (as
defined) of a chiropractic advocacy group, or chiropractic education
organization, or had resigned from CCO Council before the completion of their
term. The suggestion to harmonize the cooling off periods was first proposed
by a former CCO President during the College's recent consultations on
amendments to By-law 6.

Other amendments to by-law 6.9 address a member's ineligibility to become a
candidate for Council. These require that a member is not, and has not been
within the preceding six years, an adverse party in litigation against CCO
6.9(q); that the member is not an accused currently charged with a criminal
offence under the Criminal Code of Canada 6.9(r); and that the member has
not been convicted of a criminal offence for which the member has not
received a pardon pursuant to the Criminal Code of Canada 6.9(s), The clear
public interest rationale for these three amendments (q), (r), (s) is that the
member is ineligible as a result being in a conflict of interesf - in 6.9 (q) with
CCO itself, and in the case of 6.9 (r) and (s), the conflict of interest is with the
duty to serve and protect the public interest as a member of CCO Council,

In addition to meeting eligibility criteria, the competencies expected of
candidates for, or members of, Council and Committee also include a deep
understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities of Council members as stewards
of CCO. Fiduciary responsibilities extend beyond a narrow reading of financial
accountability, to include due diligence, respect, ethics, confidentiality, loyalty
and of course conflict of interest,

https://app.constantcontact.com/paqes/campaiqnsiemail-details/details/activitv/9aa2bB6e-9308-4838-aa87-a2412a20ef7b 215



10112123,11:52 AM Constant Contact

To be fair, it is not assumed that all prospective candidates or Council
members are already experts in all the competencies and responsibilities. CCO
provides many orientation sessions, modules and ongoing training and support
for Council members that I and many other Council colleagues have found
invaluable. This training, alongside the formal articulation of core
competencies for Council members, are a key component of CCO's (and other
leading health regulatory colleges') efforts to strengthen college leadership,
and to align with the goals and benchmarks of the Ministry of Health and
Long-Term Care's College Performance Measurement Framework.

A review and opinion were also sought on related governance matters with
respect to voting on amendments (and other business), and specifically the
role of the Chair, CCO's existing by-law stipulates that the Council Chair votes
only in the event of a tie, although that is not a universal practice within other
colleges or organizations generally. For example, while the Ontario College of
Pharmacists mirrors CCO's approach, the College of Nurses of Ontario does not
require the Chair to vote regardless of the outcome, though they may vote if
they wish. In the event of a tie, the motion is considered to be defeated. The
Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario and the College of Physicians and
Surgeons of Ontario likewise have the by-law provision that a tied vote defeats
the motion, although in both colleges the vote of the Chair is counted along
with every other council member. Council agreed to include a right to vote for
the Chair to vote as part of the by-law amendments, with the proviso that the
Chair votes last on any matter before Council. There are other by-law
amendments under active consideration including, for example, requiring a 2/3
majority vote to amend a by-law. The Executive Committee will be considering
these and other amendments with further recommendations going to Council.

Proposed amendments to By-law 12: Appointment of Non-Council Members
include applying the same criteria for the election of Council members to the
appointment of non-Council committee members to help ensure consistent
practices are applied, As well, proposed amendments to By-law 13: Fees

include the addition of certificate and application fees to the new Emergency
class of registration certificate (approved by the Ministry of Health on August
3L,2023), and the exemption of additional registration fees for those
members moving from the Emergency class to the General class of
registration. Proposed new By-laws t3.I4 and 13.26 codify fees payable by a

member for a Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program (SCERP)

or reinstatement application.

I realize that in the course of our busy lives, some of these amendments and
considerations may seem like minutiae, and that for many people the world of
by-laws and governance can be obscure and complex at best-and cause their
eyes to glaze over at worst.

What I have attempted to share with you in this message is but a glimpse of
the breadth and depth of the ongoing by-law review and reform at CCO,
spurred on by our commitment to exceed expectations, There will be further
communication to all stakeholders, including members, on the topics discussed
during strategic planning, including evaluating Council effectiveness, the
College Performance Measurement Framework, and effective communications.
Stay tuned for further updates.

Please review the proposed by-law amendments, summarized in the following
chart and provide any feedback through the pp1lal by November 19, 2023.

Feedback from all stakeholders, including members will be reviewed by the
Quality Assurance Committee and the Executive Committee with further

https://app.constantcontact.com/paqes/campaiqns/email-details/details/activitv/9aa2b86e-9308-4838-aa87-a2412a20e17b 3/5

442



10112123,11:52 AM

-
i
i

https://app.constantcontact.com/paqes/campaiqns/email-detailsidetails/activitv/9aa2bB6e-9308-4838-aa87-a2412a20ef7b 4t5

Constant Contact

recommendations, informed by the feedback, to be considered by the full
Council. Thank you for participating in CCO's ongoing efforts in delivering
competent, diligent and ethical regulation of chiropractic in the public interest
in Ontario!

443Sincerely,

oa

Dr. Sarah Green
CCO President

Council and staff at Strategic Planning September 9, 70,2023

,h



10112123,11:52 AM Constant Contact

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, M4Y 0E7 Canada

U nsu bscri be jfriedman@cco.on. ca

Updele_PrSflle I Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

444

U \ Constqnt
\9 Contqct
Try email marketing for free today!

5i5



Dnarr Pnoposeo By-uw Aueruouerurs AppRovED ey Coultcrl FoR DrsrnleuloN AND Feeoalcx:
SepreMeER 8, 2023 (Pnoeoseo ArueruoMENTs UruoenuruEo)
GtncullrED To SrexeuoLDERS, I r.rcluorttc M eMeens: Sepreuaen 1 9, 2023

By-mw 1: DertunoNs AND lrurenpnETATloN

445

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent GCO By-law
ln these by-laws, unless the context
otherwise dictates,

"Administrato/' in the context of a

chiropractic educational institution
means one who occupies an executive,
management and/or policy-making
position;

"AFC" means the Alliance for
Chiropractic

"Appointed Member" means a member
ofthe Council appointed by the
Lieutenant Governor in Council;

"By-laws" means by-laws made by the
Council;

"CAC" means the Chiropractic
Awareness Council;

By-law
L.1

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

. .L lfirLlll

Public lnterest Rationale

_ il:nrErr-wlmfl llL-f1.Ul- Llliill

2

446
Recommended AmendrnentsCurrent GCO By-law

"CCA" means the Canadian Chiropractic
Association;

'CCEB' means the Canadian Chiropractic
Examining Board;

"CCEC' means the Council on
Chiropractic Education (Canada);

"CCPA" means the Canadian
Chiropractic Protective Association;

"CCRF" means the Canadian Chiropractic
Research Foundation;

"Chiroproctic Acl' means the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 ;

"CMCC" means the Canadian Memorial
Chiropractic College;

"CNAC" means the Canadian National
Alliance for Chiropractic;

"Code' means the Health Professions
Procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the
Regulated Health Professions Act, L991;

"Council Member" means a member of
the Council of CCO

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law
'CSCE' means the Canadian Society of
Chi ropractic Eva luators;

,CCO" means the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario;

"Council" means the Council of the CCO;

"Elected Member'' means a member of
the Council elected by the members of
the CCO;

"FCC" mean the Federation of Canadian

Chiropractic;

"Member" means a member of the CCo;

"OCA" means the Ontario Chiropractic
Association;

"Non-Chiropractic Committee Member"
means an individual appointed under
the by-laws to serve as a member of a

committee who is neither a member of
the Council nor a Member;

"Non-Council Member" means a

committee member who is a member of
the College but is not a member of
Coun

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

3

447
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



L L.--E!-]!lx

Recommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law
"Prescribed" means prescribed in the
regulations or by-laws;

"Primary practice" is the business

address of the member as reported to
CCO in accordance with the RHPA and
By-law 17;

"Primary residence" is the member's
residential address as reported to CCO

in accordance with By-law 17;

'RHPA" means the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 199L;

"UQTR' means Universit6 du Queb6c i
Trois-Rividres.

The definitions contained in the RHPA

and Chiropractic Act are incorporated
and adopted in the by-laws unless the
context otherwise dictates.

Any act referred to by name shall mean
that act in force at the relevant time as

amended, or replaced.

The by-laws shall be governed and
construed in accordance with the laws
of Ontario.

By-law

L.2

1.3

1..4

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

4

448
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GCO By-law
ln the event of an inconsistency
between the by-laws and the RHPA,

Chiropractic Act, or the regulations
under those acts, the RHPA,the
Chiroproctic Act and the regulations
under those acts shall govern.

The CCO and its representatives are

excused from complying with an

obligation set out in these by-laws,
including acting within a specified time
period, where compliance is not feasible
because of an emergency such as a

pandemic or war.

The registrar is authorized to make non-

substantive corrections to the official
version of these by-laws including where
there are typographical errors, spelling
and grammar mistakes, formatting
anomalies, incorrect numbering of
provisions, and inaccurate cross-
references to other provisions.

By-law
1.5

1.6

1..7

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

5

449
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I l[] l,[l -r fl l:[]mrIEElKN rm rlflL]Xill

6

450

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv-lnw 2: Seal

Seal on Website

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law
The seal shown on this page is the seal

of CCO.

The registrar, president, vice-president
and treasurer and such other person or
persons as may be authorized by Council
shall each have authority to affix the
seal of CCO to any document.

By-law
2.1.

2.2

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

BY.IRw 3: ExecUTIoN oF DocUMENTS

7

451

Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity: the type of document is

identified before those authorized to sign it

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
Unless otherwise provided by law or the
by-laws, a document that has financial
imolications for CCO €F€€O shall be

signed by: the registrar or the deputy
registrar and one of the president, vice-
president or treasurer if the deeument has

@;anda
document that does not have financial
implications for CCO mav be siened bv the
registrar or the deputy registrar, or
someone authorized by either of them.

finaneial implieatiens fer e€e.

Gurrent GGO By-law
Unless otherwise provided by law or the
by-laws, a document of CCO shall be

signed by: the registrar or the deputy
registrar and one of the president, vice-
president or treasurer if the document
has financial implications for CCO; and

the registrar or the deputy registrar, or
someone authorized by him/her, if the
document does not have financial
implications for CCO.

Notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary contained in the by-laws of
CCO, Council may, at any time, by
resolution, direct the manner in which,
and the person or persons by whom,
any instrument in writing or class of
instruments in writing made on behalf
of CCO may or shall be executed.

By-law
3.1

3.2

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



i.L rh ll[1

Public lnterest Rationale

.rJlil1

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

8

452
Recommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law

A person who may sign a document may
impress the seal of CCO upon the
document if the seal is required and if
the document has been signed as

required by the by-laws.

Minutes of Council meetings shall be
signed by any two of the president, vice-
president, treasu rer or registrar.

Proposed regulations shall be signed by
the registrar and one ofthe president,
vice-president or treasu rer.

Decisions made by the panel of the
Discipline Committee and/or the Fitness
to Practise Committee of CCO shall be
signed by all members participating in

the decision.

Documents of a committee, such as a

notice of a summons, shall be signed by
a representative of the committee.

By-law
3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

By-lew 4: BaruxrNG AND FltrtRruce

I

453

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law
The Executive Committee shall appoint a

chartered bank where deposits are

insured by the Canadian Deposit

lnsurance Corporation for the use of
cco.

All money belonging to CCO shall be

deposited in the name of CCO with the
bank without deduction for any purpose

whatsoever.

The registrar or deputy registrar may
endorse any negotiable instrument for
collection on account of CCO through
the bank for deposit to the credit of CCO

with the bank.

By-law
4.1

4.2

4.3

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



. LInl LILL Ixllt lrlll,ltlllll

10Proposed By-law Amendments
Council for Distribution and Feedback: 8,2023

454
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law

The registrar or deputy registrar and one
of the president, vice-president or
treasurer may invest or reinvest funds of
CCO, not immediately required, in:

(a) bonds, debentures, or other
evidences of indebtedness of or
guaranteed by the Government of
Canada or the Government of Ontario;
or

(b) deposit receipts, deposit notes,
certificates of deposit, and other similar
instruments issued or endorsed by a
chartered bank.

The Executive Committee may by
resolution decide to invest or reinvest
funds of CCO, not immediately required,
in securities outlined in By-law 4.4
above.

The registrar or deputy registrar and one
of the president, vice-president or
treasurer shall sign documents to
implement a decision made by the
Executive Committee pursuant to By-law
4.5 above.

By-law
4.4

4.5

4.6

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsGurrent CGO By-law
The Council may from time to time by

resolution:

(a) borrow money on the credit of CCO;

(b) limit or increase the amount or
amounts to be borrowed; and

(c) secure any present or future
borrowing, or any debt, obligation, or
liability of the College, by charging,
mortgaging, hypothecatingor pledging

all or any of the real or personal
property of CCO, whether present or
future.

The Executive Committee shall not
exercise the powers or duties of the
Council under By-law 4.7 above or take
any similar action.

The registrar or deputy registrar and one
of the president, vice-president or
treasurer shall sign documents to
implement a decision made by the
Council pursuant to By-law 4,7 above.

By-law
4.7

4.8

4.9

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

11

455
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



tl 1 ll '!r ! Flr-|r$lrmu ,ln*!riltI_!:_LUIL

12Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

456
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CGO By-law

Goods or services may be purchased or
leased for the benefit of CCO if the
purchase or lease is approved by:

(a) the registrar orthe deputy registrar,
if the resulting obligation does not
exceed S25,000;

(b) the registrar or the deputy registrar
and one of the president, vice-president,
or treasurer if the resulting obligation is
between S25,000 and 550,000; and

(c) the registrar or the deputy registrar
and two of the president, vice-president,
ortreasurer if the resulting obligation
exceeds Ss0,ooo.

By-law
4.70

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

Bv-nw 5: FIrunrucrAL YeRn AND Auorrrruc

13

457

Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

]f the Auditor is unable to continue his-er
h€+#ies to act, or in the event Council is

dissatisfied with the Auditor, Council may

appoint a new Auditor.

Current GCO By-law
The financial year of CCO shall be from
the 1st of January of one year to the
31st of December of the same year.

Council shall appoint annually one or
more Auditors who are licensed under
the Public Accounting Act, 2004 to audit
CCO's financial statements.

Financial statements for CCO shall be

prepared at the close of each Fiscal Year
and audited financial statements,
together with the Auditor's report, shall
be presented annually to Council.

The Auditor shall serve for a term of one
year, but if an appointment is not made

the Auditor shall continue to serve until
a successor is appointed.

The Auditor may be re-appointed at the
discretion of Council.

lf the Auditor is unable to continue his

or her duties or in the event Council is

dissatisfied with the Auditor, Council

may appoint a new Auditor.

By-law
5.L

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



i :l lrl- - lI nrlr-EflMr; .trtr ]tu .lut

14Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

458
Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

The Auditor has a right of access at all
reasonable times to all records,
documents, books, accounts and vouchers
of CCO and is entitled to require from the
Council members, officers and employees
and relevant payees of CCO such

information as in his er her the Auditor's
opinion is necessary to enable
the Auditor to report as required by law or
under this section.

The Auditor is entitled to attend any
meeting of Council and to be heard at any
such meeting that+sF€hst+€flds on
any part of the business of the meeting
that concerns the audit them as Auditer.

Current GGO By-law
Council shall cause the performance of
the Auditor to be evaluated on an

annual basis and shall take such
evaluation into account when
considering the re-appointment of the
Auditor.

Council shall set the remuneration of
the Auditor and confirm the
appointment and remuneration in
writing.

The Auditor has a right of access at all
reasonable times to all records,
documents, books, accounts and
vouchers of CCO and is entitled to
require from the Council members,
officers and employees and relevant
payees of CCO such information as in his

or her opinion is necessary to enable
him or her to report as required by law
or under this section.

The Auditor is entitled to attend any
meeting of Council and to be heard at
any such meeting that he or she attends
on any part of the business of the
meeting that concerns them as Auditor.

By-law
5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

15

459
Public lnterest Rationale

Consistency with prior by-law provisions

Consistency with prior by-law provisions

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

The Auditor audit€r shall report to the
Executive Committee upon reasonable
request by the Executive Committee and
in any event at the last meeting of the
Executive Committee before the annual
meeting of Council.

The auditer Auditor shall report in writing
to the Council at the annual meeting of
Council on the financial statement which
shall be submitted to each annual meeting
and shall state in the report whether, in

hislh€'# the Audito/s opinion, the financial
statement presents fairly the financial
position of CCO and the results or its
operations for the period under review in

accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles applied on a basis

consistent with that of the preceding
period.

Current CGO By-law
The auditor shall report to the Executive

Committee upon reasonable request by

the Executive Committee and in any
event at the last meeting of the
Executive Committee before the annual
meeting of Council.

The auditor shall report in writing to the
Council at the annual meeting of Council

on the financial statement which shall
be submitted to each annual meeting
and shall state in the report whether, in

his/her opinion, the financial statement
presents fairly the financial position of
CCO and the results or its operations for
the period under review in accordance
with generally accepted accou nting
principles applied on a basis consistent
with that of the preceding period.

The Executive Committee shall not
exercise the powers or duties of the
Council under this by-law.

By-law
5.11

5.L2

s.13

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



. t..l..!r..1!ll -L*:lLtllfnl-Ilmfr IEI rlllltlll .-

16Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

BY-IIW 6: EIecTIoN oF CoUNcIL MEMBERS

460

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law
Electoral District 1: Northern comprised
of the districts of Kenora, Rainy River,

Thunder Bay, Algoma, Cochrane,
Manitoulin, Parry Sound, Nipissing,
Timiskaming; the district municipality of
Muskoka; and the city of Greater
Sudbury.

Electoral District 2: Eastern comprised
ofthe counties of Frontenac, Hastings,
Lanark, Prince Edward, Renfrew, Lennox
and Addington; the united counties of
Leeds and Grenville, Prescott and
Russell, Stormont, Dundas and
Glengarry; and the city of Ottawa.

Electoral District 3: Central East

comprised of the counties of Haliburton,
Northumberland, Peterborough, a nd

Simcoe, the city of Kawartha Lakes, the
regional municipality of Durham and the
township of Scugog.

Electoral District 4: Central comprised
of the city of Toronto and the regional
municipality of York.

By-law
6.1

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

A member is eligible to vote in District 7

and in the electoral district in which the
.m€mber, as of January 1't of the election
year, ha+&isfhe+ the member's primary
practice is located, or if the member is not
engaged in the practice of chiropractic, in

which the msrn[srt hes+i€lh€+ primary
residence is located.

Gurrent GGO By-law

Electoral District 5: Central West
comprised of the counties of Brant,
Dufferin, Wellington, Haldimand and
Norfolk, the regional municipalities of
Halton, Niagara, Peel and Waterloo, and
the city of Hamilton.

Electoral District 5: Western comprised
ofthe counties of Essex, Bruce, Grey,

Lambton, Elgin, Middlesex, Huron, Perth

and Oxford, and the municipality of
Chatham-Kent.

Electoral District 7: Academic comprised
of the entire province of Ontario.

A member is eligible to vote in District 7

and in the electoral district in which the
member, as of January 1't of the election
year, has his/her primary practice, or if
the member is not engaged in the
practice of chiropractic, in which the
member has his/her primary residence.

By-law

6.2

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2O23

17

461
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I ltl lLlil .iLjLf i[EIFfl lrrr ]rltl ..LlLll*__ - _

18Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

462
Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

The term of office of a member elected to
Council is approximately three years,

commencing with the first regular meeting
of Council immediately following the
election. The member shall continue to
serve in office until hifhe+ q successor
takes office in accordance with this by-

law,

Gurrent CCO By-law
For each electoral district referred to in
column 1 of the following table, there
shall be elected to Councilthe number
of members set out opposite in column
2.

Column 2
Number of
Members
1

!
1

2

2

I
1

Column l-

Electoral
District
1.

2

3

4

5

6

7

The term of office of a member elected
to Council is approximately three years,

commencing with the first regular
meeting of Council immediately
following the election. The member shall
continue to serve in office until his/her
successor takes office in accordance
with this by-law.

By-law
5.3

6.4

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsGurrent GGO By-law
A member who has served on Council
for nine consecutive years is ineligible
for election to Council until a full three
year term has passed since that member
last served on Council.

An election of members to Council shall

be held in or about of March of each

year in accordance with the following
schedule:

(a) in 2021 and every third year after
that for electoral district L and one
Council member for each of electoral
districts 4 and 5;

(b) in 2022 and every third year after
that for electoral districts 2 and 3 and

one Council member for electoral
district 4;

(c) in 2023 and every third year after
that for electoral districts 6 and 7 and
one Council member for electoral
district 5.

The registrar shall set the date for the
election of members to Council.

By-law
5.5

6.6

6.7

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

19

463
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



L.h.r.U I[] ,. -LIL.IIL[nlE-imruMl[..'rUl] lr.-rrLlLl. .. lLll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

20

464
Public lnterest Rationale
DEI: gender neutral language

DEI: gender neutral language

Clarity in language

Recommended Amendments
A member is ineligible to vote in a council
election if he/she is in default of payment
ofanyfees prescribed by by-law or any
fine or order for costs to CCO imposed by
a CCO committee or court of law oris if in
default in providing and returning any
information required by CCO.

A member is eligible for election to
Council in an electoral district, if on the
closing date of nominations and anytime
up to and including the date of the
election:

(a) the member's primary
practice of chiropractic is located in the
electoral district in which h€lsih€ the
member is nominated or, if the member is

not engaged in the practice of
ch iropractic, ha+hi#he+ the mem ber's
primary residence is located in the
electoral district in which h€lsh€ the
member is nominated;

(b) the member is not in default of
payments of any fees prescribed by by-law
or any fine or order fu+ to pay costs to
CCO imposed by a CCO committee or
court of law;

Current CCO By-law
A member is ineligible to vote in a

council election if he/she is in default of
payment of any fees prescribed by by-
law or any fine or order for costs to CCO

imposed by a CCO committee or court of
law or is in default in providing and
returning any information required by
cco.

A member is eligible for election to
Council in an electoral district, if on the
closing date of nominations and anytime
up to and including the date of the
election:

(a) the member has his/her primary
practice of chiropractic located in the
electoral district in which he/she is

nominated or, if the member is not
engaged in the practice of chiropractic,
has his/her primary residence located in

the electoral district in which he/she is

nominated;

(b) the member is not in default of
payments of any fees prescribed by by-
law or any fine or order for costs to CCO

imposed by a CCO committee or court of
law;

By-law
6.8

6.9

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Best practices: lncapacity is a form or illness.
It requires different treatment from
professional misconduct or incompetence.

Consistency: cooling off period

Recommended Amendments

(c) the member is not in default in

completing and returning any form
required by CCO;

(d) the member is not the subject of
any disciplinary or incapacity
proceeding;

(e) a finding of professional misconduct,
incompetence or incapacity has not been

made against the member in the
preceding six years;

(f) (new) if a member has been found to
be incapacitated, CCO receives
confirmation from their treatins
practitioner that the member is phvsicallv

and mentallv capable to serve on Council

or a committee.

jg) the member has not resigned from a

position on Council, before completing the
thei+ term, within the last th+ee rilyears
and four months;

jD the member does not have an

outstanding code of conduct matter with
the College.

Gurrent CCO By-law

(c) the member is not in default in
completing and returning any form
required by CCO;

(d) the member is not the subject of
any disciplinary or incapacity
proceeding;

(e) a finding of professional misconduct,
incompetence or incapacity has not
been made against the member in the
preceding six years;

(f) the member has not resigned from a

position on Council, before completing
their term, within the last three years

and four months;

(S) the member does not have an

outstanding code of conduct matter
with the College.

ByJaw

Proposed By-law Amendments
Aoproved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

21

465
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

r-L--tl Lll]li

Public lnterest Rationale

_t:]l lrlmx-mlml llI il,tl ]ILLL__

22

466

Consistency: cooling off period

Consistency: cooling off period

Recommended Amendments

fi) the member is not, and has not been in
preceding three six years, an employee,
officer or director of any professional
chiropractic association such that a real or
apparent conflict of interest may arise,
including but not limited to being an

employee, officer or director of the OCA,

CCA, CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE, the CCEC of
the FCC, CCRF or CNAC;

i[ the member is not, and has not been in

the preeeeding preceding th+ee gi4 years,

an officer, director, or administrator of
any chiropractic educational institution,
including but not limited to, CMCC and
UQTR, such that a real or apparent conflict
of interest may arise;

l!| the member has not been
disqualified from the Council or a

committee of the Council in the previous

six years;

l[ the member is not a member of the
Council or of a committee of the College
of any other health profession;

Current CCO By-law
(h) the member is not, and has not
been in preceding three years, an

employee, officer or director of any
professional chiropractic association
such that a real or apparent conflict of
interest may arise, including but not
limited to being an employee, officer or
director of the OCA, CCA, CCPA, AFC,

CCEB, CSCE, thc CCEC Ofthc FCC, CCRF

or CNAC;

(i) the member is not, and has not
been in the proceeding three years, an

officer, director, or administrator of any
chiropractic educational institution,
including but not limited to, CMCC and
UQTR, such that a real or apparent
conflict of interest may arise;

(j) the member has not been
disqualified from the Council or a
committee of the Council in the previous
six years;

(k) the member is not a member of the
Council or of a committee of the College
of any other health profession;

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Consistency: cooling off period

Consistency: cooling off period

Best practices: A member who engages or
has engaged in litigation against CCO is in a

real or perceived conflict of interest

Best practices: A member facing a criminal
prosecution or convicted of a criminal
offence is in a conflict of interest with the
duty to serve and protect the public interest.
Criminal offences that are unrelated to the
practice of the profession and might not
warrant discipline proceedings do not reflect
on the member's integrity to be eligible for
election as a Council member

Recommended Amendments
(m) the member has not been a member
of the staff of CCO at any time within the
preceding th+ee six years;

(q| for District 7 only, the member is a

member of the faculty of an accredited
educational institution; a+d

lp) for any district other than District 7,

the member is not eligible for election in

District 7 , and has not been eligible for
election in District 7 in the preceding th+ee

six years;

(q) (new) the member is not, and has not
been within the orecedine six vears, an

adverse partv in litieation aeainst CCO. the
Council of CCO, a committee of CCO, or
anv of CCO's directors. officers. emplovees

or agents, on a matter related to CCO

business;

(r) (new) the member is not an accused

currentlv charged with a criminal offence
under the Criminal Code of Canada; and

(s) (new) the member has not been

convicted of a criminal offence for which
the member has not received a pardon

nt to the f.iminrl a^A^ a{ aanarla

Gurrent CGO By-law
(l) the member has not been a member
of the staff of CCO at any time within
the preceding three years;

(m) for District 7 only, the member is a

member of the faculty of an accredited
educational institution; and

(n) for any district other than District 7,

the member is not eligible for election in

District 7, and has not been eligible for
election in District 7 in the preceding

three years.

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

23

467
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



..1:UrLlL]lr

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

24

468
Public Interest Rationale

For clarity

Recommended Amendments

The nomination of a candidate for election
as a member of Council, a'nd topether with
the written undertaking to the CCO

Registrar@shallbe
given to the registrar at least 35 days

before the date of the election (i.e., the
nomination date).

Current CCO By-law
The registrar shall supervise the
nomination of candidates.

No later than 50 days before the date of
an election, the registrar shall notify
every member eligible to vote of the
date, time and place of the election and
of the nomination procedure.

The nomination of a candidate for
election as a member of Council, and
undertaking to the CCO Registrar shall
be in writing and shall be given to the
registrar at least 35 days before the date
of the election (i.e., the nomination
date).

The nomination shall be signed by the
candidate and by at least L0 members
who support the nomination and who
are eligible to vote in the electoral
district in which the election is to be
held.

By-law
6.10

6.tr

6.L2

6.13

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



DEI: gender neutral language

Clarity: only eligible candidates

Recommended Amendments

The A candidate may withdraw
neminatien fer from the election to
Council no laterthan 25 days before the
date of the election.

lf the number of elisible candidates who
have been nominated for an electoral
district is less than or equal to the number
of members to be elected, the registrar
shall declare the candidates to be elected
by acclamation,

Gurrent CGO By-law
The candidate shall provide to the
registrar by the nomination date or such

later date as the registrar permits,

biographical information in a manner
acceptable to the registrar including
content that is suitable for CCO's public

interest mandate, for the purpose of
distribution to eligible members in
accordance with the by-laws.

The candidate may withdraw his or her
nomination for election to Council no

later than 25 days before the date ofthe
election.

lf the number of candidates nominated
for an electoral district is less than or
equal to the number of members to be

elected, the registrar shall declare the
candidates to be elected by acclamation.

By-law
6.14

6.15

5.16

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

25

469
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments

L1-[1 liil L--.lh',| IlEslffil! !n .-1llll ,lLll

26
Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

470
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CGO By-law

The registrar shall supervise and
administer the election of candidates
and, for the purpose of carrying out that
duty, the registrar may, subject to the
by-laws,

(a) appoint returning officers and
scrutineers;

(b) establish a deadline for the receiving
of electronic ballots;

(c) provide for the notification of all
candidates and members of the results
of the election;

(d) if there has been a non-compliance
with a nomination or election
requirement, determi ne whether the
non-compliance should be waived in

circumstances where the fairness of the
election will not be affected; and

(e) provide for the destruction of
electronic ballots following an election.

By-law
6.r7

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended Amendments
No later than 1"0 days before the date of
an election, the registrar shall send
electronically, or.Uy any other medium as

determined by Council, to every member
eligible to vote in an electoral district in
which an election is to take place, a list of
the candidates, the candidates'
biographical information if provided, an

explanation of the voting procedure, and

electronic access to a ballot for voting.

Current GCO By-law

No laterthan 10 days before the date of
an election, the registrar shall send
electronically, or any other medium as

determined by Council, to every
member eligible to vote in an electoral
district in which an election is to take
place, a list of the candidates, the
candidates' biographical information if
provided, an explanation of the voting
procedure, and electronic access to a

ballot for voting.

Voting for elections of member to
Council shall be by electronic method or
any other medium as determined by
Council.

By-law
5.18

6.19

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

27

471
Public Interest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

-tril llfl

Public lnterest Rationale

jl-*il| lN[nIEIFfr Ilf, llil lrll _

28

472
Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GCO By-law

The instruction for voting shall contain
the following:

a) a member may cast as many votes
on a ballot in an election of members to
the Council as there are members to be

elected to Council from the electoral
district in which the member is eligible
to vote;

b) a member shall not cast more than
one vote for any one candidate;

c) a member shall clearly indicate the
voter's choice in one of the appropriate
places on the electronic ballot to
indicate the voter's choice;

d) the electronic vote shall be received
by 4 pm on the date indicated in the
notice of election and voting guide; and

e) the electronic vote will not be

counted in the election unless it has

been received in accordance with the
instructions for voting.

By-law
6.20

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



DEI: gender neutral language

To correct typographical error

Recommended Amendments

On the date of the election, the registrar
or hi#h€+ an agent designated by the
registrar, shall tally the votes for each

candidate in each electoral district with a

contested election.

A candidate may require a recount by
giving a written request and depesitie*
depositins the sum or $tsO with the
registrar no more than 15 days after the
date of an election.

Gurrent CCO By-law
On the date of the election, the registrar
or his/her agent shall tally the votes for
each candidate in each electoral district
with a contested election.

The counting of the electronic votes
shall be conducted so that no person

knows for whom any member voted.

Candidates or their representatives may

be present when the electronic votes
are counted.

lf there is a tie in an election of
members to the Council, the registrar
shall break the tie by lot.

A candidate may require a recount by
giving a written request and deposition
the sum or $tso with the registrar no

more than 15 days after the date of an

election.

The registrar shall hold the recount no
more than 10 days after receiving the
request.

By-law
6.21.

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

29

473
Public Interest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

,l U llll

Public lnterest Rationale

I I rilmlilrlrr.,ltMt._,11U.1 Inr

30

474
Recommended Amendments

The Council shall disqualify an elected
member from sitting on Council if the
elected member:

(a) is subject of any disciplinary or
i nca pacity proceeding;

(b) is found to have committed an act of
professional misconduct or is found to be

incompetent by a panel of the Discipline
Committee;

Current CCO By-law
lf the recount changes the election
result, the full amount of the deposit
shall be refunded to the candidate. lf
the recount does not change the
election result, CCO will keep the
deposit to partially offset recount costs,
including staff time.

When there is an interruption of
communications during a nomination or
election, the registrar shall extend the
holding of nominations and election for
such minimum period of time as the
registrar considers necessary to
compensate for the interruption.

The Council shall disqualify an elected
member from sitting on Council if the
elected member:

(a) is subject of any disciplinary or
inca pacity proceeding;

(b) is found to have committed an act of
professional misconduct or is found to
be incompetent by a panel of the
Discipline Committee;

By-law
6.27

6.28

6.29

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



DEI: gender neutral language

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
(c) is found to be an incapacitated
member by a panel of the Fitness to
Practice Committee;

(d) fails to attend two consecutive

meetings of the Council or of a committee
or of a subcommittee in on which he/she
i+e the member sits, without reasonable
cause in the opinion of Council;

(e) fails to attend a hearing or review of a

panel for which helshe the member has

been selected, without reasonable cause

in the opinion of Council;

(f) becomes an employee, officer or
director of any professional chiropractic
association such that a real or apparent
conflict of interest may arise, including but
not limited to being an employee, officer
or director of the oCA, cCA, ccPA, AFc,

CCEB, CSCE or the Accreditation Standards

and Policies Committee or the CCEC of the
FCC;

(g) in the case of a Council member
from District 7, ceases to be a member of
the faculty of CMCC;

Current CCO By-law
(c) is found to be an incapacitated
member by a panel of the Fitness to
Practice Committee;

(d) fails to attend two consecutive

meetings of the Council or of a
committee or of a subcommittee in

which he/she is a member, without
reasonable cause in the opinion of
Council;

(e) fails to attend a hearing or review of
a panel for which he/she has been

selected, without reasonable cause in

the opinion of Council;

(f) becomes an employee, officer or
director of any professional chiropractic
association such that a real or apparent
conflict of interest may arise, including
but not limited to being an employee,
officer or director of the OCA, CCA,

CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE or the
Accreditation Standards and Policies

Committee or the CCEC of the FCC;

(g) in the case of a Council member
from District 7, ceases to be a member
of the faculty of CMCC;

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

31

475
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

LL rl[]r.rlritrl

Public lnterest Rationale

][ lllL]rll.1,r$lllnfiru.r. l ltulr l.l[i] Lllrlll -

32

476

Best practices: procedu ral fairness requires
only a reasonable opportunity to respond

DEI: gender neutral language

Best practices: procedural fairness requires
only a reasonable opportunity to respond

Recommended Amendments

(h) becomes an officer, director or
administrator of any chiropractic
educational institution, including but not
limited to CMCC and UQTR;

(i) becomes a member of the Council
or a committee of the College of any other
health profession;

(j) breaches the conflict of interest
provision(s)for members of Council and
committees, in the opinion of the
Council after giving notice to the
member of the concern and giving the
member a* a reasonable opportunity to
respond to the concern;

(k) fails to discharge properly or
honestly any office to which h€rkhe the
member has been elected or appointed or
engages in conduct unbecoming of a

Council member, in the opinion of the
Council, after being given notice of the
concern and an a reasonable opportunity
to respond;

Gurrent GCO By-law

(h) becomes an officer, director or
administrator of any chiropractic
educational institution, including but not
limited to CMCC and UQTR;

(i) becomes a member of the Council
or a committee of the College of any
other health profession;

U) breaches the conflict of interest
provision(s) for members of Council and
committees, in the opinion of the
Council after giving notice to the
member of the concern and giving the
member an opportunity to respond to
the concern;

(k) fails to discharge properly or
honestly any office to which he/she has

been elected or appointed or engages in
conduct unbecoming of a Council
member, in the opinion of the Council,
after being given notice of the concern
and an opportunity to respond;

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Best practices: a member who litigates
against CCO is in a real or perceived conflict
of interest

Best practices: A member charged with a

criminal offence is in a conflict of interest
with the public interest mandate of CCO

Recommended Amendments
(l) becomes in default of payment of
any fees prescribed by by-law or any
fine or order for costs imposed by a CCO

committee or court of law;

(m) becomes in default of completing
and returning any form required by CCO;

€+

(n) with the exception of District 7
(Academic), becomes a member of the
faculty of an accredited educational
institution;

(o) (new) becomes an adverse partv in
litieation aeainst CCO, the Council of CCO,

mittee of |^crr ora nrr nf fff)'c

directors, officers, emplovees or agents,
on a matter related to CCO business;

(p) (new) is chareed with a criminal
offence contrarv to the Criminal Code of
Canada; and

Gurrent GCO By-law
(l) becomes in default of payment of
any fees prescribed by by-law or any
fine or order for costs imposed by a CCO

committee or court of law;

(m) becomes in default of completing
and returning any form required by CCO;

or

(n) with the exception of District 7

(Academic), becomes a member of the
faculty of an accredited educational
institution.

A council member shall resign from
Council prior to applying for any CCO

staff position.

By-law

6.30

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

33

477
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



..L-l.L]]lfu .iL:-

Clarity

Recommended Amendments

lf the seat of an elected council member
becomes vacant in an electoral district
ne-me+e less than 12 months before the
expiry of the membe/s term of office,
the Council may,

(a) leave athe seat vacanU

(b) appoint as an elected member the
candidate, if any, who had the most
votes of all the unsuccessful candidates
in the last election of council members
for that electoral district; or

(c) direct the registrar to hold an

election in accordance with this by-law
for that electoral district.

Current CCO By-law
The seat of an elected Council member
shall be deemed to be vacant upon the
death, resignation or disqualification of
the Council member.

lf the seat of an elected council member
becomes vacant in an electoral district
no more than L2 months before the
expiry of the member's term of office,
the Council may,

(a) leave a seat vacanU

(b) appoint as an elected member the
candidate, if any, who had the most
votes of all the unsuccessful candidates
in the last election of council members
for that electoral district; or

(c) direct the registrar to hold an
election in accordance with this by-law
for that electoral district.

lf the seat of an elected council member
becomes vacant in an electoral district
more than 12 months before the expiry
of the member's term of office, the
registrar shall hold an election in

accordance with this by-law for that
electoral district.

By-law
6.31

6.32

6.33

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

34

478
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

35

479
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent GGO By-law

The term of a member appointed under
By-law 6.32(b) or elected in an election
under By-law 6.32(c) shall continue until
the time the former council member's
term would have expired.

Despite By-law 6.32,6.33, and 6.34,
where vacancy would result in the
Council not being properly constituted,
the Council (in anticipation of the event
before it is not properly constituted) or
the Executive Committee (after the
Council is not properly constituted) may
appoint as an elected member for that
district an eligible member in that
electoral district, where feasible. The
appointed member shall serve until the
vacancy can otherwise be filled for that
district. When temporarily filling the
vacancy in this way, the Council or the
Executive Committee shall:

(a) solicit interest from eligible
mem bers where feasiblex,

(b) take into account the criteria set out
in By-law 12.5,

By-law
6.34

6.35

I There may not be sufficient time to solicit interest in every case and Council should be reconstituted as soon as possible.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



.- r-lLr-u.ll-[i rl [ ]wIE lmrmlil.- !lll.l., Ld.ll. r.lll1

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Public lnterest Rationale

2 This is intended to preserve the neutrality of the process. Where a person intends to run in the next election, they would receive a distinct adrantage in being
appointed to fill the vacancy until the election is held.

36

480

To clarify an ambiguity

Not necessary anymore

Recommended Amendments

lf, within 90 days frem after the date of
the election, the Council is of the opinion
that there is a reasonable ground for
doubt or dispute as to the validity of the
election of any member of Council, the
Council shall hold an inquiry and decide
whether the election of the member is

valid and, if an election is found to be
invalid, the Council shalldirect another
election to be held.

The eleetien in Distriet 1 in 2020 shall be

eemmeneing.r'+i@ing

e+e€tiian"

Gurrent CCO By-law
(c) require the prospective appointed
member to sign an undertaking to not
seek or accept a nomination in the next
election for the electoral district before
the appointment becomes fina12.

ll within 90 days from the date of the
election, the Council is of the opinion
that there is a reasonable ground for
doubt or dispute as to the validity of the
election of any member of Council, the
Council shall hold an inquiry and decide
whether the election of the member is

valid and, if an election is found to be

invalid, the Council shall direct another
election to be held.

The election in District Lin2O2O shall be

for approximately a one-year term
commencing with the first regular
meeting of Council immediately
following the election.

By-law

6.36

6.37

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Aporoved bv Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

37

481
Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

Recommended Amendments

6.37 Where insufficient candidates are
nominated for a district by the close of
nominations, the Council may nominate a

member@who
does not practice hav€++s@maqr

iee

e++n*eeraetie in the district, and for
District 7, is not a member of the faculty of
the CMCC.

Current GGO By-law
Where insufficient candidates are

nominated for a district by the close of
nominations, the Council may nominate
a member even though the member
does not have his/her primary practice
and is not engaged in the practice of
chiropractic in the district, and for
District 7, is not a member of the faculty
of the CMCC.

By-law
6.38

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



l-iUl rLUll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv-law 7: ElecnoNs (WlrHlru Gour.rctl)

38

482

- l,illl iLiUi

Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

Recommended Amendments
An elected member of the Council, who is
not disqualified under Bv-law 6.29 is

eligible:

(a) to vote for elections within Council;

(d) for election to the position of
president, vice-president or treasurer; and

(c) for election to the position of chair or
member of a statutory or non-statutory
committee;
i
Ceuneil as ef that date,

Gurrent CGO By-law
An elected member of the Council is

eligible:

(a) to vote for elections within Council;

(b) for election to the position of
president, vice-president or treasu rer;
and

(c) for election to the position of chair
or member of a statutory or non-
statutory committee;
if the member is eligible for election to
Council as of that date.

An appointed member of the Council is

eligible:

(a) to vote for elections within Council;

(b) for election to the position of
president, vice-president or treasurer;
and

(c) for election to the position of chair
or member of a statutory or non-
statutory committee.

By-law
7.L

7.2

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



For clarity

Recommended Amendments

The Council shall at tSe its first meeting ef
€eune+l following the general election, or
as soon thereafter as practicable, elect a
president, vice-president and treasurer to
hold office until the first meeting of
Council following the general election in
the subsequent year, and if an election is

not so held, the president, vice-president
and treasurer for the preceding year shall

continue in office until their successors are

elected.

Gurrent GGO By-law

The Council shall at the first meeting of
Council following the general election,
or as soon thereafter as practicable,
elect a president, vice-president and

treasurer to hold office until the first
meeting of Council following the general

election in the subsequent year, and if
an election is not so held, the president,
vice-president and treasurer for the
preceding year shall continue in office
until their successors are elected.

The election of the president, vice-
president and treasurer shall be by

secret ballot using generally accepted

democratic procedures, and where
more than two council members are
nominated, the nominee who receives

the lowest number of votes on each

ballot shall be deleted from the
nomination unless one nominee
receives a majority of the votes cast on

the ballot, and this procedure shall be

followed until one nominee receives a

majority of the votes cast.

Each member of Council has one vote
with respect to each of the offices of
president, vice-president and treasurer

By-law
7.3

7.4

7.5

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback. September 8,2023

39

483
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



,. j il tlr

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

Public lnterest Rationale

40

484

DEI: gender neutral language

Recom mended Amendments
The president is the chief officer of CCO

and the vice-president shall assist the
president in the discharge of hl$he+ the
president's duties.

Gurrent CGO By-law
The president is the chief officer of CCO

and the vice-president shall assist the
president in the discharge of his/her
duties.

The president, vice-president or
treasurer, may be removed from office
by a two-thirds vote of the Council at a

special meeting called for that purpose,
and the Council may elect a new
president, vice-president or treasurer
from its members to hold office for the
remainder of the year.

The office of president, vice-president or
treasurer becomes vacant if the holder
of the office dies, resigns or stops being
a council member.

lf the office of the president becomes
vacant, the vice-president shall become
the president for the unexpired term of
the office and the office of vice-
president thereby becomes vacant.

By-law
7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



The President generally has the greatest
experience with all Council members. The
details of the Nominating Committee are
reflected in policy.

For clarity

Recommended Amendments

The president of the Councilshall be the
chair of the Executive Committee and shall
participate in the Nominating Committee.

The Council shall at the its first meeting ef
€eu+eil following the general election,
or as soon thereafter as is practicable,
elect the chairs and members of all
statutory and non-statutory committees
of CCO. lf such elections are not so held,

the chairs and members of the
committees for the preceding year shall

continue until their successors are
elected.

Gurrent CCO By-law
The Council shallfill any vacancy in the
office of vice-president or treasurer
using the procedures in By-law 7 .4 at a

special meeting which the president
shall call for that purpose as soon as

practicable after the vacancy occurs.

The president ofthe Council shall be the
chair of the Executive Committee.

The Council shall at the first meeting of
Council following the general election,
or as soon thereafter as is practicable,
elect the chairs and members of all

statutory and non-statutory committees
of CCO. lf such elections are not so held,

the chairs and members of the
committees for the preceding year shall

continue until their successors are
elected.

By-law
7.70

7.Lt

7.L2

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

41

485
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



i flr lL[]

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

42

486
Public lnterest Rationale
To correct a typographical error

Recommended Amendments
The election of chairs and members of
statutory and non-statutory committees
shall be by secret ballot using generally
accepted democratic procedures, and
where more individuals are nominated
than available positions, the nominee who
receives the lowest number of votes on
each ballot shall be deleted from
nomination and tlis these procedures
shall be repeated until each nominee
receives a majority of the votes cast.

Gurrent GCO By-law
The election of chairs and members of
statutory and non-statutory committees
shall be by secret ballot using generally
accepted democratic procedures, and
where more individuals are nominated
than available positions, the nominee
who receives the lowest number of
votes on each ballot shall be deleted
from nomination and this procedures

shall be repeated until each nominee
receives a majority of the votes cast.

Following the election of a particular
committee, a member of that
committee shall be elected as chair.
Each member of Council has one vote
with respect to the position of chairs of
all statutory and non-statutory
committees.

The chair of any statutory or non-
statutory committee may be filled by an
elected or appointed member of Council
but not by a non-council member of
cco.

By-law
7.r3

7.74

7.15

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law
A chair or committee member of a
statutory or non-statutory committee
may be removed from office by a two-
thirds vote of the Council, with or
without cause, at a special meeting
called for that purpose, and the Council
may elect a new chair to hold the
position for the remainder of the year.

The position of chair of a statutory or
non-statutory committee becomes
vacant if the holder of the position dies,

resigns or stops being a Council
member.

lf the position of chair or committee
member of a statutory or non-statutory
committee becomes vacant, the
Executive Committee shall appoint a

chair or committee member for the
unexpired term of the position.

By-law
7.L6

7.L7

7.18

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

43

487
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I 1.,[!.lr]Ii] .,L.

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

44

488
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CCO By-law

The duties and powers of the Council
include:

(a) administering the RHPA,

Chiroproctic Act and the regulations and
by-laws under those acts;

(b) reviewing the activities of statutory
and non-statutory committees of the
Council and requiring committees to
provide reports and information to the
Council;

(c) requiring statutory and non-
statutory committees of the Council to
do anything that, in the opinion of the
Council, is necessary or advisable to
carry out the intent of the RHPA,

Chiropractic Act, and the regulations
under those acts;

(d) finalizing and proposing
amendments to regulations and by-laws
under the RHPA or the Chiropractic Act.

By-law
7.r9

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended Amendments
The duties and powers of the president of
the Council include:

(a) facilitating the activities of CCO;

(b) chairing meetings of Council;

(c) chairing meetings of the Executive
Committee;

(d) participating in the preparation of
agendas ofthe meetings of Council and

meetings of the Executive Committee;

(e) supervising the arrangements for the
annual meeting;

(f) taking all reasonable steps to ensure

that directions of the Counciland the
Executive Committee are implemented;

(g) ensuring CCO is represented at all

appropriate meetings;

(h) presenting an Executive report at each

Council meeting;

(i) acting as a liaison between CCO and

other professiona I organizations as

appropriate; and

Current CCO By-law
The duties and powers of the president

of the Council include:

(a) facilitating the activities of CCO;

(b) chairing meetings of Council;

(c) chairing meetings of the Executive
Committee;

(d) participating in the preparation of
agendas of the meetings of Council and

meetings of the Executive Committee;

(e) supervising the arrangements for
the annual meeting;

(f) taking all reasonable steps to ensure

that directions of the Council and the
Executive Committee are implemented;

(g) ensuring CCO is represented at all

appropriate meetings;

(h) presenting an Executive report at
each Council meeting;

(i) acting as a liaison between CCO and

other professional organizations as

appropriate; and

By-law
7.20

Proposed By-law Amendments
Aoproved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

45

489
Public Interest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



rL.r{.i. rii-trl . I nl rr l{IEXlltrlllr-lu.l t. lill:l llll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

46

490
Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

Allowing the president to vote is consistent
with a number of other colleges.

Having the President vote last reduces
potential undue influence and facilitates all
Council members having a voice

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

(j) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her the office of
president and such other acts and deeds
as may be decided by Council.

The president, while chairing a Council
meeting or Executive Committee
Meeting, votes enly*e$+ea*+*ie after all
others have voted.

The duties and powers of the vice-
president include:

(a) assuming the role of president in the
absence of the president or when
appointed to do so by the president; and

(b) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining 1e ftis+s+ the office of vice-
president and such other acts and deeds
as may be decided by Council.

Current GGO By-law

(j) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her office and such
other acts and deeds as may be decided
by Council.

The president, while chairing a Council
meeting or Executive Committee
meeting, votes only to break a tie.

The president of Council shall be eligible
for election to a maximum of two
consecutive one-year terms in the
presidency.

The duties and powers of the vice-
president include:

(a) assuming the role of president in the
absence of the president or when
appointed to do so by the president; and

(b) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her office and such
other acts and deeds as may be decided
by Council.

By-law

7.21

7.22

7.23

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

The duties and powers of the treasurer of
the Council include:

(a) overseeing all matters relating to the
financial affairs of CCO; and

(b) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining 16 ffilfisr the office of
treasurer and such other acts and deeds

as may be decided by Council.

The duties and powers of the secretary of
the Council include:

(a) keeping a record of matters that the
Council has referred to the committees;

(b) having custody and care of the records

and documents of the Council;

Current GGO By-law

The vice-president shall be eligible for
election to a maximum of two
consecutive one-year terms in the vice-
presidency.

The duties and powers of the treasurer
of the Council include:

(a) overseeing all matters relating to
the financial affairs of CCO; and

(b) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her office and such

other acts and deeds as may be decided
by Council.

The treasurer shall be eligible for
election to a maximum of two
consecutive one-year terms in the
office.

The duties and powers ofthe secretary
of the Council include:

(a) keeping a record of matters that the
Council has referred to the committees;

(b) having custody and care ofthe
records and documents of the Council;

By.law

7.24

7.25

7.26

7.27

Proposed By-law Amendments
Aoproved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

47

491
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



LL-llrr1]][]l .L- tll_trl ltrl-$Iufi, ll][i. Liut . jilll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

48

492
Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
(c) giving or causing to be given notice of
all council meetings and statutory and
non-statutory committees; and

(d) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her office of secretary
and such other acts and deeds as may be
decided by Council.

The duties and powers of the chairs of
each committee shall include:

(a) facilitating the activities of the
committee and reporting to Council;

(b) chairing meetings of the committee;

Current CCO By-law
(c) giving or causing to be given notice
of all council meetings and statutory and
non-statutory committees; and

(d) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her office and such

other acts and deeds as may be decided
by Council.

The agendas for the meetings of Council
shall be prepared by the Executive
Committee in collaboration with the
registrar and shall include a period
during which council members may raise

for discussion topics relevant to the
affairs of CCO for possible inclusion in
future agendas.

The registrar shall be the secretary of
the Council.

The duties and powers of the chairs of
each committee shall include:

(a) facilitating the activities of the
committee and reporting to Council;

(b) chairing meetings of the committee;

By-law

7.28

7.29

7.30

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended Amendments
(c) participating in the preparation of
agendas of the meetings of the
committee;

(d) taking all reasonable steps to ensure
that directions of the committee are
implemented;

(e) acting as a liaison between the
Council or Executive Committee and the
committee;

(f) reporting to the Executive
Committee upon reasonable request by
the Executive;

(g) reporting in writing to the Council at

the meetings of Council on the activities
of the committee for the preceding year;

(h) preparing a work plan for the
subsequent year, which includes all

budgetary requirements for the
committee, by November 1 of each and
every year, or by such other time as

directed by Council;

Current GCO By-law
(c) participating in the preparation of
agendas of the meetings of the
committee;

(d) taking all reasonable steps to ensure
that directions of the committee are
implemented;

(e) acting as a liaison between the
Council or Executive Committee and the
committee;

(f) reporting to the Executive
Committee upon reasonable request by
the Executive;

(g) reporting in writing to the Council at

the meetings of Council on the activities
of the committee for the preceding year;

(h) preparing a work plan for the
subsequent year, which includes all

budgetary requirements for the
committee, by November l" of each and
every year, or by such other time as

directed by Council;

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

49

493
Public Interest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



l.llllllll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

50

494
Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
(i) ensuring the activities of the
committee are conducted in a fiscally
responsible manner within approved
budgetary restraints; and

(j) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to @$s+ th. office of chair
and such other acts and deeds as may be

decided by Council.

Current GGO By-law
(i) ensuring the activities of the
committee are conducted in a fiscally
responsible manner within approved
budgetary restraints; a nd

(j) performing all acts and deeds
pertaining to his/her office and such

other acts and deeds as may be decided
by Council.

The chair of every statutory and non-
statutory committee shall be eligible for
election to a maximum of two
consecutive one-year terms.

By-law

7.3L

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Aooroved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv.mW 8: GOUI,ICIL AND GOIVIIUITTEE MEETINGS

51

495

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law
The Council shall hold,

(a) an annual meeting which shall be

called bythe president between April 1
and June 30 of each year;

(b) regular meetings which shall be

called by the president from time to
time; and

(c) any special meetings which may be

called the by the president, or a majority
of council members, who deposit with
the registrar a written request for the
meeting containing specifics of the
matter or matters for decision at the
meeting.

By-law
8.1

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I r. .x-L illL -r-..u] r ixllEmllmrll.... lll.t r- I tll.... r _llll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

52

496
Public lnterest Rationale

Best practices: This should encourage
Council members to remind themselves of
the competencies before electing the chair
and members of each committee

Recommended Amendments

The reeistrar shall cause to be included in

or with the notification to council
members of the first meetins, and anv
other meeting if appointment of a chair or
m^-h^' 

^f 
6 

^^ mmittee is on the da

a copv of the Competencies for Council
and Committee Members and Peer

Assessors

Current CCO By-law
The registrar shall cause each council
member to be notified in writing of the
place, date and time of a council
meeting by sending such notification by

ordinary prepaid mail, facsimile, e-mail
or similarly effective method at least,

(a) 30 days before an annual meeting;

(b) 14 days before a regular meeting;
and

{c) five days before a special meeting.

The registrar shall cause to be included
in or with the notification of all meetings
to council members, the agenda for the
meeting.

By-law
8.2

8.3

8.4.1.

(New)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



DEI: gender neutral language

For clarity

Recommended Amendments
The registrar shall cause to be included in

or with the notification of a special
meeting to council members sufficient
information about the matter or matters
for decision contained in the requisition of
the meeting deposited with him/her the
registrar to permit the member to form a

reasonable judgment.

The registrar shall cause the public to be

notified of council meetings in accordance
with afiyp+€vis+e,ns req u i rem ents
prescribed underthe RHPA,il anv, and, if

et+enrvis,e*peei+e+ none, in a g€n€{+tly
aeeepted similar manner.

Current CCO By-law
The registrar shall cause to be included
in or with the notification of a special

meeting to council members sufficient
information about the matter or matters
for decision contained in the requisition
of the meeting deposited with him/her
to permit the member to form a

reasonable judgment.

The registrar shall cause the public to be

notified of council meetings in
accordance with any provisions under
lhe RHPA and, if there are not applicable
regulations or not otherwise specified,

in a generally accepted manner.

No annual, regular or special meeting
shall be made void because of an

inadvertent or accidental error or
omission in giving notice. ln addition,
any council member may waive the
notice requirements and ratify, approve
and confirm any proceedings taken at
the meeting.

By-law
8.4.2

8.5

8.6

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

53

497
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



.. r]LlLlulx ..!,IL ['nlx-Ilmil --iL.lllrl].lLl..i.l-11-L--,.-,-

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

54

498
Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity and consistency with By-law 8.18

Allowing the president to vote is consistent
with a number of other colleges.

Having the President vote last reduces
potential undue influence and facilitates all
Council members having a voice

Recommended Amendments
Subiect to Bv-law 8.1-8, everv meeting of
the Council shalltake place in Ontario at a

place, date and time designated by the
president or the majority of council
members calling the meeting but, if a

place, date or time is not designated or is
incompatible with the by-laws, the
registrar shall select a place, date and time
compatible with the by-laws which is as
etesea+ne#+e-ean reasonably seleet
close to the place, date and time
Cesigne*ed requested by the person or
people calling the meeting.

Unless otheruvise required by law or by-
law, every question which properly
comes before the Council may be

decided by a simple majority of the
votes cast at the meeting by council
members,@

a+eeiging-yete includ i ne the P resident
who votes last on every question.

Current GCO By-law
Meeting of the Council shall take place

in Ontario at a place, date and time
designated by the president or the
majority of council members calling the
meeting but, if a place, date or time is

not designated or is incompatible with
the by-laws, the registrar shall select a

place, date and time compatible with
the by-laws which is as close as he/she
can reasonably select to the place, date
and time designated by the person or
people calling the meeting.

Unless otherwise required by law or by-
law, every question which properly
comes before the Council may be
decided by a simple majority of the
votes cast at the meeting by council
members, and, if there is an equal
number of votes on a question, the chair
may cast a deciding vote.

Voting at a council meeting shall be by a

show of hands, or if appropriate, by
secret ballot.

Voting by proxy at council meetings shall
not be permitted in any circumstances.

By-law
8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GCO By-law
The Council shall consider or transact at
the annual meeting:

(a) the annual report for the preceding
year;

(b) the reports of the committees
established under the RHPA;

(c) the financial statement of CCO;

(d) the report of the auditor; and

(e) the appointment of the auditors for
the ensuing year.

By-law
8.11

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

55

499
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



tL,IL dlli . ! rtlL.rr,)ilrlI[rililmr t.ttrl l. lfiL LLlllll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

56

500
Public I nterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law

The Council may consider or transact at
a regular meeting:

(a) matters brought by the Executive
Committee;

(b) reports by statutory committees;

(c) reports by non-statutory
committees which have received prior
review by the Executive Committee;

(d) any motion notice of which has

been delivered in writing to the
Registrar at least 30 days before the
Council meeting and which the majority
of Council members present and voting
at the meeting view as warranting
Council discussion; and

(e) any other business that the majority
of Council members present and voting
at the meeting view as urgent and
requiring Council's immediate attention.

The Council may only consider or
transact at a special meeting, the matter
or matters for decision at the meeting
contained in the requisition deposited
with the registrar.

By-law
8.12

8.13

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GGO By-law
The president shall cause a record ofthe
proceedings of the council meeting
including all motions and
recommendations to be recorded, and

the written record of the Council
meeting, when signed by any two of the
president, vice-president, treasurer or
registrar, is prima facie proof of the
accuracy of the contents of every such

record.

The written record of the proceedings of
a council meeting when accepted at a

subsequent council meeting, subject to
any corrections made at such

subsequent meeting, is conclusive proof
of the accuracy of the contents of every
such record.

Whether or not a quorum is present, the
president may adjourn any council

meeting and reconvene it at any time
and from time to time and, if a quorum
is present at any reconvened meeting,
any matter may be considered and

transacted which could have been
transacted at the original meeting which
was adjourned.

By-law

8.14

8.15

8.16

Proposed By-law Amendments
Aooroved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

57

501
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



r irUl Ul!.lL

Public lnterest Rationale

rr llll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

58

502
Recommended AmendmentsCurrent CCO By-law

The rules of order for council meetings
adopted from time to time by Council
shall guide the conduct of its meetings.

Any meeting of the Council or of a

committee or of a panel that is held for
any purpose other than for the
conducting of a hearing, except as

permitted under the Stotutory Powers
Procedure Act, may be held in any
manner that allows all persons
participating to communicate with each

other simultaneously and
insta ntaneously.

Persons participating in the meeting, as

outlined in By-law 8.L8, are deemed to
be present at the meeting.

Notice of a meeting held under By-law
8.18 shall not specify a place for the
meeting but rather the means by which
the meeting will be conducted.

ByJaw
8.r7

8.18

8.19

8.20

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsGurrent GCO By-law
The chair of any committee conducting
meetings by conference call shall:

(a) consult with CCO to staff in the
calling of a meeting and the preparation
of an agenda for the meeting;

(b) ensure minutes are kept; and

(c) record the time spent on the
meetings.

By-law
8.2!

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

59

503
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



-1l--lhl|ll Lil r[ ]l]-UJmfi-:illL.ll1[l]L llill

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

By.IRw 9: ReUUNERATIoN

60

504

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law
The per diems and reasonable expenses
paid by CCO to committee members are
intended to partially off-set the cost of a

contribution to the profession of
chiropractic rather than to pay for
services rendered or to compensate for
lost income or the opportunity to earn
income. "Committee members" means
elected council members and non-
council members of statutory and non-
statutory committees.

Subject to other direction by Council,
the president of the Council will receive
an annual honorarium of thirty-five
thousand dollars (S35,000) payable no
later than one year afterthe date the
president takes office. ln the event the
president's tenure is less than one year,

the president will receive a pro-rated
amount

Committee members are entitled to the
remuneration outlined in the chart
below:

By-law
9.1

9.2

9.3

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recomrnended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law
Allowable
Claim
effective
September
24,2009

Attendance
per diem:
$400
Preparation
per diem:
Chairs: $350
Others: $200

One-half
attendance
per diem:
$200
One-half
preparation
per diem:
Chairs: $175
Others: $100

Description

lCommittee
members; full-
day meeting
or hearing;
meeting in
excess of
three hours

2Committee
members,
meeting or
hearing
lasting less
than three
hours

3Conference
callmeetings:
applicable full
or one-half
day
attendance
and
preparation
per diem and
reasonable

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

61

505
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



. l-lLr-tn lllll

Public lnterest Rationale

ll1. r[ lt[l],. Ul1

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

62

506
Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GCO By-law

By-law 9.3, as it relates to payment of
per diems and reasonable expenses,
applies to Discipline Committee and
Fitness to Practise Committee members
who perform duties, such as conducting
pre-hearing conferences or hearing pre-
hearing motions.

Travel per
diem: $300

One-half
travel per
diem:
$1 50

(e.9., long
distance
charges, as
outlined in
CCO lnternal
Policy l-012)

4Travel time
of more than
three hours
(round trip) for
allcommittee
members

STraveltime
of more than
one hour and
less than
three hours
(round trip) for
allcommittee
members

By-law

9.4

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



For clarity

Recommended Amendments

A member who is the principal author of a

decision of the Discipline Committee,
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee or the Fitness to Practise

Committee de€isio{+ may charge one
attendance per diem for at least three
accumulated hours of work to a maximum
of three per diems, but no preparation per

diem, travel per diem or meal expenses.

The following conditions apply to the
remu neration entitlement of comm ittee
members:

Committee members may claim for a full
day attendance per diem when a

meeting or hearing is in excess of three
hours.

Committee members may claim for a

half day attendance per diem when a

meeting or hearing is in excess of one

hour but is not in excess of three hours

ln extenuating circumstances, and

subject to the approval ofthe Executive

Committee, two attendance per diems
may be claimed for one calendar day.

Per Diems and Reasonable Expenses

Current CCO By-law

A member who is the principal author of
a Discipline, lnquiries, Complaints and

Reports or Fitness to Practise
Committee decision may charge one

attendance per diem for at least three
accumulated hours of work to a

maximum of three per diems, but no
preparation per diem, travel per diem or
meal expenses.

The following conditions apply to the
remuneration entitlement of committee
members:

Committee members may claim for a full
day attendance per diem when a

meeting or hearing is in excess of three
hours.

Committee members may claim for a

half day attendance per diem when a

meeting or hearing is in excess of one
hour but is not in excess of three hours

ln extenuating circumstances, and
subject to the approval ofthe Executive

Committee, two attendance per diems
may be claimed for one calendar day.

Per Diems and Reasonable Expenses

By-law
9.5

9.6

Proposed By-law Amendments
by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

63
Approved

507
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



- --.l_tl-r.u] -:, r r trlllmllmlllr -llrtil t.LIljr. ]il1

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

64

508
Pu blic lnterest Rationab

To correct error

Recommended Amendments
Extenuating circumstances include
committee members being called to an

emergency meeting with less than 48
hours notice which requires them to
forfeit office time.

Attendance for Full Duration of
Scheduled Meeting

ln order to be eligible for the
appropriate attendance per diem, a

council or committee member shall
attend the full duration of the scheduled
meeting. lf extenuating circumstances
apply which necessitate leaving a

meeting earlier than the scheduled end
time, the council or committee member
shall communicate this in writing to the
Chair of the meeting.

Reasonable expenses, as outlined in CCO

lnternal Policy l-012, and attendance per
diems may be claimed to attend
conferences, educational sessions,

speaking engagements or other functions
directly related to CCO business provided
prior approval is obtained from the
Executive Committee.

Current GGO By-law
Extenuating circumstances include
committee members being called to an
emergency meeting with less than 48
hours notice which requires them to
forfeit office time.

Attendance for Full Duration of
Scheduled Meeting

ln order to be eligible for the
appropriate attendance per diem, a

council or committee shall attend the
full duration of the scheduled meeting.
lf extenuating circumstances apply
which necessitate leaving a meeting
earlier than the scheduled end time, the
council or committee member shall
communicate this in writing to the Chair
of the meeting.

Reasonable expenses, as outlined in CCO

lnternal Poliry l-012, and attendance per
diems may be claimed to attend
conferences, educational sessions,
speaking engagements or other
functions directly related to CCO

business provided prior approval is

obtained from the Executive Committee.

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended Amendments

Cancellation of Meetings/Hearings

A one-half attendance per diem may be

claimed in the event of the cancellation or
adjournment of an official meeting
without one week's advance notice being
given, subject to the discretion of the
Executive Committee:

(a) A full attendance per diem but no

travel per diem or meal expenses may

be claimed in the event of the
cancellation or adjournment of a

Discipline or Fitness to Practise hearing,

without four weeks advance notice
being given, provided that the
committee member was required, as a

result of the scheduled hearing, to make

alternate office arrangements in order
to be available for the hearing. Unless

the committee member ordinarily has

office time on Saturdays or Sundays, no
per diem will be permitted for the
cancellation or adjournment of hearings

scheduled on Saturdays or Sundays.

Current CCO By-law

Cancellation of Meetings/Hearings

A one-half attendance per diem may be

claimed in the event of the cancellation
or adjournment of an official meeting
without one week's advance notice
being given, subject to the discretion of
the Executive Committee:

(a) A full attendance per diem but no

travel per diem or meal expenses may

be claimed in the event of the
cancellation or adjournment of a

Discipline or Fitness to Practise hearing,

without four weeks advance notice
being given, provided that the
committee member was required, as a

result of the scheduled hearing, to make

alternate office arrangements in order
to be available for the hearing. Unless

the committee member ordinarily has

office time on Saturdays or Sundays, no
per diem will be permitted for the
cancellation or adjournment of hearings
scheduled on Saturdays or Sundays.

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

65

509
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



.-'Lrlll LrIl

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

66

510
Public lnterest Ratimale
DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
(b) A full attendance per diem including
a travel per diem and meal expenses may
be claimed in the event a Discipline or
Fitness to Practise Committee member
attends what helshs-a'qti€ipat€s it
anticipated to be a full day hearing even if
the hearing is disposed of prior to the
expiration of three hours, provided the
committee member was required as a

result of the scheduled hearing to make
alternate office arrangements in order to
be available for a full day hearing.

Conference Calls

Committees are encouraged to conduct
meetings wherever possible and
practicable by conference call; committee
members will receive the appiopriate
attendance and preparation per diems
and reasonable expenses for such

meetings and payment of long-distance
charges but will not receive a travel per
diem.

Preparation Time

Preparation time may only be claimed if
preparation is in fact required forthe
meeting/event/hearing being attended.

Current CCO By-law
(b) A full attendance per diem including
a travel per diem and meal expenses
may be claimed in the event a Discipline
or Fitness to Practise Committee
member attends what he/she
anticipates to be a full day hearing even
if the hearing is disposed of prior to the
expiration of three hours, provided the
committee member was required as a

result of the scheduled hearing to make
alternate office arrangements in order
to be available for a full day hearing.

Conference Calls

Committees are encouraged to conduct
meetings wherever possible and
practicable by conference call;
committee members will receive the
appropriate attendance and preparation
per diems and reasonable expenses for
such meetings and payment of long-
distance charges but will not receive a

travel per diem.

Preparation Time

Preparation time may only be claimed if
preparation is in fact required for the
meeting/event/hearing being atte nded.

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsGurrent CGO By-law
At the discretion of Council, this by-law
9 applies to Non-Chiropractic
Committee Members with necessary
modifications.

By-law
9.7

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

67

51 1
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



._ I T llr

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv-mw 1 0: lruoeMNrFrcATroN

68

512

Public lnterest Rationale
DEI: gender neutral language

Recom mended Amendments
gve+y-memler+++ne Cou nci I mem be rs,

Committee memberg officerg, employeetr
agentg and appointeeg of CCO, including
assessors, investigators and inspectors,
and each of his er her their heirs,
executors and administrators and estateg,
respectively, shall from time to time and
at alltimes be indemnified and saved

harmless out of the funds of CCO from
and against:

(a) all costs, charges, expenses, awards
and damages whatsoever that he er she

thev sustains or incurs in any action, suit
or proceeding that is brought, commenced
or prosecuted against him er her them. for
or in respect of any act, deed, omission,
matter or thing whatsoever, made done or
permitted by him-er*e+ them, in the
execution of the duties of his er her their
office; and
(b) all other ethe+ reasonable costs,
charges, expenses, awards and damages
that he er she thev sustains or incurs in or
in relation to the affairs of CCO, except
such costs, charges, expenses, awards or
damages as are occasioned by their own
willful neglect or default.

Current CGO By-law
Every member of the Council,
Com mittee mem ber, officer, employee,
agent and appointee of CCO, including
assessors, investigators and inspectors,
and each of his or her heirs, executors
and administrators and estate,
respectively, shallfrom time to time and
at all times be indemnified and saved
harmless out of the funds of CCO from
and against:

(a) all costs, charges, expenses, awards
and damages whatsoever that he or she
sustains or incurs in any action, suit or
proceeding that is brought, commenced
or prosecuted against him or her, for or
in respect of any act, deed, omission,
matter or thing whatsoever, made done
or permitted by him or her, in the
execution of the duties of his or her
office; and
(b) all other other reasonable costs,
charges, expenses, awards and damages
that he or she sustains or incurs in or in
relation to the affairs of CCO,

except such costs, charges, expenses,
awards or damages as are occasioned by
their own willful neglect or default.

By-law
10.1

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent CCO By-law
CCO will purchase and maintain
insurance to protect itself and its
members of Council, Committee
members, officers, employees, agents or
appointees and to provide coverage for
the indemnity referred to in By-law 1-0.1

By-law
LO.2

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

69

513
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



l{i-ilrltu Jl.tlLLl I rlilllImlm[.-1fl..]Ll[tf..!lni]

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv-nw 11: CoruMrrrEE GortaposrnoN

70

514

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CGO By-law
The Executive Committee, inclusive of
the president, vice-president and
treasurer, shall be composed of the
following:

(a) Four members of Council who are
members of CCO;

(b) Three members of Council who are
appointed by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council;

The president of the Council shall be the
chair of the Executive Committee.

The Registration Committee shall be
composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are
members of CCO; and

(b) two members of Councils appointed
to the Council by the Lieutenant
Governor in Council.

By-law
LL.L

1.1,.2

11.3

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GGO By-law
The lnquiries, Complaints and Reports

Committee shall be composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are

members of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed
to Council by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council; and

(c) one member of CCO who is not a

member of Council.

The Discipline Committee shall be

composed of:

(a) every member of Council; and

(b) up to three members of CCO who
are not members of Council.

The Fitness to Practise Committee shall
be composed of every member of
Council.

By-law
11..4

11.5

11.6

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

71

515
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments

I I tli -LllL-Llt!![lm]trflI l.l[IL r. n il 1

72
Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

516
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CCO By-law

The Quality Assurance Committee shall
be composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are
members of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed
to Council by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council; and

(c) one member of CCO who is not a

member of Council.

The Patient Relations Committee shall
be composed of:

(a) one member of Council who is a

member of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed
to Council by the Lieutenant Governor in

Council; and

(c) two members of CCO who are not
members of Council.

By-law
1.1..7

11.8

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



lnclusion of reference to Nominating
Committee in by-laws

For clarity

Recommended Amendments
Council may, by resolution, establish non-

statuto ry com m ittees;lq i1 
glgggbu'Llq!

be limited to a Nominatine Committee.
For each non-statutory committee,
Council shall specify in the resolution the
duties and responsibilities of the
committee, its composition and its

termination date or event.

tn-CfFlawl+pespite the use in this Bv-law

lL of a definite number of committee
members in any category, Council may
appoint additional committee members in
any category, except forthe Executive

Committee or the Discipline Committee.

Current GCO By-law
Council may, by resolution, establish
non-statutory committees. For each

non-statutory comm ittee, Council shall

specify in the resolution the duties and
responsibilities of the committee, its
composition and its termination date or
event.

A committee is still properly constituted
if it has vacancies so long as a quorum
remains. Unless otherwise specified by

the Code, three members of a
committee constitute quoru m.

By-laws 8.18 to 8.2L (electronic

meetings) applies to committee
meetings.

ln By-law 11, despite the use of a

definite number of committee members
in any category, Council may appoint
additional committee members in any
category, except for the Executive
Committee or the Discipline Committee.

By-law
11.9

11.10

L1..tl

1.L.12

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

73

517
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



r lr nr rlll I r;4IEIlEry r[ il.It tti_._ _ _

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

74

518
Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
ln-By-law-l4 Desp ite the use in this Bv-law
11 of a definite number of committee
members in any category, Council may
appoint alterative committee members in
any category. An alternative committee
member may attend meetings and
participate in discussions but shall not
vote unless a full committee member in

the same category as the alternative is

unable to participate in the matter,
including if he/she th" full .orr',a""
member has a conflict of interest.

Gurrent CCO By-law
ln By-law 11, despite the use of a

definite number of committee members
in any category, Council may appoint
alterative committee members in any
category. An alternative committee
member may attend meetings and
participate in discussions but shall not
vote unless a full committee member in

the same category as the alternative is
unable to participate in the matter,
including if he/she has a conflict of
interest.

Despite any other provision of this By-

Law 1-1, the Council may also appoint
one or more Non-Chiropractic
Committee Members to any committee
other than the Executive Committee.

By-law
1L.1_3

r1..14

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv+aw 12: AppoTNTMENT oF Nott-CouNctL MeMerRs

75

519

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent GCO By-law
This by-law applies with respect to the
appointment of members who are not
members of the Council to a committee
of CCO.

The Council shall appoint members to
committees in the numbers prescribed

by By-law 1L.

The Council shall make the
appointments at the first regular council
meeting after each regular council
election or as soon thereafter as is

practicable.

The Council may make appointments
from time to time to fill any vacancy

created by the disqualification, death or
resignation of a member appointed
under this by-law.

By-law
12.t

L2.2

12.3

L2.4

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

" , I E irrl

Public lnterest Rationale

76

520

For clarity

Recommended Amendments

A non-council member may enJy serve on
CCO committees for onlv nine consecutive
years, whether the time is served as a

council member or as a non council
member.

Gurrent GCO By-law
ln making the appointments, the Council
shall take into account location and type
of practice, experience, professional
qualifications and skills, and other
qualifications and characteristics of
members to complement the attributes
of members of the committees who are
members of Council.

The term of office of a committee
member who is not a member of the
Council is approximately one year
starting on the date the appointment is

made, except where an appointment is

made to fill a vacancy in which the
person appointed shall complete the
term of the previous appointee.

A non-council member may only serve
on CCO committees for nine consecutive
years, whether the time is served as a

council member or as a non council
member.

By-law
L2.5

12.6

12.7

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Best practices: the risk of inconsistency can

be reduced by cross-referencing rather than
repeating the requirements

Recommended Amendments

A member is eligible for appointment to a
committee if, on the date of the
appointment the member meets the
requirements prescribed in Bv-law 6.9 for
election to Council.

ie;

lervt

@i*

rcq+ired+V+eg;

Current CGO By-law
A non-council member who has served
on CCO committee (s) for nine
consecutive years is not eligible to be re-
appointed to any CCO committee until
at least three years have passed since
the member last served on a CCO

Committee.

A member is eligible for appointment to
a committee if, on the date of the
appointment:

(a) The member has his/her primary
practice of chiropractic located in
Ontario, or if the member is not
engaged in the practice of chiropractic,
has his/her primary residence located in
Ontario;

(b) the member is not in default of
payment of any fees prescribed by by-
law or any fine or order for costs to CCO

imposed by a CCO committee or court of
law;

(c) the member is not in default in
completing and returning any form
required bv CCO;

By-law
12.8

72.9

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

77

521
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

.ll|--l!.]lrL

Public lnterest Rationale

78

522
Recommended Amendments

ins

@
pre€edin€€ix+€a{+

feur menths,

iee+

c

ieer
er direeter ef the ecn; CCn, eCP+ n Fe,

F€C

(g) the member is net an effkert direeter
ie

@

Gurrent CGO By-law

(d) the member is not subject of any
disciplinary or incapacity proceeding;

(e) a finding of professional misconduct,
incompetence or incapacity has not
been made against the member in the
preceding six years;

(e.1 )the member has not resigned from
a position on Council, before completing
their term, within the last three years

and four months.

(f) the member is not an employee,
officer or director of any professional
chiropractic association such that a real
or apparent conflict of interest may
arise, including but not limited to being
an employee, officer or director of the
ocA, ccA, ccPA, AFc, ccEB, cscE or the
Accreditation Standards and Policies
Committee or the CCEC of the FCC.

(g)the member is not an officer,
director or administrator of any
chiropractic educational institution,
including but not limited to CMCC or
UQTR;

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Best practices: the risk of inconsistency can

be reduced by cross-referencing rather than
repeating the requirements

Recommended Amendments

@
@

sir++ee+st

The Council shall disqualify a member
appointed to a committee from sitting on

the committss if+h€.m€fib€# for anv

reason prescribed in Bv-law 5.29.

€emmittee;

P+a€ti€€4€mm+tt€€;

Current CGO By-law
(h) the member has not been
disqualified from the Council or a
committee of the Council in the previous

six years;

(i) the member is not a member of
Council or of a committee of the College

of any other health profession; and

(j) the member has not been a member
of CCO's staff at any time within the
preceding three years.

The Council shall disqualify a member
appointed to a committee from sitting
on the committee if the member:

(a) is the subject of any disciplinary or
inca pacity proceeding;

(b) is found to have committed an act of
professional misconduct or is found to
be incompetent by a panel of the
Discipline Committee;

(c) is found to be an incapacitated
member by a panel of the Fitness to
Practice Committee;

By-law

T2.IO

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

79

523
Public I nterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



. - I lrllrl

Recommended Amendments

@is+
member; witheut reasenable eause in the
epinie+e+geuneit

witheut reasenable eause in the epinien ef
*e+euneib

@ieer+r
ie

iee+

er direeter ef the OCA; €€A; €€PA; AFe;

and Pelieies €emmittee er the C€E€ ef the
Fee,

pre+essiee

Current GCO By-law

(d) fails to attend two consecutive
meetings of the committee or of a

subcommittee in which he/she is a

member, without reasonable cause in
the opinion of Council;

(e) fails to attend a hearing or review of
a panel for which he/she has been
selected; without reasonable cause in
the opinion of the Council;

(f) becomes an employee, officer or
director of any professional chiropractic
association such that a real or apparent
conflict of interest may arise, including
but not limited to being an employee,
officer or director of the OCA, CCA,

CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE or the
Accreditation Standards and Policies
committee orthe ccEc of the Fcc;

(g) becomes an officer, director or
administrator of any chiropractic
educational institution, including but not
limited to CMCC or UQTR;

(h) becomes a member of the Council
of CCO or a committee of any other
health profession;

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

80

524
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended Amendments

@
in

@ivin€
netiee te the member ef the eeneern and

@

ine+r
ine

€effi+it+ee;-er

Current CCO By-law

(i) breaches the conflict of interest
provision(s) for members of Council and

committees, in the opinion of the
Council after giving notice to the
member of the concern and giving the
member an opportunity to respond to
the concern;

(j) fails to discharge properly or
honestly any office to which he/she has

been appointed or engages in conduct
unbecoming of a committee member, in

the opinion of the Council after giving

notice to the member of the concern
and giving the member an opportunity
to respond to the concern;

(k) becomes in default of payment of
any fees prescribed by by-law or any
fine or order for costs imposed by the
Discipline Committee; or

(l) becomes in default of completing
and returning any form required by CCO.

A non-council committee member shall
resign from a committee prior to
applying for any CCO staff position.

By-law

12.TL

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

81

525
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I ltr[] llrll r,-IriNrl.nllEHfi$L,.lrllr.t|lfit. i..llll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

82

526
Public Interest Rationa eRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CCO By-law

A member who is disqualified under this
by-law from sitting on a committee
ceases to be a member of the
committee.

By-law
12.12

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

Bv-uw 13: Fees

83

527

Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

Addition of certificate fee for Emergency
certificate

Recommended Amendments
The fee +e+apptying pavable to applv for
each class of certificate of registration is as

follows:

(a) General certificate: 552

(b) Temporary certificate: S52

(c) Retired certificate: NIL

(d) lnactive certificate: 552, unless the
applicant already has a general certificate,
in which case the application is NIL

(e) Emersencv certificate: S52

The application fee is non-refundable.

Gurrent GCO By-law
The fee for applying for each class of
certificate of registration is as follows

(a) General certificate: 552

(b) Temporary certificate: $52

(c) Retired certificate: NIL

(d) lnactive certificate: $52, unless the
applicant already has a general

certificate, in which case the application
is NIL

The application fee is non-refundable.

By-law
13.1

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



:l x,lll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

84

528
Public lnterest Rationale

ir it

To correct tyfographical errors

Addition of application fee for Emergency
certificate

Recommended Amendments
ln addition to the application fee and the
annual fee, an applicant for registration
must pay the following initial certificate
fee:

(a) For a general certificate of
registration: S340

(b) For a temporary certificate of
reeistration to actively practise

ch i ropractic i n O nta rio ef+egist+atje*:

slss

(c) For a temporary certificate of
registration to participate in a specific
event in Ontario: NIL

(d) For an inactive certificate of
registration: $340

(e) For a retired certificate of registration
NIL

{fl For an emersencv certificate of
resistration: S340

Gurrent CCO By-law
ln addition to the application fee and
the annual fee, an applicant for
registration must pay the following
initial certificate fee.

(a) For a general certificate of
registration: $340

(b) For a temporary certificate to
actively practise chiropractic in Ontario
of registration: StSS

(c) For a temporary certificate of
registration to participate in a specific
event in Ontario: NIL

(d) For an inactive certificate of
registration: S340

(e) For a retired certificate of
registration: NIL

By-law
L3.2

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Exemption from general certificate and
application fees if emergency certificate and
application fees have already been paid

For clarity

DEI: gender neutral language

Consistent language

Recommended Amendments
A member reeistered in the emereencv
class of resistration who is issued a

eeneral certificate of registration is

exemot from oavins the certificate fee and

application fee for a general certificate of
registration.

An applicant for a general certificate of
registration who, within six months prior
to making the application, has completed
the requirements for graduation from a

chiropractic education program that is

accred ited or received the+ulied+f
reciprocal recognition by the CCEC $ilt+ifi

io{+

is exempted from paying the prescribed
annual fee for the year in which the
certificate is issued.

Every member except a member who
holds a temporary certificate of
registration shall pay an annual fee.

Gurrent GGO By-law

An applicant for a general certificate of
registration who has completed the
requirements for graduation from a

chiropractic education program that is

accredited or the subject of reciprocal
recognition by the CCEC within the six
months prior to his/her application is

exempted from paying the prescribed
annual fee for the year in which the
certificate is issued.

A member who holds a general

certificate of registration is exempted
from paying the prescribed certificate
and annual fees for an inactive
certificate of registration for the year in
which the inactive certificate is issued.

Every member except a member who
holds a temporary certificate shall pay

an annual fee.

By-law
13.3
(new)

13.3
13.4

13.4
13.5

L3.5
13.6

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

85

529 r

Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



LlrLliu.l

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

86

530
Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
The annualfee is 51100 for a member
who holds a general certificate of
registration, 5550 for the first renewal of a

member who holds a general certificate of
registration@
@s+gSfora
member who holds an inactive certificate
of registration and S10S for a member
who holds a retired certificate of
registration.

Gurrent CCO By-law
The annual fee is 51100 for a member
who holds a general certificate of
registration, 5550 for a member who
holds a general certificate of registration
who is renewing his/her license for the
first time, S+gS for a member who holds
an inactive certificate of registration and

S1OS for a member who holds a retired
certificate of regist ration.

Council may, without, amending these
by-laws, adjust the amount of any fees
or penalties in By-law 13 to reflect
annual changes to the Cost of Living
Adjustment (Ontario).

The annual fee for a member who holds
a general certificate of registration may
be paid in two instalments on January 1't
and June 1't of each year in amounts to
be set by the registrar.

ByJaw
13.6
L3.7

13.7
13.8

1_3.8

13.9

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsGurrent GCO By-law
No later than 60 days before the annual

fee or the first instalment of the annual
fee is due, the registrar shall notify the
member of:

(a) the amount of the annual fee or, if
the member is paying by instalment, the
amounts of the first and second
instalments;

(b) the date on which the annualfee or
each of the instalments is due; and

(c) the penalty for late payment.

lf a member fails to pay the annual fee
or an instalment on or before the day on

which it is due, the member shall pay a
penalty in addition to the annualfee.

The penalty referred to in By-law 13.L0
is 5105 for a member who holds a

general certificate of registration, S20
for a member who holds an inactive
certificate of registration, and SZO for a

member who holds a retired certificate
of registration.

By-law
13.9
13.10

13.10

13.11

13.11
L3.L2

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

87

531
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



- ! nl ili

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

88

532
Public Interest Rationale

There may be fees associated with SCERPs

The cost burden should be born by the
member

Recommended Amendments

Where a member is reouired to comolete
a Specified Continuins Education or
Remediation Proeram (SCERP), the
member shall oav the orescribed fee or
the fee set bv the registrar.

Gurrent CGO By-law
Where a person requests the registrar to
do anything the registrar is required or
authorized to do by statute or by
regulation, the person shall pay the
prescribed fee or the fee set by the
registrar for doing so.

lf the registrar suspends a member's
certificate of registration for failure to
pay a prescribed fee, the registrar may
lift the suspension on payment of:

(a) the fee the member failed to pay;

(b) the annual fee for the year in which
the suspension is to be lifted if it is not
the same fee as clause (a); and

(c) any applicable penalty.

By-law
L3.12
L3.13

1.3.r4
(new)

13.13
13.15

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GCO By-law
A member whose certificate of
registration was revoked for failure to
pay a fee and who applies to be

reinstated is required to pay:

(a) an application fee of S52;

(b) the annual fees and any applicable
penalties the member failed to pay up

to the date of revocation; and

(c) the annual fee for the year in which
the member wishes to be reinstated.

The registrar may grant a partial
exemption from the fees payable by a

member pursuant to this by-law if the
committee is satisfied that extraordinary
circumstances exist which justify the
exemption.

The amount payable by a member who
applies for reinstatement of a retired
certificate of registration is SS2.

By-law
13.L4
13.15

13.L5
13.r7

13.16
13.18

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

89

533
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



. .lL: ih.Irln .. 1 ! rtFwmilr.-ll$t_l.l1l[.l....llll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

90

534
Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

For clarity

Recommended Amendments
+he Afee of S52 is payable for each

follow-up letters, emails or other
notifications to a member who has not
complied with a request from CCO, such

as a request:

(a) to make available the members'
professional portfolio to the Quality
Assurance Committee,

(b) to participate in the peer and practice
assessment component of the Quality
Assurance Program,

(c) to explain an advertisement that does
not appear to comply with CCO

regulations or guidelines despite previous

advice or caution to the member.
isSS2+€{-ht+er"

Where lf CCO presents a continuing
education or professional development
program or course, CCO shall determine
whether any fee shall be charged for that
course and if so, what the fee shall be.

Current CCO By-law
The fee for follow-up letters, emails or
other notifications to a member who
has not complied with a request from
CCO, such as a request:

(a) to make available the members'
professional portfolio to the Quality
Assurance Committee,

(b) to participate in the peer and
practice assessment component of the
Quality Assu rance Program,

(c) to explain an advertisement that
does not appear to comply with CCO

regulations or guidelines despite
previous advice or caution to the
member,

is $52 per letter

Where CCO presents a continuing
education or professional development
program or course, CCO shall determine
whether any fee shall be charged for
that course and if so, what the fee shall
be.

By-law
13.17
13.19

13.18
13.20

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



For clarity

For clarity

For clarity

Recommended Amendments
The A fee of S52 is pavable for the each

application for a certificate of
authorization of a professional

corporation, inektains€n-any and for each

aoolication for reinstatement of a

ce rtificate of a uthorization.rfu+*
Brefessienal eerperetien is $52,

The A fee of 5625 is pavable for the each

issuance of a certificate of authorization of
a professiona I corporation. i+$525'

The A fee of 5210 is pavable for the each

annual renewal of a certificate of
authorization of a professional

corporation. i+$24{L

Gurrent GGO By-law
The fee for the application for a

certificate of authorization, including on

any reinstatement of a certificate of
authorization, for a professional
corporation is 552.

The fee for the issuance of a certificate
of authorization is S625.

The fee for the annual renewal of a

certificate of authorization is S210.

A professional corporation or a member
listed in CCO's records as a shareholder
of a professional corporation shall pay

an administrative fee of 552 for each

notice sent by the registrar to the
corporation or member for failure of the
corporation to renew its certificate of
authorization on time. The fee is due
within 30 days of the notice being sent.

By-law
13.19

13.21

L3.20
13.22

L3.2L
L3.23

13.22
73.24

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

91

535
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



. l! llll -L illlll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

92

536
Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity

The process for reviewing applications for
reinstatement is time consuming and
expensive

The cost burden should be born by the
a pplicant

Recommended Amendments
The Afee of S52 is pavable for the iss{*i€g
issuance of a document or certificate
respecting a professional corporation,
other than the first certificate of
authorization or one annual renewalef+

A fee of 5750 is oavable bv a oerson
whose certificate of registration has been
revoked or suspended as a result of a

disciolinarv or incaoacitv oroceedine and
who applies in writing to the reeistrar to
have a new certificate issued or the
suspension removed.

Gurrent GGO By-law
The fee for the issuing of a document or
certificate respecting a professional
corporation, other than the first
certificate of authorization or one
annual renewal of a certificate of
authorization, is $52.

By-law
!3.23
13.25

New Bv-

law
t3.26

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

BY.Inw 1 4: PnOFESSIONAL CORPORATIONS

93

537

Public lnterest Rationale

Update regarding registration of Ontario
business corporations

Every individual or family group with a

beneficial interest of 25% or more:
htt ps ://www.onta rio.calpaee/ben eficia l-

ownershi p-information-requ i rem ents

Recommended Amendments
Every member of CCO shall, for every
professional corporation of which the
member is a shareholder, provide in

writing the following information on the
application and annual renewal forms
for a certificate of authorization, upon

the written request of the registrar
within 30 days and upon any change in

the information within 30 days of the
change:

(a) the name of the professional

corporation as registered with the
@ieesOntario
Business Reeistry;

(b) any business names used by the
professional corporation;

(c) the name of each beneficial owner as

required to be recorded by the
professional corporation pursuant to the
Onta rio Business Registry; a€-s€+€{*i{++h€

@
€€+p€€+ient

Current CGO By-law
Every member of CCO shall, for every
professional corporation of which the
member is a shareholder, provide in

writing the following information on the
application and annual renewal forms
for a certificate of authorization, upon
the written request of the registrar
within 30 days and upon any change in

the information within 30 days of the
change:

(a) the name of the professional

corporation as registered with the
Ministry of Government Services;

(b) any business names used by the
professiona I corporation;

(c) the name, as set out in the register,
and registration number of each

shareholder of the professional
corporation;

By-law
1,4.L

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



t-l.,L:!{rl

A corporation's business number is issued by
the CRA. The Ontario Business Registry uses

the same number.
O. Ree. 400/21 under the Corporations
lnformation Act

Recommended Amendments
(d) (new) the professional corporation's
business resistration number issued bv
the Canada Revenue Aeencv:

ld the name, as set out in the register,
of each officer and director of the
professional corporation, and the title or
office held by each officer and director;

l0 the principal practice address,
telephone nu mber, facsimile number
and e-mailaddress of the professional
corporation;

lgl the address and telephone number
of all other locations, other than
residences of clients, at which the
professional services offered by the
professional corporation are provided;
and

lh) a brief description of the
professional activities carried out by the
professiona I co rporation.

Current CCO By-law

(d) the name, as set out in the register,
of each officer and director of the
professional corporation, and the title or
office held by each officer and director;

(e) the principal practice address,
telephone number, facsimile number
and e-mail address of the professional
corporation;

(f) the address and telephone number
of all other locations, other than
residences of clients, at which the
professional services offered by the
professional corporation are provided;
and

(g) a brief description of the
professional activities carried out by the
professional corporation.

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

94

538
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

Bv-law 15: TnenAPYAND GouruselrNc

95

539

Public lnterest Rationale
For clarity and spelling

DEI: gender neutral language

For clarity

DEI: Gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments
CCO shall require a therapistge+ and
eeu$s€lo+ counsellors who is p+eviding
provide therapy or counselling €€urcs€ling

that is funded threugh pursuant to the
program required under Bv-law section
85.7 of the Codeto provide a written
statement signed by fiisl5s+ th.t
containing details of hi#her their training
and experience and confirming that the
therapy or ee+*nseli+g counselling is being
provided and that the funds received are
being devoted only to that purpose.

CCO shall require a every person who is
receiving therapy or eeenseling
counselling that is funded t++€t*th
pursuant to the program required under
By-law section 85.7 of the Code to provide

a written statement signed by h.imlher
them acknowledging that *rclsheis thev
are aware of the details of the training and
experience of the therapist or eeu{cs€le+

counsellor and confirming that the
therapy or eeu+seling counsellins is being
provided and that the funds received are

being devoted only to that purpose.

Gurrent CGO By-law
CCO shall require a therapist or
counselor who is providing therapy or
counseling that is funded through the
program required under By-law 85.7 of
lhe Code to provide a written statement
signed by him/her containing details of
his/her training and experience and

confirming that the therapy or
counseling is being provided and that
the funds received are being devoted
only to that purpose.

CCO shall require a person who is
receiving therapy or counseling that is

funded through the program required
under By-law 85.7 of lhe Code to
provide a written statement signed by

him/her acknowledging that he/she is
aware of the details of the training and
experience of the therapist or counselor
and confirming that the therapy or
counseling is being provided and that
the funds received are being devoted
only to that purpose.

By-law
15.1

L5.2

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



ll i ,l r.IIENiui!i IUL llljl llLll

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

By-Inw 16: PnoFESSIoNAL LIABILITY PRorecTIoN oR INSURANcE

96

540

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law
Each member holding a general or
tem porary certificate of registration
must carry and provide evidence
satisfactory to the registrar of carrying
professional liability protection or
insurance in the applicable minimum
amount per occurrence and minimum
aggregate amount per year, including
coverage for claims after the member
ceases to hold a certificate relating to
occurrences while holding a certificate,
or membership in a protective
association that provides equivalent
protection. A member who is or will be
when registered, an employee of a
member, a health facility or other body
that has equivalent professional liability
insurance coverage or membership in a
protective association that provides
equivalent protection is deemed to
comply with this section.

By-law
16. L

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsGurrent CCO By-law
The professional liability protection or
insurance referred to in By-law L6.1
must have:

(a) a minimum amount of $5,000,000
per occurrence, and

(b) a minimum aggregate amount of
S5,ooo,ooo per year.

When applying for a general or
temporary certificate of registration or a
renewal of a general or temporary
certificate of registration, an applicant
must sign a declaration that they comply
with By-laws 16.1 and 16.2.

A member holding a general or
temporary certificate of registration
must have available in their office, in

written or electronic form, evidence that
they comply with By-laws L6.L and 16.2,

or may have the provider of the
protection under By-law 16.1 provide
regular updates to CCO confirming
compliance with By-laws 16.1 and 16.2.

By-law
1_6.2

15.3

L6.4

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

97

541
Public lnterest Rationale

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



,Ilill!-[L

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

BY.Iaw 17: PueLIc REGISTER

98

542

Public lnterest Rationale

DEI: gender neutral language

Recommended Amendments

The Registrar may enter a name other
than the name referred to in By-law 17.1
in the register if the Registrar:

(a) has received a written request from
the member;

(b) is satisfied that the member's name
has been legally changed his-eFh€ffiam€;
and

(c) is satisfied that the name change is not
for any improper purpose.

Gurrent GGO By-law
Subject to By-law t7.2, a member's
name in the register shall be the full
name indicated on the document used

to support the member's initial
registration with the College

The Registrar may enter a name other
than the name referred to in By-law 17.1
in the register if the Registrar:

(a) has received a written request from
the member;

(b) is satisfied that the member has

legally changed his or her name; and

(c) is satisfied that the name change is

not for any improper purpose.

By-law
t7.r

L7.2

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Deleting of non-existent provision

For clarity

Recommended Amendments

@{member's
business address in the register shall be

the address of the location in Ontario
where the member is employed or self-
employed as a chiropractor. ln the event
that the member is employed or self-
employed as a chiropractor in more than
one location in Ontario, the member's
business address shall be then location of
the member's primary practice. ln the
event that the member is not employed or
self-employed in Ontario as a chiropractor,
the registrar shall enter as the member's
business address the location designated
by the member for communication with
cco.

Gurrent CGO By-law
Subject to By-law 17.6(q)(i), a member's
business address in the register shall be

the address of the location in Ontario
where the member is employed or self-
employed as a chiropractor. ln the event
that the member is employed or self-
employed as a chiropractor in more than
one location in Ontario, the member's
business address shall be then
member's primary practice. ln the event
that the member is not employed or
self-employed in Ontario as a

chiropractor, the registrar shall enter as

the member's business address the
location designated by the member.

By-law

t7.3

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

99

543
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bV Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

-lLJLirr[l

Public lnterest Rationale

i I lllrmillll!.._rlLllrt LLlt.__-_Lll1 ._.

100

544
Recommended Amendments
A member's business telephone number
shall be the telephone number of the
location in Ontario where the member is

employed or self-employed as a

chiropractor. ln the event that the
member is employed or self-employed as

a chiropractor in more than one location
in Ontario, the member's business

telephone number shall be the telephone
number of the membe/s primary practice.

ln the event that the member is not
employed or self-employed in Ontario as a

chiropractor, the register shall not contain
a business telephone number fer the

designated by the member for
communication with CCO.

Current GGO By-law
A membe/s business telephone number
shall be the telephone number of the
location in Ontario where the member is

employed or self-employed as a

chiropractor. ln the event that the
member is employed or self-employed
as a chiropractor in more than one
location in Ontario, the member's
business telephone number shall be the
telephone number of the member's
primary practice. ln the event that the
member is not employed or self-
employed in Ontario as a chiropractor,
the register shall not contain a business
telephone number for the member.

The Registrar shall maintain a register in
accordance with section 23 of the Code.

By-law
17.4

17.5

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Typographical error

For clarification

Recommended Amendments
ln addition to the information set out in
subsection 23(2)iii of the Code, the register
shall contain the following publi€al+
publiclv available information with respect

to each member:

(a) Where a decision of a panel of the
Discipline Committee has been
published by the College with the
member's orformer member's name

included,
(i) a notation of that fact; and
(ii) identification of, a link to, or a copy

of the specific publication containing
that decision.

(b) For every caution required by a panel

of the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports

Committee under paragraph 3 of
subsection 25 (1-) ofthe Code, and for any

specified continuing education or
remediation programs required by a panel

of the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports

Committee using its powers under
paragraph 4 ofsubsection 26 (1) ofthe
Code,

i. the date of the panel's decision,

ii. a synopsis of its content, and
iii. if applicable, a notation that the
panel's decision is subject to review and is

Gurrent GCO By-law
ln addition to the information set out in
subsection 23(2)iii of the Code, the
register shall contain the following
publically available information with
respect to each member:

(a) Where a decision of a panel of the
Discipline Committee has been
published by the College with the
member's or former member's name

included,
(i) a notation of that fact; and
(ii) identification of, a link to, or a copy

of the specific publication containing
that decision.

(b) For every caution required by a

panel of the lnquiries, Complaints and

Reports Committee under paragraph 3

of subsection 26 (1), and for any
specified continuing education or
remediation programs required by a
panel of the lnquiries, Complaints and

Reports Committee using its powers
under paragraph 4 of subsection 26 (1),

i. the date of the panel's decision,

ii. a synopsis of its content, and
iii. if applicable, a notation that the
panel's decision is subject to review and

is not yet final, which notation shall be

By-law
L7.6

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

101

545
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

. -.1-l f rl.

Public lnterest Rationale

102

546

The mem ber's acknowledgement should
waive all rights of appeal and judicial review

Recommended Amendments
not yet final, which notation shall be

removed once the review and any
reconsideration by the lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee is

finally disposed of.

(c) For every acknowledgement and
undertaking that a member has given to
CCO in relation to matters involving
allegations of professional misconduct or
incompetence before the lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee or the
Discipline Committee that a member has

@andthatare
remain in effect, in addition to the
synopsis,
i. the date that the panel accepted the
member's acknowledement and

undertakins;
ii. a svnopsis of the acknowledeed facts;
and
iii. the terms of the member's undertaking

disp€s€fufr

Current GGO By-law
removed once the review and any
reconsideration by the lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee is

finally disposed of.

(c) For every acknowledgement and
undertaking in relation to matters
involving allegations of professional
misconduct or incompetence before the
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee or the Discipline Committee
that a member has entered into with the
College and that are in effect, in addition
to the synopsis,
i. the date of the panel's decision, and
ii. if applicable, a notation that the
panel's decision is subject to review or
appeal and is not yet final, which
notation shall be removed once the
review or appeal and any
reconsideration by the panel is finally
disposed of.

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



(e) is a duplication of (d)

Recommended Amendments
(d) A notation of any finding of guilt for a

criminal offence or an offence under the
Health lnsurance Act, 1990, of which the
College is aware, made by a court after
July 1, 2016, against a member.

eriminal effenee er an effenee under the
Health lnsarenee n

@

le) A notation that a member is

registered or licensed to practise a
profession inside or outside of Ontario
of which the College is aware.

ll) For every term, condition and limitation
that is in effect on each certificate of
registration, information about the date it
was imposed, the committee that
imposed it and circumstances surrounding
its imposition.

Gurrent CGO By-law
(d) A notation of any finding of guilt for
a criminal offence or an offence under
the Health lnsuronce Act, 1990, of which
the College is aware, made by a court
after July 1,2OL6, against a member.

(e) A notation of any finding of guilt for
a criminal offence or an offence under
the Heolth lnsurance Act, 1990, of which
the College is aware, made by a court
after July L,2016, against a member.

(f) A notation that a member is

registered or licensed to practise a
profession inside or outside of Ontario
of which the College is aware.

(g) For every term, condition and
limitation that is in effect on each

certificate of registration, information
about the date it was imposed, the
committee that imposed it and

circu mstances surrounding its

imposition.

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Councilfor Distribution and Feedback: September 8, 2023

103

547
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



L.[.rl I

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

104

548
Public lnterest Rationale

-.nr

Recommended Amendments

lg) A notation of every bail condition or
other restriction imposed on, or agreed to,
by the member in connection with a

charge for a criminal offence or an offence
under the Health lnsurance Act of which
the College is aware.

ih) The following practice information
related to a member:
(i) The business address, business
telephone number and business email of
up to three practice locations;
(ii) The member's gender;
(iii) the name of the chiropractic
education program graduated by the
member and year of graduation from that
proSram;
(iv) the year of initial registration with
CCO; and
(v) up to three languages in which the
member offers professional services, as

identified by the member.

Current CCO By-law
(h) A notation of every bail condition or
other restriction imposed on, or agreed
to, by the member in connection with a

charge for a criminal offence or an

offence under the Health lnsurance Act
of which the College is aware.

(i) The following practice information
related to a member:
(i) The business address, business
telephone number and business email of
up to three practice locations;
(ii) The member's gender;
(iii) the name of the chiropractic
education program graduated by the
member and year of graduation from
that program;
(iv) the year of initial registration with
CCO; and
(v) up to three languages in which the
member offers professional services, as

identified by the member.

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GCO By-law
lf requested, the member shall
immediately provide the College with
the following information, in the form
requested by the College:

(a) information required to be

maintained in the register in accordance
with subsection 23(2) of the Code and
By-law 17.6;

(b) the address and telephone number
of the member's primary residence in

Ontario and, if the member does not
reside in Ontario, the address and

telephone number of the member's
primary residence;

(c) The member's email addresses;

(d) Proof of professional liability
insurance;

(e) The member's areas of practice and

categories of clients seen;

(f) lnformation regarding the member's
employment including:
(i) the member's title and position,
(ii) a description of the member's role,
duties, and responsibilities, and

By-law
17.7

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

105

549
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



L 11 [[1 { trfltlEtrtmln. ![ {nt til -

106Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

550
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent GCO By-law

(iii)the member's employment category
and status.

(g) any nicknames or abbreviations that
the member uses in any place of
practice;

(h) information aboutthe member's
registration with any other body that
governs a profession, whether inside or
outside of Ontario, including the name
of the governing body, the membe/s
registration or license number and the
date the member first became
registered;

(i) information about any finding of
professional misconduct or
incompetence or similar finding that has

been made against the member by a

body that governs a profession, inside or
outside of Ontario, where the finding
has not been reversed on appeal,
including;
(i) the finding,
(ii) the name of the governing body that
made the finding,
(iii) a brief summary of the facts on
which the finding was based,

By-law

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Recommended AmendmentsCurrent GGO By-law
(iv) the penalty and any other orders
made relative to the finding,
(v) the date the finding was made, and
(vi) information regarding any appeals

of the finding.

(j) information about any finding of
incapacity or similar finding that has

been made against the member by a

body that governs a profession, inside or
outside of Ontario, where that finding
has not been reversed on appeal,
including:
(i) the finding
(ii) the name of the governing body that
made the finding,
(iii) the date the finding was made,
(iv) a summary of any order made, and
(v) information regarding any appeals
of the finding.

(k) information about the member's
participation in the Quality Assurance
Program,

(l) information for the purpose of
compiling statistical data,

By-law

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

107

551
Public lnterest Rationale

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



I I mlIImillllill.._Lfl,rrIlL . l.ill

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

108

552
Public Interest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent GCO By-law

The member shall notify the College, in,
writing, of any changes to the following
information within 30 days of the
effective date ofthe change:

(a) the member's name,

(b) the address and telephone number
of the member's primary residence in

Ontario and, if the member does not
reside in Ontario, the address and
telephone number of the member's
primary residence,

(c) the member's business address or
business telephone number.

All of the information in the register is

designated, under subsection 23(6) of
the Code, as information that may be

withheld from the public if the Registrar
has reasonable grounds to believe that
disclosure may jeopardize the safety of
an individual.

By-law
L7.8

L7.9

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

By-mw 18: AppoINTMENT oF NoT.GnIROPRACTIC COMMITTEE MTMSCRS

109

553

Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsGurrent GGO By-law
An individual is eligible for appointment
to a committee as a Non-Chiropractic
Committee Member if, on the date of
the appointment:

(a) The individual resides in Ontario;

(b) The individual has not been
disqualified from serving on Council or a

committee within the six years

immediately preceding the
appointment;

(c) The individual has never been a

Member;

(d) The individual does not have a

conflict of interest in respect of the
committee to which they are to be

appointed; and

(e) The individualwould not be

disqualified from serving as a Non-

CouncilMember if the individualwere a

Member.

By-law
18.1

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



L lrlII]I,l Lrjl!lll![!ETrm[ [[ Lr{nl lIr_

110Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

554
Public lnterest RationaleRecommended AmendmentsCurrent CCO By-law

The Council may remove or disqualify a

Non-Chiropractic Comm ittee Member
from a committee with or without
cause.

By-law
18.2

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved bv Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2O23

111

555
' Section 23(2)The register shall contain the following:
1 . Each member's name, business address and business telephone number, and, if applicable, the name of every health profession corporation of which the

member is a shareholder.
2. Where a member is deceased, the name of the deceased member and the date upon which the member died, if known to the Registrar.

3. The name, business address and business telephone number ofevery health profession corporation.
4. The names of the shareholders of each health profession corporation who are members of the College.
5. Each member's class of registration and specialist status.

6. The terms, conditions and limitations that are in effect on each certificate of registration.
7. A notation of every caution that a member has received from a panel of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee under paragraph 3 of subsection 26

(l), and any specified continuing education or remedial programs required by a panel of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee using its powers under

paragraph 4 ofsubsection26 (1).
8. A notation of every matter that has been referred by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to the Discipline Committee under section 26 andthat
has not been finally resolved, including the date of the referral and the status of the hearing before a panel of the Discipline Committee, until the matter has been

resolved.
9. A copy of the specified allegations against a member for every matter that has been referred by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to the

Discipline Committee under section 26 nd that has not been finally resolved.

10. Every result of a disciplinary or incapacity proceeding.

1 1 . A notation and synopsis of any acknowledgements and undertakings in relation to mattors involving allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence

before the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or the Discipline Committee that a member has entered into with the College and that are in effect.

12. A notation of every finding of professional negligence or malpractice, which may or may not relate to the member's suitability to practise, made against the

member, unless the finding is reversed on appeal.
13. A notation ofevery revocation or suspension ofa certificate ofregistration.
14. A notation ofevery revocation or suspension ofa certificate ofauthorization.
15. Information that a panel of the Registration Committee, Discipline Committee or Fitness to Practise Committee specifies shall be included.

16. Where findings of the Discipline Committee are appealed, a notation that they are under appeal, until the appeal is finally disposed of.
17. Where, during or as a result of a proceeding under section 25, a member has resigned and agreed never to practise again in Ontario, a notation of the

resignation and agreement.
18. Where the College has an inspection program established under clause 95 (1) (h) or (h.1), the outcomes ofinspections conducted by the college.
19. Information that is required to be kept in the register in accordance with regulations made pursuant to clause 43 (1) (t) of the Regulated Health Professions

Act, 199 I .

20. Information that is required to be kept in the register in accordance with the by-laws.

ii Section 23(14) For the purpose ofthis section and section 56,

"result",

O College of Chiropractors of Ontario



, [r ]rt.l [ tr rtF[[r[ ]t! !r JltrL*__

Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

112

(a) when used in reference to a disciplinary proceeding, means the panel's finding that the member committed an act of professional misconduct or was
incompetent, particulars of the grounds for the finding, a synopsis of the decision and the order made, including any reprimand, and where the panel has made no
such finding, includes a notation that no such finding was made and the reason why no such finding was made, and
(b) when used in reference to an incapacity proceeding, means the panel's finding that the member is incapacitated and the order made by the panel.

556

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed By-law Amendments
Approved by Council for Distribution and Feedback: September 8,2023

113

557
"' Section 23(2)The register shall contain the following:
1. Each member's name, business address and business telephone number, and, if applicable,'the name of every health profession corporation of which the
member is a shareholder.
2. Where a member is deceased, the name of the deceased member and the date upon which the member died, if known to the Registrar.
3. The name, business address and business telephone number of every health profession corporation.
4. The names of the shareholders of each health profession corporation who are members of the College.
5. Each member's class of registration and specialist status.
6. The terms, conditions and limitations that are in effect on each certificate of registration.
7. A notation of every caution that a member has received from a panel of the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee under paragraph 3 of subsection 26
(1), and any specified continuing education or remedial programs required by a panel of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee using its powers under
paragraph 4 ofsubsection26 (1).
8. A notation of every matter that has been referred by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to the Discipline Committee under section 26 andthat
has not been finally resolved, including the date of the referral and the status of the hearing before a panel of the Discipline Committee, until the mafter has been
resolved.
9. A copy of the specified allegations against a member for every matter that has been referred by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to the
Discipline Committee under section 26 and that has not been finally resolved.
10. Every result ofa disciplinary or incapacity proceeding.
1 L A notation and synopsis of any acknowledgements and undertakings in relation to matters involving allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence
before the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or the Discipline Committee that a member has entered into with the College and that are in effect.
12. A notation of every finding of professional negligence or malpractice, which rnay or may not relate to the member's suitability to practise, made against the
member, unless the finding is reversed on appeal.
I 3. A notation of every revocation or suspension of a certificate ofregistration.
14. A notation ofevery revocation or suspension ofa certificate ofauthorization.
15. Information that a panel of the Registration Committee, Discipline Committee or Fitness to Practise Committee specifies shall be included.
16. Where findings of the Discipline Committee are appealed, a notation that they are under appeal, until the appeal is finally disposed of.
1 7. Where, during or as a result of a proceeding under section 25, a member has resigned and agreed never to practise again in Ontario, a notation of the
resignation and agreement.
18. Where the College has an inspection program established under clause 95 (1) (h) or (h.l), the outcomes ofinspections conducted by the college.
19. Information that is required to be kept in the register in accordance with regulations made pursuant to clause 43 (1) (t) of the Regulated Health Professions
AcL 1991.
20. Information that is required to be kept in the register in accordance with the by-laws.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



|TEM 4.1 .41

Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q1 Are you a Member of CCO
559

Yes

No

Answered: 14 Skipped: 0

O% 1oo/o 2oo/o 3oo/o 4jo/o 50o/o 6OVo 7oo/o EAVI 90% 100%

RESPONSES

100.000/o

0.00%

ANSWER CHOICES

Yes

No

TOTAL

L4

0

t4

Ltl



ts

il

Proposed By-law Amendments - September 1.9, 2023

560
Q2 lf you are not a member of CCO, what type of stakeholder are you?

Answered: 14 Skipped:0

Member of the
Public

Chiropractic
Organization

Not AppIicable
(Member of cco)

glo 10% 2Qo/o 3Q!o 4Oo/o S19/o 6o0/o 7Oo/o 80o/o 9OYo 100%

ANSWER C|{O|CES

Member ol the Public

Chi ropractic Organization

Not Applicable (Member of CCO)

TOTAL

RESPONSES

0.00o/o

7.744/o

92.860/o

0

1

13

t4

Llt



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q3 lf you are a member of CCO, how long have you been in practice?

Arlswered: 14 Skipped: 0

Less than 5

years

11 - 20 years

More than 20
years

Not appticabte

Ao/o 1Oo/o 20% 3Oo/o 4Oo/o 5Ao/o 60% 7Qo/o 8oo/o 90o/o 100%

561

0 years

II

ANSWER CHOICES

Less than 5 years

6 - l-0 years

1,L - 20 years

More than 20 years

Not applicable

TOTAL

RESPONSES

L4.29o/o

t4.29o/o

50.000/o

2L.430/o

0.000/o

2

7

3

L4

0

LIL



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

RESPONSES

50.00o/o

33.33%

0.000/o

16.67s/o

562

Q5 I agree/disagree with the draft proposed amendments to various by-
laws that include gender neutral language, make minor grammatical

changes for sentence clarity, ensure consistency with related by-laws, or to
correct typographical errors

Answered: 12 Skipped: 2

Strong[y agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongty
Disagree

Oo/o 10% z}oh 3Oo/o 4Oo/o 50o/o 6oolo 7O/o 80% 900/o 100o/o

ANSWER CHOICES

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

TOTAL

6

4

0

2

12

tlt



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

QG Comments - Explain why relating to CCO's public interest mandate

Answered: 2 Skipped: 1.2

563

#

L

2

RESPONSES

GENDER EXISTS . AND IT'S NOT DISRESPECTFUL TO USE GENDER PRONOUNS

Spinal manipulation is incredibly archaic and is such asmall portion of the profession. l'm not

sure who is trying to hang on to spinal manipulation therapy as the only thing chiropractors do

but there are many other things as a health care practitioner that we should be allocation CE

hours to,

DATE

912U2A23 9:11 AM

9lLgl2?23 9:49 PM

LIT



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023 564

Q7 I agree/disagree with the draft proposed amendments to By-law 6:

Election of Council Members

Answered:12 Skipped: 2

Strongly agr€e

Agree

Disagree

Strongty
disagree

I

ANSWER CHOICES

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

TOTAL

Oo/o 10% 2Oo/o 3Ao/o 4ook 50o/o 6A0lo 7Oo/o 80% 90% 100%

RESPONSES

8.33olo

50.00Y0

8.33Y0

33.33%

1

6

1

4

L2

I
1
l

rlL



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q8 Comments - Explain why relating to CCO's public interest mandate

Answered: 7 Skipped: 7

565

#

I
RESPONSES

Although I understand thal finding consistently in the bylaws is appropriate, 3 years would be

an effective amount of iime to make sure that conflict of interest is not taking place. The

interesiing thirrg about our profession is that it is a srnall minority of DCs that get involved. By

making it 6 years, it makes those highly motivaled and skilled people have lo sit out of setving

the profession and tlre public for a very long time,

I strongly disagree with the proposal to extend the "cooling off period" to frotn 3 to 6 yeats, for
anyone who is involved with OCAICCA/CMCC/ etc. These are often individuals who are

volunteer and service minded people. They are not criminals and have not been found Io break

any rules. ln a career, 6 years is a signiticant amount of time, and unnecessarily long time
between roles. The current 3 years is plenty of iime for a ''cooling off period"

I thiirk this is too all encotnpassing. Six years seerns excessive for what may not need a

cooling oif period.

nla

3 years is an adequate amount of 'cool off'time for a member before reengaging if lhey so wish

with the college. Six years is a lifetime for most of us and far too long to reengage with the
political cullure.

3 years is long enough

6 years cooling off period, particularly for those involved in the educational sector is an

unreasonable amount of time. We would want those at the precipice o{ education to be

involved in a timely rnanner so as to be able to provide appropriate feedback relevant to
today's practice atmosphere and research.

DATE

IQ|I712023 12:18 Plvl

IAlI3l2023 5:17 PM

1Ol2l2O23 10:30 AM

912212023 1:1"2 AM

9!2012023 10:05 AM

9ll9l2o23 9:49 PM

9!Lgl2O23 3:28 PM

2

3

4

5

6

7

.J.IL



566

Q10 Comments - Explain why relating to CCO's public interest mandate

Answered:3 Skipped: 11

Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

RESPONSES

The President should be on the nominating committee because they have the best view of all

aspects of council and they will be more eflective at succession planning which in the best
interest of the CCO and the public it serves. I do worry about the President being able to vote

and if they will still have the same abilities to build consensus when they will have to takes
sides on issues.

rula

The president is a nominated position and is not elected directly to their role by the
peoplelmembers of CCO, Therefore the president should not be a member of the nominating

committee nor should ihey have an additiorral vote. This should be up to the elected members.

T

#

t
DATE

7OlL7l2O23 L2:18 PM

912212023 1:12 AM

9l]912423 3:28 PM
!

=i

:

L

5

LIL



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q11 I agree/disagree with the draft proposed amendments to By-law 1-L:

Committee Composition

Answered: 10 Skipped; 4

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly
Disagree

0o/o 10% 2oo/o 3Oo/o 4Oo/o 50% 60% '1oo/o 800/o 9Qo/o 100%

567

ANSWER CHOICES

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly Dsagree

TOTAL

RESPONSES

2O.OOo/o

60.00o/o

2Q.QOVo

0.OOVo

2

6

2

0

1"0

Llt



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q13 I agree/disagree with the draft proposed amendments to By-law L2:
Appointment of Non-Council Members

Answered:11 Skipped:3

568

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly
Disagree

I

Oo/o

ANSWERCHOICES

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

TOTAL

10% 2oolo 3oo/o 40o/o 50% 60% 7Oo/o 80% 9Oo/o lo0o/o

RESPONSES

9.09V0

81-.82o/o

9.0970

0.O0o/o

1

o

t-

0

11

Ltt



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023 569

Q14 Comments - Explain why relating to CCO's public interest mandate

#

l-

2

RESPONSES

n/a

I have no issue with this as it is reducing repetition.

Answered: 2 Skipped: 1"2

DATE

912212023 L:12 AM

9lLgl2123 3:28 PM

Ltt



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q15 I agree/disagree with the draft proposed amendments to By-law 13:

Fees

Answered:9 Skipped: 5

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly '

Disagree

OVo 'l0o/o 20o/o 30o/o 4AYo 50% 600/o 7oo/o 8oo/o 90% 10oo/o

570

:]
Ed:
:

ANSWER CHOICES

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Sffongly Disagree

TOTAL

RESPONSES

22_220h

55.560/o

22.22o/o

0.00%

2

5

2

n

I

LIL



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q16 Comments - Explain why relating to CCO's public interest mandate

Answered:2 Skipped: 12

571

#

L

2

RESPONSES

No clear what the application fee is

Test

DATE

9t2012O23 7:57 PM

911912023 12:52 PM

LIL



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q17 The following overall amendments would better protect the public
interest:

Answered: 3 Skipped: 11

572

#

t-

RESPONSES

I only disagree with the amendment to include mandatory 5 hours hands on manipulation
continuing education. I see this is wholly unnecessary {or those who are practicing daily, There
is no need for me to be randomly adjusted when I am not in therapeutic need. Those seminar
rrormally require us to donate our bodies as practice dummies. I wont do it,

They wouldn't and your tlme would be better spent looking at things that actually matter than
this flim-flam.

Test

DATE

9/2212023 !:I2 AM

51201202310:05 AM

9ltgl2023 t2:52PM

2

=
=

3

tl7



Proposed By-law Amendments - September 19, 2023

Q18 Further Comments
Auswered: 3 Skioped: 11

RESPONSES

Regarding the 6 year "coolirrg off" time, I think that duration is too long and 3 years is

sufficient. The duration of a career is about 30 years. A 6 year cooling off time is 200lo of their
career, there is not much time to then pursue any role at the CCO. 3 years is more than
enoctgh time between roles. Currently when I read 6 years, I feel the intent is to completely
elinrirrate the ability for a chiropractor to move from the OCA/CCA/CMCC to the CCO, and I'm
suie that is not the CCO council's intent.

Adding a 5 hour hands on requirement for adjustments is an other waste of time. We Adjust
every day in our clinics or should be anyways and courses dont really and can't make us
proficient in this skill and most of i! entails mock adjusting anyways. lf the college finds a
member deficient in this skill they can always recommend courses at that time based on
complaints made against the member. OtheMise leave it alone.

Test gf gf tg fg fg fg fg f gf gfgfgmfglmfg f gif fg g fg fg I gf gf

573

#

L

DATE

9t2O12023 3:15 PM

sl2Al2A23 10:05 AM

9ltgl2j23 12:52 PM

2

tlt



Joel Friedman |TEM 4.1.42 574
From:
Sent:
To:

Sunday, October 1, 2023 1 
'1:31 AM

cco.info
Competitive Advantage.Subject:

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello. This news article compels me to to ask my college to perhaps join the discussion...or at least inform me of how we

are becoming more competitive of late.

It seems the scopes of others expand...and then expand again months later and we seem to stay put. I am not

suggesting we prescribe diaper rash cream but in many jurisdictions around the world we have the scope to rx basic

meds for acute msk conditions. Are there any current intiatives in this regard ? Perhaps I missed them.

https://www.cp24.com/mobile/news/ontario-expands-pharmacists-prescription-powers-1-.6584473

Original message

From: College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Date: 2023-09-19 1:31 p.m. (GMT-05:00)

To : jgetsos@roge rs.com

Subject: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional

Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and Feedback

x

President's Message: September 79t 2023 - Draft
Amendments to Standard of Practice S-OO3I
Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and
Feedback

Update - Council Meeting September 8, 2023 and Strategic Planning
Sessions September 9, LOt 2023

CCO Council and staff have just returned from a successful Council meeting
and strategic planning sessions. Here is an update on some of our initiatives,
and two opportunities for you to have input into items being considered by
Council.

Potential Amendment to Standard of Practice S-OO3: Professional
Portfolio

1



1012123, B:39AM Ontario expands pharmacists'prescription powers I CP24.com

Ontario expands pharmacists' prescription powers

.*
Abby O'Brien, CTV News Toronto Multi-Platform Writer

@abby.iobrien

575
Published Sunday, October 1,2023 5:00AM EDT

Last Updated Sunday, October 1,2023 9:33AM EDT

Ontario residents can now access treatment and medication for six additional common ailments at pharmacies across the province.

The move was announced by Deputy Premier and Minister of Health Sylvia Jones in Etobicoke Sunday morning

"Expanding the list of common ailments pharmacists can treat, people will now get faster, more convenient access to the care they need closer to

home, while helping to further reduce wait times at our community clinics and hospitals," Jones said Sunday.

;iOvERTlSEtiENi

The six new ailments - acne, canker sores, diaper rash, yeast infections, parasitic worms, and pregnancy pHOTOS
nausea - will be added to the list of existing 16, of which a list can be found on the ministry's website.

Pharmacists in Ontario have been able to prescribe medications and treat common ailments since Jan. 1,

2023. According to the Ministry of Health, 89 per cent of pharmacies in Ontario have opted into the
program, providing over 400,000 assessments.

Jones underlined Saturday that residents would only need their OHIP card to access the services, "never
your credit card."

100+ tenants at 2
Toronto buildings go
on a rent strike

Jays for face Twins in
AL wild-card series

13 people are dead
after a nightclub fire in
Spain

-4

A pharmacy worker can be seen
counting pills above.THE CANADIAN
PRESS/Ryan Remioz

Wr
arI
1'

"Under Premier Ford, that will never change," she said.

Recent changes by the province have also allowed pharmacists to administer select injections and
inhalation treatments, such as insulin, 812 shots, or osteoporosis treatments, for a "professional fee."

TOP VIDEOS

LOCAL NEWS WORLD NEWS

https://www.cp24.com/news/ontario-expands-pharmacists-prescription-powers-'1 .6584473

REAL ESTATE NEWS

112



1012123,8:39 AM Ontario expands pharmacists' prescription powers I CP24.com

i.
=l

Police search for suspects
following armed robbery at
Dixie Outlet Mall

Nearly 500 tenants from 5 apartment

bulldings in Toronto are now on rent

strike

Ontario expands pharmacists'

prescription powers

SPORTS NEWS

Taylor Swift watches Travis
Kelce's Ghiefs lake on the
Jets at Metlife Stadium

Playoff-bound Blue Jays persevered

after a wobbly September, next up is the

Twins

Flames assistant GM Chris Snow dies at

42 afler lengthy public battle with ALS

Spain's king begins a new
round of talks in search of a

candidate to form
government

NEw Pakistan launches anti-polio

vaccine drive targeting 44M children

amid tight security

NEW The Supreme Court justices are

taking the bench for the first time since

June

ENTERTAINMENT NEWS

Late-night shows return
after writers strike as actors
resume talks that could end
their standoff

David Beckham reflects on highs and

lows in 'Beckham'doc, calls it an

'emotional rollercoaster'

Taylor Swift watches Travis Kelce's

Chiefs take on the Jets at Metlife

Stadium

Turning offices into homes
could help address the
housing crisis, but can it be
done?

CMHC reports annual pace of housing

starts down 1% in August

National home sales fall 4% between

July and August as market slows: CREA

LIFESTYLE-.NEWS

Arizona's biggest city has
driest monsoon season
since weather service began
record-keeping in 1895

Pakistan officials consider a new way to

boost polio vaccination: pnson

Promoiing tradition as well as beans,

Ethiopian coffee shops find fans far from

home

:ilh'
:l

t

I

).

Use of this Website assumes acceplance of Terms & Conditions and Privacy Policy

r ror. BgIlMedio nrr riqhrs reserved.

https://vrnivw.cp24.com/newsiontario-expands-pharmacists-prescription-powers-1 .6584473 212



Rose Bustria 576
Subject: FW: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio and By-laws for
Circulation and Feedback

From: ( -
Sent: Tuesday, September 19,2023 2:11 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to Standard of Practice S-

003: Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and Feedback

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

are comments onproposals anonymous, or are they linked specifically to the person making the
comments (feedback).?

On Tue, Sep 19, 2023 al l":31 PM College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

President's Message: September 79, 2023 - Draft
Amendments to Standard of Practice S-OO3I
Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and
Feedback

Update - Council Meeting September 8, 2023 and Strategic Planning
Sessions September 9, LO,2023

CCO Council and staff have just returned from a successful Council meeting
and strategic planning sessions. Here is an update on some of our initiatives,
and two opportunities for you to have input into items being considered by
Council.

@

1



577
Rose Bustria

Subject: FW: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio and By-laws for
Circulation and Feedback

From: I

Sent: Tuesday, September 19,2023 1:45 PM

To: cco. i nfo <cco.info@ cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to Standard of Practice S-

003: Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and Feedback

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello,

I practice technique with a colleague every week. lt adds up to well over 5 hours every six years. Does

this count?

Kind Regards,

On 2023-09-19 1:30 p.m., College of Chiropractors of Ontario wrote

1



Rose Bustria 578
Subject: FW: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio and By-laws for
Circulation and Feedback

From:
Sent: Thursday, September 2!,2023 L:10 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: President's Message: September 19,2023 - Draft Amendments to Standard of Practice S-

003: Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and Feedback

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe,

Dr Green,

Kudos to your council and your QA committee on their decision to include hands on technique
as part of our CE requirements. As a past peer assessor, it was always something that was never

evaluated or addressed. This is a significant moment for the public of Ontario.

Keep up the good work.

-,- t.--.

(
t-

From : College of Chiropractors of Ontario fmailto : cco. info@cco,on.ca]
Sent: Tuesday, September 19,2023 1:31 PM

To: docshan kar99@gmail.com
Subject: President's Message: September 79,2023 - Draft Amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003
Professional Portfolio and By-laws for Circulation and Feedback

@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

1



ByJaw 11: Committee Composition ITEM 4.1 .43 2

II.7 The Quality Assurance Committee shall be composed ofl

(a) two members of Council who are member of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed to Council by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council; and

(c) one member of CCO who is not a member of Council.

11.8 The Patient Relations Committee shall be composed of:

(a) one member of Council who is a members of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed to Council by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council; and

(c) two members of CCO who are not members of Council.

ll.9 Council may, by resolution, establish non-statutory committees. For each non-
statutory committee, Council shall speci$r in the resolution the duties and

responsibilities of the committee, its composition and its termination date or
event.

11.10 A committee is still properly constituted if it has vacancies so long as a quorum
remains. Unless otherwise specified by the Code, three members of a committee
constitute quorum.

11.11 By-laws 8.18 to 8.21 (electronic meetings) applies to committee meetings.

Il.I2 In By-law 11, despite the use of a definite number of committee members in any
category, Council may appoint additional committee members in any category,
except for the Executive Committee@

11.13 In By-law 11, despite the use of a definite number of committee members in any
category, Council may appoint alterative committee members in any category. An
alternative committee member may attend meetings and participate in discussions
but shall not vote unless a full committee member in the same category as the
alternative is unable to participate in the matter, including if he/she has a conflict
of interest.

ll.l4 Despite any other provision of this By-Law 11, the Council may also appoint one

or more Non-Chiropractic Committee Members to any committee other than the
Executive Committee.

579

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



580

Bv-law 11: GouMrrrEE GouposrnoN
Approved by Council: February 24, 2001
Amended: September 24, 2009, November 30, 2012, September 17, 2015, June 19, 2019
(came into effect September /,3, 2019), August 14, 2020 (came into effect September 4,

2020 November 25, 2021 came into ffict February 25, 2022)

11.1 The Executive Committee, inclusive of the president, vice-president and treasurer,
shall be composed of the following:

(a) Four members of Council who are members of CCO;

(b) Three members of Council who are appointed by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council;

II.2 The president of the Council shall be the chair of the Executive Committee.

11.3 The Registration Committee shall be composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are members of CCO; and

(b) two members of Councils appointed to the Council by the Lieutenant
Governor in Council.

lI.4 The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee shall be composed of:

(a) two members of Council who are members of CCO;

(b) two members of Council appointed to Council by the Lieutenant Govemor
in Council; and

(c) one member of CCO who is not a member of Council.

11.5 The Discipline Committee shall be composed of:

(a) every member of Council; and

(b) up to three members of CCO who are not members of Council.

11.6 The Fitness to Practise Committee shall be composed of every member of
Council.

i
I:

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



rrEM 4.1.45 
5g3

Extract from RHPA

BY.LAWS REQUIRING CIRCULATION ARE

UNDERLINED



Bl3l23, 10:23 AM Regulated Health ProfessionsAct, 1991, S.O.'1991, c. 18

By-laws
94 (1) The Council may make by-laws relating to the administrative and internal affairs of the College and, without limiting the

generality of the foregoing, the Council may make by-laws,

584(a) adopting a seal for the College;

(b) providing for the execution of documents by the College;

(c) respecting banking and finance;

(d) fixing the financial year of the College and providing for the audit of the accounts and transactions of the College;

(d.1) respecting the election of Council members, including the requirements for members to be able to vote, electoral districts

and election recounts;

(d.2) respecting the qualification and terms of office of Council members who are elected;

(d.3) prescribing conditions disqualifying elected members from sitting on the Council and governing the removal of disqualified

Council members;

(e) providing procedures for the election of the President and Vice-President of the College, the selection of the chairs of the

committees, the filling of a vacancy in those offices, and setting out the duties and powers of the President, Vice-President

and the chairs,

(f) respecting the calling, holding and conducting of the Council meetings and respecting the duties of the Council's members;

(g) respecting the calling, holding and conducting of meetings of the members;

(9.1) providing that a meeting of the Council or of members or a meeting of a committee or of a panel that is held for any

purpose other than for the conducting of a hearing may be held in any manner that allows all the persons participating to

communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously;

(9.2) prescribing what constitutes a conflict of interest for members of the Council or a committee and regulating or prohibiting

the carrying out of the duties of those members in cases in which there is a conflict of interest;

(h) providing for the remuneration of the members of the Couflcil and committees other than persons appointed by the

Lieutenant Governor in Council and for the payment of the expenses of the Council and committees in the conduct of their

business;

(h.1) respecting the filling of vacancies on the Council or on committees,

Note: On a day to be named by proclamation of the Lieutenant Governor, clause 94 (1) (h.1) of Schedule 2 to the Act is

repealed and the following substituted: (See: 2017, c. 11, Sched. 5, s. 30 (1))

(h.1) subject to the regulations made under clauses 43 (1) (p) to (s) of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 ,

(i) respecting the filling of vacancies on the Council or on committees,

(ii) providing for the composition of committees,

(iii) respecting the qualification, selection, appointment and terms of office of members of committees required by

subsection 10 (1)who are not members of the Council,

(iv) prescribing conditions that disqualify committee members from sitting on committees required under subsection 10

(1) and governing the removal of disqualified committee members;

(h.2) providing for the composition of committees;

Note: On a day to be named by proclamation of the Lieutenant Governor, clause 94 (1) (h.2) of Schedule 2 to the Act is
repealed. (See: 2017, c. 11, Sched. 5, s. 30 (1))

(h.3) respecting the qualification, selection, appointment and terms of office of members of committees required by subsection

10 (1) who are not members of the Council;

https://www.ontario.callaws/statute/91 r1 8 1t4



8/3/23, 10:23AM Regulated Health ProfessionsAct, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18

Note: On a day to be named by proclamation of the Lieutenant Governor, clause 94 (1) (h.3) of Schedule 2 to the Act is

repealed. (See: 2017, c. 11, Sched. 5, s. 30 (1))

(h.4) prescribing conditions disqualifying committee members from sitting on committees required under subsection 10 (1) and

governing the removal of disqualified committee members;

Note: On a day to be named by proclamation of the Lieutenant Governor, clause 94 (1) (h.4) of Schedule 2 to the Act is

repealed. (See: 2017, c. 1'1, Sched. 5, s.30 (1))

(i) providing for the appointment, powers and duties of commiitees other than the committees required by subsection 10 (1);

(i) delegating to the Executive Committee powers and duties of the Council, other than the power to make, amend or revoke

regulations and by{aws;

(k) providing for a code of ethics for the members;

(l) providing for the appointment of inspectors for the purposes of regulations made under clause 95 (1) (h);

(1.1) respecting the maintenance of the register kept by the Registrar and providing for the issuing of certificates when

information contained in the register is made available to the public under section 23;

(1.2) specifying information as information to be kept in the register for the purposes of paragraph 20 of subsection 23 (2),

designating information kept in the register as public for the purposes of subsection 23 , and desi information ke

585

n

reg pu e purposes 23 (5) that may be withheld from the public for the purposes of

subsection 23 (6);

(1.3) requiring members to give the College their home addresses and such other information as may be specified in the

places they practise the profession, the services they provide there, their participation in continuing

education nrnnrrmc and the names business addresses tel ne numbers and facsimile numbers of their rccnniatcq

partners, employers and employees and prescribing the form and manner in which the information shall be given;

(1.4) respecting the duties and office of the Registrar;

(m) providing procedures for the making, amending and revoking of byJaws;

(n) prescribing forms and providing for their use;

(o) respecting the management of the property of the College;

(p) authorizing the College to make arrangements for the indemnity of members against professional liability and providing levies

to be paid by members;

(q) respecting membership of the College in a national organization of bodies with similar functions, the payment of annual

assessments and representation at meetings;

(r) authorizing the making of grants to advance scientific knowledge or the education of persons wishing to practise the

profession, to maintain or improve the standards of practice of the profession or to provide public information about, and

encourage interest in, the past and present role of the profession in society;

(s) requiring members to pay annual fees, fees upon application for a certificate and upon registration and fees for examinations,

appea ls from examinations, election recounts and continuing education programs and for anything the Registrar or a

committee of the Colleqe is required or authorized to do and no members to oav oenalties for the late pavment of anv

-fqe:

(t) specifying the amount of any fee or penalty required under clause (s);

(t.'l ) prescribing the form and manner in which a health profession corporation shall notify the Registrar of a change in the

shareholders of the corporation and the time period for doing so;

(1.2) requiring the payment of fees upon application for a certificate of authorization and for the issue or renewal of a certificate of

authorization and specifying the amount of such fees;

(u) requiring persons to pay fees, set by the Registrar or by by-law, for anything the Registrar is required or authorized to do;

https.//www.ontario.callaws/statute/9 1 r1 8 2t4



8/3/23, 10:23AM Regulated Health ProfessionsAct, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18

(v) requiring members to pay specified amounts to pay for the program required under section 85.7, including amounts that are

different for different members or classes of members and including amounts,

(i) that are specified in the by-law,

586
ii) that are calculated accordinq to a method set out in the by-law, or

(iii) that are deteimined by a person specified in the by-law;

(w) requiring members to participate in an arrangement set up by the College in which members pay a person such amounts as

be determined the n for the members or for classes of members an amounts to to

DAV for the Drooram reout red r rnder section 85.

(x) authorizing the Patient Relations Committee to require therapists and counsellors who are providing therapy or counselling

that is funded through the program required under section 85.7 and persons who are receiving such therapy or counselling, to

provide a written statement, signed in each case by the therapist or counsellor and by the person, containing details of the

therapist's or counsellor's training and experience, and confirming that therapy or counselling is being provided and that the

funds received are being devoted only to that purpose;

(y) requiring members to have professional liability insurance that satisfies the requirements specified in the bylaws or to belong

to a specified association that provides protection against professional liability and requiring members to give proof of the

insurance or membership to the Reg istrar in the manner set out in the by-laws;

(z) respecting the designation of life or honourary members of the College and prescribing their rights and privileges;

(2.1) exempting any member or class of member from a by-law made under this section;

(2.2) specifying or setting out anything that is required to be specified or set out under this subsection. 1991 , c. 18, Sched. 2,

s.94 (1); 1998, c. 18, Sched. G,s.22(1-4)',2000, c.42, Sched., s.40;2007,c.10, Sched. M, s.73 (1,2);2017, c. 11, Sched

tr c ?O/?\v, e. vv \4/.

Girculation of certain by-laws
(2) A by-law shall not be made under clause (1) (1.2), (1.3), (s), (t), (v), (w) or (y) unless the proposed by-law is circulated to every

member at least 60 days before it is approved by the Council. 1998, c. 18, Sched. G, s. 22 (5).

Exception
(2.1) Despite subsection (2), the Council may, with the approval of the Minister, exempt a by-law from the requirement that it be

circulated or abridge the 60-day period referred to in subsection (2) to such lesser period as the Minister may determine. 1998,

c. '18, Sched. G, s. 22 (5).

Copies of by-laws, etc.
(3) A copy of the by-laws and standards of practice made by the Council, and any documents that are referred to in the by-laws and

regulations made by the Council shall be given to the Minister and to each member and shall be made available to the public during

normal business hours in the office of the College . 2007, c. 10, Sched. M, s. 73 (3).

Public copies
(3.1) Any person is entitled to a copy of any by-law, standard of practice or other document mentioned in subsection (3) on the

paymentof a reasonablefee, if required,tothe Registrar. 2O07, c. 10, Sched. M, s.73 (3).

Unanimous by-laws, etc.
(4) A by-law or resolution signed by all the members of the Council is as valid and effective as if passed at a meeting of the Council

called, constituted and held for the purpose. 199'l , c. 18, Sched. 2, s. 9a (4).

https://www.ontario. callaws/statute/9 1 r1 8 3t4



8/3/23, 10:23AM Regulated Health ProfessionsAct, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18

Application
(5) Subsections (3) and (4) apply to by-laws made under this section or under a health profession Act. 1998, c. 18, Sched. G,

s. 22 (6).

587

https://vwwv.ontario.callaws/statute/9 1 r1 8 414



anclyour inquiry wil be directed appropriatety. 
589

CCo is committed to providing inclusive, acconrmodating, and responsive services anci ensuring that individuals are treatedwitlt dignity and respect. Please contact us if you lequlre accomrnocJations, please ensure that all communications with cco arerespectful a rrd professional.

WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any otherdistribution' copying or disclosure is striclly prohibitecl. lf you have received this e-mail in enor,_please notifi cco immediately by reply e-mail and delete ail copies inctuding any atia'chments wirhout reading iior;;fit;;py. tranr you.

From: Doug Ford <premier.Correspondence@ontario.ca>
Sent: Thursday, September 1.4, 2023 10:21AM
To: cco.info <geo.hfq@cco.on.ca>
Subject: An email from the premier of Ontario

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This emailoriginated from
unless you have verified the sender and know th

outside of the orgapization. Do not click links or open attachments
e content is safe.

Thank you for sharing the College of Chiropractors of Ontario's (CCO) 2112annual
report. Congratulations on another successful year.

Please. pass along my best wishes to your incoming president, Dr. Sarah Green, on her
new role. I have no doubt that she will serve the college well and carry on your excellent
work in the year ahead.

Sincerely,

Doug Ford
Premier of Ontario

This email account is not monitored. Please do not reply direcfly to this email. For further inquiries, please
direct your online message through the premier,s coniatt form.'

This email contains information intended only for the use of the individual named above. lf you have
received this email in error, we would appreciate it if you could advise us through the premier's contact
form. Thank you.

2



606
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Reporting Tool

Reporting Year: January 2022- December 2022

Version Date: March 3t, 2023



tl ...,J-Jl..tr;ill.

607
KD

College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table of Contents
lntroduction.

The College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF)

Completing the CPMF Reporting Tool

What has changed in2O22?

Part 1: Measurement Domains.

Table 3 - Context Measure 4

Table 4 - Context Measure 5

Table 5 - Context Measures 5, 7, 8 and 9

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

4

4

8

8

9

.55

.57

.58

.59

.61

DOMAIN 5: REGULATORY POLICIES ..35

Table 1- Context Measure L

2 | P age



608
@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario

llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

3lPage



il I tiltlElnllmnil N It l.ilt I

KD

609
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

lntroduction

The College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF)

with the aim of answering the question "how well are Colleges executing their mandate which is to act in the public interest?" This information will:

1. Strengthen accountability and oversight of Ontario's health regulatory Colleges;

2. Help Colleges improve their performance;

Each College will report on seven Domains with the support of six components, as illustrated in Table 1.

Table 1: CPMF Measurement Domains and Components

CPMF.

Standards
-+ Performance-based activities that a College is expected to achieve and against which a College will be

measured.

Measures -+ More specific requirements to demonstrate and enable the assessment of how a College achieves a Standard.

Evidence
-+ Decisions, activities, processes, or the quantifiable results that are being used to demonstrate and assess a

College's achievement of a standard.

+ StatisticaldataCollegesreportthatwillprovidehelpfulcontextaboutaCollege'sperformancerelatedtoa
standard.

Measurement
domains

Context
measures

Planned

improvement
actions

+ Critical attributes ofan excellent health regulator in Ontario that should be measured for the purpose ofthe

-+ lnitiatives a College commits to implement over the next reporting period to improve its performance on one
or more standards, where appropriate.

1

2

3

4

5

6

4lPage



610
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

CPMF Model

achieve as an excellent regulator.

Figure 1: CPMF Model for Measuring Regulatory Excellence

Organizational Focus
Applicanti

Registrant Focus

Results &

lmprovement Registrant Focus

7 Measurement,
Reporting and
lmprovement

/ The College
continuously
assesses risks, and
measures,
evaluates, and
improves its
pefformance.

r' The College is
transparent about its
peiormance and
improvement
activities.

6 Suitability to Practice
College efforts to ensure
that only those individuals
who are qualified, skilled
and competent are
registered, and only those
registrants who remain
competent, safe and
ethical continue to
practice the profession.

The College's policies,

standards of practice, and
practice guidelines are based
on the best available evidence,
reflect current besf pracfrbes,

are aligned with changing
publications and where
appropiate aligned with other

Policies2 Resources
The College's ability to have
the financial and human
resources to meet its statutory
objects and regulatory

now and in the future

3 System Partner
Extentto which a College works
w ith oth er Co I I egeY system
paftners, as appropriate, to help

execute its mandate effectively,
eff ici e nUy and/o r coord i n ated
manner to ensure it responds to

4 lnformation Management

College etrorts to ensure lfs
confidenti al information is retained
securely and used appropiately in

administeing regulatory activities,
legislative duties and objects.

1 Governance
/ College effofts to

ensure Council and
Commiftees have the
required knowledge
and skills to warrant
good governance.

/ lntegriUin Council
decision making.

/ Coilege efforts in
disclosing how
decisions are made,
planned to be made,

and actions taken that
are communicated in
ways that are

accessib/e to, timely
and useful for relevant
audiences

5lPage



...1-.1 ! .]t-l-

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Figure 2: CPMF Domains and Standards

61 1

CCO CPM F Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

Standards

1. Council and statutory committee members have the knowledge, skills, and commitment needed to effectively execute
their fiduciary role and responsibilities pertaining to the mandate of the College.

2. Council decisions are made in the public interest.
3. TheCollegeactstofosterpublictrustthroughtransparencyaboutdecisionsmadeandactionstaken.
4. The College is a responsible steward of its (financial and human) resources.

5. TheCollegeactivelyengageswithotherhealthregulatoryCollegesandsystempartnerstoalignoversightofthepractice
ofthe profession and support execution of its mandate.

6. The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships responds in a timely and effective manner to
changing public expectations.

7. lnformation collected by the College is protected from unauthorized disclosure.

8. Policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines are based in the best available evidence, reflect current best
practices, are aligned with changing public expectations, and where appropriate aligned with other Colleges.

9. The College has processes and procedures in place to assess the competency, safety, and ethics of the people it
registers.

10.The College ensuresthe continued competence of all active registrantsthrough its QualityAssurance processes.This
includes an assessment of their competencv, professionalism, ethical practice, and qualitv of care.

11. The complaints process is accessible and supportive.
12. All complaints, reports, and investigations are prioritized based on public risk, and conducted in a timely manner with

necessary actions to protect the public.

13. The College complaints process is coordinated and integrated.

14. The College monitors, reports on, and improves its performance.

Domains

Governance

Resources

System Partner

I nformation Management

Regulatory Policies

Suitability to Practice

Measurement, Reporting and
lmprovement

6lPage



@D

612
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

The CPMF Reporting Tool

Standards.

improvement and the various commitments Colleges have made to improve their performance in serving and protecting the public as per their 2021 CPMF Reports. The focus of the

each other.

The ministry's Summary Report will be posted in English and French and weblinks to the report will be shared with the Colleges once it is published.

TlPage



@D

613
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

For this reporting cycle, Colleges will be asked to report on:

' Their performance against the CPMF standards and updates on the improvements Colleges committed to undertake in their previous CPMF reports;

. Provide detailed improvement plans where they do not fully meet a benchmarked Evidence.

Completing the CPMF Reporting Tool

interpreted given the uniqueness of the profession each College oversees.

and progress made on commitments from previous years.

What has changed in2O22?

referencing College documents.

SlPage



614
K.D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Part 1: Measurement Domains

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

The competency and suitability criteria are public: Yes
lf yes, pleose insert a link ond indicate the poge number where they con be found; if not, pleose list criteriq.

CCO identifies competencies for candidates for election to Council and appointment of non-council committee members in the following
Cocuments:

o Competencies for Council and Committee Members - this document was passed by CCO Council on November 25,2027 to identify
competencies for Council and committee members, including competencies that candidates may already possess and competencies

that can be learned and developed through CCO orientation and educational opportunities.
r 2022 Notice of Election - the Notice of Election identifies the criteria for being eligible for election to Council and the factors and the

conflicts of interest that would preclude a member from being eligible for election to Council. ln the 2022 Notice of Election, CCO has

identified various competencies that candidates are encouraged to include in their election material, including: knowledge, expertise,

skillsandattributesrelatedto: chiropracticcareof patients,includingpatientsfromdifferentbackgrounds,protectionofthepublic
interest, servingon boards in an oversight role, interpersonaland communication skills, previous roles and experience in business,

organizational planning, human resources, health and safety, policy development, risk management, education and research,

financial or accounting, information technology and any other roles relevant to CCO's mandate and functions. This document is

available to the public.

r CCO !g!4..Q and Bv-law 12 identify criteria and requirements for being eligible to be a Council or committee member.

Professional members are
eligible to stand for election to
Council only after:

i. Meeting pre-defined

competency and suitability
criteria; and

Benrhmarked Evidence

a.

IT
cl
G
oz
Fvt

LIJ
Uz
z
E
LLI

O(t

rl
z

oo

9 | P age



_--_,.,-. _.__ rl I llll

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

615
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L,2023

response is "portiolly" or "no", describe the College's plon to fully implement this meosure" Outline the steps (i.e., drofting policies, consulting stakeholders, or
existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion.

l0lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

616
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Choose an item

Yes

li ihe rcs1cnse is "i:orlially' or "no''. is ih€ Cr:llege plunninq ta imprave its periomlLrnce o\/er lhe next re;lartingl Jteriod)

Arld i tin n t I r o ir rt : c tit t f.t I c I q r iii.n t ia n lapi io no I ) :

The College fulfills this requirement:

Duration of orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end)

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

Candidates, Council and Committee members are required to participate in various orientation and training sessions throughout the year.

Ihese include:
. In April 2021, Council approved a mandatory orientation session (communicated to members and stakeholders as part of the 2022

Notice of Election) for candidates for CCO Council for lhe 2022 elections to Council, This training session was led by CCO staff and

outside legal counsel and took place on February 23,2022from 6 pm - 8 pm.
. On April 27,2022,8:30 am - 1 pm, Council and committee members participated in an orientation on the College's mandate and

objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar and General

Counsel and outside legal counsel.
. At various times in May - June 2O22, each committee held an introduction to its committee at its first meeting.
r On September 9 - 11, 2O22 - Council and staff attended strategic planning and educational sessions related to best practices on

CPMF, conflict of interest, Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and Cyber Security.
r On November 25,2O22,8:30 am - 11:30 am, Council and committee members attended an educational session on regulatory

practices led by outside legal counsel and staff.
. New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the discipline training sessions conducted by the Health

Professions Resulators of Ontario (HPRO).

attending an orientation training
about the College's mandate
and expectations pertaining
to the member's role and
responsibilities.

11 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

-ilrtr -I I [L UEIIEIllmrI llt. ]lrll llrll

617
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

The competency and suitability criteria are public: Yes

lfyes, pleose insert o link ond indicate the pdge number where they can be found; if not, please list criterio.

Competencies for Council and Committee Members - this document was passed by Council on November 25,2027 to identify
competencies for Council and Committee members.
CCO Bv-law 7 and Bv-law 12 identify duties and powers of executive officers and committee chair and criteria for appointing committee
members. Candidates interested in all committee positions are required to submit a letter of intent and curriculum vitae, identifying
their interest, relevant competencies, skills and qualifications for committees. Committee members may also speak to their interest,
competencies, skills and qualifications to Council, prior to the appointment to committee.
CCO Council passed a policy, lnternal Policv l-019: Policv on Nominations and Election Procedures for Ccmmittee Positions (page 168 of
April2!,2022 public Council package), on November 25,2O2!, to outline the policies and procedures for the nomination and election
procedures for committee positions. CCO applied this policy to elections of committee members, wh-rch took place on April27,2022.
Consistent with the CPMF-inspired move toward competency-based selection and appointments process for all members of Council or
committees, CCO, like many health regulators in Ontario, has amended its bv-laws to permit the appointment of an individual who is

neither a member of the college nor a public member appointed by government, but who demonstrat* the competencies, skills and
judgement to contribute to the work of a specific committee. Mr. MacKay was reappointed to the Discipline Committee on Ap1!|2:L
2022. consistent with this policy.
With respect to evidencing the suitability of nominees, in keeping with the aspirational objectives of hrhasure 1.1 of the CPMF this year
the CCO Executive Committee directed all Council members to provide their interest, and relevant bctground and skills for any desired
Committee position. These responses were compiled for Council's consideration at the meeting on Aoril2!,2O22. Matching interest
with skills and competency for committee membership is a recognized best practice, supported by the MOHLTC and highlighted in the
landmark 2018 inquiry into the BC College of Dental Surgeons undertaken by Harry Cayton (known as tre 'Cayton Report').

b. Statutory Committee candidates
have:

i. Met pre-defined
competency and suitability
criteria; and

Benchmorked Evidence

12lP age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

618
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

the College's plon to fully implement this meosure. Outline the steps (i.e., drofting policies, consulting stakeholders, or
'eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony barriers to implementotion.

tf the response is "portiolly" or "no", describe

The College fulfills this requirement:

Duration of each Statutory Committee orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of each orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics for Statutory Committee.

Candidates for CCO elections attended a mandatory orientation session conducted by outside counsel and CCO staff on February 23,
2022.
Committee members are required to attend an orientation session, which took place on April 21, 2O22,8:3O am - 1 pm, on the College's
mandate and objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar
and General Counsel and outside legal counsel.
At various times in May - June 2O22, each committee held an introduction to its committee at its first meeting.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the Discipline Training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Resulators of Ontario (HPRO).

All Council and committee members are encouraged to attend additional HPRO training sessions, including governance training, reasons
writing and others.

attended an orientation
training about the mandate
of the Committee and

expectations pertaining to a
member's role and
responsibilities.

il_

13lPage



_ _- ll ilr[ _ {l llllEElm lEl rl.[I lnl --

619
@@ r*::

of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Choose an item.tf the rrsponse is "Llortiolly" ar "na", is the Colleae plonninq to improve its performonce over fhc next reportinq periad ?

A(iditianol comtn?nts for c!arif icotion (optitsnal):

14lPage



@D
college of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

620
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item

Yes

!l rlto rt\ponse is "parihlly" ar "nt:", is tht Coilene plan:t:nr1 lo itnoro\)e its gerfrtrntr:rtr e a\rcr tllF n?vt repariina itcriod 2

Add iliaitLs i t orrtnte;tl: ; for r !o rificotir:n i opticrto !).

The College fulfills this requirement

Duration of orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

Once appointed to Council, new public members participate in informal communication with the President, Registrar and General

Counsel, and outside legal counsel on the College's mandate and expectations pertaining to the appointee's role and responsibilities.

Council members, including public members, are required to attend an g1!en!at.!c!_-g.gggi9!, which took place on April27,2O22,8:30 am

- 1 pm, on the College's mandate and objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This

was led by the Registrar and General Counsel and outside legal counsel.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the discipline training sessions conducted by the Health

Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

All Council and committee members are encouraged to attend additional HPRO training sessions, including governance training, reasons

writing and others.

c. Prior to attending their first
meeting, public appointments to
Council undertake an orientation
training course provided by the
College about the College's
mandate and expectations
pertaining to the appointee's
role and responsibilities.

15lPage



.. ,.1 "l-itltnutMil[]ll i .._._] ..1"_l ..t..tl

621
@D

Colleqe of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Partially
The College fulfills this requirement

Please provide the year when Framework was developed OR last updated.

Please insert a link to Framework OR link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where the Framework is found and was approved.

Evaluation and assessment results are discussed at public Council meeting: No

lfyes, pleose inserto linkto the lost Council meeting ond indicote the poge numberwhere the most recent evoluotion results hove been presented ond discussed.

\s part of its strategic planning sessions on September 9 -71,,2022, CCO Council and staff attended educationalsessions on practices of
:ther colleges related to evaluating Council performance, led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel. CCO will continue to receive
:raining and education on evaluating Council effectiveness and implementing a framework for evaluation in 2023.

Ivaluation and assessment of Council will be a priority at the September 2O23 strategic planning sessions and will be reported on further in
:he 2023 CPMF.

ICO will continue to receive training and education on evaluating Council effectiveness and will be further exploring options of
mplementing a framework for Council evaluation in 2023.

lvaluation and assessment of Council will be a priority at the September 2023 strategic planning sessions and will be reported on further in
:he 2023 CPMF.

a. Council has developed and
implemented a framework to
regularly evaluate the
effectiveness of:

i. Council meetings; and

ii. Council.

16lFage



622
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Has a third party been engaged by the College for evaluation of Council effectiveness? No

lf yes, how often do they occur?

Please indicate the year of last third-party evaluation.

Although CCO has not engaged a third partyfora formal review of the Council's effectiveness in2O22, CCO has brought in outside

:onsultants, including regulatory consultants, legal counsel and communication experts to facilitate education sessions on issues related to
governance, best practices for regulators, evaluating Council performance, and duties of Council. On September 9 - 77,2022, Council and

:ommittee members attended an educational session on evaluating Council performance, led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel

CCO last updated its missions, vision, values, and strategic objectives using an outside facilitator in2O77 (last full strategic planning to
update CCO's mission, vision, values, and strategic objectives).

Evaluation and assessment of Council will be a priority at the September 2023 strategic planning sessions and will be reported on further in
lhe 2023 CPMF.

b. The framework includes a third-
party assessment of Council

effectiveness at a minimum every
three years.

17lP age



-- ._. lt.tI l[l _

623
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes
i,fth,'r.s/rcnsai;'lnrttolly"or"no" ittltpCal!rr1e phnnitiatoitnprav' itspcrlormanc(ov(rthcnextreportinqperiod?

3CO will continue to receive training and education on evaluating Council effectiveness and will be further exploring options of
mplementing a framework for Council evaluation in 2023.

lvaluation and assessment of Council will be a priority at the September 2023 strategic planning sessions and will be reported on further in
ihe 2023 CPMF.

AdtlitrrtttQi rtttnrilent-s {ar i lnrifintit:n loptbrni)

18lPage



KD
Coilege of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

624
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Pa rtia lly

lj tlle resiJOnse is "prrtn::llv" or "rto" is lhe Crlled€ plunnllc to itr]Drov( iis pertorrnoncr t)\i{:t llic next repartinLT perrsrl ?

Ariditiotirtl L onntcnts lar clarif icotion lt:trttitnoi):

CCO will continue to hold education and training sessions for Council and committee informed by Council and committee member feedback.

The College fulfills this requlrement:

Please insert a link to documents outlining how outcome evaluations have informed Council and Committee training and indicate the page numbers.

Please insert a linkto Council meeting materials and indicate the page numberwhere this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

Council and committee education and training are informed by council and committee member feedback and direction. Specific education and

fraining in 2O22 took place at various times during the year - in February and April for orientation, September for strategic planning and

Novemberfor an end ofyear educational sessions. Topics included introduction to CCO and professional regulation, duties ofcouncil and

rommittee members, governance, best practices of colleges with respect to CPMF, avoidance of conflict of interest, diversity, equity and

inclusion training, cyber security training, lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic and reflections on professional regulation.

CCO staff also participated in various education and training, including presenting and attending the CNAR Conference in October 2022,

attendingthe HPRO EDI consultation sessions in December 2022, attending an educational session "Equality, Diversity and lnclusion: Cultural

Competence Skills for Legal Professionals", put on by York University on November t5,2022, "Changing Tides: The Ebb and Flow of
Administrative Justice" put on by the Society of Ontario Adjudicators and Regulators on November 3,2022, continuing education on

prosecuting and defending discipline cases on April 19, 2022, and various Administrative Law continuing professional development events.

Materials from educational sessions are often included in public Council packages.

Ongoing training provided to
Council and Committee members
has been informed by:

i. the outcome of relevant
evaluation(s);

ii. the needs identified by

Council and Committee
members; and/or

c.

19lPage



....t.,1 rr

625
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a Iink to documents outlining how evolving public expectations have informed Council and Committee training and indicate the page numbers.

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

ln April 2021, Council approved a mandatory orientation session (communicated to members and stakeholders as part of the2022
Notice of Election) for candidates for CCO Council for the2O22 elections to Council. This training session was led by CCO staff and
outside legal counsel and took place on February 23,2022 from 6 pm - 8 pm.

On April 2I,2022,8:30 am - 1 pm, Council and committee members participated in an orientation on the College's mandate and
objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar and General
Counsel and outside legal counsel.
At various times in May - June 2022, each committee held an introduction and orientation to its committee at the first meeting of each
committee. Depending on the committee, staff and outside legal counsel provided this orientation.
On September 9 - 7!,2022 - 8:30 am - 11:30 am, Council and committee members attended a strategic planning session, which
addressed topics such as: best practices of colleges with respect to CPMF, avoidance of conflict of interest, diversity, equity and inclusion
training, cyber security training led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel.
On November 25,2022,8:30 am - 11:30 am, Council and committee members attended educational sessions on lessons learned from
the COVID-19 pandemic and messages around professional regulation, led by outside legal counsel Richard Steinecke.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the Discipline Training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Reeulators of Ontario (HPRO).

CCO staff also participated in various education and training, including presentinB and attending the CNAR Conference in October 2022 anc
attending the HPRO EDI consultation sessions in December 2022.
Review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines continue to be informed by emerging regulatory issues, input from the lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee based on trends and emerging issues in complaints, and correspondences from system partners,
such as chiropractic professional associations.

iii. evolving public expectations
including risk management
and Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion.

Further clarification:

Colleges are encouraged to define
public expectations based on input
from the public, their members, and

stakeholders.

Risk management is essential to
effective oversight since internal and
external risks may impact the ability
of Council to fulfill its mandate.

20lPage



626
@D

College of Chiropractors ot Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31., 2023

YesIf thr re\ponsp is "portiolly" rsr "na". is the Colleqe plttnning ta imprcve its perfarmance over the next reportinq petiod I

Ael d tt i o n x l c r; rn m e nts lo r c l ct rif i cu t io n (o pt ic n tt l ) :

Education and training sessions for Council members, committee members and staff will continue to be informed by emerging issues, public

expectations, and risk management, with input provided by Council and committee members and emergency regulatory issues.

21 lPage



- l.ll. . -lli .1.1

627
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 37,2023

.t r.[]

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Policy was last evaluated/updated.

Please briefly describe any changes made to the Council Code ofConduct and'Conflict of lnterest Policy'resultingfrom the last review

ICO has several code of conduct documents that are required to be signed by council and committee members on an annual basis. These

nclude:
r Code of Conduct (public document on CCO's website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2016)
. Confidentialitv Undertaking (public document on CCO'S website. reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2018)
r lnternal Policv l-015: Zero Tolerance for Abuse, Neglect and Harassment (internal policy, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended

September 2018)

ncluded in every Council and committee information packaee, are the mission, vison, values and strategic objectives of CCO and the duties
r nd objects of the College under the Regulated Heolth Professions Act, 199L (RHPA) and the code of conduct for Council and committee
nembers. Council and committees always review these documents at the first meeting of a new council or committee to ensure that council
rnd committee members have an understanding of the regulatory and strategic objectives of the College. These documents are also

ncluded as part of any council and committee training.

ICO also has a Policv on Conflict of lnterest for Council and Non-Council Committee Members which is included and reviewed every time
:here is a consideration of a conflict of interest on a specific matter. This is a public document available on CCO's website.

ICO reviews all conduct documents on an annual basis and will seek outside legal advice in making updates to these documents.

a. The College Council has a Code of

Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest'

policy that is:

i. reviewed at least every three
years to ensure it reflects
current legislation, practices,
public expectations, issues,

and emerging initiatives (e.9.,

Diversity, Equity, and

lnclusion); and

Further clarif ication:

Colleges are best placed to determine
the public expectations, issues and

emerging initiatives based on input
from their members, stakeholders,
and the public. While there will be

similarities across Colleges such as

Diversity, Equity, and lnclusion, this is

also an opportunity to reflect
additional issues, expectations, and

emerging initiatives unique to a

College or profession.

LJJ

Uz
z
d.
lrJ

o
(9

J
z
a
oo

N
o4
6z
rh

22lP aEe



628
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item.lf the respnnsr is "partially" ar "no ', is the College planninq to improve its pcrformance aver tlt. next rcportinq perioci ]

Addiiional t:amments for clarif icotion (optio|tol)

23lPage



-.ll _lL rI] rlL rl rnllEllr{llMli l ll lll jt11l._*--

629
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Poliq/ OR Council meeting materials where the policy is found and was last discussed
and approved and indicate the page number.

ncluded in every Council and committee information package, are the mission, vison, values and strategic objectives of CCO and the duties
and objects of the College under the Regulated Heolth Professions Act, 7997 (RHPA) and the code of conduct for Council and committee
members. Council and committees always review these documents at the first meeting of a new council or committee to ensure that council
tnd committee members have an understanding of the regulatory and strategic objectives of the College. These documents are also
ncluded as part of any council and committee training.

CCO has several code of conduct documents that are required to be signed by council and committee members on an annual basis. These
nclude:

e Code of Conduct (public document on CCO'S website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2016)
. Confidentialitv Undertakinq (public document on CCO's website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2018)
r lnternal Policv l-015: Zero Tolerance for Abuse, Neelect and Harassment (internal policy, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended

September 2018)

ii. accessible to the public.

24 lP age



630

@) w::; of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Cooling off period is enforced through: By-law

Please provide the year that the cooling off period policy was developed OR last evaluated/updated.

Please provide the length ofthe cooling off period.

How does the College define the cooling off period?

- lnsert a link to policy / document specifying the cooling off period, including circumstances where it is enforced and indicate the page number;

- lnsertalinktoCouncil meetingwherecoolingoffperiodhasbeendiscussedanddecideduponandindicatethepagenumber;OR

- Where not publicly available, please briefly describe the cooling off policy.

CCO Bv-law 6: Election of Council Members and Bv-law 12: Appointment of Non-Council Members identify "cooling off" periods as follows:
r A member may be on CCO council or a committee for a maximum of nine years and then is required to be off CCO council or a

committee for at least three years until being eligible for election again to Council or appointment to a committee.
r A member may only be chair of Council or a committee for a maximum of two consecutive years.

o A member is required to not be an employee, officer or director of a professional chiropractic organization that is identified as having

a conflict of interest with CCO for a period of at least three years before being eligible for election to CCO Council

r On December 2,2O22, proposed amendments to By-law 6 and By-law 12 were circulated to stakeholders, including members, for
feedback on increasing the cooling off period from to six years from three years the amount of time that must have elapsed since a

disciplinary finding or disqualification from serving against any prospective Council candidate or committee appointee. This

circulation is available at the followine link. Feedback and final approvalfor these amendments were reviewed and considered in

January 2023.

t\dclitianoi r onme,nts f rtr rlorif ie otion (oationol)

b. The College enforces a minimum
time before an individual can be

elected to Council after holding a

position that could create an

actual or perceived conflict of
interest with respect their
Council duties (i.e., cooling off
periods).

Further clarification:
Colleges may provide additional
methods not listed here by which they
meet the evidence.

25lPage



l.l --. i r[.] I lll -

631
@;;T :;

of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3!,2O23

Choose an item

Yes

Atlti i! iit il ol t ctn rrts piy: 1s, r la rificGl iail (ol)Itonn i)

The College fulfills this requirement

Please provide the year when conflict of interest the questionnaire was implemented OR last evaluated/updated.

Membe(s) note whether their questionnaire requires amendments at each Council meeting and whether they have any conflicts of interest based on Council
agenda items: No

Please insert a link to the most recent Council meeting materials that includes the questionnaire and indicate the page number.

has a Policv on Conflict of lnterest for Council and Non-Council Committee Members and Coc!eo[..1Qong!gg! which are included and
every time there is a consideration of a conflict of interest on a specific matter. This is a public document available on CCO's

At the beginning of every Council and committee meetings, council and committee members are required to identify any conflict of
nterest that may arise with any item on the agenda, based on the criteria of this policy. The remainder of Council and committee members

ll then make a determination of whether this member has a conflict and whether they should be absent from the meeting for this agenda
m. Legal advice may also be sought, depending on the issue.

Council members complete and sign a code of conduct, confidentiality undertaking, lnternal Policy on Zero Tolerance for Abuse,
Harassment, and elected member undertaking on an annual basis. All of these forms, in addition to the Policy on conflict of interest,
ify potential conflicts of interest issues https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2023/04/Council-Orientation-Elections-Public-Packaee-

these forms are completed annually, all council and committee members are required to identify any potential conflicts of interest
council or committee agenda items, at the beginning of a meeting, prior to review of those items.

reviews all conduct documents on an annual basis and will seek outside legal advice in making updates to these documents. CCO

of itson conflict of interest asreceived train ber 9 - 77,2022sessrons on

(pages 313 - 323)

c. The College has a conflict-of-
interest questionnaire that all
Council members must complete
annually.
Additionallv:

i. the completed
questionnaires are included
as an appendix to each
Council meeting package;

ii. questionnaires include
definitions of conflict of
interest;

iii. questionnaires include
questions based on areas of
risk for conflict of interest
identified by Council that are
specific to the profession

and/or College; and

iv. at the beginning of each
Council meeting, members
must declare any updates to
their responses and any
conflict of interest specific to
the meeting agenda.

26lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

632

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Choose an item

/A,(iditljl nGl I oni ric tls ft,)t als I ii t. oi ion ioptioot i)

27 lP age



... I lnl

633

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item.

Ys
The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please briefly describe how the College makes public interest rationale for Council decisions accessible for the public.

. Please insert a link to Council meeting materials that include an example of how the College references a public interest rationale and indicate the page number.

Council materials include committee reports that describe the public interest rationale, as well as processes, research and background
materials for any motion that is made for approval from Council. Reports to Council often includes research on practices and procedures of
)ther jurisdictions and Ontario regulators in Ontario, feedback from distributions from members, patients and stakeholders and government
regulations and priorities. Public Council packages can be found at the followine link.

A.!d ii iitial r c tinve rtt:s frtr L:loriflr:ation (if neet{cril

d. Meeting materials for Council
enable the public to clearly
identify the public interest
rationale and the evidence
supporting a decision related to
the College's strategic direction
or regulatory processes and
actions (e.9., the minutes include

a link to a publicly available
briefing note).

23lPage



634
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year that the formal approach was last reviewed.

Please insert a link to the internal and external risks identified by the College OR Council meeting materials where the risks were discussed and integrated into the

College's strategic planning activities and indicate page number.

3CO regularly reviews, assesses, and manages internal and external risks in the following manner:
. CCO reviews all standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis. This review involves how assessing internal and

external risks may inform the review and any amendments considered for these documents. Review of standards of practice,

policies and guidelines are also informed by internal communication, such as communication from the lnquiries, Complaints and

Reports Committee based on trends in complaints, and externalcommunication, such as communication from system partners and

stakeholders, as well as circulation of documents for feedback from stakeholders, including members, organizations and patients.

r The lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee continued to apply risk manaeement tools developed in2O2!, available to the
public and posted on the complaints webpage, to identify, assess and manage risk associated with complaints.

. ln2O22, CCO continued to prioritize identifying, assessing, and managing risk associated with lTfunctions and cyber security,

including obtaining enhanced cyber security insurance, requiring dual factor identification for logins, training for staff, reviewing and

enhancing cyber security requirements and conducting an independent assessment on cyber security. CCO also amended record
keeping standards, including Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping and 5-022: Ownership, Storaee, Securitv and Destruction of
Records of Personal Health lnformation to include further requirements and resources related to protection of electronic records

and cyber security.

e. The College has and regularly
reviews a formal approach to
identify, assess, and manage
internal and external risks. This

approach is integrated into the
College's strategic planning and
operations.

Further clarification :

Formal approach refers to the
documented method or
which a College undertakes to
identify, assess, and manage risk. This

method or process should
be regularly reviewed and
appropriate.

Risk management planning activities
should be tied to strategic objectives
of Council since internal and external
risks may impact the ability of council
to fulfill its mandate, especially in the
absence of mitigations.

lnternal risks are related to operations
of the College and may impact its

ability to meet its strategic objectives"
External risks are economic, political
and/or natural factors that happen

outside of the organization.

29lPage



t.l .-. ..__ lJl il[

635
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3I,2O23

Choose an item.![ll" tt:t-;\)tt.: ;'. pdrlitll\, cr"]io" !\ Il,e (,.lirg,. yl7n1t,n11 i( ,,r'r:.'d!L ;!spetlorrrttttt, t)rJ llE nL'\l repartitr petioJ?

/\ddii.io tiul (.L,rnt1tnt s i cr clorificol iou (il net,-lerJ)

30 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

636
CCO CPMF ReportingTool - March 3t,2023

Chocsc an iirln

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the webpage where Council minutes are posted.

Please insert a link to where the status updates on implementation of Council decisions to date are posted OR where the process for requesting these materials is

posted.

3CO posts on its "News & Updates" page and distributes to members and stakeholders President's Messages, which often include new and

tmended CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines approved by Council, once they come into effect following approval

rf the minutes. Status reports are also publicly communicated through committee reports as part of public Council packages.

3CO publishes Council minutes once they are approved, in accordance with Policv l-017: Minutes for CCO Meetinss (page 493 of the April

L4,2O2t public Council package).

a. Council minutes (once approved)
and status updates on the
implementation of Council
decisions to date are accessible

on the College's website, or a

process for requesting materials
is clearly outlined.

(Yt

o
e,

ctz
l-tl

lfJ
Uz
z
E
LLI

o
(9
J

z
a
oo

31 lPage



...- l:ll llLl,

637
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontsrio

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to the webpage where Executive Committee minutes/meeting information are posted

3CO publishes Executive Committee meetings dates in its public Council packages, posts them on the CCO website on the Council meetins
rase. The public Council package includes committee reports, including the Executive Committee report to Council, which includes all
'ecommendations recommended to Council by the Executive Committee. Recommendations include a description of the recommendation,
lll relevant documents, including marked up copies of changes to existing documents, relevant information from other regulators,
;takeholders and system partners, and feedback from members and stakeholders, if applicable. The Executive Committee report also
ncludes any decisions or approvals made by the Executive Committee to be ratified by Council, if properly constituted.

It' the resnonse is 'pnrtioliv" ar "no' . is ihr: ColIeqe plcnnino te inlprovo its perfonnon(€ aver the next reportinE period?

b. The following information about

Executive Committee meetings is

clearly posted on the College's

website (alternatively the College

can post the approved minutes if
it includes the following

information).

i. the meetingdate;

ii" the rationale for the

meeting;

iii. a report on discussions and

decisions when Executive

Committee acts as Council

32lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

638
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

or discusses/deliberates on

matters or materials that
will be brought forward to or

affect Council; and

iv. if decisionswill beratified by

Council.

Addirion(r! (4rntntnts fctr t Iurilirotion (optiot)c|)

33lPage



l.; -"ni ._. _.1."I;Jll| rfliillll " .--Ltl-. .-ill" . .,1-t.

639
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Choose an rtem.

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement

. Please insert a link to where past Council meeting materials can be accessed OR where the process for requesting these materials is clearly posted.

:CO posts its upcoming Council meeting dates and public council meeting materials once they are prepared, general one week in advance.

The College fulfills this requirement:

\otices of discipline hearings are posted both on the CCO website and under the member profile on the oublic reeister. These postings
nclude a link to the Notice of Hearing and discipline hearing dates once they are scheduled. Following the discipline hearing, an agreed
;tatement of fact, discipline decision and suspension dates are posted.

Please insert a link to the College's Notice of Discipllne Hearings.

With respect to Council

meetings:

i. Notice of Council meeting
and relevant materials are
posted at least one week in

advance; and
ii. Council meeting materials

remain accessible on the
College's website for a

minimum of 3 years, or a

process for requesting
materials is clearly outlined.

a.

b. Notice of Discipline Hearings are
posted at least one month in

advance and include a link to
allegations posted on the public

register.

34 lP age



640
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Chcosc an iicrn

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:a. The DEI plan is reflected in the
Council's strategic planning

activities and appropriately
resourced within the
organization to support relevant
operational initiatives (e.9., DEI

training for staff).

Please insert a link to the College's DEI plan.

Please insert a link to the Council meeting minutes where DEI was discussed as part of strategic planning and appropriate resources were approved and indicate
number.

Council approved a Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion (DEl) Plan on April 20,2022. Among the objectives in the DEI Plan are

Appointing three CCO staff members as DEI officers.

Directing CCO committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens. CCO Council approved
amendments to several standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepine and

a

a

a

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients, and the Application Form for
initial registration to amend certain demographics and gender requirements and further describe CCO's accessibility policies for
examinations.
ldentify current CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines which include DEI principles for both members and CCO, such as

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients and Policv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv.

Publish CCO's Land Acknowledsement on the CCO website, and begin every Council meeting with a reading of this
DEI training for Council and staff as part ofthe Strategic Planning sessions on September I - L7,2022.
lncluding questions related to DEI in the interview process in August 2O22in selecting new peer assessors.

Planning for a DEI presentation at the Peer Assessor Workshop on January 28,2023.
Attendance at DEI consultation sessions from the HPRO in December 2022.

' D nAE' aan'. I ^^;-l^+i^^ ^^'{ tr+hi-- trv-l9ih-+i

a

a

a

a

a

35lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

.- ..._-. l rl rr {LLlllnE'lffin lI l[rl lill

641

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item.

. CCO actively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and will be reviewing and applying its
resourcesandguidesin2o23'TheworkoftheHPRointheseareashashelpedinformCCoworkon@'

. Attendance at an educational session "Equality, Diversity and lnclusion: Cultural Competence Skills for Legal Professionals", put on by

York University on Novembe r t5,2022 and "Changing Tides: The Ebb and Flow of Administrative Justice" put on by the Society of
Ontario Adjudicators and Regulators on November 3,2022.

r DEI events for staff, including the celebration and education on various events and holidays throughout the year.

il!ltert1:rtnceis porttolly'ar'no",tstheColleoepltnningt()itnpta\/?ifsperfarnonceovcrthenextrel:)ortingperiorl?

Ad(.lii iittnl ! onutient:; fet clorif i.ol ion loptiono!)

36 | P age



642
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a linkto the Equity lmpact Assessments conducted bythe College and indicatethe page numberOR please briefly describe how the College conducts

Equity lmpact Assessments.

lfthe Equity lmpact Assessments are not publicly accessible, please provide examples ofthe circumstances (e.g., applied to a policy, program, or process) in which

Equity lmpact Assessments were conducted.

CCO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following
Cocuments and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv, Equity and lnclusion Plan
r Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients
r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary

r Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present

Guideline c-009: code of Ethics
o Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-

economic status or disability
Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities

r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected;
r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with

Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:
o provide health care services without discrimination; and
o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policv P-045: CCO's Legislation and Ethics Examination
o CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the
Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the
examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

b. The College conducts Equity lmpact
Assessments to ensure that
decisions are fair and that a

policy, or program, or process is

not discriminatory.

Further clarification:

Colleges are best placed to determine
how best to report on an Evidence.

There are several Equity lmpact
Assessments from which a College
may draw upon. The ministry
encourages Colleges to use the tool
best suited to its situation based on
the profession, stakeholders, and
patients it serves.

3TlPage



--. i.rl ltj llL r!illmlEil III i{rl I lill ____ __ _

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

643
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Yes

Policv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv
r CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public
with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

Competencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25, 20211
o The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of

practice in Ontario.
. Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

Amendments to document in2O22 related to DEl, included Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeoins and Policv P-045: CCO's Leeislation
lnd Ethics Examination, Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients, and the Application Form for initial resistration to amend certain
Jemographics and gender requirements and further describe CCO's accessibility policies for examinations.

lf theresy:nst:i3'clrliollv"ai'no".isihe"Colleqt:piannlngtainlproveitsperfornlonc€),terthenextreportingneriorl?

CCO will continue to review and adopt DEI principles, including further review and revisions of CCO's DEI plan, participation and adoption of
HRPO DEI resources, and further education and training related to DEl.

/ \tj d ili( ) il,1 i (.atn ltt p nt s I or ( ia ril i.,.1 t io n (o pt i onol )

3SlPage



644
Kd

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials that include discussions about activities or projects to support the strategic plan AND a link to the most recent

approved budget and indicate the page number.

. Please briefly describe how resources were allocated to activities/projects in support ofthe strategic plan.

Among its strategic objectives is "Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate resource priorities in a fiscally responsible manner"

Fiscal management is one criterion at which CCO has excelled, as evidenced by the following:
r Through extensive efforts over many years, CCO built sufficient resources to purchase a new home for CCO headquarters in 2019 at

Yonge and Bloor;
r CCO's new office space was built out on budget (despite many setbacks);
. CCO increased members'fees for 2023 renewal by the Cost-of-Living-Adjustment (COLA), as authorized in Bv-law 13: Fees. This

resulted in a SS0 increase to General members'fees for 2023 renewal. This was the first fee increase since 2011;
o The staff complement is small, competent, and loyal; there are 12 staff members for just over 5300 members.

CCO has operated in a fiscally responsible manner as evidenced in its financial reports published in its annual reports and in every Council

meeting package. 2021 audited financial statements are included in the 2021/\nnugl_&ps,G and2O22 financial statements will be posted in

lhe2O22 Annual Report, once the auditing of them is complete. CCO has operated with a surplus in every year in the recent past and has

reserves that are sufficient to operate CCO for at least one fiscal year.

At every Council meeting, CCO Council reviews its expenses vs. budget for every budget item ongoing during the fiscal year. CCO will review
any budget items where the actual expenses may be in excess of the budgeted cost. This may occurforcommittees such as lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports and Discipline where the costs of the committees are contingent on the number of complaints and discipline
hearings and may be difficult to predict exactly when approving a budget. Since these are core functions, CCO has always been able to fulfill
the mandate of these committees by increasing the budget line for that particular college committee or function. CCO will also use these
increased figures as a guide for budgeting for the next year.

a. The College identifies activities

and/or projects that support its

strategic plan including how

resources have been allocated.

Further clarification :

A College's strategic plan and budget

should be designed to complement

and support each other. To that end,

budget allocation should depend on

the activities or programs a College

undertakes or identifies to achieve its

goals. To do this, a College should

have estimated the costs of each

activity or program and the budget

should be allocated accordingly,

ilr-1
<t
ot
oz
Fv,

N
z
g8
oocOlov,

LU&

39lPage



ll . _-_1lJll-i!Lr

645
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item.

Despite the requirement to increase particular budget items or committees as described above, CCO has not gone over budget as a whole
during a fiscal year.

At every Council and Executive meeting, actual financial results are compared with the budget and significant variances are reviewed and
investigated further.

Ilt:..'...ltr)t:.t, 't:'ttllv tt, qt:.t.lttr(.'tl:'ttr'ltl t.tntt:./'.-)'rJri..\"',s1:rfotnrtnr;JyF:rrhe4e\lrep0titfU04tr)(!!

r)iiiitioilal aoltfilcnts lor t lotifitrriinn (optictnol)

40lPage



646
KD

college of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Choose an item.

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the "financial reserve policy" OR Council meeting materials where financial reserve policy has been discussed and approved and indicate the
page number.

. Please insert the most recent date when the "financial reserve policy" has been developed OR reviewed/updated.

. Hasthefinancial reserve policybeenvalidated byafinancialauditor? Yes

3CO Council approved a financial reserve policv (page 664 ofthe June 22,2A22 public Council package) on November 25,2021, based on
.ecommendations from the Executive Committee. This policy was developed in collaboration with CCO's financial auditor.

tltltltiir:nul cttrnrnenis ler ( !'::irif i 0t iatt (il nteded)

b. The College:

i. has a "financial reserve
policy" that sets out the level

of reserves the College
needs to build and maintain
in order to meet its

legislative requirements in
case there are unexpected
expenses and/or a reduction
in revenue and

ii. possesses the level of
reserve set out in its

"fi nancial reserve policy".

41 lP age



-.1 n lll

647
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontailo
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

The College fulfills this requirement: lv"t
. Please insert a link to the College's written operational policies which address staffing complement to address current and future needs.

. Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the operational policy was last reviewed and indicate the page number.

Note: Colleges are encouraged to add examples of written operational policies that they identify as enabling a sustainable human resource complement to ensure
organizational success.

CCO includes detailed financial statements in the in-camera section of each Council package as well as each Executive Committee meeting
package. At each meeting, the Treasurer provides a detailed report on CCO's updated financial information, including assets and liabilities,
yearly spendingvs. budget items, details around various fixed costs and reports about human resources, staffand stafftraining updates.

CCO's financial and human resources information is publicly available in CCO's annual reports.

Council is accountable for the

success and sustainability of the

organization it governs. This

includes:

i. regularly reviewing and

updating written

operational policies to
ensure that the organization

has the staffing complement

it needs to be successful now

and, in the future (e.9.,

processes and procedures

for succession planning for
Senior Leadership and

ensuring an organizational

culture that attracts and

retains key talent, through

elements such as training

and engagement).

Benchmarked Evidence

c.

42lP age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ll0rdre des Chiroptaticiens de l'Ontario

648
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion,

43lPage



.. . ,L-llri! ll[1.

649
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's data and technology plan which speaks to improving College processes OR please briefly describe the plan.

n 2022, CCO continued to prioritize identifying, assessing and managing risk associated with lT functions and cyber security, including
'equiring dual factor identification for logins, training for staff, reviewing and enhancing cyber security requirements and conducting an
ndependent assessment on cyber security. CCO obtained additional cyber security insurance, and continued requiring two factor
ruthentication for remote access to CCO emails and files. CCO Council and staff received training in cyber security as part of its Strategic
)lanning sessions on September 9 - 7I,2022.

ICO continues to review its use of technology as it applies to virtual council and committee meetings, virtual discipline hearines, member
rnd corporation renewal. and reporting of qualitv assurance activities.

4ltl ii irl rttl i,.trt: rrtr., ni :. i t:r tii.t ril k li ion lli;i i6nu i)

regularly reviewing and
updating the College's data
and technology plan to
reflect how it adapts its use

of technology to improve
College processes in order to
meet its mandate (e.g.,

digitization of processes

such as registration, updated
cyber security technology,
searchable databases).

il.

44lPage



650
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

+l

Standard 5: The College actively engages with other health regulatory colleges and system partners to align oversight of the practice of the profession and support execution

other system partners to support and strengthen alignment of practice expectations, discipline processes, and quality lmprovement across all parts ofthe healthsystem

where the profession practices. ln particular, a College is asked to report on:

. How it hos engoged other heolth regulotory Colleges and other system portners to strengthen the execution of its oversight mondote ond oligned proctice

expectotions? Pleose provide detoils of initiotives undertaken, how engogement hos shoped the outcome of the policy/progrom ond identify the specific changes

implemented ot the College (e.g., joint stondords of proctice, common expectotions in workploce settings, communicotions, policies, guidonce, website, etc.).

actively engages with other health regulatory colleges, system partners and stakeholders to align the oversight of the practice of the
rofession and support execution of its mandate. The following is a description of several of those organizations and CCO'S involvement in them.

cific initiatives with stakeholders and system partners are further described in standards 5 and 6.

Ith Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): is an organization comprised of all health regulatory colleges governed under the RHPA. HPRO

gularly has meetings of all its directors and Executive Committee, as well as several sub-committees, including Communications and Corporate

HPRO conducts training and seminars for council and staff of regulatory colleges, such as governance training, basic and advanced

training and prevention of sexual abuse of patients. The discipline training is a requirement for CCO Council and committee members to

of its mandate.

to communicate withflmanon a DisciIete before sitti HPRO has conductednel. Additional tnvirtual meetin

The two standards under this domain are not assessed

based on measures and evidence like other domains, as

there is no 'best practice' regarding the execution of

these two standards,

lnstead, Colleses will report on kev activities.

outcomes, and next steps that have emersed through a

dialosue with the ministrv.

Beyond discussing what Colleges have done, the

dialogue might also identify other potential areas for

alignment with other Colleges and system partners.

DOMAIN 3: SYSTEM PARTNER

STANDARD 5 And STANDARD 6

45lPage



. L.l*Jr-J]lt. ,* ll,l|Ill]wllml lln :lillr 
'lL[_.---_-

651
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Ontario Government and Ministry of Health and communicate among health regulatory colleges to ensure consistent messages and regulation
with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic. CCO staff have attended many meetings and educational session conducted by HRPO, including ongoing
meetings related to the CPMF and DEI consultation in December 2022. CCO staff participate in several HPRO groups including those related to
practice advisors, DEl, CPMF and others.

fhe Ontario Fairness Commissioner (OFC) is the organization that assesses the registration practices of regulated professions and trades in Ontario
to make sure they are transparent, objective, impartial and fair for anyone applying to practise his or her profession in Ontario. CCO provides
annual reports to the OFC, posted on CCO's website and has annual meetings with the OFC to discuss ongoing developments in registration
practices. CCO's 2021 annual report to the OFC is posted on CCO's website.

Ihe Federation of Canadian Chiropractic (FCC) is a nationalfederation of chiropractic regulators, educational institutions and specialty colleges
whose purpose is to promote effective communication and cooperation among its members relating to education, accreditation and regulation of
chiropractic in the public interest that enhances the work of the members collectively and individually. The FCC typically holds board meetings in
April and November. CCO actively participates in these meetings, and specifically in the chiropractic regulatory group. The FCC provides a national
lorum to:

. exchange best practices concerning regulatory issues, develop the capacity to:
r develop the capacity to:

o educate federal government policy makers in the public interest concerning regulatory affairs
o educate those involved in chiropractic regulation
o educate the chiropractic profession concerning the public interest

. establish standards and to evaluate and accredit chiropractic educational programs

. provide leadership on issues such as licensure, accreditation, examination, continuing competence, inter-jurisdictional mobility, scope of
practice, standards of practice, codes of ethics and specialty designation.

Ihe FCC regularly holds two multi-day meetings, typically taking place in April and November each year, as well as holding additional meetings and
:ommunication exchanges throughout the year.

Ihe Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association (CCPA): the largest malpractice protective association forchiropractors in Canada. The CCPA

attends meetings at the FCC and has presented on issues related to professional liability protection. CCO engages in regular communication with
lhe CCPA and both organizations often refer members with questions related to professional liability protection vs. professional regulation. The
CCPA was also instrumental in helping to develop the "Roadmap of Care" documents (linked above).

46lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

652
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

l-he Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board (CCEB): conducts clinical competency examinations for individuals seeking licensure to practise

:hiropractic in Canada. The CCEB is responsible for the development, delivery and administration of three examinations:
. Component A - Chiropractic Knowledge
. Component B - Clinical Decision Making
. Component C - Clinical Skills Demonstration

\s a member of its board of directors, CCO attends annual meetings of the CCEB, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board

reetings include presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of
[he examination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, as well as the election of various board positions the review and approval

rf financial information. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 24,2022.

Ihe Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Colleee (CMCC) is the only English-speaking accredited chiropractic college in Canada. CMCC is a member of
the FCC and attends those meetings to participate in discussions and policy development around accreditation and educational. CCO is in

:ontinuous communication with CMCC concerning the requirements for new graduates to become registered with CCO following graduation. CCO,

tlong with other stakeholders and system partners will often present to students at CMCC on matters related to professional regulation. CCO

presented on two occasions to CMCC students in 2022 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 26,2022 to third year students and

rn November 7,2022 to first year students. These presentations are included in the 5@D_beI_9.2.022 (page 1008) and November 24. 2022 (page

749) Council packages.

Ihe Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) is the largest professional association for chiropractors in Ontario. CCO continuously engages in

:ommunication with the OCA. The OCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution
rf draft documents for feedback.

l-he Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA) the largest professional association for chiropractors in Canada. CCO continuously engages in

tommunication with the CCA. The CCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution
cf draft documents for feedback.

Ihe Alliance for Chirooractic (AFC) is an Ontario chiropractic advocacy group that exists to heighten public awareness of the multitude of health

benefits associated with chiropractic care. CCO continuously engages in communication with the AFC. The AFC is a stakeholder for CCO and is

included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution of draft documents for feedback.

47 lP a9e



... -l,rll^nu.riL[!.

653
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

CCO received and participated in communication with various chiropractic associations on topics related to g4llej$gg and assistive devices with
respect to business practices, chiropractic care of animals and expansion of cooling off periods related to elections to CCO Council.

48lPage



654
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Standard 5: The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships and responds in a timely and effective manner to changing public/societal expectations.

The intent of Standard 5 is to demonstrate that a College has formed the necessary relationships with system partners to ensure that it receives and

:ontributes information about relevant changes to public expectations. This could include both relationships where the College is asked to provide information by

;ystem partners, or where the College proactively seeks information in a timely manner.

. Please provide examptes of key successes ond ochievements from the reporting yeor where the College engoged with partners, including potients/public to ensure

it con respond to chonging public/societol expectotions (e.g., COVID-19 Pondemic, mentol heolth, lobor mobility etc.). Pleose olso describe the motters thot were

discussed with eoch ofthese portners ond how the informotion thot the College obtained/provided wos used to ensure the College could respond to o public/societdl

expectdtion.

. tn oddition to the portners it regulorly interocts with, the College is osked to include informotion about how it identifies relevont system portners, mointoins

relotionships so thdt the College is oble occess relevont informotion from portners in o timely manner, ond leveroges the informotion obtoined to respond

(specific exomples of when and how o College responded is requested in Stondord 7).

lealth Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): CCO Council and committee members attended various training sessions conducted by

IRPO related to conducting discipline hearings, governance and other professional regulatory topics. Staff participated in various HRPO

Teetings, committees and educational sessions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, communications with the Ministry of Health, Quality
\ssurance, Practice Advisory, CPMF and DEI training. Council and committee members applied the knowledge from discipline training to
rerve on seven discipline panels in 2022, which were all uncontested hearings, decided by agreed statement of fact and penalty. CCO

tctively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and will be reviewing and applying its resources and
juides in 2023. The work of the HPRO in these areas has helped inform CCO work on Diversitv. Equitv and lnclusion. Participating in the

?.uality Assurance and Practice Advisory groups has helped inform amendments to CCO's Qualitv Assurance program, including introducing
more mandatory continuins education programs for the July 7,2022 - June 30, 2024 CE cycle, updating a second version of the Self

Assessment for more experienced practitioners, and updating Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0 to include more examples and case

;cenarios to be analyzed as part of Peer and Practice Assessment.

CCO filed its 2021 Annual Report to the OFC, posted on CCO's website. CCO continues to be meet its key performance indicators for
registering applicants in a timely, consistent and transparent manner, as reported to the OFC, including those registering under labour

mobility and from other jurisdictions outside of Canada. CCO regularly communicates with other regulators inside and outside Canada to
lbtain letters of standing and other information relevant to registration of applicants.

49lPage



.,, LILILI]IJ .-r-lrilLr.L-[UUlllJlUlllULL -.lLl]--,.

655
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

CCO discussed and reviewed practices of other Ontario health regulatory colleges in implementing and revoking policies related the COVID-

19 pandemic. These updates were then communicated to members and stakeholders and posted on the CCO website to be implemented.

CCO attends annual meetings of the CCEB as a member of the board, along with a ll other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board meetings
include presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of the
examination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, the election of various board positions the review and approval of financial
information. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 24,2022.

CCO approved in principle a draft national code of ethics approved by the FCC in an effort to help harmonize standards across Canada. This draft
will be brought forward for final approval in 2023.

CCO presented on two occasions to CMCC students in2O22 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 26,2022 to third year students
and on November7,2022 to first year students. These presentations are included in the Sg$g!-bg-f_9.]022 (page 1008) and November 24. 2022
(page 749) Council packages.

CCO received communications from chiropractic professional associations on business practices as they related to orthotics and assistive devices
and recent discipline decision on this topic. CCO's Quality Assurance Committee reviewed this issue and CCO Council approved amendments to
Standard of Practice 5-0L2: Orthotics, Standard of Practice S-02L: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices. Amendments
emphasize the sections of the professional misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees
must be disclosed in advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third
party payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

On December 2,2O22, proposed amendments to By-law 6 and By-law 12 were circulated to stakeholders, including members, for feedback on
increasing the cooling off period from to six years from three years the amount of time that must have elapsed since a disciplinary finding or
disqualification from serving against any prospective Council candidate or committee appointee. This circulation is available at the following link.
Extensive feedback was received from members and stakeholders, including chiropractic patients, members of the public and chiropractic
organizations. Feedback and final approval for these amendments were reviewed and considered in January 2023.

CCO representatives attended the Ontario Chiropractic Association's AGM and Gala on January 29,2022.

50lPage



656

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31. 2023

Choose an it(]nl

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

. PleaseinsertalinktopoliciesandprocessesORpleasebrieflydescribetherespectivepoliciesandprocessesthataddressesdisclosureandrequestsforinformation.

ICO has various policies and by-laws intended to maintain privacy and the prevent unauthorized disclosure of information:
. CCO has a Privacv Code outliningthe privacy practices of the College, available on the CCO website.
. CCO Council and committee members and peer assessors are required to sign annually a confidentialitv undertaking.
o CCO staff members have all signed a confidentialitv undertaking with regard to working remotely. This undertaking outlines the

expectations of maintaining privacy and confidentiality specific to remote work.
o CCO staff members have participated in various continuing education events related to confidentiality and privacy in the face of the

COVI D-19 pa ndemic, specifica lly a dd ressing working remotely.

ICO makes member information public in accordance with the public register requirements of the Health Professions Procedural Code and

lv-law 17: Public Resister.

The College demonstrates
how it:

i. uses policies and
processes to govern the
disclosure ol and
requests for
information;

a.

I-tr
Ir

Fz
LIJ

LLI
(9

z

zo
F

d.
o
Iz
+
z
a
oa

oc
o2

51 lPage



657
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a linkto policies and processes ORplease briefly describethe respective policies and processes toaddress cybersecurityand accidental or unauthorized

3CO implemented several cyber security initiatives in 2O22:

. CCO conducted an internal audit of its information technology and cyber security processes

. CCO continued to apply and expand its use of two-factor authentication access to CCO emails and files while working remotely.

. CCO approved several amendments to record keeping standards to enhance requirements for members' use of electronic record
keeping and cyber security (referenced later in this document)

disclosure of information.

eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be tdking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion.

n conjunction with its lT providers, CCO will continue prioritizing lT and cyber security reviews in2O23, enhancing security, and performing
ndependent assessments.

uses cybersecurity
measures to protect
against unauthorized
disclosure of
information; and

uses policies, practices

and processes to address
accidental or
unauthorized disclosure
of information.

Benchmarked Evidence

il.

ilt,

52lPage



658
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College evaluates its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they are up to date

andrelevanttothecurrentpracticeenvironmentandindicatethepagenumbe(s) ORpleasebrieflydescribetheCollege'sevaluationprocess(e.g.,what

triggers an evaluation, how often are evaluations conducted, what steps are being taken, which stakeholders are being engaged in the evaluation and how are

they involved).

the first committee meeting, following the constitution of new committees annually, every committee reviews all of its sta ndards of
policies, guidelines, policies and by-laws and identifies documents that should be reviewed and considered for amendments.

ittees may recommend amendments to documents for various reasons, including receiving a memorandum from the lnquiries,

mplaints and Reports Committee on recent complaints matters, complying with legislative and regulatory amendments, researching

nd applying best practices from other professional regulators and other jurisdictions and other communications from system partners

as the Office of the Fairness Commissioner, chiropractic professional associations and malpractice insurance providers and members

the public. The following are examples of revisions made to CCO documentsin 2O22i

r Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepine and Standard of Practice 5-022: Ownership. Storase, Securitv and Destruction of
Records of Personal Health lnformation were amended to include the requirement to collect demographic information as n

to identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiring the collection of specific demographic information such as gender. This is

a practice taken by many other Ontario health regulatory colleges in their record keeping standards. Members may exercise

professionaljudgment in collecting and recording demographic information necessary to identify, assess and treat patients.

Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of Standard of Practice 5-002 and s-022 further emphasize the importance of
the security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health information maintained in electronic record keeping systems.

This includes ensuring that electronic record keeping system are compliant with the Personal Health lnformation Protection Act,

2004 (PHIPA), havingcybersecurity protections in placeto protect personal health information from loss, tampering, interference
and unauthorized use and access, and having protocols in place on steps to take in the event of a privacy breach. lt is imperative

that members have an understanding and are educated in their electronic record keeping systems and employ best practices to
ctices and standards of other Ontarocess of this reviewI health information. ln theensure the of

a. The College regularly evaluates

its policies, standards of
practice, and practice

guidelines to determine

whether they are

appropriate, or require

revisions, or if new direction

or guidance is required based

on the current practice

envi ronment.

Eenchmorked Fvidence

rr
t
€
o
c,EEUZ

fotr
r

d.
oF
J
f
(9
IJJ
d.
,;
z
a
oo

53lPaEe



L] .- ... - I lll 1]tr!-

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

659
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

health regulatory colleges were researched and reviewed.
r Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio was amended to require members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of

registration to attend the CCO Virtual Regulatory Excellence Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or once every six years)

as part of their structured CE hours. Members may complete this requirement over the next three CE cycles or until June 30, 2028.
The Regulatory Excellence Workshop builds upon the previous Record Keeping Workshop and includes topics related to all aspects
of the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. This virtual workshop is typically offered three times per year and is free for all CCO

members.
r Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent was amended to include language that the requirement for a patient to bring another

individual to any future appointment is considered a breach of patient privacy and is inappropriate, except for reasons of capacity
to consent and/or substitute-decision making, Amendments to this standard were approved based on a recent lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports decision. A patient's right to privacy and confidentiality must be respected and it must be the patient's
choice of whether they wish to bring another individual with them to future appointments. Review of this standard was a result of
a memorandum from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to address complaints related to this issue.

.wasamendedtoincluderequirementsthatmembersshouldbeparticularly
sensitive to individual patient's comprehension of verbal, written and non-verbal communication, and communicate using as plain
language as possible. lf there are any barriers in communication, language or interpretation, members should support patients in

identifying potential resources for reducing these barriers. Members should also ensure that communication with patients is

consistent with Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent, including that
communication should be patient-centred, focusing on the patient's reasons, objectives and goals for seeking chiropractic care,
using clear and concise language to communicate matters related to examination, care and informed consent, and referring a
patient to an appropriate health professional if a matter is beyond the chiropractic scope of practice. Members should respect any
patient requests to have a third-party of their choosing present (e.g., spouse, trusted friend) for any appointments, subject to any
safety, public heialth and privacy measures. However, it must be the patient's choice whether they would like to have a third-party
present, and a member must not require this, subject to any capacity to consent and/or substitute-decision making issues.

o Standard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice S-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices were
amended to address the following:
o There have been past disciplinary findings related to improper billing practices and documentation related to the

prescribing, manufacturing, selling and dispensing of orthotics, The amendments emphasize the sections of the professional
misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees must be disclosed in
advancetothe patient, includingfeesthatare not payable bythe patient (i.e., payable byan insurance companyorthird
party payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

o fees cha for orthotics or assistive device must be co a lied in accordance with the membe/s fee

54lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

660
cco CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and any borriers to implementdtion.

schedule and based on a clinical history, examination, diagnosis or clinical impression, consent, instructions and

recommendations and follow-up, as documented in the patient health record.

o A member should familiarize themselves with a patient's insurance company or third-party payor if any third-party is

involved with reimbursement for services or products related to chiropractic care.

o Recommendations for amendments include the use of gender neutral pronouns.

Review and amendments to these documents were conducted following communications from system partners, such as

professional associations, and involved research from other Ontario health regulatory colleges.

CCO updated its COVID-19 euidance for members and the public, based on changing directives from the Ontario Government and

adopted COVID-19 protocols for hvbrid meetines (page 586 ofthe February 24,2023 public Council package) reviewed and

amended throughout the year.

a

55lPage



ll . . . -'1-L-&"ri!llt. .L -ll.fl,lg-Ilmn llll,Ll1u l]lll

661

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College develops or amends its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they
address the listed components and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's development and amendment process.

CCO reviews all its by-laws, internal policies standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis or if there is a regulatory
reason for review, such as a change in legislation, a direction from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or Discipline
Committee or a change in public health requirements (e.9., related to the COVID-19 pandemic). ln its review, CCO committees will include
as part of their review, as included in committee materials:

o Evidence and data related to inquiries, complaints and discipline trends and results
. Risk based analysis posed to patients and the public, including the review of journal and academic articles
. Comparable documents from other Ontario Health regulatory colleges and other chiropractic regulators across Canada and

sometimes in other jurisdictions (USA, Australia, UK)

Submissions and responses to distributions and requests for feedback from members, patients, stakeholders, system partners,
professional associations, academic institutions, and professional malpractice insurance providers.

'eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and ony borriers to implementotion.

Provide information on how
the College takes into
account the following
components when
developing or amending
policies, standards and
practice guidelines:

i. evidence and data;

ii. the risk posed to patients /
the public;

iii. the current practice

environment;

iv. alignment with other
health regulatory Colleges
(where appropriate, for
example where practice

matters overlap);

v. expectations ofthe public;

and

vi. stakeholder views and
feedback.

Benchmorked Evidence

56lPage



662
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

. Please briefly describe how the College reviews its policies, guidelines, standards and Code of Ethics to ensure that they promote Diversity, Equity and lnclusion.

. Please highlight some examples of policies, guidelines, standards or the Code of Ethics where Diversity, Equity and lnclusion are reflected.

ICO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following
locuments and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion Plan

. Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Suideline G-001: Communication with Patients
. Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary
o Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics
o Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-

economic status or disability
Suideline G-0U: Accommodation of Human Riehts and Disabilities

r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected;
r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with

Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:
o provide health care services without discrimination; and

o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policv P-045: CCO's Legislation and Ethics Examination
r CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the
Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the
examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

Policv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv
r CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public

with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

The College's policies,
guidelines, standards and
Code of Ethics should
promote Diversity, Equity,

and lnclusion (DEl) so that
these principles and values

are reflected in the care
provided by the registrants of
the College,

c.

5TlPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

-,,ll n l]iil . l,lIlillllnllmtril Illrr l!il| - llLli

663

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

iompetencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25, 20211
. The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of

practice in Ontario.
. Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

y'arious amendments to CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines reflect DEI principles as discussed further in this document.
\mendments include Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepine. Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent, Guideline G-001: Communication
arith Patients, Policv P-045: CCO's Leeislation and Ethics Examination, and CCO's initial resistration forms.

lf rlie rr::;ytrt nse rs ";'tottio liy" or "no", js thp Cctlir:qe Stia lninq i o imprave it... Dprtarmd nte ovpr the nut repori inq pcriod ?

Atl Llil tt: np I co n me ni s lo r tl o ri f i L: lti o n (a pl io nt l )

CCO will continue to review its by-laws, standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as its processes and educational
opportunities for short term and long term objectives in enhancing DEI related issues.

5SlPage



664
K..D

College of Chiropractors of Ontano
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please inserta linkthatoutlinesthe policies or processes in placeto ensurethe documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements and indicate
page number OR please briefly describe in a few words the processes and checks that are carried out.

Please insert a link and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe an overview ofthe process undertaken to review how a College operationalizes its
registration processes to ensure documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements (e.g., communication with other regulators in other
jurisdictions to secure records of good conduct, confirmation of information from supervisors, educators, etc.).

ICO's Prospective Members section of its website includes all regulations, by-laws, policies, application forms, decision-making charts for
"equirements for registration and links to outside organizations, such as educational accrediting agencies and the clinical competency

:xamining board.

3CO's Registration Coordinator receives completed applications from prospective members and verifies them to determine if all the
'equirements for registration are included. As part of the registration application submission, CCO will receive documents from outside
)rganizations, such as transcripts from accredited chiropractic educational institutions, examination results from the CCEB and Vulnerable
Sector Police Checks from police departments.

Cnce a completed application is received and reviewed by the Registration Coordinator, it will then be reviewed by the Registrar and

3eneral Counsel. The Registration Coordinator and Registrar and General Counsel will review each application to ensure that all

requirements for registration in CCO's Resistration Regulation and various registration by-laws and polices have been met.

f any application is missing a requirement or if there is a question as to the completeness of an application, the applicant will be asked to
provide additional information.

a. Processes are in place to

ensure that those who meet the

registration requirements receive

a certificate to practice

(e.g., how it operationalizes the

registration of members,

including the review and

validation of submitted

documentation to detect

fraudulent documents,

confirmation of information from

supervisors, etc.)1.

{r
gl
a
c,
6zUE

F t,
U
e.
o-
oF
F
J
a
F

=v)
(b
z
a
oo

59lPage



...lilllrl I lt,lttl[tlrrrMil tll ilil r]il

665
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ll0rdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3l-, 2023

any certificate of registration, including whether an applicant is eligible to be granted an exemption from a particular requirement.

Only after review and approval from the Registrar and General Counsel, will an application for registration be approved and the applicant
be issued a certificate of registration. Approximately 95% of applications are approved by the Registrar and General Counsel.

lf there is a question whether the applicant meets the requirements for registration, the application and additional information will be

referred to the Registration Committee for review and a decision. Review of the application may include additional information for review,
such as a member's professional portfolio, outlining their quality assurance and continuing education activities, letters of good standing
trom other regulated jurisdictions in which the member practised and any applicable letters from medical or legal practitioners or experts.
Ihe Registration Committee will also review CCO lggla.ljong and pl!g.!gg as well as decision-making charts based on specific criteria and
past precedents to help guide its decisions for previous members and !gg!.g!jca.n:6..

Following review of an application and all applicable information, the Registration Committee may make the following decisions:
. Registertheapplicant
. Register the applicant with terms, conditions and limitations
r Not register the applicant
. Require the applicant to complete further requirements to be eligible for registration
o Request further information

60lPage



666
KD

college of Chiropractors of ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Choose an item

Choose an item

lf th€ respa) nse i; "ps ri iollv'' or " ne". ia !i)r Co llerle' pl0n ning te i nprove its perjornto nr e ov€r I he next re pgrlinq period I

t\dd i tio r t ct ! c ti n t n'te nIs j'r: r cl a rit'i crL tio t ( a lst ir.t qu I )

lifhe rcsponse is "pilrtidll,y'or "no'', i:;the Colleqe [tiannina to improvr its perfofi]ience ovcr thp next r€partinq p;eriod?

t\d d i t ia nrt I co n ntc nls lo r ci o rifica i i(i n (apt io no l)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Pleaseinsertalinkthatoutlinesthepoliciesorprocessesinplace foridentifyingbestpracticestoassesswhetheranapplicantmeetsregistrationrequirements
(e.g., how to assess English proficiency, suitability to practice etc.), a link to Council meeting materials where these have been discussed and decided upon and

indicate page numbers OR please briefly describe the process and checks that are carried out.

Please provide the date when the criteria to assess registration requirements was last reviewed and updated.

Ihe Registration Committee annually reviews its regulations, policies and by-laws related to criteria and processes for registration. CCO

also reviews its annual recommendations from the Ontario Fairness Commissioner for ways to further ensure its registration processes are

Fair, impartial, and transparent. CCO'S bi-annual meetings with the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic often include discussions and

sharing of best practices regarding registration issues, accreditation and movement of members and applicants across jurisdictions within
Canada.

b. The College periodically

reviews its criteria and

processes for determining

whether an applicant meets

its registration req uirements,

against best practices (e.9.,

how a College determines

language proficiency, how

Colleges detect fraudulent

applications or documents

including applicant use of
third parties, how Colleges

confirm registration status in

other jurisdictions or
professions where relevant

etc.).

61 lPage



KC
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

..... -.1. h-!.il!,8.Ij11il.ilr'. - r. r.. r r""1.. . l.r.

667
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the currency and competency requirements registrants are required to meet.

Please briefly describe how the College identified currency and competency requirements.

Please provide the date when currency and competency requirements were last reviewed and updated.

Please briefly describe how the College monitors that registrants meet currency and competency requirements (e.g., self-declaration, audits, random audit etc.)
and how frequently this is done.

Ihe Registration Committee reviews its annual renewal processes each yearto ensure that members self-declare on various aspects of
their practice, including their business addresses, preferred methods of communications with CCO, professional malpractice insurance
provider and coverage, mental and physical competency to practise chiropractic, good character reporting, reporting of any criminal
:harges or convictions or findings of professional negligence and other practice information. Every two years, during the same renewal
period, members are also required to report on their compliance with CCO's Quality Assurance requirements, such as compliance with self
assessment and continuing education. Quality Assurance requirements and reporting are found in the Quality Assurance section of this
Cocument. lnformation related to 2022 renewal can be found at the followine link.

CCO's Registration Committee reviews legislation and regulation, specifically lhe RHPA and its regulations, for any updates to registration,
renewal or public register requirements to ensure its renewal process is compliant with existing legislation and regulation. As well, in its
'eview,the Registration Committeewill reviewall relevant bv-laws, regulationsand policiesforanyupdatestothe renewal process. lf
.recessary, CCO will consult with outside legal counsel for any advice.

:or the 2023 renewal process, the Registration Committee met in July 2O22to review the 2023 renewal memorandum and online

luestionnaire and made recommendations to Council, which were approved in September 2022.

f a memberanswers certain questions, such as disclosing that they have a criminaloffence or charge orthat they lackthe mentalor
rhysical capacity to practise chiropractic, CCO's Registration Coordinator will automatically be notified by email through the renewal
tystem, and that member's renewal will be pending a review by the Registrar and if necessary, the Registration Committee. Following
"eview, the renewal status of the member may be approved, denied or approved with terms, conditions and limitations.

c. A risk-based approach is used

to ensure that currencyz and
other competency
requirements are monitored
and regularly validated (e.g.,

procedures are in place to
verify good character,
continuing education,
practice hours requirements
etc.).

62lP3gs



@D

668
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

assessed as part of registration processes are included (e.g., during renewal of a certificate of registration, or at any other time).

Choose an item
i,rlr.!it iL,: tt: I r. t rit rte fi ,s fat clo dl it oi ir: t (op{i1.tv:61]J

63lPage



.- ,.,1. ... ..1: -"1 ^xIIIIqILllllLr'r- . ;. 1..r . r r 
" 
r. . .. ..r -

669
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 37,2023

Choose an iiem

YesThe College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a linkto the most recent assessment report bythe OFCOR please provide a summary ofoutcome assessment report.

Where an action plan was issued, is it: No Action plan lssued

ICO has continuously updated the "Prospective Members" section of its website to ensure that its registration practices are transparent,
rbjective, impartial and fair. These updates, based on its meetings and self assessments with the OFC, have included more links to outside
)rganizations, costs associated with the registration process, lists of requirements and forms to be completed for registration with CCO,

inks to all relevant by-laws, regulations and policies associated with registration, and flowcharts to visualize requirements for registration
'or different types of applicants, depending on their circumstances.

3CO's meetings with chiropractic stakeholders, such as educational accrediting boards and clinical competency examination providers
nclude discussions and meetings to ensure that CCO's registration practices, includingthose administered bythird parties, are transparent,
lbjective, impartial and fair.

3CO's OFC reports can all be found at the followins link.

a. The College addressed all

recommendations, actions

for improvement and next

steps from its most recent

Audit by the Office of the

Fairness Commissioner (OFC).

64lPage



@
College of Chiropractors ol ontailo
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

670

Addilional camments t'or (larit'irction (il needed)

65lPage



@d
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

l ,...nr ..... ..1 -lr-."J-1llmtrfllL[* , ]r rr.l . .l i

671

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Does the College always provide this level of support:
lf not, pleose provide o brief explonotion:

Please briefly describe a recent example of howthe College has assisted its registrants in the uptake ofa new or amended standard:

- Name ofStandard

- Duration of period that support was provided

- Activities undertaken to support registrants
- % of registrants reached/participated by each activity

- Evaluation conducted on effectiveness ofsupport provided

Yes

a

Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping and Standard of Practice 5-022: Ownership, Storage, Securitv and Destructlon of
Records of Personal Health lnformation were amended to include the requirement to collect demographic information as necessary
to identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiringthe collection of specific demographic information such as gender. This is
a practice taken by many other Ontario health regulatory colleges in their record keeping standards. Members may exercise
professionaljudgment in collecting and recording demographic information necessary to identify, assess and treat patients.
Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of Standard of Practice 5-002 and s-022 further emphasize the importance of
the security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health information maintained in electronic record keeping systems.
This includes ensuring that electronic record keeping system are compliant with the Personal Health lnformation Protection Act,
2004 (PHIPA), having cyber security protections in place to protect personal health information from loss, tampering, interference
and unauthorized use and access, and having protocols in place on steps to take in the event of a privacy breach. lt is imperative
that members have an understanding and are educated in their electronic record keeping systems and employ best practices to
ensure the protection of patient personal health information. ln the process ofthis review, practices and standards of other Ontario
health regulatory colleges were researched and reviewed.
Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio was amended to require members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of
registration to attend the CCO Virtual Regulatory Excellence Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or once every six years)
as part of their structured CE hours. Members may complete this requirement over the next three CE cycles or until June 30, 2028.
The Regulatory Excellence Workshop builds upon the previous Record Keeping Workshop and includes topics related to all aspects

Provide examples of how the
College assists registrants in

implementing required
changes to standards of
practice or practice guidelines

(beyond

communicating the existence
of new standard, FAQs, or
supporting documents).

Further clarification:

Colleges are encouraged to
support registrants when
implementing changes to
standards of practice or
guidelines. Such activities could
include carrying out a follow-up
survey on how registrants are
adopting updated standards of
practice and addressing
identifiable gaps.

a.

llJ
U
F
L)
d.
o-
oF
F
=co

F
f
tJl

6
z
a
oo

er{
6E
t]2
ttt

66lPage



672
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

a

of the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. This virtual workshop is typically offered three times per year and is free for all CCO

members.

Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent was amended to include language that the requirement for a patient to bring another

individual to any future appointment is considered a breach of patient privacy and is inappropriate, except for reasons of capacity

to consent and/or substitute-decision making. Amendments to this standard were approved based on a recent lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports decision. A patient's right to privacy and confidentiality must be respected and it must be the patient's

choice of whether they wish to bring another individual with them to future appointments. Review of this standard was a result of
a memorandum from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to address complaints related to this issue.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients was amended to include requirements that members should be particularly

sensitive to individual patient's comprehension of verbal, written and non-verbal communication, and communicate using as plain

language as possible. lf there are any barriers in communication, language or interpretation, members should support patients in

identifying potential resources for reducing these barriers. Members should also ensure that communication with patients is

consistent with Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent, including that
communication should be patient-centred, focusing on the patient's reasons, objectives and goals for seeking chiropractic care,

using clear and concise language to communicate matters related to examination, care and informed consent, and referring a

patient to an appropriate health professional if a matter is beyond the chiropractic scope of practice. Members should respect any
patient requests to have a third-party of their choosing present (e.g., spouse, trusted friend) for any appointments, subject to any

safety, public health and privacy measures. However, it must be the patient's choice whether they would like to have a third-party
present, and a member must not require this, subject to any capacity to consent and/or substitute-decision making issues.

Standard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice 5-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices were

amended to address the following:
o There have been past disciplinary findings related to improper billing practices and documentation related to the

prescribing, manufacturing, selling and dispensing of orthotics. The amendments emphasize the sections of the professional

misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees must be disclosed in

advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third
party payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

o Any fees charged for orthotics or any assistive device must be consistently applied in accordance with the member's fee

schedule and based on a clinical history, examination, diagnosis or clinical impression, consent, instructions and

recommendations and follow-up, as documented in the patient health record.

o A member should familiarize themselves with a patient's insurance company or third-party payor if any third-party is

involved with reimbursement for services or products related to chiropractic care.

a

a

o Recommendations for amendments include the use of neutral nouns.

6TlPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

- - I fi]Lllilil .r, llrlJilmlXlllmnrlfl llLll I lrill

673

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Choose an item

Review and amendments to these documents were conducted following communications from system partners, such as
professional associations, and involved research from other Ontario health regulatory colleges.

CCO updating its COVID-19 guidance for members and the public, based on changing directives from the Ontario Government.
CCO communicates and actively supports implementation of new and amended documents through President's Messages and
communications to stakeholders, includins members, the Regulatorv Excellence Workshop and updates to its Peer and Practice
Assessment 1.0 and 2.0 checklists and programs. Further statistics about these initiatives can be found in the Quantitative section
of this document related to Quality Assurance initiatives.
As of July t,2022, the Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) has become a mandatory component of Q!_1qirylg to be
completed once every six years. The REW is continuously updated to include the most recent version of standards of practice,
policies and guidelines, as they related to all aspects of professional regulation and patient care, as well as new and amended
documents and how they apply to practice.

CCO staff is always available to respond to questions from members, stakeholders, and members of the public. lf there is a novel
issue raised, this may be brought to the attention of the appropriate committee for further review.

a

a

a

ll il't.: resilor)se is "tsoriiolltt" or "no". is llte Ccllege itluinin4 to it)lptave ils pcrfonlloncp ovcr thr: ncxt reporlinu periorl?

t\drJil ia nl I r r ;l nta nt s ftir (.iotiIirljl:i1tn (spt ionol]

63lPage



674
KD

College of Chiropractors of ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

The College fulfills this requirement: I v",

Please list the College's priority areas offocus forQA assessment and briefly describe howthey have been identified OR please insert a link to the website where

this information can be found and indicate the page number.

lstheprocesstakenaboveforidentifyingpriorityareascodifiedinapolicy: Yes

lf yes, pleose insert link to the policy.

Ihe Q\ Program is described on CCO's website and consists of many components, including Professional Portfolio, Self Assessment.

lontinuins Education, Peer and Practice 1.0, Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0 and Regulatorv Excellence Workshops and the Core

:ompetencies Document.

All members are required to participate in the quality assurance program and are required within a two-year Continuing Education (CE)

:ycle to complete a self assessment, participate in continuing education and report these activities to CCO through the member portal. The

requirements of the quality assurance program are described in Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio. As well, approximately
250 - 500 members are selected for either Peer and Practice Assessment 1.0 or 2.0 each year. These selections are random in nature;

however, there are several factors which may trigger a member being selected for a peer and practice assessment, a requirement to
attend a record keeping workshop or additional educational activities:

r Members re-entering the General (i.e., active) class of registration after a period of at least two years are required to attend a

record keeping workshop and be peer assessed, in addition to re-taking CCO's legislation and ethics examination. This is described

further in Policv P-053: Returnins to the General Class of Certificate of Registration.
r Members who are subject to the inquiries, complaints and reports or discipline process are often required to participate in various

components ofthe quality assurance program, such as a record keeping workshop and peer and practice assessment, through
undertakings and discipline decision. These activities are intended to remediate deficiencies found as a result of the complaints or

discipline processes.

a. The College has processes

and policies in place

outlining:

i. how areas of practice that
are evaluated in QA
assessments are identified
in order to ensure the
most impact on the quality

of a registrant's practice;

69lP age



--rl.i.rL.tlr-xit"

675
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting -ool - March 31, 2023

Yes

CCO receives feedback on its quality assurance program through several mechanisms:
. CCO holds an annual peer and practice assessment workshop with all its peer assessors. ln2O27, CO did not hold this workshop

due to the COVID-19 pandemic; however, it did conduct a virtual workshop on January 29,2022. Tris workshop provided an
opportunity for peer assessors to offer valuable feedback on both versions of the PPA program. Ea:h peer assessor conducts
approximately 10 -20 peer assessments per year and, as representatives of CCO who have the opportunity to assess and interact
with members in an educational setting, they provide invaluable feedback on strengths, weaknesses and areas of improvement for
the PPA program and the quality assurance program in general. Peer Assessors can provide feedbak to the program through a

number of exercises and all feedback is brought back to the QA Committee for review and conside'ation of further changes to the
program.

r Each peer and practice assessment includes a feedback form that is completed by the member beirg assessed. All feedback is

reviewed by the QA Committee for the purposes of improving the program.
r All substantive new or amended by-laws, regulation, standards of practice, policies and guidelines are distributed to members and

stakeholders for feedback, as well as posted publicly on the "News & Updates" section of the CCO website providing an opportunity
for the public and patients to provide feedback as well. All feedback related to quality assurance iritiatives is reviewed by the
Quality Assurance Committee and Council for further amendments.

r The Quality Assurance Committee reviewed in detail the "Right Touch" regulation document and will be including it in all
committee information packages. ln late 2021, the Quality Assurance Committee reviewed the principles of the document to be
applied to the review of standards of practice, policies, guidelines and processes. The current Peer and Practice Assessment
program utilizes the "Right Touch" principles as it is clearly an educational and remediation progra'yl and not punitive in nature.
Only continued non-compliance has resulted in punitive measures, such as referral to the lnquirieg, Complaints and Reports
Committee.

ICO continuously reviews and assesses its qualityassurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups irvolving quality assurance staffof
/arious Ontario health regulatory colleges. This sharing of best practices assists in identifying areas for improvement for CCO's QA
)rogram. CCO will also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to inco?orate elements of this
rpproach into its QualityAssurance program.

,\tlt! il iot tu i i:r:n'trieill : [(.jt (!t] ti{i(.ut it ti (r;ptiano! )

T0lPage



676
@D

College of Chiropractors of ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

https://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/publications/right-touch-regulation),

71 | P age



l.l .- .t..$ l]Lt

677
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31., 2023

The College fulfills this requirement: lt"'
Please insert a link to document(s) outlining details of right touch approach and evidence used (e.9., data, literature, expert panel) to inform assessment approach
and indicate page number(s).

OR please briefly describe right touch approach and evidence used.

Please provide the year the right touch approach was implemented OR when it was evaluated/updated (if applicable).

lhe Quality Assurance Committee reviewed the Right Touch regulation document in detail at several meetings in Fall 2021 and reported on
:his as part of the Qualitv Assurance report to Council on November 25,2021. As part of its review, the Quality Assurance Committee
lpplied the following principles:

. Using a risk-based approach, primarily risk to the patient, in reviewing standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as
programs and processes of Quality Assurance.

o Reviewing relevant information in the review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited to:
comparable documents from other Ontario health profession and other chiropractic regulators from other jurisdictions,
memoranda from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, statistics related to complaints and discipline, feedback from
members, stakeholders, patients and organizations, and research and academic articles.

r Amendments to various CCO documents and programs such as the Regulatory Excellence Workshop are reported on elsewhere in

this document.

lf evoluoted/updoted, did the college engoge the following stokeholders in the evaluotion:

- Public Yes

- Employers Yes

- Registrdnts Yes

- otherstokeholders Yes

lt",

ICO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
/arious Ontario health regulatory colleges. This sharing of best prastices assists in identifying areas for improvement for CCO's QA
)rogram. CCO will also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this
rpproach into its Quality Assurance program.

!:rltl il iatt I r o ntn;? ili s fo r (larifirc tion iapttonol)

ii. details of how the College
uses a right touch,
evidence informed
approach to determine
which registrants will
undergo an assessment
activity (and which type of
multiple assessment
activities); and

72lP age



KD
College of Chiropractors of ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

678

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the document that outlines criteria to inform remed iation activities and indicate page number OR list criteria.

As described above, the Quality Assurance program and specifically Peer and Practice Assessment is primarily an educational and

remediation program, and punitive measures, such as referral to the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee have only occurred in

situations of non-compliance. lndividual peer and practice assessments may result in additional remediation or member requirements,

such as re-submitting patient health records for review,

lfthe response is "partiollv" r:r "no". is the College plonning to improve its perforntonr:e averthe next rcpattiftq perbdT 
I

CCO updates its peer and practice assessment materials annually to reflect new and amended standards of 
I

practice, policies and guidelines and will continue to review and update these materials to incorporate "Rightl

Touch" resulation principles. 
I

Yes

iii. criteria that will inform the
remediation activities a

registrant must undergo
based on the OA

assessment, where

necessary.

T3lPage



l.li. .. l.lll . l.l

679
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

.,-. .r.rl"

Yes

Chor:se an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's process for monitoring whether registrant's complete remediation activities OR please briefly descrlbe the process.

Please insert a link to the College's process for determining whether a registrant has demonstrated the knowledge, skills and judgement following remediation
OR please briefly describe the process.

Both peer and practice assessment (PPA) streams are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to members on a wide
range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Additionally, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members
with an official Disposition Report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific remediation recommendations for the memberto
Follow. Further remediation follow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis and CCO staff follows up with these members to ensure
remediation recommendations are incorporated into their practices. This can occur through resubmission of updated record keeping
torms.

a. The College tracks the results
of remediation activities a

registrant ls directed to
undertake as part of any
College committee and

assesses whether the
registrant subsequently
demonstrates the required
knowledge, skill and
judgement while practicing.

74 lP age



@D
College of Chiropractors of ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

680
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a linkto the College'swebsitethatclearlydescribesthe College's complaints process including, optionsto resolve a complaint, the potential outcomes

associated with the respective options and supports available to the complainant.

Please insert a link to the polices/procedures for ensuring all relevant information is received during intake OR please briefly describe the policies and procedures

if the documents are not publicly accessible.

CCO has several pages on its website describing the complaints process, including how to file a complaint, the information to be included in

a complaint, template letters involved in the complaints process, the various steps of the complaints process and the possible outcomes of
the complaints process. Any complaint involving allegations of sexual abuse involve communication from CCO staff informing the
complainant of their ability to apply for funding for therapy and counselling and direction to the webpage with the appropriate information

and forms. These are included at the following links, under both the "Members of the Public" and "Members of CCO" tab on the website:
. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-comolaint/
. https://cco.o n.calme m be rs-of-the-pu b liclhow-to-file-a-compla int/th e-com p la ints-process-2/
. https://Eco.o n.ca/me m be rs-of-the-pu b lic/h ow-to-file-a-com pla int/a p pointme nt-a n d- powers-of-investisato rsl
. https://cco.o n.calme m be rs-of-the-pu b liclhow-to-file-a-co m p la int/the-discipline-process/
. https://cco.o n.calmembe rs-of-th e-p ublic/fu n ding-fo r-th e ra pv-a nd-co u nse llins/

CCO staff will often correspond with potential complainants by phone and/or email to assist them with the complaints process.

The different stages of the

complaints process and all

relevant supports available to

complainants are:

i. supported by formal
policies and procedures

to ensure all relevant

information is received

during intake at each

stage, including next

steps for follow up;

ii. clearly communicated

directly to complainants

who are engaged in the

complaints process,

including what a

complainant can expect

at each stage and the

supports available to

them (e.g., funding for
sexual abuse therapy);

and;

LIJ
U
F
U
E
d
o
F
F
=co

t
f
v'\
6
z
a
Oo

6
E
o2
ut

75lP 2as



* lLI ll]ll .

KD
College of Chiropractors ot Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

681

Choose an item.lf the respars. is "Oortidlly".)( "no'', i-sth; Colleoe pltrnnincy in improve its perfffnonrc averthe next reportinq periad?

Atld i I k t nn I t:o rn rne nt s f,tr c lc ri f i t o t io n (apt ion a I )

76 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ont6rio
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

682
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

lesponses to inquiries from the public or members regarding the filing of an inquiry, complaint or report, are provided within one to five

lusiness days. Emails and phone inquiries are directed to the staff member associated with the question or concern. lf staff are away for a

teriod of time, an auto response is provided by email or phone to contact anothe.r staff member who will be able to assist the individual.

lollege staff will also inform individuals of the timeline associated with a response to their inquiry, complaint or report. This includes the
jate of the next lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee meeting, an upcoming investigation or other process within the complaints

:ommittee.

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please provide details of how the College evaluates whether the information provided to complainants is clear and useful.

All committee, including the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, review their policies and procedures on an annual basis, or if
there is any regulatory amendment or committee or stakeholder feedback that will result in changes, to reflect any updated policies and

processes.

-eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony barriers to implementotion.

b. The College responds to 90% of
inquiries from the public

within 5 business days, with
follow-up timelines as

necessary.

iii. evaluated by the College to
ensure the information
provided to
complainants is clear and

useful.

Benchmorked Evidence

77 lP age



* l.['l]lil - - . -lllrml[[-n[ lri ]llll Ifil

683
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 37,2023

Choose an item
ll rh. rerlante iE "partiollJr" or "na". is the Colleqe p[onnin(t io improve its f]erfarmance aver the next reportinq pcriod?

Add il io ud I c o tt nle nt,s fo r cl(r rit'i(:a tio n (optionu I )

78 | P age



684
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontarao
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item

Yes

!!'the response is "!)crtieilv" or "no", is i.11€ Ctlleote !lannintl ta imprave il.s per,farfian(e avst lhe n€xt repor!inq period?

Adrl itia no i ro nt nt? itt -< Ic r cla ri li.iltio n (:pi it no l)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please list supports available for the public d uring the complaints process.

Please briefly describe atwhat points duringthe complaints process that complainants are made aware ofsupports available.

lhe College supports the public in a number of ways:
. Communicating with the member of the public by phone and/or email to aid in understanding the existing standards of practice,

policies and guidelines of the College;
. Communications to members and members of the public involve the complaint process, possible outcomes of a complaint and links

to relevant tools used by the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee. lnformation and sample letters are included in the

inquiries, complaints and reports webpages.
e Assisting the member of the public with information on how to draft a letter of complaint and what accompanying information is to

be included;
. Assisting the member of the public in understanding the va rious steps of the complaints process, such as communication with the

member, review by the ICRC, investigation including the collection and review of clinical notes and records, timelines of the

complaints process and possible outcomes for complaints;
. CCO has assisted members of the public who are unable to write a letter of complaint. An example of this is CCO taking a recording

of the individual's complaint through a telephone conversation and transcribing this as a letter of complaints.
. CCO has provided members with translated documents upon request.

Ihe College will inform a complainant who is making a complaint for an allegation on sexual abuse on the right of the complainant to apply

to the College for funding for therapy or counselling. The College will inform the complainant on the process for this application and direct

them to the various forms associated with the complaints process.

c. Demonstrate how the College
supports the public during
the complaints process to
ensure that the process is

inclusive and transparent
(e.g., translation services are

available, use of technology,
access outside regular

business hours, transparency
in decision-making to make

sure the public understand
how the College makes

decisions that affect them
etc.).

T9lPage



-ilti . .1.11,

685
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

."rJ .,..1,1

Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) outlining how complainants can contactthe College during the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) OR please
provide a brief description.

Please insert a link to document(s) outlining how complainants are supported to participate in the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) OR please
provide a brief description.

lhe College provides formal letters to the complainant and member within the timelines of the complaints process under the Health
)rofessions Procedural Code under the RHPA. CCO will log and track complaints within the internal member database which includes key
jates that are required for communications consistent with the RHPA requirements. lnformation and sample letters are included in the
nouiries. comolaints and reoorts weboases.

a. Provide details about how the
College ensures that all parties

are regularly updated on the
progress of their complaint or
discipline case, including how
complainants can contact the
College for information (e.g.,

availability and accessibility to
relevant information,
translation services etc.).

S0lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

686

YesThe College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to guidance document and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe the framework and how it is being applied.

P lease provide the year whe n it was implemented OR evaluated/u pdated (if applicable).

CCO's ICRC prioritizes complaints that have a high level of public risk, such as allegations of sexual abuse, patient harm and

financia l/insurance fraud. ln 2O20, CCO a lso prioritized complaints that were related to a llegations of failure to comply wit h COVID-19

protocols and with respect to advertising or posts for claims related to COVID-19 that fall outside of the chiropractic scope of practice

claims.

CCO developed a number of risk assessment tools for reviewing and prioritizing complaints, which are posted publicly on the CCO

webpages related to complaints:
. Risk Assessment Framework Statement
. Risk Assessment Framework
. Risk Assessment Framework Tool

lnterim Order Assessment Tool
Tra nsparencv Principles

a. The College has accessible, up-
to-date, documented
guidance setting out the
framework for assessing risk

and acting on complaints,
including the prioritization of
investigations, complaints,
and reports (e.g., risk matrix,
decision matrix/tree, triage
protocol).

*r{
cr
7C

6z
FttLU

U
FU
E
o-
oF
t-
J
co

F
l
VI
di
z
a
oo

81 lFage



.-..,, ^ l Ir llLn - .

@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

687

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an itemlf fhr rcspcnse is "portially" or "no". i: the Collegle alanning to improve its perfcrnlance aver the next repartioq periad?

Ad.l,t D tiJ I t ort tn tenls lur t lur tlh rlic a (cpl nrtol)

82 | P age



688
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Chocse an ltern

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the policy and indicate page number OR please briefly describe the policy.

Please provide an overview ofwhom the College has shared information with overthe past year and the purpose ofsharingthat information (i.e., general sectors

of system partner, such as 'hospital', or 'long-term care home').

Historically, CCO has communicated and shared information with otherauthorities, such as lawenforcement, criminal and civil courts, as

tuthorized by governing legislation, when there are matters or concerns related to professional regulation as well as another governing

tuthority. These matters may arise in the inquiries, complaints and reports, discipline, fitness to practise and registration processes when

lhere are simultaneous investigations or decisions of other external system partners.

CCO developed a "Transparencv Principles" policy document, available to the public, which outlines this framework of transparency and

disclosure to outside parties.

a. The College's policy outlining
consistent criterla for
disclosure and examples of
the general circumstances

and type of lnformation that
has been shared between the
College and other relevant

system partners, within the
legal framework, about
concerns with individuals and

any results.

lrJ
U
FU
6
o-
oF
F
J
a
t
3
tJ1

(o
z

oo

(r'

o
G,

a2
Ftt

S3lPage



...1"LJ.11f..

689
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item.

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to a document that list College's KPls with an explanation for why these KPls have been selected (including what the results the respective

KPls tells, and how it relates to the College meeting its strategic objectives and is therefore relevant to track), a link to Council meeting materials where this
information is included and indicate page number OR list KPls and rationale for selection.

n addition to its mission, vision, values and strategic obiectives and committee obiectives, CCO approved the Kev Performance lndicators

locument for core CCO functions. KPls are regularly included in Council and committee packages, and are intended to identify the core

rbjectives of certain statutory committees and the annual review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines.

a. Outline the College's KPls,

including a clear rationale for
why each is important.

Fz
tiJ

L]J

o
&.
o-

=od
(9
z
FE
o
o-
LU
e.
F--z
LIJ

LIJt
=
L!

l-
z
a
oo

qf
F{

o
oa

oz
F.n

S4lPage



690
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Yes

Partially

3CO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on

'ormalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

.4drliiianal rcnfttents for t:larif irotian (i1 rcede;1)

AddiiiotlLtI Larttnents lar tloriJicliion (ij neetietl)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the College reported to Council on its progress against stated strategic objectives, regulatory outcomes

and risks that may impact the College's ability to meet its objectives and the corresponding meeting minutes and indicate the page number.

Public Council oackages include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes

recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports

appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from

/arious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,

regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

il the resptr:nsc is "parfially" or "no', ls fhe Ccllt:at'Dlcnninq tc itii[]rovc its p?rforrnancc ov{trlhe ntxi rcpartitlq petiad?

b. The College regularly reports to
Council on its performance and

risk review against:

i. stated strategic objectives

(i.e., the objectives set out

in a College's strategic
ptan);

ii. regulatory outcomes (i.e.,

operational

indicators/targets with

reference to the goals we

are expected to achieve

under the RHPA); and

iii. its risk management

approach.

S5lPage



..-" .,ltl ...".. -.t.. J-Jllllllu;&l]lllur.- -lri. ... i-rl . .tri.

691
Kq

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Pa rtially

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the Council used performance and risk review findings to identify where the College needs to implement
improvement activities and indicate the page number.

Public Council packases include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes
recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports
appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from
/arious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,
regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified bythe committee and Council.

'eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be taking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion.

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on
Formalizing its practices forthe college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

The College fulfills this requirement

. Please insert a link to the College's dashboard or relevant section ofthe College's website.

\ll decisions addressing these issues are included in public Council package and communicated to members, stakeholders and system
lartners and posted on the CCO website under the "New & Updates" section.

a. Council uses performance and

risk review findings to identify
where improvement activities
are needed.

Benclimdrked Evidence

a. Performance results related to a

College's strategic objectives
and regulatory outcomes are
made public on the College's
website-

S6lPage



692
KD

College of Chiropractors of ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Choose an item.lf the response i\ "portiolly" ar "na", is the C]llege plnnning ta improve its performance over the next reporting period l

Additionul comrncnts for clorificatir:n (if needed)

8TlPage



KD

.- l: r.fll LLl.l

693
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Part 2z Context Measures

recommended manner (e.9., due to differences in definitions), a College can report the information in a manner that is conducive to its data infrastructure and availability.

future.

order to understand how the information provided was calculated.

The ministry has also included hyperlinks of the definitions to a glossary of terms for easier navigation.

88 | P age



KD
694

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 1- Context Measure 1

Regulatory Excellence Workshops

for many years, has mandated that all members attend a mandatory, in-person
nd interactive record-keeping workshop within the first year of registering with CCO

is workshop is led by CCO stafl including one member of the profession, the Director
Professional Practice. This workshop is also available to all CCO members to refresh

nd review updates to standards, polices and guidelines and their implementation
It also provides an opportunity, for the College to communicate to members,

messages about expectations related to advertising, social media, and prevention

abuse. These workshops are also used as a remediation tool for QA, ICRC and
ne Committee decisions and undertakings.

n 2022, CCO changed the name ofthis workshop to the Regulatory Excellence

rkshop (REW), since it includes so much more material related to chiropractic care

and professional regulation. CCO continued to provide these workshops, (three

n total) for members to attend virtually. The interactive workshops continue to be a

good opportunity for the college to set member expectations, to talk about

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31-, 2023

3 Workshops
351 Members

If

Whot does this informotion tell us? Quolity ossurdnce (QA) ond Quolity
lmprovement (Ql) ore criticol components in ensuring thot professionols provide

core that is safe, effective, potient-centred ond ethicol. ln dddition, heolth care
professionols foce o number of ongoing chonges thot might impoct how they
proctice (e.9., changing roles ond responsibilities, chonging public expectotions,
legislotive changes).

The informotion provided here illustrotes the diversity of QA octivities the College

undertook in ossessing the competency of its registronts ond the QA and Ql

dctivities its registrants undertook to mointoin competency in CY 2022. The diversity
of QA/QI octivities ond ossessments is reflective of a College's risk-bosed opprooch
in executing its QA progrdm, whereby the frequency of assessment and octivities to
mointoin competency ore informed by the risk of a registrdnt not octing
competently. Detoils of how the College determined the appropriateness of its

assessment component of its QA progrom ore described or referenced by the
College in Meosure 10.2(a) of Standard 70.

#

Context Measure (CM)

Statistical datacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Recommended
lf o College method is used, please specify the rotionole for its use:

CM 1, Type and distributlon of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY 2022*

Type of QA/QI activity or assessment:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

89lPage



._ll "l lr'l-

695
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

erging trends, to quantify and qualify and address potential risks as members enter
r practice life, all in keeping with the principles of "right touch regulation"

workshop features a STEP-BY-STEP approach that includes:
. an introduction to CCO

. accurately documenting the "story" of the doctor/patient relationship
(consultation, history, examination, diagnostic imaging, report of findings,
communicating a diagnosis, treatment, SOAP notes, re-assessment, dismissal)

r informed consent - when and how
r communication with patients, avoiding boundary crossings and prevention of

sexual abuse
r chiropractic scope of practice
. billing and business practices
r adjunctive therapies and assistive devices
. assignment and referral of care
r advertising, websites and social media
. privacy of personal health information
. changes to and dissolution of practice
r COVID-19 protocols and updates
. new and amended CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines
. current events

is is the link to CCO'S posted announcements for the upcoming REW

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

90lPage



696
KD

College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

is the total number of attendees for each workshop help in 2022

24-Feb-22

8-Jun-22
28-Oct-22

33

772
746

351

2. Peer and Practice Assessment

surrounding the Peer and Practice Assessment Program can be found on CCO's

Peer and Practice Assessment 1.0
Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0

PPA)

Quality Assurance (QA) Committee developed the Peer and Practice Assessment

Program to enhance members' learning opportunities and ensure their
iance with the regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines.

557 Members

a

a

pl

becoming registered with CCO, members have the right to call themselves
practors and to practice chiropractic within the scope of practice identified in

Chiropractic Act, 7997.1n assuming the right to practice, members also assume the
sibilities associated with this right, including the responsibility to maintain

petence.

e public must feel confident that chiropractors within Ontario, who demonstrated
I competencies when they registered with CCO, continue to demonstrate thei

nce for the duration of their practice. As such, there is an expectation that
mbers engage in life-long learning, continually building their competencies

hroughout their career

Actual Number
ofAttendees

Present
Workhop

Date

91 lPage



. __l_tlL..-Ilil,Ii

697

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjOrdre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

)uring the assessment, peer assessors can flag any deficiencies noted with the
nembers' record keeping and/or knowledge of the College's standards of practice,
lolicies, and guidelines. This process also allows the member to engage in

ivith their peer assessor regarding any noted deficiencies so that they may address the
mmediately.

ICO has developed two phases (thus far) to the PPA Program to acknowledge and
rddress the changes in member competencies that are gained with clinical experience.
,PA 7.0 is intended for use with entry-to-practice new registrants/practitioners. PPA
'las been developed for assessing more experienced practitioners and typically, is only
rsed after a member has undergone PPA 1.0 and addressed any issues revealed in that
lrocess. These two streams of assessments also provide opportunities to interact, one-
)n-one, with members at different stages of their professional lives.

Suilding on successful elements of PPA 1.0, the PPA 2.0 assessment process involves:
. A more in-depth, conversational review of a selection of patient files to

better ensure that members are maintaining an accurate patient health
record, reflective of the patient encounter and "story".

. A review and conversation related to scenarios commonly encountered in
clinical practice that show implementation of regulations, standards of
practice, policies, and guidelines in real life situations.

r A more complete review of the member's professional portfolio to ensure
that all components, especially areas needing improvement identified in th
membe/s Self-Assessment Plan of Action, are being addressed by the
member.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Both PPA streams are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to
members on a wide range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Members are
randomly selected to participate in the program. Once assessments have been
:ompleted, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members

^/ith 
an official disposition report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific

92lPage



698
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

I recommendations for the member to address. lf required, further remedia I

p is scheduled on a case-by-case basis. A system has been implemented to track
rs who require additional submissions due to deficiencies noted during their

This is to help reduce the potential risk of members receiving complaints and

the interest ofthe public

number of selected members for both PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.0 for 2022 are as follows:

PPAt.O2022,
members selected
Totals
PPA1.0 263

PPA2.02022,
members selected
Totals
PPA2.0 294

is Mandatory

rs who hold a General (i.e., General Active, General Non-Practising and General
n-Resident) Certificate of Registration are required to participate in this program

a member is registered as General Non- Practising and General Non-Resident, they
ll undergo a modified assessment. For example, if the member does not actively see

fGeneral Non- Practising), the assessment would entail a review of their
owledge of CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines

QA Committee has taken steps to ensure that ALL members registered, regardless
whether they work in direct patient care or not, take steps to maintain the skills and

owledge that is core to providing direct patient care.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

93lPage



--'l",ir Lrr- -*-ll.rI TlEmlm]lli Illl !1tr| .J1_[L__-.,

699
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

nformation gathered during the peer assessment is shared with the members of the
lity Assurance Committee only.

ber Selection

randomly selects members to participate in the program and matches the selected
r with a suitable peer assessor: a colleague trained to identify areas of

provement and encourage members to strive for continuous quality improvement
conduct the assessment, designed to be educational, not punitive.

should also be noted that, in keeping with "right touch regulation" principles, the PPA

m has been increasingly utilized by both CCO'S Registration Committee (e.g.

aving members undergo a proactive PPA when returning to practice after an absence)
nd ICRC (e.g. creating the Peer Mentoring Program, based on PPA 2.0, that helps guide

bers' understanding and implementation of better practices after behaviour has

identified as non-compliant in some manner).

Assessors, Training and Support

continues to maintain a core group of highly trained peer assessors since the
ception of the program. These assessors play a key and vital role in the success of
e development and implementation of the program. Successful peer assessors must

the conditions and elements outlined in our Peer Assessor Policy, CCO Policv P-

n 2O22, €CO had a roster of 29 trained and experienced peer assessors working in the
ld providing valuable guidance to members, in-person and remotely

ch year, since the start of the PPA program, the QA Committee has hosted all peer
for an in-person day-long training workshop. This workshop typically involves

e following elements:

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - Match 31,2023

94 | P age



700
KD

College ol Chiropractors ol Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Review of updates to regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines

related to the practice of chiropractic;
Review of changes to the PPA programs to accommodate the above updates;

Gathering front-line feedback from assessors on their experiences of the past

year's PPA cycle;

Group and/or individual performance feedback to peer assessors;

Small group break-out sessions that often task assessors with brainstorming,

creating and developing ideas for new elements, changes or refinements of
future PPA or other QA initiatives;
Guest speakers with experience in quality assurance, continuing competencies
or other areas relevant to this initiative;
Updates on current events such as professional or government trends and/or
initiatives;
Plenty of opportunity for assessors from all over the province to interact with
their colleagues.

)n January 29,2022, the Annual Peer Assessor Workshop was held virtually, to
rccommodate for restrictions regarding COVID-19. This year's workshop, which is
:ypically a full day in-person workshop, was condensed into a four-hour virtual
:xperience. Although a guest speaker was not present for this workshop, all other
:lements were effectively covered within the tight schedule.

Feedback (page 797 of the February 25, 2022 public Council package) from the
workshop was obtained from all attendees. Once again, feedback was quite positive,

rnd assessors provided various suggestions for future workshops.

Peer assessors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if
they have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a

unique situation/question during an assessment.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

95lPage



.. -. lr.ili iul

701
@@ r*:;

of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

)eer assessors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if
:hey have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a

rnique situation/question during an assessment.

\lew Peer Assessors

iach year, the QA Committee reevaluates the needs of the PPA Program, including the
equirement for additional peer assessors. Considerations when appointing a peer assessor

nay include:
o interview evaluation
r need for peer assessor(s) in each CCO district
rgeographical location of the member's practice
.type of practice and/or practice style
e experience
r additional professional qualifications, expertise and/or specialty
r languages spoken
. communication skills
. successful completion of both the internal and field training portions of the

Assessor-ln-Tra ining (AlT) Program
. additional qualifications and characteristics to complement the attributes of the

Peer and Practice Assessment program.

As per Policv P-051: Peer Assessors, members who are successfully appointed as peer
assessors serve a three-year term, with the eligibility to complete up to three terms
:onsecutively. The assessors are ineligible for re-appointment until a fullthree-year
lerm hasbeen completed.

n 2022, the QA Committee and supporting staff determined the need to appoint new
ceer assessors due to five assessors having reached their maximum nine-year
,ppointment, and one assessor who needed to resign due to medical reasons.
Voreover, it was noted that there were areas within the province that could benefit

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

96lPage



702
@D

College of Chiropractors of ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

trom having an assigned assessor for that region

A call for new peer assessors was released in the President's Message dated June 29,

2O22, with a deadline for applications set for July 22,2022. After reviewing the
'lumerous applications, interviews were held and a total of nine new peer assessors

,rere appointed, one of whom was a former peer assessor.

n-field training began with each new assessor (AlT) being required to observe a current
peer assessor as they conducted both a PPA 1.0 and a PPA 2.0. For any AIT who had yet
lo complete PPA 2.0, they were required to undergo this assessment which would then
:ount toward their observations.

fraining for the new assessors continued into 2023 with an Orientation Day, as well as

being required to attend the Peer Assessor Workshop the following day. Finally, in-field
lraining will take place once again where AlTs will, this time, be observed by a current
peer assessor as they conduct two assessments (PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.0). This particular
rortion of the training will allow the new assessor to hone their assessment skills with
:he aid and experience of their colleague.

l. Professional Portfolio and Continuing Education

3CO requires that members maintain a Professional Portfolio log where they track
:ompliance with all CCO continuing competency initiatives. The professional portfolio
arould include, among other things:

. Self-Assessment Plan of Action Summary Sheet

. Alog of all completed continuing education activities

. materials collected while fulfilling their continuing education (CE) requirements
(e.g., course outlines brochures from conventions/conferences, etc.)

. current samples of advertising.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Approximately
4892 Members

9TlPage



.-. llr.lLJltrltt

703
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

I professional portfolio information is available at the following links:
r https://cco.on.calmembers-of-cco/qua litv-assura nce/professiona l-po rtfo lio/
r https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2017l10/PP handbook Jan2017.pdf

mbers were encouraged to log and track all their continuing education activities
rough a confidential on-line member portal. This was developed to provide CCO the

ity to track member activities as well as link registration actions to a membe/s
mpletion of other mandatory activities

n 2020, the QA Committee completed a lengthy process of developing, prototyping,
-testing, and gathering feedback to further make improvements on the

nt of a second generation self-assessment

noted above, in the report on Peer ond Practice Assessment,we acknowledge the
which supports that members should be demonstrating ongoing and evolving
ncies throughout their careers. This would be demonstrated in the types of CE

ctivities undertaken. lt was the Committee's view that it would also be prudent to have
self-assessment suitable to reflect on basic, entry-to-practice competencies and then
have further self-assessments that engaged the member in self-reflection on

ncies more relevant to advancing experience and expertise.

e new version ofthe Self-Assessment, now referred to as "SA 2.0". was launched at
he start of the new CE cycle, July 1,2022.lt is important to note that, where elements

SA 1.0_focus on entry-to-practice competencies such as knowledge of regulations,
ndards of practice, policies and guidelines, SA 2.0 was framed around the revised

2.0 is designed to assist more experienced members of the profession to reflect on
competencies after several years of practice experience. For example, members

on various scenarios they may have encountered or may encounter in practice.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3'J,,2O23

93lPage



704
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

fihese scenarios are based on archival case examples and trends. The Core 
I

pompetencies for CCO Members also clearly lays out basic expectations members 
I

phould be aware of when providing care to the public in the section titled: "What to 
I

lExpect when attending a chiropractor appointment: an application of the core 
I

[ompetencies " I,l
lrn rLrr,the QA Committee revised the latest draft of SA 2.0 to better reflect the needs I

land expectations of the experienced chiropractor, and common issues that might arise 
I

lretateU to each core competency. Members were notified of the new Self-Assessment 
I

Ouestionnaire via the Presrdent's Message d and its official launch at I

[he 

beeinnine ofCycle 7 (Julv 1,2022-June3O,2O24l. 
I

pontinuine Educotion Requirements 
I

h, in att previous CE cycles, CCO has developed a mandatory flp1ry that is built on 
I

Ithe best available eviience, with respect to professional continuing competency. As 
I

$uch, our program is a balance of "trust" and "proof" models, i.e., providing members a 
I

lrange of options for meeting their requirements that embrace the diversity of practices 
I

land populations served by those practices. 
Itt

lAdditionally, CCO has always allowed members to engage in ongoing, continuing 
I

bompetency development that is relevant to their areas of interest and expertise. This 
I

lhas been true even for those members who may not be engaged in direct patient care, 
I

lbut rather serving in administrative, research or academic roles. However, CCO still I

lrequires that all members comply with the S-hours of structured activities related to thel
pore, controlled acts (e.g., diagnosis and treatment of patients) in the event that they 

I

[hoose to engage in direct patient care at any point in time. 
Itt

lAs mentioned in the section Regulatory Excellence Workshop, it is now mandatory for 
I

lmembers to attend one REW every three CE cycles, or rather, once every six years. This 
I

lmeasure is meant to be proactive and educational in nature, to ensure all members are 
I

lkeeping up to date with all standards of practice, policies, and guidelines, including theirl

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

99lPage



-..11: -l ilIl.

705
@)

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

lrecord keeping skills. 
Ilrtl

l+. feer Mentoring Program 
Itt

lAs 
mentioned above, PPAs were often used as a means of remediation from both ICRC 

I

land the Discipline Committee. The results of a complaint from 2019 prompted ICRC to I

lrecommend the member undergo a series of peer assessments (up to four peer 
I

lassessments) within a 12-month period. This one-year remedial process was to garner 
I

lincreased confidence in the member's competency to practice, ensure their adherence 
I

Ito CCO's standards of practice, policies, and guideline, and provide the member with 
I

ImOle 

oOOortunity to amend any deficiencies noted throughout the process. 
I

lDue 
to the positive findings of this specified continued educational remedial program 

I

I(SCERP), 
this remained as a SCERP option for ICRC, as well as a course of action for 

I

lmembers with disciplinary findings. To distinguish this new format of remediation from 
I

Ithe 
PPA Program, this process was termed the "Peer Mentoring Program", and 

I

fontinues 
to be used by both ICRC and the Discipline Committee. 

I

ln 
torrrl traininB session for the Peer Mentoring Program took place on November 9, 

I

pO22 as a joint endeavor between the Discipline, lCR, and QA Committees. A guest 
I

ppeaker, who practices in regulatory law, attended the workshop, along with 13 peer 
I

lmentors: a group of individuals who are currentformer peer assessors who bring with 
I

Ithem a wealth of knowledge from their role as a PA, and potential expertise within a 
I

lparticular field of chiropractic (e.g., the peer mentor is a Fellow of the College of 
I

phiropractic Orthopedic Specialists). During the training session, mentors learned 
I

labout the purpose and development of the program, the role of the mentor, and in- 
I

ldepth details pertaining to the PM process. lt was stressed to the mentors that 
I

plthough the PM process is similar to PPA 2.0, the premise of peer mentoring ir 
I

lbeyond 
the educational nature ofthe peer assessment, but rather PM is in fact 

I

lremedial. Therefore, mentors should gear the PM session toward the findings 
I

ldiscovered by the ICR or Discipline Committee. 
I

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

7 Members

100 | P age



706

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
f0rdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

was obtained from all 13 peer mentors, all of whom rated the training
n5outof5

n 2O22, a total of seven members began the Peer Mentoring Program. Members are

mplying with the process and all participating mentors have commented on the
attitude and feedback from the members

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31., 2023

vi.

vii.

viii.

ix.

x.

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA activity or dssessment>

<lnsert QA activity or assessment>

<lnsert A odivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessmen>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessmen>

101 | P age



_. _ -__..__*_- I !l l1I[ __,__ ]1, lll ltrllll-Er I[l I ]IllllNlll -_

707
@ College ol Chiropractors of Ontario

L.ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Additional comments for clarificotion (if needed)

* Registronts mdy be undergoing multiple QA dctivities overthe course of the reporting period. While future iterotions of the CPMF

moy evolve to cdpture the different permutotians of pothwoys registrdnts may undergo os part of o College's QA Program, the
requested statistical informotion recognizes the current limitotions in dota dvailobility today and is therefore limited to type dnd
distribution of QA/QI octivities or assessments used in the reporting period.

102 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 2 - Context Measures 2 and 3

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

708

tI

I

Whot does this informotion tell us? lf o registront's knowledge, skills,

ond judgement to prdctice sofely, effectively, ond ethically hove been

ossessed or reossessed ond found to be unsotisfoctory or o registront
is non-compliont with o College's QA Program, the College moy refer
them to the College's QA Committee.

The informotion provided here shows how mony registronts who

underwent an dctivity or assessment as port of the QA program where

the QA Committee deemed thot their proctice is unsotisfoctory ond os

a result hove been directed to pdrticipdte in specified continuing

educotion or remediotion progrom os of the stdrt of CY 2022,

understonding thot some coses mdy corry over.

%

Regulatory
Excel lence

Workshop:7.2%

Peer and Practice

Assessment 1.0:

5.4%

Peer and Practice

Assessment 2.0:

6.0%

Self Assessment,
Professiona I

Portfolio and
Continuins

#

Regulatory
Excellence

Workshop: 351
members

Peer and Practice

Assessment ]-0:263
members

Peer and Practice

Assessment 2.0:294
members

Self Assessment,

Professiona I

Portfolio and

Contin uing

Context Measurs (CMl

CM 2. Total number of registrants who participated in the QA Program CY 2022

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the Co llege own method: R e c o m m e n d e d

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

l03lPage



" ..1 .r.!.1 llll

709
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Education: 700% of
members registered
in the General class

of registration

o.74%

NR

Additional comments for clorificotion (if needed)

Education:
Approximately:

Approximately 4892
Members (Members

registered in the
General class of

registration)

7

CM 3. Rate of registrants who were referred to the QA Committee as part of the QA
Program where the QA Committee directed the registrant to undertake remediation in
cY 2022.

104lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 3 - Context Measure 4

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

710

t
What does this informotion tell us? This informdtion provides insight into the

outcome of the College's remediol activities directed by the QA Committee ond may

help o College evoluote the effectiveness of its "QA remediotion octivities". Without
odditionol context no conclusions con be drown on how successful the QA

remediotion octivities ore, ds mdny foctors moy influence the proctice ond

behaviour registronts (continue to) display.

4286%

57.74%

#

3

4

Context Measure (CMl

cM 4. outcome of remedial activities as at the end ol CY 2022l.**

L Registrants who demonstrated required knowledge, skills, and judgement following remediatlon*

ll. Registrants still undertaking remediation (i.e., remediation in progress)

NR
* This number moy include registronts who were dirccted to undertoke remediotion in the previous yeor ond completed reassessment in CY 2022.
**This meosure moy include ony outcomes from the previous yeor that were corried over into CY 2022.

Add if io n o I Lo n1 m e n ts Ior L lo n[i( o t io n ( if needetl )

Statistical datacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Recommended

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

105lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 4 - Context Measure 5

. l.:];. t-Ll . -. "Il...:iiil lfl-liln| I 1 ... - ].11". --:rtl". .;.l.lll

711
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

1r

What does this information tell us? This informotion

facilitotes tronsporency to the public, registrants ond the
ministry regdrding the most prevolent themes identified in

formol comploints received ond Registrar's lnvestigotions
undertoken by a College.

7

29

0

74

2t
0

1,4

74

0

0

0

LOO%

Registrar lnvestigations
initiated

#

1

4

0

2

3

0

2

2

0

0

0

14

o/o

2

2'J.

22

20

4

12

t2
3

5

0

0

!OOo/"

Formal Complaints
received

s

2

27

28

25

5

15

15

4

6

0

0

r27

;tatistical data is collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: R e c o m m e n d e d

If o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CMl

CM 5. Distribution offormal complaints and Registra/s lnvestigations bytheme inCY 2022

Themes

t.

il.

ilt.

tv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

X,

xt.

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead including Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

Unauthorized Practice

Othet <pleose specify>

Total number of formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations**

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

106lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

712
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Additional comments for clarificotion (if needed)

FormalComplaints

30

25

20

15

10

5 II I
l-Advertising ll.BillingandFees lll.Communication lV.Competence/ V.lntenttoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.Recordkeeping Vlll.SexualAbuse

Patient Care including Fraud Conduct &
Behaviour

lX. Harassment /
Boundary
Violations

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specify>

Formal Comolaints
NR

Resistra/s lnvestisation

**The requested stotisticol informotion (number and distribution by theme) recognizes thot formol comploints dnd Registrols lnvestigotions moy
include ollegotions thot fall under multiple themes identified obove, therefore when odded together the numbers set out per theme moy not equol
the totol number of formol comploints or Reqistrols lnvestiqotions.

107lPage



Kd
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

- .-... '----!LJ!,1-rILLL - !ll[iflE-rlr[ rm] irrlnl jrll

CCO CPMF Reporting TDol- March 31, 2023

713

Registrar lnitiated
4.5

4

3

2.5

2

1.5

1,

I0.5

0

L Advertising ll.BillingandFees lll.Communication lV.Competence/ V.lntenttoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.Recordkeeping Vlll.SexualAbuse lX.Harassment/
Patient Care including Fraud Conduct & Boundary

Behaviour Violations

X. Unauthoriz€d
Praclce

Xl. Other <please

specify>

108 | P age



714
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 5 - Context Measures 6, 7, 8 and 9

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

If

Whot does this informotion tell us? The informotion helps the
public better understond how formol complaints Jiled with the

College ond Registrar's lnvestigdtions ore disposed of or
resolved. Furthermore, it provides transporency on key sources

of concern thdt ore being brought forward to the College's

lnquiries, Compldints ond Reports Committee.

%

0

0

82

17

0

0

99

77

8

0

0

82

17

0

0

Context Measure (CMl

CM 5. Total number offormal complaints that were brought forward to the ICRC in CY 2022

CM 7, Total number of ICRC matters brought forward as a resu lt of a Registrar's lnvestigation in CY 2O22

CM8. Total number of requests or notifications for appointment of an investigatorthrough a Registrar's

lnvestigation brought forward to the ICRC that were approved in CY 2022

CM 9. Ofthe formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations received in CY 2022**

t.

il.

ilr.

tv.

V,

vt.

Formal complaints that proceeded to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

Formal complaints that were resolved through ADR

Formal complaints that were disposed of by ICRC

Formal complaints that proceeded to ICRC and are still pending

Forma I complaints withdrawn by Registrar at the request of a complainant

Formal complaints that are disposed of by the ICRC as frivolous and vexatious

Statistical datacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod:Recommended

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

109lPage



I rlr fltlt'millNllt llll

715
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting -ool- March 31, 2023

ADR

Disoosal

Formal Comolaints
Formal Comolaints withdrawn bv Resistrar at the reouest of a comolainant
NR

Resistra/s lnvestiqation

# Moy relote to Registro/s lnvestigotions thot were brought to the ICRC in the previous yeor-

disposes of os frivolous ond vexotious ond o referrol to the Discipline Committee will olso be counted in totol number of comploints disposed oI by the ICRC.

Additionol comments for clorificotion (if needed)

Outcomes of Formal Complaints

90

80

70

60

50

4A

30

2A

10

0

l. Formal complaints that
proceeded to Alternative
Dispute Resolution (ADR)

ll. Formal complaints that
were resolved through ADR

lll. Formal complaints that
were disposed of by ICRC

lV" Formal complaints that V. Formal complaints Vl. Formal complaints that are '--ll. Fo-mal complaints and
proceeded to ICRC and are still withdrawn by Registrar at the disposed of by the ICRC as RgistE's lnvestigations that

pending request of a complainant frivolous and vexations a? disprsed of by the ICRC as

e refgralto the Discipline
Committee

00vll Formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations that are disposed of by the ICRC as

a referral to the Discipline Committee

110 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
!Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 6 - Context Measure 10

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

716

t.

il.

ilt.

tv.

vl.

vil.

vilt.
tx.

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead lncluding Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record Keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

I
2

7

0

0

0

7

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

0

0

7

0

9

1

I
7

7

0

1

0

2

13

'1"4

2

10

4

1,

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

t

Takes any other action it
considers appropriate that is

not inconsistent with its
governing legislation,
regulations, or by-laws.

Refers specified

allegations to the

Discipline

Committee

toAgrees

undertaking

Orders a specified

continuing education or

remediation program

lssues a

caution (oral

or written)

Proves advice or

recommendations

# of ICRC Decisions++

Take no
action

context Measure (CM)

CM 10. Total number of ICRC decisions in 2022

Distribution of ICRC decisions by theme in 2022*

Nature of Decision

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Reco m me nd ed

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

111 lPage



..1]J][

KD

717

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

X. UnauthorizedPractice

Xl. Othercp/eosespecify>
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

obove, therefore when odded together the numbers set out per theme moy not equol the totol number of formol comploints or registror's investigotions, or decisions.
NR

or Registror investigdtion dnd could focilitote o dialogue with the public obout the opproprioteness of on outcome reloted to o porticulor formol comploint.

Additional comnents for clclrificotion (if needed)

112 | P age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
l-Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

718

Distribution of ICRC Decisions by Theme

L6

L4

12

10

B

6

4

2

0 ll
l. Advertising

It llil,l I rtt
lX. Harassment /

Boundary
Violations

ll. Billing and Fees lll. Communication lV. Competence / V, lntent to Mislead Vl. Professional Vll. Record Keeping Vlll- Sexual Abuse
Patient Care lncluding Fraud Conduct &

Behaviour

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specify>

I Take no aclion

I Proves advice or recommendations

I lssues a caution (oral or written)

I Orders a specified continuing education or remediation program

I A€rees to undertaking

I Refers specified alleBations to the Discipline Committee

I Takes any other action it considers appropriate that is not inconsistent with its governing legislation. re6ulations, or by'laws.

113 | P age



l.r,{L .,,. ;1."tr;ji.lllflilf,llil] lr.l-.-.- jll- .. i.l[. ,..,1.ir

719
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023Kd

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 7 - Context Measure 11

I*

Whot does this information tell us? This informotion illustrotes the moximum length of time in which 9 out of 10 formol
compldints or Registrdr's investigations ore being disposed by the College.

The information enhonces trdnspdrency obout the timeliness with which a College disposes of formol complaints or
Registror's investigations. As such, the informotion provides the public, ministry, ond other stakeholders with information
regarding the opproximote timelines they con expect for the disposal of a formal comploint filed with, or Registrar's
investigation undertaken by, the College.

Days

139

199

Statistical data collected in accordancewiththe recommended method orthe Collegeown method: Reco mmend ed

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure {CMl

CM 11. goth Percentile disposal of:

l. A formal complaint in working days inCY 2022

ll. A Registrar's investigation in working days inCY 2022

Disposal

Additionol comments t'or clorificotion (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

114lPage



720
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 8 - Context Measure 12

If

Whot does this information tell us? This informdtion illustrdtes the moximum length of time in which 9
out of 10 uncontested discipline hearings and 9 out of 10 contested discipline heorings ore being
disposed.

The information enhonces tronsporency obout the timeliness with which a discipline heoring
undertoken by o College is concluded. As such, the informotion provides the public, ministry, dnd other
stokeholders with informotion regording the opproximote timelines they con expect for the resolution

of o discipline proceeding undertaken by the College.

Days

23r

N/A

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: R e c o m m e n d e d

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CM|

CM 12. 90th Percentile disposal of:

L An uncontested discipline hearing in working days ln CY 2022

ll. A contested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022

Disoosal
Uncontested Discipline Hearinq
Contested Discioline Hearins

Addilional , ommenls t'or clorilrcatiun (il needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

115lPage



--t,ltl". ,. il.]]l

721
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 9 - Context Measure 13

If

What does this informotion tell us? This information focilitdtes tronsporency to the public, registrdnts

dnd the ministry regording the most prevolent discipline findings where o formol comploint or
Registror's lnvestigdtion is referred to the Discipline Committee by the ICRC.

#

3

0

6

0

0

4

0

0

0

0

4

4

0

StatisticaldatacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod:Recommended

lf Cottege method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Discipline decisions may have more than one finding by type. There were a total of 7 discipline decisions in 2022.

Context Measure lCMl

CM 13. Distribution of Discipline finding by type*

Type

l. Sexual abuse

ll. lncompetence

lll. Fail to maintain Standard

lV. lmproper use of a controlled act

V. Conduct unbecoming

Vl. Dishonourable,disgraceful, unprofessional

Vll. Offenceconviction

Vlll. Contravenecertificaterestrictions

IX. Findingsinanotherjurisdiction

X. Breach of orders and/or undertaking

Xl. Falsifying records

Xll. False or misleading document

Xlll. ContravenerelevantActs

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

116lPage



722
@D

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

* The requested stotisticol informotion rccognizes thot dn individual discipline cose moy include multiple findings identified obove, therefore when added together the number of findings moy not equol the totol

number of discipline coses.

NR

Additionol comments for clorificotion (if needed)

Disribution of Discipline Decisions by Type

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

l. Sexual abuse il_ lll. Fail to
maintain
Standard

lV. lmproper use V. Conduct Vl.

of a controlled unbecoming Dishonourable,
act disgraceful,

unprofessional

Vll. Offence
conviction

Vlll. Contravene lX. tindings in

certificate another
restrictions jurisdiction

X. Breach of Xl- Falsifying

orders and/or records
undertaking

Xll- False or
misleading
document

Xlll. Contravene
relevant Actslncompetence

117lPage



723

KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 10 - Context Measure 14

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

If

What does this informotion tell us? This informotion will help strengthen tronsporency on the type of
octions token to protect the public through decisions rendered by the Discipline Committee. lt is importdnt
to note thot no conclusions con be drawn on the opproprioteness of the discipline decisions without
knowing intimote detoils of each cose including the rotionale behind the decision.

#

2

5

5

7

5

Statisticaldata collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College own method: Reco m me n d ed

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole t'or its use:

Conter.t Measure (CMl

CM 14. Distribution of Discipline orders by type*

Type

l. Revocation

ll. Suspension

lll. Terms, Conditions and Limitations on a Certificate of Registration

lV. Reprimand

V. Undertaking

recognizes thot on individuol discipline cose moy include multiple findings identit'ied obove, theret'ore when added together the numbers set out for findings ond orders moy
not equol the totol number of discipline coses.
Revocation
Susoension

Terms, Conditions and Limitations
Reorimand

U ndertakine
NR

* The requested stdtisticol information

Additianol comments for clorificotion (if needed)

A discipline decision may have multiple orders.

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

118 | P age



724
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontarao
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Distribution of Discipline Decisions by Type

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0
L Revocation ll. Suspension lll. Terms, Conditions and Limitations on a

Certificate 0f Registratiorl

lV. Reprimand V. Undertaking

119lPage



lt .-llr{1ll!il

725
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Glossary

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR| : Means mediation, conciliation, negotiation, or any other means of facilitating the resolution of issues in dispute.

Return toiTable 5

Contested Discipline Hearing: ln a contested hearing, the College and registrant disagree on some or all of the allegations, penalty and/or costs.

Return to: Table 8

both liability and penalty decisions, where relevant).

Return to: Table 5, Table 7, Table 8

complaint inquiries and other interactions with the College that do not result in a formally submitted complaint.

Return to: Table 4, Table 5

request of the complainant, where the Registrar believed that the withdrawal was in the public interest.

Return to: Table 5

NR: Non-reportable: Results are not shown due to < 5 cases (for both # and %). This may include 0 reported cases.

Return to:TablgL Table 2, Table 3. Table 4. Table 5. Table 6. Table 9. Table i.0

must inform the ICRC of the appointment within five days.

120 | P age



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LjOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Reporting Tool- March 31,2023
KD CCO CPMF

727



ri t.llulu i]mlImilm :l lfll.U.illl I lllll

726
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tiOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Return to: Table 4, Table 5

certificate which terminates the registrant's registration with the College and therefore their ability to practice the profession.

Return to: Table 1.0

Suspension: A suspension of a registrant's Certificate of Registration occurs for a set period of time during which the registrant is not permitted to:

. Hold themselves out as a person qualified to practice the profession in Ontario, including using restricted titles (e.g., doctor, nurse),

. Practice the profession in Ontario, or

. Perform controlled acts restricted to the profession under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

Return to: Table L0

Reprimand: A reprimand is where a registrant is required to attend publicly before a discipline panel of the College to hear the concerns that the panel has with their practice.

Return to: Table 10

website.

Return to: Table 10

College and the respondent may make a joint submission on penalty and costs or the College may make submissions which are uncontested by the Respondent.

Return to:lable I

Undertaking: lsawrittenpromisefromaregistrantthattheywill carryoutcertainactivitiesormeetspecifiedconditionsrequestedbytheCollegecommittee.

Return to:Table 1.0

121 lP age



@
GollecE oF GHlnopRAcroRS oF OnrRnlo

MeuomNDUM |TEM 4.1.52

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Approved by Council: June2t,2O23

728

To:

From:

Date

CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework
(CPMF) Action Plan - 2023

The chart in this document summarizes the measures and required evidence from CCO's 2023 CPMF where CCO reported on partially fulfilling

the listed measures. For each measure that was partially fulfilled, is summarized proposed objectives, relevant committees and target dates for

addressing each measure, with a goal to having these areas identified as fulfilled for the 2023 CPMF Report. Council and committees will also

continue their ongoing work in severalareas that have been reported as met in2022 (e.g., cyber security, enhancing communication with

system partners, stakeholders, and members).

Re



Il I _I I ltifltllrunlflilt I .._Ll[

cco's college Performance Measurement Framework (cpMF) Action plan -2023
Approved by Council: June 2I,2023

729

Fall/Winter 2023Executive
Committee/
Council

CCO will be reviewing
options and third
parties to conduct
evaluations building
on the training at the
September 2023
Strategic Planning.

a. Council has developed and
implemented a framework
to regularly evaluate the
effectiveness of:
i. Council meetings;

and
ii. Council

b. The framework includes a
third-party assessment of
Council effectives at a
minimum ever three years.

c. Ongoing training provided
to Council and Committee
members has been
informed by:
i. the outcome of

relevant
evaluation(s);

ii. the needs
identified by
Council and
Committee
members;
and/or

iii. evolving public
expectations
including risk
management and
Diversity,
Equity and
lnclusion

Council regularly
assesses its
effectiveness and
addresses identified
opportunities for
improvement through
ongoing education

2



CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Action Plan - 2023

Approved by Council: June2L,2A23 730

OngoingAllcommittees
and Council

CCO will continue to
review and update its
DEI plan, review and

update standards of
practice, policies and
guidelines and CCO

programs using a DEI

lens, and participate
and implement DEI-

related resources
from HPRO

a. The DEI plan is

reflected in the
Council's strategic
planning activities and

appropriately
resourced within the
organization to
support relevant
operationa I initiatives
(e.g., DEI training for
staff).

b. The College conducts
Equity lmpact
Assessments to ensure
that decisions are fair
and that a policy, or
program, or process is

not discriminatory.

The College has a

Diversity, Equity and

lnclusion (DEl) Plan

3



_. I ilttil

CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Action Plan - 2023
Approved by Council: June 2L,2023 731

OngoingAllcommittees
and Council

CCO willcontinue to
apply a risk based

approach in reviewing
and updating KPls and
reviewing standards
of practice, policies

and guidelines, based

on training received
as part of September
2023 Strategic
Planning.

The College regularly
reports to Council on its
performance and risk
review against:
i. stated strategic

objectives (i.e., the
objectives set out in a
College's strategic plan);

ii. regulatory outcomes (i.e
operational
i nd icators/ta rgets with
reference to the goals
we are expected to
achieve under the
RHPA); and

iii. its risk management
approach.

Council uses Key

Performance
lndicators (KPls) in

tracking and
reviewing the
College's
performance and
regularly reviews
internaland
external risks that
could impact the
College's
performance.

4



CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Action Plan - 2023

Approved by Council: Iune21.,2023 732

OngoingAllcommittees
and Council

CCO willcontinue to
apply a risk based

approach in reviewing
and updating KPls and

reviewing standards
of practice, policies

and guidelines, based

on training received
as part of September
2023 Strategic
Planning.

Council uses performance

and risk review findings to
identify where
improvement activities are
needed.

Council directs
action in response

to College
performance on its
KPls and risk
reviews.

5



CPMF Action PIon - November 25, 2021-

|TEM 4.1.53
733Key Performance Indicators

Approved by Council: November 25,2OZL

Registration
. Applications for registration that do not require a referral to the Registration Committee

are processed within 10 business days of receipt of a completed application

o Applications for registration that require a referral to the Registration Committee are

responded to within 60 days. Often, application to the Registration Committee will

require review by the Committee and further requirements from the applicant

lnquiries, Complaints and RePorts

o The lnquiries, Complaints and Reports (lCR) Committee's review of inquiries, complaints

and reports meets or exceeds the timeline requirements of the Regulated Heolth

Professions Act, L991-

o The majority of the ICR Committee decisions are upheld by the Health Professions

Appeal and review Board (HPARB)

Quality Assurance
o 5 - 7O%of members registered in the Generalclass of registration undergo a peer and

practice assessment everY Year
o Close to LOO% of members registered in the General class of registration for the entire

CE cycle complete the self assessment and continuing education requirements every

two years

Review of Standards of Practice, Policies and Guidelines
o All CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines are reviewed by their respective

committee on an annual basis, or as required by emerging regulatory issues



|TEM 4.1.55

College of Chiropractors of Ontario's DEI Audit and Recommendations

APPROVED BY COUNCII - APRII 20, 2022

The College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) has included areas of reporting that

reference Diversity, Equity and lnclusion (DEl). As a result, CCO has undertaken an audit of current DEI

practices to identify gaps and make recommendations for short- and long-term goals for DEl.

There are three areas of CPMF reporting that relate to DEI:

L, Ongoing training provided to Council and committee members informed by evolving public

expectations including Diversity, Equity and lnclusion'

Z. Council code of conduct and conflict of interest policies that reflects emerging initiatives (e.g.

Diversity, Equity and lnclusion).

3. The College has a Diversity, Equity and lnclusion Plan (DEl) plan. The DEI plan is reflected in

Council's strategic planning activities and appropriately resourced within the organization to

support relevant operational initiatives (e.g. DEI training for staff). The College conducts Equity

lmpact Assessments to ensure that decisions are fair and that a policy, or program, or process is

not discriminatory.

As a result of the new reporting requirements, CCO is in the process of developing a DEI plan. To do

that, we have examined the policies, procedures, and practices of CCO currently, to determine where

we have strengths, where we have weaknesses and areas that are on the right track yet require further

development.

ln the section below, we have identified some ways in which DEI has been incorporated. We believe it is

important to highlight some of the initiatives and efforts that CCO has already undertaken, and which

reflect the commitment of CCO towards diversity, equity and inclusion.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients (February 6,20181

r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter,

when necessary
. Members are to talk directly to a patient when working with an interpreter or any support staff

Guideline G-flt9: Code of Ethics {February 26,2020 - came into effect April 15, 2020}

r Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race,

ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender

identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-economic status or disability

738

1CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20, 2022



739

Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities {september 15, 2016}
r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and

diversity of all patients are respected;
r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:
o provide health care services without discrimination; and
o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policy P-057: Accessibility Policy (November 30, 2017|
r The College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) is committed to providing inclusive and

responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the Accessibility
for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and
members of the public with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

Competencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25,20211
r The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each

other and represent the diversity of practice in Ontario.
r Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion

Committee Specific DEI Efforts
r The newly developed Risk Assessment Framework for the ICRC is based on the principle of

transparency, fairness, accountability.
. As part of the Return to Practice, following a discipline suspension, members can select a

mentor of their choosing.

Partnership of Care - Patient's Charter of Rights and Responsibilities (April 26, 2017)
r Available in nine (9) languages,

Peer Assessor Workshop, 2022
r Each year, CCO hosts a Peer Assessor Workshop whereby assessors are briefed on new and/or

updated standards, policies, and guidelines, as well as learn about current CCO initiatives.
. During the last workshop, which was held on January 29,2022, assessors were briefly

introducedtoDEl inrelationtowhiteprivilegeandrace. Also,assessorswerenotifiedofthe
requirements made during a recent discipline hearing. As soon as the member is to return to
practice, they are to enter a mentoring program approved of by the Registrar with a CCO

member in good standing who has been approved of in advance by the Registrar. The mentor
will review and evaluate the member's practice and billings and provide written reports to the
Registrar at a frequency determined by the Registrar.

Self-Assessment 2.0
r The Quality Assurance Committee is currently working on a new self-assessment tool for its

professional members, set to be launched at the beginning of the next CE cycle. With this
tool, members will be asked to reflect on what steps they have taken and plan to take to
incorporate DEI training as part of their continued education.

Training/Consultations
r CCO's staff have attended DEI workshops hosted by CNAR, HPRO and CCA.

2

i
:]
'l

CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20, 2022



740

a Staff also attended in-house fire training to ensure that in the event of a fire, staff understood

their fire plan obligations to those with various accessibility/mobility issues.

Office Design
r CCO consulted with a third-party to ensure its current premises is physically accessible to

those requiring barrier free environments,

After completing an audit of CCO's current DEI efforts, and conducted interviews, we have created a

plan inclusive of Short-term and Longer-term recommendations'

Short-term (0-6 months)

3

STANDARDS,

POLICIES, AND

GUIDELINES

Language r Use language that is "people first" (e.g. instead of using

the term "an autistic person", use the term "person with

autism")
r Use language that is strengths-based and focuses on

one's ability rather than their disability
. Remove cisgender pronouns (e.g' "he/she") and replace

with nonbinary pronouns (e.g. "they/them)

Handouts/printouts Those with low vision:
. Option for larger font documents
r Option to have documents available in formats that are

conducive to audio conversion
r Option for high contrast slides for committee meeting

Committees r Conduct a yearly review of standards, policies, and

guidelines and ensure they are adhering to aspects

rtain to DEI

TRAINING r Ask Council, Committee Members, and staff what they

would like to receive with respect to DEI training.

r Provide ongoing training for Council, Committee

Mem and staff on various topics related to DEI

DEICOMMITTEE r Establish a committee of well-informed individuals to
guide Council and members regarding issues related to

DEI,

r lnclude on this committee, external parties with lived

an lnd ous consultant.

AWARENESS . Start all council meetings with a land acknowledgement.

r Post a land acknowledgement on the CCO website.

. Post an annual DEI Calendar in the CCO Offices.

. Acknowledge diversity in our workplace by celebrating

international of ition d staff meeti

CCO. DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20, 2022



741

o lnclude the Canadian Native Flag and L6BTe+ Flag
alongside the Canadian or Ontario Flag, if/when they are
used.

*
WRITTEN

COMMUNICATION
r Review the Conflict of lnterest and Code of Conduct with

a DEI lens.

r Remove cisgender pronouns (e.g. "he/she") and replace
with nonbinary pronouns (e.g. "they/them")

r Remove traditional marriage titles (Ms./ Mr./ Miss) when
referring to Public Council Member.

r Expand Partnership of Care document to reference
expectation of DEl.

COUNCIL and
COMMITTEE

MEMBER

e Provide a recommendation to the public appointments
office to consider appointing a French speaking public
member to Council.

r lnclude the following general direction to the Discipline
Committee Chair:
r When selecting panels for discipline hearings, the

Discipline Committee Chair is encouraged to
consider the skills and abilities of all potential panel
members and to reflect CCO's commitment to
Diversity, Equity and lnclusion wherever practicable.
All adjudicators must continue to meet the core
requirements of impartiality, independence and
integrity.

r lnclude an optional, open ended question on applications,
for non-council committee members to answer:
r "CCO is committed to Diversity, Equity and lnclusion

- please include any information you feel
comfortable disclosing that would be relevant to
CCO's consideration of your application".

r lnclude a mandatory question on applications for non-
council committee members to answer:
r "Are you bilingual in both of Canada's Official

Languages (English and French)?"

I
.

4CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20, 2022



742

Long-term (6-12 months)

Other DEI suggestions to consider:
r provide one paid working day per year for each staff member to spend volunteering at a charity

of their choice.
. Organize a staff outing to prepare and serve a meal at Covenant House, sort food at Daily Bread

Food Bank, etc.l

Anull Ausbeth-Aiaru, CCO Pvblic Councll M€mber, Chgir of Patiqnt Relation$, and M€mbeI ofjhe lgRC

Anuli Ausbeth-Ajagu has a varied and fascinating career - she is a certified Human Resource Leader,

professor and Author, an Ordained Minister, among many other things. She founded the organization,

youth and Gender Network (YGN), that serves as a platform for empowerment, inspiration, advocacy

and development of womenfolk and youths in Nigeria, YGN has organized several national youth

summits as part of its effort to developing the capacity of the future leaders and promoting peaceful

coexistence and nation building. YGN has consistently made remarkable changes in the Nigerian nation

as bridge builders, positive change agents, and development advocates, As an author, Anuli promotes

the rights of African woman, and highlights the oppression and discrimination that exists in Nigeria.

Since its publication, Anuli's book continues to be a resource in numerous schools. Anuli is startlng her

Doctorate of Business Administration at Royal Roads University, where she hopes to research black-

owned business to determine whether there are systemic challenges for racial minorities to own a

successful business in Canada. The focus of her doctorate is on the gaps to success and the cause of

those gaps and her goal is to create gualitative Canadian research that can be leveraged in the future by

a variety of users.

Markus de Domenic-o - CqO ?ublic Council Member anC Member of the Olscipline Commiilee

Markus de Domenico has been a Trustee with the Toronto Catholic District School Board (TCDSB) since

201.8. During his time as Trustee, the Board implemented the raising of the Pride flag and Pride Month,

forthefirsttimeinJune202l. AsoneofthelargestpubliclyfundedCatholicschoolboards,TCDSB
asked themselves, "What is in the best interest of the students?" when it comes to LGBTQ2S+ issues.

1 ln some instances, there is an associated cost to an event like this,

5

MEETINGS/

HEARINGS

Those with low hearing:
r Provide closed captioning during meetings
. Option for hearings to be held in French

rO for inte ton another lan

Those with low vision:
r Option to view the website in high contrast
r Option to convert text into audio

Those with cognitive disabilities:
r Use that can be understood all members of the ublic

WEBSITE

AWARENESS r Create a reporting mechanism so CCO is aware of DEI initiatives undertaken

Members within their commun

CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20, 2022



743

Their answer was to be welcoming and acceptin g of ollits members, as well as providing education
about the LGBTQ2S+ community. For this reason, the Board of Trustees agreed that it was ethically and
morally necessary for the Board to accept the human rights of all people, while still acknowledging
everyone's persona I experience with God.

Jarrod Goldin - cc-o council Member and chair of the Advertislng committee

Dr. Jarrod Goldin spearheaded CMCC's satellite clinic at Anishnawbe Health Toronto (AHT). Although
chiropractic services are no longer available at AHT, the teachings and practices experienced by Dr.
Goldinarestillofgreatmeaningtohimtoday. Hehasdevelopedanappreciationfordifferentkindsof
mediclne and embraces the integration of one's cultural needs with respect to chiropractic care.
Through AHT and his personal experiences as a South African of Jewish descent, Dr. Goldin believes that
cultural awarenessisimportantforanymemberoftheprofession. Heurgeseachmernbertobeaware
that one's history may have played a role in their current circumstance, He also asks members to
consider familiarizing themselves with marginalized groups within their community and look for ways to
serve them better. One of his key messages to members is for them to go out into the community and
SERVE - to hold outreaches, consider their fee structure for those who would otherwise not be able to
afford chiropractic care, etc.

Robvn Gravelle - CCO CouncilTreasurer, and Chair of both the Fltness to Practise Committee and thg
Qualitv Assuranee Committee.

Robyn Gravelle's background academically is in Health Policy where she studied social determinants of
health, and healthcare inequality and inequities related to access to perinatal care for refugee women. A
large part of her career has been in social services (public housing specifically) where she has worked
with a diverse group of individuals from visible minority communities, Additionally, she has been
involved in employer-led initiatives for women in leadership programs, lndigenous engagement
strategies and inclusive spaces through a DEI employer group. Robyn believes that there must be
meaningful engagement in order to develop a successful DEI program and she feels that involving
individuals with lived experience is one of the ways to do that.

Zoe Kariunas'CCo Public Council Member and Member of the Qualitv Assuranfe Committee

As a professional in developmental services currently with Developmental Services Ontario Toronto
Region as a Housing Navigator supporting individuals and families to access services and resources, Zoe
Kariunas shared with us insights regarding diversity, equity and inclusion for people with varying
abilities. She brought to light the intersectionality of socioeconomics, race, and gender identity of
people with invisible disabilities which otten results in marginalization. When discussing accessibility,
Zoe Kariunas highlighted that many people are able to create accommodations for those with visible
disabilities, yet accommodations those with invisible disabilities are often missed. She encourages one
to embrace all levels of ability and think to oneself how all people can be accommodated in order to
meaningfully contribute from lived experiences.

6

.i
I

CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20, 2022



744

Robert MacKav - Former CCO Council President and Current Member of the DisciDline Committee

Robert MacKay spent years advocating for people living with HIV during his time with HIV & AlDS Legal

Clinic Ontario (HALCO), a charitable non-profit community-based legal clinicthat provides free legal

assistance to people living with HIV/AIDS. Here, he provided support to numerous people who found

themselves in discriminatory situations because of their medical dlagnosis. As a guest lecturer with

HALCO, Robert's role was to provide information sessions to various groups where he was able to

educate people on what he has coined, the Trilogy of Long-Term Survival with HIV' His lectures were

so well received that he was invited to be a guest lecturer for most of ontario AIDS Network's (oAN)

30+ member agencies, and for CATIE, a national health information organization'

Dennis Mizel - CCO Council President-anj! Me-r4ber of the Discioline and Fitness-tq Practise

Committees.

euest Community Health Centre's Volunteer Chiropractic Program was developed in 2013, which was

when Dr. Mizel began volunteering for this initiative, The program provides access to a range of health

care providers which patients could otherwise not afford while waiting for access to OHIP coverage'

This program has proven especially helpful for people with active pain, who have experienced trauma or

addiction, and/or who have specialized mental health needs. Through this service, the volunteer

chiropractic team members complete an assessment and develop individualized care plans. Quest CHC

normalizes free services for clients. Dr. Mizel believes that his time working with Quest CHC's clients has

taught him the importance of communication and trust, and compassion, empathy and understanding'

between a patient and a practitioner.

Kelly Malgolm - Staff Member and lnvestleator

ln the fall of 2}Zl,Kelly Malcolm launched the Toronto chapter of The Fresh Start Project (TFSP). TFSP

partners with local shelters to identify families that need support and works mostly with single women

andtheirchildren, Thepurposeof TFsPistohelpfamiliesmakeaneasiertransitionfromashelterto
their own apartment, feeling supported by their community, by providing basic household and personal

items, to create a place that feels like horne. Each client requests items that would help give them the

foundation to make their day-to-day living (and the first couple months in their new home) easier,

helping ease the financial burden and stress levels. This is only possible with a large team of volunteers

who donate items and/or their time each month. Kelly feels this work enables the team to appreciate

the strength, determination, and persistence of these women who, despite adversity and barriers, work

to make a better life for themselves and their children'

7
CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20, 2022



745

Below is a list of potential organizations that may provide training to Council, committee members
and Staff to further their knowledge of specific DEI issues.

It might also be worth reaching out to other Colleges who are further along in their DEljourney (i.e.
College of Nurses of Ontario) and who may be able to provide recommendations for DEI Consultants
who are familiar with the world of Health Regulators.

8

Indigenous awareness and cultural
sensitivity

Bear Standing Tall and Association
https://www.bearstandinetall.com/
o Toronto-based company dedicated to "creating bridge

between lnd nous and Non-l ous nations"
Native Canadian Centre of Toronto
https://ncct.on.ca/
r Toronto-based organization that hosts a variety of

workshops and activities based on lndigenous teachings
and traditions

IGBTQ2S+ awareness and
educational

Sherbourne Health
httns://sherbourne.on.cal
e Toronto-based health care clinic that serves many

includi LGBTQ2S+ commun
Mr. Robert MacKay
e With further guidance from CCO regarding its needs, Mr

MacKay has offered to provide CCO with contacts of
those may be able to conduct seminars based on
LGBTQ2S+ issues, as well as other topics surroundine DEI

Abilities Awareness Abilitles Centre
LEAP Canada'" I Abilities Centre Whitbv
r An internationally renowned, innovative community hub

that offers a program, LEAD (Leading Equitable and
Accessible Delivery) to help organizations understand
and embrace inclusion and accessibility into strategic
planning, daily operations, programming, and
organizational culture

CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20, 2022



|TEM 4.1 .62
Rose Bustria

853
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
November 4,2023 8:04 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: Voting is open: Cast your vote now for the OCA's Board of
Directors

Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario i"CCO") services cont;nue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

rece ption @ cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated

with dignity and respect. Please contact us i{ you require accommodatiorrs. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectf ul and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

Sent: November 4,2023 8:02 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Voting is open: Cast your vote now for the OCA's Board of Directors

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Voting is open: Cast your vote now for the OCA's Board of Directors

1



H
854Ontario

Chiropractic
Association

Voting is open: Cast your vote now for the OCA's
Board of Directors

Dear Dr. Willson,

We're excited to announce that voting for the 2024-2027 OCABoard

Elections is now open! Please read about this year's candidates and cast

your vote for who will help lead the future of the OCA and our

profession.

You should have received or will be receiving an email from Simply

Voting for instructions on how to cast your vote. Please be sure to check

you spam/junk folders if you have not received this email.

Read below to learn more about the election process, who is running and

instructions on how to vote.

Who is the Board of Directors?

The OCA's Board of Directors are our association's team of chiropractic

leaders. Each of the 12 board members are working chiropractors and

OCA members and they're responsible for governing OCA's strategic

and policy priorities. Successful candidates work closely with OCA's

leadership to advance chiropractic care in Ontario.

Who is running?

z



855
This year's election includes three incumbents and five new candidates.

We encourage you to learn about all candidates to ensure your vote is as

informed as possible. You can learn more about each of these

candidates by reading their profiles below:

Dr. Nardine Bekhit

Dr. Andrew Creqq

Dr. Janet D'Arcy

Dr. Nick Green

Dr. Erika Kuehnel

Dr. Nobel Malhotra

Dr. Keshena Malik

Dr. Patricia Tavares

Where can lvote?

Follow the instructions in your email from Simply Voting. This link will

take you to a secure webpage where you can cast your verified vote.

Each OCA member is entitled to four votes.

Voting will remain open until 5 p.m. on Saturday, November 25,2023. lf

you did not receive a link from Simply Voting or have questions about the

election process, please contact Deborah Gibson at

dq ibson@chiropractic. on.ca.

3



E
i-

@o@@@ 856

We're here for you:

Contact us via your Self-Serve Member Portal or

Tel: 41 6-860-0070 (local) | 1 -877 -327 -2273 (toll-free)

Email: oca@chiropractic.on.ca

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

Business Building

70 University Ave Suite 201

Toronto, ON MsJ 2M4

Canada

Add us to your address book

Want to change how you receive these emails?

You can update vour preferences or unsubscribe from this list.

4



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.66

Jo-Ann Willson
October 27,2023 5:45 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: CCEB website facelift I Renouvellement de notre site web

900
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 'l 1 1

Toll Free:'l-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www-cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services corltinue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines telated

to the COVID-19 global pandemic, ln-office services are available by appointment orrly, Please use the email or phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please corltact Reception by phone at4L6-922-6355 ext. 100 ot email

receptio n @cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately

CCO is cornnritted to providing inclusive, acconrmodaling, and responsirre services and ensur-ing that individuals are treated

rvith dignity and respect. Please corltact us if you require accomntodations, Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectful and pro{essional.

CONFIDENTIALITY
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Suzette Martin-Johnson <suzettem @cceb.ca>
Sent: Wednesday, October 25,2023 9:30 AM
To: Suzette Martin-Johnson <suzettem@cceb.ca>

Subject: CCEB website facelift I Renouvellement de notre site web

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hieveryone,
After over a year of development and testing, we are excited to share the www.cceb.ca facelift!
Cheers,
The CCEB team

Bonjour d tous et d toutes,
Suffe d plus d'un an de ddveloppement et de fesfs, nous sommes ravis de vous presenter le
www. cceb. c a re n ouvel 6 !
Bien d vous,
L'equipe du CCEB

1



&*EB
Suzette Martin-Joh nson (She/her/elte)

Board Ad m i n istrator/Translator I Ad m i n istratrice de Consei l/Trad uctrice

lffi cBsaarrc tramaaaioiltltr {.\.t:.a dt rr/i!}l <i'rf,r.r!,9;: i

Suite 705, 7015 Macleod Trail SW, Calgary, AB T2H 2Ko
T 403-230-5997 (2) | www.cceb.ca

ln the spirit of reconciliation and with the reverence and respect that is due, we acknowledge
the First Peoples on whose territories we work, Iive, and recreate. We give thanks to and
honour lndigenous People and communicates for their stewardship of the land from time
immemorial.

Dans un esprit de rAconciliation, et avec la r€v6rence ef /e respect que I'on doit observer, nous
reconnaissons /es Premiers Peuples sur /es territoires desgue/s nous @uvrons, vivons et
pratiquons des loisirs. Nous remercions et honorons /es peuples ef /es communautOs
Autochtones pour leur intendance de la terre depuis des femps imm6moriaux.

This message and any documents attached hereto are intended only for the addressee and may contain privileged or confidential informaiion.
Any unauthorized disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this message in error, please notify us immediately so that we may
correct our internal records. Please then delete the original message. Thank you.

Ce message et tous les documents joints sont destin6s uniquement au destinataire et peuvent contenir des informations privilegi6es ou
confidentielles. Toute divulgation non autoris6e est strictement interdite. Si vous avez regu ce message par erreur, veuillez nous en aviser
imm6diatement afin que nous puissions corriger nos dossiers internes. Veuillez ensuite supprimer le message d'origine. Nous vous remercions

901

2



THE CGEB SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AGTIOI{ STATEMENT
The CCEB is commifted to taking purposeful adions on Trulh and Reconciliation (T&R), Divcrsity. Equity, and lnclusion
(DEl), and Sustainability. We maintain accountability irr these three areas by celebratkrg our actions and mileslones while

Flanning and irnplementing defined steps toward further growth and development. We recognizo the rmponanco of
remaining current in terms of soci6tal expeclations around human responsibility in an ovolving and advancing social
environment. The CCEB s strategic planning. operational planning and day{oday operations walk hand in hand with

DECLARATION D'ACTION SUR LA RESPONSABILITE SOCIALE DU CCEB
Le CCEB s'enga!e .i prendre des trcsures cofcrates en rnatjdre des enjeux sociaux Nous nous monlons resporisrbles dans ces fois
domaines en 4eldllrafL nos actlons ct fos dlapes inrportantes toul ef planiilant et en nrettanl en euvre des etapcs d6finies poLrr uDe

croissance !lldrieure No!s reconreissons I'imooilance de resler au courani en lermes de la resnonqebilil6 h ,maine dans rf -Anvi.onrri menl
.iocralqLr!-pvollli,etavaf{;e Laplanificalionsfategque laplanlficatiofop6raiionnell€eilesoperalilrrsquotidiennFtd(rCClaLlvo,t
de piir ave. les consid6raUons etrvironnementales, soc ales et de gouverilance.

902

NOUS RESTONS ENGAGES A FARE

AVANCER NOTRE TRAVAIL I

' LcCCEB€ilinu.ya Jrcchfirnj,!I|! -!nI irlrrc (lrn, E

TRUTH AND RECONCILIATION
. ltOoollrpletedlr.UnivcrsdvorAlbeda lridrqenols

' lnleiltlral r?fle, tvs fo(xrs {facihixlrd) [oorcoralF!
nto 2\ )22-21) 2i sra\cq( plan nin! 3.,: iirn.

. Honoilr S-qptemb--r 30 as the Nalional Day oi Trrlh
afrd R*lillcl i{on

. Aclvc Lend A,iknowledgnrcnr. ri.vcfy ni.ct rg

{caref Lo ieconcill:r!ior.

' 9articrpation in Nal;oral lndiCenoLsC!lr!ilal
ao,rCetence Wotk ng croup

. Senior baderchp lnd o,ailor < Crltrtral Saiety
.-Adfcatnr a.hio!ed.

. t iunr cr srrye! seelifq b understdnd I r'id expr ri4('i ol CCEB loluili' .'

. Ncw CCEb !.,bsllc d^sili und/iMay wilh a rocls on la^guogc rnri m.rO r!
thmurrh r nFl l.ns.

. Appclnlnrcrl oidlv.6r lhi.<Drb,)ich bcard rceLi !.

. CCFB Jolfed Gov.,mmerr Ln Cafad.i 50.30 . rall.ngr

' HunrF, rosourc{, Pol cv f-.vieu - lerd(tr ncruti lanqueq: and Dtl ur's.

. F,r$.aR ii\i,to. nrL?Nqj

DIVERSITY, EQU]TY, AND INCLUSION

' CCFB :r r;r and 8oa.d.r Gov!.,rnors aterided Diver t1, Eqrr f .

.nd lnclu-(ion lEr rinq.

. M"irrbers clllr, frgflrplon re;i'v/ tr,d Aptcal Coirrililtda, d
tlLCIO dicndsd Unconscus h]r' i,arr;yJ

. Us9 ol lendeFneuIal languale .cr Erenrption Review nn! Apneal
Comm ! .c inosioil.r

vERITE ET REcONcILIATION

. L, D re!trlro Conerale (DGl a surv lo cou':i
hvtigenaus Cailada dr IUn verckr de l Albed:

. Una rellexon inlentiofneJlf iiacil[je] r -.lr: rnk gr;e
i la iession dr planifi.?tjof s ?1egiq!r :1022-2022.

. Nous hL:iorons le 30 r€piembre, a JDUrn*.
ffilioi!L dA la verllc et la r.Nnc liauon

! Daclaron: d.s rcconra ssancas dr: la r.i.'i lors dc
ih.qu. .c!n on, ay( a rr r 1, 6 nclions da

. pan cipon\ .i u, grorp. ,rnlotrii de nnlpete,xrr
.ul[]relle ndigene

' C€rL licalion rn Securle culturcll. inli9or\.
compldtt! par ln dfeilion (u ccFB

DIVERSITE, EOU|TE ET INCLUSIOI{

. Le Darsoil.dr du CCEB el le Cunseil des lou " n" / i oni firrn ri !, f n

brm.lon .u ln dr!'jriln, lnqriti cl llrcfui,^
. i* nienrbrDs du Cof ,l! d? yanre. ctd app.l d!! ..', nlil\ t I r'!.,,r11

.,,.,,..1 --t,- rl-.,.i,a-sno- |.
. U [sation drn lanlage.on sexisle tou, le(, d40:r of hr Llrnr : IFrin.n

.l dapp"l d$ cx.mpriotrs.

. Enqlilcsur l.s bifi!,ncs vLsanl ! conrnl.friri lr'<pr.irlra i.!. t,r
be,'evole., dLr CCEB.

. Nouvclle con.')ptoi dr iilc lnlerrct ilL OCt|
padi.uli'. rL lanai!.'r j l1m rq(tre dif s !n'ltu rh Diil

. Cr ronrne !n1e) Fe 1se!(euse) er d veFnl r]ou. riilu nr:r i rL:.F nl
;or,srll des SoovenreuF.

. ns.xjplion.! d<rl l(!10 nl.n,.naflc oouvFrr m, I nr Crnr4.r

. Rnvu6 de lr PolitlqLre dcs res.ourc€s hrnr.ii.. d [ .r r]tr{.I ! nor

. c-dif calon Arc-rtr-061 obtenue

I
(

SUSTAINABIL]TY
. Patrd€ss rorl cnvirofircf i for.pcratrna!

processes includin!t €ll ilnancial procasse:

. Sltnfk.rnl reductur l, prfnrg and lhirrlnq
reqrfenref t. d(e b hlodrnllrl of renr,te

. Rcdu.dd adminishlve{ootp, ntbVrnovng
lo a 50')i smalle .fBco spacn

. Proilolon if,d srpp.n olren.rtev/oa.

. S !r icant redldror n itr and oiher tavr
byslafirnCcardidfirEsdtr. !o iew.itrer
adnlinisl iorroffcrino rcm(r( fro.lor 1!

WE REMAIN COMMITTED

TO ADVANCING OUR WORK:
. TherjcEByrjll uonrn, etorcs.archandlse,nclrsr!,

,nd Osnecltilanglagcandiuatciland:!lev'mqea
iivds. Da6onne r.d vr[n!)cr pDol

. If e CCFB w ll hdn.il l-eirr rme r.h ng n a wltrg worksb^p
r'lrl reto lndrq- ousCilltrrn SaferyilCS)

. TheCOEHwilr.iorrnuelorrvieweyimiler,sfDft , DEI pesppctive

. TheCCFtswlllliuchLbn.!vwrbs{s.rn(drtabascw[hi]i

. Tl,COEBwdlldu,rchexdmin.rhlninsmDluleskngEl nn( l(r5.

. ihe CegBwill.oM!c1 n conrpEh.irsiv. /otdFrrdiversiu sL.fvey

ENVIRONNEMENT

' Environn.ftenld: fnvail sans fepier
polr lcsq)eralions. y compri! to!s les
procp5s!s flrancieE et l: veifrcalior

. Rnduclon rroriific;tv( lelid{nand.
d'mpresslon /id'eipadiUof il:c. i lJ
sun'rillara{ a dslince,

. EftlpefrieidmfrislElivEierEredrtsuits
r! diminagemeni i iln espr., dc hilEAr

. Prcmoldrersoutbn tutrav.rl :r dishnco.

swd
k# magedeinclusilielmsppctue!! r rr rIrd d\nllrlc4.rl Id r

!roupe di, l,anFvoles div".,sfi d..

. Lo CC€B c(ar rsern une lomil. I rr,r, ilelA d rdJr/ tjcn (lrd( r!. i.f(.4nr' I

I sftrtritr-<.uhr'ellc tLtochkn.

' 1,1 CCEB cdninrrE a illdier k n'f .ii:!r-,lilrn n il f .ltl vrn n. Li Dtl.
. L, (]CEAlanc+rr\!il n.uve$ siqV/eb,tsenolvellebil$dclonneesdairs

'rn 
i opl4rcd hdr.nf.

. LeCCEBhnceridiismodrlesdeirrniliand'sexanrn?L.rr.po!rlaOEl
ct l. qDclrlti cullurolkr lui.chlon(.

. LrCCEBmcnr.ru.!.nqri!,rrhatrsiiv.rsurl.Clc'sird!e$b4novolcs

. L oltue de la sur€illoffr ,l Jislarioe porr
dr.\ .innrcns rcrlts a provrqud uf,r id,d,,cl o'L
iilponanlc d.s vols d avr'r eld'alr.s voyaqr s.



Q exnrns6lcc*b.cc t (+o:) 230-5997 About Us Contcct Us 'h Frangcis

CCEB
903

dNADIAX CHIROPRAGiIC EXATINIXG BOARD
CONSEIL CANADIEN OES EXAMENS CHIROPRATIQU€5

Home Exom lnformotion Condidote Hondbook Resources Volunteering

Welcome to ourwebsite!
The Conodion Chiroproctic Exomining Boord (CCf e) develops qnd odministers the written multiple choice ond

objective structured clinicol exominotions (OSCf) thot ore port of the quolifying licensing requirements for

chiroproctors in Conodo. Pleose click on the tobs ot the top right of the poge to gother the procticol informotion

needed to opply for CCEB exoms ond to leorn obout the structure of our exqms qnd our orgonizotion or explore

the tobs below to leorn more obout the principles ond history thot provide the foundotion for our work.



Diversity, Equity, ond

lnclusion Truth ond Reconciliqtion

904
Vqlues Mission

Vision History

Diversity, Equity, qnd lnclusion

The CCEB is committed to providing on inclusive, sofe, ond

respectful environment. This orgonizotionol culture is bocked

by policies, procedures, ond ongoing evoluotion.

The CCEB reports our octions ond intentions using the CCEB

Sociol Responsibility Action Stotement, our woy of holding

ourselves occountoble ond shoring our progress. You con view
the Action Stotement here (eOf ottoched).

The CCEB is proud to hove received our Roinbow Registrotion in

2023 ond hos o continued commitment to beinq o 2SLGBTQ+



welcoming spoce.

@
Rainbow
Registered
Arc-en-ciel
Officiel

-

Centre 70 - Suite 705,7015

Mocleod Troil SW Colgory, Alberto

T2H 2K6

(aoe) 230*bse7

exCImsGDcceb^co

905

Territoriol Acknowledgement

ln the spirit of reconciliotion ond with the reverence ond respect thot is

due, we ocknowledge the First Peoples on whose territories we work, live,

ond recreote.

We give thonks to ond honour lndigenous people ond communities for

their stewordship of the lond from time immemoriol.



Rose Bustria
906

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Attachments:

Jo-Ann Willson
October 17,2023 11:54 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: lnformation video for members from Gemma lVid6o de

renseignement faite par Gemma pour membres

CCEB 20230918 Member Video.mp4

lmportance: High

Registration and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 11'l
Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: wvv\w.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario {"CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointnrent only, Please use the entail or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone ai 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

reception@cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is comrnitted to providing inclusive, accornmodating, ald responsirre services and ensurirrg that indlviduals are treated

\/ith dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require acconrmodations, Please ensut'e that all comrlunications with CCO are

respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Suzette Ma rtin-Johnson <suzettem @cceb.ca>
Sent: Monday, October L6,2023 7:06 PM

To: Suzette Ma rtin-Johnson <suzettem @cceb.ca>
Subject: lnformation video for members from Gemma I Video de renseignement faite par Gemma pour

membres
lmportance: High

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good evening I Bonsoir,

Please find attached a short, bilingual greeting and information video prepared by our CEO,
Gemma Beierback, on our new website (launching next week) and blueprint-based exam
changes. She prepared it for use at your AGMs or other meetings as needed. I Nous vous
envoyons une courte vid6o bilingue de salutation et de renseignement pr6par6e par notre

1



Directrice g6n6rale Gemma Beierback concernant notre nouveau site web (qui sera lanc6 la
semaine prochaine) et les changements d'examen. Elle l'a pr6par6e pour utilisation lors de vos
AGA et aussi pour d'autres r6unions au besoin.

Have a great evening! Bonne soir6e! 907
Sincerely I Bien cordialement,

CCEB

Suzette Martin-Johnson (She/her/elle)

Board Ad min istrator/Translator I Ad mi n istratrice de Consei l/Trad uctrice
Suite 705,7015 Macleod TrailSW, Calgary, AB T2H 2K6

j

lru GxruKrrsmmo T 403-230-5997 (2) |r.a,'ra a{! ar r.l{1 t ri.r},.^r!t:rrtr
www.cceb.ca

In the spirit of reconciliation and with the reverence and respect that is due, we acknowledge
the First Peoples on whose territories we work, Iive, and recreate. We give thanks to and
honour Indigenous People and communicates for their stewardship of the land from time
immemorial.

Dans un esprit de rAconciliation, et avec Ia r6v6rence et Ie respect que l'on doit observer, nous
reconnaissons /es Premiers Peuples surles territoires desgue/s nous cEuvrons, vivons et
pratiquons des /ot1sirs. Nous remercions et honorons /es peuples ef les communaut6s
Autochtones pour leur intendance de la terre depuis des femps immdmoriaux.

This message and any documents attached hereto are intended only for the addressee and may contain privileged or confidential information.
Any unauthorized disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this message in error, please notify us immediately so that we may
correct our internal records. Please then delete the original message. Thank you.

Ce message et tous les documents joints sont destin6s uniquement au destinataire et peuvent contenir des informations privilegi6es ou
confidentielles. Toute divulgation non autorisee est strictement interdite. Si vous avez regu ce message par erreur, veujllez nous en aviser
imm6diatement afin que nous puissions corriger nos dossiers internes. Veuillez ensuite supprimer le message d'origine. Nous vous remercions.

-

2



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.67 908

-

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Jo-Ann Willson
September 28,2023 11:22 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: CCGI Update Repoft - Sept 2023

CCGI update report-Sept 2023.pdf

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. In-office services are available by appointrnent only. Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

rece ptio n @ cco.on.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is conrmitted to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated

with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accornmodations. Please ensure that all comnrunlcations with CCO are

respectful arrd professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Carolina Cancelliere <Ca rolina.Ca ncelliere@ontariotechu.ca>
Sent: Thursday, September 28,2023 L1:20 AM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>; cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Clark R. Mills <clarkrmills@gmail.com>
Subject: CCGI Update Report - Sept 2023

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Dr. Green and Ms. Wilson,

We hope you are doing well

We're pleased to share the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline lnitiative (CCGI) Update Report for the
period of May to September 2023.

Warm regards,

1

Dr. Clark Mills, DC



Chair, Guideline Steering Committee
Ca nadia n Chiropractic G uideline I nitiative (CCG I )

Dr. CarolCancelliere, DC, MPH, PhD

CCGI Project Lead

Scientist, lnstitute for Disability and Rehabilitation Research

Faculty of Health Sciences, Ontario Tech University
https: //www.ccgi-resea rch.com/
https://id rr.onta riotech u.cal
Mobile: 4L6-54O-6472

909

2



910

@
Canadian Chiropractic
Guideline lnitiative
AOVAT|N6EXCE: ttNCt rX C*rcMl( tr€

iiiiiri:iff IDRR Ej OntarioTech
U N IVE RSITY

Enhancing the health of Canadians by fostering excellence in chiropractic care

Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative (CCGI) Update Report

Reporting Period: May 2023 - September 2023

Successfulgrantapplicationto:TheCCGI,alongside
the University of Alberta and the Canadian Injured Workers Alliance, is launching a rapid
review on the effectiveness of selthelp interventions for workers with musculoskeletal,
anxiety, or depressive issues. Sponsored by WCB-Alberta and the CCRF, the research aims
to understand how these strategies can enhance health outcomes and reduce work disability.
The team will review both quantitative and qualitative studies to gauge the interventions'
impact and gather workers' insights. This study, in partnership with affected workers, seeks

to promote better health and work lesults through effective self-help methods (Sept. 2023 -
Feb.2025).
Submitted research grant application to the Chronic Pain Centre of Excellence for
Canadian Veterans: This research proposal entitled "Improving Chronic Pain and Mental
Illness Management in Canadian Veterans: Development of Tailored Resources" seeks to
address chronic pain and mental health challenges, like PTSD, prevalent among Canadian

Armed Forces (CAF) veterans. The study will assess the needs of veterans, caregivers, and
practitioners, then develop and refine resources tailored to these needs. The goal is to
enhance care quality and support for CAF veterans by understanding their unique challenges
and providing relevant resources (submitted Aug.2023).

a

a

Strategic Goal 1: Develop, adopt, or adopt clinical practice guideltnes / systematic reviews ta
inform gaidelines
1. Rehabilitation after lumbar disc herniation surgery in adults (systematic review):

updating literature search in fall 2023 prior to next joumal submission.
2. Back pain rehabilitation in children (systematic review): literature search updated August

2023 ; m anuscript subm is s ion p lanned in fall 2023 .

3. Living concussion guidelines: published (https://concussionsontario.ors/) (Carol served as

an expert panel member).
4. Evidence syntheses for WHO chronic low back pain guideline: 7 manuscripts accepted in

the Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation (to be published Dec. 2023).

Strategic Goal 2: Engage in knowledge translation activities and research
t. Concussion assessmento diagnosiso and management in adults and children (online

learning module): first draft developed.
2. Chiropractors in concussion care: an evidence-based perspective in Canada: This paper

emphasizes the role of chiropractors in the assessment and diagnosis of concussions, which
are increasingly common in sports and daily activities. This paper argues against limiting



911

@ OntarioTech
UNIVERSITY

concussion diagnosis to only medical doctors and nurse practitioners, highlighting the
potential for chiropractors (alongside other competent practitioners) to improve patient
outcomes, healthcare equity and efficiency. Submitted to JCCA September 15,2023.

3. Integrating patient preferences into decision-making (clinician resource in partnership
with OCA): developed first draft; working with CMCC resident on projects to inform this
resource (scoping review, qualitative study of chiropractors and patients).

4. Enhancing patient experience in chiropractic care (a quality improvement initiative in
partnership with the CCA): In202l, the CCA launched an initiative to develop 'best
practices' for improving patient experiences in chiropractic care. Collaborating with
chiropractic stakeholders and patients, 57 'best practice' statements were formulated. Our
current project aims to assess the needs of Canadian chiropractors in implementing these
practices, identifying barriers and facilitators. The findings will guide strategies to facilitate
effective integration of these 'best practices' into daily chiropractic practice, promoting
quality and patient-centered care. The Theoretical Domains Framework will be employed to
understand chiropractors' behavior and knowledge application. Target completion: December
2023.

5. Clinician and patient resources (based on practice guidelines) available for: chronic
pain, concussion/mTBI in adolescents, concussion/mTBl in adults, epicondylitis, headache,
knee pain and mobility impairments, low back pain, lumbar spinal stenosis, mental health,
mental health in children/adolescents, neck pain, osteoarthritis, patellofemoral pain, physical
activity throughout pregnancy, shoulder pain, sleep, temporomandibular disorder, ankle
sprain, plantar heel pain.

6. Exercise videos and forms available for: low back pain, neck pain, shoulder pain.
7. Validated outcome measurements available for: arthritis, balance, concussion, disability,

generic, headache, low back pain, lower extremity, mental health, neck pain, pain,
psychosocial, health-related quality of life, sleep, upper extremity, social determinants of
health.

8. Research Talks video series available for: key components of randomized controlled trials,
interpreting treatment effects, diagnostic accuracy, predictive values.

9. Free online learning modules available for: management of shoulder soft-tissue disorders,
clinical decision-making for adults with low back pain (assessing risk for serious pathology).

10. iinks to patient decision aids, virtual care, etc.
11. Presentations:

. PIE 2023 (CMCC): Carol gave a plenary presentation on the WHO chronic low back
pain guidelines;workshop on critical appraisal of diagnostic accuracy studies.

rz. Collaborations:
. CCBC rapid reviews: initiating review on 'validity/reliability of screening tools for

mental health disorders in primary health care settings'.
. WHO World Rehabilitation Alliance (Carol is a member of the 'integrating

rehabilitation into primary care' working group).

Canadian Chiropractic
Guideline lnitiative
AOYAKINGtICI: r lffil rN C4ROruCT{ SF€

iiiiiriiiiiil. IDRR 5i



@
Canadian Chiropractic
Guideline lnitiative
AW rcrNGtictr l[NCf la C*ROmCTK &Ra

iiiii$,|i.I( IDRR u OntarioTech
UN IV ERSITY

912

Webslte 0ast 6 months) Other
Total sessions: 17,868
Unique visitors: 7,722
Returning visitors: 1,372

Visitors by country (top 5)
1. Canada:74,223
2. USA: 1,657
3. France:748
4. Switzerland;273
5. Australia: 198

YouTube:

5,900+ subscribers
1,400,000+ views

Facebook:
1,167 members

Twitter:
39 followers (new account)

Stay updated with our latest news and insights! Follow us on Linkedln, Twitter, Facebook, and

YouTube. Also, check out our website for more information.

Systematic Reviews
l. Southerst D, Hincapi6 CA, Yu H, Verville L, Bussidres A, Gross DP, Pereira P, Mior S, Tricco AC,

Cedraschi C, Brunton G, Nordin M, Wong JJ, Connell G, Shearer HM, DeSouza A, Muffoz Laguna J, Lee

J, To D, Lalji R, Stuber K, Funabashi M, Hofstetter L, Myrtos D, Romanelli A, Guist BP, Young JJ, da

Silva-Oolup S, Stupar M, Wang D, Mumaghan K, Cancelliere C (supervisory author). Systematic review
to inform a World Health Organization (WHO) clinical practice guideline: Benefits and harms of
structured and standardized education or advice for chronic primary low back pain in adults. Journal

of Occupational Rehabilitation (accepted May 26,2023).
2. Verville L, Hincapid CA, Southerst D, Yu H, Bussidres A, Gross DP, Pereira P, Mior S, Tricco AC,

Cedraschi C, Brunton G, Nordin M, Connell G, Shearer HM, Wong JJ, Hofstetter L, Romanelli A, Guist
BP, To D, Stuber K, da Silva-Oolup S, Stupar M, Myrtos D, Lee J, DeSouza A, Mufioz Laguna J,

Murnaghan K, Cancelliere C (supervisory author). Systematic review to inform a World Health
Organization (WHO) clinical practice guideline: Benefits and harms of transcutaneous electrical
nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic primary low back pain in adults. Journal of Occupational
Rehabilitation (accepted May 26, 2023).

3. Yu H, Wang D, Verville L, Southerst D, Bussidres A, Gross DP, Pereira P, Mior S, Tricco AC, Cedraschi

C, Brunton G, Nordin M, Shearer HM, Wong JJ, Connell G, Myrtos D, da Silva-Oolup S, Young JJ,

Funabashi M, Romanelli A, Lee JGB, Stuber K, Guist B, Muffoz Laguna J, Hofstetter L, Mumaghan K,
Hincapid CA, Cancelliere C (supervisory author). Systematic review to inform a World Health
Organization (WHO) clinical practice guideline: Benefits and harms of needling therapies for
chronic primary low back pain in adults. Joumal of Occupational Rehabilitation (accepted June 15,

2023).
4. Verville L, Ogilvie R, Hincapi6 CA, Southerst D, Yu H, Bussidres A, Gross DP, Pereira P, Mior S, Tricco

AC, Cedraschi C, Brunton G, Nordin M, Connell G, Wong JJ, Shearer HM, Lee JGB, Wang D, Hayden JA,
Cancelliere C (supervisory author). Systematic review to inform a World Health Organization (WHO)
clinical practice guideline: Benefits and harms of structured exercise programs for chronic primary
low back pain in adults. Journal ofOccupational Rehabilitation (accepted June 15,2023).

Primary Research
l. Mior S, Cancelliere C, Hofkirchner C, Connell G, Sutton D, Vogel E, COtd P, French SD, Nordin M,

Laporte A. Developing an Evidence-Based Program of Care for Community-based Chiropractors



913

@
Canadian Chiropractic
Guideline lnitiative
AOV KINOgclrltNCt lft CRqmCrK @t

iiiii$K IDRR Fi Ontario'l'lech
U N IVERSITY

Managing Spinal Pain in the Canadian Armed Forces Personnel: A feasibility study. Joumal of
Military, Veteran and Family Health (accepted Aug. 28,2023).

Brief Reports / Commentaries
l. Cancelliere C, Hincapi6 CA. Management of adults with chronic primary low back pain: Introduction

to the special series of systematic reviews to inform a World Health Organization (WHO) standard
clinical guideline. Journal ofOccupational Rehabilitation (accepted July 2023).

2. Cancelliere C, Verville L, Southerst D, Yu H, Hayden JA, Ogilvie R, Bussidres A, Gross DP, Pereira P,
Mior S, Tricco AC, Cedraschi C, Brunton G, Nordin M, Wong JJ, Shearer HM, Connell G, Hincapi6 CA.
Systematic review procedures for the World Health Organization (WHO) evidence syntheses on
benefits and harms ofstructured and standardized education/advice, structured exercise programs,
transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), and needling therapies for the management of
chronic low back pain in adults. Journal ofOccupational Rehabilitation (accepted July 2023).

3. Cancelliere C, Hainan Y, Southerst D, Connell G, Verville L, Bussidres A, Gross DP, Pereira P, Mior S,

Tricco AC, Cedraschi C, Brunton G, Nordin M, Shearer HM, Wong JJ, Hayden JA, Ogilvie R, Wang D,
C6t6 P, Hincapid CA. Improving Rehabilitation Research to Optimize Care and Outcomes for People
with Chronic Primary Low Back Pain: Methodological and Reporting Recommendations from a
WHO Systematic Review Series. Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation (accepted Sept. 2023).

Thank you for your ongoing support.

Best regards,

Dr. Clark Mills, DC
Chair, Guideline Executive Committee (GEC)
Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative (CCGD
clarkrmi lls@smail.com

Dr. Carol Cancelliere, DC, MPH, PhD
Project Lead, CCGI
Scientist, Institute of Disability and Rehabilitation Research (IDRR) and Faculty of Health
Sciences
Ontario Tech University
Carol ina.Cancelliere@ontariotechu.ca

Members of the Guideline Executive Committee (GEC):
Dr. Ayla Azad
Dr. ElliMofton
Dr. Aaron Puhl
Dr. Patricia Tavares
Dr. Shawn Thistle

CCGI Core Team:
Dr. Gaelan Connell, BHK, DC, MRSc
Dr. Danielle Southerst, DC, FCCS(C)
Dr. Hainan Yu, MBBS, MSc
Ms. Poonam Cardoso, BHSc, PMP

1
!

l
-1.



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.68

Jo-Ann Willson
October 27,2023 5:51 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: RSVP Chiropractic Stakeholders Summit and Registration for CCA

NCT'24

914
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

lmportance: High

Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (4'16) 922-6355 ext. 111
Toll Free: 1-877-577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health ancJ safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone al 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

receptio n @ cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is conrmitted to providing tnclusive, accomnrodating, and responsive services and etrsuring that individuals are treated

\4/:th dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accotrmodations, Please ensure that all contnrunications vrtth CCO are

respectful a rrd professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Sa rah Perry <SPerry@chiropractic.ca>

Sent: Wednesday, October 25,2023 3:1"9 PM

Cc: Ayla Azad <aazad @chiropractic.ca>
Subject: RSVP Chiropractic Stakeholders Summit and Registration for CCA NCT'24

lmportance: High

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Sent on behaU of Dr. Aylo Azod, CCA CEO

To view this email as a web page, go here.

1



915

Good afternoon,

We are thrilled to announce that registration is now open for the 2024 CCA National
Convention & Tradeshow (NCT'24) taking place in Toronto from April 19-20,2024.

This year's theme, 'A Team Approach for a Healthy Future,' underscores the importance
of inter-professional collaboration in healthcare, and the profession's critical role in
advancing patient-centred care, innovation, and excellence.

On the Thursday ahead of NCT, April 18th, the CCA will host the bi-annual in-person
Chiropractic Stakeholder Summit from 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m. at the Regatta meeting
Room, Westin Harbour Castle Hotel in Toronto. Please consider your attendance for this
meeting when booking your hotel and flights for the National Gonvention.

The Summit Meeting brings together all chiropractic organizations and stakeholders to
discuss issues and opportunities of mutual interest. Up to three representatives from
each organization can attend the 2024 Summit. Please note, organizations will be billed
back for meeting rental, F&B and AV for the meeting per attendee.

Please RSVP your organization's representatives to Sarah Perry at
sperry@chiropractic.ca by Friday February 9$, 2024.

Watch your inbox for more registration and event details. This event will be hosted in-
person; space is truly limited, and tickets are expected to sell fast! Don't delay registering
and make a vacation of it.

For a limited time, save $100 on in-person NCT'24 registration with early-bird rates to
ensure you don't miss out on invaluable insights and discussions!

For the latest event updates, visit cca-nct.ca for speakers and programs as they are
announced.

Learn more about NCT'24 below:

. NEW Program Categories

. What's lncluded in Registration
o 2024 Gala & Awards Ceremony Theme

2



t

with NEW Program
Categories

TaiI Your CE

'\{-
i;'rl

916
]

Elevate your clinical knowledge through plenary sessions, earn CE credits* for
professional development, and choose from diverse program categories for a
personalized learning experience at NCT'24, including:

SG, #ffi x li
lnterprofesstonaI

Care
Chronic Mentat Heatth

and Inctusivity
Clinicat and

Hands-on Skitts

Women's Health
and PediatricsPain

€e * *lt'lii.

Research Sports Rehab Radiotogy Business

o Access to more than 40 intensive breakout sessions.
. Entry to the opening ceremonies, evening tradeshow happy hour event, and

other networking opportunities, as well as an inspiring group of keynote
presenters.

. The opportunity to meet innovative chiropractic and healthcare-related exhibitors
from across North America on our tradeshow floor.

2

Explore NGT Programs & Gategories

Your NCT'24
Regrst ration
Includes:

1.*-
i!v I



917
a All food and non-alcoholic beverages served at the convention and during

tradeshow hours.
Discounted hotel rates at the Westin Harbour Castle Hotel in downtown Toronto

Save $100 on in-person registration with early-bird rates!

PROUDLY SPONSORED BY: The Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
(ccRF)

Don't miss an unforgettable evening at the Chiropractic'Hall of Fame' Gala and Awards
Ceremony, where excellence meets elegance.

Join CBC comedian and NCT'24 Gala and Awards Ceremony host, Ali Hassan, as we
celebrate and honour many all-stars of the chiropractic profession and their notable
contributions to creating a healthier future for all Canadians. Add your Gala and Awards
Ceremony ticket(s) when purchasing an NCT'24 ticket!

You're invited to the Chiropractic Hall of Fame

Learn More & Register

l
:1

l

Register

4



I

918
l

I look forward to seeing you for this groundbreaking
event in Toronto!

Dr. Ayla Azad, DC, MBA (She/Her)
CCA, Chief Executive Officer

o0@@

T

The CCA acknowledges the enduring and vibrant presence, culture, history and inherent rights of First Nations people,
M6tis and Inuit across Canada on whose traditional territories CCA members live and work, as wel as where the CCA has
its head office in Toronto.

The contents of this emait are confidential and intended only for Canadian Chiropractic Association members. We respectfully
request that you do not share any paft of these communications with non-CCA members or on social media. lf you are not the
intended recipient, you may not copy, share or forward this email. lf you have received this email in error, please let us know and
delete this email immediately.

This email was sent by: Canadian Chiropractic Association
184 Front St. East, Suite 200, Toronto, ON, M5A 4N3

Privacy Policy

Update Profile Manage Subscriptions Unsubscribe

5



Rose Bustria trEM 4.1.71 923
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
September 20,2023 5:56 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: lmportant Update

Registration and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recotnmended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global panclemic. In-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

inforrnationaboveor,ifyourequireurgentass:stance,pleasecontactReceptionbyphoneaI 416-922-6355ext 100o|email

receptio n @ cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuritlg that individuals are treated

w:th dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectful and professiorta I.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-

mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: The National Board of Chiropractic Examiners (NBCE) <communications@nbce.org>

Sent: Tuesday, September 19,202310:20 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: lmportant Update

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

o I{BCE
NATIONAL BOARD OF
CHIROPRACTIC EXAMINERS

1



=
=E

T
E
T

=

On behalf of the National Board of Chiropractic Examiners we are reaching out to the
chiropractic community to share with you some important updates.

924
Over the past few years, the NBCE has listened to the growing student voice and counsel
from our academic partners speaking to the need to improve access to testing. As an
organization the NBCE takes our role in helping safeguard the integrity of licensure
testing seriously, which is why we engaged in a period of research and introspection to
answer two critical questions:

. How do we improve access to testing without sacrificing the integrity of
NBCE Exams?

. Since the current cost of test development is high, are there smarter
systems we can implement that will allow us to increase exam production
without increasing costs?

And because our commitment to excellence compels us to go one step further:

. Can we accomplish both while maintaining the accuracy, integrity, and
validity of testing?

Asking smarter questions led the NBCE to research best practices from other regulated
health fields, identify potential technology partners, model the cost and testing schedules
at different locations, renegotiate contracts, and integrate a new comprehensive ltem
Bank that optimized form development and expanded our exam delivery options.

This path of inquiry led the NBCE to the conclusion that only by upgrading our computer-
based testing systems forthe Part I and ll exams and rethinking our approach to the Part
lV exam, can we remain responsive to student voices while maintaining the integrity of
exams. Through diligent research and the engagement of our stakeholders, we have
developed the following proposals.

Computer-Based Testing Advancement and Development (CBT)

Goal: Triple the number of testing opportunities annually for the Parts l, ll, lll and
Physiotherapy exams.

2



Proposed Solution
925

Moving towards adaptive exam delivery and increasing the number of unique exam forms
while also reducing the resources required to produce exam forms. This requires
providing a single score for Part I and a single score for the Part ll exam instead of the
current practice of providing scores for each domain. This will allow us to better utilize our
item bank and decrease the overall length of these exams while maintaining exam
validity.

Part lV Advancement and Development (PAD)

Goal: Produce a more efficient exam that better mimics real-world patient encounters
while maintaining fairness, reliability, and validity of the exam and providing more testing
opportunities.

Proposed Solution

. Developing a blueprint for the Part lV exam that reduces the number of
stations while increasing the amount of content covered in each station.

. Researching the benefits and impact of a centralized testing location
through financial analysis and obtaining feedback from stakeholders.

The innovations possible as a result of these initiatives have the potential to transform
testing for Chiropractors for decades to come.

As essential partners, we seek to engage academic leadership, faculty, NBCE test site
staff, students, and State Board members in this important process. Over the next few
weeks we will reach out to provide further information as well as opportunities to provide
feedback.

We welcome your engagement as we embark on this process and thank you for your
time.

Respectfully,

3



N},J,(,,, Dc
926

){n/e&tfll"t"ru D.C,

Dr. Norman Ouzts

Chief Executive Office r

National Board of Chiropractic
Examiners

Dr. Karlos Boghosian

President - Board of Directors

National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

The National Board of Chiropractic Examiners (NBCE) | 901 54th Ave, Greeley, CO 80634

U nsubscribe jpwillson @cco. on.ca

Our Privacy Policv I Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent by communications@nbce.org powered by

til Constont
\:2 Contoct

Try email marketing for free today!

4



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1 .72
930

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Attachments:

Jo-Ann Willson
September 1,2023 5:13 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: [Registrars] FW: "As of Right" Guidance Document Now Available

Online
ATT00001.txt

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 't11

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco-on.ca
Web Site: www-cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only, Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

reception @cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accomnodating, and respor-rsive services and ensuringthat individuals are treated

with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require acconrnrodations. Please ensu|e that all cormunications with CCO are

:'espectf ul a rrd pro{essiorra l.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Registrars <registrars-bounces@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca> On Behalf Of Beth Ann Kenny

Sent: Friday, September L,2023 11:56 AM
To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>

Subject: [Registrars] FW: "As of Right" Guidance Document Now Available Online

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

HiAII

I believe this was sent to the organizations with professions directly affected by "As of Right" legislation

at this time. We're sharing with everyone in case you haven't seen it yet.

Wishing you a great long weekend !l

Take carel
Beth Ann



931
Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

.-|-il--.'ir-..i-*..

I l,i .r l-:;lri',
l--lrir t'...---

=Il
i

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Director
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0
Email: bakennv@regulated hea lthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Phone: 416-493-407 6 / Fax: 1-866-814-6456

Confidentiality notice: This emoil, including any ottochments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) ond may contoin
privote, confidentiol, ond/or privileged informotion. Any unouthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. If you
ore not the intended recipient or this information has been inappropriately forworded to you, please contoct the sender by reply
emoil and destroy oll copies ol the original.

From: Office of the Chief of Nursing and Professional Practice (MOH)<chiefofnursins@ontario.ca>
Sent: Friday, September 'J.,202310:10 AM
To: nwhitmore@cpso.on.ca; tterzis@cpso.on.ca; scrawford@cnomail.org; etillev@cnomail.org;
hamp@crto.on.ca; walsh@crto.on.ca; iohn.tzountzouris@cmlto.com; Beth Ann Kenny
<bakennv@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>; Dara.Laxer@OMA.org; Linda.Petersen@OMA.org;
Tim.Lenartowvch@oma.orR; Jennifer.Gold@oma.org; Samantha.Tvberg@oma.org; bernier@ona.org;
andreak@ona.org; CLeonard@cnps.ca; asemenova@cnps.ca; thall@hiroc.com; cgaulton@hiroc.com;
domenic.croIla(ogowlingwle.com; mandv.lawson@gowlingwls.com; info@npao.org;
dmartin@werpn.com; Andrew.Drummond @ipc.on.ca; dgrinspun@RNAO.ca
Cc: Velji, Karima (MOH) <Karima.Velii@ontario.ca>; Henry, Allison (She/Her) (MOH)
<Allison.Henrv@ontario.ca>; Cheng, Stephen (MOH)<Stephen.Cheng@ontario.ca>
Subject: "As of Right" Guidance Document Now Available Online

Dear Colleagues,

I am pleased to inform you that the "As of Right" Guidance Document is now available
on the Ontario.ca website.

Under the "As of Right" initiative, the Ontario government will allow physicians, nurses,
medical laboratory technologists, and respiratory therapists registered in other
Canadian jurisdictions to immediately start working in Ontario's hospitals and long-term
care homes, without having to first register with one of Ontario's health regulatory
colleges.

The Guidance Document is a plain-language resource that may be used by those who
seeking to understand the "As of Right" initiative. lt is not a substitute for legal advice. ln
the event of any conflict between this document and any applicable legislation,
regulation, directive, or order, the legislation, regulation, directive, or order prevails.

Sincerely,
Karima

2



Dr. Karima Velji, RN, PHD, CHE, FCAN

Pronouns (She/Her)

Chief of Nursing and Professional Practice

Assistant Deputy Minister of Health

Ministry of Health
777 Bay Street, L9th Floor, Toronto, M7A 2J3

Email: Karima.Velii@ontario.ca
Phone: 41,6-212-5494
Cell: 647-534-4874

932

3



Ontario (https://www.onta rio.calpage/govern ment-onta rio) 933

Careers in heaLth care

Learn about building a rewarding career in health care and the support

available for you to do so.

Overview

Working in health care provides an opportunity to:

. develop a broad skillset to meet the growing needs of Ontarians across the

province

. work as part of a highly specialized team

. develop long-lasting relationships with both patients and their families

Professions in health care are in high demand all across Ontario. See what

opportunities are available for a future career in health care and the supports

available to help you along the way.

Nursing

Become a registered nurse (R"N.)

Registered nurses (RN.) working in health care provide comprehensive care to patients

with ever-increasing levels of complex needs.

They are clinical leaders in assessment, care planning, carrying out care and

measuring what's working or not for all patients. Registered nurses are also

responsible for leading patient care teams, which can include a number of different

designations and specialities.

To become a registered nurse, you must:



=

I
E
!

o complete a Bachelor of Science in Nursing degree offered by a university, college

or through a college-university partnership

. complete the national registration examination 934

. be registered and in good standing with the College of Nurses of Ontario
(https://www.cno.o rgl)

Education

ln Ontario, Bachelor of Science in Nursing programs are provided by:

o university stand-alone programs

o collaborative university-college programs

o college stand-alone programs

Click here to find a nursing program (https://www.cno.orglen/become-a-

n u rse/a p p roved- n u rs i ng- p rogra m s/rn- p rogra m s/) .

Admission generally requires:

. an Ontario Secondary School Diploma (.9.:":.P.) or equivalent

o a minimum academic achievement average

o individual college or university program prerequisites

Programs are typically four years in length. However, some compressed and

accelerated options are available for students with prior education and experience

Financial aid may be available. Find more information about:

o Ontario Student Assistance Program (9":ll) (https://www.ontario.calpage/osap-

ontario-student-assista nce-program)

o Tuition Support Program for Nurses

(https://www.health.gov.on.ca lenlprolprograms/northernhealth/nursestuition.as
px)

. Canadian Nurses Foundation Scholarship program (https.,//cnf-

fi ic.calsch ol a rsh i ps/)

if:iI



o Registered Nurses Foundation of Ontario Annual Awards and Scholarships

(https://www.rnfoo .orglawards-a-scholarships/annual-awards/how-to-apply.html)

935Next steps

. Apply directly to an approved nursing program (https://www.cno.orglen/become-

a-nurse/approved-nursing-programs/rn-programs/), the Ontario Universities'

Application Centre (9"y.Ap (https://www.ouac.on.cal) or the Ontario Colleges

Appl i cati o n Service (OCAS) (https://www.onta riocol leges .cal en/) .

o Find information on the 
"N.9!""F*3.N. 

examination

(https://www. n csb n.orglnclex. htm) .

o Nursing Graduate Guarantee

(https://www.health.gov.on.ca lenlprolprograms/hhrsd/nursing/early-career.aspx)

- lf you are within 1 2 months of registering with the College of Nurses of

Ontario, and approved to participate in this program, Ontario will guarantee you

have the opportunity for full time employment,

o Community Commitment Program for Nurses

(https://www.healthforceonta rio.calenlHome/All_Programs/Community-Commit

ment_Program_for_Nurses) - New nurses may be eligible to receive $25,000 in

exchange for a two-year commitment to an employer.

Become a registered practicat nurse (Bll!")

Registered practical nurses provide comprehensive care to patients across multiple

health care settings. The level of autonomy they may exercise in practice can vary

depending on such things as patient complexity, their own individual level of

experience and competence and the nature of the environment in which they work

(such as practice supports and consultation resources).

To become a registered practical nurse, you must:

. complete an approved program of practical nursing

. complete the national registration examination

. be registered and in good standing with the College of Nurses of Ontario

(https://www.cno.o rgl)



Education

Registered pra cti ca I n u rse progra m s (https://www.cno.o rglen/become-a-
936

=1

ilj

nurse/approved-nursing-programs/practical-nursing-programs-in-ontario/) approved
by the College of Nurses of Ontario, are offered at publicly-assisted colleges, as well

as some lndigenous institutes (https://www.ontario.calpage/indigenous-institutes) in

pa rtnersh i p with pu bl i cly-assisted col leges.

Admission generally requires:

o Ontario Secondary School Diploma (.95.:P.) or equivalent academic achievement

o individual college or program prerequisites

Programs are two-years long and lead to an Ontario college diploma.

Financial aid may be available. Find more information about:

o Ontario Student Assistance Program (_O^:A"l) (https://www.ontario.calpage/osap-

onta rio-student-assista nce-progra m)

o Tuition Support Program for Nurses

(https://www.health.gov.on.ca lenlpro/programs/northernhealth/nursestuition.as
px)

o Nursing Education lnitiative
(https://www.health.gov.on.ca /enlpro/programs/hhrsd/nursing/all_nurses.aspx)

. 
WgB"?N" bursaries (https://www.werpn.com/learn/funding/education-trust-fund/)

. canadian Nurses Foundation scholarship program (https./lcnf-

fi ic.calschol a rs h i ps/)

o Registered Nurses Foundation of Ontario Annual Awards

(https://www.rnfoo .orglawards-a-scholarships/annual-awards/how-to-apply.html)

Next steps

. Apply directlyto colleges or lndigenous institutes offering the practical nurse
p rogra m ( https ://www. cn o. o rgle n/b eco m e-a- n u rse/a p p roved- n u rs i n g-

p rogra ms/p ra ctica l-n u rsi ng-p rogra ms-i n-onta ri o/) o r th ro ugh the Onta rio
Colleges Application Service (OCAS) (https://www.ontariocolleges.ca/en/) .



. Find information about the Canadian Practical Nurse Registration Examination

(https://home.pearsonvue.com/cpnre) 937
r NursinB Graduate Guarantee

(https://www.health.gov.on.ca lenlprolprograms/hhrsd/nursing/early_career.aspx)

- lf you are within 12 months of registering with the College of Nurses of

Ontario, and approved to participate in this program, Ontario will guarantee you

have the opportunity for full time employment.

o Community Commitment Program for Nurses

(https://www.healthforceonta rio.ca/enlHome/All_Programs/Community-Commit

ment_Program_for_Nurses) - New nurses may be eligible to receive $25,000 in

exchange for a two-year commitment to an employer.

Supports for a career in nursing

Supervised Practice Experience Partnership (CN.O)

For lnternationally Educated Nurses, this partnership program between the College of

Nurses of Ontario ("9.N.9^), Ministry of Health (.Y.g.f") and Ontario Health (OH.) offers

internationally trained nurses the opportunity to undertake a supervised practice

experience to demonstrate current nursing knowledge while allowing them to meet

their evidence of practice and/or language proficiency requirements to enter practice

as a nurse.

Learn more about the Supervised Practice Experience Partnership

(https://www.cno.orglen/become-a-nurse/registration-requirements/evidence-of-

p racti ce/su pe rvi sed-p ra ctice-expe rie n ce/)

Enhanced Extern Program

This program supports hospitals in building capacity and health workforce by offering

clinical learners an employment opportunity to work as externs in hospitals across

Ontario. Hospitals recruit and onboard clinical learners to work as part of a team

under the supervision of a regulated health care professional, Externs work in an

unregulated care provider role and can build on their training and experience working

in a hospital-setting.

To learn more about the Enhanced Extern Program, contact Ontario Health

(mailto:practiceontario@onta riohealth.ca?subject=EnhancedTo20Extern0/o20Program)



l

I

i

l

-l
l

I

I-i
-t

=4I
E-.l

I

l

WeRPN Bridging Program

The Bridging Educational Grant ln Nursing (.8-E_9"11!.) initiative is jointly offered by the

Ministry of Health, Ministry of Long-Term Care and the.WgB"tN. (Registered Practical

Nurses Association of Ontario) to provide tuition support to personal support workers

and registered practical nurses so they can pursue further education to become

registered practical nurses and registered nurses respectively.

Eligible personal support workers will receive up to $6,000 a year and eligible

registered practical nurses will receive up to $10,000 a year in financial support.
Candidates with additional needs may also be eligible for further supports that

include a maximum of $5,000 per year to cover subsidies for course materials,

tutoring, childcare, and travel costs.

Applicants to the 
.B_E"G_IN. 

Program would be required to sign a Return of Service

Agreement committing to working in the long-term care or home and community care

sectors fol lowing grad uation.

Learn more about the WeRPN Bridging Program (https://begin.werpn.com/)

Critical. Care Nursing UpskiLl.ing (8.N" Certification Program)

This program allows nurses to train to work in critical areas of hospital service

delivery. Ontario will fund specialized nursing education in critical care for 500 more

nurses across the province. We are working with seven colleges and universities on
programing to upskill nurses at priority hospitals to work in critical care.

Learn more about Critical Care Nursing Upskilling
( https ://b u d get. o nta rio.ca / 2021 /fa I I state m e nt/cha pte r- 1 a. htm l#s-4)

Nursing Enro[[ment Expansion

This program will add 1,500 registered practical nurses (RPNs) and 1,000 registered

nurses (RN)to the health care system by 2026.

Beginning f all2022 and winter 2O23,500 RPN"s. and 1,000 RN" education seats will be

added to college and university nursing programs across the province.

938

-
:i
-



Learn more about Nursing Enrollment Expansion

( https ://bu d get. o nt ario.ca 1202 1 /fa I lstatem ent/cha pte r- 1 a. htm l#s-4)

Clinical. Scholar Program

This program pairs an experienced front line nurse as a dedicated mentor with newly

graduated nurses, internationally educated nurses and nurses wanting to upskill to

ensure they have the support they need to confidently transition into the nursing

profession. Nurses interested in the program should contact their hospital

organization's management and Professional Practice team.

Learn more about Clinical Scholar Program

(https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1 00331 O/ontario-doing-even-more-to-grow-its-

h ea lth-ca re-wo rkforce)

Personal support workers (P.-S-W)

Personal supportworkers are the backbone of the health care sector. On a day-to-day

basis, they make the biggest difference to the patients'quality of life and are involved

in every aspect of care planning, including:

o p€l'Sot-tal care

o social and emotional well-being

. housekeeping

. culturally-specific supports

Given the support they provide across a wide range of needs, becoming a personal

support worker in health care is a great opportunity to develop a wide range of valued

skills like inter-personal communications, teamwork, adaptability and collaboration.

To become a l:W you must have:

. a high school diploma or equivalent (such as mature student status)

. a personal support worker program certificate

939

Education



i

l
I

Personal support worker education programs are offered by: 940
. publicly-assisted colleges (https://www.ontariocolleges.calen/programs/health-

food -a n d - m ed i ca l/pe rso n a l-s u p po rt-wo rke r- psw)

o private career colleges

( htt ps : //www. p cc.tc u. gov. o n. cal PAR I SS e a rc h We b/s ea rc h, x h tm I )

o district school boards (https://ontarioschoolboardpsw.cal)

. lndigenous institutes (https://www.ontario.calpage/indigenous-institutes)

Programs take from five months to a year to complete.

Find more information about:

o Financial support forPSW courses offered by District School Boards

(https://news.ontario.calen/release/1000019/ontario-helps-train-more-personal-

su pport-workers)

o Ontario Student Assistance Program (9:+l) (https://www.ontario.calpage/osap-

onta rio-student-assista nce-progra m)

r Second Career program (https://www.ontario.calpage/second-career)

. .l:W Return of Service Program

(https://www.healthforceonta rio.calenlHome/All_Programs/PSW_Return_of_Servi

ce)

Supports for a career as a PSW

PSW Education Financial lncentive and Enro[[ment Expansion

|n2021-22,the government invested more than $200 million in financial assistance

for students at publicly-assisted colleges, private career colleges and district school

boards to train up to 16,200 new PSWs in the health and long-term care sectors.

The government's 2021 Fall Economic Statement announced additional funding
(https://budget.ont ario.ca12021lf allstalement/chapter-1 a.html#s-4) to support

training another 8,000 PSWs in2022-2023.

Supportive Care Worker Program



This tuition-free, employer-driven model of training is delivered at Conestoga College

and is designed to prepare students to provide basic supportive care services and

increase the pool of trained supportive care workers for the home and community

care and long-term care sectors.

Graduates of the Supportive Care Worker program are eligible for advanced standing

in Conestoga College's PSW program.

Learn more about the Supportive Care Worker program

(https://www.conestogac.on.calsu bsidized-train ing/health/supportive-care)

Physicians

As a physician in Ontario, you'lljoin a diverse profession of regulated health care

providers that offer safe, professional and ethical care to patients across the province.

To become a physician, you must:

. complete an undergraduate degree offered by a university or college

. complete a postgraduate medical degree from an approved medical school

o pclss all necessary qualifying exams of the Medical Council of Canada

(https://mcc.cal)

. be licensed to practise medicine in the province of your practice

Licensing

All physicians practising in Ontario must be registered with the College of Physicians

and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO).

Learn more about licensing

( https://h ea lth.gov.on.cale n/p rolp rogra ms/h h rsd/physi cia ns/l icensi ng.aspx)

Education

Medical education in Ontario includes undergraduate, postgraduate and continuing

professiona I development.

941



i:l

_l

==g
I
E
I
:!

1
J

l-
I
l

Undergraduate medical education is a three-year or four-year program of classroom

learning and clinical training (clerkship). Graduates receive a Medical Doctor, or MD,

degree.

942
Postgraduate residency programs provide clinical training in an area of specialization
(for example, family medicine, surgery or psychiatry). Residents work and are paid

during their training. Those who successfully complete their residency become

eligible to take the national certification exams, which are necessary to enter practice.

The following universities offer both undergraduate and postgraduate medical

education in Ontario:

o McMaster University (https://healthsci.mcmaster.cal)

e Northern Ontario School of Medicine (http://www.normed.cal)

o Q u een's U n iversity (http://m eds.q ueensu. caled ucati on/postgra d uate)

o University of Ottawa (http://www.medicine.uottawa.calpostgraduate/eng/)

o University of Toronto (https://pgme.utoronto.calabout-pgme/)

o Western University (http://www.schulich.uwo.calmedicine/postgraduate/)

Supports for a career as a physician or physician assistant

lnternationaI Medica[ Graduates (lMG)

lMGs are a valuable part of Ontario's health care system and play an important role in
providing care to Ontarians. There are a range of supports for lMGs seeking to
practise medicine in Ontario.

Learn more about lnternational Medical Graduates (llVG)

(https://health.gov.on.calen/p ro/programs/hhrsd/physicians/international_medical_gr

aduates.aspx)

Physician Return of Service (ROS) Programs

These programs are part of Ontario's strategy to help ensure a stable physician

supply, improve retention and enhance distribution to provide better care for
Ontarians.

i-
-i

i



Learn more about Physician Return of Service (8.9.:) programs

(https://health.gov.on.calen/p ro/programs/hhrsd/physicians/ros.aspx)
943

Northern and Rural Recruitment and Retention lnitiative

The Northern and Rural Recruitment and Retention (.N.BBB) lnitiative offers taxable

financial incentives to each eligible physician who establishes a full-time practice in an

eligible community of the province. The grants range between $80,000 and $1 17 ,600

paid over a four-year period, The grants will be awarded based on eligibility criteria

and considerations related to total NRRR lnitiative budget allocations.

Learn more about the Northern and Rural Recruitment and Retention lnitiative

( http s ://h ea lth.gov. o n. cale n/p r o / pr ogr am s/u a p/n rrr. a spx)

Practice Ready Ontario Program

This program breaks down barriers for internationally educated physicians by

removing the requirement to complete lengthy re-education programs, allowing them

to practice in Ontario immediately. This program will add more than 50 new

physicians to the province's workforce by 202a.

Learn more about the Practice Ready Ontario program

(https://tou chsto nei nstitute.calassessm ent/p racti ce-ready-onta riol)

Ontario Heal.th- Health ForceOntario

Onta rio Health-Health Fo rceOnta rio helps hea lth ca re professionals find em ployment

opportunities in Ontario communities.

Lea rn more about Onta rio Hea lth-H ea lth ForceOntario

(http://www. h ea lthfo rceo nta rio.cal) .

Practice Ontario

Practice Ontario is a free career-planning service for postgraduate medical residents

created by the Ontario Health-HealthForceOntario Marketing and Recruitment

Agency.



Learn more about Practice Ontario
(https://www.healthforceontario.calen/Home/All_Programs/Practice_Ontario) 944
SupplementaI Emergency Medicine Experience

The Supplemental Emergency Medicine Experience

(https://www.dfcm.utoronto.calsupplemental-emergency-medicine-experience-seme)

is funded through the Ministry of Health and the University of Toronto to provide

family physicians practising in smaller and rural communities with a three-month, full-
time, remunerated fellowship in emergency medicine.

Learn more about the Supplemental Emergency Medicine Experience

(https://www.dfcm.utoronto.calsupplemental-emergency-medicine-experience-seme)

Physician Assistant Career Start Program

Helps recent graduates from Ontario's Physician Assistant programs find positions in

the province's health care system.

Learn more about the Physician Assistant Career Start program
(https://health.gov.on.calen/p ro/programslhhrsd/physicia ns/physician_assistant_care

er_start.aspx)

Other professiona[ development opportunities

Other organizations offering professional development opportunities include:

o Ontario Medical Association (https://www.oma.orgl)

. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada
(https://www. roya lcol I ege. calrcs ite/ho me-e)

o College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (https://www.cpso.on.cal)

o Ontario College of Family Physicians (https://www.ontariofamilyphysicians.cal)

. College of Family Physicians of Canada (https://www.cfpc.calen/home)

As of Right rules

As of Right rules allow physicians, nurses, respiratory therapists and medical

laboratory technologists registered in other Canadian provinces and territories who
meet specific conditions to immediately start working in Ontario, without having to



first register with one of the province's health regulatory colleges. These changes will

help health care workers overcome bureaucratic delays and begin caring for

Ontarians sooner. 945

Read the guidance (https://files.ontario.calmoh-as-of-right-guidance-document-en-

2023-08-2e.pd0 .

Updated: September 01, 2023
Published: May 03,2022



Rose Bustria rrEM 4.1.73 946
Jo-Ann Willson
October 10,2023 1 '1:37 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: [Registrars] Registration Now Open for HPRO's Discipline

Orientation Workshop - Basic (November 3) and Advanced (November

20) Sessions

HPRO Discipline Orientation Workshop - Fall 2023 - Basic Session -

Flyer.pdf; HPRO Discipline Orientation Workshop - Fall 2023 -

Advanced Session - Flyer.pdf; ATT00001.txt

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Attachments:

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 l 1

Toll Free: 1 -877-577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-96'10
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recomnrended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

infornration above or, if you require urgent assistance, piease contact Reception by phone al 4!6-922 6355 ext. 100 or enrail

receptio n @ cco.on.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is conrnritted to provicling inclusive, acconrmodating, and lesponsive services ard ensuring that individuals are treated

with digtlity and respecl. Please contact us rf you require accolnrnodariorrs. Please ensure that all comnrunical.ions v,rith CCO are

r-espectf ul arrd professiona L

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s)

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

named above. Any other
immediately by reply e-

From: Registrars <registrars-bounces@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca> On Behalf Of Beth Ann Kenny

Sent: Tuesday, October tO,2023 11-:34 AM
To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakenny@ regulated healthprofessions.on.ca>

Subject: [Registrars] Registration Now Open for HPRO's Discipline Orientation Workshop - Basic

(November 3) and Advanced (November 20) Sessions

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

HiAII:

Registration is now open for HPRO's Discipline Orientation Workshop's Sessions. NEW - Click Here to go

to the Discipline Orientation Workshop Online Form to register up to L0 participants from your College.

Once we have your forms, the participants will receive an email, asking for additional information, i.e.,

accommodation needs and hearings experience. (We recognize this is the first time using this new

1



system and we anticipate questions or bugs to be worked out; don't hesitate to contact me if you have
any questions or run into issues with the form or system.)

Here is information about the two sessions with detailed flyers attached

Basic

947

Date:
Time:
Format:

November 3,2023
9:00 a.m.-4:00 p.m

Zoom Webinar

Advanced
Date:
Time:
Format

November 20,2023
9:00 am.-4:00 p.m.

Zoom Meeting

RATES (HST TNCLUDED)

Basic Session (November 3 only)

Basic Session (November 3 only)

Advanced Session (November 20 only)

Advanced Session (November 20 only)

Basic & Advanced Sessions (both days)

Basic & Advanced Sessions (both days)

Basic Session Binder Only (by courier)

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

By October 27

547s

Sooo

547s

Sooo

ssoo

s1,00

Szoo

After October 27

Ssso

s700

ssso

Szoo

Sgzs

S1,250

N/AOnly'til October 27

Please let me know if you have any questions or need any additional information.

Thank you, and take care!
Beth Ann

Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Director
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0
Email: bakenny@ regulated healthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.Iegulated healthprofessions.on.ca
Phone : 4L6-493-407 6 / F ax: 1-866-8 14-6456

2



H ea lth
Prof ession
Regul ators
of Ontario

| . ? -.

l L ' .' ,'' 'l'i
l--\.:. '. 11 

'

;llli
it"jl:

ProFram Obiectives

This program is designed to

provide professional regulators

with a comprehensive

orientation to the disciPline

process. At the conclusion of the

session, participants will have an

understanding of:

/ Relevant principles of

administrative law

/ Roles of various participants

in the hearings process

/ Activities that occur prior to a
hearing

/ Procedures associated with

the process, including

hearings held electronically
/ Responsibilities of panel

members

Note: scheduled subiectto change

Facultv

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&

Julie Maciura,

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of

Medical Radiation & lmaging

Tech nologists of Ontario

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario

College of Pharmacists

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:45 a.m.

10:00 a.m.

10:45 a.m.

11:00 a.m.

12:00 p.m

1:00 p.m.

1:45 p.m.

2:00 p.m.

2:45 p.m.

3:00 p.m.

3:45 p.m

Discipl i ne Orientation WorkshoP

Basic Session-November 3, 2023 Webinar

948

Conductine a Discipline Hearins

Zoom Webinar Opens (Session will begin promptly at 9:00 a.m')

lntroduction and Legal Framework
Topics include: applicable legislation, jurisdiction, the public in-

terest, confi dentiality, disclosu re, al legations, penalties, a nd

costs

BREAK

Principles of Administrative Law and Fitness to Practice Process

Topics include: nature of a hearing, natural justice, transparency,

burden of proof, and accountability, and how the FTP process

differs from discipline, and the definition of incapacity

BREAK

Pre-Hearing Procedures and Roles of Participants in the
Hearings Process

Role-play will focus on conducting a videoconference Pre-

Hearing Conference and the goal of narrowing the issues, coming

to an agreed statement of fact, and developing joint submissions

on penalty; discussion will focus on the roles of panel members,

members, prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal

counsel, intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters,

and staff

LUNCH BREAK

Roles of Participants in the Hearing Process (Continued) and

The Discipline Hearing
Discussion will focus on the roles of panel members, members,

prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal counsel,

intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters, and

staff; through a role-play, participants will experience an abbrevi-

ated, contested virtual hearing

BREAK

The Discipline Hearing (Continued)

BREAK

Responsibilities of Panel Members
Discussion will focus on panel member conduct prior to, during,

and after the hearing by using real case examples of situations

where panel member conduct is questioned (completion of as-

signed homework recommended)

Wrap Up and Closing of Session

All registrotion witt be confirmed within five (5) business days. lf you do not receive conJirmation, pleose contoct HPRO at

info(areaulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca or by phone ot 416-493-4076. See Registration Form for rates and poyment informotion.



Health
Profession
Regulaiors
of Ontario

4

:i:

Program Description

This advanced program was
developed because ofthe success

ofthe Basic Program and an

identified need for advanced
training. lt is a "beyond-the basics"
learning opportu nity for
adjudicators. The advanced
program will help discipline panel
members develop their skills to
deal with challenging situations
while chairing hearings and
deliberations. The program is

intended to develop critical
thinking and the "how to" needed
to meet unique situations.
Participants will learn how to
confidently controlthe
proceedings, demonstrate
fairness, assess the evidence,
facilitate panel deliberations and
ensure adequate reasons for the
decision while meeting head-on, a

complex array of challenges that
can arise in hearings.

Note: scheduled subject to chonge

Facultv

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&
Julie Maciura

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of
Medical Radiation & lmaging
Tech nologists of O ntario

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario
College of Pharmacists

Discipline Orientation Virtual Workshop
Advanced Session- November 20, 2023 949

Conducting a Discipline Hearinq - In-Person and Online Hearings

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:05 a.m.

9:35 a.m.

9:55 a.m.

10:10 a.m

10:25 p.m

11:00 a.m.

11:15 a.m.

11:45 a.m.

12:45 p.m.

1:25 p.m.

1:40 p.m.

2:30 p.m.

2:45 p.m.

Opening the Zoom Meeting (starting promptly at 9:00 a.m.)

Welcome and Basic Overview
lntroduction to the concepts of controlling the proceedings,
giving parties a fair opportunity to participate, explaining the
decision, and managing conflicts/potential bias

"Give Everyone a Chance" - Role Play
An acted out scene will demonstrate the first and last rule
structure for objections, motions and submissions, and how the
panel ensures fairness to the parties

"You're in Charge"
Participants will consider challenging situations that test the
panel's ability to be in charge of conducting the hearing and
control the proceedings

BREAK

"You're in Charge" (continued)

"Only the Evidence"
Participants will discuss how they would deal with the evidence
and how the evidence forms the basis for the decision

BREAK

"Only the Evidence" (continued)

LUNCH BREAK

"Explain Yourself"
Participants will interact to learn about the deliberation process,
highlighting the Chair's role in leading the deliberation process

and how it is separated from the reason-writing process. A
perfunctory credibility assessment, which could lead to an

appeal, is highlighted; requirements for adequate reasons in

decision-write are also highlighted

BREAK

"Explain Yourself" (continued)

BREAK

"No Connection with Participants"
Scenarios will be presented which demonstrate situations where
panel members may find themselves unwittingly mingling with
the parties or realize that they may know a witness from their
personal or professional lives

Concluding Remarks and Evaluation3:45 p.m.

All registration will be confirmed within five (5) business doys. tf you do not receive confirmation, please contact HPRO at
info@requlatedheolthprofessions.on.co or by phone at 416-493-4076. See Registrotion Form for rotes ond payment information.



trEM 4.1.78
Rose Bustria

From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Jo-Ann Willson
October 18,2023 10:47 AM
Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA)

Rose Bustria

RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

989

Subject:

Hello Robert:

Nice to meet you virtually. I am out of the country right now, but I have copied Joel Friedman, Deputy

Registrar, so we can respond to your inquiry promptly. My thought is that we communicate with the
members identified as providing chiropractic care to animals, which we can do based on our registry,

and ask them the question. We will get back to you asap. Thank you.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Regishar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

receptio n @ cco.on.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, arrd responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated

with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectful and professional.

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert. Blenkinsop@onta rio.ca>

Sent: Wednesday, October t8,2023 9:02 AM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Ms. Willson,

I hope this message finds you well. As you are aware, the Ministry of Agriculture, Food
and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) administers the Veterinarians AcL This Act is the
legislative framework that governs the licensing of veterinarians in Ontario, the practice

1



of veterinary medicine, as well as the accreditation of the facilities used to practice
veterinary medicine. Earlier this year, OMAFRA engaged with stakeholders and the
public on a proposal to modernize the Veterinarians AcL lt can be viewed on the
Regulatory Registry of Ontario at the following link: A Proposal to Modernize the
Veterinarians Act (ontariocanada.com). The consultation period for this proposal closed
on May 30,2023. During this period, you had provided some feedback in relation to the
proposal.

We have worked through all of the consultation feedback and more recently have had a
conversation with the Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) on the subject of
chiropractors who provide chiropractic and acupuncture services to animals. ln follow-
up to that conversation we had some additional questions, which the OCA has referred
us to you as the regulator.

ln your letter to Minister Thompson from May 4th of this year, you had shared that 129 of
the province's 5,354 registered chiropractors indicated to the CCO on their 2023
renewal form that they provide chiropractic care to animal patients as part of their
practice. The additional questions for which we are seeking a response are:

1) How many of the 129 chiropractors provide acupuncture to animals; and,
2) How many of the 129 chiropractors use forms of energy in animal treatment

ls this information that the CCO would collect, and if so, is there a rostering process for
these activities?

This information, if available, would be useful for informing our policy analysis work. I

would appreciate hearing from you, if possible by this Friday.

Thank you in advance for your assistance

Kind regards,
Robert

Robert Blenkinsop, Ph.D. (he/him)
Manager, Protection and Assurance Policy
Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and RuralAffairs
l- Stone Road West, 2 SE

Guelph, ON N1G 4Y2

Tel.: 519.766.5402
Email : robert. blenkinsop@ontario.ca

Please Note: As part of providing accessible customer service, please let me know if you have any
accommodation needs or require communication supports or alternate formats.

990

2



Joel Friedman 991
From: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robeft.Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>

Thursday, October 19,2023 10:27 AM
Joel Friedman; io-Ann Willson
Rose Bustria

RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

To:
Cc:

Sent:

Subject:

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good morning Joel and thank you for the update. I appreciate your follow-up on this

lf you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.

Kind regards,
Robert

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sentr Thursday, October t9,2023 9:56 AM
To: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert.Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

CAUTION - EXTERNAT E-MAIL - Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender.

Good Morning,

CCO is conducting a survey of members who provide chiropractic care to animals to collect this information. We will
follow up further with this information next week.

Regards,

JoelD. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 104
Toll Free: I-877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ifriedman@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CCO is conlntitted io providitrg incllrsive, accon'lnlodatlng, arrd resporrsive selvices and ensuring that individuals are treated with dignity and

respect. Please contact us lf you require accomrnodatlons. Please ensure that all cornrrunicatiolrs rqrith CCO are respectful arrd professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any aftachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the
disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately
attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

pBrson(s) named above. Any other distribution, copylng or
by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any

1



From: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert.Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>
Sent: Wednesday, Octobe r t8, 2A23 I2:4I PM

To: J o-An n Wil lson <jplyillson@lco.o n.ca>

Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

992
:

l

:

1

I

I
!J
Ed1
t,i-1 .:

I

i

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verifled the sender and know the content is safe.

Thank you Ms. Willson for your response and for fonruarding this along to Mr. Friedman

Much appreciated,
Robert

Robert Blenkinsop, ph.o. (he/him)

Manager, Protection and Assurance Policy
Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch
Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
1 Stone Road West, 2 SE

Guelph, ON Nl-G 4Y2

Tel.: 519.766.5402
Email: robert. blenkinsop@ontario.ca

Please Note: As pan of providing accessible customer service, please let me know if you have any accommodation
needs or require communication supports or alternate formats.

From: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Wednesday, October \8,2023 tO:47 AM
To: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert.Blenkinsop >

Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

CAUTION - EXTERNAL E-MAlt - Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender.
Hello Robert:

Nice to meet you virtually, I am out of the country right now, but I have copied Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar, so we
can respond to your inquiry promptly. My thought is that we communicate with the members identified as providing
chiropractic care to animals, which we can do based on our registry, and ask them the question. We will get back to you

asap. Thank you.

lo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W,, LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronlo, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -57 7 -47 7 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: lpwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

2



10125123,10:01 AM ITEM 4.1.79 Constant Contact

993College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Communication and Survey from CCO ta Members who
Provide Chiropractic Care to Animals - October 79, 2023

This communication is being sent from the College of Chiropractors of Ontario
(CCO) to members who responded on their 2023 renewal that they provide
chiropractic care to animals.

CCO received a communication on October 18, 2023 from the Ontario Ministry
of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMFRA) related to the proposal to
modernize the Veterinarians Act.

Please see the following links for the letter dated Mav-4,A8 from Ms Jo-Ann
Willson, CCO Registrar and General Counsel to the Honourable Lisa M,

Thompson, Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, regarding CCO and
the Regulation of the Chiropractic Care of Animals, as well as the
communication dated October 18,-2023- from Robert Blenkinsop, Manager,
Protection and Assurance Policy, Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch,
from the OMFRA requesting a response from CCO,

Please advise of the following information by October 24,2023 in the
survev at the following link:

. Do you provide acupuncture care as paft of your chiropractic care to
animals?

. Do you apply forms of energy as part of your chiropractic care to animals

In addition, the Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) has been providing
advocacy with respect to the chiropractic care of animals by chiropractors, so
we would appreciate knowing if you consent to CCO sharing your contact
details with the OCA to facilitate their ongoing advocacy efforts.

Thank you very much for your prompt response which will allow CCO to
respond to OMFRA within their time line.

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, M4Y 0E7 Canada

U nsu-bscri be jf ried man@cco. on. ca

Updsl€_ftAflle I Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

Zil Constont
\!!/ Contqct

1t2



College of
Chiropractors
of Ontario

UOrdre des
Chiropraticiens
de l'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario
M4Y OE7

Tel: 416-922-6355
Tol I Free: 1 -877 -57 7 -47 7 2

Fax:4,l 6-925-951 0
cco.info@cco.on.ca
www,cco.on.ca

May 4,2023

The Honourable Lisa M. Thompson
Minister ofAgriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
77 Grenville Street, 1lth Floor
Toronto, Ontario
M7A 183

Wa e-mail (Lisa.fnomps<tnco and mail

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) and Regulation of the Chiropractic
Care ofAnimals

Dear Minister:

CCO is responding to the recent Discussion Paper entitled"A Proposal to Modernize the

Veterinayians Act: Discussion Paper" which was posted for consultation and feedback,

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on this important initiative.

CCO is a regulatory body with a statutory mandate to regulate chiropractic in the public
interest. CCO has 5,354 members, of which 129 members indicated on their 2023

renewal form that they provide animal chiropractic care consistent with CCO's Standard

of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care ofAnimals (Appendix A attached).

By way of background, CCO has historically had many conversations, meetings and

communications with the College of Veterinarians of Ontario (CVO) concerning the
provision of chiropractic eare to animals. I have attached some examples of
communications with the CVO (Appendix B). Starting in 1998, I was involved in
discussions with then Registrar, Dr. John Henry, CVO, about how to appropriately
address the chiropractic care of animals, realizing that both chiropractors and

veterinarians receive training in the chiropractic care of animals (often in joint programs),
and the public interest required standards ofpractice in place to ensure public protection

and in particular to ensure safe, competent and ethical chiropractic care to animals in
Ontario. For CCO, like many regulators, standards of practice outline what is considered

satisfactory performance of procedures by a member of the profession.

CCO Council approved 5-009: Chiropractic Care ofAnimals (5-009) onApril25,1998.
5-009 makes it clear that the primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with
registrants of the CVO, and that consent to the chiropractic care of animals must be fully
informed and voluntarily given. To comply with S-009, CCO members are required to
have successfully completed a program in animal chiropractic. Maintenance of separate

office spaces are also required, although as you can appreciate there are instances in
which the member goes directly to the animal to assess and treat conditions consistent

with the chiropractic scope of practice.

994



995
coriespondence dated May 4,2023 to fte Honourablc Minister Thompson from Ms wiltson 2

s-009 has been reviewed annually since its approval by council in 1998, with each
revision intended to better protect the public. You will note from the document attached,
that 5-009 was amended February 19, 2008, December 4,z0ls, and November 24,2022.
Amendrnents are based on recommendations from the Quality Assurance Committee and
appropriate consultation. CCO's Quality Assurance Program includes an in-person peer
assessment component which requires peer assessors to meet with members to ensure, in
a proactive way, that members are complying with CCO's standards or practice, policies
and guidelines.

In addition to a quality assurance progr.rm, CCO, like other regulators, has a complaints
and discipline procedure designed to ensure a thorough and fair investigation of any
accusation of professional misconduct, consistent with the requirements of the Regulated
Health Professions Act, I991. Since approval of 5-009, there has not been a compiaint
from any animal owner concerning the chiropractic care of their animal. In total, there
have been five complaints involving animal chiropractic to CCO - two complaints were
from the CVO, two complaints were from one chiropractor complaining against another,
and one was from a veterinarian (without concern being expressed by the animal owner).
All matters were addressed by CCo's Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee
(formerly the Complaints Committee).

To summarize:

There has been a standard of practice in place relating to the chiropractic care of
animals since 1998;
CCO has not received any complaints from the public about the chiropractic care
of animals; complaints from others have been addressed by the ICRC;
The Quality Assurance Program, and in particular the peer assessment component
includes a review of all standards of practice, including s-009 to ensure members
are practicing in a manner consistent with CCO's standards, policies and
guidelines;

CCO is committed to ongoing dialogue and collaboration with the CVO and other
stakeholders to ensure public interest protection in the chiropractic care of
animals;
To date, animal owners have had the choice of where to receive chiropractic care
for their animals, and many of them have chosen to receive chiropractic care from
members of CCO as well as members of the CVO.

o

a

a

a

a



996
Correspondence dated May 4,2023 to the Honourable Minister Thompson fiom Ms Willson

We would be pleased to answer any questions or provide funher input into your
important task of revising and revising tIrc Veterinarians ' Act. I know the advocacy

association for chiropractors in Ontario, namely the Ontario Chiropractic Association, has

and will be making submissions on behalf of its members. CCO thinks it important that
you also have the perspective of the regulator in terms of how the issues have been

addressed to date, and what information is gathered and maintained by CCO consistent

with its public interest mandate.

3

@
Jo-Ann Willson.

iln0.^,,,r- J-f aUM
RJgistrar and General Counset

c. Ms Jan Robinson, Registrar, CVO

Ms Caroline Brereton, CEO, OCA



APPENDIX A
Standard of Practice 5-0091 Chiropractic Care of Animals 997

;{
I

-1

:i
I

I

l

CnrnopnAcnc Clne oF ANIMALS

Standard of Practice 5-009
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: April25, 1998
Amended: February 19, 2008, December 4,2015, November 24,2022 (came into
effect Februarv 24. 20231

Note to Readers: In the event of any inconsistenqt between this document and the legislation that
afects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lrurerur

To advise members on when and how they can conduct chiropractic care of animals, and to
remind them that the primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with veterinarians.

Oalectvrs

I To prornote professionalism, safety and effectiveness in the chiropractic care of animals.

r To inform members of CCO of their obligations rclating to the chiropractic care of animals.

r To ensure appropriate ooordination and consultation between chiropractors and veterinarians
in the chiropractic care of animals.

o To educate the public as to the appropriate nahrre of the chiropractic care of animals.

DescnrpnoN oF STANDARD

A member is advised that:

The primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with registrants of the CVO,
who are responsible for appropriate history taking, comprehensive examination,
including clinical pathology, and imaging, and the overall care/management of animals.

Consent io the chiropractic care of animals must be fully inforrned and voluntarily given
by the owner of the animal, and rnembers are required to comply with all standards of
practice and applicable legislation relating to chiropractic.

h providing chiropractic care to an animal, a member shall:

demonstrate successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200
hours of formal training that includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject
areas: anatomy, neurology, biomechanics, animal adustment technique, diaposis,
pathology, chiropractic philosophy, and ethics and legalities;

a

a

a



Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractlc Care of Animals

. ellsure the rdcord of care includes the name of fire treating regis[anl of CVO and the relevant

portions ofthe veterinary record;

provide, upon request and only with the consent from the owner of the animal or otherwise in

accordance with the Personal Informution Protection and Electronic Documents Act, 2000

(PIPEDA)t a copy of relevant portions of the record to the treafing registrant of CVO within
a reasonable tirne of providing chiropractic care to an animal;

maintain separate appointmcnt books, scparatc hcalth and financial records nnd, where

animals are provided with chiropractic care in the same office as humans, maintain a separate

portion of the ofFrce devoted to animal chiropraclic2; and

ensure that the owner of the anima(s) is fulty informed about the member's insurance

coverage3.

998

o

a

I

I

Exemption

A member will be exempted from tle first bulleted item above if she/she:

is enrolled and participating in an approved program in animal chiropractic, leading to the

sucsessfitl completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200 hours of
formal training that includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject areas,

anatomy, neurology, biornechanics, animal adjustment technique, diagnosis, pathology,

chiropractic philosophy, and ethics and legalities;

completes the approved program in animal chiropractic within two years of their enrolment;

provides chiropractic care to animals within the parameters of their course of study; and

informs the owner of the animal(s) that they have enrolled and are participating in but have

not yet graduated from an approved program in animal chiropractic^

I Since the chiropractic care of animals does not involve human health care, the Persanal Information Protection

and Electronic Documents Act, 2000 {PIPEDA) and not the Personal Health Inlormation Protection Act, 2044

(PHIPA) would apply to the collection, use aud disclosure of information related to the chiropractic care of animals.
i Muint.oan.r of separate office space is a minimum requirement for health and sanitation reasons, particularly in

lighl of thc various commwricable diseases cornmon to human and animals.
3 This requires the member to advise the ortner of the animal if the mernber's policy of insurance or membership in
a protective association does not provide coverage for the cbiropractic care of animals. The owner should be

informed about the member's insurance coverage as part ofthe general requirement that there be "informed"
consent,

a

a

a



i

I
I

j
i
l

Standard of Fractice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

Lsorsurve Gorurexr

The governing legislation as it relates to human health care is the Regtlated Health Professions
Act, 1991, as amended (RHPA) and the Chiropractic Act, 1991. The governing legislation as it
relates to animal health care is lbe Teterinarians Act,1990. Specific relevant provisions are
outlined below. The RHPA and the Chiropractic Act are administered by CCO and the
Yeterinarians Act is administered by CVO,

Sections of the RHPA

Objects and Duty of the GCO - Section 3 of the Regulated Health Professions (Code),
Schedule 2to RHPA {Gode):

(1) [CCO]has the following objects

To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the
quality of the practice of the profession.

To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge, skill and programs to
promote continuing competence among the members.

(2) In carrying out its objects, the [CCO] has a duty to serve and protect the public
interest."

Sections of the Chiropractic Act

Section 3: Chiropractic Scope of Practice

"The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine, nervous system
and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily by adjustment, of,

dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the spine and the effects
of those dysfunctions or disorders on the nervous system; and

r dysfunctions or disorders arising fiom the structures or firnctions of the joints."

Sectlon 9: Restricted Titles for Chiropractic

"(1) No person other than a member shall use the title 'chiropractorn, a variation
or abbreviation or an equivalent in another language.

(2) No person other than a member shall hold himself or herself out as a person
who is qualified to practise in Ontario as a chiropractor or in a specialty of
chiropractic.

999

a

a

a

(3) In this section, 'abbreviation' includes an abbreviation of a variation."



Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

Seetions of Regulation 852/93 under lhe Chiropractic Act

Section 1 (2): Definition of Professional Misconduct for Chiropractors (Standards of
Practice)

"The following are acts of professional misconduct for the pwposes of clause 51 (1) (c) of the

Health Professions Procedural Code: Contravening a standard ofpractice oftheprofession or

failing to maintain the standard of practice expected of members of the profession'"

Sections of the Veferinarians Act

Subsection I (1): Definition of Veterinary Medicine

"The 'practice of veterinary medicine' includes the practice of dentistry, obstetrics (inctuding

ova and embryo transfer) and surgery in relation to an animal other than a human being'"

Section 3: Objects of CVO

..(l) The principal object of the [CVO] is to regulate the practice of veterinary

medicine and to govern its members in accordance with this Act, the

regulations and the byJaws so as to serve and plotect the public interest.

(2) For thc pluposc of cnrrying out its principnl ohjcct, the [CVO] hnri the

following additional obj ects :

establish, maintain and develop standards of knowledge and skill among its members;

and

r cstablish, maintain and develop standards of qualification and standards of practice

for the practice of veterinary medicine"'

Subsection 11 (1): Licence Required to Practice Veterinary Medicine

'TrIo person shall engage in the practice of veterinary medicine or hold himself/herself out as

engaging in the practice of veterinary medicine unless the person is the holder of a license,"

Sections of Regutation 1093 (General - Part ll Practice Standards) under the
Veterinarians Act

Section 17: Definition of Professional Misconduct for Veterinarians (Standards of
Practice)

"For the purposes of the Act, professional'misconduct includes the following: Failing to maintain

the standard ofpractice ofthe profession."

1000

a



:

I

I
I

i
I

-l

!
I

College of
Chlropractorr
of ontcrlo

Uoidre do!
Chiropretlchnt
d. l'ontrrio

130 Bloor St. West
Suite 902
Toronto, Ontario
MsS 1N5

Tel: 416-922-6355
Fax:416-925-9610
cco.infogcco.on.ca
www.cco.on.ca

1001
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2

February 24,2017

APPENDIX B
Via E-mail and 0rdinary Mail

Ms Jan Robinson
Regishar and Chief Executive Officer
College of Veterinarians of Ontario
2106 Gordon Sreet
Guelph, Ontado NIL lG6

Rc; Dialogue Concerning Animal Chiropractic between the College of Veterinarians
of Ontarlo (CVO) 

"r"f^"oltut" 
of Chiroprnctoru of Onterlo (CCO)

Dearfi1inson: 
/&r/'''

I wanted to follow up on our informal lunch on December 2,2A16 to express our
continuing interest in a dialogue relating to any proposed legislative amendments to the
current legislation governing the chiropractic care of animals.

As you know, this has been a topic of discussion between our respective colleges for
many years. CCO's cunent 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals (enclosed) was
originally approved by CCO Corurcil on April 25,1998 following extensive discussions
with a fonner Registrar of CVO, namely the late Dr. John H"nry. The standard has been
reviewed on a regular basis, with the most recent amendments being approved December
4,2015. A number of CCO members provide anirnal chiropractic care, and to dale" there
hasn't been a complaint about animal chiropractic care by a member of CCO from the
public (there was one compiaint many years ago from a veterinarian but the animal owner
did not wish to pu$ue the complaint),

CCO's Quality Assutance Committee is responsible for reviewing 3-009 on a regular
basis, and would be pleased to receive any feedbaok from CVO concerning the standard.
In addition, we would be pleased to review and comment on any proposed legislative
changes being considered or recommended by CVO either before or after more broad
scale public consultation. If you think it would be helpful, we would be pleased to host a
joint meeting to discuss any public interest issues consistent with our respective
mandates.

CCO has received various inquiries from members who practise chiropractic requesting
information abont CVO's current efforts, and we expect to have a communication
strategy to address any issues. We are open to a joint communication to our respective
members if you think it would be both efficient and helpful.



Conespondence dated Fsbruary 24,2017 to Ms Robincon 2

1002

In the interim, the QA Committee is in the pfocess of gathering further backgound

information about the membors who practice animal chiropraotic, and lbr that purpose is

considering a brief survey asking information about how long they have been practising

anirnal chiropractic, where they were hained, and what formal or informal arrangements

they have with veterinarians. This information will be helpful in terms of confirming how

many members are involved in the chiropraotic care of animals.

There is an opportunity here for interprofessional oollaboration and we look forward to

hearing fronr-you about what would 6e most helpful as the CVO continues its efforts to

moderiize and update its legislation, potentially with the conholled-and authorized acts

model of the Regulated Health Professians Act, 19gl being a basis for discussion. We

look forward to an ongoing dialogue about these and any other issues. The CVO is to be

applauded for taking Jteps to modemize legislation that has not kept pace with other

legislative changes.

Yottrs trulv' 
iL/ G/

ilct[^,* fUI
lofnnn Wiltson
Regisuur aud Ceueral Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario



evo
THE COLLEGE OF
VETERINARIANS

OF ONTARIO

ffi.}$il:"il[V]fi]m

MAI| I q e0r7

col,LEc$ $;' {;r 11: I i.R.ifl 'on8

1 003

t.j

March 13,2017

Ms. Jo-Ann Willson
Registrar and General Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
130 Bloor Street West
Suite 902
Toronto, ON MsS 1Ns

Deary*rffi"oneJa
- *rN

Re: Dialogue Goncerning Animal Chiropractic between the Gollege of Veterinarians of
Ontario (CVO) and College of Chiropractors of Ontarlo (CCO)

Thank you very much for your letter of February 24,2017 outlining the CCO's interest in animal
chiropractic care and the work of your Quality Assurance Committee.

As you are aware our College is in the rniddle of a full legislative review of the Veterinarians Act,
inclusive of the scope of practice of veterinary medicine. Within this work we have
acknowledged the history of the dialogue between our two organizations and ihe CCO's
longstanding standard of practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals, ln addition, I have
apprecialed our informal discussions regarding the mutual aim to recognize the scope of
practice of chiropractors within a proposed new scope model for veterinarians.

Our Council is meeting on March 22123 to discuss the proposed model prior to public
consultation. At present the proposal is focused on identified authorized activities rather than an
exclusive scope of practice, Further, it seeks to exempt chiropractors for both the use of the tifle
doctor (with conditions) and the performance of spinal manipulation on animals. Once Council
has approved the proposal, we will be moving to a public consultation phase in April and May-
We will reach out to you directly for a formal response.

t2

Strengthening the veterinary profession through quatily prscttce and public accountabitily.

711)6GortlonSt. I Guclpl"ON I NIL lG5 1 Phone 519-824-5600/t,800-424-2E55 | Fax 5l9-824.6497/t-888.662.14?9 | $,u.wcvo.org

.;

I
1

I

l

l

I
:l



1004

Ms, Jo-Ann Willson
Page 2

your lnvitation to meet with members of your Quality Assurance Committee is welcorned. I

would suggest we perhaps wait to set a time after the consultation period is complete and we

better understand iny public concems with what is proposed. You may also have the results of
your member survey regarding animal chiropraclic and we would certainly be lnterested in any

information you can share.

Thank you so much. We too look forward to an ongoing dialogue.

Sincerely,
COLLEGE OF VETERINARIANS OF ONTARIO

Jnn Robinson
Regietrar and CEO



I

1

I

I

{
I

9l
J

1 005

June 9,2009

Yia e-mail, facsimile (1-519-824-6497) and courier

Ms Susan Carlyle
Regishar
College of Veterinarians of Ontario
2106 Gordon Street
Guelph, Ontario
NlL IG6

Re: comments from the college of chiropractoru of ontario (cco) on thc
College of Veterinarians of Ontario (CVO) Draft Position Statement entitled The
Practice of Complemcntary andAltcrnative Veterinary Medlclne @raft Position
Statement)

Dear Ms Carlyle:

I Introduction

Thank you for the opporfunity to comment on the above noted document, and for the
extension of time on which to file a respoilre.

This correspondence is further to my correspondence dated october 21, 200g (copy
attached) and encloswes.

In summary, CCO's view is that the Draft Position Statement is inconsistent with the
law of ontario, public policy and the interests of the public. The Draft position
Statement appears to be based on an advocacy position for the pwpose of expanding
veterinarian jurisdiction, rather than the public interest.



Correspondence dated June 9, to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson
Re: Draft Position Statement

2

II Background

CCO and CVO worked collaboratively for many yeaxs in addressing the issue of
animal chiropractic. I set out the chronology in my corespondence dated October 21,

2008 (copy enclosed). CCO and CVO worked together between 1992 and 1999 to

develop a joint approach regarding animal chiropractic. CCO Standard of practice, S-

009: Chiropractic Care of Animals (copy enclosed) was approved by CCO Council in
1998, foilowing an extensive consultation period with members and stakeholders. That

consultation included six years of collaboration with CVO. S-009 was subsequently

circulated to members and stakeholders and published on CCO's web site. Shortly
thereafter, CVO passed a policy which included many of the same provisions as S-

009. Since 1998, and in reliance on an agreed upon approach to the regulation of
animal chiropractic, CCO rnembers have been meeting the public demand for
appropriate and effective chiropractic care of anirnals in accordance with 5-009.

You notified me by rvay of a Jture 30, 2008 letter that the CVO Corrncil was

considering a Draft Position Statement and that. if it was approved, it would have a

"signifioant" impact on CCO members, as any chiropractor would require a written
referal from a licensed veterinarian prior to providing a chiropractic treatment to an

animal. Absent a written referral, a chiropractor would be considered by the CVO to

be engaging in the unauthorized practice of veterinary medicine, and, I took from your

letter, presumably subject to prosecution by the CVO pursuant to section 40 of the

Yeterinarians Act, R,S.O. 1990, Ch. ZJ. You also informed me that S-009 would

"require irrunediate revision" so as to require a chiroptactor to obtain a referral from a

veterinarian before providing a chiropractic treatnent to an animal. For reasons which
arc not clear, 5-009 is not included in the list of documents reviewed in the
development of the Draft Position Statement.

III Statutory Framework

The practice of veterinary medicine in Ontario is defined inthe Veterinarians Act,

V.3, as including "the practice of dentistry, obstetrics including ova and embryo
transfer, and swgery, in relation to an animal other than a human being." The CVO's
jurisdiction in Ontario is delineated by that statutory definition, as it is authorized by

law to regulate the practice of veterinary medicine and to govern its fnembers in
accordance with the Veterinarians Act.

1 006



i

i

I
i

I

{

J
I

:

Correspondence dated June 9, to Ms Cartyle from Ms Willson
Re: Draft Position Statemcnt

The CVO has based its Draft Position Statement on a definition of veterinary medicine
(the "AIT definition') that is inconsistent with the Veterinarians Act andwas qeated
for a different purpose than the regulation of the practice of veterinary medicine in
Ontario. The AIT definition is as follows:

"Veterinary Medicine" means the practice of medicine, surgery and dentistry
on animals, and includes the examining, diagnosing, prescribing, manipulating
and treatingfor the prevention, alleviation or cowection of a diease, irlury, 

-

condition, deformity, defect, or lesion in an animal with or without the ise-of
any instrument, applicant, drug, or biologics;t

The foobnote to this definition in flre Draft Position Statement says the following:

"This definition is based on that agreed to by ail canadian veterinary
regulators as published in the 2001 Mutual Recognition Agreement inder the
pan-Canadian Agreement on Internal Trade (AIT)."2

The AIT definition was agreed to by various regulators for the purpose of enabling a
veterinarian qualified for that occupation in one part of Canadato have access to
employment opportunities in that occupation in another part of canada. The AIT
definition of veterinary medicine cannot be used to define the practice of veterinary
me-dicine for the purposes of the Veterinarians Act, andin particular, sections II, ig,
and40 oftl,ntAct.

The practice of veterinary medicine, as that terrn is defined inthe Yeterinarians Act,
does not include manipulation or animal chiropractic, and it is not within the
jurisdiction of the CVO to claim exclusive jurisdiction over it, or to regulate the
prlctice of chiropractic. In addition, as you are aware, legislation governs over any
policies or position statements to the extent of any inconsistency pqrsuant to the
doctrine of paramountcy,

I Page 2, Draft Position Statement.
2 Foohote l, page 2, Draft Position Statement.

3

1 007



Correspondence dated June 9, to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson
Re: Draft Position Statement

4

1 008

Mhe Public fnterest

The govemmcnt of Ontario has promoted safe, effective, and effrcient heaith care in

Ontalio by allowing regulated nedtir care professionals to practise to the ftlI extent of
their competence, and by encouraging opportunities for regulated health professions to

work together. This allows for a system where all health professionals can function to

the fullest extent of their haining and capability as patt of an integrated and

collaborative health care team. The govemment, and CCO, believes that

interprofessional collaboration is key to improving access to seamless and effective

care that is in the public interest.

This approach is also in the public interest because it allows members of the public the

right to choose the appropriate care for their animals. The CCO has heard from many

mimbers of the publil who value the treatment provided to their animals by

chiropractorr. th"y want to have the ability to choose the type of care provided to

thcir nnimnls, nnd ionsider it oritjoally important to have accsss to chiroprac;tic care

for their animals. The Draft Position Statement, which requires a veterinarian to refer

an animal to a chiropractor for chiropractic cate, and then supervise that care, would

have the effect of increasing the cost and limiting access to chiropractic care of
animals-

CCO is aware of the nurnber of letters forwarded to the CVO from the public setting

out their strong suppoft for being able to choose who delivers chiropractic care for

their animalt *itt out such cate being subject to 'ogate keeping" and supervision by

veterinarians.

CCO's QA Committee has had an opportunity to review some of the feedback

provided with respect to the draft position statement. The feedback was iufofmative

*d upp.*t to consistently support the status quo, namely, that animal ownels in some

instances choose to consult directly with chiropractors with training and expertise in

animal chiropractic, and some animal owners choose to consult directly with

veterinmians for the chiropractic treatnent of animals. What was clear from the

feedback reviewed is that there are chiropractors and veterinarians who have rnanaged

to establish and maintain healthy working relationships which are of benefit to their

respective patients.



5

l

Correspondence dated June 9, to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson
Re: Draft Position Statemeut

I

I

:-l

I
5
:i

1
i
I

i

1 009

What appears to be missing from the Draft Position Statement is an identification of
and articulation of the public interest issues ttrat the statement is attempting to address
What evidence is there of harm to the public requiring changes to ttre itatus quo in
terms of animal chiropractic? The question is important particularly given thi
regulator's role in protecting the public interest to be contrasted with-the role of
professional associations in advancing professional interests.

V Conclusion

CCO Staudard 5-009 protects the public, allows for choice and access to care, and was
developed in cooperation and collaboration with CVO. It iricludes anumber of
principies our colleges agreed upon, including that the primary responsibility for the
health care of animals is with members of the cvo, who are responsible foi
appropriate history taking, comprehensive examination, including clinical pathology,
imaging, and the overall treatmenVmanagement of animals. 5-009 also stresses the
importance of appropriate coordination and oonsultation between chiropractors and
veterinarians in the chiropractic care of animals, as well as the need to promote
professionalism, safety and effectiveness in the chiropractic care of animals.
Chiropractors who provide chiropractic care to animals must have successfully
completed specialized training, must ensure informed consent is given to treatment,
aad must maintain records in such a manner as to facilitate communication with the
animal's treating veterinarian.

Moreover, cco Standard s-009 has been in effect for more than 10 years. During
that time, the CCO received only one complaint from a veterinarian ibout the carJ
provided by a chiropractor to an animal, and the animal's o\ryner was pleased with the
care provided and would not agree to release any of the records ot agiee to participate
in the complaint against the chiropractor. CCO does not have a history of con"erns
expressed by the public with respect to animal chiropractors, alttrough 5-009 provides
a mechanism for dealing with any such concems ifthey arise.

such an integrated approach to health care is consistent with the philosophy and
pu{pose of the legislation. Put differently, the Veterinarians Actioes not provide that
the exclusive care of animals other than humans rests with veterinarians.

Both of our colleges' members have special education, training and expertise. we
each have members who provide health care services to animals. We would welcome
the opportunity to work in collaboration with the CVO to resolve issues arising from
animal chiropractic.



Correspondenee dated June 9, to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson
Re Draft Position Statement

6

1010

Thank you for hosting Mr. Friedman, Dr. Walton and I at our recent lunch' I reiterate

the QA Committee's offgl to meet with members of the committee of the CVO

responsible for reviewing the feedback and making recommendations if it would be of
assistance in resolving any outstanding issues'

I emphasize CC0's ongoing oommitment to work with CVO and other regulators on

.uttitr of mutual interest, particularly given ow respective mandates to regulate the

professions of chiropractic and veterinary medicine in the public interest. We

appreciate the opportunity to comment on the Draft Position Statement and look
forward to further dialogue.

Yotrrs tntly,

Jo-Ann Willson
Regishar and General Counsel
B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.



:

I

1011

October 21, 2008

Via facs imile' ( I - 5 I 9- S 2 4 - 6 4 97) and c ourier

Ms Susan Carlyle
Regishar
College of Veterinarians of Ontario
2106 Gordon Sheet
Guelph, Ontario
NlL IG6

Re: Mutual rntcrest in Animal chiropractic Between the college of
Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) and the College of Veterinarians of Ontario
(cvo)

Dear Ms Carlyle:

I Introduction

I am writing to you with respect to our respective colleges' interest in auimal
chiropractic, and to reopen the dialogue conceming a possible resolution, in the public
interest, of any remaining areas of controversy. Part of the delay in writing to you has
been that I have had to track down the various communioatioos betrc"r, o* obtt"g"t
since at least the early 90's concerning the topic, and the various efforts made to
resolve matters over the years. When I joined CCO in 1993, animal chiropractic was a
topic of conversation between CCo and CVo, and fortunately (or unforhrnately,
depending on yow perspective), I have been involved inmany of those conversations.

n Background Information

I am not aware of what backgrowrd inforrnation you have conceming animal
chiropractic and the numerous discussions, meetings and conespondence between
CCO and CVO over the years. Therefore, I have set out below some of the relevant
history, and have also enclosed with this correspondence, some background
documents:



Correspondence dated October 21, 2008 to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson 2

1012

ln L99Z,a task force was established consisting of veterinarians and chiropractors, and

the task force agreed that some sort of training should be necessary for both

professions, *i th"t both professions should have a means to communicate with each

bther in the interest of the public and their animals.

On X'ebruary 24rlgg4,CVO's then President, Dr. John Reeve-Newson, wrote to the

late Dr. Stan-stolarski, CCO Registrar, to invite the CCO Executive to meet with

CVO's Executive to discuss the topic of animal chiropractic'

In 1995, members of the CVO Executive Committee and staff met with the CCO

Executive Committee to discuss a possible press release from both colleges, but ttris

press release was never finalized or published.

ln 1997,I wote to CVO's then Registrat, Dt. John Henry at least five times (May 6,

1997,May L2,lggT,June 4, 1997, Augusl27,1997, and September 19,1997), each

tirne onclnsing the updated draft of the Animal C.hiropractic Standard of Practice,

On May g,l9g7,I met with CCO's then Registrar, Dr. Jerry Grod and Dr' Henry, in

Dr. Henry's office overlooking the golf course, at the CVO in Guelph. At the time, I
suggestei that the two colleges come up with a joint standmd of practice dealing

,pJJin"^ny with animal chiropractic to provide guidance to the members of both

*ll.g"r. My understanding is that a draft of this standard was reviewed and discussed

bV CVO Corurcil in June I ggZ. Various drafts were later reviewed and amendments

made, and in March 1998, CVO Council reviewed draft # 11'

In Novemb er,1997, CCO's Quality Assurance (QA) Committee circulated to CCO

Regishants and other stakeholders (including the CVO), a draft standard of practice

relating to the Chiropractic Care of Animals. The rnetnolanduur from the late Dr' Bcrt

BrandJn, Chair, QACommittee, references the long consultation and discussion wittr

the CVO in the dwelopment of the standard. It atso references the importance of
members of both colleges continuing to dialogue about the irnportant issues relating to

animal chiropractic, and thut the draft was intended to provide guidance to the

members of both colleges. This draft was to be circulated by both colleges, and on that

basis, the CVO agreed to have its logo included on the draft, and to ref-erence the

obligations of CVO members in the document. I do not know if the CVO circulated

this draft as was anticiPated.



5

Correspondence dated October 2t, Z00g to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson j

1013

On March 21 1998, I wrote to Dr. Henry enclosing a further draft standar.d on animal
chiropractic resulting from a number of telephone-conversations between us and a
review of the feedback received from the November 1997 circulation, and *g"""ii"g
firrther comments.

On April25' 1998, C!! Cguncil approved 5-009: Chiropractic Care ofAnimals, on
the recommendation of the QA committee, which had reriiewed all feedback received
from members and stakeholders. The standard was subsequently circulated and posted
on CCO's website.

on May 22r1998,Dr. Henry forwarded to me a copy ofhis note to the cvo
Executive and council updating them on the animai Lhiropractic standard, and
advising there may be a bit of a delay in firther action because I was about to go on
maternity leave (The particular daughter Dr. Henry is referencing is about to cllebrate
her 13th birthday).

on November 13, 1998,I again wote io Dr. Henry to provide an update, and to
advise that references to cvo members had been aeleted from the siandard, but
otherwise, the standard was the snme as had been forwarded to him on March 2,lggg.

on January 20,1999, cVo courcil passed apolicy it intended to become a
regulation which included many of the same provisibns as in cco's s-009, such as
appropriate training in animal chiropractic, thi name of the member of ccd and
relevant potions of the chiropractic record, and a responsibility to provide, upon
reguest, a copy or sunmary ofrelevant portions of the veterinary record to the CCO
member. Similar to CCO's standard, there was to be an 

"*r.ptioo 
for CVO registrants

who were enrolled and participating in an approved pro$am in animal chiropri'ctic,
such as the certificate program gffered by ttie American-Veterinary Chiropractic
Associafion (AVCA) or its equivalent. I do not know whether the CVO pioceeded to
try to get such a regulation passed through the legislature.

In the March/April 1999 CVO newsletter, Dr. Henry outlined the history of the CCO
standard and cVo policy in an article entitied ..Animal cniropocti. update.,,

on september 28,2005, the cVo council approved aposition statement entitled
Animal Rehabilitation in veterinary practice wt i.n expiessly excludes animal
chiropractic.



Correspondence dated October 21, 2008 to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson 4

1014

In the December 2007 CVO Update, the Position Statement on Animal Rehabilitation

in Veterinary Practice was returned to staff to be reworked along with the CVO policy

on chiropractic therapy in orcler to draft a comprehensive policy for CVO Council's

consideration.

On June 20, 2008, CCO Council approved minor amendments to 5-009: Chiropractic

Care of Animals, on the recommetditioo of the QA Committee, which had reviewed

the standard as part ofits ongoing review ofall standards ofpractice and policies. ln

partioular, the specific reference to the AVCA was deleted'

ilI Your Correspondence dated June 30, 2008 and Enclosure

on Juty 4,2008,I received yogf correspondence dated June 30, 2008, enclosing

CVO'; draft Position Statement on Complementary and Altemative Veterinary

Medicine. ln your correspondence you indicate that the potential impact of the

document on CCO me.rnhe,rship is "significant." As I indicatedto you, the CVO-is

responsible for regulating veterinarians in orfario, and the cco is responsible for

regutating chiropiactort itt Ont*io. The CVO, cannot by standard of practice, which

ffiaUlyls inconsistent with the Veterinarians Act, adversely affect the members of
another profession.

Onc of the significant difficulties is the definition of veterinary medicine contained in

the VeI er inar ians Act, namelY :

"practice of veterinary medicine" includes the practice of dentistry, obstetrics

iicluding iva and embryo transfer and surgery in relation to an animal other

than a human being".

As you axe aware, animal chiropractic is not specifically mentioned.

What is apparently new in the position staternent is a requirement for chiropractors to

obtain u t*itt"n referral from a veterinarian' ln addition, there appear to be some

inconsistencies in defrning the appropriate level of care and supervision' In your

correspondence, you indicate ttrattne CVO's new position statement will require

immediate revision to CCO's 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals to ensure CCO's

standard is in line with the CVO policy. With rcspect, I disagree'



Correspondence dated October 21,200E to lt[s Carlyle from Ms Willson 5

1015

Animal chiropractic continues to be practised by many chiropractors, not only in
ontario, but in many otherprovinces and jurisdictions. The AVCA program trains
both chiropractors and veterinarians. Animal owners frequently seek chiropractic care
for their animals directly from chiropractors. CCo has had a standard of practice
relating to animal chiropractic in place for well over a decade, in an effort to provide
guidance to members who practice animal chiropractic, and that standard was
developed in consultation with the CVO. It may be that are changes are required, in
the pubiic interest, but fundarnental changes carmot be made unilaterally.

In addition, since you have indicated the cvo position statement is a draft, and my
understanding is that the draft will be considered by thc CVO at an upcoming meeting,
do I have yow permission to share the draft with members of the chiropractic
profession who practise animal chiropractic to solicit their input and constructive
feedback? CCO certainly recognizss and applauds the CVO for looking at this issue
again. Animal chiropractic is important, and given the history and mutual interest of
our colleges in the issues, further discussion and consideration is required.

Monclusion

I arn aware that in the past, CVO has received legal advice from Richard Steinecke on
the topic of animal chiropractic. Mr. Steinecke also provides legal advice to CCO on
occasion, and accordingly, it may be a conflict for him to act on this topic on behalf of
either college. On the other hand, it may be that Mr. Steinecke may actually be able to
try to mediate or broker an agreement between cco and CVo. That issue can be
disctssed on another occasion,

I
!

,1

I
;



Correspondence dated October 21, 2008 to Ms Carlyle from Ms Willson 6

1016

I will tell you that on a personal level, I have the upmost respect and admiration for
velerinarians (anel chiropractors as well). I am committed personally and

professionally to trying to resolve any issues related to animal chiropractic. If you

would like to rneet with ow respective QA Committees or even meet informally, I
would be pleased to do so. I know the QA Committee supports inter-professional
collaboration and dialogue, and we would be pleased to discuss how the two colleges

can work collaboratively in the public interest within our respective mandates.

Yor:rs truly,

Jo-Ann Willson
B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar and General Counsel

Enclosures:

1. Conespondence dated February 24, 1994 to Dr. Stolarski from Dr. John

Reeve-Newson.
2. Conespondenoe dated Septernber 79,1997 to Dr. John Henry from Ms Willson

re: Chfuopractic Care of Animals,
3. Memorandum dated Novemb er 7 , 1997 to Regishants of CCO/Other

Stakeholders from CCO QA Committee re: draft standards (including
Chiropractic Care of Animals) and draft standard entitled Chiropractic Care of
Animals (dated November 'l,1997).

4. Corrcspoudence dated Malch 2,7998 to Dr. Heruy from Ms Willson.
5. Facsimile dated May 22,1998 to Ms Joanne Wilson [sic] from John Henry.

6. Correspondence dated November 13, 1998 to Dr. Henry from Ms Willson
(with 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals enclosed),

7. CVO Chiropractic Care of Animals document (January 20, t999).
8. Animal Chiropractic Update dated March/April 1999.

9. CVO Position Statement on Animal Rehabilitation in Veterinary Practice
(September 28,2005).

10. Exftact from CVO Update December 2007.
11. CCO 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals (amended: June 20,2008).
12. Correspondence dated June 30, 2008 to Ms Willson from Ms Carlyle and

enclosure.



1017
Dear Ms. Willson,

I hope this message finds you well. As you are aware, the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and

Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) administers Ihe Veterinaians Act. This Act is the legislative framework
that governs the licensing of veterinarians in Ontario, the practice of veterinary medicine, as well

as the accreditation of the facilfties used to practice veterinary medicine. Earlier this year,

OMAFRA engaged with stakeholders and the public on a proposal to modernize the
Veterinarians Acf. lt can be viewed on the Regulatory Registry of Ontario at the following link: A
Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act (ontariocanada.coml. The consultation period for
this proposal closed on May 30,2023. During this period, you had provided some feedback in

relation to the proposal.

We have worked through all of the consultation feedback and more recently have had a
conversation with the Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) on the subject of chiropractors
who provide chiropractic and acupuncture services to animals. ln follow-up to that conversation
we had some additional questions, which the OCA has referred us to you as the regulator.

ln your letter to Minister Thompson from May 4th of this year, you had shared that 129 of the
province's 5,354 registered chiropractors indicated to the CCO on their 2023 renewal form that

they provide chiropractic care to animal patients as part of their practice. The additional
questions for which we are seeking a response are:

1) How many of the '129 chiropractors provide acupuncture to animals; and,

2) How many of the 129 chiropractors use forms of energy in animal treatment

ls this information that the CCO would collect, and if so, is there a rostering process for these
activities?

This information, if available, would be useful for informing our policy analysis work. I would
appreciate hearing from you, if possible by this Friday.

Thank you in advance for your assistance.

Kind regards,
Robert

Robert Blenkinsop, Ph.D. (he/himl

Manager, Protection and Assurance Policy

Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs

L Stone Road West, 2 SE

Guelph, ON N1G 4Y2

Tel.: 519.766.5402
Email : robert.blenkinsop@ontario,ca
Please Note: As part of providing accessible customer service, please let me know if you have any

accommodation needs or require communication supports or alternate formats.



ITEM 4.1.80
Survey on the Chiropractic Care of Animals - October L9,2023

Ao/o 'l0o/o z)oh 3oo/o 4jok 50% 60% TAoh 80% g9oh 100%

RESPONSES

5.450/o

94.550/o

1018

Q1 Do you provide acupuncture care as part of your chiropractic care to
anirnals?

Answered: 55 Skipped: 0

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES

Yes

No

TOTAL

3

52

55

LIT



Survey on the Chiropractic Care of Animals - October L9,2023

Oo/o 1O% 2OVo 30% 49o/o 50o/o 60% TAok 800/o 90o/o i00%

RESPONSES

38.180/o

67.82o/o

1019

Q2 Do you apply forms of energy as part of your chiropractic care to
animals?

Arrswered: 55 Skipped: 0

Yes

No

ANSWER CHOICES

Yes
2t

34

EE

No

TOTAL

1t7



Survey on the Chiropractic Care of Animals - October 19,2023

Q3 Do you consent to CCO sharing your name and contact information
with the Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) for the purposes of the
OCA's advocacy efforts with respect to the chiropractic care of animals?

Answered: 55 Skipped: 0

Yes

No

O/o 'lOolo 21o/o 30o/o 4A% 5oo/o 60% 70% 80% 9oo/o 1O0%

1020

ANSWER CHOICES

Yes

No

TOTAL

RESPONSES

80.00V0

20.oooh

M

11

55

Llr



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.81

Jo-Ann Willson
October 27,2023 5:56 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

1025
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Quality Assurance and council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Regishar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free :'l -87 7 -57 7 -47 7 2
Fax: (4'16) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic, ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent asslstance, please contact Reception by phone at41,6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

receptio n@ cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require acconrmodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectf ul and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Thursday, October26,2023 9:20 AM
To: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert.Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson
<jpwil lson @cco.o n.ca>

Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

Good Morning,

Further to our correspondences below, CCO surveyed chiropractors who provide chiropractic care to
animals with these questions. The following are the results received:

Chiropractors who provide acupuncture to animals:

Yes: 3

No: 52

Unknown: 74

Chiropractors who use forms of emergency in animal treatment:
Yes: 2L

No:34

1



Unknown: 74 1026

l

CCO requires all chiropractors who provide chiropractic care to animals to comply with Standard of
Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2023l02lS-
009Jan2023.pdl which includes completing 200 hours of formal training in animal chiropractic.

Chiropractors must also achieve, maintain and be able to demonstrate clinical competency in any
diagnostic or therapeutic procedure used in practice, in accordance with Standard of Practice 5-001:
Chiropractic Scope of Practice https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2019/06/S-0014pril3020L9.pdf

Please let us know if you have any further questions.

Regards,

Joel D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y OE7

Tel: (4L6) 922-6355 ext. 104

Toll Free: 1.-877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ifriedman@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CCO is committed to providing irrclusive, acconrrnodatirrg, and resl:onsirre services ano ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you reqrrire accomnrodations. Please ensure that all co:rrnunical;ons with CCO ax:
respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert. Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>
Sent: Thursday, October 19,2023 1,0:27 AM
To: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>
Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good morning Joel and thank you for the update. I appreciate your follow-up on this

lf you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.

Kind regards,
Robert

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman cco.on.ca>
Sent: Thursday, October 19,2023 9:56 AM
To: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert.Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson

2



Rose Bustria 1027
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
October 27,2023 5:58 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

QA and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (4'16) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropraciols of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recornnrended health arrd safety gurdelines related

to the COVID-1.9 global pandenric, In-office services ale available by appointment orrlir. pls35s use the entail or phone contact
infornration above or, if 1,og r.Or,r. Lrrgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 4!6-922-6355 ext, 100 ot etnail

reception @ cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is coinrritted to providing irrclusive, acconrrrodatitrg, and responsirre services and ensuring thal individLrals ate tleated
with dignitV and respect. Please contacl. us if you require acconrrrrodal.rons, Please ensure 1.lrat all comtrLrnicat:ons wil.h CCO are

respectful and professiortal.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNIN
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in eror, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Blen kinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert. Blenkinsop@onta rio.ca>

Sent: Thursday, October 26,2023 L0:14 AM
To: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good morning Joel,

I appreciate you gathering and sharing these figures on members of the College who
perform veterinary acupuncture or use forms of energy for treating animals. My
interpretation is that the numbers associated with the category'unknown' reflects that
not all of the 129 members who were sent the survey responded.

I also appreciate you re-iterating the relevant Standards of Practice. My team had
reviewed these in relation to the CCO's letter to the Minister back in May; these are
helpful documents.

1



Thanks again for your follow-up on these questions.
questions arise.

I will reach out if any further

1 028

:

j

=a

E

:l
I

I

Kind regards,
Robert

Robert Blenkinsop, en.o. (he/him)

Manager, Protection and Assurance Policy

Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and RuralAffairs
L Stone Road West, 2 SE

Guelph, ON N1G 4Y2

Tel.: 519.766.5402
Email: robert,blenkinsop@ontario.ca

Please Note: As part of providing accessible customer service, please let me know if you have any
accommodation needs or require communication supports or alternate formats.

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Thursday, October 26,2023 9:20 AM
To: Blenkinsop, Robert (OMAFRA) <Robert.Blenkinsop@ontario.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson
<ipwillson @cco.on.ca>
Cc: Rose Bustria <RBustria@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Question re: chiropractic and acupuncture care to animals

CAUTION -- EXTERNAL E-MAIL' Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender.

Good Morning,

Further to our correspondences below, CCO surveyed chiropractors who provide chiropractic care to
animals with these questions. The following are the results received:

Chiropractors who provide acupuncture to animals:
Yes: 3

No: 52

Unknown: 74

Chiropractors who use forms of emergency in animal treatment:
Yes: 2L

No:34
Unknown: 74

CCO requires all chiropractors who provide chiropractic care to animals to comply with Standard of
Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2023/02lS-
009Jan2023.pdf, which includes completing 200 hours of formal training in animal chiropractic.

Chiropractors must also achieve, maintain and be able to demonstrate clinical competency in any
diagnostic or therapeutic procedure used in practice, in accordance with Standard of Practice 5-001:
Chiropractic Scope of Practice https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2019/06/5-001April302019.pdf

2



ITEM 4.2 Generated Internally

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Discipline Gommittee Report to Council
November 23,2023

1 031

Gommittee
Members:

Dr. Dennis MizeI, Chair
Mr. Robert Chopowick (pending)
Dr. Angelo Santin
Mr. Shawn Southern
Dr. Lezlee DetzIer, non-Council member
Dr. G. Murray Townsend, non-Council member
Dr. Matt Tribe, non-Council member
Mr. Robert Mackay, Council Appointed member

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To adjudicate specified allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence
referred to the committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

To review applications for reinstatement following a discipline hearing.

I
Since the last report to Council, the Discipline Committee has met once (In-Person) on
October 11,2023. Some policy recommendations have been defened to a future meeting

There are no recommendations from the committee at this time.

The Committee agrees with and supports the bylaw amendment referenced in the
Executive Committee bylaw report to remove the reference to the Discipline Committee
in bylaw ll.l2.

Two uncontested hearings have been held since the last Council meeting.
o Dr. Gary Schoutsen - November 2,2023 (Joint submissions accepted by the panel

and arc attached to this report)
o Dr. Samira Ramzy -November 3,2023 (Joint submissions accepted by the panel

and decision is attached to this report).

The recently released decision in the contested hearing with respect to Dr. Brian Moore
matter is attached.

The Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) held its Discipline Orientation on
November 3,2023 (Basic) and November 20,2023 (Advanced). Just a reminder that
according to our bylaws, every member of Council may be called upon to serve on a
discipline panel to ensure the timely adjudication of discipline refenals. If any Council
members are interested in the above training and have not attended the program
previously, please contact Ms Rose Bustria. The training is offered three times per year.

a

a



Discipline Report to Council - November 23,2023 2

1 032I would like to thank the members of the discipline committee for their time and
commitment. Also, appreciation goes to all Council members who have given their time
and expertise to serve on a panel or panels. Thank you to Mr. Robert MacKay, Council
appointed member, for addressing urgent discipline matters in a timely manner. The
Discipline Committee continues to meet its mandate while conducting hearings as

required to ensure compliance with CCO's public interest mandate.

Respectfully Submitted,

Dr. Dennis Mizel,
Chair



ITEM 4.2.1

DISCIPLINE COMMTTTEE OF THE
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

RESOLUTION AGREEMENT

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

I-and- A
EXHIBIT No 

-

DR. GARY SCHOUTSEN EXAMINATIONOF-

VS

1 033

a ,)
'1

DATE

OOLLEGE OF OHIHOPRACTOH$ OF ONTARIO

1

PART 1 . AGREED ETATEMENT OF FACtrs

Baclfqround

Dr. Gary Schoutsen {"Member"} became a member of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontaric ("CCO") in 1995.

At the relevant time, the Member was the owner, and sole chiropractor and

treatment provider at Family Chiropractic in Hamilton, Ontario ("Clinic"). He

acknowledges'h€ was solely responsible for the Clinic's adminisiration and

billing.

ln October zAU, Green Shield Canada ("GSC") received information frorn a

plan member that the Clinic had subnritted numerous claims on his behalf

for lreatment that had not been provided.

As a result of the information, GSC conducted an audit and reviewed all

claims made by the Clinic during the period January 1, 2020 to October 31,

2421 br patients who were covered by a specific employer's extanded

health benefits plan ("Plan") where payment for claims had been made

2

3

jrt



1034
2

5

directly to the Clinic, On February 17, 2A22, G$C complained ta the CCO

that clairns lrad been made by the Clinic either for services that were not

provided or the services claimed were incorrect.

During the course of the investigation into the complaint, the Mennber

indicated that the false billing issue arose because patients needed more

care than they couid affcrd and he v,'anted to help them out. He was of the

view that GSC "nickeled and dimed" claims and he thought it should pay for

the full cost of his chiropractic treatments. He therefore approved a scheme

whereby the Clinic would bill for treatments that were n€ver provided so thai

GSC ultimately paid for ihe full cost of his chiropractic treatments.

Under the Plan. lhere was no insurance coverage for the first 15 chiropractic

treatments and chiropractic treatments thereafter were reirnbursed at

$20.0O/chiropractic treatment The Clinic charged $40.0Olchiropractic

treatment.

ln 2019, the Clinic gained access to the e-submission ef claims to GSC

through the G$C electronic portal and implemenied a scheme. The Clinic

began submitting 15 false claims for Plan members to "kickstart" their

insurance coverage and then tiilled for 2 appointments for every 1

appointrnent attended by the patient so that the entire cost of their treatment

would be covered by insurance. ln some cases, if one family member

maxed out their insurance cCIverage for chiropractic treatment. the Clinic

would bill another family member who still had insr.rrance covetage for their

ch iropractic treatment.

The Clinie received a number of referrals as a result of information about the

schenre spreading to other Plan mernbers.

7

6

=1

I



1 035

I Eventually, the clinic was sr:bmitting false clainrs for 1s of the z0 patients

with GSC coverage through the Plan.

10. The false claims total $6,593.00

11 . The Men-rber has reimbursed GSC $S00.00 for the false claims,

Releuant CGQ Standaris of Practlce-grnd Guidelines

12. CCO Guidelne G-008 Business Praetrces requires that members

charge fees for chiropractic care that reflect and are consistent with
the examinalion and care that is recommended, provided and
documented in the patient health record;

a

charge fees that are fair and reasonable:

only charge for care that is diagnostically or therapoutically
necessary;

provide an account for professional services that is itemized where
the account incl,ldes a fee for a product or device or a service other
than care:

bill third-party payors the same fees as are billed to uninsured
patients for similar serviceg and bill all third-party payors the same
amount, regardless of insurance coverage,

Admrssigng

13. The Member acknowledges that he is ultimately responsible for the false
claims submitted by the Clinic to GSC and for the Clinic accepting payment
from GSC for the false claims.

14. As a result of the facts set out above. the Member admits that he comrnitted
acls of professional misconduct described in the Notice of Hearing dated
March ?8,2023 ("Notice of Hearing"), and in particuiar he;

a

a

a

I



1 036
4

a. contravened a standard of practice of the profession or failed to
maintain the standard of practice expected of members of the
profession- as described in allegation #1:

b. falsifiad a record or records relating to his praclice as described in
allegation #2;

c. signed or issued, in his professional capacity, a document he knew
contained a false ur nrislcadirrg staternent. as described in allegation
#3:

d. submitted an account or charge to GSC for services that he knew
were false or misleading as described in allegation #4; and

e. engaged in conduct or performad an act, that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as
disgraceful. dishonourable and unprofessional. as described in

allegation #5.

'15.The Mernber acknowledges that hs received advice from his counsel,

Joshua Perell, prior to entering into this Resolution Agreement. and

affirms that he is signing this Agreed Statement of Facts freely and

voluntarily.

.,t /d
Date

A

i Nov.1,2023

;' e."r*,.
i Dr. Schoutsen Witness

Witness

* r,u-ud*t'U , kW pr',rr4"s

Date

6^+r-
essWitnPrehearing Chairperson Date



1 037
h

Lxbts\,i 
N;

EXAi\l'N\1

DNE

r0r:liir *""' .!l (,\ DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE OF THE

OI-LEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO,js 4L rlLilr'

COLLt'uc
OF

N
OF 0i\{AFro

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

-and-

DR. GARY SCHOUTSEN

RESOLUTION AGREEMENT

PART 2 - JOINT SUBMISSION ON PENALTY AND ON COSTS

Further to the pre-hearing conference of september zz, Z0Z3 held before Dr.

Frazer Smith, and in view of the Agreed Statement of Facts and the findings of

professionai rnisconduct made by the panel of the Discipline Committee, and the

Undefiaking attached to this Joint Submission as Exhibit "A", the College of

Chiropractors of Onlario ("CCO") and Dr. Gary Schoutsen {"Member"} lointly

request that the panel of lhe Discipline Committee make an Order;

'1. Requiring the Member to appear before the panel to be repnmanded

2. Directing the Registrar and General Counsel {"Registrar")to suspend the

Member's certificate of registration for a period of 12 months ("Suspension"),

with the Suspension tc take effect on December 1. ?A23.

3. Directing the Registrat to impose the following terms, conditions and

lirnitations {"Conditions" ) on the Member's certificate of registration :

a. By September 1. 2024. the Member must:

i. Successfully complele at his own expense the Regulatory



6

Excellence Workshop;

ii. Review and undertake to the Registrar that he will cornply with

all CCO reguletions, standards of practice. guidelines and

policies, including but not limited to 5-002: Record Keeping; G-

008: Business Practices; G-009: Code of Ethics; and the

business practices pcr"tion of the Professional Misconduct

Regulation;

b. Requiring the Member to be peer assessed at his own expense within

three monlhs of returning to practice after the lifting of the Suspension

c. Requiring the Member, at his own expense and at the CCO's

discretion, to have his business practices reviewed no more than four

times by an inspector ("lnspector"i for a period not to exceed two

years after he returns to practice after the $uspension is lifted. The

lnspector must be a peer assessor who is in good standing with the

CCO and be approved of in advance by the Registrar. The lnspector

will review and evaluate the Member's documentation and billing

practices, and provide written reports to the Registrar at a frequency

determined by the Registrar. The Member will co-operate fully with the

lnspector.

4. Directing the Registrar to suspend 3 nronths of the Suspension if the Member

satisfaclorily conrpletes the Conditrons set out in Paragraph 3a. by September

1, ?424.

5. Reguiring that the results of the proceeding be recorded in the public portion

of the Register and published in the Annual Report or other publications at the

discretion of the CCO.

1 038

-
j



1 039

Costs

The CCo and the Member also request that the Panel make ihe following order
regarding costs:

1. Requiring the Member to pay $1s,000.00 to the cco to partialty pay for irs
costs of the investigation and the costs and expenses of the hearing and of
legal counsel, with the Member to pay $7,s00.00 on or prior to December 31,

2023 and the remaining $7,500.00 by June 1, 2024.

Dr- Schoutsen acknowledges that he received advice from his counsel, Joshua
Perelt, prior to entering into this Resolution Agreement. and affirms that he is
signing the Joint submission on Penalty and on costs freely and voluntarily.

{., {***^
Witness

!

I

l

i
I

Date

lp'n^n Llr"rr,Llt ut lO,u","{-'etr -t il
6co Witness

I

IDate

November 1,2023 ilr^rr{y*+r-
Prehearing Chairperson Date Witness



1 040
UNDERTAKING

Exhibit "A"

To: The Registrar and Ganeral Counsel ("Registrar")
of the College of Chiropractors of Onlario ("CCO")

I. Dr. Gary Schoutsen, undertake to ths Registrar and agree to do the following:

1. On cr before Segrternber 1. 2024. I wili

a. review, and undertake in writing to comply with all CCO regulalions,
standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited
ts: CCO Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping; CCO Guideline
G-008: Business Practices, CCO Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics; and
lhe business practices poriion of the Professional Misconduct
Regulation; and

b. provide evidence that I have successfully completed. at my cwn
expense, the CCO's Regulatory Excellence Workshop.

?. Within three months of the lifting of the suspension of my certificate of
registration i"Suspension"), I will be peer assessed at my own expense
and will comply with any remedial requirements required by the peer

agsessor.

3. For a two year period after the lifiing of the Suspension, I will, at my

own €xpense and the CCO's discretion, have my business practices
reviewed and evaluated by an inspector who has been approved in

advance by the CCO Registrar. who will report on my business
practices to the Registrar. I will cooperate fully with the inspector.

4 I wili pay to the CCO a total of $15,000.00 for the parlial payment of its
costs and expenses related to its investigation, hearing anc{ legal costs

and will pay the CCO $7,500"00 on or before December 31, 2023 and

57,500,00 on cr before June 1 ,2A24.

5. I agree not lo appeal or ask for a judicial review of the decislon of the

Discipline Commiltee.

-l
I

,j



2 1041
6. I acknowredge that fairure to abide by any of the terms of thisUndartaking courd resurt in the referrar of specified afiegations ofprofessionar rnisconduct to the Disciprine committee.

7 i acknowiedge that l have been advised by the cco to obtain regaradvice prior to executing this undertaking and have obtained the
advice of my counser,. Joshua pereil. r am executing this undertaking
freely and voruntariry after reading and understanoing-its contents.

Signed tnisll day of October, A0Z3

.. -7
'-f*---/
L,

Dr. Gary Schoulsen Witness Signature



fl
n

il.pL)-tA*L
|TEM 4.2.2

DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE OF THE COLLEGE
OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

I D. Aoil3

1042
PANEL: Mr. Robert MacKay (Chair)

Ms. Zoe Kariunas
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Mr. Shawn Southern
Dr. Matt Tribe

Council Appointed Member
Public Member
Professional Member
Public Member
Professional Member

Appearances:1

Mr, Chris Paliare and
Ms. Karen Jones for the College
of Chiropractors of Ontario

Mr. Robert Barbiero
for Dr, Razmy

BETWEEN:

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS

OF ONTARIO

-and-

DR. SAMIRA RAZMY
(Registration #5540)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Heard: November 3,2023

DECISION AND REASONS

I Also, in attendance at the hearing were: Mr'. Neil Wilson, lndependent Legal Counsel to the panel.
Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and Ceneral Counsel CCO; and Ms. Jennifer Weller, Cour-t Reporter



1 043
DECISION AND REASONS

lntroduction

This was a hearing before a panel of the Discipline Committee (the "Panel") of the

College of Chiropractors of Ontario (the "College") held on November 3, 2023 (the

"Hearing"). The College has a mandate to regulate the practice of the chiropractic

profession and to govern its members and, in so doing, serve and protect the public

interest.

The Hearing was held virtually using video conferencing with the consent of the parties

The Alleqations

The allegations against Dr. Samira Razmy (the "Member") were set out in the Notice of
Hearing, dated April 28, 2023. The Notice of Hearing was entered as Exhibit 1, The

allegations contained in the Notice of Hearing are attached as Appendix ,,A".

Mr. Paliare on behalf of the College stated that discussions with the Member had

resulted in a Resolution Agreement. The College and the Member would therefore be
jointly presenting an Agreed Statement of Facts and, if that were accepted by the panel,

a Joint submission as to Penalty and costs would then be made.

Agreed Statement of Facts

The Agreed Statement of Facts2 which had been signed by the parties was entered as
Exhibit 2. During the course of the submissions that followed, Mr. Paliare reviewed the
Agreed Statement of Facts in its entirety. The Agreed Statement of Facts, Exhibit 2,

provided as follows:

2 The evening before the Hearing, the anticipated exhibits 1,2, and 3 were delivered to the panel
members in the interests of hearing economy, and on consent of the parties.

Page 2 of 16



1044
Background

1. Dr. Samira Razmy ("Member") became a member of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO') in 2008.

2. The Member has no prior history of complaints or discipline at the CCO

3. At the relevant time, the Member was an owner and operator of WellCalm
Health & Wellness, lnc, ("WellCalm") in Toronto. WellCalm is an on-line
booking platform for persons wanting health services such as chiropractic,
physiotherapy and massage to be provided in their homes or other locations.
WellCalm maintains a pool of therapists who are available to provide such
services. ln addition, at the time, devices and equipment (i.e,, bosu balls,
Therabands, TENS units etc.) could be purchased on-line through the Clinic's
website.

4. On February 2, 2022, Sun Life complained to the CCO about claims for
extended health care benefits originating from WellCalm, h 2A21, Sun Life
noted a sharp increase in the number of claims for TENS units by employees
of one of its plan members who were also WellCalm clients ("lnsured").
According to Sun Life, during the period September 2017 - December 2020,
one claim had been made by an lnsured for a TENS Unit. ln 2021, there were
127 claims by lnsureds for TENS units.

5. TENS units were covered by the lnsureds' extended health benefits plan
("Plan") for up to $550.00 every 5 years. Hypervolt massage guns were not
covered by the Plan. Orthotics were covered by the Plan for up to $400 00
annually, Shoes were not covered by the Plan.

6. During the relevant time, the TENS units sold by WellCalm retailed for between
$35.00 and $82.00. WellCalm sold Hypervolt massage guns on its website for
$269.99.

7 . As part of its review of the claims, Sun Life obtained advertisements created by
WellCalm for employees of the plan member which indicated the employees
could:

a. Book an appointment with the Member and receive a WellCalm
Recovery Kit consisting of a TENS unit and a complimentary Hypervolt
massage gun. The value of the package was given as $500.00, the cost
of which could be 't00% reimbursed by Sunlife, usually within 48 hours;
and

Page 3 of 16



l

I

i
-l

I
I
E

1

I-

I

1 045
b. Book an appointment with the Member and receive orthotics and

complimentary shoes, the cost of which could be 100% reimbursed by
SunLife.

8. During its claim review, Sun Life also obtained invoices provided to lnsureds
by WellCalm. lt discovered that WellCalm had typically issued multipte
invoices/receipts for clients who booked appointments with the Member and
received the TENS unit/ Hypervolt massage gun package and/or the
orthoticsishoes package as follows:

a. The first was a receipvinvoice, which the Member referred to as
Transaction Record, and which included a list of all of the items ordered
by the client including items covered by insurance as weil as
complimentary items (i.e. a TENS Unit and a complimentary Hypervolt
massage gun, and/or orthotics and complimentary shoes)and their cost.
A payment form was attached to the receipt/invoice, which was sent to
the client. Once the client paid any outstanding costs, the receipt/invoice
was updated to include information about amount paid, and date and
method of payment;

b. The second was an invoice for the item(s) covered by insurance that
indicated the lnsured had paid $500.00 for a TENS Unit and/or $400.00
for orthotics, indicated the date the device or product was dispensed,
and listed the prescriber. This invoice was the one to be included with
the patient's insurance submission;

c. A third was an invoice that listed the complimentary products and
indicated their price was $0.00.

9 Beginning at the start of the COVID-19 lockdown, the Member provided virtual
one-on-one appointments with WellCalm clients.

10'During some virtual one-on-one sessions, the Member would discuss various
approaches to self-care, including using TENS units. For some clients, the
Member would recommend a plan of care that included a TENS unit, and she
would recommend the clients speak to their doctors to see if the doctor would
prescribe a TENS unit. The Member would provide clients with a summary of
a diagnosis based on the discussion for the doctor to include in the prescripiion
and details regarding how to make a submission to Sun Life for reimbursement
so that clients could raise the issue with their physician. The decision to issue
a prescription for the TENS Unit was up to the physician.

11. During some appointments, the Member would also discuss orthotics with
clients. She would tell patients why they were experiencing pain and she would
recommend the clients speak to their doctors to see if the doctor would
prescribe orthotics. Once there was a prescription from the doctor, the Member
would attend at the client's home to cast the orthotics. Clients could then select

Page 4 of 16



1046
a pair of free shoes from a web site and provide the details of their selection to
the Member, who would order the shoes. wellcalm provided a pair of free
shoes with the purchase of every pair of orthotics, unless the client declined
the offer of free shoes. Typically patients wanted free shoes.

l2.According to the WellCalm advertising material provided during the course of
the CCO investigation, only lnsureds were sent advertising material that
advertised the Hypervolt massage gun with TENS units and indicated 1000/o
coverage with Sun Life.

13.Had the Member testified, she would have said that WellCalm paid for the
complimentary products out of wellcalm's marketing budget. The Member
acknowledges that she has never provided any documentary evidence to
support this claim.

14.During 2021,lnsureds were reimbursed $63,598.32 for 127 TENS units and
$24,500.00 for 61 pairs of orthotics.

15.1n 2021 and 2A22, the Member was dealing with a private health challenge.
However, she was not incapacitated. As a result of the health challenge, in
2021 and 2022 the Member reduced work demands at WellCalm to focus on
her health.

16.The Member's business partner, who is not a chiropractor, focussed on
strategy and sales. Both the Member and her business partner were involved
in the billing and invoicing of business. Had she testified, the Member would
have said that neither she nor her business partner appreciated that the
business practices at issue in this case were in breach of CCO rules and
regulations.

17.The Member acknowledges that as a chiropractor, a regulated health
professional, and owner of WellCalm, she had a duty to ensure that WellCalm's
operations were conducted in accordance with all CCO rules and regulations.

18.The Member also acknowledges that providing products as incentives for
patients to use their insurance coverage may result in excessive and
unnecessary insurance claims. ln addition, as the cost of incentives may be
incorporated into claims submitted to insurers, the insurers may effectivelypay
for the incentives, even though they are not a benefit of the insuiance coverage.
Finally, if incentives are not included in invoices submitted to insurers, insurers
will have no notice that part of the amount of a submitted claim may relate to
the cost of a product that is not covered by insurance.

Page 5 of 16



l

-
:
:

j
I

I
j

11II
I

I
-

1
i

1047
Relevant GCO Standards of Practice and Guidelines

1 L CCO Standard of Practice S-012 Orthotics requires a member to comply with:

a. the business practices provisions in the Professional Misconduct
Regulation under the Chiropractic Act, 1991, including the requirement
to disclose to a patient the fee for a service before the service is
provided, including a fee not payable by the patient, and to itemize an
account; and

b. cco Guideline G-008: Business practices which provides that a
member may not bill any payor fees in excess of his/her normal fee
billed to a private patient for similar services.

ln addition, the cost of the orthotics must reasonably relate to the time and
expertise of, and cost to, the member. A member shall only issue a receipt for
payments that have been received.

20.CCO Standard of Practice S-016: Advertising permits a chiropractor to
advertise fees for chiropractic services under certain circumstances, including:
the advertisement contains accurate, complete and clear disclosure of what is
and what is not included in the fee; there are no hidden fees/costs; the member
does not bill a third-party payor for the complimentary portion of the diagnostic
or treatment service; and the advertisement is presented in a professional
manner that maintains the dignity of the profession.

21. cco Guideline G-008 Business practices requires that members:
a. charge fees for chiropractic care that reflect and are consistent with the

examination and care that is recommended, provided and documented
in the patient health record.

b. charge fees that are fair and reasonable; only charge for care that is
diagnostically or therapeutically necessary; provide an account for
professional services that is itemized where the account includes a fee
for a product or device or a service other than care;

c. bill third-party payors the same fees as are billed to uninsured patients
for similar services and bill all third-party payors the same amount,
regardless of insurance coverage; and

d. have a discussion with a patient of the member's involvement with billing
third-party payors to ensure the patient is fully aware of their own
responsibilities regarding reimbursement from any third-party payor.

Page 6 of 16



1048
Admissions

22.4s a result of the facts set out above, the Member admits that she committed
acts of professional misconduct as described in the Notice of Hearing dated
April 28, 2023 ("Notice of Hearing"), and in particular she:

a. contravened a standard of practice of the profession or failed to maintain
the standard of practice expected of members of the profession, as
described in allegation #1;

b. signed or issued, in her professional capacity, a document she knew
contained a false or misleading statement, as described in allegation #3;
and

c. engaged in conduct or performed an act, that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as
disgraceful, dishonourable and unprofessional, as described in
allegation #4.

23.The CCO withdraws allegation#2 in the Notice of Hearing

24,The Member acknowledges that she received advice from her counsel,
Robert Barbiero, prior to entering into this Resolution Agreement, and affirms
that she is signing this Agreed Statement of Facts freely and voluntarily.

A plea inquiry was conducted by the Panel Chair. At the conclusion of that process, the

Panel was satisfied that the admissions of professional misconduct by the Member were

voluntary, informed, and unequivocal.

Decision

The Panel heard submissions by Mr. Paliare on behalf of the College, and Mr. Barbiero

on behalf of the Member, with respect to the Agreed Statement of Facts. During the

course of those submissions, the parties highlighted the admitted facts and invited the

Panelto make findings against the Member. ln addition, the Panel sought and obtained

advice from its independent legal counsel, who reminded the Panelthat only the Agreed

Statement of Facts could form the basis for their findings at this Hearing.

Page 7 of 16



1049
After deliberation, the Panel accepted the Agreed Statement of Facts and was satisfied

that the admissions of professional misconduct made by the Member were supported by

the agreed-upon facts contained in the Agreed Statement of Facts.

Consequently, we made findings of professional misconduct against Dr. Samira Razmy

in relation to the admitted allegations set out in the Notice of Hearing Exhibit 1 and the

admitted facts. ln particular, the Panel found that the Member has:

i. contravened a standard of practice of the profession or failed to maintain
the standard of practice expected of members of the profession, as
described in allegation #1;

ii. signed or issued, in her professional capacity, a document she knew
contained a false or misleading statement, as described in allegation #3;
and

engaged in conduct or performed an act, that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,
dishonourable and unprofessional, as described in alregation #4.

Withdrawn Allegation

The parties, by way of the Agreed Statement of Facts, had invited the panel to withdraw
allegation 2. As part of deliberations in considering the Agreed Statement of Facts, the

Panel reviewed the withdrawn allegation 2. While being mindful of the admitted facts,
the Panel considered the appropriateness of withdrawing the allegation. The panel

found the withdrawal to be appropriate in the circumstance.

ln reaching its decision, the Panel reminded itself of s. 49 of the Heatth professions

Procedural Code and therefore relied exclusively on the evidence presented at the

hearing as contained in the Agreed Statement of Facts, Exhibit 2. The panel found the

facts contained in it provided a sufficient foundation for the findings of professional

misconduct that we have made.

il

Page B of 16



f c50Penaltv and Costs

Counsel for the College advised the Panel that a Joint Submission on Penalty and on

Costs (the "JSP") had been agreed upon. The JSP was entered as Exhibit 3, it also

contained an Undertaking marked as Exhibit A3 in the JSP, Mr. Paliare and Mr.

Barbiero made submissions in support of the Joint Submission. Defence counsel

identified mitigating factors for the Panel, some of which were, the Member has no prior

history of a complaint, Dr. Razmy has admitted these allegations, and she has saved

the costs of a contested hearing. Mr, Paliare acknowledged there were no aggravating

factors, beyond the facts in the ASF.

The Panel sought and obtained advice from its independent legal counsel concerning

the approach that discipline panels should take when joint submissions are placed

before them.

The Joint Submission invited the Panel to make an order regarding penalty.

1. Requiring the Member to appear before the panel to be reprimanded.

2. Directing the Registrar and General Counsel ("Registrar") to suspend the
Member's certificate of registration for a period of 10 months ("Suspension"),
with the Suspension to take effect on December 1, 2023.

3. Directing the Registrar to impose the following terms, conditions and limitations
("Conditions") on the Member's certificate of registration:

a. By July 1,2024, the Member must:

il

successfully complete at her own expense the Legisration and
Ethics Examination and Regulatory Excellence Workshop; and

Review and undertake to the Registrar that she will compry with
all CCO regulations, standards of practice, guidelines and
policies, including but not limited to 5-002: Record Keeping; S-
013: Consent; G-001: Communication with patients; G-00g:

3 The terms of the Undertaking, which had been signed by Dr. Razmy are attached to this Decision and
Reasons for the Decision as Appendix B.

Page 9 of 16



1 051
Business Practices; G-009: Code of Ethics; and the business
practices portion of the Professional Misconduct Regulation.

b. Requiring the Member to be peer assessed at her own expense within
three months of returning to practice after the lifting of the suspension.

4. Directing the Registrar to suspend 3 months of the Suspension if the Member
satisfactorily completes the Conditions set out in Paragraph 3a, by July 1,2024.

5. Requiring that the results of the proceeding be recorded in the public portion of
the Register and published in the Annual Report or other publications at the
discretion of the CCO.

The College and the Member also requested that the Panel make the following order

regarding costs:

Requiring the Member to pay $15,000.00 to the cco to partially pay for its
costs of the investigation and the costs and expenses of the hearing and
of legal counsel, with the Member to pay $7,500.00 by or prior to
December 31,2023 and the remaining $7,500.00 by June 20,2024.

The Joint Submission as to Penalty, which was signed by Dr. Razmy, also contained

the following:

Dr. Razmy acknowledges that she received advice from her counsel,
Robert Barbiero, prior to entering into this Resolution Agreement, and
affirms that she is signing the Joint submission on penalty and on costs
freely and voluntarily.

Penaltv Decisio n and Reasons

After rising to deliberate, the Panel was of the view that the parties had come to a fair

and equitable resolution, having carefully considered the issues of protection of the
public interest and the fact that this penalty serves as an appropriate specific deterrent

to this Member and general deterrent to members of the profession. Also, the JSP

contains several rehabilitation opportunities for Dr. Razmy,

I
!l

Page 10 of 16



1052The Panel therefore made an order with respect to penalty

1. Requiring the Member to appear before the panel to be reprimanded

2. Directing the Registrar and General Counsel ("Registrar") to suspend the
Member's certificate of registration for a period of 10 months ("Suspension"),
with the Suspension to take effect on December 1, 2023.

3, Directing the Registrar to impose the following terms, conditions and limitations
("Conditions") on the Member's certificate of registration:

a. By July 1,2024, the Member must:

Successfully complete at her own expense the Legislation and
Ethics Examination and Regulatory Excellence Workshop; and

ii. Review and undertake to the Registrar that she will comply with
all CCO regulations, standards of practice, guidelines and
policies, including but not limited to 5-002: Record Keeping; S-
013: Consent; G-001: Communication with Patients; G-008:
Business Practices; G-009: Code of Ethics; and the business
practices porlion of the Professional Misconduct Regulation.

b. Requiring the Member to be peer assessed at her own expense within
three months of returning to practice after the lifting of the Suspension,

4. Directing the Registrar to suspend 3 months of the Suspension if the Member
satisfactorily completes the Conditions set out in Paragraph 3a. by July 1,2024.

5. Requiring that the results of the proceeding be recorded in the public portion of
the Register and published in the Annual Report or other publications at the
discretion of the CCO

And further made an order:

Requiring the Member to pay $15,000.00 to the CCO to partially pay for its costs
of the investigation and the costs and expenses of the hearing and of legal
counsel, with the Member to pay $7,500.00 by or prior to December 31, 2023
and the remaining $7,500.00 by June 30,2024.

Page 11 of 16



Administratio of Reorimand 1 053
It was noted on the record that the Joint Submission on Penalty contained an

Undertaking4 that expressly waived the right of the Member to appeal or ask for judicial

review of any decision by the Discipline Committee in relation to the Notice of Hearing

dated April 28, 2023, Exhibit 1. Further, the Panel confirmed that the Member was

prepared for the oral reprimand to be administered immediately following the Hearing.

Consistent with the Hearing occurring via videoconference, the Panel administered the

oral reprimand in the same manner at the conclusion of the Hearing.

l, Robert MacKay, sign this decision and reasons for the decision as Chair of this

Discipline Panel and on behalf of the members of the Discipline Panel listed below

Mr. Robert MacKay, Chair Date: November 11,2023

Panel Members:

Mr. Robert MacKay
Ms. Zoe Kariunas
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Mr. Shawn Southern
Dr. Matt Tribe

I
!

a Exhibit 3, the Undertaking item 4.

Page 12ol 16



1054
Appendix "A"

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by subsection
51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O.
1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(2) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during
2021 and 2022, while owning and/or working as a chiropractor at WellCalm Health and
Wellness lnc. in Toronto, Ontario, on one or more occasions, you contravened a standard
of practice of the profession or failed to maintain the standard of practice expected of
members of the profession with respect to your:

a. charging fees that were not fair and reasonable for custom orthotics andior
TENS machines;

b. offering incentives to encourage patients to purchase custom orthotics
and/or TENS machines;

c. billing patients depending on their insurer and/or insurance coverage;
and/or

d. failing to provide accurate itemized invoices that included complimentary
products.

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by subsection
51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O.
1991, e.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(20) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that
during 2021 and 2022, while owning and/or working as a chiropractor at WellCalm Health
and Wellness lnc. in Toronto, Ontario, on one or more occasions, you falsified a record
or records relating to your practice with respect to invoices to be submitted to Sun Life
Assurance Company of Canada ("Sun Life").

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by subsection
51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O.
1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(22) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that
during 2021 and 2022, while owning and/or working as a chiropractor at WellCalm Health
and Wellness lnc. in Toronto, Ontario, on one or more occasions, you signed or issued,
in your professional capacity, a document or documents that you knew contained a false
or misleading statement.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by subsection
51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropnctic Act, 1991, S.O.
1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(33) ol Ontario Regulation 85A93, in that
during 2021 and 2022, while owning and/or working as a chiropractor at WellCalm Health
and Wellness lnc. in Toronto, Ontario, on one or more occasions, you engaged in conduct
or performed an act, that, having regard to all the circumstances, would reasonably be
regarded by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional with respect to
your:

Page 13 of 16



I
t

i

i

I
I

i

I

1 055
a. charging fees that were not fair and reasonable for custom orthotics and/or

TENS machines;
b. offering incentives to encourage patients to purchase custom orthotics

and/or TENS machines;
c. offering goods and services and/or billing patients depending on their

insurer andlor insurance coverage; and/or
d. failing to provide accurate itemized accounts that included complimentary

products.

Page 14 of 16



Appendix "B"

To: The Registrar and General Counsel ("Registrar")
of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO'')

1 056

l, Dr. Samira Razmy, undertake to the Registrar and agree to do the following

1. On or before July 1 ,2024,1will

a. review, and undeftake in writing to comply with, all CCO regulations,
standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited to:
review, and undertake in writing to comply with, all CCO regulations,
standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited to the
business practices portion of the Misconduct Regulation; CCO Standard of
Practice 5-002: Record Keeping; CCO Standard of Practice S-012 Orthotics;
CCO Standard of Practice S-016 Advertising; CCO Guideline G-008:
Business Practices; and CCO Guideline G-0'16: Advertising;

b. provide evidence that I have successfully completed, at my own expense,
the CCO's Legislation and Ethics Examination and the Regulatory Excellence
Workshop.

2. Within three months of the lifting of the suspension of my certificate of
registration, I will be peer assessed at my own expense and will comply with
any remedial requirements required by the peer assessor.

3. I will pay to the CCO a total of $'15,000.00 for the partial payment of its costs
and expenses related to its investigation, hearing and legal costs and will pay
the cco $7,500.00 on or before December 31, 2a23 and g7,s00.00 on or
before July 1 ,2024.

4. I agree not to appeal or ask for a judicial review of the decision of the Discipline
Committee.

5. I acknowledge that failure to abide by any of the terms of this Undertaking could
result in the referral of specified allegations of professional misconduct to the
Discipline Committee.

6. I acknowledge that I have been advised by the CCO to obtain legal advice prior
to executing this Undertaking and have obtained the advice of my counsel,

Page 15 of 16



1 057
Robert Barbiero. I am executing this Undertaking freely and voluntarily after
reading and understanding its contents.

Page 16 of 16



nITEM 4.2.3

DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE OF THE COLLEGE
OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

D{ a afli
1 058

PANEL

BETWEEN:

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS
OF ONTARIO

-and-

DR. BRIAN MOORE
(Registration #1542)

Mr, Robert MacKay (Chair)
Dr. Kyle Grice
Mr. Shawn Souihern
Mr. Scott Stewart
Dr. Murray Townsend

Public Member
Professional Member
Public Member
Public Member
Professional Member

Appearances:

Ms. Megan Shortreed and
Ms. Karen Jones for the College
of Chiropractors of Ontario

Mr. Antoine D'Ailly and
Mr. James Kitchen for
Dr. Moore

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Heard over 28 days from
December 12, 2022 to
August 21,2023.1

Also present at the hearing were

Mr. Colin Stevenson2 - lndependent Legal Counsel to the Panel.

Ms. Jo-Ann Willson3 - Registrar and General Counsel CCO.

Ms. Crystal Murray, Ms. Shari Corkum, and Ms. Sandrine Marineau-Lupien -
Court Reporters.

Mr. Alex Werden and Mr. David Gordon - Video hearing administrators.

I December 12.13,14,15, 16, 19, 20,2022 & January 25,26, February 7, 13, March 1.2,9,21, April ll,
12, 17, l8,May 24.29, June 2. August 14. l-s, 16, 17, 18, and 21,2023.
2 Mr. Daniel McConville and Mr. Neil Wilson for part.
I Mr. Joel Freidman and Ms. Madeline Cheng for part.

Page I of62



l

1

-
l
l

l
i

c
cg

I
I

:1
I.
I
I

I

1 059
DECISION AND REASONS

INTRODUCTION

This was a hearing into allegations of professional misconduct against Dr. Brian

Moore (the "Hearing") which took place before a panel of the Discipline

Committee (the "Panel") of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario (the "College")

over 28 days December 12, 13, 14, 15,16, 19, 20,2022, January 25,26,

February 7,13, March 1,2,9,21, April 11,12, 17,18,May 24,29, June 2,

August 14, 15, 16, 17,18, and 21,2023. The College has a mandate to regulate

the practice of the chiropractic profession and to govern its members and, in so

doing, serve and protect the public interest.

THE ALLEGATIONS

The allegations against Dr. Brian Moore ("Dr. Moore" or the "Member"), were

stated in the Notice of Hearing, dated June 1 ,2021which was filed as Exhibit 1

and set out the allegations against Dr. Moore as follows:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(2) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 * February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while practicing
as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
you contravened a standard of practice of the profession or failed to
maintain the standard of practice expected of members of the
profession with respect to your assessment and/or treatment andlor
documentation andlor billing regarding a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(10) ol Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21 ,2A20, on one or more occasions, while practicing

Page 2 of 62



1 060
as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,

you gave information about a patient known as "Patient A." to a

b"rton other than the patient, her authorized representative, or your

iegal counsel or insurer, without the consent of the patient or her

authorized representative or as required or allowed by law.

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the

Chiropractic Act,1991, S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph

1(1 1) of Ontaria Regulation 85a93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario, you

breached an agreement with a patient known as "Patient A." relating
to professional services for the patient or fees for such Services.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the

Chiropractic Act, 1991, S,O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph
1(19) of Ontario Regulation 85a93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
you failed to keep records as required by the regulations regarding a
patient known as "Patient A."

5. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph

1(21) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
you failed, without reasonable cause, to provide a report or ceftificate
relating to an examination or treatment you performed for a patient
known as "Patient A." within a reasonable time after the patient
requested such report or certificate.

6. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph

1(22) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
you Signed or issued, in your professional capacity, a document that
you knew contained a false or misleading statement.

7. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the

Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph

Page 3 of62



1 061
1(23) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August

2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
you submitted an account or charge for services that you knew was
false or misleading regarding a patient known as "Patient A."

8. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act,1991, S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph
1(24) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,202A, on one or more occasions, while practicing
as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
you failed to disclose to a patient known as "Patient A." the fee for a
service before the service was provided, including a fee not payable
by the patient.

9. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph
1(25) of Ontario Regulation 85A93, in that on one or more occasions
during the period August 2019 - February 21,2CI20, while practicing
as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
with respect to a patient known as "Patient A." you charged a block
fee when:

a. the patient was not given the option of paying for each service as it
was provided; and/or

ii. no unit cost per service was specified; and/or

iii you did not agree to refund to the patient the unspent portion of the
block fee, calculated by reference to the number of services provided
multiplied by the unit cost per service.

10. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph
1(26) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2A19 - February 21,2020, while practicing as a chiropractor at the
Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario, with respect to a patient
known as "Patient A.", you failed to itemize an account for
professional services when requested to do so by the patient and/or
the account included a fee for a product or device or a service other
than a treatment.

1 'l . You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the

Page 4 of 62



1 062chiropnctic Act,199'1 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph

i(gg)'ot ontario Regulation 852J93,inthat on one or more occasions

olii'ig the period AJgust 2019 - February 21,2020, while practicing

as a ihiropractor at tfre Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario'

with respect to a patient known as "Patient A'", you engaged in

conduct or performed an act, that, having regard to all the

circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as

disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional with respect to your

rrJ"stment and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or billing.

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATIONS

The Hearing proceeded on the basis that the Member was denying all the

allegations contained in the Notice of Hearing, Exhibit 1.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS

The Hearing had been scheduled for 7 days commencing on September 15,

2022. On September 12,20?2the recently appointed, new counsel of Dr' Moore

sought an adjournment which was granted until December 12,2022.

ln the wake of the adjournment the Member brought a motion to recuse Mr.

MacKay from being on the panelwhich would be hearing this matter on the

merits (the "Recusal Motion") and indeed for someone other than Mr. MacKay to

hear the Recusal Motion itself. On October 18,2022 after hearing arguments

from the parlies and receiving advice from lndependent Legal Counsel (lLC) Mr.

MacKay decided he could hear the recusal motion.

On November 4, 2022lhe Recusal Motion was argued and the decision refusing

the recusal request was released on November 15,2022-

Page 5 of62



1 063Dr, Moore unsuccessfully challenged this decision at the Divisional Court on

November 9,2022.

On December 2, 2A22 the Member served notice of a motion for a further

adjournment of this hearing, but he abandoned that motion on December 8,

2022.

At the outset of the Hearing on the merits on December 12,2022 Mr. D'Ailly

stated that Dr. Moore was proceeding under protest although he then sought to

exclude Mr. MacKay from the Panel for the reasons argued and rejected on

November 15,2A22. The full Panel heard arguments from both parties on this

oral motion and received advice from its lLC. The Panel found the motion of the

Member was essentially the same Recusal Motion heard on November 4, 2022,

decision released November 15, 2022. The Panel saw no reason to reconsider a

decided matter. The motion of Dr. Moore to exclude Mr. MacKay as a member of

the Panel was dismissed.

The College also sought an order excluding witnesses, except for Dr. Moore and

expert witnesses, from the Hearing. The Member did not object to this request.

The Panel made that order.

The College then sought an order pursuant to section 45(3) of the Regulated

Health Professions Acf, Schedule 2, Procedural Code (the RHPA Code)

prohibiting publication of the name and any information that could disclose the

Page 6 of 6?



identity of the patient who made the compraint in this matter. After ctarifying for 1064

Mr. Kitchen that the order was aimed at prohibiting publication of personal patient

details, counsel for the Member had no further objections. The Panel made the

order

OVERVIEW

Although the allegations of professional misconduct relate only to one patient of

Dr. Moore, Patient A, it is important to appreciate that Dr. Moore dealt throughout

with the husband of Patient A as well as Patient A. The husband of Patient A

testified in this hearing, rather than Patient A herself. The husband of Patient A

also received some chiropractic care from Dr. Moore in the same timeframe that

Patient A was receiving chiropractic care.

Patient A and her husband first attended together at the office of Dr. Moore on

August 26,2019. Patient A came to Dr. Moore with a complex health history and

presentation. Dr. Moore recommended that Patient A should receive both

decompression sessions, a form of traction known as Vax-D, and chiropractic

care. On August 27,2019 Patient A entered into a billing arrangement4 with Dr.

Moore and at the request of Dr. Moore pre-paid a $7 ,720.00 block fee for her

care

I Exhibit 8, Corrective Care Decompression Plan.

PageT of62



when patient A was unabte to have the proposed decompression care for 1 065

reasons which are set out below, she received chiropractic care that did not

include decompression sessions. On September 12, 2019 in-person care

stopped. However, the doctor - patient relationship did not end. lnteractions with

Patient A continued primarily through text and phone calls between the husband

of Patient A and Dr. Moore.

The principal issues at the Hearing involve consideration of the assessment and

treatment of Patient A by the Member, informed consent, documentation, fees

charged, the timely production of accounts, billing, delays in providing a refund,

communications with a third party, Chase Bank, and a request for a "written

Summarys".

Patient A filed a complainto to the College dated December 19,2019. The

complaint was stamped received by the College on January 8,2020.

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

The Panel heard testimony from seven witnesses. Three were called by the

College: The husband of Patient A, College employee Ms. Tina Perryman, and

an expert, Dr. Brian Dower. The Member led evidence from four witnesses: Ms

5 Exhibit 12. tab 7, page 87
6 Exhibit 2.

J
!':
I

Page 8 of62



Helene Van Bommel, the Member Dr, Brian Moore, the investigator Dr Gauri

Shankar, and an expert, Dr' lgor SteimanT'

74 documents and four audio files were entered into evidence and filed as

Exhibits at the Hearing. The Panet considered carefully the evidence of all

witnesses and reviewed and considered allthe documents entered into evidence'

The following Exhibits were particularly usefulto the Panel:

Exhibit 1 The Notice of Hearing which provided the Panelwith the allegations

and thus provided guidance on where to focus its attention when considering

the evidence.

Exhibit 2 The complaint letter from Patient A to the College about her

experience with the Member.

Exhibits 6,7,10, and 19 Audio recordings from August 26 and 27 , and

December 12,2019. The audio assisted the Panel in understanding how

Patient A and Dr. Moore interreacted and what was said leading up to

consent and a later discussion about fees.

Exhibit 8 The Corrective Care Decompression Plan which shows the billing

arrangement, its terms, costs, and date entered into.

Exhibit 11 A statement of account for Patient A, for the period August 26 to

September 9, 2019. The husband of Patient A testified that the handwriting on

the account was his. This reveals that Patient A had the account. Also, there

7 The Mernber also offered Dr. Marshall Deltoff to give opinion evidence, howevet', the Panel did not

certifu hirn as an expert in the matters at issue in this Hearing.

1 066

Page 9 of62



1

j

are charges for the initial exam, x-rays, the report of findings and chiropractic

adjustments. lt is worth noting there are no additionalfees on this account.

Exhibit 12 Text messages exchanged between the Member and the husband

of Patient A, which deal primarily with Patient A.

Exhibit 13 The intake forms in respect to the husband of Patient A (who also

received chiropractic treatment in the same timeframe), which contains the

document "Our Financial Policies", with a Fee Schedule. This is not found in

the file of Patient A, although it was relied on by the Member as part of his

defence.

Exhibit 18 Account statement of Patient A for the period from August 26,

2019 through December 5, 2019. Dr. Moore and the husband of Patient A are

in agreement this was received by the latter on December 6, 2019.lt reveals

what charges they all were aware of at that time.

Exhibit 19 An audio recording of conversation between the husband of

Patient A and Dr. Moore on December 12,2019.

Exhibit 21 A bundle of documents including account statements and intake

forms, left for the husband of Patient A outside the offices of Dr. Moore.

Exhibit 22 Letter from Patient A and her husband to Dr, Moore dated

December 19, 2019.

Exhibit 31 The patient record of Patient A. lt includes the Corrective Care

Decompression Plan, consent forms, and versions 2 and 3 (as they were

referred to at the Hearing) of the patient charts and accounts.

Exhibit 34 Letter to Chase bank from Dr. Moore, with enclosures about his

care and billing of Patient A.

Page 10 of62

1 067



Exhibit40standardofPractice5002:RecordKeeping.

Exhibit 42 Guideline G-008: Business Practices'

Exhibit 43 Standard of Practice S-013: Consent'

Exhibit 45 Guideline G-013: Chiropractic Assessments.

Exhibit 49 A colour copy of the record of Patient A obtained by the

investigator. This contains all three versions of the assessment, treatment

and SOAP notes, in respect of Patient A'

Exhibit 50 The complete letter of response from Dr. Moore to the College's

lnquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee ("ICRC") with enclosures

including versions 2 and 3 from the file of Patient A and the text messages

between Dr. Moore and the husband of Patient A'

Exhibit 54 Summary of Evidence of Dr' Dower'

Exhibit 78 Summary of Evidence of Dr. Steiman'

Onus and Standard of Proof

The College bears the onus of proving the allegations. As for the standard of

proof, we have applied the test set out in F.H. v. McDougal/8 where the Supreme

Court of Canada has made it clear that there is only one standard of proof in civil

cases at common law (which includes matters such as this discipline Hearing),

and that is proof on the balance of probabilities, which can be expressed as

whether it is more likely than not that the factual events underlying the allegations

occurred. The evidence must be sufficiently clear, cogent and convincing to

satisfy this test.

1 068

I 2008 scc 53

Pagellof62



CREDIBILITY OF WITNESSES 1069
The panel assessed the credibility of witnesses by reference to the principles set

out in the Divisional Court's decision in Re; Pitts and Director of Family Benefits

Branch (1985), 51 O.R. (2d) 302. ln that case, the court suggested that

members of administrative tribunals, which includes Discipline Panels, should

consider the same criteria as jurors do when called upon to assess credibility.

The Court referred to the standard jury instruction on credibility. Consequently,

in assessing credibility, the Panel considered the following:

1. Did the witness seem honest? ls there any reason why the witness

would not be telling the truth, when it was important to tell the truth?

2. Does the witness have an interest in the outcome of this case?

Does the witness exhibit any partisanship, any undue leanings

towards the side which called him or her as a witness?

3. The appearance and demeanour of the witness and the manner in

which he or she testified. Did the witness appear and conduct

himself or herself in an honest and trustworthy manner? lt may be

that he or she was neryous or confused in circumstances in which

he or she found himself or herself while testifying. ls he a man or is

she a woman who has a poor or faulty memory, and may that have

some effect on his or her demeanour while testifying, or on the

other hand, did he or she appear to us to be a witness who is shifty,

evasive and unreliable?

4. Was the witness able to make accurate and complete observations

about the issues that he or she testified? What opportunities or

observations did he or she in fact have? What are his or her

powers of perception? Some people are very observant, and

others are not very observant.

Page 12of62



1 070
5. Does the witness's testimony make sound common-sense? Was it

reasonable? Was it probable? Does the witness show a tendency

to exaggerate in his or her testimony?

6. Did the witness have a good memory of the things about which he

or she testified?

7. Was the witness's testimony reasonable and consistent with

evidence that was provided on an earlier occasion?

8. Was the witness reporting on what they saw or heard or did they

formulate evidence based on information received from other

sources?

The panel also considered guidance from recent Court of Appeal casese which

noted that demeanour should not be relied upon alone when assessing credibility

but can be considered along with other factorslo. The Panel weighed these

considerations carefully when it considered the credibility and reliability of the

witnesses.

ln order of appearance:

Colleqe Witnesses

The husband of Patient A

The husband of Patient A gave evidence over three days, December 12, 13, and

14,2022.

The evidence of the husband of Patient A was consistent over time and in

different formats such as texts, recordirrgs, and his testimony.

e R. t,. Rhq,el,20l5 ONCA 377 (CanLIl), <https;,'icanlii.cait;gi-s5b>, at para. 89.
10 Law Soiietl,oJ'Ltpper Canaclut,. Neinstein,20l0 ONCA 193 (Canlll), <ltttps;ricarrlii.calti2Sllv>, at

para. 66.

Page13of62



For exampre, we considered the evidence of the husband of Patient A on 1 071

whether Dr. Moore had disclosed fees he later attempted to charge Patient A for

text messages and Phone calls:

. ln the audio recording of December 12,201911 at time stamp 2:05 the

husband of Patient A told Dr. Moore "you never once said you were going

to bill us for your kindness". This was a reference to the extra billing and

was not challenged by Dr' Moore on the audio recording'

. ln the letter from the Patients A and her husband to Dr. Moorel2 dated

December 19,2022 Page 1, item 6, "You never once mentioned your

behind the scenes billing". Again, this was a reference to the extra billing'

. ln the letter of complaintl3 to the College dated December 19, 2019

received January 8,202A. Page 1, paragraph 1. "We asked if there were

any other fees and he [Dr, Moore] assured us there were none."

. ln the oral evidence in-chief of the husband of Patient A:

1A7127, (Pages 117'.25 to 118:6)14
117

25 O. And did he at anY time tell You
118

1 that corresponding by text would result in an
2 additionalfee to you?
3 A. No, never. He was very keen to
4 help, very accommodating, very kind, very considerate.
5 Always said I understand, and we're going to fix you
6 up. Yeah.

Although the evidence of the husband of Patient A was consistent (that these

fees were not disclosed) his position (in the tapes, correspondence and indeed

his testimony)was often stated in an emotional and sometimes angry tone. The

Panel found this is an expected reaction to learning of the extra, undisclosed fees

after the services had been rendered.

'r Exhibit l9
rr Exhibit 22.
r3 Exhibit 2.
ra Transcript December 12,2022

Page l4of62



We atso note that the husband of Patient A was consistent in his dealing and his 1072
testimony concerning a "written summary" he had requested Dr' Moore to

provide.

o The husband of Patient A first requested a "written summary" in the text

messagesl5 on page 87, dated September 28,2019'

o He asked for a summary, not a report, in the Audio December 12,2019

Exhibit 19 at timestamP 3:06.

o ln the letter from Patients A and her husband to Dr' Moorel6 dated

December 19,2022 Page 1, item 5, the requested document is referred to

as "a brief sYnoPsis".

o ln the letter of complaintlT to tlre College dated December 19 at Page 2,

3'd full paragraph he says he had requested, in person on October 16,

2019 a "brief summary".

o The husband of Patient A also testified at the Hearing to similar effect.

fi7127, (Pages 205'.24 to 206:10)18
245

O. And the question I asked You
before the break was your written texts asks Dr. Moore

206
for a written summary of what you've been saying so
that you can take it to a doctor.

A. Mm-hmm.
0. Did you have a discussion with

Dr. Moore about what that written summary would look

like, would contain, anything about that?
A. I do recall talking about to him

about it and saying that the way he said it made the
most sense, and could ljust have that in a couple of
sentences.

rs Exhibit 12.
r6 Exhibir 22

'? Exhibit 2
r8 Transcript December 12,2022.

24
25

1

2
3
4
5
6
7
I
I
10

Page 15 of62



Thus, we saw a consistent position taken by the husband of Patient A on beha,t 1 073
of his wife in different formats, and over time

ln general, when we combine the husband of Patient A's consistency with his

ample opportunity to observe what he was testifying to, that what he was saying

makes sense, is reasonable and probable, accordingly we found the husband of

Patient A to be credible and we rely on his evidence in respect to the matters to

be decided.

Ms. Tina Perryman

Ms. Perryman is the manager of lnquiries, Complaints, and Reports at the

College. She gave her testimony on December 14,2022. The evidence of Ms.

Perryman was clear, and consistent with that of other witnesses and with the

relevant documents. During her evidence, Ms. Perryman explained the process

of the College for handling complaints and her involvement in the Dr. Moore

matter. Exhibits 31 through 44 were entered during her testimony. This witness

assisted the Panel in establishing the content and timing of the communications

and requests made by the College to Dr. Moore. The Panel found her evidence

to be truthful throughout. The evidence of Ms. Perryman in chief was

substantially uncontradicted during cross examination. The Panel found her

credible and relied on her testimony.

Page l6of62



Dr. Brian Dower

Dr. Dower gave evidence over four days, December 15, 16, 19, and 20,2022' He

is a chiropractor who was put forward by the college as an expert witness to give

opinion evidence on the standards of practice and guidelines as they relate to

assessment, treatment, documentation, consent, billing, ethics as they relate to

the guidelines and standards, not in a broader context, and whether or not the

Member met those standards and guidelines in this case. The curriculum vitae of

Dr. Dower, which was entered as Exhibit 46, indicates that he was in private

practice for 18 years, has been a ccEBle examiner since 2004, and a Peer and

practice Assessor, Mentor, and an occasional Chiropractic expert at the College

of Chiropractors of Ontario since 2016.

Dr. Dower was honest and forthright about any limitations to his knowledge. For

example, in cross examination at the qualification motion, he freely admitted to

not knowing the details of decompression therapy2o.

The Member objected to the qualification of Dr. Dower as an expert in two

respects. First, it was argued that including Ethics in the scope of his expertise

was too broad and because ethics was not expressly referenced in the witness'

CV or oral evidence on the qualification motion. The second was difficult to

understand and was described by Mr Kitchen as:

re Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
20 Transcript December 15,2022. Page 50, line 24 thlough page 5l line l7

107 4

Page l7 of62



107130, (Page 64:10 to 64:13)21
64

10 One is a very
11 limited one on assessment and treatment, except as it

12 involves disc decompression therapy and patients that

13 may benefit from that theraPY.

The Panel agreed with defence counsel on the first point that ethics could be

limited to the guidelines and standards. However, the Panel did not limit the

scope of expertise of Dr. Dower on disc decompression as Dr. Dower was not

giving opinion evidence on how disc decompression works. He was testifying in

his area of expertise on matters related to Patient A being asked to consent to

that treatment, how she was billed for that treatment, and how this forms a part of

her patient record.

Having heard from the parties, sought and received advice from lLC, the Panel

qualified Dr. Dower as an expert to give opinion evidence on the standards of

practice and guidelines as they relate to assessment, treatment, documentation,

consent, billing, ethics as they relate to the guidelines and standards, not in a

broader context, and whether or not the Member met those standards and

guidelines in this case.

Having heard the opinion evidence of Dr. Dower the Panel found him credible

and we rely on his evidence in establishing the minimum requirements of the

standards of practice of the profession. The Panel did, however, find that at

1075

rr Transcript December 15.2022

Page lB of62



1076
times, which we identify below, Dr. Dower would have imposed stricter

adherence to these standards than might always be practical in all

circumstances. For example, in his summary of Evidence22 and in his testimony

concerning what Dr. Moore needed to do by way of patient assessment, Dr'

Dower said the assessment should have included "extensive conversations" and

ought to have done "extensive and thorough" examinations. ln his testimony Dr

Dower suggested that all possible assessments should have been done' The

panel found that a member need only do enough to have sufficient evidence to

support the "care / plan of care" as required by the chiropractic Assessment

Guideline23.

Defence Witnesses

Ms. Helene Van Bommel

Ms. Van Bommel testified on Decenrber 20, 2022. She is a patient of Dr. Moore

and has been since 1991. On one occasion she was in the office of the Member

when Patient A and her husband were also present. Ms. Van Bommel was in a

position to observe what she testified to, appeared honest, her evidence made

common sense and was aligned with the oral evidence of otlrers. While we

accept that she was credible, she had little to offer by way of relevant evidence.

However, she did corroborate the evidence of Dr. Moore and the husband of

patient A about the amount of pain Patient A was in while under the care of the

Member and the caring attitude of Dr. Moore.

12 Exhibit 54
23 G-013, Exhibit 45

Page l9of62



Dr. Brian Moore

Dr. Moore testified over nine days2a. Dr. Moore genuinely appeared to care
1077

about, and showed compassion for Patient A. The Member freely admitted that

he was responsible for the billing practices and patient records in his clinic'

When faced with questions about the issues in the Notice of Hearing, Dr. Moore

was often evasive. Furthermore, what he said in his own contemporaneous

documents was often contrary to what he said in his testimony.

One example can be seen in Exhibit 31, page 33 where the signature of Patient

A to Consent to Examination is dated August 27 ,2A19 although everyone agrees

the first examination occurred on August 26,2019. ln examination in-chief Dr.

Moore tried to explain how he could have conducted an examination without a

signed consent: "l did have a verbal consent to examine her and X-ray her that

day2s". He did admit26 that the signature is dated August 27,2019. ln cross

examination Dr. Moore argued with couttsel and appeared to be making up his

explanation as he spoke, saying that the consent form could have been signed

on the 26th or 27th, despite the Conserrt to Examination being dated August 27,

2019.

2a December 20.2022, January 25, and 26. March I , 2. 9, and 2 I . and April I l, and 12' 2423
25 Transcript January 25.2023.page \74 Lines l6-17.
26 Transcript January 25,2019, page 172 line 20 to page 174 line 21.

J
i

:i
1

Page 20 of 62



Another example arose when Dr. Moore was questioned in cross-examination2T

about his billing agreement with Patient A. Dr. Moore gave answers that were

nonresponsive, evasive, did not make common Sense' Changed OVer time, and

which were inconsistent with the document, "Corrective Care Decompression

Plan". Exhibit 8

ln general terms the testimony of Dr. Moore was often inconsistent with the

contemporaneous documents and when it conflicted with the evidence of other

witnesses such as the husband of Patierrt A, we preferred the latter's evidence

which we found reliable. The evidence of Dr. Moore was too often argunrentative

and did not make good common sense, what he was saying was not reasonable

or probable and his answers were, at times, inconsistent with what he had said in

emails or texts at the time of the events in dispute'

Dr. Gauri Shankar

Dr. Shankar is the ICRC investigator in this matter. He was called as a witness

by Dr. Moore and gave evidence on May 29,2023. Dr. Shankarwas asked

primarily about his process in conducting investigations in general, and some

specific questions in respect to this matter. His answers were clear and

consistent with other witnesses and the Exhibits. The Panel found him to be a

credible witness. However, his evidence has little relevance as he did not witness

any of the central issues in this case. Dr. Shankar primarily spoke to the means

27 Transcript March 2l ,2023, pages 235 through 247

Page 2.1 of 62

1078



by which documents were obtained. Dr. Shankar did interact with Patient A and

her husband in 2020 and he confirmed what other witnesses had already said,

namely, "they were genuinely upset. They felt that they were at a point where

they needed to get help with their complaint, meaning going to the CCO"'28 His

evidence is also somewhat helpful to understand some of the terminology used

by patient A and her husband in their communications to Dr. Moore and the

College.

Dr. lgor Steiman

Dr. Steiman gave evidence over 5 days, August 14 through 18. He is a

chiropractor called by Dr. Moore as an expert witness to give opinion evidence in

this matter, substantially in response to the expert evidence of Dr. Dower, The

curriculum vitae of Dr, Steiman, which was entered as Exhibit 76, shows he has

been a professor at CMCC29 since 1996. The research and other professional

activities point to his ongoing involvement in clinical science matters. Dr. Steiman

supervises interns seeing patients and sees patients himself, which includes

chiropractic manipulations, taking a history, assessments and documenting the

record.

28 Transcript. May 29,2023 Page 78, lines l8 through 20
2e Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College

1 079

Page72 of 62



Throughout voir dire, including cross-examination, Dr. Steinman appeared

honest and foilhcoming. He did not seem to have an interest in the outcome of

this Hearing.

The college did not object to Dr, Steiman being qualified as a expert in respect of

the matters requested by the Member.

After hearing from the parties and receiving advice from lLC, the Panel qualified

Dr. lgor Steiman as an expert in the assessment, treatment, documentation,

scope of practice, consent, and ethics as it relates to the standards of practice,

and whether or not the Member met those standards in this case.

The Panelfound Dr. Steiman to be credible and honest. He demonstrated

integrity and indeed he stuck with his beliefs even when on occasion it was at

odds with a Standard of Practice. For example, during examination in chief30

when asked if having the consent to examination signed the day after the

examination and diagnostic imaging negates consent, Dr. Steiman said: "l don't

think so". This despite the consent standard3l saying the elements of consent

include, being obtained "prior to any physical examination or diagnostic testing"

and be "evidenced in a written form signed by the patient or othenryise

documented in the patient health record". Neither element was evident in any of

the records of the Patient.

30 August 15,2023. Page 136 lines 9 through 20.
3r Exhibit 43. Standard of Practice S-013: Consent

1 080

Page23 of 62



1 081The panelfound Dr. Steman to be honest, we rely on his opinion in most areas.

However, we rely less on the opinion evidence of Dr. Steiman where that opinion

is inconsistent or at odds with the standards of practice'

CLOSING SUBMISSIONS

On the final day of the Hearing, August 21,2023 the Panel invited and heard

closing submissions from counsel for the College and counsel for the Member,

who were given equal time. The Panel also heard the advice of ILC and the

parties'comments on that advice. The Panel accepted and relied on the advice

of Mr. Stevenson, lLC.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Panel made the following findings of fact which it relied upon to come to its

conclusions:

The 3 Record s of Assessment Treatment and Prooress

The Panel received into evidence three sets of patient records for Patient A.

They were referred to at the Hearing as version 1 (Dr. Moore says32 this is the

version he filled out while in the session with Patient A), version 2 (Dr. Moore

says33 this is the version he filled out shortly aftenryards, in the evening), and

version 3 (Dr. Moore agrees with counsel34 that he completed these notes right

12 Transo'ipt March 2l .2023. Page 83 line 20 through page 84 line 5.
ii Transcript March 2 I ,2023 . Page 84 line 6 through page 85 line I '
ra Transcript March 2l .2023. Page 85 line 24 through page 86' line l8

Page 24 of 62



1082away or between clients or at the end of his shift)' The versions 1 and 2 are

commonly referred to as travel cards, and the three pages of version 3 are

referred to as Subjective, Objective, Assessment, and Plan "SOAP" notes' or

progress notes. The clearest and often referenced copy of these notes are in

Exhibit 49, where version 1 is at pages 30 and 31, version 2 at pages 32 and 33,

and version 3 at Pages 27,28, and 29'

During the course of the initial investigation the ICRC had requested copies of

the patient records.3s Exhibit 31 is the file of Patient A that was sent to ICRC by

the Member on February 10,2020 and received February 20,2020.11 contains

versions 2 and 3 of the files. ln his testimony Dr. Moore36 said that a "doc"

coming in after the fact to see the same patient would have to look at all three

versions to get an understanding of his care of Patient A. However, version 1

was not included when the record of Patient A was requested.

None of the 3 versions contain a key or legend even though a subsequent

practitioner would need this to decipher the notes and records of the Member.

The position of Dr. Moore as to why he did not provide the key or legend along

with the file of Patient A, is simply that he was not asked for it.

35 Transcript December 14,2022. Ms. Perryrnan in chief. Page I8l, lines 3 through l5
3(' Transcript March 21, 2A23. Page I 74 line l8 through page l7-5 line 12.

Page 25 of 62



Versions 1and2:As ide-by-side review of versions 1 and 2 reveals they are 1 083

similar. Both contain allthe same identifying personal information3T about the

patient. Version 2 is largely a reproduction of the information (assessments and

treatments) contained in version 1. However, some new information has been

added at some of the dated entries for patient visits, Dr Moore admits that he

added this information after the visit but explains this by saying he, that day, or

within a day, created a new patient chart to add more information.

Vers ion 3: This version is different from versions 1 and 2. The three pages that

make up version 3 are exclusively SOAP notes. lt largely reproduces what is in

version 1, however adds more detail. Significantly, this version has the correct

month and day when Patient A attended at the office of Dr. Moore for care.

However, the year on all 3 pages of version 3, is 2020, not the correct year of

care, 2019.

When taken to the dated entries in versions 1 and 2, Dr. Moore agrees

repeatedlyss that they duplicate most of the same information, but they also have

different and, sometimes, contradictory information. Despite this, he continued to

assert that dated entries of all three versions had been created on the same day

to add new information even though he was a very busy practitioner.

37 First and last nanre, addless (street. city. and postal code), DOB. rrrarital status, gender, name of spouse,

No. of childretr, occupation, Res phone. and ref'erred by.
18 Transcript March 21, 2023, page 108 line 2 thlough page I I 8 page 25.

Page 26 of 62



relation to multiple ons 1084Find s of fact in

There is no dispute that the Member is responsible for his recordkeeping and that

Standard of practice 5-002 Record Keeping3e governs that responsibility. The

parties agree Version 2 of the travel cards has more information than Version 1.

with respect to the areas where the parties do not agree, the Panel made the

following findings of fact:

o Dr. Moore failed to provide the College with a complete copy of the patient

record when version 1 was not initially provided instead he submitted

versions 2and 3 on February 10, 2A20.

o Recreating the 13 items in the identifying personal informationaO section on

the same day, on a new travel card, doesn't make sense'

r When adding further notes to a visit, on tlre same day, it makes no

common sense to create a new travel card with all the same information.

r Additions could have been made under the existing entry as the notes for

the next dated visit would not yet be present'

. lf a new practitioner or the College were to look at all three versions, as

the Member said needed to be done to understand his assessment and

treatment, the Panel found that even allthree versions together do not

provide a complete record of care as they are incomplete, contradictory at

times, and theY create confusion.

o When codes or abbreviations are used by the Member in a patient record

and the key or legend does not accompany the record it is not a complete

patient record. Dr. Moore failed to provide the College with the complete

patient record for Patient A when he failed to include his key or legend.

o lt is improbable that the same error of recording 2020 is made three times

over some 20 days in 2019. lt is more probable version 3 was created

sometime in early 2O2A after Dr. Moore was aware of the complaint

3o Exhibit 40
40 First and last name, address (street, city. and postal cotlc), DOB. marital status, gender, nante of spouse,

No. ofchildren. occupation, Res phone. and refetled by.

Page27 of62



against him and before his letter in reply of the complaint to the College

dated February 10,2020.

The Panel found that versions 2 and 3 were not created

contemporaneously.

When Dr. Moore sent only versions 2 and 3 to the College when providing

the records of Patient A, he was contravened paragraphs 20 and 22 ol lhe

record keeping standardsal.

The Panel also found that in reviewing Version 1 of the patient record it

would not be sufficient for a visiting or a new chiropractor to provide care

without first performing a new assessment.

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegation t has been proven in that

the documentation of the Member contravened the standard of practice expected

of members of the profession, and the Panel also found that the College has

proven allegation 4 that the Member failed to keep records as required. The latter

issue will be discussed further below. Furthermore, we have also taken this

conduct into account as a component in establishing allegation 11 which is

discussed below.

Consent to Examination / Assessment - Plan of Care

When Dr. Moore first met with Patient A on August 26,2019 she was fragile and

in pain. Assessment, imaging, and even taking a history was a challenge.

Examination in chief of Dr. Moore, January 25,2023:

1 085

a

o

o

l
!

{r Exhibit 40

Page 28 of 62



107812, (Page 84.2to 84:11)
84

2 O. Okay. Were you concerned that she

3 might not last a long time?
4 - A. lwas concerned that I had to move

5 this process forward with her. She was not

6 comiortable. She was not comfoftable. And I would say

7 both mentally and physically, she was fragile' And it

8 was something that needed to be moved along as quickly

I as possible in the -- I'm going to say in the history

10 and in the exam and in the imaging' This gal was only

11 going to last so long.

1 086

ln cross examinationa2 Dr. Moore agreed that Patient A was not able to tolerate a

long examination due to difficulties sitting and standing. The document he

provided, "lnstructions to Patients Undergoing Decompression" reveals that the

decompression treatment time is 34-38 minutes per session and ihe patient has

to lie still. Dr. Steiman agreesa3 that lying still would have been a significant

challenge for Patient A, and he noted that Dr. Moore had observed that she could

not even sit still for 5 minutes. Dr. Steiman goes on to give his opinion about it

becoming obvious that Patient A would not be able to receive the decornpression

treatment:

109580, (Pages 177'.20 to 178:3)aa
177

20 O. The entire tenor of that
21 discussion with her was that it was going work for her
22 and that it was grrirrg to be the tlring that would help
23 her with her pain, wasn't it, Dr. Steiman?
24 A. That Part of the discussion,
25 yes, but whether she definitely would be able to do

178
1 it, I mean obviously came a point where he notes that
2 she was not able to even get on the table, so it's
3 obvious she's not able to receive the treatment.

a2 Transcript March 2l ,2023, page I I line l7 through page l2 line l3'
a3 Transcript August 16,2023. page 176 line 20 througlt page l-17 line l9
{a Transcript August 16,2023.

Page29 ol 62



Nonetheless, the next day on August 27,2A19 when he provided Patient A with

his report of findings, Dr. Moore presented a plan of care to Patient A that 1 087

includes, among other things, 30 decompression sessions, with a pre-payment

cost of $7,720.0045.

No decompression treatment was ever provided because Patient A was unable

to tolerate it. From August 27,2019 through September 12,2019 the patient did

however have '10 visits with Dr. Moore for what he calls "CHIROPRATIC

ADJUSTMENT'46 in his billing. However, her pain had not been relieved to the

point where she could tolerate being still and she was still not able to lie on the

decompression table for anywhere near the 34-38 minutes required.

o The Panel found that the plan of care did not relate to the condition and

circumstances of the patient. This is in opposition to Standard of Practice

S-013 Consent.

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegation t has also been proven in

that the Member contravened the standard of practice expected of members of

the profession with respect to consent.

The assessment of Patient A by Dr. Moore led him to the diagnosis of VSC

(Verlebral Subluxation Complex) which he recorded in the patient record. He

does not record a diagnosis, differential diagnosis, or clinical impression of a

herniated disc. The care plan Dr. Moore presents included decompression

a5 Exhibit 8
46 Exhibit 49 page 50.

Page 30 of 62



sessions. The Member was either not able to recognize the complex challenges

patient A was facing, or he was unbelievably optimistic that he could treat her to

the point that she would improve significantly in the near future so as to be able

to lie still on the device to start decompression sessions.

o The Panel found that Dr. Moore sold Patient A a prepaid treatment which

he knew she could not tolerate and that this was not patient centered care

. The Panel found that the assessment of Patient A by Dr. Moore was not

sufficient to support his plan of care.

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegation t has been proven in that

the assessment and treatment of Patient A contravened the standard of practice

expected of members of the profession. Again, we have also taken this conduct

into account as a component in establishing allegatton 11 which is discussed

below.

Consent to Examination / Assessment - Documentation

The parties agree that informed consent is required before an examination. They

also agree that Dr. Moore's examination of Patient A occurred on August 26,

2019. They further agree the form, Consent to ExaminationaT was signed by

Patient A and is dated August 27,2019.

Dr. Steiman opined that written consent prior to examination is optimal but "oral

consent is acceptable". Dr. Steinran also said, "There is every indication from the

audio recordings that the patient", "consented to assessment.4E"

a7 Exhibit 3 l, page 33.
18 Exhibit 78, paragraph 3

1 088

Fage 31 ol62



I

1

l

:

I

,

:

I
1

l

I

I
I

=T
E

.3

=1

II

tl
l

The panet noted that the Consent Standard requires that consent to examination 
1 089

is to be "evidenced in a written form signed by the patient or othenrise

documented in the patient health record". There is an exception where implied

consent can occur in limited circumstances. The Panel considered this and found

the Member had not met the onus to substantiate that the circumstances

warranted a variation from this requirement. The written consent of Patient A

could and should have been obtained on August 26,2019.

The Panel notes that the audio recordings are not part of the health record of

Patient A.

Therefore, the Panel did not accept the opinion of Dr. Steiman on this point and

instead prefers the opinion of Dr. Dower whose opinionae was that Dr. Moore

failed to meet the standard because the consent was documented as having

been obtained after the assessment was done.

This further supports the finding by the Panel that allegation 1, was proven

Consent to Care (Chiropractic Adiustment)

Dr. Dower also opined that the consent to care was deficient in a few ways

including the lack of documentation that relates to the condition of the Patient, no

indications of the number of adjustments being consented to, and no indication

re Transcript Decentber 15,2022, page 190. lines 8 through I5

Page 32 of62



1 090that he had delivered the diagnosis. The patient chart reveals the diagnosis Dr

Moore made was VSC50 without indication that the proposed treatments were for

VSC.

Notwithstanding the opinion of Dr. Dower here, the Panel found that the standard

was met by virtue of the form "lnformed Consent to Chiropractic"sl which was

signed and dated before chiropractic adjustment care began, This form contained

adequate information and we accept Dr. Moore complied with the standard in this

respect.

Consent to Care (Traction) and to the Plan of Care

Communications / l)iscussions

ln his Summary of Evidence, Dr. Steiman wrote that nothing he had reviewed

suggested the consent to care of Patient A was anything but informed,

uncoerced, and given voluntarily52.

ln oral evidences3 Dr. Steiman agreed that all these elements are needed if a

chiropractor is to obtain fully informed consent. ln other words, a patient needs to

be fully informed with complete and accurate rnformation, not put under pressure,

("not even a little bit"), be informed of the risks, and consent must be voluntary.

so Vertebral Subluxation Complex
5r Exhibir 3 l, page 33.
5r Exhibit 78, paragraph I l.
53 Transcript August l6,2An,page76line I through page 136line 2l

Page 33 of62



1 091
When taken to the Consent standard, page 2, Dr. Steiman agreedsa that this

meant that all of the five items (below) are a necessary part of a proper consent.

ln order to be informed, consent to examination, (including diagnostic

imaging), care or a plan of care, shall include a discussion of these items

. what is the recommended examination, care or plan of care?

. Why should the patient have the examination, care or plan of

care?

. What are the alternatives to the examination, care or plan of care?

. What are the effects, material risks and side effects of the

proposed examination, care or plan of care and how they compare

to the alternatives?

. What are the likely consequences if the patient does not have the

examination, care or plan of care?

Dr. Steiman agreedss that a requiremerrt for informed consent is that a care plan

needs to include the frequency of chiropractic care. He also agreed that the

Corrective Care Decompression Pian56 did not include the frequency of

chiropractic care.

Dr. Steiman agreed that there should also have been a further discussion about

the patient's consent after it turned out the decompression care could not be

started, and that the care for the next 10 visits was primarily chiropractic

5a Transcript August 16,2023 page 82 lines 7 through 24
55 Transcript August 16.2023. page 209 linc 4 through page 210 line 4.
56 Exhibit 8

Page 34 r-rf 62



adjustment care. Dr. Steiman agreed that Dr. Moore's failure to discuss this with

patient A fell below the standards of both recordkeeping and informed consentsT

The Panel agreed with this opinion'

ln his testimony on the topic of informed consent Dr. Moore said he was unsure if

the information about decompression sunk in for Patient A. Examination in chief'

107812, (Page 168:11to 168:25)58
168

11 0. Were you confident that she was
12 adequately informed on what decompression was?
13 A. She was adequatelY informed'
14 Whether it sunk in, James, to the point to where I want

15 it to sink in, not sure. We never did get her on
16 decompression. We would've had an opportunity to
17 really have it sink in had we got her onto some of the
18 equipment.
19 O. Right.
20 A. How much is anY Particular
21 individual -- when you ask me did it sink in, did she
22 fully understand, I would hope that she did. We
23 certainly went through it, an understanding on it, and
24 we went through the language. Did it sink in? I hope
25 so. We spent enough time on it.

Risks

ln examination in chieFe Dr. Moore expressed the view that there are no risks

with VAX-D. He did agree that there are red flags with some patients which might

warrant not using this treatment:

107133, (Pages 178'.25 to 179:8)
178

25 O. Are there any risks associated
179

s7 Transcript August 16.2023, page 210 line l2 through page 212 line2.
58 Transcript January 25,2023.
5e Transcript December 20. 2A22. page I 78 line 25 through page l'l9 line 8.

1092

Pagc 35 of'62



1 0931 with the VAX-D decompression treatment?
2 A. So the FDA Put out a statement on

3 this. There have been -- there is no risk, and there
4 has been no reported challenge to any VAX-D procedure
5 put together in the States. So in the actual VAX-D
6 process, that's the process. That said, there are
7 certain patients that are red flags that we wouldn't
8 take on,

Dr. Moore listed a variety of conditions that he sees as "red flags". Ultimately, he

agreed with Mr. Kitchen that he supposes it is true, there are risks to any

procedure6o.

The husband of Patient A agreed with Dr. Moore that no risks associated with

VAX-D were explained to them61

Dr. Moore during his testimony about the information in his consent form said

108377 , (Page 259:12 to 259:19)62
259

12 O. Okay. And, finally, you agree
13 with me, Dr. Moore, there's nothing on this form that
14 deals with risks, side effects, alternatives, or a
15 diagnosis that the patient would need to know in order
16 to consent to decompression treatment?
17 A. On this form?
18 0. Yeah.
19 A. Not on this form.

There is no mention of risk in the audio recordings, Exhibits 6, 7, and 10 which

recorded a portion of the conversations on August 26 and 27,2019 where Dr.

Moore discussed VAX-D with Patient A and her husband.

60 Transcript Decenrber 2A, 2022, page I 79 line 9 thlough page I 80 line I 8
6l 1-ranscript December 12,2022, page l2l lines 6 thrcugh I L
62 Transcript March 2 I ,202.3 .

Page -36 of 62



1094The Panelfound that despite admitting there are "red flags", and that there are

risks to any procedure63 Dr. Moore did not communicate any risks to Patient A'

Dr. Moore did not properly inform Patient A about the risks associated with VAX-

D when he got her to sign the consent to the care plan that included VAX-D, as

there are risks associated with any chiropractic assessment' Allegation 1 is again

established by this breach of the standards of practice'

The Representati ononSuccess of Treatment

ln the following extract from the audio recording of August 27,2019 Dr. Moore

was talking about VAX-D prior to seeking consent to care from Patient A:

At timestamp 13:00:
Dr. Moore: "So you move them a little bit in a little bit, a little bit in, a little

bit in, a little bit. And at some point through that process, BING, we got

enough pressure off the nerve that she goes from a nine to a four, almost
overnight."

Patient A: "And it staYs?"

Dr. Moore: "And it staYs. OkaY."

Patient A: "Wow,"

Dr. Moore: "Not everyone ... they go a little at a time". "A year later they're
all doing fine".

At timestamp 14:50:
Dr. Moore: "Go from a 9 to 3 in 5 weeks in 20 visits."

At timestamp 15:45:
Dr. Moore: "Going to be 0 or 1, 11weeks. Can be off a little."

At timestamp 16:45:
Dr. Moore: "We just have to keep going, it will ultimately break. The cycle

will break becauie it does for everyone. I've not had one that it didn't

break for us."

63 Transcript December 20,2022, page l'19 line 9 through page 180 line l8

Page -?7 of 62



ln his testimony at the Hearing Dr. Moore continued to hold this view, and he

expressed it in a couple of ways. First, he said it was ok for him to give

assurances or guaranteed outcomes because he was reassuring Patient A

having regard to her emotional state. Secondly, Dr. Moore said that he believed

he could get Patient A to a pain level of 0 or 1. Dr. Moore seems to take the

position that because he believed he would be successful, he can give Patient A

assurances,6a

The husband of Patient A confirmed he had understood from what Dr. Moore told

them that at some point the pain would just magically disappear from one day to

the next65.

ln his defence the Member points to the "Corrective Care Decompression Plan",

Exhibit I second paragraph, "Please be aware that NO ONE can offer a

guaranteed clinical response." However, the Panel found that this written

statement cannot be used as a defence in circumstances where the Member

misled Patient A with an oral guarantee of success in his discussions with her at

the time of obtaining consent.

The Panel found that the evidence above demonstrates that:

Dr. Moore was not sure if the patient understood the care proposed,

1 095

a

Dr. Moore did not communicate any risks of VAX-D,

6a Transcript March 21,2023, page 190 line 23 through page 193 line l4
65 Transcript December 12.2022, page 105, lines l2 thrctugh 21.

a

l
r1

-.j

l'}age 38 of 62



a

a

The Member conveyed a message of success, which was a

misrepresentation of treatment, and

Dr. Moore failed to meet the Consent Standard of Practice in relation to

VM-D and the plan of care.

1 096

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegation t has been proven as a

result of all these deficiencies in his conduct concerning obtaining informed

consent and he has contravenerJ the standard of practice expected of members

of the profession with respect to Consent. Again, we have also taken this conduct

into account as a component in establishing allegation 11 which is discussed

below.

Disclosure of personal health information

There is no dispute that Dr. Moore sent a letter, with enclosures, Exhibit 34,

regarding Patient A, to Chase bank, which was dealing with a dispute between

the parties over a CIBC Visa charge for treatment. The husband of Patient A had

used his Visa to pay the block fee of $7720.00 (referred to above) for Patient A.

and he was now disputing that charge.

Dr. Moore included with his responding letter an account he had given Patient A,

which revealed her name, address, phone number, date of birth, and the type

and frequency of treatments. None of this information was redacted.

Page 39 of62



ln the letter itself, Dr. Moore SayS Patient A has a "lumbar herniated disc", a

diagnosis he had not recorded in the patient record. The Member went on to

assert that Patient A has a variety of mental health conditions including

"significant anxiety, emotional, and suicidal tendencies", these diagnosis had not

been made by any qualified medical practitioner. Dr. Moore also says he had

been tasked with assisting her to find "psychiatric and medical care"66.

Throughout his evidence Dr. Moore referred to Chase bank as an agent of

Patient A and her husband. Tlrere is nothing before the Panel that shows how or

if Dr. Moore made any attempt to determine if a financial institution is an agent of

its customers. He could have asked Chase bank, his own regulatory body, or a

lawyer about this issue before sending sensitive personal health information to a

third party. He did nothing in this regard.

The Member argues that section 37 (1) (i) of the Personal Health lnformation

Protection Act (PHIPA) provides an exception which justifies his production of the

Personal Health lnformation of Patient A. This section does not help Dr. Moore. lt

deals with the use (in certain circumstances which are not applicable here) of,

not the disc/osure of, personal health information. lt is a different section, section

38, which deals with drsc/osure of personal health information, which is what

1 097

lj
i

66 Exhibit 34 pages I 52 and I 53

Page 40 of62



occurred in this case. The latter section sets out when disclosure is permitted 
1 098

under the Act. Those exceptions do not apply to this disclosure by Dr' Moore'

The panel made the following findings in relation to the letter and enclosures

which Dr. Moore sent to Chase bank:

o Dr. Moore contravened the Standard of Practice 5-002 Record Keeping

when he disclosed the personal health information of Patient A to a third

Party.

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegation 2 has been proven in that

Dr. Moore, without authorization to do so, gave information about Patient A to a

third party. Again, we have also taken this conduct into account as a component

in establishing allegation 11 which is discussed below.

The Aoreement between Dr. Moore Patient A

The agreement Dr. Moore had with Patient A, "Corrective Care Decompression

Plan" Exhibit g, third paragraph sets out how Dr. Moore'S prepaid program fees

were to work. lt stipulates that, among other things, additional fees for consulting

time and adjustments cannot be deducted (i.e., paid) from the prepaid,

discounted, account balance. Notwithstandirrg this restriction in his own

document, account statements show Dr. Moore deducted previously undisclosed

administration fees67, a fee for a medical report, and even transferred funds out

('? Text messages, phone calls. research fees. etc. See Exhibit 31, page 4l

Page 4 | o1'62



of the prepaid, discounted, account of Patient A to cover chiropractic care

provided separately to the husband of Patient A.

. The Panel found that this was all improper and is a breach of the

agreement with Patient A.

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegations 3 and 8 had been proven in

that Dr. Moore breached the agreement and also failed to disclose fees before a

service was provided. Again, we have also taken this conduct into account as a

component in establishing allegation 11 which is discussed below.

Record Keepinq (this section addresses further the standard of practice issues

discussed at pp. 24-28 above and also allegation 4)

Dr. Moore acknowledged that you need io look at both versions 1 and 2 of his

records of Patient A to see all the treatments performed.

108377, (Page 99:7 to 99:21)68
99

7 0. All right. And it does not
8 contain all of the treatments that you've performed?
I A. l'd have to look at both charts.
10 You're asking me to make a statement here. And I'd
11 have to look at both charts and do a comparison to be
12 able to comment on that.
13 O. Well, let's compare, Dr. Moore,
14 the consultation and assessment notes, for example, in
15 page 31, which is version 1, and page 33, which is
16 version 2.
17 You'll agree with me that on page 31

18 under your consultation, you recorded different
19 information in "Previous Therapy" than what you

1 099

68 1'ranscript March 21.2023

Page 42 of 62



2A
21

recorded in the same space on page 33, correct?
A. Correct. 1 100

It is worth remembering here that Dr. Moore sent versions 2 and 36e, and not

version 1 to the College when the patient record was requested by the College's

ICRC

Secondly, it was the opinion of Dr. Steiman that when Dr. Moore did not

document Patient A's perceptions of her pain, he breached the Record Keeping

Standard:

109580, (Page 146'.1to 146:10)70
146

1 Q. And he didn't document that
2 discussion, did he?
3 A. Not in the notes, no.
4 O. Right. And he was required to
5 do so, wasn't he, Dr. Steiman?
6 A. Yes, according to
7 recordkeeping, he should.
I O. He breached the standard,
I didn't he, Dr. Steiman?
10 A. ln that case he did.

Thirdly, in his evidenceTl Dr, Steiman agreed that the record of Patient A was

deficient because it does not include subjective and/or objective findings at

various visit entries as required for SOAP72 notes.

Fourthly, Dr. Steiman agreed there were inconsistencies in the recorded

information between the three versions of notes in the chart and said that if there

6e See Exhibit 50 Package received by the College l-'ebruary 2A.2024.
r0 Transcript August 16,zAn, page 146 lines I tlrrough l0'
7l Transcript August 17,2023, page 99 line 7 through page 107 line l9
i2 Subjective, Objective, Assessment. and Plan.

Page 43 of 62



1101
WaS to be a correction in a record, it should be noted aS a correctionT3. Dr.

Steiman agreed that Dr. Moore faiied to meet the Record Keeping Standard in

this regard.

The evidence of Dr. Steiman was that the discrepancies between the versions 1

and 2 of the patient charts (travel card) create confusion:

109581, (Pages 96;13 to 97:'10)7a

96
O. Right. And Dr. Steiman, when You

compare Version 1 on page 31, the standing circle a the
bottom of the page, you see that "LUM" is at the top of
the circle but "E" is at the bottom of the circle?

A. Yes.
O. And what does "E" startd for?
A. Extension.
O. And do you see in Version 1 the

extension was 0 (zero)?
A. Yes.
O, And in Version 2, on page 33, the

extension is down 50 percent?
A. Yes.

97
O. You agree with me that the Version

recorded while he's doing the measurement is likely the
accurate version?

A. Likely, but not necessarily.
O. All right. And you agree that this

process of having two sets of notes where the earlier
notes do not align with the later notes creates confusion
for any chiropractor coming in to take over treatment?

A. Yeah, it can. That kind of
discrepancy should be counted.

?r Transcript August l7,2023. page 93. line I 9 through page 95 line 4
7a Transcript August l'1 , 2023.

Page 44 of 62

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
2A
21
22
23
24
25

I
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

I

-



The panel also found confusing inconsistencies. For example, for the August 29, 1102
2019 visit we found "C ROT" in version 1, page 30, "C ROT L+R no adj" in

version 2, and "C ROTation gentle L+R" in version 3.

Version 1 is so deficient and unreliable that it is difficult to see how another

chiropractor could treat Patient A without performing their own complete

assessment and compiling a new treatment plan. Each version on its own is

insufficient, and when read together they are confusing. Even versions 2 and 3,

sent by Dr. Moore to the College, are not an adequate record of assessment or

care

Dr. Dower was asked some specific questions abor,rt the records of Dr. Moore,

but on at least two occasionsTs, Dr. Dower was, understandably, not able to fully

understand the patient record because it contained abbreviations and symbols

which were incomprehensible. Quite apart from abbreviations and symbols Dr.

Steiman also could not understand the patient record at times, for exampleTo,

when asked about a reference to "four out of four" he agreed this reference was

unclear as pain scales are commonly out of ten.

When a patient record needs a Key or Legend to be accurately

understood, the Panel found that the Key or Legend must be kept with the

patient record wherever it rnight be, including when sent out of the office.

o

7s Transcript December 15,2022, page 150 lines 7 through 20. and page 176 lines l6 througlt 25.
?6 Transcript August 15,2023, page I I l.

I'}age 45 of 62



Otherwise, patient records are incomplete, not useful for the intended

purpose, and inconsistent with the intent and objectives of Standard of

Practice 5-002.

This is a further basis upon which the Panel made a finding that allegation t has

been proven in respect of the documentation of the Member contravening the

standard of practice of the profession. lt is also a further basis upon which the

Panel found that allegations 4 and 1'1 have been proven.

Securitv of patient recotds

The Panel also found that the packageTT Dr. Moore left attached to the outside of

his office, after hours, was left there contrary to the record keeping standard

because it contained the identities of Patients A and her husband, some personal

health information, and financial information.

. Having not taken reasonable steps to ensure records were protected in a

secure location, the Panel found Dr. Moore did not comply with 5-002

Record Keeping Standard of Practice.

This is a further basis for finding that allegation t has been proven in respect of

the documentation of Dr. Moore, which contravened the standard or practice of

the profession. And the Panel made a finding that allegation 4 has been proven

having left a patient record outside. Also, this is contrary to the requirements

under PHIPA and provided a further basis upon which the Panelfound that

allegation 2had been proven.

1103

i

'i Exhibit 2l

Page 46 of 62



1104
Providing a report

The husband of Patient A requested a written summary by text78 for the first time

on September 28, 2O1g of what Dr. Moore had discussed with Patient A' Dr.

Moore testified that December 6, 2019 is when that report (summary) was finally

provided.

108379, (Page 12:5 to 12'.91ts

12

5 O Dr. Moore, when You -- You told Dan

6 Light he could pick up the report at your office on

7 December 6th, and he did attend to do 3o, am I right

8 about that?
I A Yes.

Record Keeping 5-002, Exhibit 40, page 10, Paragraph2l indicates that when a

report or certificate relating to an examination or treatment is requested it is to be

provided, "...within a reasonable time after a patient has requested such a

report..."

The Record Keeping Standard references the Personal Health lnformation

Protection Act, 2004. Section 54 (2) which gives us guidance on what a

reasonable time is "... as soon as possible in the circumstances but no later than

30 days after receiving the request ".

78 Exhibit 12, page 87.
7e Transcript April 12,2023

Page 47 of 62



Dr. Moore did not explain to Patient A why it took so long, although he testified at

the Hearing that it was because of the complexity of the case and research he

had to do.

o The Panelfound Dr. Moore had no reasonable cause for the delay.

o The Panelfound that two months and one week was not a reasonable

time in the circumstances, to answer what was merely a request for a

summary of Dr. Moore's dealing with Patient A.

As a result, the Panel made a finding that allegation 5 had been proven. Again,

we have also taken this conduct into account as a component in establishing

allegation 11 which is discussed below.

lssuino of Docume nfs and Accounts

lf the Member intended to charge for calls and texts, he was required to include

details of them on his accounts to Patient A. There are however no such fees

reported in Exhibit 'll, which is the account covering August 26,2019 through

September 9, 2019.

The accountso covering August 26, 2019 to December 5, 2019 for Patient A does

refer to "Administration Fees" but these are not explained. The account reveals

three "administration fees": $2,620.00, $20.00, and $280.00. This reference is

certainly inadequate if it was intended to bill for texts and phone calls. lndeed, the

reference to administration fees is nrisleading, and Dr. Moore needed to say

1105

1

80 Exhibir Il

Page 48 of62



expressly what these charges were for, and he needed to have explained them

properly in advance.

Dr. Moore, in the documents he sent to Chase bank Exhibit 34, explaining to the

bank his billing, at page 170 says that he billed a fee of $750 to Patient A for

"Research morphine and drugs" on September 20,2019. This iS, however,

inconsistent with the account he issued to Patient A Exhibit 18, covering August

26,2019 to December 5, 2019 which reveals no such fee, This research fee had

not been seen in any of the statements prior to the letter to Chase bank.

Page 17081of the enclosures to Chase bank refers to Dr. Moore's fees totalling

$280 to Patient A for texts and a phone call in the period September 2,2019

through September 8,2019. This can be contrasted to the accounts2 issued by

Dr. Moore to Patient A, with a date range August 26,2019 to September 9, 2019

which makes no reference to any such fee.

The account issued by Dr. Moore December 5, 2019 Exhibit 18, has a fee of

$280, the same amount as above. However, that entry appears on November

30, 2019 and has the descriptions of Administration Fees. Dr. Moore provides the

details of "texts" and a "phone call" tc Chase bank, not Patient A.

1 106

8r Exhibit 34
82 Exhibir ll

Page 49 of 62



. The panelfound Dr. Moore had the account statements available and he

knew the documents and accounts he issued and sent to Chase bank

were false and misleading.

o The panel found that when Dr. Moore provided the accounts (above) to

Patient A for a fee, he failed to itemize it as required'

All of the above is the basis upon which the Panel finds that allegations 6, 7, and

10 have been proven.

ln his letter to Chase bank, Exhibit 34 pages 152-153, Dr. Moore not only

improperly included health information about Patient A but also references

medical conditions (see below) that Dr. Moore was not qualified or authorized to

diagnose, because they were outside his scope of practice. ln this regard Dr.

Moore's letter to Chase bank improperly indicated that Patient A had "Suicidal

tendencies" and referred to "her current emotional suicidal state"83 ln the letter

he also says the husband of Patient A asked hirn for a medical report that would

assist Patient A in "finding appropriate psychiatric and medical care". The

evidence revealed this is not what was requested. What the husband of Patient A

asked was; "Do you have a written sltmmary of what you've been saying about

what we need to do with her that I can give to a doctor should I be able to get her

into a walk in clinic?". We find this in the text n'ressages provided by Dr. Moore.

Exhibit 12, page 87, dated September 28.

8r January 2.2020,letter fi'orn Dr. Moore to Cl'rase bank (linanciai institufion).

Page 50 o1'62

1107



The Panel found:

o When Dr. Moore communicated mental health information about Patient 1108
A he was attempting to undermining the credibility of Patient A; and

. he was acting outside the scope of practice in the sense that he was

providing a medical opinion (to a third party) which he was not qualified to

give in any event.

This is a further basis upon which the Panel made a finding that allegation t has

been proven in respect of the documentation of the Member contravening the

standard of practice of the profession.

The Panel also found:

. Dr, Moore was in breach of his confidentiality obligations under PHIPA,

and in so doing he acted contrary to Standard of Practice 5-002: Record

Keeping, and

Dr. Moore greatly and improperly exaggerated the nature of the report

requested by Patient A and he tried to justify his billings, in part by giving

a medical opinion outside his scope of practice.

a

. Dr. Moore knew the communicationssa he had with Chase bank were

false and misleading.

This is a further basis upon which the Panel found that allegation 6 has been

proven. Again, we have also taken all of this conduct into account as a

component in establishing allegation 11 which is discussed below.

84 Exhibit 34

Page 51 of 62



1109When Dr. Moore wrote his January 2, 2020letter to Chase bank8s he had

available to him the account statementso with the date range of August 26,2A19

to January 1 , 2020. However, what he enclosed to Chase bank was an earlier

version of the account statementsT with a date range of August 26, 2019 to

November 22,2019. These two accounts statements have different entries

revealing changes were being made to the account of Patient A from November

22,2019 to January 1,2020. lncluding a November22,2019 admin fee of $80

which no longer appears in the later account statement, and there is a so-called

Professional Courtesy Discount added December 16,2019. These and other

differences, have the effect of altering the "Totals" of the "Bill" column of the

statements.

Under "Bill" in the most current account88 that Dr. Moore has, it shows Patient A

was billed $5,315.00, However, Dr. Moore uses the figure in the earlier account

statementse which shows a Total Bill of $5,865. The Member, in his letter to

Chase bank, explains this by saying the higher amount includes the billed

services of the lrusband of Patient /\. However, the supporting document where

the Total Bill is $5,865 is the account of Patient A only. The account of the

husband of Patient A is separate.

. The Panelfound Dr. lVloore knew that he was issuing accounts and

documents that were false and misleading.

85 Exhibir 34
86 Exhibit 49 Page l3
8' Exhibir 34, page 168.
88 Exhibit 49, page 13.
8e Exhibit 34, page 168.

.i
i.

Page 52 r:t 6?



This is the further basis upon which the Panel fotrnd that allegations 6 and 7 had

been proven. Again, we have also taken this conduct into account as a

component in establishing allegation 11 which is discussed below'

Disclosu of Fees

The husband of Patient A received an account statementeo on December 6,

ZOjg. This was the first time he or his wife heard about administration fees' As a

result, the husband of Patient A complained to Dr. Moore in person. ln the audio

recording of that interaction on December 12,2019e1 at time stamp 2:35, the

husband of Patient A confronted the Member saying that Dr. Moore was "billing

like a Lawyer" but that in the case of lawyers you sign an agreement that says

I'm going to pay that, upfront, "you never oncee2" said you were billing for your

kindness, for the things that you were doing'

Delspite having this opportunity to explain to the husband of Patient A how and

when he had disclosed his fees for things like text messages and calls, Dr.

Moore only responded: "l understand you're upset on that." and "Ok, I

understand that". Dr. Moore never says he had disclosed the fees. The Member

then changed the conversation to the challenges he had creating his report.

eo Exhibit l8
er Exhibit l9
e2 Patient B says this twice

1110

Page 53 of62



Dr, Moore at the Hearing tried to argue (in his testimony) that he could not have

disclosed the fees for texts and phone calls before rendering those services

because he had not yet decided what those fees would be:

108378, (Pages 138:24 to 139:19)e3
138

24 O. Okay. ln fact, Dr. Moore, You
25 didn't know what to charge for the texts and phone

139
1 calls as at September 9th.
2 You hadn't turned Your mind to it?
3 A. You're correct. I hadn't,
4 O. And you decided what to charge for
5 the texts and phone calls much later after you

6 consulted the OCA fee guidelines?
7 A. At some Point later on, we did

8 consult and look to what would be reasonable. We knew
I that we were going to be charging, but I did not know
10 the charges specifically that we were going to be

11 laying in on early in September. You're correct.
12 And I'll tell you this. This case --
13 and I've said it all the way along -- was highly
14 unusual. ln all my years of practice, 40 years, I

15 don't have a case that comes in like this, where
16 there's all sorts of other requests for time and effort
17 and procedure and medical reports and consulting with
18 other -- no one comes in like this. This was a whole
19 brand-new scenario for us.

The initial forms relied on by Dr. Moore, are found in the record of the husband of

Patient A, Exhibit 13 pages 8 and 9, but even these do not itemize amounts to

be charged for text messages or phone calls. They do disclose $50.00 for an

"Additional Report" and $100.00 per'/a hour for "Consultation/Extended

Treatment with Dr. Moore". Details of these potential fees are not in the record of

Patient A.

1111

-t

l

ei Transcript April I l, 2023

Page 54 of62



The husband of patient A testified that he and his wife were not made aware of 1112
any such fees in advance

107127, (Pages 117'.19 to 118:6)ea
117

19 O. Okay. So did he give You
2A permission to correspond with him by text?

21 A. Oh, absolutelY. lle never said

22 don't do that.
23 O. OkaY
24 A. Yeah.
25 O. And did he at anY time tell You

118
1 that corresponding by text would result in an
2 additionalfee to you?
3 A. No, never. Fle was very keen to
4 help, very accommodating, very kind, very considerate
5 Always said I understand, artd we're going to fix you

6 up. Yeah.

The Panel found on review of the evidence, which was consistent and

compelling, that Dr. Moore did not disclose fees for services before the

services were provided, and failed to iternize the account, as required by

G-008 Business Practices.e5

a

This is a furlher basis upon which the Panel made a finding that allegation t has

been proven tlris time irr respect of the billing of the Member contravening the

standard of practice of the professiorr. Also, this is the basis upon which the

Panelfound that allegation B had been proven, and a further basis upon which

the Panelfound allegations 10 and 11 had been proven.

e4 Transcript Decernber 12,20'22
es Exhibit 42

Page 55 of62



l
J

l

I
i

Billinq Arranqement

Dr. Moore was asked to explain the bitling arrangelnenteo which he had 1113
presented to Patient A prior to her starting care. When asked what the per-visit

fee for chiropractic was (which was not directly stated in the document), the firsteT

answer Dr, Moore gave was that you had to divide the $2,400 total fee by $60,

his usual adjustment fee. This would show he had contemplated 40 visits at the

first meeting.

When asked how the $60 fee was related to the $100 fee which was later

itemized to Patient A in the account statement, Dr. Moore now appearedes to say

the $100 per visit fee arose by reference to the 30 decompression sessions. The

billing arrangement sets out 30 decompression sessions. However, if you divide

30 into the $2,400 total "Chiropractic Care" fee, this would result in $80 per

chiropractic visit.

When $80 per chiropractic visit was brought to the attention of Dr. Moore, which

is not the $60 usual adjustment fee or the $100 adjustment fee charged to

Patient A, he abandonedee the 30 visits calculation, and returned to 40.

e6 Exhibit 8
e?'franscript March 2
e8 Transcript March 2
ee Transcript March 2

23. starting at page 235 lirrc' l9
23, starting at page 236 line 6.

23. starting at page 238 line ?.

l, 20
l, 20
t, 20

Page 56 of62



Uttimately Dr. Moore agreedlo0 that nowhere on the billing arrangement form 1114
does it indicate the chiropractic fees are for 40 visits, 10 more than the

decompression visits.

The husband of Patient A said that they were not offered the opportunity to pay

for decompression treatments aS you go. Further, the Corrective Care

Decompression Plan, Exhibit 8, reveals the "Per Visit" cost for a decompression

session as $6750.00, which is the same costs as 30 sessions.

The billing arrangement offered to Patient A, Corrective Care Decompression

Plan, Exhibit 8, first paragraph states that a $150 administration fee will be

applied if the plan is terminated prior to completion.

The Panelfound:

. The billing arrangement Dr. Moore presented to Patient A lacked an option

to pay as you go and did not specify a per visit cost and is contrary to G-

008 Business Practices page 3, items i, and ii.

o The $150 administration fee is contrary to G-008 Business Practices, page

3, item iii.

This is a further basis upon which the Panel made a finding that allegation t has

been proven in respect of tlre billing of the Member contravening the standard of

practice of the profession. Also, this is the basis upon which the Panel found that

allegation t had been proven and an additional basis for allegation 11 having

been proven.

It'O Transcript March 21.2023, starting at page 238 line 13.

Page 57 ol 62



Tvpe of Conduct

The panel is concerned with the misconduct of Dr. Moore which demonstrates a 1115
lack of understanding in regard of the privacy of his patient. This resulted in the

unsympathetic and self-serving communications with Chase bank and the

careless act of leaving personal health informatiorr of a patient unsecured

attached to an outside door.

Dr. Moore also improperly charged mclre than $2620.00 in fees that were not

properly disclosed,

Dr. Moore also gave confusing and incomplete information to Patient A and her

husband. Dr. Moore was seeking agreement on a pre-paid billing arrangement

which the Member himself could not adequately explain. That all demonstrates a

moral failing and unethical conduct.

The Panel found that this and indeed all his wrongful conduct set out in these

reasons amounts to conduct that would be regarded by members of the

profession as disgraceful, dishonourable, and unprofessional.

As a result, the Panel made the finding that allegation 11 has been proven

1
!

1

Page 58 o{'62



CONCLUSION

The Panelfound there is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence to support all

the allegations of professional misconduct made against the Member and found

that the college has discharged its onus of proof in this regard.

Specifically, we found the acts of professional misconduct on the part of Dr.

Moore, alleged in Exhibit 1 the Notice of Hearing, have all been established

Dr. Brian Moore,

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(2) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 -- February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he contravened a standard of practice of the profession or
failed to rnaintain the standard of practice expected of members of the
profession with respect to his assessment, treatment, dtlcumentation,
and billing regarding a patient known as "Patient A."

1116

il has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph
1(10) af Ontario Regulation 85A93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2A2A, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he gave information about a patient known as "Patient A." to
a person other than the patient, her authorized representative, or his
legal counsel or insurer, without the consent of the patient or her
authorized representative or as required or allowed by law.

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(1 1) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or n'lore occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he breached an agreernent with a patient known as "Patient
A." relating to professional services for the patient or fees for such
services.

Fnge 59 of62



1117

V

IV

VI

vil

vilt

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act,1991, S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph

1(19) o'f Ontario Regulation 85U93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,202A, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he failed to keep records as required by the regulations
regarding a patient known as "Patient A."

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(21) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he failed, without reasonable cause, to provide a report or
certificate relating to an examination or treatment he performed for a
patient known as "Patient A." within a reasonable time after the patient
requested such report or certificate,

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(22) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he signed or issued, in his professional capacity, a document
that he knew contained a false or misleading statement.

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph
1(23) of Ontario Regulatiott 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he submitted an account or charge for services that he knew
was false or misleading regarding a patient known as "Patient A."

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c, 21 , as amended, anci paragraph
1(24) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, on one or more occasions, while
practicing as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora,
Ontario, he failed to disclose to a patient known as "Patient A." the fee

I

:i

Page 60 of62



for a service before the service was provided, including a fee not
payable by the patient.

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the

Chiropractic Act, 1991, S,O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph

1(25) of Ontario Regutation 852/93, in that on one or more occasions

during the period August zArc - February 21,2020, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,

with respect to a patient known as "Patient A." he charged a block fee

when:
i. the patient was not given the option of paying for each service

as it was provided; and
ii. no unit cost per service was specified; and
iii. he did not agree to refund to the patient the unspent portion of

the block fee, calculated by reference to the number of services
provided multiplied by the unit cost per service.

has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by

subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the

Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph

1(26) of Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period August
2019 - February 21,2020, while practicing as a chiropractor at the
Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario, with respect to a patient
known as "Patient A.", he failed to itemize an account for professional

services when the account included a fee for a product or device or a
service other than a treatment.

as committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chirapnctic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph

1(33) ol Ontario Regulation 85A93, in that on one or more occasions
during the period August 2019 - February 21,202CI, while practicing

as a chiropractor at the Canadian Disc lnstitute in Aurora, Ontario,
with respect to a patient known as "Patient A.", he engaged in conduct
or performed an act, that, having regard to allthe circumstances,
would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,
dishonourable and unprofessional with respect to his assessment,
treatment, documentation and billing.

1118

IX

X.

XI

Page 61 o1'62



SCHEDULING 1119
The parties should now agree on a schedule to exchange written submissions in

respect of the penalty within 30 days of the date of this decision. lf they fail to

make these submissions to the Panel within that timeline, the parties shall

appear before the Panel in-person for a penalty hearing on December 13, 2023

at 9:30am at 59 Hayden Street Suite 800, Toronto Ontario.

l, Robert MacKay, sign this decision and reasons for the decision as Chair of this

Discipline Panel and on behalf of the members of the Discipline Panel as listed

below:

rt MacKay, Chair Date: November 8,2423

Panel Members

Dr. Kyle Grice
Mr. Robert MacKay
Mr. Shawn Southern
Mr. Scott Stewad
Dr, Murray Townsend

Page 62 of62



iTEM 4.2.4
Rose Bustria

1120
From:
Sent:
To:

Attachments:

Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
October 18,2023 10:59 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: [Registrars] Reminder: Registration Now Open for HPRO's

Discipline Orientation Workshop - Basic (November 3) and Advanced
(November 20) Sessions

HPRO Discipline Orientation Workshop - Fall 2023 - Basic Session -

Flyer.pdf; HPRO Discipline Orientation Workshop - Fall 2023'
Advanced Session - Flyer.pdf; ATT00001.txt

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 'l 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on-ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recomnrended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone aI 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

reception @cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is conrmitted to providing inclusive, acconrnrodating, and iesponsive services and ensuring that individuals are tteated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if y6lr require accom:rodat:ons. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectf ul and professional,

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Registrars <registrars-bounces@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca> On Behalf Of Beth Ann Kenny

Sent: Wednesday, October t8,2023 9:53 AM

To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>

Subject: IRegistrars] Reminder: Registration Now Open for HPRO's Discipline Orientation Workshop -

Basic (November 3) and Advanced (November 20)Sessions

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

HiAII

Just a quick reminder that the discounted rates for the Discipline Orientation Sessions will expire in just

over a week. lf you are still confirming who will be attending from your College but you want to reserve

spots at those discounted rates, please let me know.

1



Thank you, and take carel
Beth Ann

1121

Regulators
of Ontario

Health
Profession

t
,l

j
t
I

J
!

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Director
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK L40
Email: bakennv@regulated hea lthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
P ho ne : 4L6-493-4O7 6 / Cell: 41 6-986-057 6 / F ax: 1-866-8 14-6456

Confidentiolity notice: This emoil, including any ottachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain
privote, confidential, and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. lf you
are not the intended recipient or this information has been inoppropriately forwarded to you, please contact the sender by reply
email ond destroy all copies of the originol.

From: Beth Ann Kenny <bakennv@regu lated healthprofessions.on.ca>
Sent: Tuesday, October IO,2023 11:34 AM
To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakennv@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>
Subject: Registration Now Open for HPRO's Discipline Orientation Workshop - Basic (November 3) and
Advanced (November 20) Sessions

HiAII:

Registration is now open for HPRO's Discipline Orientation Workshop's Sessions. NEW - Click Here to go

to the Discipline Orientation Workshop Online Form to register up to 1"0 participants from your College.
Once we have your forms, the participants will receive an email, asking for additional information, i.e.,
accommodation needs and hearings experience. (We recognize this is the first time using this new
system and we anticipate questions or bugs to be worked ou! don't hesitate to contact me if you have
any questions or run into issues with the form or system.)

Here is information about the two sessions with detailed flyers attached.

Basic

Advanced

November 3,2023
9:00 a,m.-4:00 p.m.

Zoom Webinar

November 20,2023
9:00 am.-4:00 p.m.

Zoom Meeting

Date:
Time:
Format:

Date:
Time:
Format

2



RATES (HST TNCLUDEDI

Basic Session (November 3 only)

Basic Session (November 3 only)

Advanced Session (November 20 only)

Advanced Session (November 20 only)

Basic & Advanced Sessions (both days)

Basic & Advanced Sessions (both days)

Basic Session Binder Only (by courier) Only'til October 27

Please let me know if you have any questions or need any additional information

Thank you, and take carel
Beth Ann

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

By October 27 After October 27

s47s 1122 ssso

S0oo 5700

547s SSSO

S0oo 5700

seoo sgzs

S1,ooo 51,250

s2oo N/A

Health
Profession
Requlators
o{ Ontario

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Director
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0

Email: bakennv@ regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Phone: 416-493-407 6 / Fax: 1-866-814-6456

Confidentiolity notice: This emoil, including any attochments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) ond may contoin
privote, confidential, ond/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. lf you
ore not the intended recipient or this information has been inappropriotely forworded to you, please contoct the sender by reply
email ond destroy oll copies of the originol.

3



Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

' , i',t.)' ('i :
i ,\ \. i -'l'
Lr ' 1. ' /I

Prosram Obiectives

This program is designed to
provide professional regulators

with a comprehensive

orientation to the discipline

process. At the conclusion of the

session, participants will have an

understanding of:
/ Relevant principles of

administrative law
r' Roles of various participants

in the hearings process

/ Activities that occur prior to a

hearing
/ Procedures associated with

the process, including

hearings held electronically
/ Responsibilities of panel

members

Note: scheduled subject to change

Facultv

[uisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&

Julie Maciura,

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of

Medical Radiation & lmaging

Tech nologists of Ontario

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario

College of Pharmacists

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:45 a.m.

10:00 a.m

10:45 a.m.

11:00 a.m.

12:00 p.m.

1:00 p.m.

1:45 p.m.

2:00 p.m.

2:45 p.m.

3:00 p.m.

Discipl ine Orientation Workshop
Basic Session-November 3, 2023 Webina'

Conducting a Discipline Hearing 1123
Zoom Webinar Opens (Session will begin promptly at 9:00 a.m.)

lntroduction and Legal Framework
Topics include: applicable legislation, jurisdiction, the public in-
te rest, confi dentia I ity, d isclosu re, a I legations, pena lties, a nd

costs

BREAK

Principles of Administrative Law and Fitness to Practice Process

Topics include: nature of a hearing, natural justice, transparency,
burden of proof, and accountability, and how the FTP process

differs from discipline, and the definition of incapacity

BREAK

Pre-Hearing Procedures and Roles of Participants in the
Hearings Process

Role-play will focus on conducting a videoconference Pre-

Hearing Conference and the goal of narrowing the issues, coming
to an agreed statement of fact, and developing joint submissions
on penalty; discussion will focus on the roles of panel members,
members, prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal

counsel, intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters,
and staff

TUNCH BREAK

Roles of Participants in the Hearing Process (Continued) and
The Discipline Hearing
Discussion will focus on the roles of panel members, members,
prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal counsel,
intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters, and

staff; through a role-play, participants will experience an abbrevi-
ated, contested virtual hearing

BREAK

The Discipline Hearing (Continued)

BREAK

3:45 p.m.

Responsibilities of Panel Members
Discussion will focus on panel member conduct prior to, during,
and after the hearing by using real case examples of situations
where panel member conduct is questioned (completion of as-

signed homework recommended)

Wrap Up and Closing of Session

All registrotion will be confirmed within five (5) business doys. lf you do not receive confirmation, pleose contoct HPRO ot

info@requlatedheolthprofessions.on.ca or by phone ot 476-493-4076. See Registration Form for rotes and poyment information.



Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

'litl\\ir | [ r 'l l j i ] 1 ,/ / \ \
;,'-'i-\'i i.J,l

Ll :_i L L_l '.J '-..--l

Program Description

This advanced program was

developed because of the success

of the Basic Program and an

identified need for advanced
training. lt is a "beyond-the basics"

learning opportunity for
adjudicators. The advanced
program will help discipline panel

members develop their skills to
deal with challenging situations
while chairing hearings and
deliberations. The program is

intended to develop critical
thinking and the "how to" needed

to meet unique situations.
Participants will learn how to
confidently control the
proceedings, demonstrate
fairness, assess the evidence,
facilitate panel deliberations and

ensure adequate reasons for the
decision while meeting head-on, a

complex array of challenges that
can arise in hearings.

Note: scheduled subject to change

Facultv

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&
Julie Maciura

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of
Medical Radiation & lmaging
Technologists of Ontario

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario
College of Pharmacists

Discipline Orientation Virtua I Workshop
Advanced Session-November 20, 2023 1124

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:05 a.m.

9:35 a.m

9:55 a.m.

10:10 a.m.

10:25 p.m.

11:00 a.m.

11:15 a.m.

11:45 a.m.

12:45 p.m.

1:25 p.m

1:40 p.m

2:30 p.m

2:45 p.m

Conductine a Discipline Hearing - ln-Person and Online Hearings

Opening the Zoom Meeting (starting promptly at 9:00 a.m.)

Welcome and Basic Overview
lntroduction to the concepts of controlling the proceedings,

giving parties a fair opportunity to participate, explaining the
decision, and managing conflicts/potential bias

"Give Everyone a Chance" - Role Play

An acted out scene will demonstrate the first and last rule

structure for objections, motions and submissions, and how the
panel ensures fairness to the parties

"You're in Charge"
Participants will consider challenging situations that test the
panel's ability to be in charge of conducting the hearing and

control the proceedings

BREAK

"You're in Charge" (continued)

"Only the Evidence"
Participants will discuss how they would deal with the evidence

and how the evidence forms the basis for the decision

BREAK

"Only the Evidence" (continued)

TUNCH BREAK

"Explain Yourself"
Participants will interact to learn about the deliberation process,

highlighting the Chair's role in leading the deliberation process

and how it is separated from the reason-writing process. A

perfunctory credibility assessment, which could lead to an

appeal, is highlighted; requirements for adequate reasons in

decision-write are also highlighted

BREAK

"Explain Yourself" (continued)

BREAK

3:45 p.m.

"No Connection with Participants"
Scenarios will be presented which demonstrate situations where
panel members may find themselves unwittingly mingling with
the parties or realize that they may know a witness from their
personal or professional lives

Concluding Remarks and Evaluation

All registrotion will be confirmed within five (5) business days. lf you do not receive confirmation, please contoct HPRO at

info@requlatedhealthprofessions.on.ca or by phone ot 416-493-4076. See Registrotion Form for rates ond poyment informotion.



ITEM 4.3 1125

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Quality Assurance Gommittee Report to Council
November 23,2023

Members:
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair
Dr. Kyle Grice
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Shawn Southem
Dr. Elizabeth Anderson-Peacock, non-council member

Staff:
Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy & Research
Dr. Katherine Tibor, Director of Professional Practice
Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Council

Gommittee Mandate

To develop, establish and maintain:
o programs and standards of practice to assure the quality of the profession;

o standards of knowledge and skill and programs to promote continuing
competence among members; and

o standards ofprofessional ethics.

To develop mechanisms and protocols to assess the knowledge, skills and continuing
competence of members.

a

a

I
Since the last meeting of Council, the Quality Assurance (QA) Committee met once on October
r8,2023.

The Committee has the following recommendations to Council

Recommendation I

That Council approve Draft Guideline G-015: Virtual Care

Stakeholders, including members, were given the opportunity to review this new guideline and

provide feedback no later than August3l,2023. After reviewing the submitted feedback, the

Committee would like to recommend the implementation of this guideline, with the addition of a
few amendments, as stated in the draft, which are meant to help reduce any barriers to care.



QA Report to Council: November 23,2023

1126
Recommendation 2

That Council approve Draft Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care

Stakeholders, including members, were given the opportunity to review the recommended
changes to the guideline and provide feedback no later than August3l,2023. After reviewing
the submitted feedback, the Committee recommends amendments to the guideline. In addition,
members should no longer be required "on-site or ensure[s] that another member of CCO is on-
site". Rather, members should "be available to provide any direction or supervision for the
performance of the assigned procedure, and to communicate directly with the patient and answer
any question from the patient at each visit that is part of a chiropractic treatment plan."

Recommendation 3

That Council approve Draft Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering, Taking and Interpreting
Radiographs

The Committee recommends these amendments to the standard, allowing for consistency with
Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping.

Clinical Competency in Controlled Acts

Amendments to the Professional Portfolio with respect to completing five (5) hands-on activities
related to spinal adjustment or manipulation to be completed once every three (3) CE cycles (or
six) years have been distributed to stakeholders, including members, for their review. Although
the Committee did look at the comments that have been provided thus far, a fulsome discussion
regarding this matter will take place after the deadline to submit feedback, Novembet 19,2023.

Correspondences with OCA, re: Webinars

The Committee was made aware of the OCA's new webinars that are largely based on
advertising and marketing. The Committee believes that this may be of interest to the
Advertising Committee.

CCO ll/orkshops

The Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) continues to be offered virtually to its members.
Several standards of practice, policies and guidelines are covered. By attending this workshop,
members are able to log 4.5 hours of structured CE activities.

The Committee is considering moving some topics (such as advertising, websites, and social
media) to an asynchronous/pre-recorded, interactive webinar. The Committee has reviewed



QA Report to Council: November 23,2023

software used by other Ontario regulatory colleges and is in the preliminary stages of developing
a potential webinar and will continue to work on this project at the next meeting.

Peer and Practice Assessments (PPA;) Update

The Committee received an updated report regarding the PPA Program. A total of 26I have been

selected for PPA 1.0 and 3 19 have been selected for PPA 2.0, slight increases from the last report
due to members volunteering to participate in the program. Assessments are well underway
throughout the province. The goal remains to have all assessments completed by the end of the
year.

Peer Assessor Workshop, 2024

As the new year fast approaches, the Committee discussed topics and activities for the upcoming
Peer Assessor Workshop, which is scheduled for Saturday, January 20,2024. During this
workshop, all peer assessors will have the opportunity to share their feedback from their assigned

assessment. They will also assist the QA Committee with enhancing its initiatives via breakout
sessions.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the members and staff of the QA Committee for all their contributions
during this time.

Respectfully,

Dr. Paul Groulx
Chair, Quality Assurance Committee

1127



Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care

tTEM 4.3.3 1136

a

DelecRnoN, ASSTcNMENT AND ReTeRRRL oF Gnne

Guidellne G-014
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: April 24,2018

Note to readers: In the event of any inconsistency betvveen this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lnrerur

To provide guidelines to members on the proper protocols and procedures in assigning any
clinical procedures to a staffperson or referring ofcare to another regulated health professional

Oe.,ecnves

To outline a member's responsibilities with respect to clinical practice, patient
communication, record keeping and business practices in assigning any clinical procedures to
a staffperson or referring ofcare to another regulated health professional;

o To identiff which professional activities may and may not be assigned to a staff person;

DescRrpnoN oF Guloeurue

lntroduction

Members are reminded that they are primarily responsible for the examination and care of
patients and adherence to relevant legislation and CCO standards of practice, policies and
guidelines. However, in the course of providing care to patients, a member may assign certain
aspects ofclinical care to appropriately trained, supervised clinical staff, or refer patients to
another health care professional.

The following guideline outlines the proper protocols in delegating, assigning or referring any
aspect ofclinical care ofa patient.

Definitions

"Staff person" is a chiropractic office or clinical assistant who is not a member of a regulated
health profession.

"Delegation" is the delegation of any controlled act that is authorized to a member under the

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA), Chiropractic Act, 1991 or Healing Arts
Radiation Protection Act, 1990 (HARP).

7



Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care

"Assignment" is the assigning of a diagnostic or therapeutic procedure that is in the public
domain (i.e. not a controlled act).

"Referral" is the referring of a patient from the member to another regulated health professional.

Delegation of Gare

A member may not delegate the performance of any controlled actto a staff person. Chiropractic
students participating in an accredited school's preceptorship program may perform a controlled
act for the purposes of "fulfilling the requirements to become a member of a health profession
and the act is within the scope of practice of the profession and is done under the supervision or
direction of a member of the profession", in accordance with sections 29(l) and 30(5) of the
RHPA and Policy P-050: Supervision and Direction of Chiropractors in Training
http : //cco. on. calsite documents/P-O5 0.pdf.

Assignment of Care

Introduction

A member is responsible for the ongoing assessment, re-assessment, care and monitoring of a
plan ofcare ofa patient.

In the course of providing care to patients, a member may choose to assign certain aspects of
clinical care to a staff person. Assignment may include certain aspects of the examination and
care, such as:

facilitating the completion of general intake forms and documents and collecting basic
assessment data, such as the patient's height and weight, (other?);

assisting the member during the examination and care of the patient; and

performing of adjunctive therapies and modalities that are in the public domain and part of
the chiropractic care plan.

A member is responsible for reviewing the totality of information collected on the patient and for
any act that is assigned to a staffperson.

Requirements for the Assignment of Examination and Care

In assigning any diagnostic or therapeutic procedure, a member shall ensure:

the assignment of the procedure does not include any controlled acts or other restricted
activities or responsibilities that may not be assigned;

the staff person is competent and has achieved, maintained and can demonstrate the
knowledge, skill, judgment and clinical competency to perform any assigned procedure

1137

a

a

a

a

a

1

2



Guideline G-014; Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care

safely and with the same quality of care as the member would provide. Any staff training
should be ongoing and properly documented;

any assignment of care is properly communicated by the member to the patient, and

consented to by the patient before beginning the examination, care or a course of care. This
should include a discussion of the roles and responsibilities of the staff person performing the

assigned care;

1138

a

a

a

a

any assignment of care is recorded in the record of personal health information by the

member, including:
o the nature of the care that is to be assigned;
o who will be performing the assigned care;
o informed consent to any assigned care, consistent with Standard of Practice S-013:

Consent, and
o what services will be billed as part of the assigned care.

any assignment of care is based on a chiropractic examination, diagnosis or clinical
impression, and plan of care performed by the member;

the member is on-site or ensures that another member of CCO is on-site, to provide any

direction or supervision for the performance of the assigned procedure. The level of
supervision required depends on the complexity of the assigned procedure, the abilities of the

assistant, the patient's condition, the clinical environment and other determining factors; and

any assignment of a procedure and performance of an assigned procedure is within the
chiropractic scope of practice and complies with all legislation, including privacy legislation,
and CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines.

Procedures that may not be assigned to a staff person include, but are not limited to:

producing, analysing and communicating the results of radiographic and other diagnostic
images;

a

a

a

a

a

a

interpreting findings and arriving at and communicating a diagnosis or clinical impression;

obtaining informed consent, consistent with Standard of Practice S-013: Consent, for
examination, care, a plan of care, or a referral from the patient or substitute decision-maker;

initiating, communicating or changing a treatment plan;

discharging a patient or referring a patient to another regulated health professional;

ensuring that disclosure of any personal health information of a patient to an outside party is
done in accordance with the Personal Health Information Protection Act and CCO privacy
resources, standards ofpractice, policies and guidelines; and

3



Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care

1 139

a

a

. ensuring adherence to legislation and CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

Referral of Care

In the course of providing care to patients, a member may refer a patient for diagnostic or
therapeutic procedures. This referral could be to a regulated health professional within the same
clinic as the member, or another clinic, or health care facility.

In providing a referral of care, a member shall:

properly communicate the referral of care to the patient or substitute decision-maker
including the reason for the referral;

document the referral in the record of personal health information, including:
o the nature ofthe referral ofcare;
o who will be performing the referred care or where the patient was referred; and
o what services (if any) will be billed as part of the referred care;

Since any referred care is performed by another regulated health professional, that professional
would be responsible for the care of the patient in accordance with the scope of practice and
standards of practice of that professional's regulatory college. However, a member should
conduct any necessary follow-up if the ongoing care is relevant to the chiropractic care of the
patient.

LectslarvE GoNTExr

In addition to the legislative provisions outlined above, members are reminded that the following
are acts of professional misconduct under Ontario Regulation 852/93 (Professional Misconduct):

2. Contravening a standard of practice of the profession or failing to maintain the standard of
practice expected of members of the profession.

12. Failing to reveal the nature of a remedy or treatment used by the member following a
patient's request to do so.

13. Failing to advise a patient to consult with another health professional when the member
knows or ought to know that,

. The patient's condition is beyond the scope of practice and competence for the
member,

r The patient requires the care ofanother health professional, or
. The patient would be appropriately treated by another health professional

14. Providing a diagnostic or therapeutic service that is not necessary

4



Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care

This guideline should be read in conjunction with:

o R-852/93: ProfessionalMisconduct
o 5-001: Scope of Practice
o 5-002: Record Keeping
o 5-008: Communicating a Diagnosis
. 5-013: Consent
o G-008: Business Practices

1140

5



|TEM 4.3.5
Standard of Practice 5-005: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs

1148ORoeruruG, TAKING AND IrureRpnETING RnoIOCnAPHS

Standard of Practice S-006
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: February 18, 1998
Amended : November 27,'1999, Septem ber 20, 201 4
(Previously titled "Technical and lnterpretative Components for X-ray")

lrurerur

This standard of practice advises members of the practices and procedures for ordering, taking
and interpreting radiographs.

Chiropractors are primary health care practitioners, are aathorized to use the "doctor" title, and
have been granted the legislative authority under the Chiropractic Act, l99l to:

communicate a diagnosis identifying, as the cause of a person's symptoms,
i. a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the spine and their effects on

the nervous system,
ii. or a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the joints of the

extremities.

A member is authorized under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) and the
Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990 (HARP) to order radiographs and operate an x-ray
machine for the irradiation of a human.

Oe.Jecnves

To enhance the effectiveness and quality of chiropractic diagnosis and care provided to
the patient by the member.

To identiff when it is appropriate for a member to order or take a radiograph for a

patient.

To ensure the safety of both patient and the member during the taking of a radiograph.

To advise members of the practices and procedures in interpreting, documenting and
organizing radiographic films, notes, logs, reports and other records.

a

a

a

a

7



Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs

1149

a
{

.f-

DescRrproN oF STANDARD

Members Who Order Radiographs

Procedures for Patient Selection

A member shall only order radiographs as a component of an examination of a patient when the
history, examination or diagnostic tests clinically indicate a finding which would be better
identified, confirmed or eliminated by the ordering or taking of radiographs.

In ordering a radiograph for a patient, a member shall:

perform a history and examination of the patient, as described in Standard of Practice S-
001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping;

consider whether the radiograph is required to reach an appropriate diagnosis, clinical
impression and/or plan of care;

make reasonable attempts to avoid unnecessary duplication;

consider the benefits, limitations, contraindications and risks; and

communicate effectively to the patient the reason and process for ordering or taking the
radiograph, and record this rationale in the patient health record.

A member shall use proper patient selection protocols with reference to age, child-bearing status

and clinical indications of need, such as testing the structure and alignment of the spine. ln the
acquisition of radiological studies, a member shall consider the risk/benefit ratio and the "as low
as reasonably achievable" (A.L.A.R.A.) principle of dosage. The number of views and when
they are taken shall be based upon clinical indications. The minimum number of views to reach a

diagnostic conclusion shall be the prime objective. Generally, two views at right angles are the
minimum number of projections for diagnosis of osseous structures.

Follow-up

A member is required to conduct appropriate follow-up with a patient following the ordering of a
radiograph. In performing such follow up, a member shall:

analyze the results of the radiograph based on the results andlor interpretive reports. If no
report is included with the radiograph, a member shall create a radiological report
consistent with this standard of practice;

record in the patient health record any additional observations or conclusions made after
reviewing the radiograph and accompanying report, if a radiological report accompanies
the radiographic study;

a

a

a

a

a

a

2



Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs

ensure that an appropriate and timely follow-up occurs based on the results of the
radiographic study and clinical investigation;

select care options within the chiropractic scope of practice, based on the results of the
history, examination and diagnostic results, including the radiographic study;

report the radiographic findings to the patient in a manner understandable to the patient;

advise the patient to consult with the appropriate health care professional, if the results of
a radiograph reveal a diagnosis, clinical impression or findings that may fall outside the
chiropractic scope of practice; and

a when appropriate, advise a patient to consult with an appropriate health professional.

Radiological Report

A member shall ensure that a nanative report accompanies all radiographs ordered or taken by
the member, which shall contain the following informationl:

o patient information (name, age, gender)
o date radiograph taken
r examination (series and views)
o description (radiographic features, usually in order of importance or anatomical

sequence)
o radiological impressions (list radiological diagnosis in order of importance)
. recommendations (suggestions for further studies, additional specific views or other

imaging modalities).

Billing Guidelines

Billing procedures with respect to radiographs must comply with Guideline G-008: Business
Practices. Billing procedures relate to the technical and professional components, whether
rendered separately or as fulI service. A member may establish a fee schedule and divide the fee
structure into technical (production) and professional (interpretative) components.

Members Who Take Their Own Radiographs

A member who takes his/her own radiographs shall comply with the procedures for patient
selection, follow up and billing guidelines section as described above in this standard of practice

Additionally, a member who takes his/trer own radiographs is required to:

ensure hisftrer equipment is properly registered and compliant with HARP and its
regulations;

I Please see Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping, for requirements on maintaining reports and records for all
diagnostic images.

1 150
a

a

a

a

a

3



Standard of Practice 5-005: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs 1151
ensure hisArer use of x-ray equipment is compliant with the safety protocols of HAKP and
its regulations;

. obtain informed consent for the taking of the radiograph;

o maintain radiological records;

o produce a radiological report; and

o maintain a radiological log, as follows:

Equ ipment Registration

A member shall ensure that all x-ray installations are registered with the X-ray Inspection
Service, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. This applies to all x-ray installations - whether
new or used equipment, recently installed or relocated.

Gompf iance with HARP

Members must keep records of compliance with the procedures and tests of the HARP and its
regulations, which may be accessed at www.canlii.orglenlon/laws/stat/rso-1990-c-h2llatest/rso-
i990-c-h2.html.

Consent

The responsibility for obtaining consent from the patient is on the member or other regulated
health professional who is taking the radiograph at the time the radiograph is taken.

A member who is taking a radiograph of a patient is required to obtain patient consent, consistent
with Standard of Practice S-013: Consent, that is:

. fully informed;
o voluntarily given;
o related to the patient's condition and circumstances;
o not obtained through fraud or misrepresentation; and
. evidenced in a written form signed by the patient or otherwise documented in the patient

health record.

X-Ray Safety and Quality Assurance

A member shall ensure he/she is compliant with the safety and quality assurance ptotocols for
operating an x-ray machine of HAfuP, its regulations, and Health Canada's Technical Reports
and Publications, including but not limited to:

o positioning the patient as required to provide optimum image quality while using
minimum radiation;

. using radiation protection devices and other patient protection devices as required;

. ensuring the intended area will be displayed optimally on the radiograph; and

a

4

l

.l
l



Standard of Practice 5-006: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs

ensuring the radiograph taken creates an image and data that are sufficiently accurate and

clear for the indicated diagnostic or therapeutic purpose

Radiological Records

A member shall ensure that a radiological record accompanies every radiograph, which shall
include:

o recent radiographs, when appropriate and available;
o the specific reason for which the radiodiagnostic examination is being conducted (e.g.,

differential diagno sis, ff eatment planning indicators) ;

o the results and conclusions (diagnosis or clinical impression) of the reading of the
radiograph; and

o the recommendation and plan or care based on the radiograph.

RadiologicalLog

The radiological log shall be part of the patient health record and shall contain the following:
o patient'sidentification
e date of study
o projection orview
o part thickness in centimeter
. kilo Voltage/peak (k.V.p.)
. milli Amperage x seconds (m.A.s)
o comments

Continuing Education

It is strongly recommended that a member who orders, takes and/or interprets radiographs as part

of his/her practice participate in ongoing continuing education relevant to the ordering, taking
and /or interpreting of radiographs.

A mernber who orders, takes and/or interprets radiographs as part of hisftrer practice shall:
r maintain current knowledge of all applicable legislation, regulations, standards of

practice, policies and guidelines;
. apply his/her relevant knowledge, skills and professional judgment to the process of

ordering, taking and interpreting radiographs; and
o maintain up-to-date knowledge of new and emerging trends, practices and advances in

technology

1152
a

5



Standard of Practice 5-005: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs

Lectsl-nrvE CoNTEXT

Chiropractic Act, 1991

The scope of practice is defined inthe Chiropractic Act, l99l as follows:

1153

The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the
spine, nervous system and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and
treatment, primarily by adjustment, of,

(a) dysfunctions and disorders arising from the structures or functions
of the spine and the effects of those dysfunctions or disorders on
the nervous system; and

(b) dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions
of the joints.

Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990

The following sections are excerpts from HARP authorizing members of CCO to operate x-ray
machines for the irradiation of a human being. Please see the HARP and its regulation at
http.,llcanlii.orglenlonllaws/stat/rso-1990-c-h2llatest/rso-1990-c-h2.html for further detail.

Section 5
(1) No person shall operate an X-ray machine for the irradiation of a human being unless the
person meets the qualifications and requirements prescribed by the regulations.
(2) The following persons shall be deemed to meet the qualifications prescribed by the

regulations:
1. A legally qualified medical practitioner.
2. A member of the Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario.
3. A member of the College of Chiropodists of Ontario who has been continuously

registered as a chiropodist under the Chiropody Act and the Chiropody Act, 199 I since
before November 1, 1980 or who is a graduate of a four-year course of instruction in
chiropody.

4. A member of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario.
5. Repealed: 1998, c. 18, Sched.G, s. 5l (2).
6. Repealed:2011, c. 1, Sched. 6, s. 2 (1).
7. A member of the College of Medical Radiation Technologists of Ontario.
8. A member of the College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario.

Section 6
(1) No person shall operate an X-ray machine for the irradiation of a human being unless the

irradiation has been prescribed by,
(a) a legally qualified medical practitioner;
(b) a member of the Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario;
(c) a member of the College of Chiropodists of Ontario who has been continuously

registered as a chiropodist under the Chiropody Act and the Chiropody Act, 1991

6

=il-i



Standard of Practice 5-005: Ordering, Taking and lnterpreting Radiographs

since before November 1, 1980 or who is a graduate of a four-year course of
instruction in chiropody; or

(d) a member of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario.
(e) Repealed: 1998, c. 18, Sched. G, s. 51 (4).
(f) Repealed:2011, c. l, Sched. 6, s.2 (2).

This standard of practice should be read in conjunction with

o Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990 (HARP)
o Standard of Practice S-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice
o Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping
. Standard of Practice S-013: Consent
o Guideline G-008: Business Practices

1154

7



,ii''CBC Q Search g sign ln

1 155

ITEM 6.1

Health

Canada stopped checking kids' spines years ago.

Why experts say screening should come back

Race against time to prevent severe spine curve

Jennifer La Grassa, Amin a Zafat - CBC News . Posted: Oct 01 , 2023 4:00 AM EDT I Last Updated: October 1

lsla Hume, left, was diagnosed with scoliosis at 13 and was able to prevent surgery by bracing and doing

physio. Her mom Angie Chan, right, had scoliosis about 30 years ago, but it was caught too late so she had to

get surgery. (Submitted by Angie Chan)

comments

Angie Chan knew by the way her daughter hunched forward that something wasn't

right.

"l did ask her to bend over and show me her spine," she said

Running her fingers along the 13-year-old's back, Chan could feel the way it had

curled out of place.



1 156

The diagnosis was obvious to the Vancouver resident - it was scoliosis, an abnormal
curving of the spine that tends to happen near the start of puberty. In more severe

cases, the way the spine bends can put pressure on the person's heart and lungs.

Research finds that the condition affects about two to three per cent of teens. ln a

majority of cases, it's unclear what causes it.

Chan knows the issue first hand because she had surgery to straighten her own spine

about 30 years ago. And it's because of Chan's own diagnosis that she knew her
daughter, lsla Hume, was in a race against time to prevent her spine from curving any

fu rth e r,

Hume wasn't yet a candidate for the surgery as her spine hadn't bent severely.

lnstead, she was able to try preventative measures like braces and physiotherapy

"We definitely didn't want to just sit and wait around," said Chan

Parents and those with lived experiences like Chan say that if more resources were
put into early detection and preventative measures, kids could avoid an invasive

spinal fusion surgery. Canada no longer has regular childhood screening for scoliosis,

and other forms or prevention aren't getting the money and attention that surgery

does, even though they've been shown to work.

For 20 hours a day, Hume strapped herself into a brace, She also went to physio twice

a week and did exercises at home.

Now, two years later, Chan says that Hume's spine has mostly corrected itself to the
point where she doesn't need surgery.

But many kids aren't lucky enough to catch it early like Hume, which means surgery

ends up being inevitable.

5

=



Groups push for screening to come back

Scoliosis screening used to be standard in schools; the child would bend forward at

the waist and be examined for signs like uneven shoulders, ribs or hips.

But in Canada, scoliosis screening in schools stopped decades ago

When it was done in schools by people who weren't fully trained, surgeons said it

sometimes led to an overcalling of scoliosis and referring kids for X-rays

unnecessarily.

ln an email to CBC News,.Jean Ouellet, president of the Canadian Pediatrics Spine

Society, said that the organization is pushing to increase early detection and raise

awareness of scoliosis.

The United States Preventive Services Task Force previously had "no

recommendation" for scoliosis screening and changed that in 2018 to say there isn't

enough evidence for it to have a recommendation.

Now a physicians'group in Nova Scotia aims to bring back scoliosis screening there,

joining a move across the country.

To that end, they're educating family physicians and nurse practitioners about

evaluating children for scoliosis at an early stage, said Dr. Ron El-Hawary, chief of
pediatric orthopedic surgery at IWK Health Centre in Halifax and part of the

physicians' group.

"One of the caveats is that it's important to have well-trained personnel do the

screening."

1157



WATCH I Metal rods in her spine couldn't keep her out of circus arts:

Metal rods in irerr s;:ine r.ouldn'1. kr:*:p lli!s wolrl;*t eri.rl of tllc e ircus

21 day:, p516 ; 3:(t7

Bending and flexing against the metal rods in her spine, circus performer Angola Murdoch tells the story of
her life with scoliosis in a production she calls Twist of Fate. Murdoch is performing the acclaimed show
Wednesday night at St. John's lnternational CircusFest.

Avoid ing invasive su rgery

Right now, Canadian kids are facing long and painful waits to get spinal surgery -
putting them at risk for more complex operations.

Orthopedic surgeon Kevin Smit supports early detection now more than ever because

the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated the "disconcerting" wait for children and teens

to be diagnosed.

When in-patient appointments stopped, it was difficult to tell over video chat just how

much a patient's ribs noticeably stick out when they bent over to touch their toes. lt's

a common first step in diagnosing scoliosis in three dimensions.

Given that those with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis can wait up to 18 months at the
Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario (CHEO) in Ottawa to get into the operating
room, Smit welcomes both bracing and a less invasive surgery that uses internal
braces to avoid spinal fusions when possible.

"lt's kind of like puttingthe brace on the inside of the child instead of the outside,"

Smit said of the simpler surgery, called vertebral body tethering.

Tethering can be an option for those with severe curves that are more than 45

degrees who are still growing. Smit said.

"lt's a shorter surgery, they're in hospital for less long, there's less pain, it's an earlier
recovery."

1 158

-{
-i
=:



1159

-#
About three-quarters of some young scoliosis patients who wear a brace don't end up needing surgery, says

Dr- Ron El-Hawary. (Subm'tted by Ron El-Hawary)

Once a child is diagnosed, El-Hawary says external braces are standard for moderate

scoliosis.

Orthotists fit braces and physiotherapists instruct on spine exercises.

Nurses troubleshoot with families about wearing the brace and working through any

body image concerns.

"lf the patients are wearing the brace as much as we hope they would, then the brace

is successful about 75 per cent of the time from preventing the scoliosis from getting

worse and requiring surgery," El-Hawary said.

"However, because of the long wait time to get in the clinic, sometimes they miss that

window of opportunity."

For those who do need surgery, Children's Healthcare Canada and the Conference

Board of Canada reported this week that 68 per cent of children and teens in Nova

Scotia waited more than recommended for spinal surgery, the worst in the country.

It's not easy to find preventative care

Andrea Lebel, a physiotherapist and owner of Scoliosis Physiotherapy & Posture

Centre, opened her Ottawa clinic in 2008. She's spent years advocating for better

scoliosis care in the country, specifically when it comes to being able to access a

physiothe ra pist.

Having her own diagnosis reversed at 12 years old through consistent exercise, Lebel

says it's "unacceptable" that kids these days aren't getting a timely diagnosis and are



then forced to wait months for surgery.

Andrea Lebel has physiotherapists from across Canada come Lo her to learn specialized techniques for
treating people with scoliosis. (Submitted by Andrea Lebel)

A growing body of research shows that certain types of physiotherapy can improve

symptoms; as in Hume's case, physiotherapy is often used with braces to possibly

eliminate the need for surgery.

But right now, there's a patch-work of funding programs across the country for
braces, which can be costly and present a financial barrier for some.

For example, Quebec covers spinal braces, Ontario and Alberta foot up to 75 per cent

of the cost, whereas in British Columbia and Nova Scotia it can vary depending on

private insurance and the programs a person qualifies for.

In addition to this, there's also a lack of specialized physiotherapists who are qualified

to treat scoliosis patients.

"l have patients [who] come from many parts of Canada who take the trip to come

and learn exercises and go home and do them," said Lebel.

Andrea Mendoza, a physiotherapist and owner of ScoliClinic in Vancouver, says

scoliosis treatments aren't part of the physiotherapist curriculum. People who are

!

I



interested in this, she says, have to find training themselves. She estimates that

there's about 50 physiotherapists in Canada who have in-depth scoliosis training

Mendoza and El-Hawary say they want to see the government bring back childhood

screening, better fund braces and invest in hiring and trainlng physiotherapists.

Feeling'at the mercy'of the system

Chan said her family felt like they were "at the mercy of our health-care system."

Being a patient was like "bobbing up and down on this wave in an ocean of a health-

care system that is so ill equipped to help you," she said.

While it took discipline for Hume to wear a brace and go to her appointments, Chan

says it made them feel less helpless.

"My daughter taking care of her own body and us as her family supporting her in

doing that, is incredibly empowering," she said.

CBC's Journalistic Standards and Practices I About CBC News

Corrections and clarifications I Submit a news tip I Report error -

,$CBCNEWS

SECIND IPINIIN
Avital dose of the week's news in health and medicine, from CBC Health. Delivered to your
inbox every Saturday morning.

Email address:

Enter your email address $u bse ri!re

r..2023 CBc/lta.lio-Canada. All righls reserved.

1 160

Visite? Ra(lio-Caia(la.{a



Secretory lmmunoglobulin A and Upper
Cervical Chiropractic: A Preliminary
Prospective, M ulticenter, Observational
Study

1 163

levels can be an informative indicator of the systemic

immune system. SIgA fluctuates with circadian rhythms,3'a

so collecting samples at a consistent time of day is impera-
tive for making accurate comparisons.

The nervous system is known to regulate the immune
system, both directly and hormonally.5 Both sympathetic
and parasympathetic control have been shown to modulate
intestinal SIgA6 as well as salivary SIgA,7'8 and manual
therapy has also been shown to affect SIgA levels.e There
is a small body of evidence suggesting a relationship
between spinal manipulation and the nervous system.l0-13

Some theories of how upper cervical adjusting techniques
(UCATs) may influence the nervous system have been pro-
posed.la It is hypothesized that spinal manipulation may

trigger the neuroimmunoendocrine system,ls although
mechanisms are still being explored.

Therefore, the primary purpose of this study was to
observe the influence of the UCAT treaffnent on SIgA. We
hypothesized that there would be a significant increase in
SIgA at either or both time points after the UCAT treat-

ment. We also investigated 2 additional biomarkers as

secondary outcomes: C-reactive protein (CRP), which has

been shown to rise in the acute phase of inflammation as

well as in long-term inflammatory processes,l6 and salivary
a-amylase, which has been proposed as a biomarker for
activation of the sympathetic nervous system.lT Another
secondary outcome was to investigate how responses to the

o

Philip R. Schalow, DC, DCCJP,' Kelly A. Kimball, DC, b 
Fredericl< T. Schurger, DC, DCCJP,'

George R. Sooley, DC, DCCJP, 
o Scott P. Bales, DC, DCCJP, " Roderic P. Rochester, DC, FCCJP,

Roberl T. Brooks, DC, s and Julie M. Hunt, DC, FCC.JP, DICCP "

Objective: The objective of this study was to observe changes in secretory immunoglobulin A (SIgA) after

chiropractic care using upper cervical adjusting techniques (UCATs) at the craniocervical junction (CCJ).

Methods: Forty-one participants were enrolled from 5 chiropractic offices in North America. Each participant
provided a saliva sample at an initial visit before care. A second saliva sample was collected after resting 30 minutes

after the first UCAT treatment. A third saliva sample was collected after 2 weeks.

Results: There was a significant increase in SIgA observed 30 minutes after the UCAT treatment compared to

baseline. After 2 weeks, SIgA levels decreased back to near original levels.

Conclusion: Our preliminary findings demonstrate an immediate, temporary increase in SIgA levels after a

UCAT treatment at the CCJ. (J Chiropr Med 2021;20;121-127)
Key lndexing Terms: Chiropractic; Immunoglobulin A, Secretory; Immunity, Mucosal

lNrRooucroN

Secretory immunoglobulin A (SIgA) is the most abun-

dant immunoglobulin in mucosal secretions.lThese secre-

tions play a critical role as a part of the immune system,

which provides a nonspecific, firstline defense against

numerous pathogens.l SIgA limits the access of microor-
ganisms to mucosal surfaces in the intestines, respiratory
tract, and urogenital tract.l It is also a marker for the sys-

temic immune system, as it is produced by B cells and then

released into mucosal cells for excretion.2 Measuring SIgA

u Private practice, Rockford, Illinois.
blnternational Chiropractors Association, Falls Church,

Virginia.
" Private practice, Springfield, Illinois.
d Private practice, Danville, Illinois.
' Private practice, Alliston, Ontario, Canada.
' Private practice, Clarkesville, Georgia.
g Tulsa, Oklahoma.
h Private practice, Clearwater, Florida.
Conesponding author: Kelly A. Kimball.

(e-mail: k. ki ntbal I res eat'c h @ gmoi l. c on t).
Paper submitted September 8,2020; in revised form October

21, 2021 ; accepted October 21, 2021.
1556-3707
@ 2O2l by National University of Health Sciences. This is an

open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license
(http ://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

https://doi.org/ I 0. I 0 I 6/j.jcm.202 1 . I 0.003

AssrRAcr



122 schalowetat
SIgA and Upper Cenical Chiropractic

l2-ltem Short Form Health Survey version 2 (SF-12v2)
might change from baseline to 2 weeks after treatment.

Mr ruoos

Upper cervical adjusting techniques (UCATs) are

forms of chiropractic manipulation or spinal manipulative
therapy that focus on reducing measurable misalignments
or dysfunctions at the craniocervical junction (CCD.I4
We conducted a prospective, multicenter, 2-week pilot
study at 5 upper cervical chiropractic practices across.

North America, each practicing a different UCAT: Atlas
Orthogonal, Blair, Knee Chest (Kale/KCUCS), National
Upper Cervical Chiropractic Association, and Orthospi-
nology. These techniques were chosen because they were
the only UCATs at the time of the study that had both an

organization overseeing a certification program in the
technique and a doctor of chiropractic in clinical practice
with a diplomate or fellowship in chiropractic craniocer-
vical junction procedures (DCCJP, FCCJP) through the
Intemational Chiropractors Association's Council on
Upper Cervical Care.

Together, the 5 UCATs represent the majority of chiro-
practors practicing upper cervical chiropractic. Each of the
5 UCATs is represented in the Intemational Chiropractors
Association's Council on Upper Cervical Chiropractic
Care; uses objective radiographic analysis with a protocol
developed and standardized by the respective certifying
organization; includes a systematic protocol to determine
when and when not to adjust a patientla; and has demon-
strated the potential for beneficial outcomes over a short
period of time.l8

Five volunteers were recruited from qualified diplo-
mates and fellows. The Sherman College of Chiropractic
Institutional Review Board approved the research methods

before participant recruitment and data collection. All par-
ticipants provided consent.

Eligibilityaiteria

To meet the inclusion criteria, each participant needed to
be between 2l and 65 years of age, be a new patient, have
clinical findings indicating UCAT treatment, be willing to
forego exercise 24 hours before data collection, and be
willing to avoid caffeine and alcohol consumption 4 hours
before data collection. Potential participants were excluded
from the study if they had disease of the salivary glands,
had active oral lesions, used tobacco products (cigarette,

chewing tobacco, e-cigarettes), used antibiotics or probiot-
ics, had an autoimmune disease, had a respiratory illness
within the week before the initial visit, had dental care
pending or completed within the week before the initial
visit, were cunently pregnant, had chiropractic

Journal of Chiropractic Medicine
September 2021

manipulative therapy within the week before the initial
visit, were unable to read or comprehend English, or had a

contraindication to UCAT treatments.

1164

i
I
-l

Recruitment

Participants were recruited from 5 chiropractic practi-
ces between January l, 2019, and June l, 2019. Each
new patient at the 5 clinics during this time frame under-
went a consultation, an examination, and imaging to
determine whether they were eligible to participate in the
study. Patients who met the inclusion criteria were
invited to participate, and those who consented were
enrolled. Patients who met the exclusion criteria were not
invited to participate. Each of the 5 locations was permit-
ted to enroll up to l0 participants within the recruitment
time frame. After June 1,2019, no additional participants
were enrolled.

Study design

Each participant signed an informed consent document
before data collection. At the first visit, they completed a

demographic survey and the SF-12v2. The administration
of the SF-12v2 followed all guidelines outlined in the
user's manual.le Salivary samples were collected immedi-
ately before the first ffeatment, after the first UCAT treat-
ment at the CCJ after a 30-minute rest, and at the end of the
2-week period. The UCAT performed was Atlas Orthog-
onal, Blair, Knee Chest, National Upper Cervical Chiro-
practic Association (NUCCA), or Onhospinology,
depending on which doctor the participant saw, because
each doctor in the study practiced a different UCAT.
Each UCAT has its own standardized protocol,ra which
was strictly followed by each doctor. SIgA levels dem-
onstrate circadian variation,3'a so each follow-up sample
was collected within a 2-hour range centered on the time
of the initial sample. For example, if the participant's ini-
tial sample was collected at l0 arra, each follow-up sam-
ple was collected within t hour before or after 10 arra.

There were 5 visits for each participant within a 2-week
period, including the initial visit. At each visit, the inves-
tigator examined the participant to ascertain whether or
not an additional treatment was required, following the
protocols designated by the respective UCAT. Each par-
ticipant completed the SF-12v2 again at the end of the 2-
week period.

All clinical data collected related to this project were
stored on paper documents. These documents included the
informed consent, inclusion/exclusion checklist, SF-12v2,
and daily-visit checklists, which indicated the procedures

performed at each visit. These were stored in a secure file
until the completion of the project, at which time they were
copied and sent to the statistician for processing. Each



Journal of Chiropractic Medicine
Volume 20, Number 3

document was identifiable only by the same alphanumenc
identifier that was associated with that participant's saliva

sample, so that the statistician was blinded to the identity
of any participant.

Salivary-sample processing

Saliva was collected according to Salimetrics' lab

instructions and marked with an alphanumeric designation
indicating the participant and the number of the sample.

The specimen was immediately stored in the office refriger-
ator and then deep-frozen to 0oF. At the completion of sam-

ple collection for the office, all samples were shipped in dry

ice to the lab. Samples were assayed at the Salimetrics Sali-

valab (Carlsbad, Califomia) using the Salimetrics Salivary

Secretory IgA ELISA Kit (catalog number 1-1602), with-
out modifications to the manufacturer's protocol. Salimet-

rics has demonstrated no significant difference between its

protocol and a commercially available SIgA enzyme-linked
immunosorbent assay for determining SIgA levels.20

Stathtical analysis

The software used for statistical analysis was IBM SPSS

Statistics 26. Mean levels of SIgA, CRP, and cy-amylase

were compa.red at baseline, 30 minutes after the first ffeat-

ment, and after 2 weeks using a repeated-measures analysis

of variance with cv=0.05. Data were transformed before

analysis so that normality and variance assumptions were
met. We used the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality. Pairwise

comparisons were accomplished using a Bonferroni conec-
tion.

The SF-12v2 was scored following all guidelines

detailed in the user's manual.le Participant responses were

entered manually into Excel and scored using the computer
program PRO CoRE version 1.4.21 The program scores

each survey compared to a standardized baseline based on

US adults, which is set to 50. Scores range from 0 to 100,

with 100 indicating better health status. The SF-12v2 meas-

ures health status in both physical health and mental health,

reporting a physical component score (PCS) and a mental

component score (MCS). A Wilcoxon signed-rank test was

performed to evaluate whether the PCS and MCS were sig-

nificantly different at the 2-week time point compared to

their respective baselines.

Rrsulrs

A total of 358 new patients were considered for partici-
pation in this study. Of those, 116 met the inclusion and

not the exclusion criteria, and 44 of these consented to par-

ticipate. Three participants were lost to follow-up after the

initial visit, giving a total of 4l participants who were
included in the data analysis.

schalowetal 123
SIgA and Upper Ceruical Chiropractic

Demographicinrormation 1165
The demographic information about the study partici-

pants is summarized in Table l. Our study participants

werc 56.l%o women, and most respondents were white,
non-Hispanic, married, and employed. The age of partici-
pants ranged from25 to 65 years, with amean of 47.5 years

and a median of 49.5 years.

Seaetory lgA

A repeated-measures analysis of variance demonstrated

a significant difference in mean SIgA among our 3 time
points, F2.7s=9.63, P < .01. Post hoc analysis was accom-
plished using a Bonferroni correction. A significant
increase of 117.85 p,gln[,, P < .01, was observed in mean

SIgA level from baseline (mean [M] = 31 I .05,

SD=202.37) to posttreatment (M=428.90, SD =329.70),
as represented in Figure 1. There was also a significant
decrease in mean SIgA observed after 2 weeks

(M=284.45, SD = 174.48) compared to the posttreatment

level, P < .01. There was no significant difference between
the mean SIgA level initially and after 2 weeks, P > .017.

(-reactive protein and o-amylase

No statistical difference was observed in mean CRP at

baseline, after treatment, or at 2 weeks, Fz,aq=0.9J3,
P = .384. There was also no observed difference in mean

cv-amylase among the 3 time points, Ft.zt=1.294,
P=.263.

l2Jtem Short Form Health Survey Version I
The mean PCS increased signiflcantly from baseline

(M=45.0, SD= 10.75) to 2 weeks (M=48.3, SD=9.15),
Z = 524.5, P = .O25 . The mean MCS also increased signifl-
cantly from baseline (M=50.1, SD= 10.17) to 2 weeks

(M = 52.3,SD = 7.70), Z = 381.5, P = .028.

DrscussroN

To our knowledge, this study is the first investigation to

measure SIgA after UCAT treatment. Although human

studies exploring SIgA levels have been completed in
cross-sectional samples,e'22-24 this study is among the first
to investigate SIgA samples longitudinally in human sub-
jects.

We measured an increase in mean SIgA 30 minutes after

the first treatment, compared to both the initial sample and

the sample taken after 2 weeks. However, there was no sig-

nificant change between the initial and final samples,

though the mean value after 2 weeks was lower than the

initial value. Our findings are similar to those observed in
individuals who received osteopathic manipulative therapy,



124 Schalowetal
SIgA and Upper Ceruical Chircpractic

Table l. Demographic Informationfor Study Participants
(n= 41)

Characteristic

Joumal of Chiropractic Medicine
September 2021

1 166
Table l. (Continued)

Characteristic

Vo

Sex

Female

Male

Age, y

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65-69

Race

American Indian or Alaska Native

Asian

Black or African American

Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander

White or Caucasian

Multiple races

Ethnicity

Hispanic

Non-Hispanic

Unknown or not reported

Marital status

Single (never married)

Married

Divorced

Widowed

Living with significant other

Education

Some high school

High school diploma

Some college

College degree

Postgaduato degree

Trade school

Professional school

Not reported

Employment

Self-employed

Employed by other

Work in home

Unemployed

Student

Retired (not ill health)

Disabled/retired (ill health)

Not reported

0 0

24.4

t2.2

29.3

4.9

12.2

0

17.1

t7.t

68.3

2.4

.A

0

4.9

0

4.9

23

18

56.1

43.9

10

5

12

)

5

0

7

7

6

2

4

3

5

8

5

1

!f
1
:

14.6

4.9

9.8

7.3

12.2

1'7.1

i9.5

12.2

2.4

0

1

1

0

38

0

2.4

2.4

0

92;7

2.4

28

1

1

0

2

0

2

34

2.4

82.9

t4.6

24.4

58.s

t2.2

2.4

(continued)

who also showed a significant increase in SIgA after treat-
ment.e While our mean level of SIgA at baseline was nearly
3 times higher than in the osteopathic study-possibly due
to that study's highly stressed participant population, who
might have lower SIgA levels as a result of stress-our
mean increase of 117.85 pClrnl- (n=40) was similar to
their observed 139-mglI- (n=12) increase.e The osteo-
pathic study also had a control group, which rested for 20
minutes instead of receiving osteopathic manipulative ther-
apy, that showed a modest 35-mglL (n= 13) increase in
SIgA. We recommend using a similar control group in
future research on the relationship between SIgA and chiro-
practic treatments. Our findings also showed no significant
difference in the mean level of SIgA between men and
women at any of the time points, similar to other studies.2s

As SIgA is thought to be a marker for the status of not
only the mucosal immune system26 but also systemic
immunity,2 an increase in SIgA may indicate activation of
the systemic immune system. Our findings suggest that

6

10

24

5

1

1

Vo



Joumal of Chiropractic Medicine
Volume 20, Number 3

after a UCAT treatment at the CCJ, a systemic immune
response is activated for a short period.

Mechanisms to explain our findings are not entirely
clear. Chiropractic care may alleviate physiological stress

in the body as well as self-perceived emotional stress,27

which may contribute to these SIgA findings. Several stud-

ies have shown that SIgA is sensitive to physiological and

emotional stress. For example, perceived stress, loneliness,
and depressive symptoms have all been shown to decrease

various subclasses of SIgA in undergraduate students.23

Emergency department nurses have reported higher stress

levels and lower SIgA secretion than general ward
nurses." Additionally, abbreviated progressive muscle
relaxation has been shown to increase SIgA levels in under-
graduate students.2a The relationship between stress and

SIgA secretion has been replicated in animal studies, where
SIgA has been shown to decrease in both physiologically
and psychologically stressed rodents.6 Future research

could explore how loneliness, depressive symptoms, and

emotional stress may contribute to SIgA responses in chiro-
practic patients by using outcome measures such as the

Revised UCLA Loneliness Scale, the Beck Depression
Inventory, and the Perceived Stress Scale, as well as inves-
tigating how these outcome measures may change through-
out a course of chiropractic care.

SIgA may be sensitive to neurological changes. Animal
studies have shown that there is a link between the auto-

nomic nervous system and SIgA levels. For example, SIgA
has been shown to decrease when parasympathetic input is
removed from the submandibular gland in rats.28 It has also

been shown in animal models to increase when stimulated
by norepinephrine.3 While the relationship between the

immune system and the sympathetic nervous system has

Schalowetal 125
SIgA and Upper Cenical Chiropractic

1167450

430

470

390

370

350

330

310

290

210

250

428.90

J
E
(')
t-

o)
a

311.05

284.45

Baseline Post-treatment Two Weeks

Fig. l. Mean secretory immunoglobulin A before, 30 minutes afier, and 2 weeks after an initial upper cervical adjusting technique
treatment at the craniocervical junction (n = 40I

been studied in depth,2e further research is necessary to bet-

ter understand the role the autonomic nervous system plays
in SIgA secretion specifically, as well as the neuroimmu-
noendocrine effect of UCAT treatments at the CCJ. Heart-
rate variability is a useful indicator of the autonomic ner-
vous system and has been shown to change as the result of
chiropractic spinal manipulation.l0'12'30 Future research

could investigate how heart-rate variability and SIgA levels

change before and after chiropractic care.

Lee proposed a thalamic neuron theory3l that may be a

plausible explanation for our findings, which is that the

immune system is modulated by the central nervous sys-

tem. Lee proposed that the nervous system, immune sys-

tem, and endocrine system have an inseparable

relationship, and noted that boundaries between them are

"both anatomically and molecularly blurred."3r He pro-
posed that the immune system could be considered a com-
ponent of the central nervous system. Further research is

necessary to explore the mechanisms behind our observa-

tions regarding SIgA secretion, as well as the relationship
between UCAT treatments and immune function.

We found improvement in both the PCS and MCS of the

SF-12v2 from baseline to 2 weeks. While the SF-12v2 is

more cornmonly used cross-sectionally in the chiropractic
literature, our study examined how it changed longitudi-
nally in participants under chiropractic care. We recom-

mend that future research continue to administer surveys

past 2 weeks to investigate how physical and mental health

scores may change over time, as measured by the SF-12v2.

Our findings did not show a significant change in
a-amylase during our 2-week study; however, we did
observe that it was decreased at 2 weeks compared to the

level observed after treatment. We recommend that future



126 schalowetal
SIgA and Upper Ceruical Chiropractic

studies continue collecting samples past 2 weeks to see if
this trend develops. We also did not observe a significant
change in CRP throughout the study, because CRP levels
remained fairly consistent at the 3 time points.

Limitations

Uur data demonstrated large standard devratrons, whrch
may be the result of our small sample size. In the statistical
analysis of SIgA, 1 data point was removed as an outlier
for exhibiting very high SIgA in the posttreatment sample.
Removing this data point did not change the significance of
our findings, and it improved the variability ofour data set.

Eight of the study participants had I or more missing CRP
data points because they had CRP samples above the upper
limit of 8000 pglml- or because there was an insufflcient
amount of sample to be processed, making them unable to
be analyzed by the Salimetrics Salivalab. As a result, these

8 individuals were omitted from the analysis of variance
for CRP. There were also 3 study participants who did not
complete the SF-12v2 at the 2-week time point. These indi-
viduals were omitted from the statistical analysis of the SF-
l2v2health surveys.

The generalizability of our findings is limited by our
small sample size and short follow-up length of 2 weeks.
Because this is a small study, we recommend replicating it
on a larger scale, increasing both the number of participants
and the length of time following them, to explore how
SIgA, CRP, and a-amylase might change over a period of
time longer than 2 weeks. We also recommend collecting
saliva samples more frequently than 2 weeks apart, because

this could provide more information on how SIgA responds
after treatment.

The generalizability of our findings is also limited to
the 5 UCATs included, performed by chiropractors who
were upper cervical diplomates and fellows. For future
studies, we recommend using a larger and random sample

of upper cervical diplomates and fellows. Sources of error
were minimized by standardizing each patient visit,
because each doctor strictly adhered to the procedures out-
lined by their specific UCAT. Further research into the
neuroimmunoendocrine effects of chiropractic care is

encouraged to investigate the underlying mechanisms of
these findings.

And finally, although there was a statistically signifi-
cant increase in SIgA laboratory findings, we measured
the clinical effects of this increase using only the SF-
12v2. A more robust list of clinical outcomes should be
measured before clinical or treatment recommendations
can be made. This serves as a preliminary study for fur-
ther research into the relationship between UCAT treat-
ments and immune function. We recommend that future
studies test how the application of UCAT treatments
may influence a person's immune system in both the
short and long term.

Joumal of Chiropractic Medicine
September 2021

1168CoNcrusroNs

Our findings demonstrated an increase in SIgA levels
from baseline to 30 minutes after a UCAT treatment at the

CCJ. We also found that there was an increase in both the
PCS and MCS of the SF-12v2 from basolino to 2 weeks.
No significant change was observed in CRP or o-amylase
at any of the time points, although a-amylase demonstrated
a decreasing trend over the 2-week period.

AcrNowuocErYENTS

We acknowledge Beth Clay for her thoughtful review of
our manuscript.

FuNorNc Souncrs AND CoNFLrcrs oF INTEREST

This project was financially supported by the Othospi-
nology Research Fund and Upper Cervical Research Foun-
dation. Our funding sources had no role in the design or the

collection, analysis, or intelpretation of the data. Optum
does not endorse this paper. No other conflicts of interest
were reported for this study.

CoNrReuroRSHrP INFoRTYAToN

Concept development (provided idea for the research):
P,R.S., F.T.S., S.P.B., R.P.R., J.M.H.
Design (planned the methods to generate the results):
p.R.s., F.T.S., G.R.S., R.p.R., J.M.H.
Supervision (provided oversight, responsible for organiza-
tion and implementation, writing of the manuscript):
P.R.S., F.T.S., R.T.B,, J,M,H.
Data collection/processing (responsible for experiments,
patient management, organization, or reporting data):
P.R.S., F.T.S., G.R.S., S.P.B., J.M.H.

{
i

l

Practial Applications

r Our study is the first to investigate the rela-
tionship between secretory immunoglobulin
A and upper cervical adjusting technique
treatments at the craniocervical junction.

. A temporary increase in secretory immuno-
globulin A was observed immediately after an

upper cervical adjusting technique treatment
at the craniocervical junction.

. Our study is among the first to explore secre-
tory immunoglobulin A samples longitudi-
nally in human subjects.



Journal of Chiropractic Medicine
Volume 20, Number 3

Analysis/interpretation (responsible for statistical analysis,

evaluation, and presentation of the results): P.R.S., R.P.R.

Literature search (performed the literature search): P.R.S.,

K.A.K.
Writing (responsible for writing a substantive part of the

manuscript): P.R.S., K.A.K.
Critical review (revised manuscript for intellectual content,

this does not relate to spelling and grammar checking):
P.R.S., K.A.K., S.P.B., R.P.R.

RrrrRrNcrs

1. Corth6sy B. Multi-faceted functions of secretory IgA at
mucosal surfaces. F ro nt Inunun o I. 20 I 3 ;4: I 85.

2. Brandtzaeg P. Do salivary antibodies reliably reflect both
mucosal and systemic immunity? Ann N Y Acad Sci.
2007;1098:288-31 1.

3. Wada M, Orihara K, Kamagata M, et al. Circadian clock-
dependent increase in salivary IgA secretion modulated by
sympathetic receptor activation in mice. Sci Rep. 2017;7
(1 ):8802.

4. LiT-L, Gleeson M. The effect of single and repeated bouts of
prolonged cycling and circadian variation on saliva flow rate,
immunoglobulin A and alpha-arnylase responses. J Sports
S c i. 2004 :22(1 I - I 2) : 1 0 I 5 - I 024.

5. Sternberg EM. Neural regulation of innate immunity: a coor-
dinated nonspecific host response to pathogens. Nat Rev
I mmwto l. 2006;6(4) :3 I 8-328.

6. Campos-Rodliguez R, Godinez-Victoria M, Abarca-Rojano
E, et al. Stress modulates intestinal secretory imrnunoglobulin
A. F ront Integr N eto'osci. 20 13;l :86.

7. Bishop NC, Gleeson M. Acute and chronic effects of exelcise
on markers of mucosal immunity. Front Biosci.
2009;14:4444-4456.

8. Tsujita S, Morimoto K. Secretory IgA in saliva can be a use-
ful stress marker. Environ Health Prev Med. 1999:4(1):l-8.

9. Saggio G, Docirno S, Pilc J, Norton J, Gilliar W. Impact of
osteopathic manipulative tleatment on secretory immuno-
globulin a levels in a stressed population. J Am Osteopath
Assoc. 2011;l I l(3):143-147 .

10. Wirth B, Gassner A, de Bruin ED, et al. Neurophysiological
effects of high velocity and low amplitude spinal manipulation
in symptomatic and asymptomatic humans: a systematic litera-
turc r eview. Sp in e ( P h i la P a I 97 6 ). 2O I 9 :44(l 5) :89 I 4-8926.

11. Picchiottino M, Leboeuf-Yde C, Gagey O, Haliman DM. The
acute effects ofjoint rranipulative techniques on markers of
autonomic nervous system activity: a systematic review and
meta-analysis of randomized sham-controlled tl'ials. C hiropr
Man Tlrcrap. 2019;27:17 .

12. Welch A, Boone R. Sympathetic and parasympathetic
rcsponses to specific diversified adjustments to chiropractic
vertebral subluxations of ihe cervical and thoracic spine. "/
Cld rop r Med. 2008;7(3):86-93.

13. Pickar JG. Neurophysiological effects of spinal manipulation.
Spin e J. 2OO2;2(5):357 -37 l.

Schalowetal 121
SigA and Upper Ceruical Chiropractic

116914. Woodlield 3rd HC, C York, Rochester RP, et al. Cranrocewr-
cal chiropractic procedures-a prdcis of upper cervical chiro-
practic. J C an C hi r" op r A s s o c. 20 1 5 ;59 (2) : 1 7 3 - 192.

15. Colombi A, Testa M. The effects induced by spinal manipula-
tive therapy on the immune and endocrine systerns. Medicina.
2019;55(8):448.

16. Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ. Role of C-reactive protein at sites
of inflammaiion and infection. Front Inmnnol.2OlS;9:754.

17. Nater UM, Rohleder N. Salivary alpha-amylase as a non-
invasive biomarker for the sympathetic nervous systern: cur-
rent state of research. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2009:34
(4):486-496.

18. Eriksen K, Rochester RP, Hurwitz EL. Symptomatic reac-
tions, clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction associated
with upper cervical chiropractic carc: a prospective, multicen-
ter, cohort study. BMC Musculoskel et Di sord. 201 1 ;12:219.

19. Matuish ME. User's Manual for tlrc SF-12v2 Health Sunte1,.

3rd ed. Lincoln, RI: QualityMetic;2012.
20. Salimetrics. Salivary secretory IgA: indirect enzyme immu-

noassay kit. Available at: https://salimetrics.com/wp-contenV
uploads/20 I 8/03/secretory-iga-saliva-elisa-kit.pdf. Accessed
December 1,2019.

21. Pro CoRE computer program. Johnston RL Optumlnsight
Life Sciences, Inc. 2018.

22. Yang Y, Koh D, Ng V, et al. Self perceived work related
strcss and the relation with salivary IgA and lysozyrne among
emergency department nurses. Occup Environ Mecl.2002;59
(12):836-841.

23. Engeland CG, Hugo FN, Hilgert JB, et al. Psychological dis-
tress and salivary secr€toly immunity. Brain Behav Intnun.
2016:52:11-17.

24. Pawlow LA, Jones GE. The impact of abbreviated progres-
sive muscle relaxation on salivary cortisol and salivary immu-
noglobulin A (sIgA). Appl Psychopfu'siol Biofeedback.
2005;30(4):375-387 .

25. Rutherfurd-Markwick K, Starck C, Dulson DK, Ali A. Sali-
vary diagnostic markers in males and females during rest and
exelcise. J htt Soc Sports Nutr.2017;14:21.

26. Mestecky J. Saliva as a manifestation of the common muco-
sal immune system. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1993;694:184-194.

27. Rhee TG, Marottoli RA, Van Ness PH, Tinetti ME. Pattems
and perceived benelits of utilizing seven major complemen-
tary health approaches in U.S. older adults. -/ Gerontol A Biol
Sci Med Sci. 20 I 8;73(8): I 1 19-l 124.

28. Carpenter GH, Proctor GB, Garett JR. Preganglionic para-
sympathectomy decreases salivaly SIgA secretion rates fiom
the rat submandibular gland. J Neuroitrmunol. 2005;160(1-
2):4-11'

29. Elenkov IJ, Wilder RL, Chrousos GP, Vizi ES. The sympa-
thetic nerve-an integrative interface between two supersys-
tems: the brain and the immune system. Pharnncol Rev.
2000;52(4):595-638.

30. Roy RA, Boucher JP, Comtois AS. Heart rate variability mod-
ulation after manipulation in pain-fi'ee patients vs patients in
pun. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2009;32(4):277 -286.

31. Lee TN. Thalamic neuron theory: theoretical basis for the
lole played by the central nervous system (CNS) in the
causes and cures of all diseases. Med Hypotlteses.
1994;43(5):285-302.



Rose Bustria ITEM 6.3 1170
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
September 26,2023 10:38 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: CDHO Council rescinds Standard for Authorization to Self-lnitiate

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-96'10
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff Jollow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact

information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 41,6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

rece ptio n @cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated

with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accomnrodations. Please ensure that all comtrunications with CCO are

respectful and professlonal.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario <info@cdho.org>

Sent: Tuesday, September 26,202310:36 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: CDHO Council rescinds Standard for Authorization to Self-lnitiate

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

1



1171

Elj
-t

Hi Jo-Ann,

On September 22,2023, CDHO's Council rescinded the Sfandard for Authorization to Self-
lnitiate Profession-Specific Acfs, effective immediately. Since 2007, Registered Dental Hygienists
who wished to self-initiate the controlled act of scaling and root planing needed to apply for
authorization from CDHO. This will no longer be the case.

What this change means
RDHs can now perform the controlled act of scaling and root planing on their own initiative
without needing to be authorized by CDHO. However, the requirement that none of the
contraindications listed in the Contraindications Regulation are identified before or during the
dental hygiene treatment continues. Clearance from a physician or dentist is required if any
contraindications are present or if there is any doubt as to the accuracy of the client's medical or
oral history.

Although CDHO no longer requires RDHs to apply for authorization, some employers may still
wish to implement some type of approval process. Employers can place these additional
obligations on employees and RDHs should ensure they fully understand the terms of the
directive they are working under. CDHO continues to encourage inter-professional collaboration
that supports the delivery of safe, competent dental hygiene care.

lf you are currently authorized to self-initiate:
. There is no change to your practice and no action is required on your part.

lf you never applied for authorization to self-initiate:
. You can now perform the controlled act of scaling and root planing on your own initiative,

subject to the limits noted above.

lf your application for authorization to self-initiate is pending:
. These applications are closed. There is no need to contact CDHO

2



a You can now perform the controlled act of scaling and root planing on your own initiative,
subject to the limits noted above

1172lf you are currently in a mentorship program:
. Mentoring is no longer required, but you may continue with the mentorship if you choose.

Please talk to your mentor to discuss next steps.
. You can now perform the controlled act of scaling and root planing on your own initiative,

subject to the limits noted above.

Support to RDHs
CDHO has developed a webinar and case scenarios to reinforce RDHs' understanding of the
Contraindications Req u lation.

The following resources are also available
Knowledqe Network
Reqistrants' Handbook
Contraind ications Reoulation
CDHO guidelines:

o Best Practice for lnitiatinq Dental Hygiene Care
o Recommended Antibiotic Prophvlaxis Reqimens for the Prevention of lnfective

Endocarditis and Hematoqenous Joint lnfection
oA Check-Uo for Health and Dental Histo Takino (Medical/Dental Historv Guide)

lf you have any questions about this change or the Contraindications Regulation, please do not
hesitate to reach out. You can contact one of our Practice Advisors:

Carolle Lepage, RDH, BEd
416-961 -6234 or 1-800-268-2346 x226
clepage@cdho.orq

Tasneem Pirani, RDH
416-961-6234 or 1-800-268-2346 x 266
tpirani@cdho.org

Coming soon: Contraindications and Dental Hygiene Community of Practice
To further support RDHs and foster confidence in practice, CDHO will launch the
Contraindications and Dental Hygiene Community of Practice.

A Community of Practice (CoP) is a network of people with a common purpose and a place to
share knowledge and experience. The Contraindications and Dental Hygiene CoP will be
available through the Self-Service Portal in the coming days. A link will take you to a forum where
you can access resources and connect with your peers by participating in discussions related to
contraindications and initiating dental hygiene care. Stay tuned for more informationl

Call for Community Leaders
While the Contraindications and Dental Hygiene CoP will be managed by CDHO, the
conversations in this CoP will be monitored by and for RDHs. To that end, we are looking for four
volunteers to serve as Community Leaders.

Community Leaders are experienced RDHs with at least five years in practice. They will be
familiar with the Contraindications Regulation and able to answer community questions. This is a
volunteer role, and we anticipate that Community Leaders will need to be available to access the

3



forum about twice per week to review and respond to posted discussions. Community Leaders
will be able to use the time they spend in the Community of Practice for their Quality Assurance
hours and training on the use of the platform will be provided.

lf you are interested in this opportunity, ptease comptete our survev 1173

+@Yino
t

=

The CDHQ uses e-mail and mailing l'sfs as its primary mode of communication with
Registered Dental Hygienists, including for practice advisories, notices, and other important
information. To facilitate this communication, Registered Dental Hygienists are required to

maintain an up-to-date e-mailaddress with the CDHO that is checked regularty.

Srnce critical information can be sent to you in these communications, please DO NOT unsubscribe
from CDHO mailing lists. Thanks in advance for your cooperation in

this regard.

175 Bloor St E, North Tower, Suite 601, Toronto ON M4W 3R8
Telephone: 41 6-961 -6234 Toll-Free: 1 800-268-2346 Fax: 41 6-96 1 -6028

@ College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario, 2023

This email was sent to ipwillson@cco.on.ca

whv did I qet this? unsubscribe from this list update subscription preferences

College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario 175 Bloor St E, North Tower' Suite 601 . Toronto, ON M4W3R8 . Canada

4



\AreirFouldsr',r
1176

Reasonable and Probable Grounds Test in Appointing
lnvestigators in the Regulatory Context - Kustka v CPSO
August 2,2023

By Jill Dougherty, Kelsey L. lvory

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a substantial impact on all facets of society, especially within the healthcare system. ln navigating

these unprecedented terrains, health professionals have turned to diverse treatments, some of which lacked scientific and evidence-

based support. Regulated health professionals and patients alike have at times sought to challenge the guidance and decisions of

health regulators concerning COVID-related treatments and public health measures, including by bringing applications for judicial

review. The resulting court decisions provide welcome guidance on these issues, which are still largely uncharted and are being

grappled with in the aftermath of the pandemic,

Overview

ln Kustka v. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario,lll the Divisional Court considered applications for judicial review seeking

to quash the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario's (the "CPSO"'s) appointment of investigators and the lnquires Complaints

and Reports Committee's ("ICRC) interim order. ln Kustka, a family medicine practitioner was alleged to have inappropriately

prescribed ivermectin to an elderly patient to treat COVID-19, and to have inappropriately issued two COVID-19 mask exemptions.

The physician's patients joined her in the application for judicial review, arguing that the CPSO had violated their Charferrights.

The Court provided strong reasoning in support of its decision to remove the patients as respondents, to decline the patients standing,

and to quash the applications for judicial review as premature. lt went on to provide useful commentary with respect to the

"reasonable and probable grounds" test that applies where investigators are appointed under section 75(1Xa) of the Health

Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 of the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, t997, S.O. 1991, c. 18 (the "Code"), and with

respect to the CPSO's reliance on the following sources to support its reasonable and probable grounds:

. Reg364/20, which provided that face masks should be worn in most indoor public areas subject to limited exceptions for

those with medical conditions;

. Guidance from the Ontario College of Family Physicians stating that very few conditions justified an exemption;

. Guidance from the Canadian Thoracic Society supporting mask-wearing and stating that there was no evidence that masks

would exacerbate an underlying lung condition; and,

. Guidance from Health Canada and the Ontario Science Table indicating that ivermectin should not be used to prevent or treat

covtD-19.

Facts

ln late 2021, the CPSO received complaints that Dr. Sonia Kustka, a family medicine practitioner, had inappropriately prescribed

ivermectin to an elderly patient to treat COVID-19 and issued two questionable COVID-19 mask exemptions during mandatory

masking periods.



The CPSO's Registrar appointed investigators to examine acts of professional misconduct or incompetence pursuant to section

75(1Xa) of the Code.l2l Following an investigation, the CPSO's ICRC imposed interim restrictions and monitoring obligations on Dr.

Kustka's certificate of registration.l3l The ICRC later confirmed the restrictions, and the Registrar appointed investigators to examine

Dr. Kustka's cooperation with the investigation and her compliance with the interim order.l4l Dr. Kustka brought applications for
judicial review in relation to each of these steps.lSl Dr. Kustka's patients also brought applications for judicial review that challenged

the initial appointment of investigators, the CPSO's ability to obtain patient records during the investigation, and the ICRC's interim

order.l6l The patients argued that the CPSO had infringed their rights under sections 7 and I of the Canadian Charter of Rights and

Freedoms,LTlclaiming that the CPSO obtained medical records without their knowledge and consent (the "Patients'Applications").I&l

Appointment of lnvootlgatoro and Roooonablc and larobablc Crounds

The Divisional Court held that the test for determining whether the Registrar had reasonable and probable grounds to appoint an

investigator is not rigorous.l2l The Court distinguished the reasonable and probable grounds test in the professional regulatory

context from the test used in the criminal context. lt noted that the Registrar's appointment only initiates an investigation, whereas in

the criminal context, an arresting officer requires something less than a prima facie case to satisfy the reasonable and probable ground

requirement prior to an arresf.[10] Here, the Registrar had before her specific information regarding three instances that raised

concern about Dr. Kustka's COVID-19 treatment and protections. The information was sufficiently detailed as to be beyond "mere

suspicion."[11] lt was reasonable for the Registrar to conclude that the test to appoint investigators had been met.t12l

The Registrar also had before her authoritative sources and guidance regarding mask-wearing and ivermectin, including: (1) Reg

364/2O, which provided that face masks should be worn in most indoor public areas subject to limited exceptions for those with

medical conditions; (2) Guidance from the Ontario College of Family Physicians stating that very few conditions justified an

exemption; (3) Guidance from the Canadian Thoracic Society supporting mask-wearing and stating that there was no evidence that

masks would exacerbate an underlying lung condition; and, (4) Guidance from Health Canada and the Ontario Science Table indicating

that ivermectin should not be used to prevent or treat COVID-19.

The Court concluded that the Registrar (and the ICRC in approving of her appointment) reasonably relied upon these policy

documents and regulation in forming her reasonable and probable grounds.[13] This reliance was reasonable and did not constitute an

impermissible delegation of authority.[141

Conclusion

It remains to be seen whether Dr. Kustka's arguments will be repeated before the CPSO's Discipline Committee. lf those arguments

are reiterated, the Court's comments and "observations" will provide the Discipline Committee with useful guidance. Though the ICRC

does not make findings of fact, the Divisional Court clearly had significant concerns with respect to the physician's failure to

cooperate with the CPSO's investigation and noted that this failure both delayed the proceeding and provided a reasonable basis for

the ICRC to be concerned about the physician's governability.ll5l

The information and comments herein are for the general information of the reader and are not intended as advice or
opinion to be relied upon in relation to any particular circumstances. For particular application of the law to specific
situations, the reader should seek professional advice.

IJJ Kustka v. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario. 2O23 aNSC 2325 at para 7- l" Kustka"f

1177

i

IA Kustka at para 2



Bllbtd.

l{l Supra note 2. 1178
EI (1) the Registrar's appointment of investigators, (2) the ICRC's interim order, (3) the ICRC's decision confirming the interim order,

and (4) the Registrar's second appointment of investigators to assess Dr. Kustka's cooperation with the investigation and her

compliance with the interim order.

IAI Kustka at para 5.

AJCanadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms Part I of the Consflfution Act, 1982,being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982(UK),

7982,cI1.

I&l Supra note 6.

[2] Kustka at para 37

L!9l tbid.

l77l lbid at para 38

1721 Kustka at para 38.

l73l Kustka at paras 39-41.

IIAIhE.

l75l Kustka atpara 42.



For more information or inquiries:

WeirFloufulsr.". Toronto Office
41AO - 66 Wellington Street West
PO Box 35. TD Bank Tower

Toronto, ON M5K 187

Tel: 416.365.11:t0
Fax: 416.365.187 6

Oakville Office
1525 Cornwall Road, Sirite 1O

Oakville, ON L6J 082

Tel 416.365.II1O
Fax 9O5.829.2435

Jill Dougherty
Toronto Email:

4L6.947.5058 jdougherty@weirfoulds.com

Jill Dougherty is a Partner in the firm's Professional Self-Regulatory Bodies Practice Group. She has over 20 years of
experience acting on behalf of both private and public sector clients. Jill appears regularly as counsel before the trial

and appellate courts and administrative tribunals in many aspects of public law.

Kelsey L. lvory
Toronto Email:

4L6.947.5O4O kivory@weirfoulds.com

Kelsey lvory is an Associate in the Regulated Professions and lndusiries Practice Group at WeirFoulds with a litigation

practice focused on regulatory, administrative, and public law.

1179

t
J
Ij

www.rryeirfoulds.corl

C) 2A23 WeirFoulds LLP



Rose Bustria ITEM 6.5

From:
Sent:
To:

Jo-Ann Willson
September 8,2023 1 1:20 AM
Rose Bustria

1205
Subject: FW: ABA Regulation: Notice of Upcoming lnformation Sessions for

Stakeholders

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow reconrmended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. In-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 43.6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

reception @cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, acconrmodatirrg, and r-esponsive services and errsuring that individuals are treated

with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accornmodations. Please ensure that all contmunications with CCO are

respectf ul arrd professional,

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: College of Psychologists of Ontario <cpo@cpo.ccsend.com> On Behalf Of College of Psychologists

of Ontario
Sent: Friday, September 8,202310:07 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: ABA Regulation: Notice of Upcoming lnformation Sessions for Stakeholders

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

v COLLEGE OF
PSYCH O LOG ISTS
OF ONTARIO

1



Good Afternoon,

1206
On behalf of the College of Psychologists of Ontario, I am pleased to announce that the
Ontario Government has approved the regulations, under the Psvcholoqv and Applied
Behaviour Analysis AcL 2021 (the "Acf'), for the profession of Applied Behaviour Analysis
(ABA). The Act will be proclaimed effective July 1 ,2A24, when the College will change its
name to the College of Psychologists and Behaviour Analysts of Ontario. After that date,
only ABA practitioners who are registered with the College will be allowed to use the title
"Behaviour Analyst" in Ontario. ln anticipation of proclamation, lhe College is actively
engaged in the development of policies and processes that will be necessary to implement
the new regulations.

This is an exciting time for the profession of ABA in Ontario, but it can also be a challenging
one, as current providers of ABA will need to understand how these new regulations will
affect them. With these new developments in mind, the College will be offering viftual
information sessions over the coming months to provide transparency and guidance about
the new regulations, introduce the steps to pre-registration, and address your questions
and concerns.

Please indicate your interest in attending a virtual ABA information session by completing
the attached form : https ://forms. office. com/r/c8Gv3abM F P

Further details aboul when and where to attend the session will follow shortly

The College is committed to working collaboratively with our stakeholders to ensure a
smooth transition to ABA regulation. We look forward to welcoming Behaviour Analysts into
our membership, and we are excited about the opportunities that lie ahead for the
profession of ABA in Ontario,

Tony DeBono, MBA, Ph.D., C.Psych

Registrar & Executive Director

Please don't unsubscribe...
The College uses e-mail to communicate with members as this is a quick and efficient method to bring important information to
members' attention. lf you unsubscribe by clicking on 'Safeunsubscribe' below you will not receive these jmportant, often time-
sensitive, notices as the College does not distribute similar information by regular mail. lf you have any questions, please contact the
College.

E
:]i

2



1207

CPO Virtual lnformation Session for ABA

Response Poll

* Required

1. Are you interested in attending a virtual ABA information session hosted by the
College? *

Select your answer

2. Full name *

Enter your answer

3. Email *

Enter your answer

4. Are you a current member of the CPO?

Yes

No



Never give out your password. Report abuse

!! ruicrosoft 365
1208

This content is created by the owner of the form. The data you submit will be sent to the form owner. Microsoft is not
responsible for the privacy or security practices of its customers, including those of this form owner. Never give out your
password.

Microsoft Forms lAl-Powered surveys, quizzes and polls Create mv_glvnlom

The owner of this form has not provided a privacy statement as to how they will use your response data. Do not provide
personal or sensitive information. I Terms of use

r
f

I

l

1



Rose Bustria ITEM 6.6

Jo-Ann Willson
September 19,2023 10:25 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: FYI - Notice of Motion for Leave to Appeal - Court of Appeal for
Ontario - Peterson v College of Psychologists of Ontario
Letter to Counsel with attached Notice of Motion September 7

2023(487 1 41a9 .2).pdf ; ATT0000 1 .txt

1209
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Attachments:

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.'11'l
Toll Free: 1-877-577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recomnrended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only, Please use the email or phone contacl
informatiorr altove or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone aI 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

reception@cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately,

CCO is conrmitted to providing inclusive, accommocJating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you requile accomr-nodations. Please ensure that all conrnrunications with CCO are

respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNIN
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Registrars <registrars-bounces@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca> On Behalf Of Beth Ann Kenny

Sent: Tuesday, September 19,202310:19 AM

To: Beth Ann Kenny <ba kenny@ regu lated healthprofessions.on.ca>

Subject: [Registrars] FYI - Notice of Motion for Leave to Appeal - Court of Appeal for Ontario - Peterson v

College of Psychologists of Ontario

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

This messoge is being forworded to you on beholf of Tony DeBono, Registrar & Executive Director of the
College of Psychologists of Ontorio olong with the Notice of Motion shored with HPRO by SML-Low.

1

Dear Regulator Colleagues



As publicly announced by the registrant and his former legal counsel, he is seeking leave to appeal the
Divisional Court's decision with new legal counsel. As registrar, I respect this registrant's decision to
appeal and the College will continue to abide by all relevant procedures in this matter.

1210

-

Thank you for your continued support.

Tony DeBono, MBA, Ph.D, C.Psych. (He/Him) - Registrar & Executive Director, College of Psychologists
of Ontario

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Director
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0

Email : bakennv@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhea lthprofessions.on.ca
Phone : 4L6-493-4O7 6 / Fax: 1-866-8L4-6456

Confidentiolity notice: This emoil, including ony attochments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and moy contoin
private, confidential, ond/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. lf you
are not the intended recipient or this information has been inappropriotely forwarded to you, pleose contoct the sender by reply
email ond destroy oll copies of the original.

Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

2



LEVITT

SHEIKH

130 Adelaide Street West, Suite 801

Toronto, ON MSH 3P5

Howard Levitt
Senior Partner

hlevitt@levittllo. com

Peter W. G. Carey

Partner
ncarev@levittlln.com

T:416-594-3900

EMPLOYMENT I LABOUR LAW

September 7,2023

1211
McCarthy Tetrault LLP
Toronto Dominion Bank Tower, Suite 5300

Toronto ON M5K 1E6

Attention: Caroline Za) id (czayid@mccarthy. ca)

Attention: Robin McKechney (rmckechney@mccarthy.ca)
Att ention : Eri c F re em an (e fre eman @mc carthy . c a)

Attention: Sarah O'Neill (soneill@mccarthy. ca)

Dear Counsel,

Re: Jordan Peterson v College of Psychologists of Ontario

Please find enclosed a Notice of Motion for Leave to Appeal, which is served upon you
pursuant to the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Thank you.

Yours truly,

LEVITT SHEIKH LLP

Peter W. G. Carey
Howard A. Levitt

t



1212

-

Court File No

COURT OF'APPEAL FOR ONTARIO

BETWEEN:

JORDAN PETERSON
Appellant

(Moving Parry)
- and

COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF ONTARIO

Respondent
(Responding Party)

NOTICE OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

The Appellant will make a motion to the Court of Appeal on a date and time to be

determined by the Registrar, or as soon after that time as the motion can be heard.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The motion is to be heard:

In writing. However, the Appellant requests that the Court exercise its authority, pursuant

to Rule 61.03.1(15) to order an oral hearing. This matter has garnered worldwide attention and not

only must justice be done, it must be seen to be done.

THE MOTION IS FOR:

1. An Order granting leave to appeal a decision of the Divisional Court dated August23,2023,

dismissing the Appellant's application for Judicial Review of a decision made by the

respondent dated November 22, 2022;

2. Costs of this motion on a substantial indemnity basis; and,

3. Such further and other relief as to this Honourable Court seems just.



2

1213
THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

Background

1. The Appellant Jordan Peterson ("Dr. Peterson") is a world famous, highly successful

author, lecturer, and commentator on political and social issues. His books have been

read by millions of readers. He is widely regarded as Canada's leading public intellectual

and has been referred to in the New York Times as the leading public intellectual today

in the English-speaking world. His lectures are routinely sold out all over the world and

hundreds of thousands have attended them. He is also a prolific commentator on social

media. His "tweets" are read by millions on a weekly basis.

2. Dr. Peterson routinely comments on controversial social and political topics. This is

something to be encouraged in a free and democratic society.

3. While Dr. Peterson has not practiced as a clinical psychologist since 2017 he nonetheless

is a member in good standing of the College of Psychologists of Ontario (the "College").

4. ln 2021 and 2022 a number of individuals complained to the college concerning public

statements made by Dr. Peterson. At least one of the complaints was anonymous.

Several of the complaints took the form of "tweets" to the College.

5. None of the complainants were students, patients or former patients of Dr. Peterson's.

6. None of the complaints were, in any way, concerned or related to Dr. Peterson's practice

of psychology or to the practice of psycholo gy at all. None of the complainants had even

met Dr. Peterson. Most of the complaints had no connection to Ontario or even Canada.



J 1214

E

E
.-

7. Instead, the complaints took issue with Dr. Peterson's comments regarding public

political figures and comments on social issues (one of which, at least, was obviously

said as an ironic statement).

8. None of the comments complained of invoked the College's jurisdiction because none of

them dealt with the practice of psychology. The complaints were all from individuals

who all clearly disagreed with Dr. Peterson on political and social issues.

9. Despite this, the College made a punitive order against Dr. Peterson (the "Decision")

with the impact of curtailing his free speech and debate in public forums.

10. The Decision requires Dr. Peterson to affend at a Specified Continuing Education or

Remedial Program ("SCEIU"';.

1 1. Under the terms of the Decision Dr. Peterson must pay for all costs associated with the

SCERP. He must pay for and attend his re-education sessions with a specified Coach of

the College's choosing. If at the end of the allowable twelve-month period the Coach

does not provide a final report "indicating that the concerns, above, have been

appropriately remediated" Dr. Peterson will not have been considered to have complied

with the SCERP and may be sanctioned for professional misconduct.

12. Therefore, if Dr. Peterson does not agree to change his speech on topics completely

unrelated to the practice of psychology, he will be found guilty of professional

misconduct with all the penalties that entails, including potential expulsion from the

College.



4 1215
13. The Decision constitutes a gross infringement on Dr. Peterson's constitutional rights to

free speech and expression. If a government agency imposed such an Order, it would

clearly be a violation of Dr. Peterson's constitutional rights.

14. Dr. Peterson commenced an Application for Judicial Review in which, among other

things, he requested an order quashing the Decision. That application was dismissed on

August 23,2023.

Divisional Court Errors

15. The Divisional Court erred at law by implicitly holding that the College had jurisdiction

to make the Decision, even though all of the legislation relied on by the College clearly

states that the Colleges jurisdiction is limited to governing a member's conduct in a

professional psychologist context. None of the complaints made concerned Dr.

Peterson's conduct in a professional psychologist's context. The College lacked any

jurisdiction to render the Decision. The legislature only empowered the College to

regulate the practice of psychology, not to go beyond that pulpose and discipline its

members for matter unrelated, in any way, to the practice of psychology.

16. The legislature did not empower the College to enact discipline for personal expressions

which have nothing to do with the practice of psychology.

17. The Divisional Court erred at law by according any deference to the College in making

the Decision. The College has no expertise on matters outside of its jurisdiction. The

College has no expertise on freedom of speech or other expression. The College has no

expertise on Dr. Peterson's constitutional rights to freedom of speech. None of the

rationale for extending deference to administrative tribunals exists in the case.



5 1216
18. The Divisional Court erred in holding, implicitly, that the College has the legal

jurisdiction to develop a code of ethics which prohibits the free expression of its members

unrelated to their clinical psychological practice when that free expression breaches no

laws.

19. The legislation goveming this and empowering the College is for the purpose of

educating its members, ensuring competence and protecting the public from malpractice,

Dr. Peterson's impugned statements had nothing to do with any of these legislative

mandates or his practice of psychology. The interpretation of the Code of Ethics which

the Divisional Court adopted was beyond the College's legislative mandate.

20. The Divisional Court erred at law in not carryring out a robust proportionality analysis

consistent with administrative law principles.

2I. The College provided no analysis of why Dr. Peterson's comments were not protected

by his common law constitutional and Charter rights to freedom of speech. The College

provided no analysis of why Dr. Peterson's comments constituted'omoderate risk of harm

to the public" and why that "moderate risk" trumped Dr. Peterson's constitutional rights.

22. The Divisional Court erred in finding that the Decision was not disciplinary and that it

"does not prevent him from expressing himself on controversial topics". As the National

Post editorial relating to the Decision part, similar to commentary around the world, "The

College wants to stop Peterson from speaking on controversial topics, that is the whole

point. And of coltrse, will have more than a minimal impact on his right to free

expression. The whole purpose of the SCERP is to limit what he says until the concerns

of the College have been appropriately remediated."

{-
l



6 1217
23. In light of the College's lack of analysis in the Decision, its conclusion was not

reasonable. The Divisional Court erred at law in holding that the Decision was

reasonable. To the contrary, the Decision was not within an acceptable range of

outcomes.

24. The Divisional Court made a palpable and overriding error of fact in concluding that the

College had "conducted an appropriate, proportionately focused balancing of Dr.

Peterson's right to freedom of expression and the statutory objectives of the College". In

fact, the College made no such analysis and for that reason alone the Decision is

unreasonable and should have been quashed.

25 . The Divisional Court erred at law by determining that the Decision was not punitive. The

Decision was punitive. The Decision was coercive. The Decision required Dr. Peterson

to attend and pay for re-education whether he wanted to or not. The consequence of not

abiding by the Decision would be a finding of professional misconduct. In all respects

the Decision was punitive, further rendering it unreasonable.

26. The College, an administrative body, acting outside of its jurisdiction, with no expertise

in freedom of speech and no expertise in constitutional and Charter rights has made a

punitive decision which limits Dr. Petersons freedom of expression, with no analysis of

why it has done so. Such a decision is unreasonable and must not stand.

27. If the Decision had been made by a govemment agency similarly restricting Dr.

Peterson's freedom of expression on political and social matters, it would never have

beenallowedtostand. AstheNationalPostputitinitsleadeditorial,September2,2023,

"One cannot imagine ... the Federal Government taking a Canadian to court for

expressing such (Peterson's) comments." Yet, as a result of the Divisional Court's order,



7 1218

'E
d

28

29

31.

JZ.

an unelected regulatory agency with no expertise in these matters is allowed to make

such a punitive decision. This is not reasonable.

The Divisional Court erred in not ensuring that the important Charter protections engaged

in this case were upheld to the fullest extent possible.

The Divisional Court erred in not taking full account of whether the deleterious effects

of chilling debate were proportionate to any public good achieved.

The Divisional Court erred in not analyzing the context and purpose of the legislation.

The Divisional Court erred in not taking a holistic approach to Peterson's comments, in

discounting his positive motivations and honest intent in making them and the context in

which he wrote his comments.

The Divisional Court erred in not applying the principle that decisions which affect those

freedoms, including freedom of opinion and expression, which the Charter describes as

fundamental, must conform to more exacting procedural standards.

30

Importance of Appeal

33. The Divisional Court erred at law by not considering the public policy implications of

the Decision in concluding that the Decision was reasonable.

34. There are at least sixty-six regulatory bodies in Ontario which regulate the professional

conduct of millions of Ontarians.

35. The Divisional Court failed to consider the chilling effect on freedom of speech that will

occur if a regulatory body can sanction a member for comments of a political and social

nature unrelated to their occupation. A number of regulatory bodies have already

publicly cautioned their members about their speech as a result of the Decision. Dr.



8 1219

Peterson's political opponents have already "weaponized" the Decision by making

additional complaints against Dr. Peterson that arc motivated by their political opposition

to him and have nothing to do with the practice of psychology.

36. The Decision and the Divisional Court support of the Decision will mean that any

regulated professional in Ontario will be constantly looking over their shoulder lest

someone should complain to their regulator concerning their political or social

commentary when it has nothing to do with their professional occupation.

37 . This is particularly insidious because it is precisely these types of individuals who drive

political and social debate in this province.

38. The Divisional Court Order has created a firestorm of controversy around the world. It

has been commented on in the National Post, the Telegraph, the Wall Street Journal, and

the Toronto Sun among dozens of other international news sources. Virtually all

commentators have condemned the Order and the requirement that Dr. Peterson attend

re-education classes. The Order has brought the administration ofjustice in Ontario and

Canada into disrepute around the world.

39. Rule 37 and Rule 61.03.1.

40. Such other grounds as Counsel may advise and this Honourable Court permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the motion:

1. All evidence that was before the Divisional Court; and

2. Such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court permit.

LEVITT SHEIKH LLP
130 Adelaide Street W.

Date: September 7,2023



I

=-i
t:l

9

1220
Suite 801
Toronto, ON, M5H 3P5

Howard A. Levitt (LSO#18858W)
Tel: 416-597-6476
Fax: 416-597-3396
hlevitt@ levittllp. com

Peter Carey (LSO# 29410V)
Tel: 4l 6-597 -6480
pcarey@levittllp.com

Maria Belykh (LSO#85313R)
Tel: 416-477 -5587
mbelvkh@levittllp. com

Lawyers for the Appellant/Moving Party

TO MCCARTHY TETRAULT LLP
Suite 5300, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto ON M5K 1E6

Caroline Zayid,
czayid@mccarth:r.ca

Robin McKechney
rmckechnev@,mccarthv. ca

Eric Freeman
efreeman@mccarthlr. c a

Sarah O'Neill
smoneill@mccarthy.ca

Lawyers for the Respondent/Responding Party



JORDAN PETERSON
Appellant/Moving Party

and

1221
COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF ONTARIO

Respondent/Respondin g P arty

Court File No.

COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO

NOTICE OF MOTION

LEVITT SHEIKH LLP
130 Adelaide Street West
Suite 801, P.O. Box 89
Toronto, ON M5H 3P5

Howard A. Levitt (LSO#18858W)
Tel: 476-597-6476
hlevitt@levittllp.com

Peter Carey (LSO#29410V)
Tel: 476-597-6480
ocarey@levittllp.com

Maria Belykh (LSO#85313R)
TeI: 416-477-5587
Fax: 416-597-3396
mbelykh@ levittllp. com

Lawyers for the AppellantflVloving Party



1222

BETWEEN:

PAUL HIRTLE
Appellant

-and-
COLLEGE OF NURSES OF ONTARIO

Respondent

ITEM 6.7
CITATION: Hirtle v. College of Nurses of Ontario, 2022 ONSC 1479

DIVISIONAL COURT FILE NO.: 596/19
DATE:20220607

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

DIVISIONAL COURT

LEDERER, LOCOCO & MATIIESON JJ.

Rebecca Young, for the Appellant

-
=co
O
o)
f--
$

az
o
c{
N
ON

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Megan Shortreed and Glynnis Hawe, for the
Respondent

HEARD at Toronto (by videoconference):
February 23,2022

PUBLICATION BAN: By order of Justice Favreau dated June 22,202I, no person

shall publish or broadcast the identity ofthe two nursing students refened to and/or
identified in the Discipline Hearing or Decisions of the Tribunal below respecting
the Appellant or any information that could disclose the identity of any such nursing
students.

Matheson J.:

tll Paul Hirtle appeals from the decision of a panel of the Discipline Commiuee ofthe College
ofNurses dated July 3,2019, with reasons reported at2019 CanLII 132488 (the "Decision"), and

the related penalty decision dated December 9,2019, with reasons reported at20l9 CanLII 132489
(the "Penalty Decision").

l2l The panel of the Discipline Committee (the "Panel") found that the appellant made sexual
jokes or comments, stared at students, sent voicemails to a student of a sexual nature, and winked
at and rubbed the back of another student. The Panel imposed a five-month suspension as well as

other terms and conditions.



1223
t3] The appellant submits that the Panel made several effors and imposed a penalty that was
outside the range of penalties imposed in similar circumstances. The appellant's main focus is
procedural fairness, submitting that the Panel provided inadequate assistance to him as a self-
represented party.

t4] The College has brought a motion to admit further evidence on this appeal regarding the
procedural fairness allegations. The appellant has brought a cross-motion to also adduce evidence
in reply to the College's further evidence if the College motion is granted.

t5] For the reasons set out below, I would admit the additional evidence from both parties and
dismiss the appeal.

Background

t6] The appellant has been a registered nurse and member of the College since 2013. In20l6,
he was employed as a clinical instructor for Confederation College and at St. Joseph's Hospital in
Thunder Bay. As a clinical instructor, the appellant was responsible for supervising a group of
seven nursing students during their clinical placement at the Hospital from February to April 2016.

l7l In 2018, allegations against the appellant were referred to the Discipline Committee. It
was alleged that the appellant engaged in inappropriate conduct toward and/or sexual harassment
oftwo nursing students, NK and DH, while he was employed as a clinical instructor from February
to April 2016. As set out in the Notice of Hearing, it was alleged that the appellant did the
following:

(i) made sexual jokes and comments;

(ii) stared at the students in an uncomfortable manner;

(iii) flicked NK's ponytail;

(iv) winked at NK and rubbed her back;

(v) sent voice and text messages to DH of a sexual nature, including a picture of a man
pulling down his scrubs to show his penis (no face shown) and a voice message that
stated "I miss you. My wife is away" or words to that effect;

(vi) touched DH's buttock while demonstrating how to move a client from her bed;

(vii) sent text messages to NK of a sexual nature; andlor

(viii) told NK that he wanted to "have sex with her butt" or words to that effect.

t8] The Notice of Hearing alleged that these acts constituted a breach of the standards of
practice of the profession and would reasonably be regarded by members of the profession as

disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional.

-
=co
O
o)t-s

U)z
o
N
NO
N

a
a



1224
t9l The appellant was self-represented throughout the discipline proceedings.

t10] A contested discipline hearing took place from January 2l to 24,2019. At the outset of
the hearing, after introducing the Panel, the Chair of the Panel briefly outlined the procedure that
would be followed at the hearing, including the following:

(1) the role ofindependent counsel;

(2) that the appellant should make any objections to the Chair;

(3) that they would begin with opening statements, but the appellant could wait until after
the College completed its case;

(4) that the Panel would then hear evidence, which could be in the form of documents or
oral testimony;

(5) that the appellant could object to documents being admitted into evidence;

(6) that the appellant could cross-examine witnesses;

(7) that after the College evidence, it would be the appellant's turn to introduce documents

and call witnesses;

(8) that if the appellant wished to testify on his own behalf, after he had done so he would
be subject to cross-examination by the College;

(9) that the Panel could also ask questions of witnesses for clarification, not on behalf of the
College or the appellant;

(10) that at the conclusion of the evidence, there would be final argument; and,

(11) that after final argument, the Panel would adjourn to consider the evidence and if a
finding of professional misconduct was made there would be a further opportunity to call
evidence and make submissions on penalty.

[11] The Chair then asked the appellant if he had any questions, to which he answered, no.

112] The Chair then went through each of the allegations in the notice of hearing and asked the
appellant whether he admitted or denied each allegation. The appellant denied each allegation.

[3] The Chair then asked whether the College sought an order excluding witnesses and

explained what that meant for the benefit of the appellant. The appellant agreed to the order
excluding witnesses.

U4l After the College completed its opening statement, the appellant indicated that he was

reserving his opening statement until after the College had called its case. The appellant also

indicated that he did not have any witnesses coming on his behalf but did have some documents

that he would submit at a later stage.

-
=c(5
()
O)
f.-rt

Oaz
a1

N
N
c)
N



1225
[15] The College called six witnesses in its case in chief and one witness in reply. The College
witnesses included the Chair of Confederation College's School of Health, DH and NK, NK's
mother, two other students who were in the same clinical placement group and a documents
witness. The appellant testified on his own behalf and called one witness, another clinical
instructor.

[ 6] The evidence focused on events during the clinical placement, events at an end-of-
placement lunch at a restaurant, and post-placement communications.

|71 In the reasons for decision, the Panel addressed the evidence of each witness, discussed
briefly below. The evidence about the inappropriate conduct was conflicting. There were also
evidentiary disputes regarding the authenticity of the text and voicemail messages that formed part
of the College's case.

[18] A number of students testified that the appellant made sexual jokes and had discussions
with sexual innuendo, specifying a joke about a hot dog and repeatedly calling NK a "ball popper".
There was also evidence from NK about the appellant winking, looking her up and down and
touching her ponytail and back, some of which also formed part of the testimony of other students.
DH testified that the appellant had touched her on the hips above her buttocks when doing a
demonstration and about holding her arm for longer than normal on one occasion. The appellant
denied all the allegations of improper conduct in his testimony, including the jokes and other
alleged words and actions.

[9] Several witnesses testified about the end-of-placement restaurant lunch. DH testified about
a long hug and comments about drinking. NK testified that she had a conversation with the
appellant when he said that he had received nude photos from young women on Snapchat and that
he wanted to "fuck her ass". The appellant testified about the end-of-placement lunch, saying that
he sat with the other instructors and did not do or say what was alleged. The other instructor
witness testified that she sat next to the appellant at the lunch, was there most of the time, and
could have but did not hear any inappropriate comments.

l20l The Panel also heard testimony about text and voicemail messages after the placement
ended. NK retained the texts, but DH did not do so. NK and DH testified that one of the texts
received from the appellant had a penis photo although no face was shown. DH testified that she
had received other texts and voicemail after the clinical placement of an inappropriate nature,
including the appellant mentioning that his wife was away and asking her to come and visit him.
DH admitted to sending sexual photos of herself by text to the appellant. She testified that the
appellant had requested them. She testified that the narratives within her texts, as put forward by
the appellant at the hearing, had been altered.

l2ll The appellant testified that he had not sent the voicemail or text messages or photos and
that the messages put forward by the College had been fabricated. He testified that a specific
image on one of the texts (showing a man holding a fish) came from his Facebook page and was a
photo of a relative. He acknowledged that he did receive texts from DH, including a partially
dressed photo of DH, and denied altering the narrative in that text. He testified that he had not

-
=co
O
o,
f.*

O
U)z
o
N
N
O
N

i

-



1226
exchanged multiple emails, texts or voicemails with DH and did not say his wife was away (noting
that they did not travel separately).

[22] With respect to the text and voicemail messages, the parties agreed that it was not possible

to obtain authenticating evidence due to the passage of time. The appellant testified that if he had

been given notice of the investigation, he could have requested information from the internet
service provider about the texts when it was still available. Because the appellant said that the
texts were fabricated, the College put forward JK's mother to testifu about the texts in reply. The
College put the mother forward on the basis that the appellant had already cross-examined JK.
The College was permitted to do so. JK's mother testified that she had read the texts at an earlier
time but could not remember any details.

l23l The Panel considered the conflicting evidence about the text messages, concluding that the
College had not established that the texts had been sent by the appellant. The allegations regarding
texting were therefore dismissed. However, the Panel found that the appellant had left the
voicemail message because of the additional factor of voice recognition.

[24] With respect to inappropriate comments during the placement, the Panel noted that there

was only evidence of one sexual joke (the "hot dog" joke) and one comment with a sexual

connotation (calling NK a "ball popper" a number of times). Four witnesses had testified that
those comments had been made. The Panel found that despite the appellant's denial, he told the
joke and referred to NK in that way. Based on the evidence of two of the students, the Panel also

found that the appellant had looked at NK in an inappropriate way and flicked her ponytail more
than once. Based on NK's evidence, the Panel found that the appellant had winked at her and

rubbed her back. However, the Panel accepted the appellant's evidence that the alleged touching
of DH during a demonstration could not have occurred as described given the nature of the
procedure bein g demonstrated.

[25] With respect to the end-of-placement lunch, the Panel considered the evidence, including
that of the appellant's witness, concluding that the College had not met its burden to show that the

conversation recounted by NK took place. The Panel dismissed the allegations regarding that
event.

126] In summary, the Panel found as follows

(1) that during the clinical placement, the appellant made a sexual joke and comment
(namely, a "hot dog" joke and the "ball popper" comment), which was a breach of
professional standards and was dishonourable and unprofessional conduct;

(2) that during the clinical placement, the appellant stared at NK in an uncomfortable
manner, winked at NK and rubbed NK's back, which was a breach of professional
standards and unprofessional conduct; and,

(3) that following the clinical placement, the appellant sent voicemail messages to DH of a
sexual nature, which was a breach of professional standards and disgraceful,
dishonourable and unprofessional conduct.

=
=C(E
o
O)
f.*
$
()
U)z
N
NO
N



1227
l27l The other allegations were dismissed, including the allegations about texting and the
allegations arising from the end-of-placement lunch.

[28] The penalty hearing took place on September 30,2019, giving rise to the Penalty Decision.
The appellant relied on a bundle of letters of support from work colleagues that had previously
been entered into evidence, as well as additional letters of support. After considering submissions,
including other penalty decisions, the Panel imposed a penalty that included a reprimand, a five-
month suspension, regular meetings with a regulatory expert for at least six months with reporting
to the College, as well as steps that had to be taken for a period of 18 months after his return to
practice.

l29l This appeal was then commenced.

Issues

[30] The issues on this appeal are as follows

(l) whether the Panel failed to adequately assist the appellant during the hearing giving
rise to a breach ofprocedural fairness;

(2) whether the Panel erred in certain evidentiary findings;

(3) whether the Panel erred in making a finding of misconduct that was outside the
scope of the allegations in the notice of hearing; and,

(4) whether the Panel erred in imposing an unfit penalty

[31] The appellant raised other issues that relate to allegations where no finding of misconduct
was made. The appellant is not asking that the dismissal of those allegations be reversed on this
appeal. Most significantly, the appellant has raised an issue regarding case-splitting and the rule
in Browne v. Dunn (1893), 6P.67 (U.K. H.L), which relates to the allegations oftexting. In short,
the appellant submits that the Panel erred in finding that he had violated the rule in Browne v. Dunn
by not putting his position that the texts were fabricated to JK and, as a result, erred in permitting
the College to split its case by calling JK's mother as a reply witness. The appellant also submits
that he ought to have had ten days notice before JK's mother was called. Given that all allegations
regarding texting were dismissed, there is no need to address these issues on this appeal. Similarly,
all allegations regarding conduct at the end-of-placement lunch were dismissed. I have, however,
had regard for the evidence on those matters to the extent that it has been raised under other
grounds ofappeal.

Stundard of Review

l32l The standard of review on this statutory appeal is as set out in Housen v. Nikalaisen,2002
SCC 33, 12002] 2 S.C.R.235. Errors of law are reviewed on a correctness standard. For errors of
fact, there must be a palpable and overriding error. Errors of mixed fact and law also require a
palpable and overriding error unless there is an extricable error of law or principle, which is
reviewed on a correctness standard.

-
=c

o)
F-s
C)az
o
N
No
N



1228
[33] For issues of procedural fairness, there is no standard of review: Volochayv. College of
Massage Therapists, 2019 ONSC 5718, at para. 39 . The duty of procedural fairness is inherently
flexible and context-specific: Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration) v. Vavilov,2019
SCC 65, 441 D.L.R. (4th) l, atpara.77. The specific requirements of procedural fairness depend
on all of the circumstances, including a non-exhaustive list of factors that may be taken into
account: Vavilov, at parc. 77, citing Baker v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration),

U9991 2 S.C.R. 817, atparas. 21-27.

l34l Palpable and overriding error is a highly deferential standard that recognizes the expertise

and competence of the trier of fact. It authorizes appellant intervention only where the error in
both obvious and determinative of the outcome; Laliberte v. Day,2020FCA ll9,l202ll1 F.C.R.
22, at para. 32, citing Salomon v. Matte-Thompson,20l9 SCC 14, l20l9l I S.C.R. 729, at para.

33. It does not permit an appellate court to reweigh the evidence that was before the Panel:

Laliberte, atparu.32, citing Salomon, atpara. 40.

[35] With respect to the appeal from penalty, the appellant must show that the Panel made an

error in principle or that the penalty was clearly unfit. To be clearly unfit, the penalty must be

disproportionate or fall outside the range of penalties for similar offences in similar circumstances:
Gillv. College of Physicians andSurgeons of Ontario,2022 ONSC 49 (Div. Ct.),atpara.82.

Motion and Cross-Motion regurding additionul evidence

[36] The College moves to adduce evidence on this appeal as a result of the appellant's position
that the Panel erred in providing him with inadequate assistance as a self-represented party. The
proposed further evidence relates to the steps taken by the Discipline Committee and others at the

College to provide the appellant with procedural assistance. Specifically, the College puts forward
evidence regarding steps that were taken before and during the hearing that do not form part of the

appeal record.

I37l Unders. 13a(a)@)ofthe CourtsofJusticelcf,R.S.O. 1990,c.E-l9,thecourtmayreceive
further evidence on an appeal to enable the court to determine the appeal.

[38] The court will permit evidence supplementing the appeal record where it relates to an issue

in the appeal regarding procedural fairness: Moynes v. Public Accountants Council (Ontario),

[2001] O.J. No. 2735 (Div. Ct.), at para. l3; 1117387 Ontario Inc. v. National Trust Co.,2010
ONCA 340,262 O.A.C. 118, at paras. 40-41; Leader Media Productions Ltd. v. Sentinel Hill
Alliance Atlantis Equicap Ltd. Partnership,2008 ONCA 463,90 O.R. (3d) 561, at paras. 42-44;
R. v. Leno,2021BCCA200, at paras. 8,27-29,68-69.

[39] The College's proposed additional evidence includes correspondence from the College to
the appellant in relation to the then upcoming discipline hearing, as follows:

(i) a February 23,2018letter to the appellant (the "February letter") enclosing the

decision referring allegations of professional misconduct to the Discipline Committee and

indicating that the appellant would receive separate correspondence about the hearing
process, inviting the appellant to contact the sender if any clarification was needed;

-
=c(5
O
O')
f.*

()
U)z
o
N
NO
N



=I

1l

1229
(iD a May 8, 2018 letter on behalf of the Chair of the Discipline Committee (the "May
leffer") enclosing the following:

i. a 72-page "Memorandum re: Hearing Procedures for Self-represented Members"
(the "SRP Memo");

ii. the Discipline Committee Rules and Guidelines:

iii. a "Memorandum re: Issuance of Summonses"; and,

iv. a map to the College.

(iii) a November 2018 letter from prosecuting counsel (the 'November letter")
regarding disclosure and procedural matters, inviting the appellant to contact the writer with
any questions or concerns.

[40] The May letter and enclosures included information that the appellant now submits that he
ought to have been, but was not, given. Further, the May letter noted, oo'W'e strongly encourage
you to review these materials."' The SRP Memo noted, in the first paragraph: "Discipline
proceedings are serious matters" and provided a lengthy overview of the hearing process. The
May letter also urged the appellant to retain counsel and strongly encouraged the appellant to
review the enclosed materials.

[41] The May letter also invited the appellant to contact the sender at the College to schedule a
pre-hearing. The affiant attests that the appellant did so, and the pre-hearing proceeded as

scheduled.

l42l The November letter recorded the understanding that the appellant had been personally
served with the Notice of Hearing and had been provided with a binder of disclosure materials as

well as some supplementary disclosure materials sent by the College. The letter said that the
appellant had the options of denying or admitting the allegations and spoke about the impact on
next steps. The letter further indicated that witnesses would be called to testi$r if the appellant
either denied the allegations or failed to attend the hearing.

t43] The College sent all of the above leffers to the address for the appellant on record with the
College.

l44l The appellant disputes the College motion, relying on his own affidavit provided in
response to the motion. In the alternative, he asks that his affidavit be admitted as well. In his
affidavit, the appellant attests as follows:

(D that he did receive the February and November letters;

(ii) that he does not recall receiving or reading the May letter or enclosures;

(iiD that he does not recall having received or reviewing the documents in the College
Brief of Documents used at the hearing; and,

-
=c$
O
o)t-.t
O
U)z
o
N
c!o
c{



1230
(iv) that he was not aware of certain procedures, including that he would be required to
make opening and closing statements, that witnesses would be called, that he could call
witnesses, and other evidentiary maffers.

l45l The College delivered a responding affidavit from prosecuting counsel, in which the affiant
attested as follows:

(D that the appellant's address (used in the above correspondence) remained
unchanged through the relevant time period, and was confirmed by the appellant on the
annual membership renewal forms that he completed and filed with the College;

(ii) that the appellant was given disclosure by a courier package sent on October 17,

2017, which was not returned, but two later courier packages with supplementary disclosure
were returned;

(iii) that the College followed up by regular mail to the same address, a letter that was
not returned, asking that the appellant contact the College to anange delivery of the
supplementary disclosure, and the appellant did not reply;

(iv) that the College's pre-hearing conference memorandum was emailed to the
appellant on July 10,2018, to his email address on record with the College;

(v) that College counsel had email exchanges with the appellant atthat email address;

(vi) that the College pre-hearing conference memorandum set out the College's witness
list and the anticipated scope of their evidence, and that list included all the witnesses who
ultimately testified;

(vii) that the appellant attended the pre-hearing conference by telephone and at the pre-
hearing the College discussed the witnesses the College intended to call at the hearing, as

well as the documents that would be relied upon;

(viii) that at the pre-hearing the appellant mentioned having received a "large package"
from the College, which College counsel understood to refer to the initial disclosure package;

(ix) that the documents in the College's Book of Documents given to the appellant at
the outset of the hearing had formed part of the first disclosure package, with the exception
of the Notice of Hearing (which had been served on him), the affidavit of service, the
appellant's entry on the public register and the College's professional standards (which
members are obliged to be familiar with); and

(x) that during the course of the hearing there were various discussions about process

outside the hearing room, sometimes including independent counsel to the Discipline
Committee, as well as counsel to the College and the appellant.

-
=c{!
O
o)
f-..
$

O
U)z
o
N
N
O
N

146l The appellant did not file further affidavit evidence in response to the above affidavit.



I
g

1231
l47l The appellant submits that the College evidence should not be admitted because it is not
evidence that he received, read, or understood the May letter and enclosures, and because the focus
of his argument is on inadequate assistance from the Panel during the hearing, not what other
assistance he may have received. However, as set out in Baker, the requirements of procedural
fairness depend on all of the circumstances and include the choices of procedure made by the
administrative decision maker itself: Baker, at paras.23-27. In this case, those choices included
written communications with the appellant in advance of the hearing such as the May letter, the
SRP Memo and other documents and communications about the hearing.

[48] The College submits that the appellant's affidavit evidence should not be admitted because

it is incorrect and not credible. The appellant's affidavit does directly conflict with some of the
evidence put forward by the College on the motion and cross-motion. Most notably, the College
evidence shows that the appellant was provided with the documents in the book of documents used
at the hearing, with immaterial exceptions. Further, he was provided with information about the
hearing process, was notified of the College witness list, and was given information about other
procedural matters.

l49l Having considered all the proposed evidence and related legal principles, I would admit all
of the evidence put forward by the College and the appellant. It relates to the procedural fairness
issues raised on this appeal and will assist the court. The submissions of both parties about the
reliability and credibility of some of that evidence have been taken into account below, when
considering the weight to be given to the evidence.

Issue #1 - Assistance to a self-represented party

[50] The appellant's primary ground of appeal is that the Panel failed to adequately assist him
as a self-represented party and the hearing was therefore unfair. The appellant alleges that he was
not provided with sufficient assistance on these issues:

(i) the process of and the consequences of admitting or denying the allegations;

(ii) the burden of proof or standard of proof, credibility and reliability, and hearsay;

(iii) how to authenticate documents;

(iv) how to summons a witness;

(v) the right to object;

(vi) the difference between asking questions, making submissions and providing
evidence;

(vii) the typical way of examining witnesses and an instance where the appellant wanted
to ask another question after the College completed its re-examination;

-
=Co
O
O)
1....t

C)
U)zo
N
No
N

(viii) the ability to make submissions at various stages of the proceeding; and,



1232(ix) the use of prior statements of a witness to impeach their credibility

[51] The specific instances of unfairness that the appellant raised on this appeal are discussed
below.

l52l The appellant further submits that the Panel allowed College counsel to usurp the Panel's
role.

[53] The College submits that the appellant was given assistance and College counsel did not
usurp the Panel's role.

l54l The appellant relies on the 2006 Stotement of Principles on Self-Represented Litigants and
Accused Persons established by the Canadian Judicial Council. The Statement of Principles has

been adopted by the courts, including in these key cases relied on by both parties in this case:

Girao v. Cunningham,2020 ONCA 260,2 C.C.L.I. (6th) 15, atpara.149; Pinteav. Johns,2077
SCC 23, l20l7l1 S.C.R. 470, atparc. 4.

[55] Although the Statement of Principles is directed at court proceedings, not tribunal
proceedings, I find that it is relevant guidance, to be considered bearing in mind the particular
circumstances of this case.

[56] The Statement of Principles provides that all participants in the justice system are

accountable for understanding and fulfilling their roles, including judges, counsel and self-
represented parties.

l57l The Statement of Principles provides that judges have a responsibility to promote
opportunities for all persons to understand and meaningfully present their case. The judge cannot
leave the self-represented party to flounder; Girao, at para. 150, citing Morwald-Benevides v.

Benevides,20l9 ONCA 1023,148 O.R. (3d) 305, atpara.34.

[58] The appellant relies on the following passage from the Statement of Principles regarding
the types of assistance that may be provided, adopted in Girao, atpara.749:

4. When one or both parties are proceeding without representation, non-
prejudicial and engaged case and courtroom management may be needed to
protect the litieants' equal right to be heard. Dependine on the
circumstances and nature of the case, the presiding iudge may:

a. explain the process;

b. inquire whether both parties understand the process and the
procedure;

c. make refemals to agencies able to assist the litigant in the
preparation of the case;

--c
o
\J
O)
t-s
Oaz
N
No
N

d. provide information about the law and evidentiary requirements;



modify the traditional order of taking evidence; and 1233e

f. question witnesses; ...

fEmphasis added.]

[59] In this case, the Panel did provide information and explain the hearing process, invited the
appellant to ask any questions, and took additional steps both before and during the hearing. The
appellant submits that more assistance should have been provided as discussed below.

[60] The Panel's responsibilities to self-represented parties are not unlimited. They must be

fulfilled without compromising the requirements ofjudicial neutrality. The adjudicator is obliged
to conduct a fair and impartial hearing. As put in Girao at para. 151 :

Although fairness concerns may animate how a trial judge exercises
control over their courtrooms, there are clear limits to a trial judqe's
dutlu to assist a self-represented litieant. The actuality and the
appearance of judicial impartiality must be maintained. ... In order to

fairness in a tri "the trial of
riehts of the other party" fEmphasis added; citation omitted.]

[61] How far an adjudicator must go is a matter of discretion, depending on many factors: R. v.

Chemama,2016 ONCA 579,351 O.A.C.381, at paras. 13-14. Further, even in the criminal
context the courts have noted that atrialjudge has a range of options through which to ensure the
necessary degree of assistance - there is no one single approach: R. v. Richards,2017 ONCA 424,
349 C.C.C. (3d)284, at paras. 110-112.

162l As set out in College of Optometrists of Ontario v. SHS Optical Ltd.,2008 ONCA 68, at
para. 58, in many cases it could be said that the presiding judge could have done more to assist the
self-represented litigant. "But that is not the test. [The issue] is whether the proceedings were
fairly conducted. Did the self- represented litigant get a fair hearing?"

[63] Further, the fairness of a hearing is not measured by comparing the appellant's conduct of
his case with the conduct of that case by a competent lawyer. Rather, it demands that he have a
fair opportunity to present his case to the best of his ability: SHS Optical, at paru. 57, adopting
Davidsv. Davids (1999), 125 O.A.C.375 (C.A.), atparu.36.

164l Self-represented parties also have responsibilities with respect to the conduct of their case,

which are underscored in the Statement of Principles as follows:

l. Self-represented persons are expected to familiarize themselves with the
relevant legal practices and procedures pertaining to their case.

-
=C(o
O
O)
f.-s
O
U)z
o
N(\
O
N

5
a

2. Self-represented persons are expected to prepare their own case.



1234
[65] In this case, the appellant attested that he does not recall receiving or reading important
information that was sent to him about his upcoming hearing. The appellant is a member of a
regulated health profession. He is an educated person and he has obligations to the College.
Among other things, he is obliged to provide and regularly confirm his accurate mailing address

for use in communications. The evidence shows that the May letter and SRP Memo were sent to
the right address and not returned. The appellant does not say that he did not receive it. He says

that he does not recall that particular letter. On the evidence, I infer that he did receive it.

166l The appellant submits that pre-hearing steps taken to provide him with assistance, such as

the May letter and SRP Memo, are irrelevant. I disagree. All of the circumstances are relevant.
The Statement of Principles itself speaks to the role of providing self-represented persons with
information prior to a hearing. The Statement of Principles indicates that, to the extent possible,

adjudicators and court administration should develop packages for self-represented persons. The
Discipline Committee did so in this case. By the May letter and enclosed SRP Memo and other
materials, the appellant was provided with substantial information on topics about which he now
submits he ought to have been given assistance.

167l The appellant says that he does not recall reading the May letter or the enclosures. This
does not make those communications irrelevant to the question of whether the appellant received
adequate assistance. The appellant was provided with considerable assistance before the hearing,
along with invitations to make inquiries if he had any questions. Given the process of sending out
that information, the Panel could reasonably assume that the appellant had at least that information.
Under the Statement of Principles, the appellant ought to have read those materials.

[68] The materials provided to the appellant in advance of the hearing provide assistance about
a number of the issues raised on this appeal. Those materials included information about the
following topics now at issue: the burden of proof, the ability to call and question witnesses, how
to summons witnesses, the ability to deny or admit allegations and the procedural consequences
of doing so, the examination and cross-examination of witnesses, the right to object, and the
distinction between submissions and evidence. The appellant was also provided with a memo on
the specific topic of summoning witnesses.

[69] In summary, the appellant was given substantial information in advance of the hearing with
strong urging to review it, was invited to ask questions, and had an obligation to inform himself
and prepare for his hearing. In addition, at the outset of the hearing the Panel gave an overview of
the process that would be followed at the hearing and invited questions from the appellant.

[70] Moving to the more specific allegations, the appellant submits that the Panel did not
adequately explain the consequences of admitting or denying the allegations. That process was
discussed in the November letter, including the impact on next steps, and the appellant was invited
to contact the writer with any questions. The appellant acknowledges receiving that letter. That
process was also outlined in the SRP Memo.

lTll The appellant further submits that the Panel did not adequately explain the right to object,
yet that right was outlined at the outset of the hearing, was discussed in the SRP Memo, and the
appellant did make objections during the hearing. The appellant similarly submits that the Panel

=
=c
O
O)
t-s

U)z
o
N
c!
O
N



1235
did not adequately explain the burden of proof or standard of proof. That legal principle was
explained in the SRP Memo, as well as by independent counsel and the College in closing
submissions, and the appellant has not shown an unfairness arising from any lack of understanding
of that legal principle. The appellant also submits that hearsay was not explained, puffing forward
an example from the hearing transcript. At that point in the hearing, College counsel was correctly
noting that the College was not relying on certain evidence for the truth of its contents and would
be calling another witness on that subject. That instance did not give rise to an unfairness and no
other instances of unfairness were raised.

172] The appellant submits that the Panel did not adequately explain the process of questioning
witnesses. That process was set out in some detail in the SRP Memo and outlined in the remarks
of the Panel Chair at the outset of the hearing. Further, the one example put forward on this appeal
arose when the appellant wanted to ask another question of the reply witness (called given his
allegation that the texts were fabricated) after College counsel had completed her reexamination.
That example does not suggest a failure to provide adequate assistance giving rise to an unfair
hearing.

l73l The appellant submits that the Panel did not adequately explain the difference between
evidence and submissions. However, the transcript shows that the distinction was explained. It
was first explained by College counsel in the course of her submissions. It was then explained by
independent counsel. At the end of a lengthy exchange, the appellant indicated that the distinction
was clear. The distinction was also explained in the SRP Memo.

l74l The next issue that was raised by the appellant is that he was not adequately assisted in
calling witnesses in his defence. In oral argument, this was described as the most significant issue

under this ground ofappeal.

175l As described above, the appellant had been provided with information about his right to
call witnesses, and how to summons a witness, in advance of the hearing. At the outset of the
hearing, the Chair of the Panel outlined the hearing steps, including the appellant's right to call
witnesses. At that time, the appellant indicated that he was not calling any witnesses. However,
after the College case was completed, in addition to his own testimony, the appellant did call a

witness and also raised the possibility of a second witness. Both witnesses were to testifu about
the events at the end-of-placement lunch. The appellant submits that the second witness would
also have testified about other matters.

[76] There was a timing issue for the first witness, which was discussed before the Panel and
the appellant agreed with the course of action. He now says he should have been given the option
of postponing the witness to a later date altogether. As shown on the transcript, at the time his
priority was to ensure that the witness would be able to testify and she was scheduled to do so at a

specific time on that day. The transcript of the discussion and outcome does not show a failure to
provide adequate assistance in addressing the timing issue.

[77] With respect to the second witness, the appellant asked if that witness could be called by
teleconference. The College agreed. The Panel deferred the question of the second witness until
the appellant had communicated with her and advised of her availability. After that discussion

=J
C
(o
O
O)
N\f

Oaz
o
N
NO
N

l



1236
with the panel, the appellant did not raise the possible second witness again. The appellant
suggests that the Panel ought to have raised the possibility of an adjournment to hear from the
second witness. While the denial of an adjournment has been found to be a breach of procedural
fairness in some circumstances, the prospect ofthis witness did not reach that point, given the early
stage of the discussion. At the time the possible witness was raised by the appellant, he had not
yet been in contact with the witness. He did not raise the witness again. As well, in contrast to
cases put forward in this appeal regarding adjournments, there was no prejudice. This possible
second witness was intended to testify about the end-of-placement lunch. All of the allegations
arising from that event were dismissed.

[78] The appellant submits that the Panel failed to explain the concept of credibility and
specifically the role of prior inconsistent statements that could be put to a witness for the purpose

of impeachment. The appellant appears to suggest that the Panel ought to have assisted him in his
cross-examination by suggesting the use of a prior statement. It does not appear that the Panel
knew about the statement, and it is disputed whether it was an inconsistent statement. In any event,
this goes beyond what would ordinarily be expected by way of general information for the
assistance ofa self-represented party and begins to suggest that the Panel was obliged to advance
the appellant's defence. An adjudicator must not appear to assume (or actually assume) the role
of counsel for the self-represented party: SHS Optical, atpara.58; Chemama, atpara.74.

[79] The appellant submits that he ought to have had more assistance regarding how to
authenticate documents. Assistance was provided in the SRP Memo. At the outset of the hearing,
the Chair of the Panel also noted that the appellant could introduce documents in his defence. The
appellant did so. He put forward a number of letters of support in his defence, which were accepted
into evidence. He put forward more letters at the penalty phase, two of which were accepted into
evidence, one of which was accepted as redacted, and his wife's letter was the subject of a
compromise as reflected in the record.

[80] The appellant also submits that College counsel was usurping the role of the Panel because

she made submissions about the process when issues arose and because when she objected to the
appellant's form of questioning, the Panel did not call for submissions and make a formal ruling.
It is not usurping the Panel's role for counsel to explain a process or reason for an objection. In
the context ofa discipline hearing, independent counsel is also present to address any legal issues

and indicate if any explanation offered by College counsel was wrong in law. Further, on the
specific occasions identified on this appeal, the appellant would rephrase his question to address

the position put forward by College counsel. As a result, a formal ruling was not needed.

[81] The appellant has not shown that the Panel failed to give him sufficient assistance as a self-
represented party in the circumstances of this case. The Discipline Committee process, including
the pre-hearing communications, provided significant assistance in a manner encouraged by the
Statement of Principles. Further assistance was provided during the hearing. Having considered
all of the relevant context, and the specific instances noted by the appellant, I conclude that the
appellant had a fair opportunity to present his case to the best of his ability. The hearing was fairly
conducted.

-
=Co
O
O)
F.-
$

C)
(f)
z
o
N
N
O
N



1237
Issue #2 - Factual jindings

[82] The appellant submits that the Panel erred in its findings regarding voicemails and in
finding testimony of NK and DH reliable and credible. The appellant makes related submissions
about the sufficiency of the Panel's reasons for decision.

[83] Beginning with the voicemails, the appellant submits that the Panel made a palpable and
overriding error in finding that the appellant had sent the voice messages in issue, one of which
contained statements to the effect of "I miss you." "My wife is away." The appellant submits that
this finding was based on mere speculation, rather than inference, because the evidence did not
include the actual voicemails or particulars such as dates or phone numbers. The appellant further
submits that there were insufficient reasons explaining the finding given the general finding that
the appellant was credible because he was consistent in his testimony.

[84] The appellant notes that the Panel used differing wording when addressing credibility for
each witness and, in the general findings, found all the witnesses credible. That is so though the
reasons for doing so differ. In the reasons for decision, the Panel made general findings of
credibility for each witness, giving reasons for doing so, and then went on to address the conflicting
evidence on core issues in a later section of their reasons. The format chosen by the Discipline
Committee in their reasons is unhelpful because it gives rise to this sort of issue. However, read
fairly and in their entirety, the reasons for decision do not give rise to a reviewable error.

[85] The findings of general credibility after each witness summary show that there were no
issues that caused the Panel to disregard a witness's testimony altogether. The Panel said in the
general findings that a number of witnesses, including the appellant, were consistent in their
testimony. However, it was also open to the Panel to accept some, but not all, of a witness's
evidence. In the analysis section, the Panel went on to consider the conflicting evidence as

necessary. In that section, the Panel indicated that they used the criteria set out by this court in Re

Pitts and Director of Family Benefits Branch of the Ministry of Community & Social Services
(1985), 51 O.R. (2d)302 (Div. Ct.), which have an impact on credibility and reliability. The Panel
considered the appellant's denials along with all of the other evidence, sometimes finding the
allegations proved and sometimes not. The approach of making general findings and then later
addressing conflicts could lead to the need for more explanation in reasons for decision, but in this
case, the reasons are sufficient to permit appellate review.

[86] The Panel heard evidence from DH about several voicemail messages from the appellant
over about two months. DH testified that she had kept the messages for some time but by the time
of the hearing she no longer had them. DH testified about the content of the voicemails, including
phrases such as "I haven't heard from you", "My wife's away." "I miss you" "come and see me"
and others. She testified that she had shared the voicemails with DK, who also testified to that
effect.

[87] The Panel found that the authenticity of the voicemails could be established because of
voice recognition. DH testified that the voicemails were from the appellant. The Panel found that
she reached that conclusion because she recognized the appellant's voice. I do not find a palpable
and overiding eror in this finding. The Panel had some evidence before it and considered that

-
=C(s
O
O)
f.rs

az
o
N
N
O
N

t



1238

evidence, including the appellant's denial. The finding based on voice recognition was not an
error of principle and it is not the role of this court to reweigh the evidence. Where there is
evidence that supported the adjudicator's conclusion, an appellate court will be hard pressed to
find a palpable or overriding error: Housen, at para.22.

[88] The appellant further submits that the Panel emed in their assessment of DH and NK's
credibility and reliability due to inconsistencies in their evidence or, alternatively, failed to provide
sufficient reasons for the Panel's credibility assessments. The appellant relies in large part on
conflicts in the evidence about what transpired at the end-of-placement lunch. As put by the
appellant, there were findings that certain events at the end-of-placement lunch did not occur,
undermining the credibility of DH and NK. However, the Panel did not find that the events in
question did not occur. The Panel found that the College had not met its burden to prove that those
events did occur. Similarly, the appellant relies on the conflicting evidence about texting, but the
Panel did not find that the account put forward by DH and NK was false. The Panel did find that
the College had not proved the authenticity of the texts and therefore dismissed those allegations.

[89] The appellant submits, relying on Law Society of Upper Canada v. Neinstein,2070 ONCA
193,99 O.R. (3d) l,that where a complainant is disbelieved in one finding, the reasons must
explain how this affected the Panel's credibility findings. Yet, in this case, the Panel did not make
such a finding.

t90] The appellant also puts forward smaller inconsistencies in the evidence given by some
witnesses, not all of which rise to the level of an inconsistency. Further, inconsistencies do not
necessarily determine credibility. The Panel was required to look at the totality of the evidence
and assess the impact of any inconsistencies in the evidence on questions of credibility and
reliability pertaining to the core issues in the case: F.H. v. McDougall,2008 SCC 53, [2008] 3

S.C.R. 47, atparas. 57-58. The Panel did so.

[91] Lastly, the appellant submits that the reasons for decision fail to define the terms "sexual
harassment" and "inappropriate conduct", leaving the expected standard of conduct unclear. On
the contrary, the reasons for decision set out the standards that the appellant was obliged to meet.
In many instances, the appellant himself agreed that the conduct, if it happened, would be a breach
of professional conduct.

192] The factual findings of the Panel are entitled to substantial deference. The appellant has
not shown that the Panel made a palpable and overriding error regarding those findings.

Issue #3 - Scope of allegations

[93] The appellant submits that the Panel erred in finding that a voicemail left after the
termination of the instructor student relationship gave rise to a finding of professional misconduct.
Specifically, the Panel found that leaving the voicemail, "I miss you. My wife is away.", was
misconduct even though it was left after the placement had ended.

l94l The Notice of Hearing described the appellant as a clinical instructor, described DH as a
nursing student, and contained a time period (from February to April 2016). The particulars in the

-
=c(It
O
o)
N
$
r
Oaz
a\
N
N
O
N



1239

Notice of Hearing included the voicemail, without mentioning its timing. The voicemail was left
after the clinical placement was over.

[95] The Panel requested written submissions on this issue after closing arguments had been

completed. Specifically, the Panel asked for submissions about whether conduct after April 2016
could constitute professional misconduct as set out in the Notice of Hearing, given the specific
reference in the Notice to conduct "while (the Member was) employed as a clinical instructor for
Confederation College from February to April 2016."

[96] The appellant did not provide written submissions. The College did so, relying on ,R. v.

B.(G.), [990] 2 S.C.R. 30. In that case, atp.4l, the court held that the purpose of an information
was to provide the accused with enough information to enable him or her to defend the charge.
The court held, at p. 49, that it was of no consequence if the date in the information differed from
that arising from the evidence unless the time of the offence was critical and the accused could be

misled by the variance and therefore prejudiced in his or her defence.

l97l The Panel applied the principles from R. v. B.(G.) to the allegations in the Notice of
Hearing, noting that the appellant had not expressed any doubt about the allegations that the
College was relying on. Further, the Panel focused on the essential elements of the offence in
reaching their decision, including that DH had recently been the appellant's nursing student.

[98] The Panel found that the voicemail message contained a clear sexual innuendo. Having
found that the appellant did leave the voicemail message, the Panel found that to leave that message

for a student for whom the appellant had recently had oversight responsibility as a clinical student
was highly inappropriate and a breach of the standards of practice. The Panel noted that the
standards required nurses to act as a role model, be aware of how their behaviour affects others,
be respectful toward others and conduct themselves in a manner that reflects well on the profession.
The Panel concluded that the conduct fell "well below" that standard and would also be regarded

as disgraceful, dishonourable and unprofessional.

l99l The appellant submits that the timing of the voicemail was an essential element of the
offence, submitting that the voicemail was not a breach of the standards of practice because DH
was no longer his student and because his employer's policy did not specifically prohibit this
conduct. In other words, the appellant submits that the voicemail was not a breach because DH
was no longer a student. This is a challenge to the merits of the Panel's findings, rather than a
fairness issue. The Panel specifically considered the standards in the context of a recent student.

The appellant has not shown that the Panel made an effor in principle or made a palpable and

overriding error of fact in the application of the standards or about what would be regarded as

disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional.

Issue #4 - Penalty

[00] The appellant submits that the Panel imposed a suspension at the upper-most end of the
penalty range without sufficient justification. The appellant submits that the cases relied upon by
the College involved sexual harassment and sexual touching, where the Panel made no findings

-
=c(s
O
o)
F-s
o
U)z
o
N
No
N

{
J



1240
regarding sexual touching in this case. The appellant also points to cases with a shorter suspension,

submitting that the conduct in those cases was more serious.

[101] To overturn the penalty imposed by the Panel, the appellant must establish that the Panel

made an error in principle or that the penalty was clearly unfit: College of Physicians and Surgeons

of Ontario v. Peirovy,2018 ONCA 420, 143 O.R. (3d) 596, at para. 56. The threshold for
intervening is high: R. v. Lacasse,2015 SCC 64, [2015] 3 S.C.R. 1089, at paras. 52-53.

U02] The Panel's reasons for decision show that they considered appropriate principles including
the goals of specific and general deterrence, the goal of remediation, aggravating factors such as

the appellant's role over nursing students and mitigating factors including his good character

evidence. The Panel considered a number of prior decisions and how those decisions were similar
to or different from the misconduct decision in the appellant's case. The Panel considered the
nature and extent of the conduct that gave rise to the misconduct findings and the appellant's
submissions about the impact of the allegations on him and his family.

[103] The Panel noted that the main point of contention was the five-month suspension. The
Panel considered the consequences of the suspension but concluded that the purpose of the
suspension was to protect the public and satisfr the twin goals of specific and general deterrence.

[04] The penalty decision is owed substantial deference. The appellant has not demonstrated
that it was clearly unfit.

Orders

[105] This appeal is dismissed. Considering all factors raised in the costs submissions, the
appellant shall pay costs fixed at $20,000, including both the motion and the appeal.

Justice W. Matheson

I agree
Justice T. Lederer

I agree
Justice R. Lococo

Released: June7,2022

-
=c$
O
O)
l.-s
Oaz
o
N
No
N



i
E

:
I

l

1241

CITATION: Hirtle v. College of Nurses of Ontario, 2022 ONSC 1479
DIVISIONAL COURT FILE NO.: 596/19

DATE:20220607

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF' JUSTICE

DIVISIONAL COURT

LEDERER, LOCOCO & MATHESON JJ.

BETWEEN:

PAUL HIRTLE
Appellant

-and-
COLLEGE OF NURSES OF ONTARIO

Respondent

REASONS FOR DECISION

-
=c(5
O
O)
t-s
O0z
o
N
NO
N

Released: June 7,2022



ITEM 6.8

College of Registered
Nurses of l\lberta

1242

CRNA nurses.ab.ca

Guidelines

Social Media and
e-Professiona lism:
Guidelines for Nurses
March 2021

lll2o 178 Street, Edmonton, AB, T5S lP2 I (8OO) 252-9392 crna@nurses.ab.ca



CRNA Guidelines

1243
Approved by the College and Association of Registered Nurses of Alberta (CARNA) Council,
June 20.l6.

The College and Association of Registered Nurses of Alberta (CARNA) is operating as the
College of Registered Nurses of Alberta (CRNA).

Use of this document is permitted for the purposes of education, research, private study or
reference. Ensure you are using the current version of this document by visiting our website

This document was developed collaboratively by the College of Licensed Practical Nurses of
Alberta (CLPNA), College of Registered Nurses of Alberta (CRNA), and the College of
Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Alberta (CRPNA). Members of the public, other regulated
health professionals, or regulated members of these regulatory colleges should contact these
respective organizations if they have any questions about this document or are seeking
practice guidance about social media and e-professionalism.

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta (CLPNA)
St. Albert Trail Place, 13163146 Street Edmonton, Alberta T5L 4S8
Phone:78o.484.aa86 (in Edmonton) or 

.l.800.66.l.5877 (Alberta only)
Email: info@clpno.com
Website: clpno.com

College of Registered Nurses of Alberta (CRNA)

lll2o - 'l78 Street Edmonton, AB T5S lP2
Phone: 7 aO.451.OO43 (i n Ed m onton) o r 

.l.800.252.9392 
(Ca na da -wide)

Ema i l: proctice@n u rses.o b.ca
Website: nurses.ob.co

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Alberta (CRPNA)
Suite 2Ol, 9711- 45 Avenue
Edmonton, Alberta T6E 5V8
Phone: 7A0.434.7666 (in Edmonton) or 1.877.234.7666
Ema i l: cr pno@crpno.o b.co
Website: crpno.ob.co

!i
-1
eI
=l

l



CRNA Guidelines

ln Alberta, the three regulatory bodies for the nursing professions are the College of Licensed
Practical Nurses of Alberta (CLPNA), the College of Registered Nurses of Alberta (CRNA), and
the College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Alberta (CRPNA). The colleges define and
interpret the scopes of practice for their regulated members, approve nursing education
programs, establish or adopt codes of ethics and standards of practice, establish continuing
competence programs, issue initial and renew practice permits for those individuals who
meet legislated requirements, and intervene when a regulated member's practice does not
meet the standards.

Nurses must be aware of social media's evolving culture, understand ever-changing
technology, and have the skills and judgment to use it appropriately (lnternational Nurse
Reg u lator Col laborative, 2014)1.

"E-Professionalism is defined as the attitudes and behaviors that reflect traditional
professionalism paradigms but are manifested through digital media" (Kaczmarczyk et al,

2013)2. E-Professionalism incorporates the use of social media such as websites, applications,
and networking platforms that enable users to create and share content, or to participate in
social networking. Social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, Linkedln, YouTube,
email, etc., are commonly used. Although the intent of social media use is to be positive,
there have been unintended negative consequences. As regulated health professionals,
nurses need to understand their professional and ethical obligation to protectthe public and
maintain conduct that reflects trustworthiness and integrity, including their online presence.

It is important to understand that inappropriate and unprofessional use of social media may
lead to findings of unprofessional conduct resulting in disciplinary action. A nursing
regulatory body may deem any activity on social media to be unprofessional if it harms the
integrity of the client, person, employer, another health professional, colleague, or
organization.

The purpose of this document is to provide guidelines that support criticalthinking and
decision-making in the responsible use of social media. lt is not intended to cover every social
media and social networking situation. The information contained in this document supports
nurses in understanding the importance of maintaining professionalism and making
informed decisions when considering the use of any electronic form of communication.

I lnternational Nurse Regulator Collaborative. (2014). Social media use:Common expectations
for nurses. Retrieved 6 September 2Ol9 from
h tt ps://www. i n r c. co m INRC-Socio l -M e d i o - U s e. p d f .

2 Kaczmarczyk,J. M., Chuang, A., Dugoff, L., Abbott, J. F., Cullimore, A. J., Dalrymple, J., & Casey,

P. M. (20.13). E-Professionalism:A new frontier in medical education. Teaching & Learning in
M ed ici ne, 25(2), 165-17 O.

1244

2

-
-



CRNA Guidelines

1245

Nurses understand their professional and ethical obligation to protect the public and
maintain conduct that reflects trustworthiness and that does not harm the integrity of a

client, person, employer, another health professional, colleague, or organization, including
their online presence.

Guideline l:

i
l

Nurses follow relevant legislation, standards, policy, and employer requirements when
using social media and other electronic forms of communication.

Guideline 2:

Patient free and client free

Social media is a wayto maintain contact and receive updates from people in our personal
lives, and a way to reconnect with those we have lost track of over the years. However, clients
or former clients can also track down staff and send "friend" requests as they may feel they
"know" the nurse. Nurses should not accept "friend" or "follow" requests from clients. Nurses
should review their professional boundary guidelines when considering friend requests from
former clients.

A nurse's personal social media activity should have the most secure privacy settings, and
they should consider the risk of using notable identifiers as to professional designation or
place of employment as nursing is a trusted and respected profession (Reinhart,2O2O)3.

A nurse's personal social media site should:

3 Reinhart, R. J. (2O2O). Nurses continue to rate highest in honesty, ethics. Callup. Retrieved ll
Februa ry 2O2O f rom
honesty-eth ics.aspx

3

Nurses maintain professional boundaries in the use of electronic communication and
social media.

Guideline 3:



CRNA

be client free;

Guidelines

1246
a

a

a

not breach the privacy or confidentiality of a client or any facility policy; and

consider the risk and impact of making derogatory comments against a client, person,
employer, another health professional, colleague, or organization that could be
perceived as negative and harmful.

Any online posts, likes, messages, etc., can be saved as a screen shot, reposted, printed, sent
to an employer, and be understood as public domain. lt is important for nurses to develop
their social media competence and to understand that personal privacy settings may not
ensure their privacy.

lnappropriate use of social media may jeopardize the nurse's ability to preserve the trust and
respect required for a therapeutic relationship. Remember that clients are any individual
whom a nurse provides a service to within the four domains of nursinga.

Professional - Act professional

Nursing is a trusted and respected profession and nurses are held to a standard of
professional accountability and responsibility. As a regulated health professional, nurses are
expected to maintain professionalism, including when using social media. Nurses must
follow relevant legislation, standards and codes of ethics, policies, and employer
requirements using social media and other electronic forms of communication. The
Canadian Nurses Protective Society (2O12)s states that "failure to abide by these [professional
standards] can lead to serious legal consequences". lnappropriate use of social media can
compromise public safety and trust in the nursing professions and may result in allegations
of unprofessiona I conduct.

Maintaining professionalism becomes even more important when online communications
indicate the person posting is a nurse. Nurses should:

a The four domains of nursing are: clinical practice, administration, education, and research

s Canadian Nurses Protective Society. (2012). Social Media [ebook]
h ttps://www.c n ps.ca/u p I oo d -f i I es/pdf-e n g I is h/soci a I -m ed i o. pdf

Guideline 4:

Nurses maintain professionalism when using social media

-
-

4



a

1247
CRNA Guidelines

think before using a professional title or initials or making reference to being a nurse
when presenting personal views, including those unrelated to the profession or those
that could affect the public's trust in the profession;

remember to credit the thoughts and work of others;

not post content on behalf of an employer unless they are authorized to do so and are
following al I applicable employer requi rements; and

consider using a disclaimer stating the posts are a personal opinion and do not
represent those of the profession or an employer.

Know and follow employer requirements regarding the use of social media and technology
when at work. Spending time online for personal reasons at work could be viewed as client
abandonment. Being distracted by notifications can affect work efficiency, productivity, and
memory. Notifications can be visual, haptic, or auditory.

As a professional, employers, clients and the public rely on a nurse's expertise to provide
accurate information. Any health information communicated through social media should
always be evidence-informed. When a professional includes hyperlinks to other information
and resources (e.9., websites, videos, podcasts, etc.), all information should be current,
accurate, and reliable. When providing health advice online, through a professional capacity,
ensure it is within your scope of practice to do so.

The standards and code of ethics for each nursing regulatory college outline the expectation
to report behaviorthat is unethicalor incompetent. When nurses notice a colleague or
another health care professional has posted inappropriate or unprofessional content on
social media platforms, they must report it to the appropriate person, organization, or
regulatory authority. When nurses have a concern about care they or a loved one have

a

a

a

5

i'!

Nurses follow employer requirements regarding the use of social media in their practice
setting.

Guideline 5:

Nurses ensure any posts and comments they make regarding health information is

evidence- informed.

Guideline 6:



CRNA Guidelines

received, or have a workplace issue, they should consider the most appropriate method or
channel to address the concern.

Com mu nities of practice
"Communities of practice are groups of people who share a concern or a passion for
something they do and learn how to do it better as they interact regularly" (Wenger-Trayner
and Wenger-Trayner,20ll)6. Communities of practice (CoP) often use social media as a
means of communication and discussion. CoP's contribute to attaining a greater depth and
breadth of knowledge that benefits practice. Social media platforms often provide the
opportunity to engage in a CoP, which allows the community to be dynamic and provide an
ongoing, searchable conversation. The CoP must be a place where individuals feel safe to ask
and answer questions and engage in discussion. When considering the use of social media
for a CoP:

clariflu the purpose for using social media,

assign an administrator to moderate posts, and

apply the rules of engagement of professional best practice for social media use e.9.,
the 5 P's (see below).

Privacy - Professional and personal boundaries
As health-care professionals, nurses are responsible for safeguarding a client's privacy and
confidentiality. Posting identifiable information, location, or a picture, even with a client's
permission, can be viewed as a breach of privacy or confidentiality. Client information must
only be collected, used, and disclosed through channels aligned with privacy legislation,
professiona I practice sta nda rds, a nd em ployer requ i rements.

6 Wenger-Trayner, E. & Wenger-Trayner, B. (2oll). What is a community of practice? Retrieved
6September2Olgfrom https://wenger-tra)zner.com/resources/what-is-a-community-of-
practice/

1248

a

a

a

6

-
-



CRNA Guidelines

Nurses should keep personal accounts separate and secure, and always think about how the
details of what they are posting or "responding to" may be viewed by others. Nurses should
always respect professional and personal boundaries, rememberthe information posted is
generally considered permanent and cannot easily be deleted, and that copies of deleted
information may still exist on search engines or other's electronic files. Engaging in
interactions with clients via social media risks blurring the line between health-care provider
and friend.

lf a nurse uses social media websites or networking sites such as CoP for their professional
development, it is important to remember that professional practice standards regarding
confidentiality, therapeutic boundaries, and professionalism may be called into question.
There are risks associated with social media use including the scope of distribution that, as a
professional, one has no control over, such as what is downloaded, forwarded, archived, or
distributed by others.

Perm ission - Confidentia lity

1249

Social media and social networking are a means to connect professionally with organizations
and colleagues. Staying professional on these sites is an individual's responsibility. Strive for
clear, professional, a nd audience-a ppropriate com mu nication.

Clients may use popular online discussion forums and website resources to acquire health
information. Clients may be seeking health-related advice from a nurse as a health-care
professional; however, it is important to not engage in these types of discussions even if a
client grants permission. Clients are not bound by the same rules to uphold privacy and
confidentiality. lf social media is used within an employment setting (e.9. appointment
confirmation or medication reminders), nurses need to follow the applicable employer
requirements.

Nurses protect the privacy and confidentiality of their clients when using social media and
electron ic com mu nication.

Guideline 7:

Nurses provide evidence-informed health information to clients through professional
social media accounts or an employer approved platform and only to those with whom
they have a nurse-client therapeutic relationship.

Guideline 8:

7



CRNA Guidelines

1250
Pause and be positive

A nurse must think before posting and consider if the information being posted is

information that colleagues, clients, employers, and the public should see. Nurses need to be
mindful of potential breaches of privacy and confidentiality and never engage in illegal online
activity, and consider the risk and impact of sharing, posting, or commenting on negative,
disparaging, or demeaning material.

Nurses must be informed that everything posted on social media is retrievable and can be
shared, re-posted, or captured as a screen shot. lt is important nurses are aware that making
comments on social media has the potential for being as public as if they were made in a

public forum or to the media. Nurses are responsible for their online presence and the
content of their online communications, so should:

maintain a positive, civil, and respectful online presence;

remember etiquette is just as important as it is for in-person conversations;

avoid posting on social media in haste or anger; and consider the risk of negative,
disparaging, or demeaning comments related to clients, colleagues, employers, or
organization;

a

a

never post or share confidential information that may be identifiable; and

be aware of and follow employer policies related to the use of technology and social
media in and outside the workplace.

A nurse's social media accounts may be interpreted as a reflection of both their personal and
professional lives. Nurses must use professionaljudgment and show respect for the opinions
of others on the various sites, apps, or platforms used, including posts liked, shared or
commented on, and before joining any online groups that could be considered controversial

a

a

a

I

Nurses are responsible to use their professionaljudgment with respect to their online
presence and avoid posts or comments that could be considered negative, disparaging, or
demeaning.

Guideline 9:



CRNA Guidelines

1251

a

Protection - Benefits and risks
Nurses should develop social media competence by knowing the risks and benefits of social
media use. They should use social media after attaining the knowledge, skill, and judgement
to use it appropriately, professionally, and ethically. Nurses should:

be cautious about the amount of personal information shared online including
personal views, values and beliefs;

not give health advice online - giving health advice could be viewed as establishing a

nurse-cl ient relationsh ip;

avoid being inadvertently drawn into someone else's inappropriate behavior;

review and remove outdated or inappropriate content posted on social media when
reasonably possible;

limit the use of hashtags and tagging which increases audience reach;

reg u larly revisit p rivacy setti n gs;

use a diflicult password, change it often, and log out when not using the site, especially
when sharing devices; and

keep social media sites used for professional purposes separate from personal ones.

**Nothing can truly be removed completely from social media**

Summary
While social media use provides opportunities for nurses to connect with others, both on a
personal and professional level, nurses must also understand the risks that are associated
with it. Understanding and applying the guidelines while using social media will help nurses
maintain social media competence and professionalism.

a!
.t

a

a

a

a

9

Nurses are competent in the use of social media and understand the risks and benefits of
ILS U5C.

Guideline lO:



CRI{A Guidelines

1252

The 6 "Ps" Principles of Social Media E-Professionalism:

Professional - Act professionally at all times

Positive - Keep posts positive

Patient/person-free - Keep posts patient or person free

Protect yourself - Protect your professionalism, your reputation and yourself

Privacy - Keep your personal and professional life separate; respect privacy of others

Pause before you post - Consider implications; avoid posting in haste or anger

(rNRC,2Or4)

-
-

lo



10131123, 'l:42 PM CPA Ontario imposes $ 1.sg-million in penalties on Deloitte after firm admits audit work was backdated - The Globe and Mail

ITEM 6.9

CPA Ontario imposes $1.59-million in penalties
on Deloitte after firm admits audit work was
backdated

DAVID MITSTEAD >

PUBLISHED i8 MINUTES ACO

F:f]R 5i.'S5CK[HERs

Deloitte LLP will pay $1.S9-million to settle charges brought by CPA Ontario that it its
employees falsified date and time stamps on audit work papers between November,

2016 and May, 2018.

CPA Ontario, the provincial regulator of chartered professional accountants and

firms, said Deloitte implemented a system in November, 2016, that it believed

eliminated employees'abilities to manually change its audit "sign-off'dates. When

Deloitte realized employees could manipulate their computer settings, it failed to
issue guidance telling them not to, the regulator said Tuesday.

Over the next 17 months, CPA Ontario said, at least 35 Deloitte CPA Ontario members

engaged in backdating work papers, and in some cases instructed others to do so, in

over 930 audit working papers in 39 audit engagements. After an internal

investigation that took more than a year, Deloitte self-reported the problem in

September,2ol9, to CPA Ontario.

CPA Ontario then conducted its own investigation before getting Deloitte to admit it
breached the Ontario code for accountants. Deloitte agreed with the facts and

conclusions in the CPA Ontario settlement "for the purpose of this proceeding only,"

the settlement agreement said.

"Backdating obscures when and what work was performed and reviewed," Janet

Gillies, CPA Ontario's executive vice-president, regulatory and standards, said in a

statement announcing the action. "lt creates questions about the accuracy or

timeliness of audit documentation and the quality of the audit."

1253

https://www.theglobeandmail.com/business/article-cpa-ontario-imposes-159-million-in-penalties-on-deloitte-after-firm/ 1t3



10131123, 1:42PM CPA Ontario imposes $1.S9-million in penalties on Deloitte after firm admits audit work was backdated - The Globe and Mail

Deloitte will pay a fine of $900,000 and costs of $695,000 to CPA Ontario.
1254

E

"lt is important to underscore that five years ago, Deloitte Canada took proactive

steps and self-reported and notified regulators in Canada and the United States of this

issue, including CPA Ontario, as we first brought it to their attention at that time,"

Deloitte spokesperson Lama Nicolas said in an emailed statement Tuesday. "Deloitte

conducted a lengthy internal investigation which did not find any evidence

suggesting that this matter has affected the quality of Deloitte's audits and we have

since enhanced our internal quality control processes."

The action follows a similar settlement by Deloitte in September,2o2l, with the

Canadian Public Accountability Board (CPAB), which inspects the firms that audit
public companies. CPAB, which cannot assess fines for economic damages or
punitive reasons, charged Deloitte $100,000 to cover its costs.

The U.S. PCAOB also disciplined Deloitte in September 2O2l over the same matter,

fining it US$350,000.

The CPA Ontario settlement order said a 2076 PCAOB disclosure of an audit-

documentation incident prompted Deloitte to order all its global member firms,

including Canada, to conduct a mandatory conference call focused on audit quality

and integrity with all audit partners.

Prior to November7,2076, Deloitte's Engagement Management System permitted a

user to manually select a sign-off date for an audit working paper. Deloitte changed

the software system so that the sign-off date would automatically be set to the date

of the user's computer clock.

Employees in Deloitte's national office reahzed the change could be bypassed if an

accountant simply changed the time on the computer clock. CPA Ontario said

Deloitte staff decided not to explicitly tell employees that doing so was prohibited

because it might "socialize" inappropriate conduct if employees found out there was

still a way to backdate

In February, 2018, a Deloitte audit partner became a whistleblower, alerting senior

firm leaders that their auditors were altering the dates on their computers to

backdate work paper signoffs.

https://www.theglobeandmail.com/business/article-cpa-ontario-imposes-159-million-in-penalties-on-deloitte-after-firm/ 2t3



10131123, 1:42PM CPA Ontario imposes $1.59-million in penalties on Deloitte after firm admits audit work was backdated - The Globe and Mail

Deloitte's internal investigation ultimately concluded the backdating "was not don^

with malicious or fraudulent intent but rather with the intent to more accurately 1255
reflect the date the work was actually performed," according to CPA Ontario. Deloitte

also concluded "the conduct was contrary to firm guidance and thus warranted

discipline by the firm, but did not constitute a contravention of the code or a breach

of professional standards."

Deloitte disciplined twelve partners and twelve employees, with the outcomes

ranging from written reprimand to "significant career and compensation penalties,"

CPA Ontario said. Deloitte has previously declined to say whether anyone was fired

for backdating.

Deloitte determined its discipline on the premise the employees "were attempting to

document when work was actually done and therefore'tried to do the right thing but
in the wrong w?y,"' CPA Ontario said, adding "Deloitte should have employed a

higher level of skepticism in the circumstances."

Sign up for the Streetwise Newsletter

Follow the money with news and analysis on banks, capital markets, mergers, acquisitions, and Bay

Street moves (subscribers only).

SIGN UP

Follow David Milstead on Twiiter: @davidmilstead

Report an error

Editorial code of conduct

https://www.theglobeandmail.com/business/article-cpa-ontario-imposes-159-million-in-penalties-on-deloitte-after-firm/ 3/3



1258

|TEM 6.11

GREYAREAS
NEWSLETTER

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTIN6 PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

sml-low.com/ resources/grey-oreos/

Addressing Gender-Based Violence

by Rebecca Durcan
September 2023 - No. 282

While Canadian politicians spar over whether
gender-based violence, particularly intimate
partner violence (lPV), is an epidemic,
regulators are assessing their role.

Regulators of professions, particularly in the
health and law enforcement domains, treat
IPV in a registrant's private life as serious
professional misconduct. While important,
questions arise as to whether regulators can
and should do more.

ln 2022, a Renfrew County inquest looked
into the 2015 murders of three women,
making 86 recommendations. None were
directed specifically at regulators of
professions (although some
recommendations aimed at educating
service providers to perpetrators or suruivors
of IPV apply to practitioners of some
professions). However, some of the
recommendations might be adapted by
regulators when dealing with registrants with
the potential, or reality, of gender-based
violence, including the following:

Using "a trauma-informed approach
to interacting and dealing with
survivors and perpetrators";

. "Explore incorporating restorative
justice and community-based
approaches in dealing with
appropriate IPV cases to ensure
safety and best outcomes for
survivors";

o Sharing of information with law
enforcement agencies in appropriate
cases;

. Safety planning for survivors;

. Professional education and training
forstaff and investigators dealing with
IPV matters, including risk
assessment training, trauma-
informed practices, indicators of lPV,
and crisis management coaching;

. Guidance for registrants who support
survivors or counsel, treat or
otherwise intervene with
perpetrators;

. Track and study decisions made in
matters involving IPV for relevant
information including on "longitudinal
studies for recidivism, violence
escalation, and future victims"; and

. Policies for monitoring and
responding appropriately to non-
compliance with terms, conditions,
and limitations imposed on a

a



Grey Areas Newsletter
September 20231No.282 1259

perpetrator, such as non-participation
in counselling.

ln contrast, the Nova Scotia Mass Casualty
Commission report specifically addresses
professional regulators. The Commission
investigated Canada's worst-ever mass
casualty crime spree that lasted 13 hours
and resulted in 22 deaths.

The perpetrator was a denturisl who had
faced discipline for various billing and angry
interactions with clients. During the process,
the perpetrator also verbally attacked a
member of the complaints screening
committee and an expert witness who had
filed a report critical of his work. Eventually
there was a joint submission to the discipline
panel that included a requirement to attend
counselling, which he apparently completed.
Unbeknownst to the regulator at the time, the
perpetrator had engaged in a pattern of
behaviour involving financial, emotional, and
sexual abuse of several vulnerable and
marginalized patients.

Many of the recommendations of the
Commission related to police and emergency
services. However, several
recommendations relate to community
entities that might have identified "red flags"
and perhaps intervened to enhance
community safety. Some of those
recommendations are applicable to
regulatory bodies. One, in particular, is
directed specifically at regulatory bodies:

Recommendation C.19
PROACTIVE MONITORING BY
PROFESSIONAL LICENSING BODIES
The Commission recommends that
All professional licensing bodies should:
(a) Monitor their members proactively to

better ensure the safety and well-
being of their licensees'
clients/patients;

(b) Through careful monitoring, track and
proactively demand accountability
when discernible patterns of

unethical or illegal behaviour are
uncovered; and

(c) Take steps to promote awareness of
complaints mechanisms, including by
requiring that licensees prominently
display the Code of Ethics and
information about the complaints
process in their offices/clinic and
online.

lmplementation points:
. Practice audits and quality control

systems can assist in proactive
monitoring

r Professional licensing bodies should:
o acknowledge that

marginalized communities
face barriers to reporting
concerning behaviour; and

o take steps to minimize these
barriers through engagement
with these communities.

ln addition, recommendation V.14 states
that:

(b) Non-governmental bodies,
including learning institutions,
professional and trade associations,
and business, declare gender-based,
intimate partner, and family violence
to be an epidemic that warrants a
meaningful and sustained society-
wide response.

The Mass Casualty report (vol. 4, p. 501)
also commented favourably on the chanqes
that the Colleqe of Nurses of Ontario has
made to address nurses who intentionally
harm patients (which is not limited to gender-
based violence) through raising awareness
and developing a risk assessment process
for complaints and reports.

The Commission did not, however, provide
much guidance on how regulators can
access external resources if they identify red
flags.

Raising awareness of its role and providing
alternative methods of communication

i
-

2lPege



Grey Areas Newsletter
September 2023 | No. 282 1260
(besides a formal written letter of complaint)
in a safe space is consistent with initiatives
by several regulators in recent years. For
example, in our July 2023 issue of Grey
Areas we discuss efforts being made by
regulators to engage with lndigenous
communities as part of redressing anti-
lndigenous racism.

These recommendations also tie in with risk-
based regulation activities of many
regulators. ldentifying the most serious (as
well as the most frequent) forms of harm to
the public helps regulators focus on activities
that matter. For example, enforcing
compliance with continuous professional
development requirements and advertising
rules might be accorded lesser regulatory
resources, even if they are not completely
abandoned, compared to abuse and
violence concerns. Risk-based regulation
also contemplates a proactive and multi-
pronged approach to these risks (e.9.,
identifying registrants at risk of causing harm
and proactively engaging with them, often
with supportive measures). Risk-based
regulation also involves providing support to
vulnerable registrants and complainants or
witnesses.

These recommendations will have to
contend with competing considerations. For
example, the concept of gathering all
available information to look for "red flags" is
not entirely consistent with a regulator's
tendency to only rely on reliable and relevant
evidence. For example, recently a tribunal
held that complaints investigators can
reasonably choose to not look at online
internet ratings of registrants: Complainant v.

Colleoe of Phvsicians and Surqeons of
British Columbia (No. 1),2023 BCHPRB 48
(CanLll). While the trustworthiness of such
information is doubtful, it can still provide
some data that, combined with other data,
might be able to identify registrants who are
at risk and who might warrant special
attention, as recommended by the Mass
Casualty report. Research has shown, and
the example provided in the Mass Casualty
report indicates, that a prior history of
complaints is a fairly reliable predictor of
future concerns.

Similarly, procedural fairness requirements,
including full disclosure of evidence about
reporters of concerning behaviour, may pose
challenges for regulators.

Another challenge for regulators is that their
intervention with a potentially violent
registrant might provoke the very behaviour
that is sought to be addressed. Regulators
may not have the expertise to mitigate that
risk effectively.

Fortunately, the work of regulators in
analogous areas of concern (e.9., sexual
abuse, discrimination, and abuse of
colleagues) will provide significant synergies
in addressing gender-based violence by
registrants.

Disclosure: One of the SML team was a
Cammission Counsel for the Nova Scofra
Mass Casualty Commrssion. The opinions
expressed in this article are those of the
author and not of the Commr'sslon.

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional
regulation. lf you are not receiving a copy and would like one, please visit our website to subscribe:
https ://sm l-law. com/resources/q rey-a reas/

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may
reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter and the firm. Please send us a copy of
the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas.

3lPage



1261

GREYAREAS
NEWSLETTER
A COM\4ENTANY ON LECAL ISSUES ATTECTINC PNOTESSIONAL NECULATION

sml- low.com/resources/ g rey-oreos /

Reflecting on Reporting and Responding Requirements

by Julie Maciura
October 2023 - No. 283

Vastly different words are used to describe
the concept, each with their own moral
implications: "snitch", "informant",
"whistleblower", "professional". Whatever
term is used, an obligation to report
problematic conduct by other registrants is
an important regulatory tool. Such
information enables the regulator to
investigate issues of misconduct,
incompetence, or incapacity that may place
the public at risk and that might otherwise
never be known.

An example of a mandatorv reportinq
provision that, anecdotally at least, has
contributed to the protection of the public is
the obligation on Ontarlo health practitioners
to report information received in the course
of their practice that another registrant has
sexually abused a patient. That provision
originated with the 1991 Final Report of the
Task Force on Sexual Abuse of Patients
commissioned by the College of Physicians
and Surgeons of Ontario.

The Canadian armed forces has had a
similar obligalion on its member to report
breaches of rules by other members, but it
has recentlv announced that it would be

repealing that duty. This action was
recommended by former Justice of the
Supreme Court of Canada, Louise Arbour, in
her final Report of the lndependent External
Comprehensive Review.

lntuitively it seems surprising to entirely
eliminate this tool for obtaining information
about alleged misconduct. However, the
recommendation makes more sense after
reading Arbour's concerns about the
reporting requirement in the military setting:

a

a

For many members of the armed
forces, the fear of reprisals and
ostracization outweighs the fear of
not making a report (especially since
in almost no case was anyone
sanctioned for failing to make such a
report).
There is widespread mistrust in the
investigation process that would
result from any report. This was
particularly true for the military's
ability to address sexual misconduct.
This mistrust reflected a "structural
barrier" in the "toxic masculinity"
culture within the armed forces.



Grey Areas Newsletter
October 20231No.283 1262

a

a

The making of a report could harm
the victim or, would at the least,
remove their control over the
process.
The duty was too broad. lt applied to
any breach of the rules and to almost
all military personnel, including the
recipient of the misconduct, including
for sexual abuse.
Despite the breadth of the duty, there
remained confusion on how, and to
whom, a report should be made.

abuse is proven, and access to a
compensation fund for therapy.

. The introduction of the reporting
obligation was also accompanied by
an extensive educational initiative for
registrants, patients, and members of
the public, including the obligation on
every health regulator to develop a
sexual abuse prevention plan. Part of
the education resulted from the
mandatory revocation (for at least five
years) of registrants who engaged in
frank sexual acts with patients, which
brought home to practitioners how
seriously government was in its
attempts to prevent and address the
sexual abuse of patients.

Even with these refinements, the mandatory
requirement to reporl sexual abuse
continues to create challenges. For example,
the duty includes having to report "behaviour
or remarks of a sexual nature" which includes
an isolated sexualized comment or joke. One
suspects that there may be understandable
reasons why some registrants pretend not to
notice such remarks and therefore do not
intervene, (such as reproving the registrant
who made the remark or supporting the
recipient patient), or make a formal report to
a regulator. These reasons may include the
power imbalance that exists between
practitioners (such as that between doctors
and nurses, or dentists and dental
hygienists), or the likelihood that the
observer may themselves have been subject
to similar conduct from the registrant.
Anecdotally, it seems most reports are made
by registrants who are informed about such
conduct by the patient after the fact, rather
than by actual observers of the conduct.

There are other options that exist, besides a
rigid mandatory reporting obligation, that
some regulators have been employing.
These include:

A voluntary reporting mechanism in
which the registrant can weigh the
surrounding circumstances (including
the nature of the conduct and the

a

It is worth noting that there is a distinction
between the military's duty to report and that
of many regulated professions. The military
duty to report is typically in relation to
conduct that harms staff and colleagues
rather than conduct that jeopardizes the
welfare of clients or patients.

The concerns identified in Arbour's Report
may have application to professional
mandatory reporting requirements. For
example, the mandatory repofting obligation
for sexual abuse flowing from the 1991
Sexual Abuse Task Force Report anticipated
many of these same concerns and included
measures intended to address them. For
example:

The duty (at that time at least) was
only in respect of sexual abuse of
patients, a pressing and important
issue.
The identity of the patient cannoi be
included in the mandatory report
without the prior written consent of
the patient.
There are heightened confidentiality
obligations for the report. For
example, the report cannot be
disclosed to other regulators.
The reporting obligation is
accompanied by multiple protections
for the patient, including a right to
insist on a ban on the publication of
their identity in any subsequent
discipline hearings, a right to make an
impact statement where sexual

a

a

:l

:

2lPage



Grey Areas Newsletter
October 20231No.283

1263
wishes of the patient or client) in
exercising judgment on whether to
make a report.

2. A whistleblower scheme which is

similar to a voluntary reporting
mechanism, but can include
heightened confidentiality protections
for the reporter (analogous to the
"Crime Stoppers" program) and
which can also provide financial
rewards for reporters, such as is used
by some securities requlators.

3. A duty to intervene without specifying
the nature of the intervention. This
approach facilitates the exercise of
judgment in the pursuing of the most
effective option (e 9., speaking
privately with the offending registrant,
supporting the client or patient, or
raising the concern with the employer
or other local authority). The UK
regulator for physicians has recently
published quidance that uses this
approach to address discriminatory
conduct.

These options have their disadvantages,
including leaving it open to regulated
professionals to not intervene or report at all
or incentivizing what should be a
professional expectation.

The primary implication of these
developments is that regulators should
carefully and thoughtfully approach the
development of a reporting or responding
obligation or expectation. For example,
mandatory reporting obligations might
balance the following factors:

a. Be reserved for serious concerns that
jeopardize the welfare of vulnerable
people (or else face the risk of
widespread non-compliance by the
profession and the damage (e.9.,
moral injury, guilt, etc.) that failing to
report causes to registrants and
public confidence in the regulatory
regime);

b. Be accompanied by an education
program for registrants, clients or
patients, and members of the public
to emphasize the seriousness of the
conduct that must be reported;

c. lnclude measures to respect the
wishes of and support the concerns
of the target of the misconduct so that
they are not revictimized;

d. Result in compassionate and
effective regulatory action so that
reporters have confidence that their
report will make a realdifference; and

e. Result in credible enforcement
consequences for those failing to
make a mandatory report when they
should have.

Perhaps the lesson that professional
regulators can learn from the experience of
Canada's military is that a mandatory (or
expected) reporting obligation is an
important, regulatory tool that should be
employed in a thoughtful, nuanced manner,
taking into consideration all relevant faciors,
and learning from existing schemes, so as to
reduce unintended consequences.

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional
regulation. lf you are not receiving a copy and would like one, please visit our website to subscribe:
https ://sm l-law. com/resources/q rey-areas/

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE?
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may
reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter and the firm. Please send us a copy of
the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas.

3lPage



1264

GREYAREAS
NEWSLETTER

A COM'\4E NTAnY ON LECAL ISSUEg Art ECTINC PROTE39|ONAL nECULATTON

sml- low.com /resources/ g rey-oreos/

How They Do Things Across the Pond

by Bernie LeBlanc
November 2023- No.284

Since the establishment of the Professional
Standards Authority (PSA), Canadian
regulators have been monitoring
professional regulation developments in the
United Kingdom. Some, but certainly not all,
of the approaches taken in the UK have been
adapted by some Canadian jurisdictions and
regulators. Most notable was the enactment
of the Health Professions and Qccupations
Act in British Columbia.

However, the evolution of administrative law
for professional regulators has diverged
somewhat between the UK and Canada.
Some of these differences and similarities
are apparent from the recent UK court
decision in Professional Standards Authoritv
for Health and Social Care v Social Work
Enoland & Anorl2023l EWHC 2125 (Admin)
(18 August 2023).

There, a social worker was disciplined for
abusing and neglecting her children (e.9., by
making demeaning and disturbing comments
to them and by overdosing in their presence),
which resulted in the intervention of the child
welfare authorities, and for dishonestly
denying during a job interview that she was

or had been under investigation by her
regulator.

The discipline panel found that her fitness to
practise was impaired in that she failed to
promote and maintain public confidence in
the social work profession and that she failed
to promote and maintain proper professional
standards. However, the panel "concluded
that a finding of impairment was not
necessary to protect, promote and maintain
lhe health, safety and wellbeing of the
public." As a result, it only imposed a
warning.

The oversight body, the PSA, appealed the
decision. lt argued that the factual
determinations of the discipline panel
supported a finding of impairment in the third
category (i.e., the health, safety and
wellbeing of the public). lt also argued that a
suspension was necessary in the
circumstances.



Grey Areas Newsletter
November 2023 | No. 284 1265

:
=

=

I

E

=

=
=:]j

Some Differences

The first major difference between the UK
process and most Canadian ones is that an
oversight body can initiate appeals to the
courts regarding discipline findings that it
believes are unacceptable. While such
appeals are relatively rare, the PSA has had
a remarkable record of success with respect
to appeals it has brought. [lnterestingly, the
regulator was also a party to the appeal.
lnitially it opposed the PSA's position but
then changed its position to support the
appeal.l

Another major difference is that what most
Canadian regulators call "discipline"
hearings are called "fitness to practise"
hearings in the UK. ln Canada, the term
"fitness to practise" usually refers to
incapacity issues rather than conduct
concerns. This is not just a matter of
semantics. The UK approach focusses more
on the potential for future misbehaviour than
on sanctioning past misconduct. The UK
approach is analogous to those relatively few
Canadian professional regulators whose
ambit is largely confined to addressing
whether the person will act with honesty,
integrity and in accordance with the law.

This non-punitive approach is particularly
important when it comes to the issue of
sanction. Following the leading decision in
Bolton v Law Societv [1994] 1 WLR 512, the
Court noted that "it follows that
considerations which would ordinarily weigh
in mitigation of punishment have less effect
on the exercise of a regulatory jurisdiction
than on the ordinary run of sentences
imposed in criminal cases." ln Canada,
courts often apply some criminal sentencing
concepts, especially mitigating factors, to
discipline sanctions (e.9., Colleqe of
Phvsicians and of Ontario v
Mclntvre,2017 ONSC 116 (Canlll)).

Rather, consequences for the individual
registrant are generally motivated by
ensuring that their future behaviour is

acceptable and, to a lesser degree, to ensure
public confidence in the regulator. However,
the Court did say: "The reputation of the
profession is more important than the
fortunes of any individual member."

Many Similarities

Many other aspects of the decision would be
familiar to Canadian regulators. For example,
in this case, the social worker was self-
represented, not an unusual occurrence in

Canada.

The Court also expressed the need to afford
deference to the disciplinary panel. For
instance, on the issue of sanction, the Court
said:

Given that the Panel usuallY has
greater expertise in the social work
field than the court, an appeal court
should only interfere with such an
evaluative decision if (1) there was an
error of principle in carrying out the
evaluation; or (2) for any other
reason, the evaluation was wrong,
that is to say that it was an evaluative
decision which fell outside the
bounds of what the Panel could
properly and reasonably decide....

Similarly, the Court allowed that regulators
should be cautious when scrutinizing the
private life of registrants:

I accept that, to some degree, a
social worker may be able to rely on
a division between her private and
professional lives. A social worker
who has a transient personal crisis
may not have impaired judgment in
relation to his or her professional
caseload. lf all that the Panel had
found was that MDR had used
inappropriate language or displayed
undue melancholy to her children
during an isolated and stressful part
of her life, this appeal would be
unfounded.

2lPage



Grey Areas Newsletter
November 2023 | No. 284 1266
However, the Court agreed with the
discipline panel that this sort of conduct, by a
social worker, was relevant to her fitness to
practise the profession. A pattern of abuse,
to the point of requiring intervention by child
welfare authorities, reflected on both her
ability to provide those sorts of services in the
future and on public confidence in the
regulator and the profession as a whole. With
respect to her dishonesty during her job
interview, the Court said:

The recruitment of social workers has
at its centre the objective of keeping
safe vulnerable adults and children.
By being dishonest in her interview,
MDR placed her own interests above
the protection of the health, safety
and well-being of the public contrary
to the overarching objective.

When it came to sanction, the Court found
that the discipline panel had made an
irrational decision given its evidentiary
findings. The social worker had not
demonstrated insight into the seriousness of
her conduct or its impact on her practise of
the profession. Having found that the social
worker's conduct was "attitudinal and
behavioural" ... "it ought to have been plain
to the Panel that her attitudes could not
reasonably be regarded as having changed."

Also similarto Canadian courts, the UK Court
affirmed that the social worker's contesting of
the allegations, even after the finding was
made by the discipline panel, should not be
treated as an aggravating factor. However,
the Court treated the inconsistent assertions
of the social worker (e.9., about whether she

knowingly made false statements during the
job interview) and her calling her daughter to
give testimony contrary to the daughter's
previous written statement, as rebutting the
social worker's assertion of insight.

On this point, the Court said that the social
worker":

was entitled to mount a vigorous
defence to the charges against her;
but her decision to call her daughter
to give untruthful evidence to the
Panel went significantly beyond
offering an alternative account of past
events and went beyond "a failed
attempt to tell the story in a better
light than eventually proved
warranted".... lt demonstrated a lack
of honesty. MDR's decision to place
dishonest evidence before the Panel
fatally undermines the Panel's
conclusion that there was no risk of
repetition of the dishonesty shown to
DCC,

Outcome

The Court said: "the Panel erred in

concluding that a finding of impairment was
nol necessary on grounds of risk to the
protection of the health, safety and well-
being of the public...." While the Court was
tempted to impose a one-year suspension, it,

like many Canadian courts, deferred to the
expertise of the regulator. The Court remitted
the matter to the regulator to make a fresh
finding on sanction.

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional
regulation. lf you are not receiving a copy and would like one, please visit our website to subscribe:
https ://sm l-law. com/resou rces/q rev-areas/

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE?
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may
reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter and the firm. Please send us a copy of
the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas.

3lPage



1267council Member Terms as of Novembe r 9,2023 t ITEM 6j2

1 Please advise Ms Rose Bustria a.s.a.p. if you aware of aware of any discrepancies.
2 CCO requires at least 6 public members to be properly constituted.

Date of Expiry of Current
Term

April2025
Aoril2025
April2026
Aoril2026
April2026
Aoril2025
Aoril2024
April2024
Aoril2024

December 10,2024
Seotember 7 "2024
April9.2024
October 14.2024
March 4,2025
October 7.2024

Date Re-elected/
Reanpointed

NA
April2022
Aoril2023
April2023
Aoril2023
Aprll2022
April202l
NA
NA

December 10.2021
N/A
Aoril9.202l
NA
NA
October 8"2021

Date First
Elected/Annointed

April2022
April202l
April202l
Aoril2020
April2020
Apr1l2019
Aoril20l8
April2021
April2021

December 10,2020
September 7.2023
April9.2020
October 14.2021
March 4,2022
October 8.2020

District

3 (Central East)
4 (Central)

7 (Academic)

6 (Western)

5 (Central West)
2 (Eastern)

5 (Central West)
I CNorthern)
4 (Central)

Mississausa
Aiax
Mississauga
Toronto
Cavan Monaghan
Union

Name

Elected Members
Dr. Michael Gauthier
Dr. Kyle Grice
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Dr. Colin Goudreau
Dr. Sarah Green
Dr. Paul Groulx
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Dr. Angelo Santin
Dr. Julia Viscomi

Appointed Members 2

Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Aiagu
Mr. Robert Chopowick
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda

Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Scott Stewart
Mr. Shawn Southern
Vacant


	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	AGENDA
	1.1 Fitness to Practise Committee Report
	1.2 Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee (ICRC) Report
	1.2.1 HPARB decision dated September 19, 2023 re: DC and JM, DC
	1.3 Patient Relations Committee Report
	1.4 Registration Committee Report
	1.4.1 Memo dated October 16, 2023 re: Update on the OFC’s Risk-Informed compliance Framework
	1.4.2 OFC Newsletter dated October 2023
	1.4.3 Memo dated November 6, 2023 re: Launch of the OFC’s Updated Risk-informed Compliance Framework
	1.5 Advertising Committee Report
	4.1 Executive Committee Report
	4.1.2 Order in Council dated September 7, 2023 re: Robert Chopowick
	4.1.4 Revocation of Mr. de Domenico
	4.1.39 President’s Message dated September 19, 2023 with draft by-laws attached
	4.1.41 Summary feedback charts as of October 25, 2023
	4.1.42 Further feedback from individual members
	4.1.43 Other by-law amendments -Discipline Committee
	4.1.45 Extract from RHPA re: by-laws requiring circulation
	4.1.46 E-mail dated September 14, 2023 from Doug Ford, Premier re:2022 Annual Report
	4.1.51 CCO’s Updated CPMF Report –2023
	4.1.52 CPMF Action Plan - 2023
	4.1.53 Key Performance Indicators (approved November 25, 2021)
	4.1.55 DEI Audit and Recommendations (approved April 20, 2022)
	4.1.62 Information dated November 4, 2023 re: voting for OCA’s Board of Directors
	4.1.66 Communication dated October 25, 2023 re: CCEB website facelift and exam changes
	4.1.67 CCGI Update Report for May to September 2023
	4.1.68 Information re: CCA National Convention and Tradeshow April19 – 20, 2024
	4.1.71 Update dated September 19, 2023 Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)
	4.1.72 “As of Right” Guidance Document dated September 1, 2023
	4.1.73 Announcement re: Discipline Orientation Workshops – Basic (November 3) and Advanced (November 20)
	4.1.78 Communication dated October 16, 2023 between Ms Willson and Mr. Robert Blenkinsop from the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
	4.1.79 Correspondence, Survey and Links dated October 19, 2023 from CCO to Members who Provide Chiropractic Care of Animals
	4.1.80 Results of Survey from distribution
	4.1.81 Communication exchange with Mr. Blenkinsop dated October 26, 2023 re: survey results
	4.2 Discipline Committee Report
	4.2.1 Resolution Agreement re: Dr.Gary Schoutsen dated November 2, 2023 (decision pending)
	4.2.2 CCO v Dr. Samira Ramy decision received November 10, 2023
	4.2.3 CCO v Dr. Brian Moore decision received November 9, 2023
	4.2.4 Information re: HPRO discipline training
	4.3 Quality Assurance Committee Report
	4.3.3 G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care (current)
	4.3.5 S-006: Ordering, Taking andInterpreting Radiographs(current)
	6.1 CBC article dated October 1, 2023 entitled “Canada stopped checking kids’ spines years ago. Why experts say screening should come back"
	6.2 Secretory Immunoglobulin A and Upper Cervical Chiropractic: A Preliminary Prospective, Multicenter, Observational Study (2021)
	6.3 Notification dated September 26, 2023 entitled “CDHO Council rescinds Standard of Authorization to Self- Initiate”
	6.4 Reasonable and Probable Grounds Test in Appointing Investigators in the Regulatory Context – Kustka v CPSO
	6.5 ABA Regulation: Notice of Upcoming Information Sessions for Stakeholders
	6.6 Notice of Motion for Leave to Appeal – Peterson v College of Psychologist of Ontario
	6.7Paul Hirtle and CNO (February 23, 2022)
	6.8 Social Media and e-Professionalism: Guidelines for Nurses (March 2021)
	6.9 Globe and Mail article dated October 31, 2023 entitled CPA Ontario imposes $1.59 million in penalties on Deloitte after firm admits audit work was backdated
	6.11 Grey Areas(September/October/November2023)
	6.12 Council Members Terms (dated November 9, 2023)



